
 

 
 
 

 
Wednesday, 29 August 2018 

 
TO: COUNCILLORS 
 

M MILLS, D EVANS, I ASHCROFT, MRS P BAYBUTT, 
T DEVINE, G HODSON, J HODSON, J GORDON, D O'TOOLE, 
G OWEN, A PRITCHARD, MRS M WESTLEY AND A YATES 
 

 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
A meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER - 52 
DERBY STREET, ORMSKIRK, L39 2DF on THURSDAY, 6 SEPTEMBER 2018 at 7.00 
PM at which your attendance is requested. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
 
Kim Webber 
Chief Executive 
 

AGENDA 
(Open to the Public) 

 
 
1.   APOLOGIES   

 
 

2.   MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE  
 
To be apprised of any changes to the membership of the Committee in 
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4.  
 

 

3.   URGENT BUSINESS, IF ANY INTRODUCED BY THE CHAIRMAN  
 
Note: No other business is permitted unless, by reason of special 

 

Kim Webber B.Sc. M.Sc. 
Chief Executive 
 

52 Derby Street 
Ormskirk 
West Lancashire 
L39 2DF 
 



 

circumstances, which shall be specified at the meeting, the Chairman 
is of the opinion that the item(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency. 
 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
If a member requires advice on Declarations of Interest, he/she is 
advised to contact the Borough Solicitor in advance of the meeting. 
(For the assistance of members a checklist for use in considering their 
position on any particular item is included at the end of this agenda 
sheet.) 
 

  275 - 
276 

5.   DECLARATIONS OF PARTY WHIP  
 
Party Whips are not to be used by this Committee in respect of its 
functions concerning the determination of applications, approval of 
consents, the taking of enforcement action and the exercise of powers 
and duties with regard to highways, hedgerows, the preservation of 
trees and high hedge complaints. When considering any other matter 
which relates to a decision of the Cabinet or the performance of any 
member of the Cabinet, in accordance with Regulatory Committee 
Procedure 9, Members must declare the existence of any party whip, 
and the nature of it. 
 

 

6.   MINUTES  
 
To receive as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on the 
26 July 2018.                                              .  
 

  277 - 
282 

7.   PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 
To consider the report of the Director of Development and 
Regeneration.  
 

  283 - 
294 

7a 2018/0401/OUT - 67 Gaw Hill Lane, Aughton 
 

  295 - 
310 

7b 2018/0275/FUL - 50 St. Helens Road, Ormskirk 
 

  311 - 
318 

7c 2018/0618/FUL - Elm Tree Community Primary School, Elmers Wood 
Road, Skelmersdale 
 

  319 - 
326 

7d 2018/0251/FUL - Wrightington Hospital, Hall Lane, Wrightington 
 

  327 - 
342 

7e 2018/0300/FUL - Wrightington Hospital, Hall Lane, Wrightington 
 

  343 - 
348 

7f 2018/0702/FUL - 21 Manse Avenue, Wrightington 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  349 - 
352 



 

8.   LOCAL PLAN REVIEW - PROPOSED LOCAL PLAN PREFERRED 
OPTIONS CONSULTATION  
 
To consider the report of the Director of Development and 
Regeneration.  
 

  353 - 
942 

 
We can provide this document, upon request, on audiotape, in large print, in Braille 
and in other languages.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE: Please see attached sheet. 
MOBILE PHONES: These should be switched off or to ‘silent’ at all meetings. 
 
For further information, please contact:- 
Jill Ryan on 01695 585017 
Or email jill.ryan@westlancs.gov.uk 



 

FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE FOR: 
COUNCIL MEETINGS WHERE OFFICERS ARE PRESENT  

(52 DERBY STREET, ORMSKIRK) 
 

PERSON IN CHARGE:  Most Senior Officer Present 
ZONE WARDEN:   Member Services Officer / Lawyer 
DOOR WARDEN(S)  Usher / Caretaker 

 
IF YOU DISCOVER A FIRE 

 
1.  Operate the nearest FIRE CALL POINT by breaking the glass. 
2.  Attack the fire with the extinguishers provided only if you have been trained and it is 

safe to do so. Do not take risks. 
 

ON HEARING THE FIRE ALARM 
 

1.  Leave the building via the NEAREST SAFE EXIT. Do not stop to collect personal 
belongings. 

2.  Proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT on the car park and report your presence to the 
PERSON IN CHARGE. 

3.  Do NOT return to the premises until authorised to do so by the PERSON IN 
CHARGE. 

 
NOTES: 
Officers are required to direct all visitors regarding these procedures i.e. exit routes and 
place of assembly. 
The only persons not required to report to the Assembly Point are the Door Wardens. 
 

CHECKLIST FOR PERSON IN CHARGE 
 

1.  Advise other interested parties present that you are the person in charge in the event 
of an evacuation. 

2. Make yourself familiar with the location of the fire escape routes and informed any 
interested parties of the escape routes. 

3.  Make yourself familiar with the location of the assembly point and informed any 
interested parties of that location. 

4.  Make yourself familiar with the location of the fire alarm and detection control panel. 
5.  Ensure that the zone warden and door wardens are aware of their roles and 

responsibilities. 
6.  Arrange for a register of attendance to be completed (if considered appropriate / 

practicable). 
 

IN THE EVENT OF A FIRE, OR THE FIRE ALARM BEING SOUNDED 
 

1.  Ensure that the room in which the meeting is being held is cleared of all persons. 
2.  Evacuate via the nearest safe Fire Exit and proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT in the 

car park. 
3.  Delegate a person at the ASSEMBLY POINT who will proceed to HOME CARE LINK 

in order to ensure that a back-up call is made to the FIRE BRIGADE. 
4.  Delegate another person to ensure that DOOR WARDENS have been posted outside 

the relevant Fire Exit Doors. 



 

5.  Ensure that the ZONE WARDEN has reported to you on the results of his checks, i.e. 
that the rooms in use have been cleared of all persons. 

6.  If an Attendance Register has been taken, take a ROLL CALL. 
7.  Report the results of these checks to the Fire and Rescue Service on arrival and 

inform them of the location of the FIRE ALARM CONTROL PANEL. 
8.  Authorise return to the building only when it is cleared to do so by the FIRE AND 

RESCUE SERVICE OFFICER IN CHARGE. Inform the DOOR WARDENS to allow 
re-entry to the building. 

 
NOTE: 
The Fire Alarm system will automatically call the Fire Brigade. The purpose of the 999 
back-up call is to meet a requirement of the Fire Precautions Act to supplement the 
automatic call. 
 

CHECKLIST FOR ZONE WARDEN 
 

1.  Carry out a physical check of the rooms being used for the meeting, including 
adjacent toilets, kitchen. 

2.  Ensure that ALL PERSONS, both officers and members of the public are made 
aware of the FIRE ALERT. 

3.  Ensure that ALL PERSONS evacuate IMMEDIATELY, in accordance with the FIRE 
EVACUATION PROCEDURE. 

4.  Proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT and report to the PERSON IN CHARGE that the 
rooms within your control have been cleared. 

5.  Assist the PERSON IN CHARGE to discharge their duties. 
 
It is desirable that the ZONE WARDEN should be an OFFICER who is normally based in 
this building and is familiar with the layout of the rooms to be checked. 
 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR DOOR WARDENS 
 

1.  Stand outside the FIRE EXIT DOOR(S) 
2.  Keep the FIRE EXIT DOOR SHUT. 
3.  Ensure that NO PERSON, whether staff or public enters the building until YOU are 

told by the PERSON IN CHARGE that it is safe to do so. 
4.  If anyone attempts to enter the premises, report this to the PERSON IN CHARGE. 
5.  Do not leave the door UNATTENDED. 
 
 





MEMBERS INTERESTS 2012 

A Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter considered at a meeting must disclose the interest to 
the meeting at which they are present, except where it has been entered on the Register. 
A Member with a non pecuniary or pecuniary interest in any business of the Council must disclose the existence and 
nature of that interest at commencement of consideration or when the interest becomes apparent. 
Where sensitive information relating to an interest is not registered in the register, you must indicate that you have an 
interest, but need not disclose the sensitive information. 

Please tick relevant boxes         Notes 

 General    

1. I have a disclosable pecuniary interest.  You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 below 

2. I have a non-pecuniary interest.  You may speak and vote 

3. I have a pecuniary interest because 

it affects my financial position or the financial position of a 
connected person or, a body described in 10.1(1)(i) and (ii) 
and the interest is one which a member of the public with 
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as 
so significant that it is likely to prejudice my judgement of the 
public interest 

or 

it relates to the determining of any approval consent, 
licence, permission or registration in relation to me or a 
connected person or, a body described in 10.1(1)(i) and (ii) 
and the interest is one which a member of the public with 
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as 
so significant that it is likely to prejudice my judgement of the 
public interest 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 or 6 below 

 

 

 

You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 or 6 below 

4. 

 

I have a disclosable pecuniary interest (Dispensation 
20/09/16) or a pecuniary interest but it relates to the 
functions of my Council in respect of: 

  

(i) Housing where I am a tenant of the Council, and those 
functions do not relate particularly to my tenancy or lease. 

 You may speak and vote 

(ii) school meals, or school transport and travelling expenses 
where I am a parent or guardian of a child in full time 
education, or are a parent governor of a school, and it does 
not relate particularly to the school which the child attends. 

 

 

 

You may speak and vote 

(iii) Statutory sick pay where I am in receipt or entitled to receipt 
of such pay.  

 You may speak and vote 

(iv) An allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members  You may speak and vote 

(v) Any ceremonial honour given to Members  You may speak and vote 

(vi) Setting Council tax or a precept under the LGFA 1992  You may speak and vote 

5. A Standards Committee dispensation applies (relevant lines 
in the budget – Dispensation 20/9/16-19/09/20) 

 See the terms of the dispensation 

6. I have a pecuniary interest in the business but I can attend 
to make representations, answer questions or give evidence 
as the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the 
same purpose 

 You may speak but must leave the 
room once you have finished and 
cannot vote 

‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ (DPI) means an interest of a description specified below which is your 
interest, your spouse’s or civil partner’s or the interest of somebody who you are living with as a husband 
or wife, or as if you were civil partners and you are aware that that other person has the interest. 

Interest Prescribed description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the relevant 
authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by M in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the election expenses of 
M. Page 275

Agenda Item 4



 This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority— 

 (a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 

 (b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the relevant 
authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M's knowledge)— 

 (a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

 (b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 

 (a) that body (to M's knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
relevant authority; and 

 (b) either— 

 (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 

 (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the relevant person is a partner or a body 

corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society; 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right for the relevant 

person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to receive income; “M” means a member of a relevant authority; 

“member” includes a co-opted member; “relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member; 

“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives notice to the Monitoring Officer of a DPI; 

“relevant person” means M or M’s spouse or civil partner, a person with whom M is living as husband or wife or a person with 

whom M is living as if they were civil partners;  

 “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the 

meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited 

with a building society. 

‘non pecuniary interest’ means interests falling within the following descriptions: 
10.1(1)(i) Any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management and 

to which you are appointed or nominated by your authority; 
 (ii) Any body (a) exercising functions of a public nature; (b) directed to charitable purposes; or (c) 

one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union), of which you are a member or in a position of 
general control or management; 

 (iii) Any easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right 
for you (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to receive income. 

10.2(2) A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting your well-
being or financial position or the well-being or financial position of a connected person to a 
greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 
ward, as the case may be, affected by the decision. 

‘a connected person’ means  
(a) a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close association, or 
(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they are a 

partner, or any company of which they are directors; 
(c) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of securities 

exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 
(d) any body of a type described in sub-paragraph 10.1(1)(i) or (ii). 
‘body exercising functions of a public nature’ means 
Regional and local development agencies, other government agencies, other Councils, public health 
bodies, council-owned companies exercising public functions, arms length management organisations 
carrying out housing functions on behalf of your authority, school governing bodies. 
A Member with a personal interest who has made an executive decision in relation to that matter must 
ensure any written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of that interest. 
NB  Section 21(13) of the LGA 2000 overrides any Code provisions to oblige an executive member to 
attend an overview and scrutiny meeting to answer questions. 

Page 276



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD: Thursday, 26 July 2018 
 Start: 7.30pm 
 Finish: 10.20pm 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor: M Mills (Chairman) 

D Evans (Vice-Chairman) 
 

   
Councillors:   I Ashcroft G Owen  
 Mrs P Baybutt R Pendleton 
 S Evans  A Pritchard 
 J Gordon N Pryce-Roberts 
 G Hodson  Mrs M Westley  
 D O'Toole   
 
 
Officers:          Director of Development and Regeneration - Mr J Harrison 
           Head of Development Management - Mrs C Thomas 
           Legal and Member Services Manager - Mr M Jones 
                                        Principal Planning Officer - Mrs A Veevers 
                                        Member Services/Civic Support Officer – Mrs J A Ryan  
  
 
17   APOLOGIES  

 
 There were no apologies for absence received. 

 
18   MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE  

 
 In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4, the Committee noted the termination 

of Councillors Devine and Yates and the appointments of Councillor Pryce-Roberts 
and S Evans for this meeting only, thereby giving effect to the wishes of the Political 
Groups. 
 

19   URGENT BUSINESS, IF ANY INTRODUCED BY THE CHAIRMAN  
 

 There were no urgent items of business.  
 

20   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 In line with Section 17.1 of the Constitution, the Officers Code of Conduct, the Head 
of Development Management, Mrs C Thomas declared an interest in respect of 
planning application 0394/FUL relating to the Halton Castle Inn, Crosshall Brow 
Westhead as her brother is a member of another Bowling Club in Ormskirk and she 
would therefore leave the Chamber during consideration of this application.    
 

21   DECLARATIONS OF PARTY WHIP  
 

 There were no Declarations of Party Whip.  
 
 

Page 277

Agenda Item 6



PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD: Thursday, 26 July 2018 
 

 

22   MINUTES  
 

 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on the 21 June 2018                              
be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

 
23   PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 
 The Director of Development and Regeneration submitted a report on planning 

applications (all prefixed 2018 unless otherwise stated) as contained on pages 151 
to 271 of the Book of Reports and on pages 273 to 289 of  the Late Information 
Report. 
 
(Notes: 
 
1.  In accordance with the procedure for public speaking on planning 

applications an objector and a representative for the applicant spoke in 
connection with application no. 2017/0975/OUT relating to the Sisters of 
Notre Dame Convent, Lancaster Lane, Parbold. 

2. Parish Councillor N Campbell from Halsall Parish Council and the applicant 
spoke in connection with planning application 0375/FUL relating to 14A New 
Cut Lane, Halsall. 

3. In accordance with Regulatory Procedure Rule 7(b), Councillor A Owens 
spoke in connection with planning application 0275/FUL relating to 50 St. 
Helens Road, Ormskirk. 

4. In accordance with the procedure for public speaking on planning applications 
on this Committee, 2 objectors spoke in connection with planning application 
0275/FUL relating to 50 St. Helens Road, Ormskirk. 

5. In accordance with Regulatory Procedure Rule 7(b), Councillor I Davis spoke 
in connection with planning application 0394/FUL relating to the Halton Castle 
Inn, Crosshall Brow, Westhead. 

6. In accordance with the procedure for public speaking on planning applications 
on this Committee, 2 objectors and the applicant spoke in connection with 
planning application 2017/1055/FUL relating to the Former Ainscough Mill, 
Mill Lane, Burscough. 

7. In accordance with Regulatory Procedure Rule 7(b), Councillor E Pope spoke 
in connection with planning application 0409/FUL relating to Land to the east 
of Lords Cottage, Hall Lane, Lathom and Pilkington Technology Centre, Hall 
Lane, Lathom.   

8. The Head of Development Management, Mrs C Thomas had declared an 
interest in respect of planning application 0394/FUL relating to Halton Castle 
Inn, Crosshall Brow, Westhead and therefore left the Chamber during 
consideration of this item.  

9. Councillor Pope left the meeting at the conclusion of planning application 
0409/FUL relating to Land to the east of Lords Cottage, Hall Lane, Lathom 
and Pilkington Technology Centre, Hall Lane, Lathom and was not present for 
the remainder of the meeting. 

10. Councillor Owens left the meeting at the conclusion of planning application 
0275/FUL relating to 50 St. Helens Road, Ormskirk and was not present for 
the remainder of the meeting. 

11. The Leader of the Council, Councillor Moran joined the meeting during 

Page 278



PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD: Thursday, 26 July 2018 
 

 

consideration of planning application 2018/0275/FUL relating to 50 St. Helens 
Road, Ormskirk. 

12. Councillor I Davis left the meeting at the conclusion of planning application 
0394/FUL relating to the Halton Castle Inn, Crosshall Brow, Westhead and 
was not present for the remainder of the meeting.  

13. The Leader of the Council, Councillor Moran left the meeting at the 
conclusion of planning application 2017/1055/FUL relating to Former 
Ainscough Mill, Mill Lane, Burscough and was not present for the remainder 
of the meeting. 

14. At the conclusion of the planning applications, the Director of Development 
and Regeneration discussed with Members the next meeting of the Planning 
Committee due to take place on Thursday 6 September and sought Members 
views on the possibility of starting the meeting at 7pm as the Agenda would 
contain the Council's new Local Plan and Preferred Options Report it was 
envisaged that this was going to be a lengthy meeting.  Members agreed 
therefore to commence the meeting at 7pm.  

 
24   2018/0410/WL3  - 62 LEA CRESCENT, ORMSKIRK  

 
 RESOLVED:  That planning application 0410/WL3 relating to 62 Lea Crescent, 

Ormskirk be approved subject to the conditions as set out on page 
153 of the Report.  

 
25   2018/0411/WL3 - 55A PENNINGTON AVENUE, ORMSKIRK  

 
 RESOLVED:  That planning application 0411/WL3 relating to 55A Pennington 

Avenue, Ormskirk be approved subject to the conditions as set out 
on pages 158 to 159 of the Report.   

 
26   2018/0614/WL3 - 9 RIMMER GREEN, SCARISBRICK  

 
 RESOLVED:  That planning application 0614/WL3 relating to 9 Rimmer Green, 

Scarisbrick be approved subject to the conditions as set out on pages 
163 to 164 of the Report.   

 
27   2017/0975/OUT - SISTERS OF NOTRE DAME CONVENT, LANCASTER LANE, 

PARBOLD  
 

 RESOLVED:  That in respect of planning application 2017/0975/OUT relating to 
Sisters of Notre Dame Convent, Lancaster Lane, Parbold:- 

 
1. The decision to grant planning permission be delegated to the 

Director of Development and Regeneration in consultation with 
the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee 
subject to confirmation that the submitted bat survey is 
satisfactory. 

 
2. That  any planning permission granted by the Director of 

Development and Regeneration pursuant to recommendation 1 
above be subject to the conditions as set out on pages 173 to 

Page 279



PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD: Thursday, 26 July 2018 
 

 

177 of the Report and any additional conditions in relation to 
bats and with an additional condition as set out below:-  

 
 Condition 21 
 Prior to commencement of use of the development, the existing 

hedge adjacent to the Lancaster Lane entrance shall be 
reduced in height to the same height as the existing boundary 
wall for a length of 10m in both directions, and shall be 
maintained as such thereafter. 

 
 Reason 
 To ensure adequate visibility for the drivers of vehicles entering 

and leaving the site and to ensure that the development 
complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document.  

 
 

28   2018/0409/FUL - LAND TO THE EAST OF LORDS COTTAGE, HALL LANE, 
LATHOM AND PILKINGTON TECHNOLOGY CENTRE, HALL LANE, LATHOM  
 

 RESOLVED:   That planning application 0409/FUL relating to Land to the east of 
Lords Cottage, Hall Lane, Lathom be approved subject to the 
conditions as set out on pages 199 to 202 of the Report.  

 
29   2018/0375/FUL - 14A NEW CUT LANE, HALSALL  

 
 RESOLVED:    That planning application 0375/FUL relating to 14A New Cut Lane, 

Halsall be approved subject to conditions as set out on pages 207 to 
210 of the Report.  

 
30   2018/0275/FUL - 50 ST HELENS ROAD, ORMSKIRK  

 
 RESOLVED:   That planning application 0275/FUL relating to 50 St. Helens Road, 

Ormskirk be withdrawn from the Agenda to allow Officers to seek 
further clarification on this application.  

 
31   2018/0394/FUL - HALTON CASTLE INN, CROSSHALL BROW, WESTHEAD, 

ORMSKIRK  
 

 RESOLVED:    That in respect of planning application 0394/FUL relating to Halton 
Castle Inn, Crosshall Brow, Westhead:- 

 
1. That the decision to grant planning permission be delegated to 

the Director of Development and Regeneration  in consultation 
with the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee 
subject to the applicant entering into a planning obligation under 
S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure: 
 
The terms and conditions of the affordable housing units 
To secure the provision of lighting at Ormskirk Bowling Club 

Page 280



PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD: Thursday, 26 July 2018 
 

 

 
2. That any planning permission granted by the Director of 

Development and Regeneration pursuant to recommendation 1 
above be subject to the conditions as set out on pages 225 to 
228 of the Report.   

 
32   2017/1055/FUL - FORMER AINSCOUGH MILL, MILL LANE, BURSCOUGH  

 
 RESOLVED: That planning application 2017/1055/FUL Former Ainscough     Mill, 

Mill Lane, Burscough be refused for the reason below:- 
 
 The proposed parking area results in loss of public open space and 

would be detrimental to the character and appearance of the area, 
contrary to Policies GN3 and EN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 DDP and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
 

33   2016/1166/FUL - BRIDGE FARM, DALE LANE, NORTHWOOD, KIRKBY  
 

 RESOLVED: That planning application 2016/1166/FUL relating to Bridge Farm, 
Dale Lane, Northwood, Kirkby be refused for the reasons as set out 
on page 250 of the Book of Reports but with the amendments to 
reasons 1 and 4 set out on page 286 of the Late Information Report.  

 
34   2018/0401/OUT - 67 GAW HILL LANE, AUGHTON, ORMSKIRK  

 
 RESOLVED:  That planning application 0401/OUT relating to 67 Gaw Hill Lane, 

Aughton be refused – reasons for resfusal are yet to be specifically 
determined. 

 
35   2018/0003/COU - LIME TREE BARN, 59 WINIFRED LANE, AUGHTON  

 
 RESOLVED:    That planning application 0003/COU relating to Lime Tree Barn,  59 

Winifred Lane, Aughton be approved subject to the conditions as set 
out on pages 270 to 271 of the Book of Reports.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

……….……………………….. 
- CHAIRMAN - 

 

Page 281





 

 
 

 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE: 
6 SEPTEMBER 2018 

 
Report of:  Director of Development and Regeneration 
 
Contact: Mrs. C. Thomas (Extn.5134) 
  Email: catherine.thomas@westlancs.gov.uk 
 

 
SUBJECT:  PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

 
 
Background Papers 
 
In accordance with Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 the background papers 
used in the compilation of reports relating to planning applications are listed within the text of 
each report and are available for inspection in the Planning Division, except for such documents 
as contain exempt or confidential information defined in Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There is no evidence from an initial assessment of an adverse impact on equality in relation to 
the equality target groups. 
 
 
Human Rights 
 
The relevant provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and the European Convention on Human 
Rights have been taken into account in the preparation of this report, particularly the implications 
arising from Article 8 (the right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence) 
and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (the right of peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of 
property). 

Page 283

Agenda Item 7

mailto:catherine.thomas@westlancs.gov.uk


CONTENT SHEET 
 

Report 
No 

Ward Appn  
No 

Site Location & Proposal Recommendation 

1 Aughton 
Park 

2018/0401/OUT 67 Gaw Hill Lane Aughton 
Ormskirk Lancashire L39 7HA   
 
Outline - Erection of up to 
seven residential units 
following the demolition of the 
existing buildings including 
details of access (all other 
matters reserved). 

Outline Planning 
permission be 
granted.  
 
 

     

2 Derby 2018/0275/FUL 50 St Helens Road Ormskirk 
Lancashire L39 4QT    
 
Alterations to form 10 bed 
HMO - 6 bedrooms and 4 
studio bedrooms 

Planning 
permission be 
granted.  
 
 

     

3 Tanhouse 2018/0619/FUL Elm Tree Community Primary 
School Elmers Wood Road 
Skelmersdale Lancashire WN8 
6SA   
 
Proposed multi use games 
area (60 x 40m) for use by 
pupils of the school, including 
provision of perimeter fence. 

Planning 
permission be 
granted.  
 
 

     

4 Wrightington 2018/0251/FUL Wrightington Hospital Hall 
Lane Wrightington Wigan 
Lancashire WN6 9EP  
 
Demolition of existing nurses 
wing, erection of extension to 
Wrightington Hall, creation of 
additional vehicular parking 
spaces and associated 
external works. 

The decision to 
grant planning 
permission be 
delegated to the 
Director of 
Development and 
Regeneration in 
consultation with 
the Chairman or 
Vice Chairman of 
the Planning 
Committee, 
subject to the 
Secretary of State 
raising no 
objection to the 
Local Planning 
Authority making a 
decision itself on 
the application. 
 

     

5 Wrightington 2018/0300/LBC Wrightington Hospital Hall 
Lane Wrightington Wigan 

Listed Building 
Consent be 

Page 284



Lancashire WN6 9EP  
 
Listed Building Consent - 
Demolition of existing nurses 
wing, erection of extension to 
Wrightington Hall. 

granted.  
 
 

     

6 Wrightington 2018/0702/FUL 21 Manse Avenue 
Wrightington Wigan 
Lancashire WN6 9RP 
 
Two storey side extension, 
part single storey side 
extension. Garage conversion 
to a habitable room. 

Planning 
permission be 
granted.  
 
 

     

 
 

Page 285





 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
 

6th September 2018 
 
 
 

(Agenda Item 7) 
 
 

PLANNING APPLICATION ITEMS 
 
 

LOCATION PLANS 
 

Page 287



Gaw Hill
Farm

Newhouse Farm

69

45

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

1:1,250

Report 1 : 2018/0401/OUT
67 Gaw Hill, Aughton, Ormskirk L39 7HA

Site

Gaw Hill Lane

Holly Lane

Page 288



St Helens Road Park

ST HELENS ROAD

KN
OW

SL
EY

 R
OA

D

SMALL LANE

The Shippon

11

Surgery

War

Tennis Courts

50

30

47

26

25

35

4

2

62

2a

48

38

23

16

37

1LB

53.0m

52.7m

52.4m

50.0m

Boundary Cottage

TCB

2

25

35
47

1

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

1:1,250

Report 2 : 2018/0275/FUL
50 St Helens Road, Ormskirk L39 4QT

Site

Small Lane

St Helens Road

Page 289



Elm Tree Community Primary School

ELMERS WOOD ROAD

Underpass

1

8 to

17

18 to

28a

7

24 to 29

30 to 35

22

36

14

28

2
10

166

109.1m

Path

7

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

1:1,250

Report 3 : 2018/0619/FUL
Elm Tree Community Primary School, Elmers Wood Road,
Skelmersdale WN8 6SA

Site

Elmers Green

Elmers Wood Road

Page 290



Nurses Home

Tank

100.9m

96.6m

DOBSON CLOSE

Bungalow

1

26

10

4

32

20

22

6

16

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

1:1,250

Report 4 : 2018/0251/FUL
Wrightington Hospital, Hall Lane, Wrightington, Wigan WN6 9EP

Site

Hall Lane

Dobson Close

Page 291



Nurses Home

Tank

100.9m

96.6m

DOBSON CLOSE

Bungalow

1

26

10

4

32

20

22

6

16

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

1:1,250

Report 5 : 2018/0300/LBC
Wrightington Hospital, Hall Lane, Wrightington, Wigan WN6 9EP

Site

Hall Lane

Dobson Close

Page 292



Wrightington

Primary School

Hind's
Head

96.4m

Bowling Green

Drain

Club

AVENUE

MOSSY LEA ROAD

MANSE

(PH)

24

266

24343

268

247

33

23

1

65

48
12

36
2

245

13

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

1:1,250

Report 6 : 2018/0702/FUL
21 Manse Avenue, Wrightington WN6 9EP

Site

Manse Avenue

Mossy Lea Road

Page 293





 
No.1 APPLICATION NO. 2018/0401/OUT 
 LOCATION 67 Gaw Hill Lane Aughton Ormskirk Lancashire L39 7HA  

 
 PROPOSAL Outline - Erection of up to seven residential units following the 

demolition of the existing buildings including details of access (all 
other matters reserved). 

 APPLICANT Boundary Group Ltd 
 WARD Aughton Park 
 PARISH Aughton 
 TARGET DATE 11th June 2018 
 

 
1.0 DEFERRAL 
 
1.1 This application was considered by Planning Committee at the July meeting at which time 

Members raised concerns regarding a number of issues. Whilst a vote took place with 
Members resolving to refuse the proposed development, officers were unclear regarding 
the exact grounds for refusal and the Committee moved onto the next agenda item before 
the matter was resolved. Given the above and following discussions with the Borough 
Solicitor, it was considered appropriate to refer the application back to Planning 
Committee for further consideration. In doing so, I wish to draw Members attention to the 
following information. 
 

1.2 In December 2017, an application for a similar development on this site was refused on 
three grounds: 

 
 The proposed development would conflict with Policies EC1, EC2 and GN4 of the West 

Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) DPD and National Planning Policy Framework in that 
it has not been robustly demonstrated that the site is unsuitable for an on-going viable 
employment use. 

 
 The proposed development is contrary to paragraph 55 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework and Policies GN1 and RS1 of the West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) 
DPD in that the development would result in new isolated homes in the countryside and 
the delivery of market housing outside of a settlement boundary in an unsustainable 
location. Insufficient special circumstances have been identified to support the 
development in this context. 

 
 The proposed development would conflict with Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local 

Plan in that the proposed dwellings have a standard suburban appearance which does not 
reflect the rural environment in which it would be situated and introduces an 
uncharacteristic form of development into the locality. The scale and design of the 
dwellings do not relate to the character of the area and would appear incongruous in this 
setting. 

 
1.3 The current supplication seeks to address the above reasons for refusal. Whilst it was 

unclear as to the specific grounds for concerns raised by Members at the July Committee, 
it was clear that these concerns did not specifically relate to the reasons as outlined 
above. To introduce new concerns, relating to essentially the same type of development 
(i.e. residential) and in the absence of any significant policy changes, would be 
inconsistent with the Council's previous decision and leave the Council open to a 
significant risk of costs should a formal refusal be issued and appealed by the applicant.  

 

Page 295

Agenda Item 7a



1.4 I appreciate that Planning Committee has concerns regarding the proposed development, 
but in my view the above reasons for refusal have been satisfactorily overcome, as 
outlined in the body of the report. However, if Members disagree with my view in respect 
of the above matters and are still minded to refuse this application, they should identify 
which of the above reasons for refusal they do not feel has been satisfactorily addressed 
and base any subsequent refusal on the identified ground/grounds. If new reasons for 
refusal are introduced at this stage, it will increase the likelihood of an appeal against the 
decision and substantially undermine the Council's ability to defend the appeal and 
increase the risk of costs. 

 
2.0 REFERRAL 

 
2.1 This application was to be determined under the Council's delegation scheme, however, 

Councillor O'Toole has requested it be referred to Committee due to the large number of 
concerns raised by local residents.  
 

3.0 SUMMARY 
 

3.1 The proposed development seeks permission for the principle of residential development 
and access only; all other matters have been reserved. In this respect the proposal is 
considered acceptable. I am satisfied that a development could be brought forward which 
would have no greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of 
including land within it than the existing development. Furthermore, I am satisfied that the 
proposed development would not result in the creation of new isolated homes in the 
countryside and an acceptable case for the loss of the existing employment has been 
presented. The proposed access is acceptable and the development will not have a 
significant impact on highway safety. I am satisfied that the residential development can 
be provided on site without causing harm to the character of the area, amenity of 
neighbouring properties, landscaping or ecology. The development is considered to be 
compliant with the NPPF and the relevant planning policies of the Local Plan and the 
application is therefore recommended for approval.  

 
4.0 RECOMMENDATION:   

 
4.1 That Outline planning permission be GRANTED subject to conditions.  

 
5.0 THE SITE 

 
5.1 The site is currently occupied by various agricultural type buildings situated to the south of 

Gaw Hill Lane in Aughton. The site is situated on lower land to Gaw Hill Lane and is in the 
Green Belt. Whilst the land surrounding the site remains free and open from development 
the site is immediately bounded to the north and the south by residential dwellings. The site 
has established vegetation screening to its boundaries.  

 
5.2 The site currently operates as a Feed and Agricultural Merchants. Grain is stored and 

dried in the buildings and sold to customers primarily for horse feed.  
 
6.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
6.1 This application seeks outline planning permission for the erection of up to seven 

dwellings. This application will consider the principle of development and means of access 
only, with all other matters reserved.  

 
6.2 It should be noted that, as originally submitted, the proposed development sought 

approval on the matters of layout and scale also. However the proposed layout has been 

Page 296



withdrawn and the description of development revised to reflect the absence of any 
definitive layout/no. of proposed dwellings.  

 
7.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 

 
7.1 2017/1065/OUT – REFUSED (01.12.2017) Outline - Seven detached dwelling houses, 

associated landscaping and access road following the demolition of the existing buildings 
including details of  access, layout and scale. 

 
7.2 8/6/10863 Approved -Erection of agricultural workers dwelling. 
 
7.3 8/6/10863/1 Approved - Details of agricultural workers dwelling. 
 
7.4 8/75/245 Approved - 2 single storey extensions and roofing of existing balcony. 
 
7.5 8/80/686 Refused - Use of land for storage or 8 touring caravans. 
 
7.6 8/82/673 Approved - Retention of use of existing buildings for grain drying and storage 

and associated garages/workshop/vehicle store. 
 
7.7 8/85/139 Approved - Retention of use of existing building without compliance with 

condition 4 of 8/82/673 and amended condition and erection of extension. 
 
7.8 8/87/441 Approved - Extension to grain store and retention of use of grain store for 

preparation of animal food. 
 
7.9 8/90/791 Approved - 2 storey extension at rear. 
 
8.0 OBSERVATIONS OF CONSULTEES 
 
8.1 Lancashire County Council (Highway Authority) (15.05.2018) – No objection in principle to 

the proposed development.  Conditions recommended. 
 
8.2 United Utilities (15.05.2018) – No objections in principle.  Conditions recommended. 
 
8.3 Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (05.06.2018) (16.07.18) – No objections in 

principal.  Conditions recommended. 
 
8.4 Director of Leisure and Environment (Environmental Protection) (16.07.18) – objects on 

the grounds that the proposed site for residential development is adjacent to an existing 
commercial property which is a long established dog breeding premises. 

 
The Council's Licensing department has confirmed that dogs live in outside pens located 
to the rear of the property directly adjacent to the application site.  Dog barking has the 
potential to cause noise and disturbance to future occupants.  Concerns are expressed 
regarding introducing residential properties next to a noisy commercial use.  Whilst dog 
barking can be dealt with under noise nuisance legislation, there is case law to suggest 
that it is a defence against legal action where new uses such as residential are introduced 
next to an existing noisy use.  As such EH may not be able to pursue noise complaints 
from future residents in these circumstances.  

 
9.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
9.1 Aughton Parish Council: Members would, once again, refer to the relevant policies in the 

West Lancashire Local Plan and National Planning Policy Framework on Protection of the 

Page 297



Green Belt. The Parish Council could not support this Outline Planning Application for the 
following reasons: 

 
The proposal would, by definition, be harmful to the Green Belt – very special 
circumstances would not apply so the proposed use would be inappropriate; 

 The site is considered 'isolated' given its very rural location. Any new dwellings would be 
prominent in this location; 

 On viability, the poor condition of the majority of unsubstantial buildings on site, and 
concern that the ongoing employment use (agriculture) was not viable, would not justify 
the change of land use to 'new residential'. 

 
9.2 I have received 25 letters of objection from neighbouring properties and a petition 

containing 27 signatures. The main points of concern are summarised as follows: 
 
 Loss of rural area 
 Impact on natural beauty spot 
 Destroy developing nature reserve 
 Detrimental to local wildlife 
 Impact on protected species 
 Insignificant changes to previous refusal 
 There are many homes for sale in Aughton area; no more are needed 
 Loss of employment 
 Isolated dwellings 
 Design is not in keeping with rural area 
 Loss of existing trees/hedges 
 Increase in vehicular movements at junction of Gaw Hill Lane/A59 
 Loss of privacy and overlooking 
 Non-compliance with Local Plan 
 Non-compliance with Government guidance 
 Loss of views across the countryside 
 General impact on local residential amenities 
 Financial reports highlights that not all criteria met 

It's difficult to understand why existing access is a problem for the business  
If planning permission is granted restrictions should be attached regarding construction 
works to minimise impact on local neighbours 
No documentation has been submitted to evidence any marketing of the site 

 It is unclear how foul water would drain from the site 
 Width of access for potential number of cars 

If approval is given it would increase pressure on housing on two nearby plots currently 
classed as 'parked' 

 Impact on Green Belt   
The development would not fall within the definition of affordable housing 

 Totally out of character 
 Unsafe access 
 Dwellings would incorporate balconies which is out of keeping  
 Loss of valuable green space 
 This is a farm and farm buildings 
 Removal of trees will increase flooding in local area 
 Barn owls are not mentioned in the supporting documentation 
 Loss of quiet enjoyment of garden amenities 

Breach of Human Rights – right to peaceful enjoyment of all their possessions and right to 
respect for their private and family life 

 The previous reasons for refusal still apply 
 Change of use from commercial to residential is unnecessary 
 The Council has already reached their quota for housing  

Page 298



  
One letter of support has been received, raising the following points: 
Good location; topography would permit development with less intrusion than average 
Visit site weekly and development would be an asset to the surrounding area 
Add character and economic benefits to the area 
Enhance countryside 

 
10.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION  
 
10.1 The application is supported by the following information: 
  
 Bat Survey – Preliminary Roost Assessment (updated 6.7.2018) 
 Bat Survey – Emergence and Activity Surveys 
 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Survey 
 Information on distance to local amenities 
 Planning and Green Belt Statement 
 Drainage Statement 
 Viability Statement 
 Arboricultural Implications Assessment 

Letter from the applicant to address potential noise issues and concerns of EH 
 
11.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
11.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local Plan 

2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the development proposals 
will be assessed. 

 
The site is located within the Green Belt as designated in the West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 DPD 
 
National Planning Policy Framework    
Building a strong competitive economy 
Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
Achieving well designed places 
Protecting Green Belt land 
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 
 
GN1 – Settlement Boundaries 
GN3 Criteria for Sustainable Development  
GN4 – Demonstrating Viability 
RS1 – Residential Development 
EC1 – The Economy and Employment Land 
EN2 – The Rural Economy 
EN4 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment 
 
Supplementary Planning Advice 

 
SPD – Design Guide (January 2008) 

 
12.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
 Background  
 

Page 299



12.1 The site has an extensive planning history dating back to the 1960’s. In 1987 permission 
was granted for 'Extension to grain store and retention of use of grain store for preparation 
of animal food' subject to condition number 4 which read 'The premises shall only be used 
for the preparation of animal feeds in accordance with the submitted application and for no 
other purpose including any other purpose in Class B2 (General Industrial) of the 
Schedule of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987. In my view, this 
permission and current use of the site, demonstrates that the site is considered to be 
brownfield and not agricultural.  

 
Principle of Development 
 

12.2 The site falls within a Green Belt area of Aughton and is also classed as being a 
brownfield site, so I consider that there are three policy areas that need to be considered 
to assess the principle of the development. These are: 

 
The impact of the development upon the Green Belt; 
The loss of an existing employment site and; 
Sustainability of the location  

 
Principle of Development - Green Belt 

 
12.3 Paragraph 145 of the NPPF states that a local planning authority should regard the 

construction of new buildings as inappropriate in Green Belt. One of these exceptions 
allows for “Limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed sites (brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding 
temporary buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the existing development. 

 
12.4 Annex 2 of the Framework defines ‘previously developed land’ (PDL) as being land which 

is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land 
(although it should not be assumed that the whole curtilage should be developed) and any 
associated fixed surface infrastructure. 

 
12.5 This site is currently developed with an employment use and is therefore a brownfield site 

(within Green Belt). Therefore, the main issue is whether the proposed development would 
have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development.    

 
12.6 As the proposal is in outline form only with no precise details on the number of 

dwellings/scale of development it is not possible to assess the precise impact on the 
Green Belt as required by the NPPF. However, the proposal is for a maximum of seven 
dwellings and it has been previously determined that seven detached dwellings could be 
provided on site and the overall built volume would be reduced by approximately 50%. 
Furthermore, the average height of the dwellings would not exceed that of the existing 
buildings. The spread of development and the resulting impact would need to be 
considered further at the reserved matters stage. Therefore, I consider that a residential 
scheme on this site consisting of no more than seven dwellings would not in principle have 
a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt or the purpose of including land within 
it than the existing development.  

 
Principle of Development - Loss of an existing employment site 

 
12.7 Policy EC1 ‘The Economy and Employment Land’ of the Local Plan states that the re-

development of existing individual employment sites for other uses will be considered 
where a viability case can be put forward (in line with Policy GN4) and where the 
provisions of Policy EC2 and EC3 are met, where relevant. 

Page 300



 
12.8 Policy EC2, ‘The Rural Economy’, states that the Council will protect the continued 

employment use of existing employment sites in rural areas. This could include any type 
of employment use, including agriculture and farming, and not merely be restricted to B1, 
B2 and B8 land uses. Where it can be robustly demonstrated that the site is unsuitable for 
an ongoing viable employment use (in accordance with the requirements of Policy GN4), 
the Council will consider alternative uses where this is in accordance with other policies in 
the Local Plan. Policy GN4 ‘Demonstrating Viability’ seeks to retain existing commercial / 
industrial (B1, B2 or B8) and retail (A1).  Policy GN4 sets three tests and any proposal 
involving the loss of these uses must meet only one of the three tests.  

 
12.9 The previous proposal for the redevelopment of this site was refused for three reasons; 

one of these related to a failure to demonstrate that the site was unsuitable for an on-
going viable employment use. The previous assessment concluded that there were 
constraints which justified why it was not viable to redevelop the site for an alternative use 
or a mixed use and I am satisfied that these constraints remain. However it was found that 
the loss of the existing employment had not been addressed.  

 
12.10 The applicant has sought to address the above issue by the submission of further 

supporting information and in particular a Condition Survey Report, a letter from the 
applicant's accountant and letters from a previous client outlining the difficulties in using 
the current business and raising the possibility of a joint venture in the future.  

 
12.11 The information provided advises that whilst the current business (Feed and Agricultural 

Merchants) continues to operate, the projected future of the business is limited due to 
condition of the site/buildings and the need for investment to continue to operate a viable 
enterprise. The costs involved in this have been outlined and are considered to be 
prohibitive. Furthermore, the applicant's accountant has outlined the downturn in the 
existing business and the impact this has had on the applicant's personal and business 
finances and therefore the achievability of the necessary investment. The loss of trade 
has, in part, been put down to the constraints of the site which were identified under the 
last application (age of buildings, format, limited site area and parking facilities, restricted 
access for commercial activity) and this is reflected in the submission of a letter from a 
former client. Lastly, the applicant has submitted evidence of a possible future venture 
with a similar business in the West Lancashire area which operates from a site with less 
identifiable constraints.  

 
12.12 The information provided has identified the struggles that the existing business is likely to 

face in the future. These, together with the site constraints identified and accepted under 
the last submission, appear to me to evidence that the continued use of the site for its 
existing use is not viable in the long term. Whilst the possibility of a joint venture with a 
related company in the future is something that I note the applicant aspires to, it would not 
be prudent/appropriate for the Local Planning Authority to have any control over this; the 
above assessment is based on the information provided in respect of the condition of the 
site/building, comments from a previous user and the financial overview provided. 

 
12.13 On the basis of the above, I am satisfied that the applicant has submitted sufficient 

justification to evidence compliance with Policy GN4.1 (a) and (b) (although only one of 
these tests have to be met) and in turn compliance with Policy EC1 and EC2 of the Local 
Plan.  

 
Principle of Development - Sustainability of Location 

 
12.14 One of the reasons for refusing the previous residential proposal for this site was due to 

the concern that it would result in the creation of new isolated homes in the countryside. 

Page 301



Furthermore it was noted that there was no connectivity between the site and the services 
located in nearby Aughton, therefore making it an unsustainable location.  

 
12.15  The NPPF continues to advise that in order to promote sustainable development, rural 

housing should be located where it would enhance or maintain the vitality of rural 
communities.  However since the previous decision there have been a number of appeal 
decisions on this particular topic and as the NPPF does not offer any definition of the term 
'isolated', the outcome of relevant appeal decisions are a material consideration in 
determining planning applications.  In addition to appeal decisions, there has been a High 
Court Judgement on consideration of the meaning of 'isolation'.  Braintree District Council 
v Secretary of State Page 256 for Communities and Local Government, Grey read Limited 
& Granville Developments Limited [2017] confirmed that 'isolation' should be given its 
ordinary meaning of "far away from other places, buildings or people.  The matter was 
then further considered by the Court of Appeal in 2018 who considered that "isolated" 
means physically isolated from a settlement or village. 

 
12.16 Given the proximity of the application site to two existing residential dwellings, with further 

residential dwellings located close to the east, the proposed dwellings could not be 
considered as being far from other buildings or people.  

 
12.17 In accordance with the aforementioned High Court decision and subsequent appeal 

decisions (such as APP/P2365/W/17/3182494 – Plumtree Barn) it is also necessary to 
consider whether the proposed development would be far away from other places. This 
includes consideration of whether the site is a suitable location for housing having regard 
to its location and accessibility. In this respect the application is located approximately 
0.6m away from a range of day to day services located in Aughton (Key Service Centre) 
such as shops, a post office, school and public house. North and south bus stops are also 
located along the main A59 approximately 0.5m away from the site. In terms of 
accessibility to these services, this proposal offers a material change in circumstances in 
that it has been confirmed that a previously overgrown footpath linking the application site 
to an existing footpath at the junction of Holly Lane/Gaw Hill Lane, which in turn links to 
the A59, would be uncovered and reinstated. The Highway Authority has confirmed the 
acceptability of this footpath in usability terms. This provides a definitive link to the 
aforementioned services, one which could reasonably be expected to provide further 
occupants of the development a sustainable link to a variety of every day facilities and to 
public transport links to services further afield.  

 
12.18 Whilst I am mindful of the Council's previous conclusions in this respect, it is imperative to 

give due consideration to material changes which have occurred in the intervening period, 
such as those outlined above. For these reasons, it is no longer considered that the site is 
isolated in terms of the requirements of paragraph 55 of the NPPF and the proposal would 
provide sustainable development which would enhance or maintain the vitality of the 
surrounding rural community.  

 
Siting/Design 
 

12.19 As this is an outline application, the planning application has effectively been submitted to 
test the principle of the development for up to 7 dwellings having an access off Gaw Hill 
Lane. Whilst the layout of the scheme was originally submitted, this has subsequently 
been withdrawn and the matters of layout and scale have now been reserved for 
consideration at a later date (reserved matters). As it now stands, there is no layout, 
indicative or otherwise, to consider.  

 
12.20 Notwithstanding the above, I am satisfied that a residential scheme can be provided on 

this site which would not cause significant harm to the character or appearance of the 

Page 302



local area. I am of the opinion that such a development would need to be 'bespoke' in 
nature and sympathetic of its rural surroundings. In achieving this, I am not convinced that 
the site can accommodate seven detached dwellings. However the proposal is for up to 
seven dwellings and the detailing of layout, scale and appearance have been reserved for 
consideration at a later date.  

 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 

12.21 As above, as the application is in Outline form it is not possible to fully assess the impact 
of any future development on the amenities of neighbouring occupants. This assessment 
would form part of a future reserved matters application when the details of the 
development (no. of dwellings, siting, scale, appearance etc.) is known.  

 
12.22 Notwithstanding the above however, given the location of the site and the achievable 

separation distances from both neighbouring properties (Nos. 67 and 69 Gaw Hill Lane), I 
am satisfied that the residential scheme could be provided which would be compliant with 
Policy GN3 of the Local Plan  

 
12.23 As documented during the previous submission, the interface distances between the site 

and properties along Liverpool Road and the top of Gaw Hill Lane (who have raised 
concerns over loss of privacy and overlooking) are in excess of the guidelines provided in 
the Council's Design Guide. For this reason, I am satisfied that a residential development 
could be provided which does not cause harm to residents in these areas.  

 
12.24 Turning to the issues raised by the Council's Environmental Health Officer, this application 

has been submitted in outline to assess the principle of residential development on the 
site for the provision of up to 7 units.  Whilst the barking of dogs is audible on parts of the 
site there is already a residential dwelling at 67 Gaw Hill Lane.  I have checked with 
officers in the Environmental Protection team and they have not received any complaints 
regarding the barking of dogs from existing residents who live in close proximity to the 
site. 

 
12.25 Whilst it may not be possible to site new residential dwellings in close proximity to the 

kennels, I am minded to take the view that residential development, offering a suitable 
standard of amenity will be possible on some parts of the site.  As the application is for up 
to 7 dwellings, there is scope for a lower number of units to be accommodated under the 
description of development, should a subsequent noise survey and other planning 
considerations show this to be appropriate.   

 
12.26 At this stage, I am satisfied that a residential development could be provided which would 

be compliant with Policy GN3 of the Local Plan in respect of residential amenity.  
 

Highways 
 

12.27 The dwellings will be served by the existing shared access off Gaw Hill Lane. The 
Highway Authority has assessed the proposals and is satisfied visibility from this access is 
acceptable for the proposed development.  

 
12.28 As this application does not provide any details in relation to layout, it is not possible to 

comment on parking or manoeuvrability. However any future proposals for the 
redevelopment of this site would be expected to meet the minimum parking standards as 
outlined in Policy IF2 of the Local Plan and provide sufficient space for vehicles to enter 
and leave the site in a safe manner in accordance with Policy GN3 of the Local Plan.  

 
Impact on Trees 

Page 303



 
12.29 The site is within an area referenced in the Local Plan as being: 'Area of Local Landscape 

History Importance' due to the fragments of historic landscape in an area of major 
landscape change. Simply put, the area used to consist of a mosaic of fields and 
boundary hedgerows which were typical for farmed landscapes in this area. Over time, 
modern farming practices have created larger fields that are now flat and open.   

 
12.30 As details of layout are not included within this submission, the extent of necessary works 

to trees effectively remains unknown at this time. It is however likely that any form of 
residential re-development would necessitate the loss of some of the existing tree cover.  

 
12.31 It has been identified that the majority of the site consists of an over-grown boundary 

hedge made up of mainly unmanaged Leylandii conifers. The planting of these types of 
conifers is a poor choice in a rural environment and, although collectively, they can appear 
as a 'green screen', they are limited in terms of wildlife habitat and biodiversity. There are 
also a few mainly low grade trees in the north east corner of the site that includes species 
such as Ash, Sycamore and Alder.  

 
12.32 The previously considered scheme accepted the loss of the majority of tree cover on site, 

although it was clearly stated that some compensation would be required. I am satisfied 
that the same approach should be adopted in this case.  

 
12.33 Therefore, whilst the full impact on existing trees cannot be determined at this time, I am 

satisfied that a residential development could be provided which may result in the loss of 
the majority of the existing tree cover but which can provide a suitable compensatory 
scheme in order to appropriately assimilate the development into its surroundings.  

 
Ecology 

 
12.34 The proposed development would result in the demolition of the existing buildings. 

Ecological surveys, including an updated bat report, have been submitted in accordance 
with Policy EN2 of the Local Plan. 

 
12.35 These reports have highlighted that the site provides extensive bat foraging and 

commuting habitat and roosts are in close vicinity to the site however the bat report 
received in June 2018 found no evidence of bat use or presence within the buildings or 
trees. Given the proximity of bat activity it would be expected that any redevelopment of 
the site addressed this matter by incorporating integrated bat boxes and controlled lighting 
and such matters can be controlled by condition. 

 
12.36 The June 2018 survey found buildings and trees on site to offer negligible habitat for barn 

owl. The Council's Ecologist finds this conclusion to be acceptable and therefore barn owl 
requires no further consideration in relation to this proposal. 

 
12.37  It has been identified that the site provides nesting opportunities for breeding bird and a 

condition has been recommended that no works take place within the bird breeding 
season unless checks are first undertaken. In addition the proposed redevelopment of the 
site would result in the loss of bird breeding habitat and mitigation would be required in the 
form of bird nesting boxes; the necessary mitigation can be secured via a planning 
condition.  

 
12.38 Further precautionary conditions are required in relation to common amphibians, reptile 

and small mammal species during both the demolition and construction phase.  
 

Page 304



12.39 It is noted that the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal states that any proposals which affect 
trees may result in changes to the recommendations as the condition of the trees may 
change in the interim. It is noted that the assessment provided does not discuss the loss 
of trees within the site. However, as the proposal is in outline form only the extent of the 
impact on trees remains unknown at this time. Therefore I am satisfied with the level of 
information provided and conclude that further ecological information would be required at 
the later stage when details of layout and landscaping are required.  

 
12.40 From the information provided and subject to conditions, I am satisfied that the proposals 

accord with Policy EN2 of the Local Plan in respect of the impact of the proposed 
redevelopment of the site on protected species or their habitat.  

 
 Drainage 
 
12.41 In terms of flood risk the site is located in Flood Zone 1 and also outside of areas 

susceptible to surface water flooding so the risk of flooding is considered to be low. 
However, it is a requirement of Policy GN3 that new development does not result in 
unacceptable flood risk or drainage problems. The submitted information advises that the 
site would be drained on a separate system. It is stated that foul water from the 
development would connect to the mains drainage system; however a check of the United 
Utilities map indicates that there are no nearby public sewers, therefore further 
investigations would be required in this respect and I am satisfied that this could be 
undertaken under a suitably worded condition.  

 
12.42 With regards to the disposal of surface water, the information provided is again restricted 

in that it has only been confirmed that surface water will discharge in accordance with the 
Building Regulations hierarchal approach for the disposal of surface water. Given the 
Outline nature of this application I am satisfied that a condition can be imposed which 
requires full and definitive details of a drainage scheme to be submitted and agreed by the 
Council before any construction works take place.  

 
13.0 CONCLUSION 

 
13.1 The proposed Outline development would not be harmful to the Green Belt, amenity of 

neighbouring residents, highway safety or ecology and is in a sustainable location for 
future residential development. It is therefore recommended that Outline planning 
permission be granted subject to the following conditions:  

 
Conditions 
 1. Application for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than the expiration of 

three years beginning with the date of this permission and the development must be 
begun not later than the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved 
matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved. 

 2. Before any part of the development is commenced, approval shall be obtained from the 
Local Planning Authority for the Reserved Matters, namely the siting, design, layout, scale 
and appearance and landscaping (including details of landscape management and 
maintenance). 

 3. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details shown 
on the following plans:- 

 Drawing no. A103 Rev 2 received by the Local Planning Authority 26th July 2018 
 4. No development on the construction phase shall take place until full details of the finished 

levels of all parts of the site, including the floor levels of all buildings, have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with those details. 

Page 305



 5. No development on the construction phase shall commence until details of the design of 
the surface water drainage system, based on sustainable drainage principles, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Those details 
should include: 

 a) A drainage strategy confirming the proposed means of surface water disposal 
together with a SuDS management and maintenance plan, if applicable; 

 b) Evidence of the existing site topography to include any existing surface water flow 
routes, drains, sewers and watercourses in a readable 3D Autocad .drawing format; 

 c) Evidence of site investigation, test results to confirm soil infiltrations rates and 
calculations to indicate existing SW runoff rates and volumes; 

 d) Demonstration that SW run-off will not exceed pre-development run-off rates and 
volumes and, for formerly developed land, that the requisite reduction in runoff will be 
achieved; 

 e) Demonstration that existing natural land drainage water (e.g. spring water, ground 
water or surface runoff) from surrounding areas that enters the site is managed in such a 
way to have no material impact by leaving the site in terms of nuisance (e.g. exacerbation 
of existing flooding) or damage; 

 f) Design calculations using relevant storm periods and intensities (e.g. 1 in 30 and 1 
in 100 year + agreed allowance for climate change), runoff discharge rates and volumes 
(both pre and post development), facilities for temporary storage, the methods employed 
to delay and control SW discharged from the site, and the measures taken to prevent 
flooding and pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface waters, including 
watercourses, and details of floor levels in metres AOD; 

 g) Evidence that flood flows will be effectively managed within the site during the 
lifetime of the development including the construction period, will have no material impact 
by leaving the site in terms of nuisance or damage, or increase watercourse flows during 
periods of river flooding; 

 h) In addition to the normal printed input/output files supporting calculations for 
existing discharge rates (if applicable) and drainage proposals are to be submitted in an 
electronic format suitable for use in MicroDrainage software (e.g. mdx file format).  Any 
flow control details should be modelled using the Depth/ Flow Relationship for the Control 
Type for MicroDrainage version 2015 or earlier; 

 i) Existing and proposed 3D level data submitted in a suitable format i.e. CSV or 
Autocad .drawing; and 

 j) Existing and proposed catchment areas in a suitable format i.e. Autocad .drawing. 
 The scheme shall be implemented in full in accordance with the approved details prior to 

first occupation of the first new dwelling, or completion of the development, whichever is 
the sooner.  The approved drainage system shall be retained, managed and maintained in 
accordance with the approved details at all times for the duration of the development. 

 6. No development on the construction phase shall commence until details of the design and 
implementation of an appropriate foul drainage scheme have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The approved scheme shall be 
implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the first new dwelling and retained, 
managed and maintained as such at all times for the duration of the development.  To 
assist with approval a copy of the completion certificate issued by the Building Control 
body should be submitted. 

 7. The mitigation and enhancement measures set out in section 4.2 Table 8 of the Bat 
Survey - Preliminary Roost Assessment (ARBTECH, June 2018) received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 6th July 2018 and section 4.2 Table 7 of the Preliminary Ecology 
Appraisal Survey (ARBTECH, August, 2017) received by the Local Planning Authority on 
16th April 2018 shall be implemented in full during and following the development hereby 
approved.  

 8. Tree felling, scrub clearance, vegetation management and/or ground clearance shall be 
avoided during the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is necessary to undertake 
works during the bird breeding season then all trees, scrub and vegetation shall be 

Page 306



checked first by an appropriately experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds are 
present. If present, details of how they will be protected must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter the development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 9. No temporary or external lighting shall be present on the site until a lighting scheme has 
been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed 
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved detail and in a timetable to 
be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

10. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of bird boxes and 
timing for their installation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The bird boxes shall be provided in accordance with the approved 
details. 

11. No development shall take place until a scheme outlining Reasonable Avoidance 
Measures (RAMs) for the protection of common amphibian, reptile and small mammal 
species has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The agreed details shall be adhered to at all times. 

12. The proposed access from the site to Gaw Hill Lane, shall be constructed to a (minimum) 
width of 5.5m and this width shall be maintained for a minimum distance of 10m measured 
back from the nearside edge of the carriageway prior to the first occupation of any of the 
approved dwellings. 

13. No part of the development hereby approved shall take place until a scheme for the 
construction of the site access and the off-site works of highway improvement has been 
submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the 
Highway Authority as part of an appropriate legal agreement, under the Highways Act 
1980. 

14. The pedestrian footpath, as shown on plan reference A103 Rev 2 received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 26th June 2018, shall be provided prior to the first occupation of any 
of the approved dwellings and shall be maintained thereafter, clear of any obstructions. 

15. As part of any reserved matters application, a background noise survey shall be submitted 
which will establish the noise generated by the dog breeding premises that adjoins the 
application site. The survey shall be accompanied by an acoustic report which shall be 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority and shall identify mitigation measures 
required to ensure that occupants of the proposed dwellings would not be detrimentally 
impacted by noise from the adjoining land use. The agreed mitigation measures shall be 
provided prior to occupation of any dwelling. 

16. Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling, it shall be provided with an electric vehicle 
charging point which shall be retained for that purpose thereafter. 

 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 2. The application is in outline and the matters referred to in the condition are reserved for 

subsequent approval by the Local Planning Authority. 
 3. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in 

the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 
 4. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in 

the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 
 5. To ensure the site is adequately drained in the interest of local amenity, there is no 

increase in flood risk on or off the site resulting from the proposed development or 
resulting from inadequate maintenance of the proposed surface water drainage system 
including the SuDS, appropriate and sufficient funding and maintenance mechanisms are 
put in place for the lifetime of the development for the ongoing maintenance of the 
proposed surface water drainage system including the SuDS, to identify the responsible 
organisation/body/company/undertaker for the proposed SuDS and the water quality is not 
detrimentally impacted by the proposed development, so the development complies with 

Page 307



the provisions of Policies GN3 and IF3 in the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan 

 6. To ensure the site is adequately drained in the interest of local amenity, there is no flood 
risk on or off the site resulting from the proposed development, that appropriate and 
sufficient maintenance mechanisms are put in place for the lifetime of the development to 
reduce the flood risk to the development as a result of inadequate maintenance and the 
water quality is not detrimentally impacted by the proposed development, so the 
development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 and IF3 in the West Lancashire 
Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 7. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies with the 
provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

 8. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies with the 
provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

 9. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies with the 
provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

10. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies with the 
provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

11. To safeguard a protected species and so ensure that the development complies with the 
provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

12. To enable vehicles to enter and leave the premises in a safe manner without causing a 
hazard to other road users. 

13. In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority and Highway Authority that the final details 
of the highway scheme/works are acceptable before work commences on site and to 
enable all construction traffic to enter and leave the premises in a safe manner without 
causing a hazard to other road users. 

14. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

15. In the interests of residential amenity and to accord with Policy GN3 of the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan Development Plan Document 2012-27 

16. In the interests of sustainability in accordance with Policy GN3 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 
Notes 
 1. The applicant is advised that the new site access and proposed footpath will require the 

applicant to enter into an appropriate legal agreement with the County Council as Highway 
Authority. The Highway Authority hereby reserves the right to provide the highway works 
within the highway associated with this proposal. Provision of the highway works includes 
the design, procurement of the work by contract and supervision of the works. The 
applicant should be advised to contact the County Council's Highway Development 
Control Section on lhscustomerservice@lancashire.gov.uk or by writing to the Highway 
Development Control Manager, Cuerden Mill Depot, Cuerden Way, Bamber Bridge, 
Preston PR5 6BJ quoting the planning application number in either case. 

 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the context of 

the Development Plan including, in particular, the following Policy/Policies in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document: 

  
 GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 Criteria for Sustainable Development  

Page 308



 GN4 - Demonstrating Viability 
 RS1 - Residential Development 
 EC1 - The Economy and Employment Land 
 EN2 - The Rural Economy 
 EN4 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment 
  
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material considerations.  

The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal complies with the relevant Policy 
criteria and is acceptable in the context of all relevant material considerations as set out in 
the Officer's Report. This report can be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 

Page 309





 
No.2 APPLICATION NO. 2018/0275/FUL 
 LOCATION 50 St Helens Road Ormskirk Lancashire L39 4QT   

 
 PROPOSAL Alterations to form 10 bed HMO - 6 bedrooms and 4 studio 

bedrooms 
 APPLICANT Mr James Coates 
 WARD Derby 
 PARISH Unparished - Ormskirk 
 TARGET DATE 11th May 2018 
 

 
1.0 REFERRAL 
 
1.1 This application was to be determined under the Council's delegation scheme however 

Councillor Owens has requested it be referred to Committee to consider the impact upon 
highway conditions, the principle of development and the impact of the proposal on the 
character and appearance of the area. 
 

2.0 SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The proposed alteration to the existing HMO, to increase occupancy from 6 residents to 

10 is considered acceptable in principle. Whilst the proposal would result in an 
intensification of the use of the site it is not envisaged that the increase would result in 
significant harm to the amenities or privacy of neighbouring properties or character of the 
area. Parking provision on site is considered to be acceptable. Minimal external works are 
proposed and as such the impact on the appearance and character of the Conservation 
Area is retained.  The proposed development is considered to be compliant with the NPPF 
and Policies GN1, GN3, RS1, RS3, IF2 and EN4 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-
2027 DPD.  

 
3.0 RECOMMENDATION - APPROVE with conditions. 
 
4.0 SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
4.1 The site relates to a two storey property located on the corner of St Helens Road and 

Small Lane. The property operates as a 6 bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
and was a HMO prior to the Article 4 Direction taking effect. Parking exists to the side, 
south of the site with an existing access onto St Helens Road. 

 
4.2 Internal works have already been carried out to the site in preparation for this application 

however to the Councils knowledge the rooms have not been occupied. These works 
include the layout of the 4 studio apartments to the ground floor and the creation of a 
second floor within the roof space. The ceiling height of the first floor has been lowered to 
accommodate the second floor. Roof lights have also been added to the southern roof 
slope.  

 
5.0 PROPOSAL 
 
5.1 The application seeks permission to alter the existing 6 bedroom HMO to a 10 bedroom 

HMO with 6 bedrooms on the first and second floor and 4 studio apartments on the ground 
floor.  

 
5.2 All rooms would be single occupancy and as such a total of 10 residents would occupy the 

property at any one time.   

Page 311

Agenda Item 7b



 
6.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
6.1  None. 
 
7.0 OBSERVATIONS OF CONSULTEES 
 
7.1 Lancashire County Council Highways – 03.04.2018 

No objection in principle; 
Condition suggested.  

 
7.2 Environmental Protection 23.05.18 – no objections in principle. Any impact on 

neighbouring properties in terms of noise and disturbance would be unlikely to warrant a 
refusal of planning permission. 

 
8.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
8.1 1 neighbouring letter of support has been received for the proposal.  
 
8.2 11 neighbouring letters of objection have been received including 1 from the Ormskirk 

Residents group. Their comments can be summarised as follows: 
 

Current situation 
There is a current oversupply of student accommodation. Presently there are more than 
100 unoccupied student beds in the town and in addition, student houses on the market 
for sale; 
Many properties within the town centre are empty as they cannot be filled; 
The Deputy Vice Chancellor of the University has stated that the University has reduced 
its intake by 250 students and this is likely to shrink further. 

  
Policy 
Policy RS3 – in the immediate vicinity of this property there is significant HMO clustering 
(Small Lane, St Helens Road from Small Lane to Park Road). Although the property is 
already a HMO additional students residents would serve to exacerbate clustering. 

  
Amenity 
Intensification of the site and the increased potential for noise, disturbance and anti-social 
behaviour both at the application property and through an increased number of comings 
and goings when considered cumulatively with the large number of HMOs in the 
immediate vicinity; 
Differing patterns of movements of 10 adults in the property; 
St Helens Road is already a hub of antisocial behaviour. 

 
Amenity of occupants 
Rooms 5 and 6 would be very cramped owing to the pitch of the roof; 
On the first floor one back room has been split into rooms 2 and 3 which looks cramped; 
On the ground floor Shower /WC rooms for studio 1, 3 and 4 look cramped particularly the 
shower in Studio 4; 
In studio 1 the WC and room door arcs clash; 
The number of students should be reduced so that the students are not overcrowded.  

 
Impact on the Conservation Area 
The Conservation Area could be negatively altered by the loss of landscaping and 
greenery should a higher number of parking spaces be provided. 

  

Page 312



 
Unauthorised works 
Work has already started on site and has been ongoing for the last 12 months with varying 
numbers of residents present. 

  
Trees/ hedges 
The applicant states that no trees or hedges are on the site – this is clearly not the case; 
The proposal will result in the loss of greenery and landscaping; 
Trees have already been removed from the site and this is not in keeping with the 
Conservation Area and is poignant noting its location on the entrance to the town centre.  
 
Highways /Parking 
The proposal will create additional problems with parking; 
The junction of Knowsley Road and St Helens Road is already a hazardous tight corner at 
Small Lane which creates a very dangerous traffic problem; 
There have been several accidents by the junction in the past; 
Small Lane is far too narrow to have parked cars right up to the junction; 
Having cars coming out the entrance of No 50 on this already congested part of town is 
dangerous and unwise; 
Traffic is already busy along this stretch of road; 
Car parking shown is insufficient for 10 residents – questions are raised whether the 
available space can accommodate parking and manoeuvrability of 7 vehicles; 
Crossing Knowsley Road is already unsafe. 

 
General 
The proposal would remove the potential to revert to a C3 occupancy without the need for 
planning permission and thus the loss of a potential family house; 
Sets a dangerous precedent of converting HMOs to student housing. 

 
9.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local Plan 

2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the development proposals 
will be assessed. 

  
9.2 The site is located within the settlement area of Ormskirk designated as a Key Service 

Centre in the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD. The site is also located within 
the Ruff Lane Conservation Area.  

  
9.3 West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 

Policy SP1 – A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire  
Policy GN1 – Settlement Boundaries 
Policy GN3 – Criteria for Sustainable Development 
Policy RS1 – Residential Development 
Policy RS3 – Provision of Student Accommodation 
Policy IF2 – Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
Policy EN2 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment  
Policy EN4 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Cultural and Heritage Assets 

 
9.4 Supplementary Planning Document ‘Design Guide’ (Jan.2008). 
 
10.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
10.1 The main considerations for this application are: 
 

Page 313



Principle of development; 
Design/ appearance / Layout / amenity; 
Impact on residential amenity; 
Highways. 

 
Principle of development  

 
10.2 Policy RS3 - Provision of Student Accommodation of the West Lancashire Local Plan 

(2012-2027) states that when assessing proposals for conversion of a dwelling house or 
other building to a HMO, the Council will have regard to the proportion of existing 
properties in use as, or with permission to become, an HMO either in the street as a whole 
or within the nearest 60 properties in the same street whichever is the smaller. The 
intention of the policy is, in part, to protect the character of existing residential areas, to 
avoid problems of parking and to limit anti-social behaviour and neighbour amenity 
impacts. It is identified that regard should be had to any clustering of student 
accommodation and the effects on nearby properties.  

 
10.3 Whilst the development here is not the formation of a new HMO there is an intensification 

of the use of an existing HMO to form a large HMO. The addition of four further occupants 
has potential to have similar impacts as the formation of a new HMO unit in the locality (a 
small HMO can consist of 3-6 residents).  

 
10.4 This part of St Helens Road is known to have a high concentration of student occupied 

properties particularly when taken into consideration with the adjacent Small Lane. The 
justification to Policy RS3 recognises that in certain areas the ideal maximum percentage 
has already been exceeded during the period where it was not possible to control the 
conversion of dwellinghouses to HMOs. The policy restricts further HMOs in those 
circumstances unless there are compelling reasons to allow them. It also advises that the 
effect of clustering and the numbers of occupants should be considered.  

 
10.5 Looking specifically at the characteristics of this site, the property is a substantial semi-

detached house on a busy main road with adequate onsite parking. The property faces 
onto St Helens Road and is attached to a dwelling on Small Lane, which is also an 
existing HMO. The site's characteristics are different from other sites which have recently 
been resisted by the Council for similar development (notably 91 Wigan Road).  Planning 
applications must be judged on their individual merits and in this particular case it is my 
view that the intensification of use and introduction of 4 additional students would not 
result in significant harm to the character of the area or the amenities of neighbouring 
properties. These aspects will be discussed in greater detail below. On this basis I am 
satisfied that the principle of development is acceptable. 

 
Impact on residential amenity 
 

10.6 Policy GN3 of the Local Plan states that developments should ‘retain reasonable levels of 
privacy and amenity for occupiers of the neighbouring properties. The property is 
substantial and I am satisfied that the room layout would provide reasonable levels of 
amenity for future occupants. There is a limited amount of external amenity space on site, 
excluding the area proposed for parking but given the site's location in close proximity to a 
local park I am satisfied that future residents will have good access to outside space. 

 
10.7 As part of the proposal a small single storey side extension has been demolished to 

accommodate additional parking. The proposal also includes the provision of roof lights in 
the rear roof slope. I consider these alterations to be acceptable in design terms and they 
would not be harmful to the appearance of the property. The separation distance between 

Page 314



the new roof lights and the neighbouring property at 52 St Helen's Road meets the 
standards in the Council's Design Guide. 

 
10.8 The proposal would increase the number of occupants within the property from 6 to 10. 

Whilst I accept that this would result in increased comings and goings to the property with 
the potential to cause additional noise and disturbance, in this location I do not consider 
this would be substantial. St Helens Road is a main arterial route into the town centre, 
lying in very close proximity to the University and as such a degree of noise and comings 
and goings are already experienced.  

 
10.9 The attached neighbouring property at 1 Small Lane is a HMO therefore the application 

site is not physically attached to a family dwelling. There are also other HMO's in the 
vicinity, for example the majority of properties on Small Lane are HMO's, including 
numbers 2, 3 and 4. There are also properties nearby which are converted into flats, for 
example, 48 St Helens Road. Therefore within its immediate grouping the majority of 
properties are no longer occupied as single dwellinghouses and in this particular location I 
do not consider the increase in the number of residents at the application site would result 
in significant noise and disturbance above and beyond that currently existing to warrant a 
refusal of planning permission. 

 
10.10 Whilst I accept that the increase in residents by 4 at the property would result in an 

intensification of the use, I consider that on balance, there are site specific circumstances 
which indicate that this increase would not result in significant harm to the amenities of 
neighbouring properties. 

 
10.11 Therefore I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Policy GN3 in the Council's Local 

plan as the development would retain reasonable levels of privacy and amenity for future 
and existing occupants.  

 
Impact upon the Conservation Area  

 
10.12 Conservation Areas are defined under s.69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as being areas of "special architectural or historic interest 
the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance." There is a 
need to consider whether the proposal would meet the statutory duty to preserve or 
enhance the character or appearance of the Conservation Area. In assessing proposals, 
the P(LBCA) Act requires that decision makers (in this case the Council) consider 
character and appearance separately and that proposals need to satisfy the test above in 
both aspects.  

 
10.13 50 St Helens Road is a large property which sits on a prominent corner site in the Ruff 

Lane Conservation Area. The area in this part of the Conservation Area is characterised 
by large detached late Victorian/Edwardian residential properties.  

 
10.14 The property is already in HMO use and the area to the south is already laid to 

hardstanding and used for parking.   
 
10.15 As the use exists and very little work is proposed to the exterior of the property I am 

satisfied that there is no additional impact on the character or appearance of the 
Conservation Area.  

 
10.16 As I am required to do, I have given the duties imposed by the P(LBCA) Act 1990 

considerable weight in my comments. In my view the proposal does not harm the 
character or appearance of the Conservation Area and as such the proposals conform to 
the national planning guidance contained in the NPPF and Policy EN4 of the Local Plan. 

Page 315



 
 
 
 
Highways / parking 

 
10.17 Policy GN3 requires that adequate parking provision is made in line with the standards set 

out in the Local Plan Policy IF2 and Appendix F unless the local circumstances justify a 
deviation from the policy. Policy GN3 also requires that development incorporates suitable 
and safe access and road layout deign. 

 
10.18 Lancashire County Council as Highway Authority has been consulted as part of this 

proposal. They raise no objection in principle to the proposed development. They are 
satisfied that the increase in usage of the existing access close to the junction with Small 
Lane and Knowsley Road would have a negligible impact on highway safety and highway 
capacity within the immediate vicinity of the site. 

 
10.19 The property is located within walking distance of Edge Hill University and has good 

accessibility to local amenities and public transport. As such LCC highways is satisfied 
that 50% parking provision would be acceptable for this development. 

 
10.20 The proposal is for a 10 bed HMO and would therefore require 5 parking spaces to be 

provided for residents. The submitted plans show 7 car parking spaces laid out to the side 
of the property. LCC Highways considers that this provision is acceptable in terms of 
layout. 

 
10.21 No cycle storage has been depicted on the plans and to aid social inclusion and to 

promote sustainable forms of transport a condition can be attached to ensure that cycle 
parking is provided as part of any approval.   

 
 Trees 
 
10.22 The Council's Aboricultural Officer is of the view that the earth borders in the rear garden 

should be maintained to help safeguard the health of the existing trees.  A condition 
seeking to ensure the trees are retained on site was considered but in my opinion is not 
necessary as the site lies in the Ruff Lane Conservation Area.  Therefore trees are 
protected by virtue of their location within the Conservation Area and tree works would 
require the consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Summary 
 

10.23 On balance, the proposal accord with Policy GN3, RS1, RS3 and IF2 of the Local Plan 
and the NPPF and as such the proposal is recommend for approval. 

 
11.0 RECOMMENDATION 
  
11.1 The proposed development is compliant with the NPPF and the relevant policies in the 

West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-27 and is recommended for approval. 
 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details shown 

on the following plans:- 
 Plan reference 2462/PL/1b received by the Local Planning Authority on 06.06.2018 

Page 316



 3. Before the development hereby approved is occupied, the car parking and manoeuvring 
area shall be marked out in accordance with the approved plan (2462/PL/1b). 

 4. The property shall be occupied by no more than 10 residents at any one time. 
 5. Details of cycle storage and bin stores shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The approved cycle and bin storage facilities shall be provided 
on site prior to occupation of the property and shall thereafter be retained. 

 6. The existing earth borders surrounding the car park shown on plan reference 2462/PL/1b 
received by the Local Planning Authority on 6th June 2018 shall be maintained as such for 
the duration of the development. 

 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in 

the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 
 3. To allow for vehicles visiting the site to be parked clear of the highway and to ensure that 

the development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF2 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 4. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 5. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 6. To protect the trees and shrubs and thereby retain the character of the site and the area 
and to ensure that the development complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & EN2 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the context of 

the Development Plan including, in particular, the following Policy/Policies in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document: 

  
 Policy SP1 - A Sustainable Development Framework for West Lancashire  
 Policy GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 Policy GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 Policy RS1 - Residential Development 
 Policy RS3 - Provision of Student Accommodation 
 Policy IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
 Policy EN2 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment  
 Policy EN4 - Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Cultural and Heritage Assets 
   
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material considerations.  

The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal complies with the relevant Policy 
criteria and is acceptable in the context of all relevant material considerations as set out in 
the Officer's Report. This report can be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 

Page 317





 
No.3 APPLICATION NO. 2018/0619/FUL 
 LOCATION Elm Tree Community Primary School Elmers Wood Road 

Skelmersdale Lancashire WN8 6SA  
 

 PROPOSAL Proposed multi use games area (60 x 40m) for use by pupils of the 
school, including provision of perimeter fence. 

 APPLICANT Mr Chris Owens 
 WARD Tanhouse 
 PARISH Unparished - Skelmersdale 
 TARGET DATE 22nd August 2018 
 

 
1.0 REFERRAL 
 
1.1 This application was to be determined under the Council's delegation scheme however 

former Councillor Pendleton requested it be referred to Committee to consider loss of 
amenity, impact on parking and floodlighting. 

 
2.0 SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The proposed development is acceptable in principle. The proposal is considered to be 

appropriate to the location and will not have a significant impact on the character or 
appearance of the area or on the amenity of neighbouring properties. The development 
would not result in any additional adverse impact on highway safety or on 
flooding/drainage within the local area. The proposed development is considered to be 
compliant with the NPPF and Policies EN3 and GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 DPD.  

 
3.0 RECOMMENDATION - APPROVE with conditions. 
 
4.0 SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
4.1 Elm Tree Community Primary School is sited to the east of Elmers Wood Road and 

comprises of the school building and associated playing fields to the north. The two parts 
of the site are clearly defined with the open school fields being separated from the 
buildings by a mesh security fence.  

 
4.2 The playing field is approx. 95m x 70m. Immediately to the north of the field is cul-de-sac 

of residential bungalows. The nearest property is located approx. 2m from the boundary. 
Further residential properties are located to the west of Elmers Wood Road approx. 15m 
from the front boundary of the site. 

 
5.0 PROPOSAL 
 
5.1 The application proposes the construction of a Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) on the 

existing school playing field for use by pupils of the school. The MUGA would be located 
adjacent to the existing mesh fencing close to the school building. It would measure 40m x 
60m and would be surrounded by fencing on all sides. 

 
5.2 The application also proposes a temporary access from Elmers Wood Road. This would 

be used during the construction period and re-instated on completion.  
 
 
 

Page 319

Agenda Item 7c



 
6.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
6.1 2017/1241/FUL - Proposed new multi-use games area including fencing, floodlighting and 

car park - Refused 
 
6.2 LCC/2017/0018 - County Matter - Erection of two single storey demountable units to 

provide classrooms for a temporary period of 5 years - No objection 
 
6.3 LCC/2015/0105 - County Matter - Variation of Condition 3 of planning permission 

LCC/2015/0068 to allow the use of the modular building for a period of 5 years - No 
objections 

 
6.4 LCC/2015/0068 - County Matter - Installation of a modular building to be used for offices 

and classrooms for a period of 5 years  - No objection 
 
6.5 LCC/2015/0032 - County Matter - Installation of modular building and access ramp - 

Objections raised 
 
6.6 2012/0269/LC3 - County Matter - Replacement of two single glazed windows with two 

larger windows to match the existing elevations and the erection of a canopy to the rear of 
the school to provide a covered play area - No objection 

 
6.7 2011/0762/CMA - County Matter - Erection of a 12m high radio mast with antenna receiver 

to provide internet service for schools - No objection 
 
6.8 2008/0094/LC3 - County Matter - Erection of a garage, provision of a toy store and 

erection of 2.4m high mesh security fencing to perimeter of the playing field - Objections 
raised 

 
6.9 1998/1053 - County Matter - Erection of 2.4m high fence - No objections  
 
6.10 1990/1212 - County Matter - Erection of replacement Junior and Infant School - No 

objections  
 
7.0 OBSERVATIONS OF CONSULTEES 
 
7.1 Environmental Health Officer 
 
 I have no objection to the application in principle. The application is for a large Multi-use 

Games Area (MUGA) on a field to be located close to residential properties on Evington 
and Elmers Green. It is of an improved location compared to the recent planning 
application 2017/1241/FUL. It has been distanced from the bungalows on Elmers Green, 
and this suggests it will be about 33 metres from the boundary with 22 Elmers Green 
(house and rear garden) rather than the previous 9 metres. The re-orientation suggests 
the goal ends for the larger pitch will be on the north and south boundaries. The 
application states proposed hours of use as 0900 – 1700 Monday to Friday.  

 
I would have no objection to the MUGA in this location for the school's use for school 
hours and the typical 'after-school' hours, so the proposed hours of 0900 – 1700 are 
acceptable. This reduces the noise concerns with the intensive use that was suggested in 
2017/1241/FUL. There would be noises created that are different from an ordinary playing 
field such as impact sounds from balls hitting the goal board, perimeter boards and catch 
fencing , but restricted to school use and school time they would not be intensive or in the 
evening or weekends. The sports played will vary and will not all involve balls. The 

Page 320



application states that they propose to use rebound fencing that is quieter than other types 
of fencing.  
There is no additional car park proposed.  
 
I recommend that a condition restricting the hours of use is attached to any planning 
permission. 

  
7.2 LCC Highways 
  

The proposed multi use games area will be located on existing school playing fields. 
Provided the use is restricted to use by school pupils only as indicated by the applicant 
and by the opening times (9.00am – 5.00pm) the Highway Authority do not consider this 
would attract additional parking.  
 
Lancashire County Council have recently received complaints regarding parking on 
Elmers Wood Road to the front of the school however when visited on several occasions 
by a traffic engineer the parking was not found to be excessive but it was found that there 
were no "School Keep Clear" markings on the carriageway. The Highway Authority have 
now arranged for new "School Keep Clear" marking to be provided at this location.  
 
No objections in principle to the application subject to conditions. 
 

7.3 United Utilities - Drainage conditions recommended. 
 
8.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
8.1 Letters of representation have been received which can be summarised as: 
 

Impact on parking levels/traffic - Current parking/traffic issues caused by the school will be 
made worse by this proposal; 
Noise issues caused by users of the site; 
Concerns about the level of use particularly from users outside the school; 
The proposal seems to be out of context for the size of the primary school; 
No objection in principle but hope that the proposal would not increase the parking 
problem; 
Consider the site would no longer be pleasant and green but dominated by concrete 
buildings and surfaces.  

  
9.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local Plan 

2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the development proposals 
will be assessed. 

 
 The site is located within the Green Belt as designated in the West Lancashire Local Plan 

2012-2027 DPD. 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework 
 Promoting healthy and safe communities 

Achieving well-designed places 
    
 West Lancashire Local Plan Policies 

GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
EN3 - Provision of Green Infrastructure and Open Recreation Space 

Page 321



IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
  
 Supplementary Planning Document - Design Guide (January 2008) 
 
10.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
10.1 The main considerations for this application are 

 
Principle of Development 
Design/Layout 
Impact on residential amenity 
Highways 
Drainage  

 
Background 

 
10.2 Application ref: 2017/1241/FUL was refused on 7th February 2018 for the following 

reasons: 
 1. The proposal conflicts with Policy GN3 in the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012 - 2027 

in that it fails to demonstrate that, as a result of noise and light spillage, the development 
would not have an adverse impact on neighbouring properties to the significant detriment 
of the residential amenity of occupiers of those properties. 
 
2. The proposal conflicts with Policy GN3 in the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012 - 2027 
and supplementary planning document 'Design Guide' (Jan 2008) in that, by virtue of the 
scale and position of the car park, fencing and floodlighting, it would result in the loss of a 
significant area of open space to the detriment of its open character. 

 
10.3 The current application has been submitted following pre-application discussions and aims 

to overcome the reasons for refusal. The siting of the MUGA has been changed and 
aspects of the scheme have been removed including a car park and floodlighting for the 
MUGA.  

 
Principle of development 

 
10.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local Plan 

2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the development proposals 
will be assessed. 

 
10.5 Policy EN3 is relevant to this application. The location for the MUGA is an existing school 

playing field which is classed as Open Space/Sports and Recreation Facilities. The loss of 
such facilities will only be permitted if one of the conditions are met. Due to drainage 
issues the school field is unusable at certain times of the year. The proposed surfacing 
and drainage would relieve this issue and allow the playing area to be used at all times 
during the school year. It is my view that as the development would still allow the space to 
be used for recreation purposes the proposal would comply with the requirements of policy 
EN3. 

 
Design/Layout 

 
10.6 Policy GN3 along with the Council’s SPD Design Guide requires that new development 

should be of a scale, mass and built form, which responds to the characteristics of the site 
and its surroundings.  

 

Page 322



10.7 The site is located close to the entrance to the Elmers Green estate and in its current form 
enhances the character of the local area by providing an attractive green open space and 
focal point to the estate. The proposed MUGA would be located in the corner of the field 
adjacent to an existing fence line and hedgerow. Whilst the proposed fencing and 
hardsurfacing would be visible from public vantage points it is my view that the impact on 
the character and appearance of the area would not be harmful.  

 
10.8 The reinstatement of land following the removal of the construction access offers an 

opportunity for landscape enhancement along with some additional screen planting as 
shown on the site layout. A suitable condition can be imposed to require re-instatement 
details and full landscaping details to be submitted to and agreed with Council officers.   

 
10.9 It is my view that the proposal would comply with the requirements of policy GN3.  
 

Impact on residential amenity 
 
10.10 Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) DPD allows development 

provided it retains or creates reasonable levels of privacy, amenity and sufficient 
garden/outdoor space for occupiers of the neighbouring properties. 

 
10.11 The submission confirms that the MUGA would only be used by pupils of the school 

between the hours of 9am and 5pm. This would allow for extracurricular activities to take 
place at the end of the school day.  

 
10.12 Since the previous application the siting of the MUGA has been altered and at its closest 

point the MUGA would now be more than 30m from the nearest residential property. In 
addition the floodlighting has been removed from the scheme. A condition can be imposed 
to ensure that no floodlighting is erected at a later date without consent from the Council.  

 
10.13 I note that the current use of the land as a school field is unrestricted and therefore at 

present it could be used at all times of the day including for after school activities. Having 
regard to the current situation it is my view that given this position and the design of the 
facility or the use of the MUGA by school children during the times stated would not have 
a detrimental impact on the amenity of neighbouring residents. The proposal would 
therefore comply with the requirements of policy GN3 1(iii). 

 
Highways 

 
10.14 Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD states that development 

should incorporate suitable and safe access and road layout design in line with latest 
standards. 

 
10.15 I note that significant concerns have been raised regarding existing parking and traffic 

issues within the local area and whether the proposed development would exacerbate the 
problems. 

 
10.16 It is my view that use of the MUGA by school children for the hours stated would not result 

in a need for any additional car parking spaces. I have consulted the Highway Authority 
who have confirmed that the development would have a negligible impact on highway 
safety and highway capacity within the immediate vicinity of the site.  

 
10.17 The development involves the creation of a temporary access to allow construction traffic 

to access the site separately from the pedestrian and existing car park access. The 
Highway Authority have advised that the access would need to be constructed under a 
legal agreement however there is no objection to the principle of the works.  

Page 323



 
10.18 I am satisfied that the development would comply with the requirements of policies GN3 

and IF2 of the Local Plan.   
 
 
 
 

Drainage 
 
10.19 Full details of the drainage system and attenuation measures to be installed have been 

submitted as part of the application. The Council's drainage engineer has assessed the 
proposal and considers the details acceptable.  

 
11.0 CONCLUSION 
 
11.1 The proposed development is compliant with the NPPF and the relevant policies in the 

West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-27 and is recommended for approval, subject to the 
following conditions. 

 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details shown 

on the following plans:- 
 Site location plan, block plan and plans named 'Outlet plan', 'Site Layout revision 4', 

'Ground Construction Detail' and 'Fence elevation drawing' received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 27th June 2018. 

 3. The hereby approved Multi-Use Games Area shall only be used between the hours of 
09.00 and 17.00 Mondays to Fridays and at no other time.  

 4. No floodlighting shall be installed at the site until a scheme detailing the proposed lighting 
to be installed on the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. All lighting shall be installed and maintained in accordance with the 
agreed scheme. 

 5. Before any other part of the development is commenced all the highway works within the 
adopted highway/verge shall have been constructed in accordance with a scheme that 
shall first be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in consultation 
with the Highway Authority as part of an appropriate legal agreement, under the Highways 
Act 1980. 

 6. For the full period of construction, facilities shall be available on site for the cleaning of the 
wheels of vehicles leaving the site and such equipment shall be used as necessary to 
prevent mud and stones being carried onto the highway. The roads adjacent to the site 
shall be mechanically swept as required during the full construction period. 

 7. Before the first use of the Multi-Use Games Area a landscaping scheme, which includes 
details of the re-instatement of the land used for the temporary access, shall be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping scheme shall show the 
location, branch spread, and species of all existing trees and hedges; the location, species 
and number of all proposed trees, shrubs and hedges; and the location of all existing and 
proposed grassed and hard surfaced areas. Trees and shrubs planted shall comply with 
BS. 3936 (Specification of Nursery Stock) and shall be planted in accordance with BS. 
4428 (General Landscape Operations). Within a period of 9 months from the date when 
any part of the development is first brought into use the approved landscaping scheme 
shall be carried out. All planting shall be maintained and dead or dying material shall be 
replaced for a period of seven years from the agreed date of planting. 

 
Reasons 

Page 324



 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 3. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so comply 
with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

 4. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so comply 
with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

 5. To safeguard the safety and interests of the users of the highway and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire 
Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 6. To avoid the possibility of the public highway being affected by the deposit of mud and/or 
loose materials thus creating a potential hazard for road users and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire 
Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 7. To assimilate the proposed development into its surroundings and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire 
Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 
Notes 
 1. The developer is advised to contact the County Council as Highway Authority to discuss 

an appropriate Legal Agreement. The Highway Authority hereby reserves the right to 
provide the highway works within the highway associated with this proposal. Provision of 
the highway works includes design, procurement of the work by contract and supervision 
of the works. The applicant should be advised to contact the Environment Directorate for 
further information by telephoning the Developer Support Section (Area West) on 0300 
123 6780, or email lhscustomerservice@lancashire.gov.uk 

 2. United Utilities have advised that a trunk main borders the site and a water main crosses 
the site. The developer is advised to contact United Utilities directly on 
DeveloperServicesWater@uuplc.co.uk to discuss any impact this may have on the 
approved development.  

 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the context of 

the Development Plan including, in particular, the following Policy/Policies in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document: 

  
 GN1 - Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 EN3 - Provision of Green Infrastructure and Open Recreation Space 
 IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material considerations.  

The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal complies with the relevant Policy 
criteria and is acceptable in the context of all relevant material considerations as set out in 
the Officer's Report. This report can be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 

Page 325





 
No.4 APPLICATION NO. 2018/0251/FUL 
 LOCATION Wrightington Hospital Hall Lane Wrightington Wigan Lancashire 

WN6 9EP 
 PROPOSAL Demolition of existing nurses wing, erection of extension to 

Wrightington Hall, creation of additional vehicular parking spaces 
and associated external works. 

 APPLICANT Wrightington, Wigan And Leigh NHS Foundation Trust 
 WARD Wrightington 
 PARISH Wrightington 
 TARGET DATE 13th June 2018 
 

 
1.0 SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This is a full application for planning permission for the demolition of an existing nurses 

wing and erection of a replacement building which would link to Wrightington Hall to create 
a facility which would be used for multiple uses including medical research with clinical 
trial areas, lecture theatre and meeting rooms. The hospital along with a local university 
and leading pharmaceutical company would occupy the building. A new car park would be 
constructed as part of the proposals. The development would constitute inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt and would impact on openness, however, the very special 
circumstances put forward by the applicant have been found to outweigh this harm. There 
would also be a limited level of harm to the historic setting of Wrightington Hall which is 
outweighed by the public benefits that would arise from the development. On balance, the 
proposed building and car park are considered acceptable and there would be no undue 
harm to residential amenity. Subject to suitable planning conditions it is not envisaged 
there would be an adverse impact on archaeology, highways, ecology and drainage. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION:  APPROVE WITH CONDITIONS  
 
3.0 THE SITE 

 
3.1 Wrightington Hospital is a large site situated to the south of Hall Lane and comprises of a 

number of different buildings. Agricultural land surrounds the site which is within the Green 
Belt. This application relates to Wrightington Hall which is a Grade II Listed Building 
located within the grounds of Wrightington Hospital. The Hall is located within the eastern 
part of the Hospital site and is currently used as a Conference Centre. The Hall dates from 
around 1700, with later extensions including a 3 storey stone built link block (northern 
service wing) dating from the late C19 and a former, more modern, nurses’ wing (an L 
shaped 3 storey block) which adjoin at right angles to the service wing. The nurses’ block 
is a large brick built block subservient to the original building to which it is attached. This 
forms a courtyard with the remaining stone outbuildings north of the Hall. Also grade II 
listed are terrace retaining walls (south and east of the Hall) and a former barn and riding 
school (north and east of the Hall). A woodland area in the south-eastern corner of the site 
also forms part of the application.  

 
4.0 THE PROPOSAL 

 
4.1 The main element of this proposal is in relation to Wrightington Hall. The intention is to 

demolish the 3 storey nurses’ annex. Once demolished a 3 storey building will be erected 
in its place. The new building would link with the existing Hall which will be used as a new 
Conference Centre and would incorporate a diagnostic department on the lower ground 
floor, entrance area on ground floor, Education Centre on the first floor occupied by a local 

Page 327

Agenda Item 7d



University, a Clinical Trials facility on the first floor and a facility for surgical training and 
medical research on the second floor. 

 
4.2 Also included as part of this application is the provision of additional parking spaces within 

the hospital site. Some additional spaces would be provided immediately adjacent to the 
proposed new building but it is also proposed to construct a car parking area in the south-
east corner of the Hospital site. This would require the removal of some woodland and 
would create in the region of 100 car parking spaces.  

 
5.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
5.1 2018/0300/LBC PENDING Listed Building Consent - Demolition of existing nurses wing, 

erection of extension to Wrightington Hall. 
 
5.2 2017/0843/FUL GRANTED Demolition of Block 31 (former 2 storey male nurses home) 

and provide car parking expansion for patients and visitors. This will result in the creation 
of 92 parking spaces but a loss of 6 giving a net gain of 86 parking spaces for the site. 

 
5.3 2015/0717/CON APPROVED - Approval of Details Reserved by Condition No. 8 of 

planning permission 2013/0651/FUL relating to a travel plan.  
 
5.4 2015/0150/NMA APPROVED - Non-material amendments to planning permission  
 
5.5 2013/0651/FUL - The redesign of the corridor linking 'Phase 1' into the main hospital.  The 

corridor will link Phase 1 with the Hospital Street to the east side, instead of going north 
into the Outpatient Department.  The treatment of the external elevations of the link 
corridor will change from shiplap treated timber to white render.  The redesign of the 
landscape proposals to incorporate the revised link corridor and some minor amendments 
to the soft and hard landscaping in the internal courtyards and around the perimeter of 
Phase 1. 

 
5.6 2015/0118/FUL GRANTED - Variation of Condition No. 3 of planning permission 

2014/0219/FUL to add an additional material to those specified on the application form to 
include a section of render to part of the side and rear elevations. 

 
5.7 2014/0852/NMA PART APPROVED/PART REFUSED - Non-material amendments to 

planning permission 2014/0219/FUL - Revised design reducing the building footprint by 51 
square metres overall;  Reduction in the amount of the specialist brickwork to the rear of 
the building and replacement with render finish;  Lifting of building circa 600mm to remove 
the need to have steps and ramped access to the main entrance, meaning the finished 
floor level matches Building 22 which is directly adjacent;  Building 22 no longer to be 
demolished. 

 
5.8 2014/0364/FUL GRANTED - Proposed extension to and resurfacing/line marking of 

existing car park to allow patients to park nearer main hospital wards/departments. 
 
5.9 2014/0307/CON GRANTED - Approval of Details Reserved by Condition No's. 3, 6 & 7 of 

planning permission 2013/0651/FUL relating to external materials, finished site and floor 
levels, foul and surface water drainage scheme. 

 
5.10 2014/0219/FUL GRANTED - Erection of new single storey IVF clinic and part demolition of 

existing building 22. 
 
5.11 2013/0651/FUL GRANTED - Re-development of part of the existing hospital site to 

provide a new two-storey building comprising wards and ancillary accommodation on the 

Page 328



ground floor, and an operating theatre department and admissions unit on the first floor. 
The formation of a temporary service area in the North-West corner of the application site, 
including a receiving and dispatch (R&D) storage area, temporary covered walkway, 
boilerhouse and oil tank serving the proposed first phase of the hospital redevelopment. 
Demolition of the hip history museum to clear the site for the temporary boilerhouse. 

 
5.12 2013/0313/FUL GRANTED - Creation of new vehicular access to provide a dedicated 

vehicular access/egress point for construction traffic to the west of the existing egress 
from the hospital grounds. Minor widening and strengthening along the existing service 
road including a circa 40m extension of the service road to the new access/egress point.  
Formation of a temporary site access road (to the south) mirroring the route of permanent 
roads, required for servicing the hospital.  This route will provide permanent access to the 
service yard for the new Phase 1 development. Formation of a temporary construction site 
compound, turning circle and contractor car parking facilities. Demolition of ward block E. 

 
6.0 OBSERVATIONS OF CONSULTEES 
 
6.1 Highways (26.03.18) - No objections  
 
6.2 United Utilities (05.04.18) - No objections subject to conditions 
 
6.3 MEAS (09.04.18, 06.08.18) - Additional information required in respect of bats. Bat survey 

now received and under consideration 
 
6.4 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) (27.04.18) - Additional information requested. 

Information submitted and under consideration. 
 
6.5 Technical Service Manager (Drainage) – no objections subject to the imposition of a 

condition. 
 
6.6 Forestry Commission (28.03.18) No comment - refer to standing advice 
 
6.7 Lancashire Archaeological Advisory Service (LAAS) (06.04.18 & 09.07.18) - No Objection 

subject to condition 
 
6.8 Historic England (15.03.18) - No comments to make 
 
7.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 Wrightington Parish Council (03.04.18) - No Objections 
 
7.2 West Lancashire Conservation Areas Advisory Panel (29.03.18) Panel felt that the 

proposal had the potential to create a more positive open space and setting to 
Wrightington Hall. The scheme needed to remove cars from the west/south elevations of 
the Hall and provide a new landscaped space in front of the building 

 
8.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION  

 
Design and Access Statement 
Planning Statement 
Flood Risk Assessment 
Drainage Statement 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal & Daytime Bat Survey & Addendum 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Orchard Car Park Expansion) 
Bat Activity Report (July 2018) 

Page 329



Tree Survey Report 
Heritage Statement 
Transport Statement 
Building Survey 
Travel Plan 
Written Scheme of Investigation for an Historic Building, Investigation and Archaeological 
Watching Brief at Wrightington Hall 
 

9.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local 

Plan 2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the development 
proposals will be assessed. 

 
Wrightington Hospital is located within the Green Belt and Wrightington Hall is Grade II 
Listed Building. The following policies are therefore relevant: 
 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 
 
GN1 Settlement Boundaries 
GN3 Criteria for Sustainable Development 
IF2 Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
EN2 Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire’s Natural Environment 
EN4 Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire’s Cultural and Heritage Assets  
 
Supplementary Planning Advice 
 
SPD – Design Guide (January 2008) 
SPD – Development in the Green Belt (2015) 
 

10.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

Principle of Development - Green Belt 
 
Proposed new building - Research and Education Centre 
 

10.1 The site is situated in the Green Belt within the established grounds of Wrightington 
Hospital. The NPPF confirms that the construction of new buildings in the Green Belt 
should be regarded as inappropriate development. There are a number of exceptions to 
this including the replacement of a building, provided that the building is in the same use 
and not materially larger than the one it replaces.  
 

10.2 The existing building was formerly used as nurses’ accommodation. The proposed use of 
the replacement building will differ, however the new building will still provide floor space 
for use in connection with the Hospital. Consequently, I am satisfied that the proposed 
development is in the same use.  

 
10.3 In relation to the building being materially larger, the Council’s SPD relating to 

development within the Green Belt states that 'a proposal for the replacement of an 
existing non-residential building within the Green Belt with another non-residential building 
should satisfy each of the following criteria':  

 
(a) The existing building should be lawful and permanent in nature;  

 

Page 330



(b) The total volume of the replacement building should not be more than 20% larger than 
the volume of the building it replaces;  

 
(c) The replacement building should not materially harm the openness of the Green Belt 
through excessive scale or bulk or by virtue of its location. It should also be in keeping 
with the character of the area and appropriate in terms of design and materials;  
 
(d) The replacement building should be on or close to the footprint of the one it replaces, 
unless it can be satisfactorily demonstrated that an alternative location within the same 
curtilage will have no adverse impact on openness and/or it will achieve significant 
environmental improvements or road safety benefits.’’  

 
10.4 Based on the information submitted with the application, I am satisfied that the proposed 

development would meet with tests (a) and (d) above.  
 
10.5 In relation to tests (b) and (c), it is clear that the proposed replacement building will be 

materially larger than the existing building. As such, the development would constitute 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and by definition would be harmful. However, 
the SPD goes on to say that regardless of percentage limits for increases in volume, 
replacement buildings will be judged on their impact on the openness of the Green Belt, 
their design, their siting within the plot and general location 

 
Proposed new car parks  

 
10.6 The application also proposes to extend the existing car parks within the hospital site. 

Some additional spaces would be provided immediately adjacent to the proposed new 
building but it is also proposed to extend an existing car park onto a former orchard, south 
east of the main development site. Paragraph 146 of the NPPF acknowledges that 
material changes of use of land / engineering operations are not inappropriate in the 
Green Belt provided that they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the purposes 
of including land within it. The extended orchard car park will measure 43m by 56m (at its 
widest point) and is proposed to be hard surfaced, creating approximately 89 car parking 
spaces. An assessment on its impact upon openness is therefore pertinent.  

  
Impact on Openness 

 
10.7 Paragraph 79 of the NPPF advises that a fundamental aim of the Green Belt is to prevent 

urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open, with an essential characteristic being 
openness. Openness is not defined in the NPPF but can be taken to mean the absence of 
visible development.   
 

10.8 The proposed building would be sited on the footprint of the existing building. Whilst the 
replacement building would be noticeably bulkier than the existing building in terms of its 
overall size, the applicant has sought to minimise the impact of the replacement building 
by ensuring that the height is lower than Wrightington Hall and the adjacent servant's wing 
which it will connect to. By its very presence and larger scale the building would have an 
impact upon the openness of the Green Belt, however, I am mindful that the site is already 
developed with buildings, structures and extensive car parking areas and the building is 
sited amongst this existing built development and therefore views of the building will be 
limited. A visual impact assessment accompanies the application which demonstrates this. 
As such, I consider that the replacement building would not materially harm the openness 
of the Green Belt. The design of the building would be acceptable in this location and 
would not appear incongruous or out of keeping in this setting. 

 

Page 331



10.9 The proposed car park would be sited on a piece of land to the south west of the site. This 
area of land is currently unused/undeveloped having previously been part of an apple 
orchard. Introducing a large expanse of hard surface would formalise the appearance of 
this piece of land which would lead to a notable loss of open space. This would result in 
the south-easterly spread of hospital development from the position of the existing 
buildings. It is considered that the car park extension does represent encroachment and 
there would be a greater impact upon the openness of the Green Belt than that which 
currently exists. As such, I find the proposed car park would be detrimental to the 
openness of the Green Belt, and therefore conflict with one of the aims of the Green Belt, 
that of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment.   

 
10.10 For the reasons set out above the proposed development is inappropriate development in 

the Green Belt, and the proposed car park would give rise to a loss of openness and 
would conflict with the purposes of including land within the Green Belt by virtue of 
encroachment. Paragraph 144 of the NPPF advises that substantial weight should be 
given to any harm to the Green Belt. Inappropriate development in the Green Belt should 
only be allowed in ‘very special circumstances’ that will not exist unless the potential harm 
to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations. 

 
 Very Special Circumstances 
 
10.11 Under the terms of the NPPF, the overarching approach of the planning function is to 

contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and there is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. This requires consideration of the economic and social 
aspects of development. The applicant has put forward a case of very special 
circumstances for both the replacement building and car park on the following grounds:  

 
10.12 The development would provide a world class facility which would be used for multiple 

uses including groundbreaking medical research on the top floor with clinical trial areas, 
lecture theatre and meeting rooms. The Hospital proposes to use the building in 
partnership with Edge Hill University and a major pharmaceutical company to create a 
leading teaching and research facility. The second floor of the extension is to be used for 
medical research and as with the educational element needs to be in a hospital location to 
benefit from the cross over that each service provides. 

 
10.13 Currently the hospital does not have the facility to undertake scanning on site and this 

results in over 7000 patients a year having to travel elsewhere within the locality to 
undergo these procedures. The proposed extension would facilitate this taking place on 
site thereby avoiding the need for patients to travel to benefit from this service.  

 
10.14 In addition to the above, it is proposed to refurbish Wrightington Hall as part of the 

proposals to improve its longevity. Wrightington Hall is currently used at 30% of its current 
capacity due to its fairly isolated position on site and standard of accommodation inside. 
The hall would become an integral part of the new facility and would be re-established as 
a key venue within the wider hospital complex. The proposed extension has been 
designed to facilitate circulation between the old and new buildings which will in turn 
significantly improve the usage of Wrightington Hall and the servant's wing. In addition it is 
proposed to remove some of the more recent internal additions that have no historic 
benefit to the listed building and repair existing windows.  

 
10.15 In respect of the new car park, it is acknowledged that parking at the hospital is 

problematic for patients, visitors and staff. The new car park would provide additional car 
parking spaces to support the new facility along with reducing congestion that the hospital 

Page 332



currently generates in and around the site. This will reduce the pressure for cars to park 
on nearby highways which could be detrimental to highway safety.  

 
10.16 In considering these matters I am mindful that the NPPF gives weight to supporting 

existing business sectors and expansion plans and supports the sustainable growth and 
expansion of all types of business and enterprise in rural areas. It is clear the 
circumstances surrounding the proposed development are unique and site specific. The 
associated benefits arising from medical research and improved educational and medical 
facilities in the Borough must be considered as must the impacts to the local economy and 
local communities.  

 
10.17 Therefore, whilst it is considered the scheme is inappropriate, there would be some harm 

to openness and the development would result in encroachment, given the location of the 
new facility on the footprint of an existing building, the location of both the new building 
and car park in close proximity to existing hospital buildings and the unique and site 
specific case put forward by the applicant referring to economic, social and heritage 
benefits, in this particular case, I consider the very special circumstances put forward 
would be sufficient to outweigh the identified harm to the green belt. I am mindful that a 
proposed landscape buffer zone with existing trees will soften the impact of the car park. 
 

  Heritage Impacts  
 

10.18 Policy EN4 of the Local Plan is relevant as is the guidance contained in the NPPF in terms 
of the impact of the proposed development on listed structures. The NPPF, in determining 
such planning applications, advises Local Planning Authorities to take account of the 
desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting 
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation, the positive contribution that 
heritage assets can make to sustainable communities and the desirability of new 
development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness.  

 
10.19 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that the significance of a heritage asset needs to be 

given weight to the asset's conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the 
weight to be provided to its significance. Paragraph 196 requires that where a proposal 
leads to less than substantial harm to a designated asset, which includes development 
within its setting, this harm should be weighed against the benefits of the proposal 
including securing its optimum viable use. Paragraph 200 advises that Local Planning 
Authorities should look for opportunities for new development within the historic 
environment and within the setting of heritage assets to enhance or better reveal their 
significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive 
contribution to or better reveal their significance should be treated favourably.  

 
10.20 Local Planning Authorities should in coming to decisions refer to the principle act which 

requires decision makers to "have special regard to the desirability of preserving listed 
buildings or their settings" (s.66). Recent Court judgements have shown that the statutory 
duty prescribed under the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
should always be given considerable weight in decision making. 

 
 General Principle - Demolition  
 
10.21 In principle, I am satisfied that the loss of the nurse's block will not impact on the historic 

significance of the Hall, which includes its setting or indeed the setting to the other heritage 
assets related to the Hall (terrace walls and barn/stable building). Indeed I feel its 
demolition (as a single act) would greatly improve the Hall's setting and allow more of the 
service wing to be revealed. I also very much support the retention of the northern service 
wing which is part of the significance of the listed building. Given the above, I do not feel 

Page 333



the demolition will cause any harm to the character of the Hall or the wider group setting.  
In this respect the demolition does not need to be balanced against the stated 'public' 
benefits of the proposal and it meets the test to preserve as required under the Act, NPPF 
and Local Plan.   

 
 Proposed new building - Research and Education Centre 
 
10.22 The new research and education centre building sits to the north of the Hall, on the same 

site as the existing nurse's block. The new building, would be set forward of the front 
(principal) elevation of Wrightington Hall and attached service wing. The relationship 
between the buildings, whilst being offset, means that some if not all of the benefits to the 
historic setting from the demolition of the nurses block (identified above) would be lost. 

 
10.23 The new centre would be three stories high and include a lower ground (basement) level. 

Its overall height is comparable to the service wing, which it would adjoin. The building 
however has an appreciatively larger footprint than the nurse's accommodation it replaces. 
The design of the proposed building is contemporary, incorporating large areas of glazing 
and a set-back upper floor utilising a contrasting external material of grey standing seam 
panels. The south façade would incorporate curtain walling and glazing to reflect some of 
the characteristics of the existing listed Hall it sits alongside. In order to provide solar 
shading on the south façade, vertical and horizontal brass effect louvres are proposed. A 
series of brass effect mesh panels are proposed on the north façade. Natural stone effect 
materials would be predominately used for the cladding in order to reflect the existing 
listed buildings. Overall, the design approach is considered to be sensitive to the 
significance of the listed assets and is acceptable.  

 
10.24 It is recognised that the increased scale and bulk of the new building is led by the mix of 

uses and organisations it needs to accommodate. Nonetheless, the increased footprint 
and scale means that the buildings that make up the service wing to the Hall cannot be 
appreciated in the same way as it is presently and that this will cause some additional 
impact on the overall setting to the Hall albeit I do recognise that the harm would be rather 
limited. As a result this 'less than substantial' level of harm will need to be balanced 
against the public benefits of the new research and education centre (as per Paragraph 
195 of the NPPF) which includes a more integrated and sustainable use for the Hall. 

 
10.25 The circumstances that support the proposed development have already been discussed 

earlier in this report and it is clear this is a fairly unique and site specific development. In 
heritage terms, it is proposed to refurbish Wrightington Hall as part of the proposals to 
improve its longevity and integrate the Hall with the new facility to re-establish its use as a 
key venue in the site. However, it is imperative that a condition is imposed to secure the 
refurbishment and repair works to the current Hall to facilitate its conference use.   

 
10.26 I do not consider there to be any other harm attributed to the development on the setting to 

the other heritage assets (barn and walls) associated with the Hall.  
 
10.27 As I am required to do so, I have given the duty’s imposed by s.66(1) of the P(LBCA) Act 

1990 considerable weight and whilst it is recognised that the scale of the proposed 
development would result in a 'less than substantial' level of harm to the setting of the 
Hall and attached service wing, it is considered that there are significant public benefits in 
developing the new research and education centre and in fully integrating the use of the 
existing Hall with this centre which would secure the Hall's place as the centre piece for 
the hospital. Consequently, I consider that the benefits of the scheme outweigh the 
limited harm to the setting of Wrightington Hall.  
 
Archaeology  

Page 334



 
10.28 Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states that  'Local planning authorities should require 

developers to record and advance understanding of the significance of any heritage 
assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate to their importance and the 
impact, and to make this evidence (and any archive generated) publicly accessible.  

 
10.29 The site is located within Wrightington Hall Park, an 18th century landscape park, 

possibly on the site of an earlier deer park and is also close to the grade II listed terrace 
retaining wall and the grade II former Barn and Riding School.  
 

10.30 A Heritage Assessment has been submitted in support of the application which indicates 
that there are below-ground remains to be encountered by both demolition and 
construction works which will require a formal watching brief to be undertaken at all 
stages of ground disturbance in this area. The Heritage Assessment has been reviewed 
by the Lancashire Archaeological Advisory Service (LAAS) who advise that whilst they 
are satisfied the demolition of the former nurses' wing can go ahead, further information 
about the 18th century Wrightington Hall is likely to appear during works so a programme 
of building recording, tailored to the scheme and focussing on the junction between the 
nurses' wing and the Hall is therefore recommended as a planning condition. 
 

10.31 In response the applicant has submitted a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) for a 
Historic Building, Investigation and Archaeological Watching Brief which has been 
reviewed by LAAS and the methodology deemed acceptable in principle. At the request 
of LAAS, a condition will be imposed to ensure the archaeology investigation is carried 
out in accordance with the methodology in this report and a final report be submitted once 
the work is completed.  

 
Impact on Residential Amenity 

 
10.32 The closest neighbouring properties are situated immediately to the north of the 

development site in Dobson Close. The impact of the proposed new building on the 
amenity of the occupants of numbers 24 to 32 Dobson Close whose dwellings back onto 
the development must be considered. It is worth noting that currently the existing servant's 
wing, which is to be retained, sits 12.5m away from the rear elevation of numbers 28 to 32 
and the nurse's accommodation, which is to be demolished, sits a minimum of 22m away 
from the rear elevations of numbers 22 to 28.  

 
10.33 The proposed new building would sit on lower ground levels than the residential 

properties on Dobson Close and be off set so that it sits behind numbers 24 and 26. In 
order to minimise the impact upon the occupants of these residential properties, the 
proposed building has been carefully designed so that it staggers away from these 
properties as it increases in height to minimise its impact. As a result, the proposed 
ground floor, which would sit on significantly lower ground levels than Dobson Close and 
be screened by the existing fence boundary will be situated at least 15m away, the 
proposed first floor would be at minimum of 19m away and the proposed second floor 
would be at least 21m away. As a result I consider the development would not have an 
adverse overbearing impact upon the amenity of the occupiers of these properties. In 
terms of overlooking, the glazing on the second floor would be fully obscured glazed, at 
first floor the windows that are directly opposite the residential properties would also be 
fully obscure glazed and the windows which would be opposite the newly developed car 
park will be obscured below head height. At ground floor, only high level windows are 
proposed to allow light into the space.  

 
10.34 On balance, taking into consideration the position of the existing and new buildings, 

ground levels and obscure glazing positions, I am of the view that the development would 

Page 335



not have a significant detrimental impact upon  the occupants of the residential properties 
on Dobson Close through overlooking or overbearing impact to justify a refusal on this 
basis.  

 
10.35 The Council's Environmental Health Officer has been consulted in relation to the 

development and has raised concern about noise (banging doors, car locking beeps, car 
alarms) from the use of the new car park 12a which would be sited adjacent to the 
residential properties on Dobson Close. The plans show a landscape buffer zone is 
proposed between the new car park 12a and the residential properties, but no details are 
provided in relation to the boundary treatment. Therefore, a condition is recommended to 
ensure a noise assessment is submitted to assess the noise impact from car park 12a 
and to propose mitigation measures to reduce any disturbance upon the occupiers of 
these properties. Similarly, details of how the car park would be lit can be secured by 
planning condition to minimise any light spillage and disturbance.  

 
10.36 The application states that the proposed building would be serviced via Dobson Close. 

The Council's Environmental Health Officer has requested that a condition is attached 
restricting the hours that service  vehicles can access the site via Dobson Close with 
restrictions on vehicle size and numbers due to the close proximity to residential 
properties.  
 
Highways 

 
10.37 A Transport Statement has been submitted which confirms that all access arrangements 

to the site would remain as existing and provides an assessment of the traffic impacts 
arising from the proposed development along with a parking assessment. It is 
acknowledged that the proposed development is likely to generate additional vehicular 
movements into and out of the hospital site. The maximum arrival and departure 
movements during peak hours (8am-9am and 5pm to 6pm) have been forecast to be 
between 29 and 44 movements. Additional car parking is proposed to support the 
demand created by the new building. The Highway Authority have been consulted and 
they have no objection in principle to the proposed development as they are of the view 
the development would have a negligible impact on highway safety and highway capacity 
within the immediate vicinity of the site. However, further information is sought in relation 
construction traffic and how the building would be serviced. 

 
10.38 The Transport Statement confirms that the proposed building would be serviced via 

Dobson Close with an access control barrier placed on the end of the road to prevent 
unauthorised vehicular access. It is understood that this road is currently used for this 
purpose. Dobson Close is a 4m wide private road owned by the NHS which also serves 
some private residential properties and is currently used to access staff parking along 
with servicing and maintenance vehicles. Whilst the road is currently used for service 
vehicles the Highway Authority is of the view that there will probably be an increase in the 
number of large vehicles utilising this access. The Transport Statement states that the 
access will be restricted to large goods vehicles with an approx. length of 8m and 
recommends that a delivery and servicing vehicle management plan is secured via 
planning condition. The width of the road (4m) is not wide enough for two large delivery 
vehicles to pass, therefore the Highway Authority request that a condition is secured for a 
Delivery and Serving Vehicle Management Plan together with details of a proposed 
signage scheme to enforce the restriction.  

 
10.39 In terms of construction traffic, the Transport Statement states that the construction traffic 

impacts from the development are unknown and recommends that a Traffic Management 
Plan for the construction vehicles and staff accessing the site during the construction 

Page 336



works, to be secured via planning condition. The Highway Authority concur with this 
recommendation. 
 

10.40 Overall, the proposed development would have a negligible impact on highway safety 
and capacity in the immediate area and is considered acceptable in terms of highway 
safety however planning conditions are recommended to secure an appropriate 
Construction Traffic Management Plan and a Delivery and Serving Vehicle Management 
Plan. 
 
Loss of Woodland  
 

10.41 A Tree Survey Report has been submitted in respect of the car park expansion into a 
former apple orchard to the south of the site, adjacent to the Big Wood and Wrightington 
Ponds Biological Heritage Site (BHS) which is listed as a site of Importance for Nature 
Conservation. Undoubtedly the car park would lead to a notable loss of open space. The 
area has several old fruit trees and the site has become naturalised and with considerable 
biodiversity that provides a buffer to the adjoining woodland. Initially concern was raised 
that the proposed car park would conflict with several mature Sycamore and Ash trees 
close to the south east corner. An amended plan has been received which moves the car 
parking spaces away from these trees and a 'no-dig' geo-web root protection system is 
proposed to limit root damage. The proposed building extension and associated car 
parking would require the removal of a number of mature trees, consisting of three 
moderate grade trees, two lower grade trees and two poor grade trees. The amenity of 
these trees is mainly limited as an internal feature to the hospital. In order to mitigate 
against the loss of tree cover a landscaping scheme has been submitted which includes a 
hedgerow buffer zone along the eastern, southern and south western boundary of the 
proposed car park and the planting of trees around the site. Although this would not 
compensate fully for the loss of the tree cover, I do not consider that there would be any 
notable loss of visual amenity across the site as a whole and consider the proposal is in 
accordance with Policy EN2 of the Local Plan.  

 
Impact on Ecology 

 
10.42 The site lies adjacent to the Big Wood and Wrightington Ponds Biological Heritage Site 

(BHS) which is listed as a site of Importance for Nature Conservation. A Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal in respect of the Orchard Car Park Expansion and a Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal & Bat Survey in relation to the buildings accompany the application. 
MEAS have been consulted and whilst it is unlikely the re-development of the main 
hospital site would harm the features of the BHS, the car park expansion may have a 
direct or indirect effect on the features for which the BHS has been designated. MEAS 
advise that fencing can be erected to prevent access and the trees to be retained shall be 
protected and maintained to provide a natural buffer. This can be secured via planning 
condition. A number of trees are to be felled within the orchard and whilst the appraisal 
considers it highly unlikely that bats would use the mature orchard trees for roosting 
purposes due to the position of rot holes, the possibility cannot be entirely ruled out. 
Therefore, the reasonable avoidance measures (tree re-examined for bats prior to 
removal) as described in the appraisal can be secured by planning condition.  

 
10.43 A Preliminary Roost Assessment for Bats carried out in February 2017 and updated in 

September 2017, has been submitted which identified that the existing buildings offer a 
moderate potential for roosting bat species. As a result further dusk emergence and dawn 
re-entry surveys were carried out which identified no bats roosting in the building. This 
information has now been forwarded to MEAS for review. In respect of ecology the 
application is considered to be acceptable subject to MEAS being satisfied that there 
would be no detrimental impact on roosting bats as a result of the development, and 

Page 337



securing any potential mitigation measures that may be deemed necessary by imposition 
of planning conditions. 

 
 Impact on Drainage 
 
10.44 The site is located in flood zone 1 an area considered to have the lowest probability of 

fluvial and tidal flooding. A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy accompanies 
the application which embraces the concept of sustainable drainage and recognises that 
flood risk is an important aspect of the development proposals. The site currently drains to 
an existing public sewer. Infiltration is not considered suitable due to the ground conditions 
which are a mixture of clay with cobbles, silt, sand and gravel content. The applicants 
propose to use existing sewers were possible. As the surface water sewers discharge into 
Calico Brook, attenuation is proposed within the surface water drainage system to limit the 
discharge rate. This approach is acceptable in principle, and can be secured via an 
appropriate condition. I am satisfied that the site can be adequately drained and the 
development will not result in increased flood risk on or off the site. 

  
11.0 DEPARTURE APPLICATION 

 
11.1 This proposal is a Departure from the Development Plan in that it involves a development 

normally inappropriate in the Green Belt. The application should, therefore be referred to 
the Secretary of State if the Council is mindful to grant approval.  
 

12.0 CONCLUSION  
 

12.1 The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and therefore it is 
recommended that the decision to grant planning permission be delegated to the 
Director of Development and Regeneration in consultation with the Chair or Vice 
Chair of Planning Committee subject to the confirmation of no objections by MEAS in 
respect of impact on bats and no objections from the Secretary of State under the terms of 
the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) 2009 Direction. 

 
12.2 That any planning permission granted by the Director of Development and Regeneration 

pursuant to recommendation 12.1 above be subject to the following conditions and any 
additional conditions recommended by MEAS: 

 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details shown 

on the following plans:- 
 Plan reference AL-20201 Rev P5, AE-20003 Rev P3, AL-20001 Rev P5, AL-20003 Rev 

P1, AL-20101 Rev P5, AL-90004 Rev P1, AE-20001 Rev P3, AE-20004 Rev P3, AL-
20103 Rev P1, AL-20102 Rev P2, AL-20202 Rev P2, AL-20302 Rev P2, AL-20203 Rev 
P1, AL-20002 Rev P2, AL-20402 Rev P1, AL-20401 Rev P3, AL-20403 Rev P1, AS-
20051 Rev P4, AS-20052 Rev P3 and AS20053 Rev P2received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 5th March 2018. 

 Plan reference Obscure Glazing Plan (Proposed Section & Proposed Level 1 Plan) 
received by the Local Planning Authority on 18th May 2018. 

 Plan reference AL-90002 Rev T2 and AE-20002 Rev T2 received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 21st June 2018. 

 3. No development above slab level shall take place until full details and samples of the 
external elevational treatments including wall cladding and panels and roofing materials 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Page 338



 4. A full schedule of repair and refurbishment works to Wrightington Hall and attached 
service wing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Details shall indicate the nature and extent of the refurbishment works including the 
proposed new finishes. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and completed prior to the occupation of the new building.  

 5. No development on the construction of the new building shall take place until full details of 
the finished levels of all parts of the site, including the floor levels of the building, have 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with those details. 

 6. Prior to the commencement of the use of the new building hereby approved, the glazing 
on the north elevation shall be fitted with obscure glass (Pilkington level 3 or equivalent) 
and be non-opening and shall remain so fitted at all times thereafter for the duration of the 
development in accordance with the Proposed Section and Level 1 Plan received by the 
Local Planning Authority on 18th May 2018. 

 7. Prior to the new buildings being brought into use the foul and surface water drainage 
systems (including the storage of attenuated flows and associated flow control device) 
shall be installed in accordance with details:  

 contained on Proposed Impermeable Area plan drawing number 0987/173/202 rev - ;  
 in the Drainage Maintenance and Management Plan submitted 14th August 2018; 
 in the Flood Risk Assessment (30312/SRG) dated March 2018; and 
 in the Wrightington Proposed 180516.mdx MicroDrainage file which confirms the surface 

water flow is limited to the agreed 70 l/s. 
 The drainage system shall thereafter be managed and maintained in accordance with 

these details. 
 8. No development shall take place on car park zone P12a (Phase 5) until a scheme for 

protecting the existing dwellings in Dobson Close from noise from the car park has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall 
be implemented in full prior to the car park being brought into use. 

 9. A scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
that specifies the provisions to be made for the control of noise emanating from the 
building. These provisions can include physical and/or administrative measures. The 
scheme shall be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the building 
being brought into use and shall be maintained thereafter. 

10. No service vehicles, maintenance vehicles, or waste collections shall be taken or received 
at the site except between the hours of 0800 and 2000 Monday to Saturday, 0800 and 
1800 on Sundays and Public/Bank Holidays. No deliveries shall be taken or received at 
the site except between the hours of 0600 and 2000 Monday to Saturday, 0600 and 1800 
on Sundays and Public/Bank Holidays. 

11. No lighting shall be installed on the site until a scheme detailing the proposed lighting to 
be installed is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All 
external lighting shall be installed and maintained in accordance with the agreed scheme. 

12. The methodology for the archaeology investigation set out in the Written Scheme of 
Investigation (WSI) for a Historic Building, Investigation and Archaeological Watching Brief 
(Salford Archaeology 1st June 2018) received by the Local Planning Authority on 15th 
June 2018 shall be implemented in full during the development hereby approved. Once 
the work is completed a final report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

13. Prior to the commencement of the use of the new building a Delivery and Servicing 
Management Plan together with details of a proposed signage scheme shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved signs shall be 
provided prior to the new building being brought into use and thereafter servicing and 
delivery shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plan. 

14. No development shall take place until a Traffic Management Plan for the construction 
works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning Authority. The 
plan shall include the following: 

Page 339



 The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
 Loading and unloading of plant and materials used in the construction of the development; 
 Storage of such plant and materials; 
 Wheel washing facilities; 
 Periods when plant and materials trips should not be made to and from the site (mainly 

peak hours but the developer to identify times when trips of this nature should not be 
made) 

 Routes to be used by vehicles carrying plant and materials to and from the site; 
 Measures to ensure that construction and delivery vehicles do not impede access to 

adjacent properties. 
 Construction works should be carried out in accordance with the approved Traffic 

Management Plan.  
15. The car park shall be surfaced or paved and the car parking spaces and manoeuvring 

areas marked out in accordance with the approved plan, before the use of the premises 
hereby permitted becomes operative. 

16. Prior to the use of the car park a scheme for the provision of electric vehicle charging 
points throughout the development and timetable for implementation shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall proceed in 
accordance with the agreed details. 

17. Demolition works, tree felling, scrub clearance, vegetation management and/or ground 
clearance should be avoided during the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is 
necessary to undertake works during the bird breeding season then the all trees, scrub, 
vegetation and buildings to be demolished/refurbished are to be checked first by an 
appropriately experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds are present. If present, 
details of how they will be protected must be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and thereafter the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

18. The existing trees marked for retention shall be retained as detailed in the Tree Survey 
Report (Building 37) and Tree Survey Report (Orchard Car Park Expansion) received by 
the Local Planning Authority on 5th March and before site works commence they shall be 
protected with stout fencing constructed to BS5837:2012, to contain the branch spread of 
the trees. Such fencing shall remain and be adequately maintained for the duration of the 
development operations. Within this fencing no development operations may take place 
including the storage or dumping of materials or plant, the lighting of fires, the siting of 
temporary huts or the raising or lowering of ground levels. All dead or damaged existing 
trees specified for retention shall be replaced with trees of such size and species 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

19. No development shall take place on the Orchard Car Park expansion until a Method 
Statement detailing measures to be taken during construction (including No-Dig 
methodology) to protect the health of the existing trees has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The measures contained in the 
approved Method Statement shall be fully implemented during construction. 

20. The landscaping scheme shall be carried out as shown on Drawing Number 58517-DAY-
00-00-A-AL-90002 Rev T2 received by the Local Planning Authority on 21st June 2018. 
Within a period of 9 months from the date when any part of the development is brought 
into use the approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out. All planting shall be 
maintained and dead or dying material shall be replaced for a period of seven years from 
the agreed date of planting. 

21. No development shall take place until a method statement in respect of Rhododendron 
and cotoneaster has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The method statement shall include: 

 A plan showing the extent of the plant(s);  
 What method(s) will be used to prevent the plant spreading further, including demarcation; 

and  
 What method(s) of control will be used, including details of monitoring  

Page 340



 The approved method statement shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed 
details. 

22. The recommendations made within Section 6.0 of the 'Preliminary Ecological Appraisal - 
Orchard Car Park Expansion' dated January 2018 (received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 5th March 2018) shall be adhered to at all times during and following the 
development hereby approved. 

 
 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in 

the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 
 3. To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and that the 

development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 4. In order to preserve the special architectural or historic interest of the building and so 
comply with the provisions of Policy EN4 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 5. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in 
the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 6. To protect the privacy of adjacent residential properties and so comply with the provisions 
of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan 
Document. 

 7. To ensure that the site is properly drained in the interest of local amenity and that the 
development, therefore, complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF3 in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 8. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so comply 
with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

 9. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so comply 
with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

10. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so comply 
with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

11. To safeguard the amenity of adjacent properties and the area generally and so comply 
with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document. 

12. As the site is of archaeological interest and in order to comply with the provisions of Policy 
EN4 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

13. To restrict the size of vehicle and to prevent conflict of goods vehicles entering and exiting 
the Dobson Close access in the interest of highway safety and to safeguard the amenity of 
adjacent occupiers, to ensure that the development complies with the provisions of Policy 
GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document 

14. To safeguard the safety and interests of the users of the highway and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire 
Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

15. To allow for vehicles visiting the site to be parked clear of the highway and to assimilate 
the new car parking areas within the site and to ensure that the development complies 
with the provisions of Policies GN3 & IF2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

16. In the interests of sustainability to ensure that the development complies with the 
provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
Development Plan Document 

Page 341



17. In the interests of nature conservation and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 
Policies GN3 & EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

18. To safeguard the health of the trees and so ensure that the proposed development 
complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

19. To safeguard the health of the trees and so ensure that the proposed development 
complies with the provisions of Policies GN3 & EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

20. To assimilate the proposed development into its surroundings and to ensure that the 
development complies with the provisions of Policy EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire 
Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

21. To prevent the spread of a Schedule 9 invasive species 
22. In the interests of nature conservation and to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

Policies GN3 & EN2 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development 
Plan Document. 

 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the context of 

the Development Plan including, in particular, the following Policy/Policies in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document: 

  
 GN1 Settlement Boundaries 
 GN3 Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 IF2 Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choice 
 EN2 Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Natural Environment 
 EN4 Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Cultural and Heritage Assets  
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material considerations.  

The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal complies with the relevant Policy 
criteria and is acceptable in the context of all relevant material considerations as set out in 
the Officer's Report. This report can be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 

Page 342



 
No.5 APPLICATION NO. 2018/0300/LBC 
 LOCATION Wrightington Hospital Hall Lane Wrightington Wigan Lancashire 

WN6 9EP 
 PROPOSAL Listed Building Consent - Demolition of existing nurses wing, 

erection of extension to Wrightington Hall. 
 APPLICANT Wrightington, Wigan And Leigh NHS Foundation Trust 
 WARD Wrightington 
 PARISH Wrightington 
 TARGET DATE 9th May 2018 
 

 
1.0 SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This Listed Building Consent application is for the demolition of an existing nurses wing 

and erection of a replacement building which will link to Wrightington Hall  which includes 
the attached north service wing to create a facility which would be used for medical 
research with clinical trial areas, lecture theatre and meeting rooms. The hospital along 
with a local university and leading pharmaceutical company will occupy the building. A 
new car park will be constructed as part of the proposals. There would be a limited level of 
harm to the significance of Wrightington Hall including the attached north service wing 
which is outweighed by the significant public benefits that would arise from the 
development which includes providing a sustainable use for the Hall. I consider that the 
benefits of the scheme outweigh the limited harm to Wrightington Hall and that Listed 
Building Consent should be granted.  

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION: APPROVE WITH CONDITIONS 
 
3.0 THE SITE 

 
3.1 Wrightington Hospital is a large site situated to the south of Hall Lane and comprises of a 

number of different buildings. Agricultural land surrounds the site which is within the Green 
Belt. This application relates to Wrightington Hall which is a Grade II Listed Building 
located within the grounds of Wrightington Hospital. The Hall is located within the eastern 
part of the Hospital site and is currently used as a Conference Centre. The Hall dates from 
around 1700, with later extensions including a 3 storey stone built link block (also Grade 2 
listed) dating from the late C19 and a former nurses’ wing (an L shaped 3 storey block) 
adjoins at right angles to the link. The nurses’ block is a large brick built block subservient 
to the original building to which it is attached. This forms a courtyard with the remaining 
stone outbuildings north of the Hall.   
 

4.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 This application seeks Listed Building Consent for the demolition of the existing nurse's 

wing and erection of an extension to Wrightington Hall.  
 

The scheme involves three main aspects:  
 
The demolition of the existing unlisted nurses annex; 
The erection of a new Research and Education centre comprising of diagnostics and 
plant, reception facilities, University lecture space/clinical trials and medical research; 
A new extension to the existing parking area to the south of the Hall will provide around 
100 car spaces and extension to an existing car park within the site is also proposed. 

 
4.2 A separate planning application has been submitted to consider the proposed extension 

Page 343

Agenda Item 7e



under reference 2018/0251/FUL.  
 
5.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
5.1 2018/0300/LBC PENDING Listed Building Consent - Demolition of existing nurses wing, 

erection of extension to Wrightington Hall. 
 
5.2 2017/0843/FUL GRANTED Demolition of Block 31 (former 2 storey male nurses home) 

and provide car parking expansion for patients and visitors. This will result in the creation 
of 92 parking spaces but a loss of 6 giving a net gain of 86 parking spaces for the site. 

 
5.3 2015/0717/CON APPROVED - Approval of Details Reserved by Condition No. 8 of 

planning permission 2013/0651/FUL relating to a travel plan.  
 
5.4 2015/0150/NMA APPROVED - Non-material amendments to planning permission  
 
5.5 2013/0651/FUL - The redesign of the corridor linking 'Phase 1' into the main hospital.  The 

corridor will link Phase 1 with the Hospital Street to the east side, instead of going north 
into the Outpatient Department.  The treatment of the external elevations of the link 
corridor will change from shiplap treated timber to white render.  The redesign of the 
landscape proposals to incorporate the revised link corridor and some minor amendments 
to the soft and hard landscaping in the internal courtyards and around the perimeter of 
Phase 1. 

 
5.6 2015/0118/FUL GRANTED - Variation of Condition No. 3 of planning permission 

2014/0219/FUL to add an additional material to those specified on the application form to 
include a section of render to part of the side and rear elevations. 

 
5.7 2014/0852/NMA PART APPROVED/PART REFUSED - Non-material amendments to 

planning permission 2014/0219/FUL - Revised design reducing the building footprint by 51 
square metres overall;  Reduction in the amount of the specialist brickwork to the rear of 
the building and replacement with render finish;  Lifting of building circa 600mm to remove 
the need to have steps and ramped access to the main entrance, meaning the finished 
floor level matches Building 22 which is directly adjacent;  Building 22 no longer to be 
demolished. 

 
5.8 2014/0364/FUL GRANTED - Proposed extension to and resurfacing/line marking of 

existing car park to allow patients to park nearer main hospital wards/departments. 
 
5.9 2014/0307/CON GRANTED - Approval of Details Reserved by Condition No's. 3, 6 & 7 of 

planning permission 2013/0651/FUL relating to external materials, finished site and floor 
levels, foul and surface water drainage scheme. 

 
5.10 2014/0219/FUL GRANTED - Erection of new single storey IVF clinic and part demolition of 

existing building 22. 
 
5.11 2013/0651/FUL GRANTED - Re-development of part of the existing hospital site to 

provide a new two-storey building comprising wards and ancillary accommodation on the 
ground floor, and an operating theatre department and admissions unit on the first floor. 
The formation of a temporary service area in the North-West corner of the application site, 
including a receiving and dispatch (R&D) storage area, temporary covered walkway, boiler 
house and oil tank serving the proposed first phase of the hospital redevelopment. 
Demolition of the hip history museum to clear the site for the temporary boiler house. 

 
5.12 2013/0313/FUL GRANTED - Creation of new vehicular access to provide a dedicated 

Page 344



vehicular access/egress point for construction traffic to the west of the existing egress 
from the hospital grounds. Minor widening and strengthening along the existing service 
road including a circa 40m extension of the service road to the new access/egress point.  
Formation of a temporary site access road (to the south) mirroring the route of permanent 
roads, required for servicing the hospital.  This route will provide permanent access to the 
service yard for the new Phase 1 development. Formation of a temporary construction site 
compound, turning circle and contractor car parking facilities. Demolition of ward block E. 

 
6.0 CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
6.1 Historic England (19.03.18) - No Comments to make 
 
7.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 Wrightington Parish Council (03.04.18) - No Objections  
 
7.2 West Lancashire Conservation Areas Advisory Panel (29.03.18) Panel felt that the 

proposal had the potential to create a more positive open space and setting to 
Wrightington Hall. The scheme needed to remove cars from the west/south elevations of 
the Hall and provide a new landscaped space in front of the building 

 
8.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
8.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local Plan 

2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the development proposals 
will be assessed. 

 
Wrightington Hospital is located within the Green Belt and Wrightington Hall is Grade II 
Listed Building. The following policies are therefore relevant: 

 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 
 
EN4 – Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire’s Cultural and Heritage Assets 

  
Supplementary Planning Document ‘Design Guide’ (Jan.2008). 

 
9.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
9.1 The main considerations for the determination of this application is the impact upon the 

significance of the Listed Building  
 

9.2 Policy EN4 of the Local Plan is relevant as is the guidance contained in the NPPF in terms 
of the impact of the proposed development on listed structures. The NPPF, in determining 
such planning applications, advises Local Planning Authorities to take account of the 
desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting 
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation, the positive contribution that 
heritage assets can make to sustainable communities and the desirability of new 
development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness.  

 
9.3 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that the significance of a heritage asset needs to be 

given weight to the asset's conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the 
weight to be provided to its significance. Paragraph 196 requires that where a proposal 
leads to less than substantial harm to a designated asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the benefits of the proposal including securing its optimum viable use.  

 

Page 345



9.4 Local Planning Authorities should in coming to decisions refer to the principle act which 
requires in this case to "having special regard to the desirability of preserving listed 
buildings or their settings" (s.66). This requirement should not be ‘weighed’ in the same 
way that is required under the NPPF (P195). Recent Court judgements have shown that 
the statutory duty prescribed under the Planning (Listed Buildings and conservation Areas 
Act 1990 (P(LBCA)) should always be given considerable weight in decision making. 

 
 General Principle - Demolition  
 
9.5 In principle, I am satisfied that the loss of the nurse's block will not impact on the historic 

significance of the Hall. Indeed I feel its demolition (as a single act) and separation from 
the Hall and service wing would greatly improve the Hall's immediate setting and allow 
more of the service wing to be seen. I do not feel the demolition will cause any harm to the 
significance or character of the Hall.  In this respect the demolition does not need to be 
balanced against the stated 'public' benefits of the proposal and it meets the test to 
preserve as required under the P(LBCA) Act, NPPF and Local Plan.   

 
 Proposed new building - Research and Education Centre 
 
9.6 The new research and education centre building sits to the north of the Hall, on the same 

site as the existing nurse's block. The new CORE building, in this respect, will be set 
forward of the front (principal) elevation of Wrightington Hall and physically connect to the 
north service wing of the Hall.  

 
9.7 The new centre is three stories high and includes a lower ground (basement) level. Its 

overall height is comparable to the service wing, which it adjoins. Access from the new 
building into the existing service wing will be available at lower ground and 1st floor levels 
with a new staircase connecting the building on the 1st floor. The proposed link preserves 
the integrity of the service wing and does not involve any works which would harm the 
significance of the Hall and service wing. 

 
9.8 The circumstances that support the proposed development are fairly unique and site 

specific. The facility will provide a world class centre which will be used for multiple uses 
including groundbreaking medical research on the top floor with University and NHS 
related facilities on the first floor such as labs, clinical trial areas, lecture theatre and 
meeting rooms. Currently the hospital does not have the facility to undertake scanning on 
site and this results in over 7000 patients a year having to travel elsewhere within the 
locality undergo these procedures. The proposed extension would facilitate this to take 
place on site thereby having more services and avoiding the need for patients to travel to 
benefit from this service. The second floor of the extension is to be used for medical 
research and as with the educational element needs to be in a hospital location to benefit 
from the cross over that each service provides.  

 
9.9 In addition to the above, it is proposed to refurbish Wrightington Hall as part of the 

proposals to improve its use. The applicant advises that Wrightington Hall is currently 
used at 30% of its current capacity due to its fairly isolated position on site and standard of 
accommodation inside. The Hall would become an integral part of the new facility and 
would be re-established as a key venue within the wider hospital complex. I am satisfied 
that details of the refurbishment can be suitably conditioned. The proposed extension has 
been designed to facilitate circulation between the old and new buildings which will in turn 
significantly improve the usage of Wrightington Hall and attached service wing. In addition 
it is proposed to remove some of the more recent internal additions including modern 
internal divisions that have no intrinsic historic value to the listed building and repair 
existing windows. The existing lecture theatre inside Wrightington Hall does not meet the 
educational requirements of the provider so this facility will be improved and students will 

Page 346



benefit from having this additional educational facility within the hospital grounds.    
 
9.10 As I am required to do so, I have given the duty’s imposed by s.66(1) of the P(LBCA) Act 

1990 considerable weight and whilst it is recognised that the scale of the proposed 
development will result in a 'less than substantial' level of harm to the setting of the Hall 
and attached service wing, it is considered that there are significant public benefits in 
developing the new research and education centre and in fully integrating the use of the 
existing Hall with this centre which will secure the Hall's place as the centerpiece for the 
hospital. Consequently, I consider that the benefits of the scheme outweigh the limited 
harm to the setting of Wrightington Hall. However, it is imperative that a condition is 
imposed to secure the refurbishment and repair works to the current Hall.  

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
10.1 That Listed Building Consent be GRANTED subject to the following conditions 
 
Conditions 
 1. The works to which this consent relates must be begun not later than the expiration of 

three years beginning with the date on which the consent is granted. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details shown 

on the following plans:- 
 Plan reference AL-20201 Rev P5, AE-20003 Rev P3, AL-20001 Rev P5, AL-20003 Rev 

P1, AL-20101 Rev P5, AL-90004 Rev P1, AE-20001 Rev P3, AE-20004 Rev P3, AL-
20103 Rev P1, AL-20102 Rev P2, AL-20202 Rev P2, AL-20302 Rev P2, AL-20203 Rev 
P1, AL-20002 Rev P2, AL-20402 Rev P1, AL-20401 Rev P3, AL-20403 Rev P1, AS-
20051 Rev P4, AS-20052 Rev P3 and AS20053 Rev P2 received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 5th March 2018. 

 Plan reference Obscure Glazing Plan (Proposed Section & Proposed Level 1 Plan) 
received by the Local Planning Authority on 18th May 2018. 

 Plan reference AL-90002 Rev T2 and AE-20002 Rev T2 received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 21st June 2018. 

 3. No development above slab level shall take place until full details and samples of the 
external elevational treatments including wall cladding and panels and roofing materials 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 4. A full schedule of repair and refurbishment works to Wrightington Hall and attached 
service wing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Details shall indicate the nature and extent of the refurbishment works including the 
proposed new finishes. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and completed prior to the occupation of the new building.  

 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings & 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in 

the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 
 3. To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and that the 

development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 4. In order to preserve the special architectural or historic interest of the building and so 
comply with the provisions of Policy EN4 in the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 
 
 

Page 347



Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the context of 

the Development Plan including, in particular, the following Policy/Policies in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document: 

  
 EN4 Preserving and Enhancing West Lancashire's Cultural and Heritage Assets  
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material considerations.  

The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal complies with the relevant Policy 
criteria and is acceptable in the context of all relevant material considerations as set out in 
the Officer's Report. This report can be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 

Page 348



 
No.6 APPLICATION NO. 2018/0702/FUL 
 LOCATION 21 Manse Avenue Wrightington Wigan Lancashire WN6 9RP  

 
 PROPOSAL Two storey side extension, part single storey side extension. 

Garage conversion to a habitable room. 
 APPLICANT Mr N Thorpe 
 WARD Wrightington 
 PARISH Wrightington 
 TARGET DATE 27th August 2018 
 

 
1.0 REFERRAL 
 
1.1 This application is to be determined by the Planning Committee as the applicant is a 

Council employee.  
 

2.0 SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The proposed extension is considered acceptable in terms of scale, form and design and 

is not considered to result in harm to the amenity or privacy of neighbouring properties. 
Sufficient parking would be retained at the site. The proposed development is considered 
to be compliant with the NPPF and Policies GN3 and IF2 of the Local Plan.     

 
3.0 RECOMMENDATION - APPROVE with conditions. 
 
4.0 SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
4.1 The site relates to a detached dwelling located to the southern side of Manse Avenue on a 

bend in the road. The site has an ample triangular shaped plot. Parking is provided to the 
eastern side of the site in the form of a front drive.  The site is located within Small Rural 
Village of Wrightington as designated in the West Lancashire Local Plan.  

 
5.0 PROPOSAL 
 
5.1 Planning permission is sought for a two storey side extension, part single storey side 

extensions and garage conversion to a habitable room.    
 
6.0 PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS 
 
6.1 1992/0161 - Incorporation of land into residential curtilages of numbers 5 to 21. 
 REFUSED  
 
6.2 1992/0513 - Incorporation of land into residential curtilages of no's 5-21. 
 REFUSED – DISMISSED AT APPEAL 
 
7.0 OBSERVATIONS OF CONSULTEES 
 
7.1 Cadent Gas (16.07.2018) –The Applicant must ensure that proposed works do not 

infringe on Cadent's legal rights as there is operational gas apparatus within the site.  
 
7.2 Wrightington Parish Council (24.07.2018) – No objection. 
 
 
 

Page 349

Agenda Item 7f



8.0 OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
8.1 None 
 
9.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the West Lancashire Local Plan 

2012-2027 DPD provide the policy framework against which the development proposals 
will be assessed. 

 
9.2 The site is located within the settlement area of Wrightington designated as a Small Rural 

Village in the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 
 
9.3 West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD 

GN1 – Settlement Boundaries 
GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
IF2 – Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choices  
  

9.4 Supplementary Planning Document ‘Design Guide’ (Jan.2008). 
 
10.0 OBSERVATIONS OF DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
10.1 The main considerations for this application are: 
 

Design / appearance 
Impact on residential amenity 
Highways 

 
  Design / appearance  
 
10.2 Manse Avenue is mainly characterised by dormer bungalows on the southern side when 

entering from Mossy Lea Road with gable fronting two storey dwellings to the northern 
side. Gable fronting dwellings make up the remaining character of the area. The 
application property is the first in the row on the southern side of the Avenue to be a gable 
fronting property. Many of the gable fronting properties have been extended mainly by 
side dormer extensions but some have two storey side extensions. The dwelling of 
number 20 Manse Avenue has an identical side extension as the one proposed here.   

 
10.3 The proposed side extension would be built directly off the main ridge of the dwelling and 

whilst this is not ideal I am satisfied that the extension owing to its roof design sloping 
away from the front elevation, would appear as a subordinate addition. The addition of a 
small pitched roof dormer set well in from the side elevations of the roof slope is also 
considered acceptable. Noting that there is another example of an identical extension at 
number 20 Manse Avenue and numerous first floor side extensions and side dormers I am 
satisfied that the proposed side element would not result in an incongruous feature or 
result in harm to the character of the street scene.  

 
10.4 The proposed single storey side extension on the western side of the dwelling would 

project out beyond the existing side elevation. However owing to it's positioning towards 
the rear of the dwelling I am satisfied that this would also appear as a subordinate addition 
which has limited bearing upon the street scene.  

 
10.5 The proposal to convert the existing garage to living accommodation (utility / pet room) 

involves a small extension to the front of the garage. I am satisfied that the scale and 
height of this extensions is acceptable.  

Page 350



 
10.6 Overall I am satisfied that the proposed extensions would be acceptable in terms of 

design, form and scale and the proposal would not result in harm to the character of the 
street scene. I am therefore satisfied that the proposal would accord with Policy GN3 of 
the Local Plan and the SPD, Design Guide.   

 
Impact on residential amenity 

 
10.7 Policy GN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-2027) states that development 

should retain or create reasonable levels of privacy and amenity for occupiers of the 
neighbouring properties.  

 
10.8 I am satisfied that the single storey extensions, owing to their scale, height and positioning 

would have limited impact upon neighbouring properties.  
 
10.9 Number 23 has a side dormer facing the application site. This dormer is obscure glazed 

which is likely to relate to a bathroom or non-habitable room. Owing to the offset nature of 
the two dwellings within their plots, the separation distance between the dwellings and 
existing boundary treatment I am satisfied that the proposed side extensions would not 
result in significant harm to the amenities of the neighbour. Furthermore only obscure-
glazed windows serving a bathroom and en-suite are proposed in the first floor side 
elevation of the extension and as such the privacy of this neighbour would be maintained.  

 
10.10 On balance I am satisfied that the proposed extensions would not result in the loss of 

privacy or amenity to any neighbouring dwellings and as such the proposal accords with 
Policy GN3 of the Local Plan.  

  
Highways / parking  

 
10.11 Policy IF2 of the Local Plan outlines parking requirements for new development based on 

the number of bedrooms within the property. The extended dwelling would result in a 3 
bedroom dwelling which is the same as existing. As such there would be no requirement 
to provide additional parking at the site. However as part of the proposal the existing 
garage is to be converted to living accommodation and a small front extension is proposed 
which would take up some of the existing driveway. In accordance with Policy IF2 of the 
Local Plan a 3 bedroom dwelling requires 2 on-site parking spaces. I am satisfied that this 
provision can be accommodated on the front drive. As such the proposal accords with 
Policy IF2 in this regard.   

 
 Summary 
 
10.12 The proposal accords with Policy GN3 and IF2 of the Local Plan and as such is 

recommended for approval.    
 
11.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions:  
 
Conditions 
 1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission. 
 2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with details shown 

on the following plans:- 
 Plan reference  
 Proposed front elevation 

Page 351



 Proposed rear elevation 
 Proposed side elevation 
 Proposed ground floor plan 
 Proposed first floor plan 
 received by the Local Planning Authority on 02.07.2018 
 3. All external brickwork and roofing materials shall be identical to those on the existing 

building in respect of shape, size, colour and texture.  If the applicant or developer has 
any doubts as to whether the proposed materials do match they should check with the 
Local Planning Authority before commencement of the building works. 

 
Reasons 
 1. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the provisions of Policy GN3 in 

the adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 
  
 3. To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and that the 

development therefore complies with the provisions of Policy GN3 in the adopted West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document. 

 
Reason for Approval 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposed development in the context of 

the Development Plan including, in particular, the following Policy/Policies in the adopted 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 Development Plan Document: 

  
 GN3 - Criteria for Sustainable Development 
 IF2 - Enhancing Sustainable Transport Choices  
  
 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and all relevant material considerations.  

The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposal complies with the relevant Policy 
criteria and is acceptable in the context of all relevant material considerations as set out in 
the Officer's Report. This report can be viewed or a copy provided on request to the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 

Page 352



 

 
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE:  
6 September 2018 
 
CABINET: 11 September 2018 
 
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  
27 September 2018 
 

 
Report of: Director of Development and Regeneration  
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor J Hodson 
 
Contact for further information: Mr Peter Richards (Extn. 5046)  
    (E-mail: peter.richards@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT:  LOCAL PLAN REVIEW – PROPOSED LOCAL PLAN PREFERRED 
OPTIONS CONSULTATION 
 

 
Wards affected: Borough wide 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek authorisation to publicly consult on the Council's Preferred Options for a 

new Local Plan. 
 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
2.1 That the proposed Local Plan Preferred Options be considered and that agreed 

comments be referred to Cabinet. 
 
 
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 
 
3.1 That the agreed comments of the Planning Committee (provided at Appendix E) 

be considered.  
 
3.2 That the Local Plan Preferred Options document provided at Appendix C be 

approved for a six week public consultation exercise. 
 
3.3 That the Director of Development and Regeneration, in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder for Planning, be authorised to finalise and make amendments, 
prior to public consultation, to the Local Plan Preferred Options following 
consideration of any agreed comments from the Executive Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 

Page 353

Agenda Item 8



3.4 That call-in is not appropriate for this item as the report is being considered at the 
next meeting of the Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 27 
September 2018. 

 
 
4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 
4.1 That the proposed Local Plan Preferred Options be considered and that agreed 

comments be referred to the Director of Development and Regeneration, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning. 

 
 

 
 
5.0 BACKGROUND  
 
5.1 Since September 2016 the Council has been undertaking a Local Plan Review in 

order to update its current, adopted Local Plan (West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027) to better reflect revised national planning policy and guidance and 
the evolving sub-regional context surrounding West Lancashire.  This Local Plan 
Review has involved undertaking or commissioning a wide range of evidence 
base studies to inform the preparation of strategic and topic-specific policies in a 
new Local Plan and ongoing co-operation with key stakeholders (in particular 
neighbouring authorities and other bodies covered by the Duty to Co-operate, 
and infrastructure providers) alongside preparing the relevant key documents for 
consultation at each stage of Local Plan preparation. 

 
5.2 In Spring 2017, the Council consulted on the scope and the issues and options of 

a new Local Plan, which was a key first step in the preparation of a new Local 
Plan.  The summary report of the feedback from that consultation is provided in 
the Consultation Feedback Report provided at Appendix A, together with the full 
set of comments submitted with a Council response to each.  This feedback has 
been taken into consideration, alongside all other evidence, as officers have 
prepared a first draft of a new Local Plan, known as the Local Plan Preferred 
Options. 

 
5.3 Ongoing discussions with neighbouring authorities have played a key role in the 

Local Plan Review thus far, as they must due to the Duty to Co-operate, which is 
a key test against which any new Local Plan will be assessed when it comes to 
Examination by a Planning Inspector.  A Duty to Co-operate Statement will be 
published alongside the Preferred Options document as part of the evidence 
base. This will document and summarise the engagement had with neighbouring 
authorities and other bodies covered by the Duty to Co-operate in preparing the 
Local Plan, and will, in future, be complemented by a forthcoming Statement of 
Common Ground with the Liverpool City Region Authorities and Combined 
Authority, which will set out the co-operation and agreements reached between 
the authorities on strategic, cross-boundary planning issues. 

 
5.4 The Statement of Common Ground is a new requirement under the recently 

published revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  Various other 
changes to the NPPF in this recent revision have also informed the draft policies 

Page 354



in the Local Plan Preferred Options.  The revised NPPF (which was published on 
24 July 2018) can be viewed at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--
2 . 

 
5.5 In relation to the wide range of evidence base studies that have thus far been 

prepared to inform the Local Plan Review, some of these have already been 
published on the Council's website while others will be published alongside the 
Local Plan Preferred Options should Cabinet approve the Preferred Options for 
public consultation.  They are / will be available to view on the Council's website 
at: 
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/the-local-plan/local-plan-
review/evidence-base.aspx 

 
 
6.0 PROPOSED LOCAL PLAN PREFERRED OPTIONS 
 
6.1 The proposed Local Plan Preferred Options document that Cabinet are being 

asked to approve for public consultation is provided at Appendix C.  It proposes a 
draft Vision for the Local Plan (which reflects the Council's corporate vision to be 
a council which is ambitious for West Lancashire - our Economy, Environment 
and for Health and Wellbeing) and 10 Objectives for measuring the performance 
of the Local Plan in achieving this Vision.   

 
6.2 The Preferred Options include 38 policies, including site allocations for specific 

uses, spread over six broad topic areas: 
 

 Strategic Policies (chapter 3, prefix SP-) 

 Economic Policies (chapter 4, prefix EC-) 

 Residential Policies (chapter 5, prefix H-) 

 Infrastructure and Services Policies (chapter 6, prefix IF-) 

 Green Infrastructure Policies (chapter 7, prefix GI-) 

 Sustainable Development and Design Policies (chapter 8, prefix SD-) 
 

If taken forward in the new Local Plan, these policies would collectively replace 
all the policies in the existing adopted Local Plan once the new Local Plan is 
adopted.  

 
6.3 Probably the most significant change in the Preferred Options compared to Local 

Plans that have gone before it is that, in order to deliver economic growth, 
enhance the quality of the physical environment of West Lancashire and to 
improve the health and wellbeing of its residents, the Preferred Options propose 
a longer-term Local Plan covering the period to 2050 (compared to the typical 
Local Plan period which usually covers 15-20 years).  There are several reasons 
for recommending this approach. 

 
6.4 Firstly, given the scale of development anticipated to be needed in West 

Lancashire over the next 30 years, it is inevitable that significant release of land 
for development, including land currently designated as Green Belt, will be 
required.  By seeking to release sufficient land for those needs for the full 30 
years in one go, the Council will be able to have a more comprehensive and 
forward-looking Local Plan that plans sustainably for that long-term development 

Page 355

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/the-local-plan/local-plan-review/evidence-base.aspx
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/the-local-plan/local-plan-review/evidence-base.aspx


growth.  In doing so, it also provides certainty to residents, infrastructure 
providers, landowners and developers by setting a new Green Belt boundary 
that, barring a significant increase to the anticipated need for new development, 
should remain unchanged for at least 20 years. 

 
6.5 Were the Council to prepare a Local Plan for a standard Plan period, it would 

have to manage this need for new development to 2050 over three separate 
Local Plans, thereby reducing the ability to plan comprehensively for that growth 
and resulting in more piecemeal and less sustainable growth while still releasing 
the same amount of land by 2050. 

 
6.6 Secondly, by releasing sufficient land for development needs to 2050 now, it 

introduces competition and flexibility into the market, which will ultimately create 
more viable developments which can meet the infrastructure, affordable housing 
and other policy requirements in the Local Plan. 

 
6.7 Looking over this longer-term period (or even over a shorter period), the main 

issue affecting development needs in West Lancashire is not simply the needs of 
West Lancashire itself, but those of its neighbours.  Under the Duty to Co-operate 
and the recently revised NPPF, local authorities must consider whether 
neighbouring authorities are able to meet their own development needs or 
whether they face significant constraints to development which would prevent 
them from doing so, and if they do face such constraints, local authorities must 
consider whether they can meet their neighbours' unmet development needs. 

 
6.8 At the current time, under adopted and proposed Local Plans, West Lancashire 

and its neighbouring authorities are each able to meet their own development 
needs, but beyond 2030, some neighbouring authorities will start to struggle to 
meet their development needs (in particular Sefton).  West Lancashire is the 
most logical and unconstrained location to meet those future unmet development 
needs from those neighbours.  In particular, the Local Plan Preferred Options 
proposes that West Lancashire accommodate 91 ha of large-scale logistics uses 
that is needed due to the growth in the Port of Liverpool and the logistics sector 
generally and 6,256 dwellings of unmet housing need that will not be able to be 
met within the Liverpool City Region from 2027. 

 
6.9 Taking such needs into account in addition to West Lancashire's own needs, the 

Local Plan Preferred Options proposes to deliver 15,992 dwellings and 190 ha 
of employment land between 2012 (the base date of the current Local Plan) 
and 2050.  Clearly some of this need will have already been meet through 
developments since 2012 or will be met by developments already allocated and 
under development through the current Local Plan, but a significant proportion of 
the proposed new development requirements to 2050 will require the allocation 
of more land for development. 

 
6.10 In relation to meeting the employment land requirements, Skelmersdale and the 

M58 Corridor is the most suitable and sustainable location to plan for the majority 
of the needed employment land, with a secondary focus in Burscough and 
smaller new allocations in Ormskirk and Tarleton.  With regard land for housing, 
given the focus on Skelmersdale for employment, it is most sustainable to 
allocate significant land for housing in and around Skelmersdale to provide 
housing close to those new employment opportunities, but Ormskirk and 

Page 356



Aughton, as the second largest town in the Borough and one well served by 
infrastructure and services, should also accommodate a significant proportion of 
this housing growth.  With regard the other parts of the Borough, the Preferred 
Options generally propose that they should simply continue to deliver the housing 
already committed in the current Local Plan and then meet their own housing 
needs beyond 2027, where possible.  The following table, taken from proposed 
Policy SP2 in the Preferred Options, shows how it is proposed the above 
development requirements will be met across West Lancashire. 

 

 Housing Employment Land 

Skelmersdale and South-Eastern 
Parishes 

8,572 dwellings 150 ha 

Ormskirk and Aughton 3,003 dwellings 10 ha 

Burscough and Central Parishes 1,495 dwellings 25 ha 

Northern Parishes 1,435 dwellings 5 ha 

Western Parishes 923 dwellings - 

Eastern Parishes 564 dwellings - 

 
6.11 In the Skelmersdale and South-Eastern Parishes spatial area around 2,600 

dwellings and 50 ha of employment land can be met through existing 
permissions, allocations from the current Local Plan (such as Skelmersdale Town 
Centre strategic site (which is covered by Policy SP5 of the Preferred Options) 
and the Whalleys sites to the north of Skelmersdale) and smaller new allocations 
(up to 150 dwellings or 20 ha of employment land) on the edge of the built-up 
area of Skelmersdale, Up Holland and Simonswood.  The remaining 6,000 
dwellings and 100 ha of employment land is proposed to be delivered through 
the allocation of three new Garden Villages, a Logistics Park and extensions of 
White Moss Business Park to the west and south-west of Skelmersdale (see 
Policy SP7 of the Preferred Options). 

 
6.12 In Ormskirk and Aughton, around 1,000 dwellings can be delivered through 

existing permissions (such as Grove Farm) and smaller new allocations (up to 
170 dwellings) on the edge of the built-up area of Ormskirk.  The remaining 2,000 
dwellings is proposed to be delivered through the creation of new Garden 
Neighbourhoods to the south-east of Ormskirk and Aughton.  Around 20 ha of 
land will also be set aside to the south of St Helens Road to deliver a new 
Knowledge Park to accommodate businesses and uses which would benefit from 
being in close proximity to Edge Hill University, as well as up to 1,000 student 
bedspaces in purpose-built student accommodation to help alleviate the demand 
for HMOs within Ormskirk (see Policy SP8 of the Preferred Options). 

 
6.13 In the remainder of the Borough, development needs will be met through existing 

permissions, allocations or new allocations (up to 360 dwellings in size) on the 
edge of the built-up area, and through the existing strategic site at Yew Tree 
Farm in Burscough (which is covered by Policy SP6 of the Preferred Options). 

 

Page 357



6.14 Full details of these land allocations for new development can be seen in the 
Preferred Options document (notably Policies EC1 and H2) and the wide range 
of policies related to topics as varied as Student Accommodation and Renewable 
Energy can be read in their entirety in the Preferred Options document. 

 
6.15 While the Preferred Options document represents the way forward for a new 

Local Plan as proposed by senior officers of the Council in close consultation with 
the Local Plan Cabinet Working Group, it should be noted that it is only a draft 
document and it is a consultation document, and so feedback on this draft 
document from the public and stakeholders will be key in improving it as we 
move forward in the Local Plan Review.  To this end, it is important that Members 
are aware of three key aspects of the context to the proposed Preferred Options. 

 
6.16 Firstly, after the justification to each policy in the Preferred Options is a section 

headed "Alternatives Considered".  These sections provide details of alternative 
policy approaches that were considered by officers before arriving at the 
preferred policy, and why those approaches were ultimately rejected.  This is an 
important part of preparing a Local Plan, and is included in the Preferred Options 
document to help stimulate discussion of alternative approaches through the 
public consultation.  Ultimately, the Council will need to demonstrate to a 
Planning Inspector at Examination that is has considered reasonable alternative 
approaches to their preferred policies, and so it is helpful to document them in 
the Preferred Options and seek views on the alternatives as well (including any 
alternatives that the Council may not have thought of). 

 
6.17 This also links to the second key aspect of the context to the proposed Preferred 

Options – the Sustainability Appraisal (SA).  The SA is a legislative requirement 
when preparing a new Local Plan to assess the effects (both positive and 
negative) the Local Plan will have on the different factors that affect sustainability 
(economic, environmental and social) and to fulfil the requirements of EU 
Directive 2001/42/EC which relates to Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA) of plans and programmes. 

 
6.18 An SA Report on the Preferred Options has been prepared and has informed the 

preparation of the Preferred Options, and will be made available for comment as 
part of the Preferred Options public consultation.  While the SA is ultimately 
meant to be an appraisal of the Local Plan as a whole, a key step in the SA 
process at this Preferred Options stage is to assess the relative sustainability 
merits of all the Alternative policy options and site allocations considered, and so 
this assessment is documented in an appendix to the SA Report. 

 
6.19 Finally, a further legislative requirement on the preparation of Local Plans relates 

to the EU's Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC), which relates to the protection of 
designated international sites of habitat importance, such as Martin Mere and the 
Ribble Estuary.  This requirement is met through the preparation of a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA), and a HRA has been prepared for the Preferred 
Options and will also be made available for comment as part of the public 
consultation.  The HRA ensures that impact on international sites is avoided or 
mitigated for. 

 
 
 

Page 358



7.0 PUBLIC CONSULTATION 
 
7.1 Should approval be granted to consult on the proposed Preferred Options 

document, as per the recommendation at 3.2 above, public consultation on the 
Preferred Options will run for the statutory six week period from Thursday 11th 
October until Friday 23rd November 2018.   

 
7.2 As is usual with Local Plan consultations, officers propose to publicise the 

consultation through a wrap-around feature on the Champion newspaper (and 
leaflets to those properties which do not receive the Champion), the statutory 
formal notification in the Champion Newspaper, press releases and mail-outs to 
our Local Plan consultation database. 

 
7.3 Those who wish to engage with the consultation will be able to sign-up to attend 

drop-in appointments at accessible locations in each of the six spatial areas 
identified in the Preferred Options (Skelmersdale and South-Eastern Parishes, 
Ormskirk and Aughton, Burscough and Central Parishes, Northern Parishes, 
Western Parishes and Eastern Parishes), so that they can ask questions of 
officers in relation to the Preferred Options and engage in a discussion with 
officers and other attendees about the Preferred Options, addressing key 
questions that the Council would like feedback on.  Officers will also hold 
sessions with Developers and other Stakeholders as necessary. 

 
7.4 However, as ever with statutory Local Plan consultations, the key method of 

individuals and stakeholders providing feedback will be in writing, and the 
Council will provide an online facility to enable people to make their comments on 
the Preferred Options at www.westlancs.gov.uk/LPR.  Responses will be able to 
be made in writing, for those who are unable to access online forms, and 
information on the Preferred Options and paper response forms will be made 
available at Council offices and libraries around the Borough, in line with the 
Council's Statement of Community Involvement. 

 
7.5 The feedback from this public consultation exercise will be considered as the 

Council refines the Local Plan Preferred Options into a Publication version of the 
Local Plan as it undertakes the next stage of preparation of the Local Plan. 

 
 
8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 A new Local Plan will clearly have effects on sustainability in West Lancashire 

(both positive and negative), and the SA Report discussed above shows that 
these issues have been considered carefully in preparing the Local Plan 
Preferred Options.  Ultimately, the SA identifies that, while there will be some 
significant negative environmental impacts due to the development of specific 
allocations, overall for the Borough as a whole, there will be sustainability 
benefits through the proposed Local Plan. 

 
 
9.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The costs and resources associated with the public consultation exercise 

required for the Local Plan Preferred Options consultation are covered by the 

Page 359

http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/LPR


Development and Regeneration Service’s revenue budgets and no additional 
costs are expected to be incurred. 

 
 
10.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
10.1 Given that the decision being considered only relates to whether the Council 

should publicly consult on the proposed Local Plan Preferred Options, there is 
minimal risk to the Council related to this decision.  However, the wider 
preparation of a Local Plan does carry some risks, be that related to the costs of 
abortive work if the Local Plan is ultimately found unsound or not legally 
compliant at the Examination stage or related to the image of the Council should 
any proposals within the Local Plan prove unpopular. 

 
10.2 However, the undertaking of public consultation such as that on the Local Plan 

Preferred Options minimises those risks due to the fact that carrying out such 
consultation ensures legal requirements are being met and that a robust Local 
Plan is being prepared and it ensures that all interested parties are being given 
an opportunity to make known their views to the Council for the Council to 
consider them in the preparation of the Local Plan.  While the latter mitigation 
may not ultimately prevent those upset with particular proposals from expressing 
their dissatisfaction to the Council, the Council will be able to support the fact that 
they have given all interested parties a fair hearing. 

 
 

 
 

Background Documents 
 
The following background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) have been relied upon in preparing this Report: 
 

 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of the Local Plan Preferred Options 

 Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening of the Local Plan Preferred 
Options 

 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
A Local Plan does have a direct impact on members of the public, employees, elected 
members and / or stakeholders.  In addition, the actual decision being made by Cabinet 
is whether to undertake a public consultation and so, again, there is an impact on the 
public and stakeholders.  Therefore, an Equality Impact Assessment is required and is 
appended at Appendix C. 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Scoping, Issues and Options Consultation Feedback Report and full set of 
submitted comments and Council responses 
 
Appendix B – Proposed Local Plan Preferred Options document 

Page 360



 
Appendix C – Equality Impact Assessment 
 
Appendix D – Minutes of Planning Committee (Cabinet and Executive Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee only) 
 
Appendix E – Minutes of Cabinet (Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee only) 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 361





 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

West Lancashire 

Local Plan Review 
 

Issues and Options 

 
Consultation 

Feedback Report 
 

June 2017 

John Harrison DipEnvP, MRTPI 

Director of Development and 

Regeneration 

Page 363



 

 

 

Page 364



West Lancashire Local Plan Review Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

 

 

Contents 
 

 

1. Introduction 1 

2. Scope of the Local Plan 5 

3. Representations on Strategic Development Policy Options 7 

4. Representations on Economic Policy Options 17 

5. Representations on Environmental Policy Options 27 

6. Representations on Social Policy Options 38 

7. Representations on Spatial Portrait 49 

8. Duty to Co-operate 53 

9. Developers’ Forum 56 

10. Questionnaire work 58 

• Edge Hill University  

• Skelmersdale College  

• Skelmersdale Concourse  

• Ormskirk Market  

11. Representations on other matters 62 

• Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Level 1)  

• Strategic Housing and Employment Land 

Availability Assessment 

• Sustainability Appraisal 

• General comments  

12.  Conclusions 65 

Appendix 1 Consultation Questions 67 

 

 

  

Page 365



West Lancashire Local Plan Review Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally left blank (formatted for double-sided printing) 

Page 366



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

1 

 

1.  Introduction 

1.1 This report summarises the responses West Lancashire Borough Council received to its 

consultation on the West Lancashire Local Plan Review: Issues and Options from 

Thursday 16 March to Friday 28 April 2017.  The full set of representations can be 

viewed on the Council’s website: 

http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/the-local-plan/local-plan-review.aspx 

 

The West Lancashire Local Plan Review 

1.2 The West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 was adopted in October 2013.  Work 

commenced on a review of the Local Plan in 2016, with the aim of adopting a new Plan 

by 2020.  The review was commenced, not because there was any problem with the 

West Lancashire Local Plan per se, but in order to reflect changes in national policy, to 

explore opportunities that may arise from projects in the wider area (for example, the 

Liverpool2 Deep Water Terminal that is likely to lead to a significant increase in 

container traffic, and that could stimulate jobs in logistics and distribution across the 

Region), and in order that a new plan be in place roughly halfway through the current 

Local Plan period, as is standard good practice. 

1.3 Various topic-based and place-based evidence papers were prepared from summer 

2016 onwards.  From these, the principal planning-related issues affecting West 

Lancashire were identified.  Consultation with Statutory Consultees took place on the 

scope of the Local Plan Review in autumn 2016.  Five issues and options papers were 

prepared late 2016 / early 2017, along with a set of supporting documents including a 

Sustainability Appraisal, Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Level 1), Habitats Regulations 

Assessment, Strategic Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment, 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan, and Housing and Economic Development Needs 

Assessment. 

1.4 The Local Plan Review Issues and Options papers comprised the following documents, 

reflecting the three tenets of sustainability (economic, environmental, social): 

• Strategic Development Options Paper – covering the vision and objectives of the 

Plan, length of Plan period, and amount and distribution of development 

• Economic Policy Options Paper – covering land for industrial / business / 

commercial uses,  the rural economy, and town centres 

• Environmental Policy Options Paper – covering nature conservation, renewable 

energy, climate change and design of development 

• Social Policy Options Paper – covering accommodation for students, older 

people, caravan and boat dwellers, travellers, and affordable housing 

• Spatial Portrait – a description of West Lancashire, and the planning-related 

issues 

1.5 Each of the above papers contained a series of questions about the various planning-

related issues covered, and policy options for addressing them.  These questions were 

the basis for consultation on the Local Plan Review: Issues and Options.  In addition, 

people were invited to comment on the scope of the Local Plan Review, and on the 

supporting documents referred to above.  

Page 367



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

2 

 

Compliance with the West Lancashire Statement of Community Involvement 

1.6 The West Lancashire Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) was adopted in June 

2016 (replacing the 2007 SCI).  This specifies what level and means of consultation 

should be undertaken when preparing a local plan.  The following extracts from the 

2016 SCI set out the consultation and feedback requirements for the Issues and Options 

stage: 

 

Table 2.1 Consultation during the preparation of a Development Plan Document (extract) 

Stage DPD 
Preparation 
Stage 

Regulation 
number

1
 

 

Purpose Consultation 
required? 

Publicity 
required? 

1 
Evidence 
gathering 

- 
To gather evidence in order to 
identify the issues and opportunities 
for development in the Borough 

As 
necessary 
for each 
element of 
evidence 

As 
necessary 
for each 
element of 
evidence 

2 Scoping Reg. 18 

To notify persons/groups of the 
subject of the DPD and invite them 
to make representations about what 
the DPD should contain 

Comments received will inform the 
preparation of the next stage 

Y Y 

3 
Issues and 
Options 
 

- 

To gather evidence on the issues 
and options for suggested policy 
directions and to undertake initial 
work on the Sustainability 
Appraisal.  

To notify persons/groups of the 
issues for the DPD and invite them 
to make representations on the 
issues and options 

If consulted upon, comments 
received will inform the preparation 
of the next stage 

Optional 
(i.e. not 
required by 
2012 
Regulations, 
but the 
Council may 
choose to 
consult at 
this stage) 

Optional 
(i.e. not 
required by 
2012 
Regulations, 
but the 
Council may 
choose to 
publicise at 
this stage) 

 

Table 2.2 Consultation on emerging DPDs  (extract) 

 
 
 
Method 

Stage of preparation of DPD 

Pre-Draft Consultation (Scoping) 
(Reg.18) 

Draft Consultation 
(Options / Preferred Options) 

(Optional) 

Website ✓ (✓) 
Email out (database) ✓ (✓) 
Mail out (database) ✓ (✓) 
On deposit ✓ (✓) 
Press release Optional Optional 

                                                           
1
 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 368



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

3 

 

 
 
 
Method 

Stage of preparation of DPD 

Pre-Draft Consultation (Scoping) 
(Reg.18) 

Draft Consultation 
(Options / Preferred Options) 

(Optional) 

Press notice Optional Optional 

Press advertisement Optional Optional 

Leaflets Optional Optional 

Neighbour letters N N 

Staffed exhibitions Optional Optional 

Unstaffed exhibitions Optional Optional 

Forums Optional Optional 

Drop-in sessions Optional Optional 

Social media Optional Optional 

Schools Optional Optional 

Groups consulted / 
notified 

Statutory, general and public. Statutory, general and public. 
Representors from previous stage. 

Duration Minimum 4 weeks Minimum 6 weeks 

Feedback Report 
produced 

Y Y 

 

2.1.4 How will we feed back the results? 
Following each round of consultation, the Council will prepare a Feedback Report (or 
Consultation Statement), which will summarise the issues raised through the representations, 
how the Council has responded to them and what has been changed in the DPD as a result of 
the comments.  This will be shared with Members to inform their decisions on the next stage of 
the DPD’s preparation, and will be published on the Council’s website.  The Council is not 
bound to respond to each individual submission / representation to the consultation. 

 

 

1.7 The six week consultation undertaken on the scope of the Local Plan Review (i.e. the 

‘Pre-Draft Consultation’ referred to in Tables 2.1 and 2.2 above) and on Issues and 

Options (part of Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012) met all of the ‘essential’ and many of the ‘optional’ 

requirements of the SCI.   

1.8 With reference to paragraph 2.1.4 of the SCI quoted above, it is important to point out 

that this Consultation Feedback Report does not contain the Borough Council’s 

responses to representations received (this will be done, where necessary, at a later 

date), but simply summarises the comments made by respondents. 

  

Page 369



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

4 

 

Consultation Methods Used 

1.9 Consultation methods used included a mailout to all people or organisations on the 

Council’s planning policy consultation database, the website, placing material on 

deposit in libraries and Council offices, a press release, press notice, a four page  

‘newspaper wrap’, leaflets (posted to all those who do not receive the free weekly 

newspaper), and on-street questionnaires (in Ormskirk town centre, Skelmersdale 

Concourse, Edge Hill University, and Skelmersdale College). 

1.10 Six public workshops were held across the Borough, at which people were invited to 

give their views on a series of selected questions, and / or on any other relevant topics 

of particular importance to them.  The workshops were as follows: 

27 March 2017 The Grove Community Centre, Burscough 

29 March  The Ecumenical Centre, Skelmersdale 

3 April     Parbold Women’s Institute 

6 April     Chapel Gallery, Ormskirk 

10 April    Halsall Memorial Hall 

12 April  Tarleton Academy 

1.11 In addition, a forum was held with Council Members on 8 March 2017, with Parish 

Councillors on 21 March, with (housing and commercial) developers and their agents on 

20 March, and a meeting was held with neighbouring local authorities under the ‘Duty 

to Co-operate” on 27 March. 

 

Structure of this Report 

1.12 This Consultation Feedback Report is structured as follows: 

• Representations on Scope of the Local Plan (Chapter 2) 

• Representations on Strategic Development Options (Chapter 3) – this summarises 

the comments received from the online questionnaire, from Borough Council 

Members (at the Members’ Forum), from Parish Councils, and at the public 

workshops; similarly with Chapters 4-6 below 

• Representations on Economic Policy Options (Chapter 4) 

• Representations on Environmental Policy Options (Chapter 5) 

• Representations on Social Policy Options (Chapter 6) 

• Representations on the Spatial Portrait (Chapter 7) 

• Comments made under the Duty to Co-operate (Chapter 8) 

• Comments made at Developers’ Forum (Chapter 9) 

• Responses to questionnaire work (Chapter 10) 

• Representations on other matters, e.g. Sustainability Appraisal, Strategic Flood Risk 

Assessment, Strategic Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment 

(Chapter 11) 

• Conclusions (Chapter 12) 

  

Page 370



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

5 

 

2. Scope of the Local Plan  

2.1 The Borough Council consulted with Statutory Consultees in autumn 2016 with regard 

to the content to the new Local Plan Review.  A copy of the feedback report for this 

consultation is available to download at http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/localplan. As 

part of the consultation on the Local Plan Review Issues and Options, the invitation to 

comment on the scope of the Plan was extended to the wider public and other 

stakeholders, in line with the 2016 Statement of Community Involvement. 

2.2 The purpose of this consultation was to ascertain views on what subjects and policies 

the Local Plan should contain.  15 stakeholders responded in total.  There was some 

cross-over between the comments submitted through the specific Scoping consultation 

and those made through the Issues and Options consultation. Therefore much of the 

summary below is repeated in later stages of this report.  

2.3 Respondents to the Scope of the Local Plan consultation considered that economic, 

environmental and social policies should be granted equal merit and importance.  

Nevertheless, key issues appeared to relate to infrastructure, the delivery of affordable 

housing, the availability of elderly housing, the sustainability of the environment, the 

protection of Green Belt and agricultural land, and minimising flood risk.  

2.4 Many respondents considered that infrastructure delivery should be of primary 

importance, including transport services, community services, health care and 

broadband provision.  Respondents, particularly those in rural areas, were concerned 

about the loss of rural services and employment opportunities as local businesses were 

commonly lost to residential developments. Polices for the protection and/or provision 

of small scale business units / development in local villages was supported. 

Respondents considered that improvements to transport infrastructure would also 

bring improvements to air quality and health.  

2.5 Large amounts of support were received for the delivery of affordable housing, 

particularly in rural areas, although some considered that the definitions of affordable 

housing (set by national, rather than local, policy) should be redefined as they currently 

cannot provide ‘truly affordable’ housing (i.e. housing at a cost marginally lower than 

market still does not make it affordable to many people).  Respondents also stressed 

the need for elderly housing, and/or the provision of support for the elderly to enable 

them to remain in their existing homes. The provision of support for the elderly links 

closely back to infrastructure and accessibility to social care and transport facilities.  

2.6 Sustainability and the environment were considered very important. Respondents want 

new buildings to be designed with energy conservation and the environment in mind 

and felt policies should require developers to provide renewable energy design features 

and respond to climate change.  In residential developments a mix of housing types and 

tenures is supported to provide choice.  Buildings should be of good design, location 

and quality.  Planners should continue to consider how developments impact on school 

places and respond accordingly. On residential developments, respondents wanted 

Page 371



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

6 

 

adequate parking to be provided by developers, including adequate garage sizes so that 

cars can be parked off-road. Traveller sites should be located away from flood risk 

zones.  

2.7 Respondents considered it important that the arable farmland in the Borough, as prime 

grade agricultural land, should be protected from development in order to provide food 

for the nation.  

2.8 Some respondents saw a need to encourage a more youthful and diverse population to 

live in the Borough, seizing on opportunities to engage with Edge Hill University and 

local employers. Conversely, others thought greater control should be placed on Edge 

Hill to prevent it expanding any further into the green belt and to reduce problems 

relating to HMOs and the loss of market housing in Ormskirk.  

2.9 There was support for policies which can serve to enhance cultural and community 

facilities.  Respondents suggested policies should be designed to address the erosion of 

town centres, considered to be created by a loss of retail mix, too many low cost 

retailers and high rents for shop units.   

2.10 Some respondents wanted the issue of gridlocked traffic in Ormskirk to be addressed. 

There was support for the provision of off-road pedestrian and cycle routes to provide 

an alternative to car use, ensuring they link to new housing developments, which can 

also serve to improve physical activity and exercise. 

2.11 Some respondents identified the growth agenda of the wider Liverpool City Region, and 

the role of West Lancashire within it, as an important issue.  It was stressed that within 

the City Region there are growth opportunities for the Borough which, in turn, could 

help to tackle many of the issues that have been identified for the Borough.  It was 

considered important to have a balanced and sustainable development approach that 

can integrate land use and transport, regeneration and economic development, social 

inclusion and tackle climate change. 

  

Page 372



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

7 

 

3. Representations on Strategic Development Policy Options 

3.1 This chapter summarises the representations made on the questions relating to the 

Strategic Development Policy Options.  For this chapter, and for chapters 4-6 following, 

comments received on the online questionnaire are summarised first, followed by 

comments made by Members at the Members’ Forum (see 1.11 above), comments 

made by Parish Councils, and comments made at the public workshops (see 1.10).  For 

clarity, any Parish Council comments submitted via the online survey are recorded in 

the ‘Feedback from Parish Councils’ section, rather than the ‘Feedback from Online 

Surveys / Written Representations’ section.  Comments from neighbouring authorities 

are summarised in Chapter 8: Duty to Co-Operate, rather than in Chapters 3-6. 

3.2 The Strategic Development Policy Options questions
2
 covered the following matters: 

• The draft Vision 

• The draft Objectives 

• Required annual amounts of development 

• The plan period 

• The sub-division of West Lancashire into ‘spatial areas’ 

• Distribution of development around the Borough 

• Location of new development in relation to existing development 

• Infrastructure 

 

Feedback from Online Surveys / Written Representations 

7. A draft Vision for West Lancashire  

The Vision
3
 is what the Council would like to see achieved for West Lancashire, based on 

the current evidence available.   What do you think of the draft Vision for the Local Plan? 

Does it cover all it needs to? Is it aiming for the right improvements? 

 

3.3 31 out of a total 45 respondents
4
 supported or broadly supported the Vision.  One 

described it as ‘idealistic’; another said it should be more aspirational.  A number of 

additions were recommended to the Vision, including (greater) reference to farming 

and food production / the food processing sector, renewable energy, living within one’s 

environmental means, sustainable travel, carbon-neutral development, the historic 

environment (in addition to historic buildings), accommodation for the elderly, meeting 

housing needs in full, helping meet neighbouring authorities’ needs, quality family 

accommodation, retaining a skilled workforce, economic development and growth 

                                                           
2
 Three questions relating to the Spatial Portrait (questions 4-6) were included in the ‘Strategic Development 

Options’ document; responses to these questions these have been summarised in Chapter 7 (Spatial Portrait) of 

this Feedback Report. 
3
 See Appendix 1 for the Vision. 

4
 The 45 respondents exclude Parish Councils and neighbouring authorities: their representations are considered 

elsewhere (Parish Councils in a separate section in this chapter, neighbouring authorities in Chapter 8). 

Page 373



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

8 

 

being a key priority, growing the smaller settlements, the Northern Parishes as a 

location for growth, and Green Belt release. 

3.4 One respondent recommended that the Vision contain specific ambitions for each of 

the key spatial areas; another recommended that the word ‘fantastic’ be removed. 

 

8. Objectives 

Are the draft Objectives
5
 seeking to achieve the right things? Are they specific enough, 

or are they too detailed? Have we missed anything out? 

 

3.5 19 of the 39 respondents who commented on this question expressed general support 

for the Objectives as a whole.  Others highlighted support for individual Objectives, in 

particular Objective 6 (housing).  One respondent described the objectives as ‘complex’, 

whilst four others considered they were lacking in detail, too vague to inform how the 

Vision would be delivered.  One described them as ‘anodyne’, applicable to anywhere, 

and recommended that they be made more West Lancashire-specific.  One stated the 

Plan could not solve many issues of health and inequality; another stated the Objectives 

were admirable, but would fail.  Two advised that the Objectives should be more 

aspirational and pro-growth.  Only one disagreed with the Objectives as a whole. 

3.6 A number of changes were proposed to individual Objectives, as follows: 

• Add ‘sustainable’ to Objectives 3,6,7 and 10; 

• [Conversely…] refer to the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

rather than ‘sustainability’ (Objective 1); 

• Refer specifically to flood risk, either in Objective 3 or 10; 

• Add ‘family housing’ to Objective 6; 

• Objective 7 should include the retention of existing businesses, and should be 

worded more positively  in terms of the Borough’s wider economic role; 

• Objective 10 should refer to ‘ecological networks’ (alternative wording suggested); 

• Add an Objective 11 supporting the agricultural and food processing industry; 

• A ‘stand-alone’ Objective should be provided on the historic environment. 

 

  

                                                           
5
 See Appendix 1 for the Objectives. 

Page 374



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

9 

 

9. Strategic Development Options  

Which option for the amount of housing and employment land development required 

per year do you think is the most appropriate for West Lancashire?  Why? 

A: Approximately 8 ha of land (for 200 dwellings) and 2 ha of employment land  

B: Approximately 12 ha of land (for 300 dwellings) and 3 ha of employment land  

C: Approximately 16 ha of land (for 400 dwellings) and 4 ha of employment land  

D: Approximately 20 ha of land (for 500 dwellings) and 5 ha of employment land  

E: Approximately 24 ha of land (for 600 dwellings) and 6 ha of employment land 

 

3.7 The 48 responses to this question spanned the whole range of options.  13 individuals 

expressed a preference for Options A and / or B, citing the need to protect Green Belt 

and the Borough’s prime agricultural land, to meet only this Borough’s needs, and to 

maximise use of brownfield land.  Agents responding on behalf of landowner or 

developer clients favoured the higher options – 11 expressed a preference for Option C 

or above, 4 (plus 2 individuals) for Option D or above, and 7 for Option E.  The reasons 

given for the support for the higher figures were to follow national policy to ‘boost 

significantly’ the supply of housing, to be ambitious and promote economic growth, to 

aim to meet affordable housing needs, and to help meet the needs of constrained 

neighbours in the Liverpool City Region.  Many respondents referred to the SHELMA 

and reserved the right to make further comments once this study, and with it a clearer 

picture on the need for inter-Borough development distributions, becomes available. 

 

10. The Local Plan Period 

We are considering two time periods for the Local Plan: 

• Option I - 2012 to 2037 

• Option II - 2012 to 2050  

Should the Council go for a standard Plan Period or plan longer term? Why? 

 

3.8 With regard to the plan period, 48 responses were received. 20 supported a ‘standard’ 

plan period going to 2037; 19 supported a longer plan period.  The remainder advised a 

‘hybrid approach’ whereby land was allocated to meet development needs to 2037, and 

further land was safeguarded to meet needs to 2050, thereby removing the need to 

alter Green Belt boundaries at the end of the Plan period (which would be the case for 

both a 2037 and 2050 end date for the Plan).  Advocates of this approach cited national 

policy (NPPF paragraph 85) and the 2016 findings of the Local Plans Expert Group to 

support their choice of option. 

3.9 Reasons for favouring the standard, or shorter, plan period included the need to be 

flexible, the fact that 2050 was well beyond the end of the available evidence base, and 

that matters are very difficult to predict in the long term given things change quickly.  

Reasons for advocating the longer plan period included the need for certainty and the 

long timescales needed to achieve regeneration and to influence climate change. 

Page 375



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

10 

 

3.10 One response expressed concern at the 2012 base date, recommending 2017 instead. 

11. Distributing the development requirements across West Lancashire 

(A map was provided showing the proposed subdivision of the Borough into spatial 

areas.)   Are the proposed spatial areas appropriate
6
? If not, how should the Borough be 

divided up to help identify where development should go? 

 

3.11 Of the 26 stakeholders who commented on Question 11, 18 supported the proposed 

key spatial areas.  The requested changes to, or additional comments on, the 

subdivision of the Borough were: 

• Up Holland should be considered separately from Skelmersdale; 

• Aughton should be considered separately from Ormskirk (although another 

respondent expressed the opposite view); 

• Appley Bridge should be considered with Wigan rather than the Eastern Parishes; 

• Newburgh and Parbold should be considered as part of Skelmersdale and the South 

Eastern Parishes; 

• It is important to recognise the ‘synergy’ between the different spatial areas, and 

that they do not operate independently. 

 

12. Distribution of new development  

We have identified four realistic potential scenarios that we might wish to take forward: 

• Scenario 1: Spread new development around West Lancashire according to 

the proportionate size of existing towns and villages.  

• Scenario 2: Focus new development in and around the key service centres of 

Skelmersdale, Ormskirk and Burscough  

• Scenario 3: Allocate less development to the key service centres and more to 

the rural areas such as the Northern Parishes.  

• Scenario 4: Focus development on Skelmersdale; grow Skelmersdale 

significantly more than the other key service centres. 

Which scenario for the distribution of housing and employment land requirements 

around the Borough is most appropriate? Why? Would you prefer a completely different 

option or distribute development differently in any way? 

 

3.12 In terms of the general distribution of development around the Borough, opinions 

varied widely amongst the 51 stakeholders who commented.  4 supported Option 1 

(reflect the current distribution), one representation referring specifically to Ormskirk’s 

size; 15 chose Option 2 (Key Service Centres) citing the existence of infrastructure in 

those locations as a reason to direct development there; 3 chose Option 3 (rural focus) 

– although (see below) others supported more development in rural communities; 13 

preferred Option 4 (Skelmersdale focus), citing the existence of infrastructure there, 

                                                           
6
 See Appendix 1 for the map of proposed spatial areas. 

Page 376



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

11 

 

and the need for regeneration.  In addition, 9 respondents advocated a ‘hybrid’ 

approach, most notably a combination of Options 2 and 3. 

3.13 Other points made in response to Question 12 included: 

• There should be flexibility in allowing development to come forward in different 

areas, once the spatial distribution is finalised; 

• Delivering high levels of growth in Skelmersdale will be challenging; 

• Priority should be given to brownfield sites and minimising Green Belt release; 

• In terms of minimising settlements merging, any Green Belt release should be 

between Ormskirk and Southport, reflecting links between these two settlements. 

 

13. The location of new development 

Where should new development be located in principle?  

• Option 1: Maximise the capacity of existing settlements by prioritising infill 

developments within built-up areas or by building higher 

• Option 2: Locate new development adjacent to existing settlements to reduce 

the need to travel and reduce emission. 

• Option 3: Create brand new settlements with the necessary associated 

infrastructure 

• Option 4: Entirely restrict new development in areas at risk of flooding 

Are there any key constraints (such as flood risk) which would mean development should 

be severely limited in the areas affected by those constraints? 

 

3.14 Question 13 received 51 responses.  14 expressed a preference for Option 1 (restricting 

new development to existing settlements), 19 for Option 2 (building on the edge of 

existing settlements), and 4 for Option 3 (new settlement).  16 agreed with Option 4 

(avoid development on land at risk of flooding), bearing in mind this option was not 

mutually exclusive with any of Options 1-3.  In addition, 10 respondents advocated a 

hybrid of Options 1 and 2, i.e. developing suitable sites within existing settlements as 

the starting point, then meeting the remainder of the development requirements on 

land adjacent to settlements. 

3.15 Other pertinent points made in relation to Question 13 were as follows: 

• Option 1 is predicated on the need to ensure suitable sites exist within settlements; 

• Amend Option 1 to include prioritising infill / high rise on underutilised land; 

• Whatever approach is chosen, this should not preclude the development of other 

suitable sites where these are available; 

• Option 2 should consider non-Green Belt land (Protected Land) before Green Belt 

land; 

• One respondent referred to a study that concluded that for new settlements, it 

typically takes 5.5 years for development to commence; 

Page 377



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

12 

 

• In terms of flood risk, the Environment Agency advised inter alia that development 

on land free from flood risk could adversely affect other land at risk of flooding.  

Two respondents expressed the view that a blanket approach (Option 4) could be 

unsuitable in that it may preclude consideration of certain suitable sites where the 

flood risk could readily be mitigated satisfactorily. 

 

14. Providing infrastructure and services  

In your experience, what are the infrastructure and transport constraints in the areas of 

West Lancashire that you live, work and spend leisure time in?  Where is infrastructure 

and transport well-provided for in West Lancashire and in what way? 

 

3.16 Infrastructure provision was raised as a crucial issue by several respondents.  The main 

areas of deficiency mentioned were transport-related:  public transport, in particular 

bus and rail services, with the lack of a rail station at Skelmersdale cited several times.  

The road network was mentioned, both in general terms, as well as more specific areas, 

including Hesketh Lane (Tarleton), and Burscough. It was recommended that road 

safety be taken into consideration in the Plan.  Other areas of deficiency included 

secondary education in Skelmersdale, water supply (Tarleton), drainage and sewerage 

(Burscough in particular), and the lack of a strategic approach to Green Infrastructure. 

3.17 In terms of good infrastructure provision, examples given were the road network in and 

adjacent to Skelmersdale, and the Borough's links to the motorway network.  Other 

points made in relation to infrastructure included: 

• New development can help provide infrastructure (developer contributions); 

• One can take into account infrastructure provision in neighbouring authority areas, 

for example Sefton; 

• Spreading development on small sites should lessen the need for infrastructure 

provision; 

• Land use planning and transport should be integrated. 

 

Feedback from West Lancashire Borough Council Members 

3.18 As stated in Chapter 1, a Members’ Forum was held on 8 March, asking West Lancashire 

Borough Councillors a number of the Issues and Options consultation questions in 

discussion groups.  Under the Strategic Development Options, Members were asked 

Questions 9, 10, 12, 13, and 14. 

3.19 In terms of annual development targets (Question 9), some Members favoured the 

highest option (Option E: 600 houses, 6ha of employment land) per year, aiming for 

ambitious growth in the Borough.  Others chose Option B, citing constraints such as 

land at risk of flooding, and infrastructure capacity. 

3.20 Some Members expressed a preference for the longer plan period (2012-2050), seeking 

to plan ahead to encourage investment, regeneration and infrastructure provision.  

Page 378



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

13 

 

Others preferred the standard plan period (to 2037), one reason being to reduce the 

amount of Green Belt land that could potentially be released. 

3.21 For Question 12 (distribution of development across the Borough), the vast majority of 

Members preferred Option 4: Skelmersdale focus, in order to deliver regeneration and 

a rail station for Skelmersdale.  Some Members also favoured a strategic site at 

Ormskirk, and others favoured rural employment. 

3.22 In terms of the location of new development in relation to existing development, most 

Members chose Option 2: Building on the edge of existing settlements.  The view was 

expressed that a small amount of Green Belt could be sacrificed to protect green space 

and parks within settlements, with the proviso that the sites released should be small, 

and the locations of Green Belt release determined in accordance with local 

infrastructure capacity.  ‘Garden City’ principles were supported by a number of 

Members. 

3.23 As far as infrastructure deficiencies were concerned, Members highlighted public 

transport issues including the need for improved rail facilities (Skelmersdale, and the 

Burscough Curves), the road system – in particular in Ormskirk and Burscough Centres 

and on the A5209 (Burscough - M6), Skelmersdale Town Centre shops and its evening 

economy, the physical environment of estates in Skelmersdale, and wastewater 

treatment capacity. 

 

Feedback from Parish Councils 

3.24 As stated in paragraph 1.11 above, Parish Councils were invited to a consultation forum 

/ workshop on 21 March 2017, at which a number of issues and options were discussed.  

Representatives from 8 Parish Councils attended (Aughton, Bickerstaffe, Burscough, 

Downholland, Halsall, Lathom, Newburgh and Up Holland).  Online representations 

were made by 7 Parish Councils (Aughton, Burscough, Dalton, Halsall, Lathom, 

Scarisbrick, Up Holland), meaning that a total of 10 Parish Councils engaged with the 

Issues and Options consultation. 

3.25 For the Vision (consultation question 7), only two comments were made.  Halsall Parish 

Council (HPC) advised that the Vision should emphasise rural employment, affordable 

accommodation for the elderly, and 1-2 bed ‘first time’ homes.  Up Holland Parish 

Council (UPC) considered there was too much emphasis on housing, and not enough on 

rural land uses and the environment. 

3.26 In terms of the Objectives (question 8), two comments were made:    HPC considered 

the Objectives needed more detail as to how they would be achieved and address 

specific issues.  UPC stated the titles were reasonable, but definitions were open to 

interpretation, in particular ‘sustainable development’, in which the economic aspect 

often appeared to outweigh the social and environmental aspects in decision-making. 

Page 379



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

14 

 

3.27 For question 9 (amounts of development), four Parish Councils (PCs) responded. UPC 

and Burscough PC chose Option A: 200 houses / 2ha employment land.  BPC’s view was 

that the Borough should take the minimum amount of development it is allowed to, 

referring to 2015 Government Select Committee material on the interpretation of the 

term ‘sustainable development’ (see also 3.26 above).  Lathom PC’s choice was similar 

to Option B: 300 houses / 3-4ha employment land.  HPC chose Option C: 400 houses / 

4ha employment land, in order to respond to housing and employment land needs.   

3.28 For the plan period (question 10), five PCs responded, four choosing 2037 and one 

choosing 2050.  The reasons for a shorter plan period were that this would lessen the 

threat of Green Belt release, would be more realistic and provide more flexibility in an 

ever-changing environment, and that 2050 was too far in the future to plan for.  The 

reason for choosing the longer period was to give stability. 

3.29 Two PCs commented on the subdivision of West Lancashire into spatial areas (question 

11).  HPC agreed with the proposed subdivision. UPC considered that it did not reflect 

the current and historical pattern of Up Holland in relation to Skelmersdale, and that it 

was not understood why the two settlements should be considered as one. 

3.30 There were three comments on the scenarios for the distribution of development 

(question 12). HPC and UPC preferred Scenario 1: Reflecting existing development 

patterns.  UPC added that there should be minimal new development in Up Holland.  

Burscough PC’s choice was Scenario 4: Skelmersdale focus, along with development on 

the south side of Ormskirk, with links to Merseyside and the motorway network. 

3.31 For question 13 (location of new development in relation to existing), HPC and UPC 

chose Option 1: accommodating new development within existing settlements.  Dalton 

PC did not choose an option, but advised that safeguarded land should remain 

safeguarded in the next Local Plan.  At the PC Forum, the general consensus was that 

new places require entirely new infrastructure so it is better to keep existing 

settlements vibrant and sustainable by allowing some new development. However, 

development should be small scale and an incremental approach would be better. 

3.32 In terms of infrastructure deficiencies and strengths, the comments from the PC Forum 

meeting were as follows: 

• Rural public transportation – bus services have been withdrawn, and the future is 

looking bleak.  There is a need for a sustainable rural transportation system that 

works for different age groups.  As the population ages, dependency upon public 

transport increases; 

• The road network is under stress; the condition of roads is very poor in places, not 

being designed for the size of vehicles using them; 

• Rail does not serve all areas; the Up Holland line is single track and hourly.  A rail 

link to Skelmersdale will improve matters; 

• Bickerstaffe is one of the 3% of areas that does not have broadband access. 

3.33 Individual Parish Council comments made online are summarised as follows: 

Page 380



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

15 

 

• BPC:  Concerns about surface water and sewer flooding; 

• HPC: Concerns about rural (moss) roads; bus services (e.g. Shirdley Hill now has 

none); drainage provision, leading to localised sewage flooding; 

• UPC: rail services for Up Holland are poor; investment is needed in environmental 

corridors, walkways and cycleways. 

 

Feedback from Public Workshops 

Infrastructure 

3.34 The following infrastructure-related issues were raised consistently Borough-wide:  

• The condition, capacity, and use of the road network – people referred to pot-holes, 

crumbling or sinking roads, traffic congestion at certain points or times of day, and 

large vehicles on unsuitable rural lanes or passing through settlements; 

• Public transport -  a lack of, or cuts to, bus services, especially in rural areas; lack of, 

or limited availability of, evening bus services; limited availability of rail services, 

some areas having no rail access, others having infrequent services; 

• Parking – in town or village centres, or at stations; 

• Retail provision – people needed to, or tended to, visit neighbouring authorities for 

certain types of retail. 

3.35 Area-specific infrastructure issues may be summarised as follows: 

• Burscough – drainage and sewerage capacity; traffic issues (A59 / A5209 through 

Burscough, and on moss roads); 

• Eastern Parishes – traffic on rural roads, including A5209; limited parking at Parbold 

and Appley Bridge stations; 

• Northern Parishes – traffic congestion through Tarleton and Hesketh Bank, 

unsuitable vehicles (HGVs) on rural roads; water pressure; 

• Ormskirk – parking issues, relating to local and University traffic; traffic congestion 

in and around the Town Centre; 

• Skelmersdale – lack of sports and leisure facilities; poor evening / night-time 

economy; quality of education provision, e.g. no A-levels offered at college, quality 

of secondary schools. 

Location of new development 

3.36 The matter of where, in general, new development should be located in relation to 

what already exists, and the related matter of Green Belt release, were discussed at 

each workshop.  The following points were made: 

• On the whole, people were not supportive of significant amounts of new 

development on large sites, but would accept small-scale sites on the edges of 

settlements, provided it was meeting a local need, e.g. affordable / old persons / 

‘downsizer’ / first-time buyer properties, and not a wider need; 

• Prime agricultural land should be protected from development; 

Page 381



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

16 

 

• Green Belt land should only be used as a last resort; 

• Infrastructure must be provided in advance of new development. 

  

Page 382



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

17 

 

4. Representations on Economic Policy Options 

4.1 This chapter summarises the representations made relating to the seven questions on 

Economic Policy Options, which covered the following: 

• Providing new employment land 

• Policy for existing employment areas 

• The rural economy 

• The network and hierarchy of town, village and local centres 

• Ensuring healthy town, village and local centres 

• Sites for town centre uses 

• Any other economic policy issues 

4.2 In addition, relevant responses were received in relation to the 'catch-all' question 37: 

Do you have any general comments to make on the Issues and Options consultation? 

 

Feedback from Online Surveys / Written Representations 

4.3 A total of 56 responses were received to one or more of the Economic Policy Options 

questions (including 4 responses under the general question 37) from members of the 

public and other stakeholders via the online surveys and paper representation forms. 

15. Land for employment uses 

Which policy option or options for how we should allocate land for employment sites do 

you think is the most appropriate for West Lancashire?  

1. Allocate sites specifically for strategic distribution and warehousing. 

2. Allocate sites to encourage geographical clusters of specialist employment uses. 

3. Allocate all new sites for the range of business class uses. 

4. Increase town centre office sites. 

Why? Is there an alternative option? 

 

4.4 34 responses were received in relation to question 15; these included 4 comments from 

Parish Councils, dealt with separately under the Feedback from Parish Councils section 

below
7
. 

4.5 These options are not mutually exclusive and more than one approach could be taken 

forward in combination in the emerging Local Plan. 11 respondents considered that a 

combination of options would be required in the emerging Local Plan to enable the 

allocation of an appropriate employment land portfolio. Option 1 (5 responses) was the 

most popular of the responses to any single option, followed by Option 2 (4 responses) 

with Options 3 and 4 registering just one favourable response each.  One respondent 

                                                           
7
 This is the case for all questions in this section, and also in Chapters 3 and 5 of this Feedback Report. 

Page 383



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

18 

 

expressed the view that none of the options were suitable and put forward an 

individual site for employment uses instead.  

4.6 Other comments made in relation to question 15 can be summarised as follows: 

• Local businesses should be supported; 

• Light industries should be retained in villages; 

• More skilled employment is needed in the Borough; 

• In connection with Edge Hill University, Ormskirk would be a good location for 

specialist employment uses; 

• There are already a number of vacant warehouses in Skelmersdale and poor 

transport for the local workforce; 

• Strategic warehousing should be located more widely than the M58 corridor / 

Skelmersdale; 

• The view of traditional 'employment' jobs has changed and there is a growing job 

market around sport that needs to be considered. 

  

16.  Existing Employment Areas 

What kind of protection do you think the Local Plan should give existing Employment 

Areas?  Why?  Is there an alternative option? 

1. Continue with the existing Local Plan policy approach. 

2. Protect all existing employment areas for business class uses. 

3. Designate selected employment areas for non-business class uses. 

4. Do not protect employment areas for business class uses. 

 

4.7 21 responses were received to this question.  15 responses could be directly related to 

the 4 options, with other comments also being of relevance.  

4.8 Option 1 (9 responses) was by far the most popular with a smaller amount of support in 

relation to Options 2 (3 responses), 3 (2 responses) and 4 (1 response) respectively.  The 

support for Option 4 was under circumstances where there would be no demand for an 

employment site.  Other comments made in relation to question 16 are as follows: 

• There should be a more vigorous consideration of viability than at present before 

alternative, non-employment uses should be allowed on employment sites; 

• Sites that no longer meet business needs should be considered for alternative 

development; 

• Jobs are being created in sports. Some protection of employment sites is required 

but it should depend upon employment and training opportunities created; 

• Other (non-business class) uses need to be accommodated in employment areas, 

potentially in combination with extending those areas; 

• Some employment uses are “bad neighbours” due to noise, pollution or traffic and 

are not suitable to be in close proximity to housing. 

Page 384



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

19 

 

17. The Rural Economy 

What do you think about the policy options for supporting the rural economy?  Is there 

an alternative option? 

1. Continue with the existing Local Plan policy. 

2. Increased development in rural areas. 

3. A tourism and visitor economy policy.   

 

4.9 27 responses were received in relation to question 17.  Options 1 and 2 are mutually 

exclusive, but Option 3 could be combined with either of those approaches. There was 

a relatively even distribution of preferences:  Option 3 was the most popular (7 

responses) with Options 1 and 2 both receiving support from 5 respondents. A further 

two responses advocated a combined approach of Options 1 and 3.   

4.10 Other relevant comments in relation to question 17 are as follows: 

• There is a need to support small work units and farm enterprises;  

• Increased rural development would be more likely to result in people being able to 

live where they were brought up; 

• Rural areas require increased packing and distribution businesses; however, good 

highway access would be required; 

• An approach based upon tourism and the visitor economy would be more 

sustainable over the medium to long term compared the currently unsustainable 

practices of agricultural drainage and ploughing; 

• In connection with tourism, the Borough has unique potential in terms of wildlife 

sites, waterways, the Tawd Valley and the Cloughs of Skelmersdale; 

• Concern over the failure to deliver business development in rural areas as part of 

mixed use schemes including housing. 

 

18. Network and Hierarchy of Centres 

Do you have any comments in relation to the Network and Hierarchy of Centres in the 

Local Plan? 

 

4.11 There being only one 'Option' under this question, only 10 responses were received.  

There was most support for the review of the hierarchy. Specific comments in relation 

to the network and hierarchy of centres were: 

• The hierarchy should be flexible enough to take into account that some areas, e.g. 

Skelmersdale, need significant increases of activities associated with town centres; 

• Support for the continued growth of centres within the hierarchy; 

• Review the hierarchy as small village centres are failing; 

• Some respondents confused centre hierarchies with settlement hierarchies. 

  

Page 385



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

20 

 

19. Ensuring Healthy Town, Village and Local Centres 

Do you support any of the options for Ensuring Healthy Town, Village and Local Centres:  

1. Review town centre, village and local centre boundaries. 

2. Review Primary Shopping Area boundaries. 

3. Review the policy approach to determining appropriate uses in town centres. 

If so, why?  Is there an alternative option? 

 

4.12 22 responses were received in relation to question 19.   The three Options are not 

mutually exclusive and could be combined. There was greatest support for Option 3 (6 

positive responses) followed by Option 1 (5 responses).  Whilst Option 2 received just 

one response, 5 respondents advocated support for a mix of options which included 

option 2.  Therefore, it can be concluded that there was broad support for the review of 

centre boundaries, Primary Shopping Area boundaries and the policy approach for uses 

in town centres.   

4.13 Other comments received can be summarised as follows: 

• A Primary Shopping Area should be identified for Skelmersdale and the site recently 

granted planning permission for town centre uses should be included within it. 

• Conversely, the Concourse Shopping Centre is vulnerable and in need of protection 

and the site granted planning permission for town centre uses outside the 

Concourse should be excluded from being within the town centre boundary. 

• Centres are changing due to changing shopping and leisure habits and therefore 

policy needs to be flexible. There has been a loss of retail and growth of cafes, bars 

and charity shops, particularly in Ormskirk town centre. 

• The existing policy to retain a minimum percentage of A1 (retail) uses is not 

supported.  

• There is support for mixed and diverse town centres beyond Primary Shopping 

Areas; retail should be allowed to change to cafes, bars etc. Housing should be 

allowed in large village centres. 

• The policy option to consider appropriate uses in town centres could be used to 

contribute towards healthy town centres and tackle health indicators associated 

with obesity and alcohol consumption.   

 

Page 386



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

21 

 

20. Sites for Town Centre Uses 

Do we need to allocate Sites for Town Centre Uses within West Lancashire in the Local 

Plan?  If so, which option do you think is most appropriate and why?  Is there an 

alternative option?  The Options are: 

1. Adopted Local Plan approach – Skelmersdale concentration. 

2. Allocate sites for town centre uses at Ormskirk. 

3. Allocate a non-town centre site for a retail warehouse park. 

4. Allocate a site to meet retail needs in the north of the Borough. 

 

4.14 Of the 21 responses received on question 20, 18 (86%) could be directly related to the 4 

Options.  The Options are not mutually exclusive; however the degree of concentration 

under Option 1 would affect emphasis upon Options 2 and 4. There was clear support 

for Option 1 (11 positive responses), with the only other support for a single Option 

being Option 4 (1 response).  However, 6 responses advocated a mix of options 

including the selection of Option 2 (Ormskirk) and Option 4 (north of the Borough).  

There was virtually no support for option 3.  

4.15 Other comments received can be summarised as follows: 

• There has been substantial leakage of comparison goods expenditure from the 

Borough. The case for retail development and other town centre uses in 

Skelmersdale remains clear. 

• Make Skelmersdale town centre the priority for investment. 

• Develop Ormskirk as a market town with a distinctive mix of smaller shops and 

offices. 

• Out of centre retail parks are not a sustainable solution and the Borough does not 

need more of them. 

 

21. Other Economic Policy Issues 

Are there any other economic policy issues that should also be considered? 

 If so, what? 

 

4.16 31 responses were received to this question, of which several were reallocated, being 

more pertinent to questions 15-20.  The remainder can be summarised as follows: 

• The balance between jobs and new homes is critical; 

• Invest in small and medium sized enterprises to prevent settlements becoming 

dormitories; 

• Existing light industrial zones such as Pimbo should be given priority in attracting 

new and varied businesses including hi-tech; 

• Site requirements to meet expansion needs of a particular business were outlined; 

Page 387



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

22 

 

• There is a need to attract and create a more highly skilled workforce and attract 

better quality jobs. There should be partnership working with educational 

establishments creating more work placements; 

• Consider deprivation statistics when preparing Preferred Options.  Economic growth 

is a means of addressing persistent unemployment and income deprivation. Access 

to employment, education and training should be a key consideration; 

• A comprehensive masterplan is needed for Skelmersdale town centre. This should 

include the Concourse shopping centre; 

• The economic value of the Borough’s natural capital needs to be addressed; 

• Waterways create a sense of place. A linear park along the River Tawd should 

positively impact on the visitor economy; 

• There was no mention of the potential impact of flooding on the area’s agricultural 

and horticultural economy in the Economy Paper. This should tie with the 

Environment Paper where it is considered;  

• The threat of flooding to the rural economy has not been identified. It is important 

to understand how agriculture integrates into the wider economies of the Borough 

and Lancashire. 

4.17 10 relevant responses were received in relation to the 'catch-all' question 37, of which 

six were reallocated and considered under questions 15-20.  Other comments were: 

• Shale gas should be encouraged; 

• A vital opportunity to reconfigure and improve out of date industrial estates was 

missed by the Adopted Local Plan; 

• Existing employment sites could be reconfigured to provide housing and boost the 

local economy. 

4.18 In addition, a small number of potential economic development sites were put forward. 

 

Feedback from West Lancashire Borough Council Members 

4.19 The Members’ workshop considered 5 questions from the Economy Policy Options 

Paper (nos. 15, 16, 17, 19 and 20).  In relation to question 15, the allocation of land for 

employment purposes, views expressed can be summarised as follows: 

• The M58 corridor and Skelmersdale was seen as a good development opportunity 

given access to wider road networks. However, there were concerns that 

warehousing would provide lower quality jobs at lower job densities. 

• Estates at Burscough were also viewed as suitable employment locations but 

accessibility needed to be improved.  

• Links with Edge Hill University and other business and educational providers needed 

to be improved to develop skills and employment opportunities. Students needed 

to be retained through the creation of jobs locally. 

• Business start-ups / incubator units would be desirable for Ormskirk and rural areas.  

Page 388



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

23 

 

• There were conflicting views about whether a logistics opportunity to transfer 

agricultural produce from smaller to larger vehicle would be feasible. 

4.20 In relation to question 16, existing employment areas, views expressed were that there 

could be scope for the expansion of, or creation of, another Skelmersdale Investment 

Centre type development but other services would be required to go alongside this 

type of out of centre development. The need to address the poor design of some 

estates in Skelmersdale e.g. Gillibrands East and West was also raised. 

4.21 Under Question 17 (rural economy), discussions were that low cost offices could be 

developed and some farm buildings had been successfully converted to business use. 

4.22 Question 19, ensuring healthy town, village and local centres, discussions were that the 

current policy restricting uses along town centre frontages should be relaxed but that in 

so doing inactive frontages should be avoided. 

4.23 In relation to question 20, sites for town centre uses, views were that the night time 

economy needed to be developed, particularly at Skelmersdale. Additional discussions 

were that Burscough and the Northern Parishes do not have the infrastructure to 

accommodate additional retail development and that it would be desirable to get retail 

back into Ormskirk centre. 

 

Feedback from Parish Councils 

4.24 The Parish Council Workshop considered 3 questions from the Economy Policy Options 

Paper (questions 15, 16 and 19).  

4.25 Feedback in relation to question 15 (the allocation of land for employment purposes), 

indicated that Skelmersdale was a suitable location for logistics uses and that there was 

no purpose in locating such uses in areas with poor links to the strategic road network. 

In relation to other specialist uses, incubator units were considered to be desirable.   

4.26 Views in relation to question 16 (existing employment areas), were that allowing 

residential development on business sites (especially in villages) was not good practice 

as it was important to retain local business and jobs.  Skelmersdale Investment Centre 

was viewed as a good facility with potential for expansion.   

4.27 Question 19 feedback, particularly in relation to the uses allowed in town centres, was 

that allowing change of ‘town centre’ uses to residential would result in a loss for the 

wider community. However, changes of use from residential to commercial should be 

supported in principle.  It is questionable whether vacant units in Ormskirk town centre 

will be able to attract new retail businesses. Given the growth in internet shopping 

there may be less need of ‘bricks and mortar’ retail.   

4.28 Written responses were also received from four Parish Councils in relation to the Local 

Plan Issues and Options public consultation. Comments in relation to question 15, the 

allocation of land for employment purposes, can be summarised as follows. 

Page 389



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

24 

 

• Preferences were expressed for Options 1 (strategic distribution and warehousing), 

2 (geographical clusters of specialist uses) and 3 (allocate for the range of B class 

uses). The distribution of sites by the adopted Local Plan was also considered 

suitable, provided account could also be taken of rural and tourism opportunities; 

• A flexible policy approach is needed given uncertainty in relation to future business 

requirements but change of use from business to housing should not be allowed. 

• Due to the design and size of town centres future expansion is an issue; 

4.29 Written responses from Parish Councils in relation to question 16 (existing employment 

areas) expressed a single preference for the continuation of the existing Local Plan 

approach (Option 1).  In addition, the need for out of town non-industry is recognised 

provided adequate provision can be made for pedestrians. 

4.30 Question 17 (the rural economy) generated support for continuing existing Local Plan 

policy (Option 1).  The need to also support the tourist and visitor economy was also 

recognised.  Additionally, one Parish advocated a mixed approach which would include 

increasing development in rural areas. 

4.31 Parish responses in relation to the hierarchy of centres (question 18) indicated that Up 

Holland should remain a village centre and separate from Skelmersdale, and that 

additional village centres should be considered for inclusion. 

4.32 In relation to healthy centres (question 19) the view expressed was that the policy 

approach to determining appropriate uses in town centres should be reviewed as 

should the Primary Shopping Area in Burscough (Options 3 and 2 respectively). 

4.33 Question 20 (sites for town centre uses) generated most support for a concentration 

upon Skelmersdale and Ormskirk. A non-food retail warehouse park was viewed as 

beneficial by one parish as this would increase non-food expenditure retention for the 

Borough. Conversely, an opposing view was that no further sites were required. 

4.34 Question 21 (general comments) generated a few responses from Parish Councils.  It 

was noted: 

• The Local Plan does not mention fracking which needed to be robustly resisted; 

• An acceptable funding regime was needed for the retention of threatened pumping 

stations which have a direct impact on drainage of agricultural land; 

• Negative impacts from surface water flooding upon the economy and transport 

infrastructure need to be addressed.  

 

Feedback from Public Workshops 

4.35 At the six public workshops, several bespoke questions were used to generate 

discussion in relation to the Economy Policy Options; these relate to questions 15, 16, 

17, 19 and 20. The open nature of discussions at these workshops also meant that 

additional general observations were made which are summarised below. 

Page 390



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

25 

 

4.36 The following comments were made in relation to question 15, the allocation of land 

for employment development: 

• There is a need to link housing to employment land so that people can work locally; 

• Skelmersdale and the M58 corridor have good transport links and are appropriate 

locations for large warehousing. More land needs to be allocated for these uses. 

The proposed rail link and station at Skelmersdale should include a freight terminal; 

• However, a converse view was that there was enough warehousing in the area, with 

a number of empty premises that should be adapted / sub-divided and that new 

warehouses in connection with Liverpool 2 were likely to be required further afield;  

• Warehousing would not be suitable in the rural Western Parishes; 

• Warehousing does not employ many people, and has little job progression; 

• There was a need for more business start-up units and smaller commercial units; 

• More interaction between Edge Hill University and businesses was needed; 

• There needed to be a range of businesses and more high tech jobs, with higher 

skills, particularly at Skelmersdale. There are few new premises; 

• The Council should consider forming a Development Company and developing a site 

for specialist business uses; 

• Sites for employment uses in the Northern Parishes need to be well-located in 

relation to the road network. There are current sites that are not well-located. 

4.37 In terms of existing employment areas (question 16) the view was expressed that 

industrial estates need upgrading and modernising. 

4.38 Question 17, the rural economy, generated the following comments: 

• There needs to be more units provided in rural areas and more for rent; 

• There were concerns that mixed use residential / housing sites in rural areas had 

not come forward for business development (due to perceptions of viability); 

• Existing rural businesses, particularly SMEs, should be retained and encouraged. 

4.39 In addition, other comments were made in relation to the Stimulating Economic Growth 

section of the Economy Issues and Options Paper as follows: 

• More training opportunities were required to develop skills and education that can 

then retain local people; 

• Training and apprenticeships were required for the older workforce. 

4.40 Ensuring healthy town, village and local centres (question 19) generated the following 

comments: 

• The market should be allowed to dictate town centre uses; 

• The existing policy approach for Burscough town centre is appropriate; 

Page 391



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

26 

 

• The general view was that village centres provided a useful function and should 

have commercial uses protected. Some had issues in terms of function and 

appearance e.g. Town Green Lane and Moss Green Lane. Local Centres in the 

Northern Parishes were considered to be losing services and Banks was in need of 

improvement; 

• It was evident that each of the Borough’s town centres had different issues, 

strengths and weaknesses e.g. it was suggested that Ormskirk needed a brand based 

upon being a tourist town with visitor attractions. 

4.41 The following views were expressed in relation to question 20 (sites for town centre 

uses): 

• Leakage of expenditure from the Borough to other centres must be accepted. Town 

centres have also been impacted by online shopping, parking restrictions, etc; 

• New development should be focussed on Skelmersdale and greater diversity of uses 

are required, extending use into the evening; 

• Conversely, town centre development should be spread around the Borough; 

• However, it was noted that no redevelopment sites existed in Ormskirk and earlier 

developments had not improved pedestrian linkages; 

• There was no need for more out of centre retail parks; 

• The elderly have issues in terms of access to shops and services e.g. supermarkets; 

• Main food shopping in the northern Parishes is undertaken outside the Borough but 

there are no sites for further retail development in Tarleton.  

Page 392



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

27 

 

5. Representations on Environmental Policy Options 

5.1 This chapter summarises the representations made on the questions relating to the 

Environmental Policy Options.  The Environment Policy Options questions covered the 

following matters: 

• The Local Nature Conservation Site designation 

• Provision of renewable energy  

• Sustainable design and construction in new development 

• Creation of sustainable and healthy places for all 

• Other environmental policy issues 

 

Feedback from Online Surveys / Written Representations 

22. Local Nature Conservation Sites 

Should West Lancashire retain the Local Nature Conservation Site designation in the 

future? Which policy option for the management of local nature sites do you think is the 

most appropriate for West Lancashire? Why? 

• Option 1: Continue the Local Nature Conservation Sites designation into the next 

Local Plan 

• Option 2: Remove the Local Nature Conservation Sites designation from the Local 

Plan and incorporate these sites within the Lancashire Ecological Network 

 

5.2 A total of 22 responses were received to this question from members of the public and 

other stakeholders.  9 of those who commented supported Option 1, whilst 7 expressed 

a preference for the alternative, Option 2.  

5.3 Most of those who preferred Option 1 expressed concern that removal of this layer of 

sites would result in less protection for areas of nature conservation value in West 

Lancashire. One respondent expressed a wish for more Local Nature Conservation sites 

to be designated across the Borough.  

5.4 Those who preferred Option 2 made the following points: 

• Option 2 is a more realistic and sustainable way of protecting sites of local nature 

importance given the diminished resources of local authorities, natural environment 

charities and Natural England. 

• This Option would allow concentration of effort on the development and 

maintenance of a robust and evidence-based Ecological Network based on regularly 

updated knowledge. 

• This approach would also be more future-focussed and may offer a more flexible 

approach to the climatic, social and economic pressures and changes that will occur 

in the future.  

Page 393



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

28 

 

• This Option offers an opportunity to promote a more holistic, joined-up way of 

protecting the environment which treats such sites as ‘links’ and would provide 

better connectivity for wildlife across the Borough. 

• Any successive policy related to the Ecological Network should be framed so as to 

give an effective and robust level of environmental protection across the Borough. 

• Further development could increase the chances of negative impacts on the 

Borough's Ecological Network and its functionality.  In order to minimise such risks, 

Development Management policies should be provided which provide adequate 

protection for Ecological Networks, as well as for the whole hierarchy of designated 

wildlife sites and habitats and species of principal importance.   

5.5 One respondent highlighted that the public accessibility and enjoyment value of 

Borough level sites could more appropriately be considered as part of West 

Lancashire’s Green Infrastructure Strategy and potentially be addressed within the 

Local Plan through a Green Infrastructure policy. 

 

23. Provision of Renewable Energy 

Should West Lancashire Borough Council designate sites for the provision of Renewable 

Energy? Which policy option for provision of Renewable Energy do you think is the most 

appropriate for West Lancashire? Why? 

• Option 1: Designation of specific areas where the generation of wind energy, solar 

farms and other renewable energy technologies may be appropriate. 

• Option 2: Consideration of applications for renewable energy infrastructure on a 

case-by-case basis. 

 

5.6 Of the 33 respondents who commented on this section, 9 supported Option 1, 5 

supported Option 2, and one supported a hybrid of the two whereby areas are 

designated for renewable energy, but outside these areas renewable energy 

installations are considered on a case by case basis. 

5.7 Those who supported Option 1 made the following points: 

• Four expressed a preference for designating sites for solar farms based on the 

opinion that these have less of a visual and noise impact than wind turbines and 

that the land can still be used for grazing and/or other purposes; 

• Another supported shale gas extraction; 

• Option 1 was seen  as the only option which would be certain to deliver renewable 

energy infrastructure through the planning process; 

• Another suggested that Option 1 would have the added advantage of providing 

clarity about the optimum siting for renewable energy sources.  

• Two saw Option 1 as potentially the most appropriate way of assessing the impact 

of providing renewable energy infrastructure upon wildlife and wildlife sites. 

Page 394



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

29 

 

• There was a desire to see local communities involved in some way in such schemes 

and also to see an increased emphasis on increasing energy efficiency and 

eliminating wastefulness overall.  

5.8 Those supporting Option 2 did so for a variety of reasons: 

• Considering applications on a case-by-case basis would be the most effective in 

allowing local residents to have their say and assessing the individual impact of each 

technology. 

• New technologies may appear in the future which may not be appropriate for 

previously designated sites. 

• Two other respondents who felt strongly that much more should be done to 

encourage solar panels and wind turbines in existing industrial areas – particularly 

on large warehouses where large expanses of solar panels could be installed.  

5.9 One respondent drew attention to a recent research report produced by Natural 

England entitled ‘Evidence review of the impact of solar farms on birds, bats and 

general ecology’ (NEER012). This early attempt to assess the impact of solar farms upon 

sensitive habitats and species highlights the need for further research into the potential 

interactions between wildlife and solar arrays.  

5.10 More generally, two respondents raised the potential of harnessing tidal energy, 

highlighting the reliability of such a source. Another recommended consideration of the 

Lancashire Climate Change Strategy 2009-2027 which sets out the long-term vision for 

the whole county in relation to climate change adaptation.    

 

24. Sustainable Design and Construction in new development 

Which policy option for Sustainable Design and Construction do you think is the most 

appropriate for West Lancashire? Why? Would a combination of options help to assist 

sustainable development? What kind of measures could we require of new 

development? 

• Option 1: Require specific sustainable design and construction features or measures 

to be incorporated into new developments.  

• Option 2: Do not require any specific sustainable design and construction features or 

measures to be required through planning policy.  

• Option 3: Require applicants wishing to develop to contribute financially to a 

Community Energy Fund, managed by the Council which could be used to make 

other, existing properties more sustainable or to deliver renewable energy 

developments elsewhere. 

 

5.11 In all, 24 comments were received in relation to this question. 

5.12 5 respondents favoured a mixture of Options 1 and 3, as this offered the opportunity to 

both influence new development and potentially improve existing stock through the 

suggested Community Energy Fund.  One individual considered that Option 3 alone 

Page 395



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

30 

 

would not be acceptable since a financial contribution “should not be the 'easy option' 

for the developer to avoid energy saving being incorporated in the design”.  

5.13 6 favoured Option 1, supporting the principle that developers should be encouraged to 

build more sustainably and incorporate more renewable energy features and energy 

saving measures as standard. One respondent advocated the use of district energy 

schemes and renewable energy infrastructure (e.g. ground source heat pumps and air 

source heat pumps) particularly on larger development sites. One comment highlights 

the opportunities this option may present for significant restoration of biodiversity and 

climate change mitigation.  Several expressed preferences for different forms of 

renewable energy, including solar roof tiles and solar panels.  

5.14 5 supported Option 2, expressing concern that Option 1 could place unacceptable 

burdens on developers which may ultimately make the development unviable.  One 

described such a policy as a “development tax”; another stated that such issues were 

sufficiently covered under Buildings Regulations changes.  Concerns were also raised 

that it may not be appropriate to install sustainable design and construction features or 

measures on every site.  

5.15 Two comments expressed concern about Option 3.  One questioned the equity of a 

policy where those who contributed to such a fund did not benefit. The other suggested 

that the fund should recognise the fundamental variances in terms of housing market 

conditions and viability across the Borough. It was also felt that a financial obligation 

such as this should only be progressed in tandem with a review of the CIL Charging 

Schedule and that there should be a discretionary policy so that the planning benefits of 

any such obligations could be balanced against other planning benefits, e.g. the 

preservation or enhancement of heritage assets. 

 

25. Creation of sustainable and healthy places 

Which policy option for creating Sustainable and Healthy Places do you think is the most 

appropriate for West Lancashire? Would it be appropriate to include more than one of 

the options to create healthy and accessible environments for all? Which ones; why? 

• Option 1: Require developments over a certain size to incorporate features that 

would encourage an active lifestyle for local residents and visitors.  

• Option 2: Require developments over a certain size to include provision for direct 

connections from development into the wider cycling and walking infrastructure.  

• Option 3: Require residential developments over a certain size to incorporate public 

open space and amenity green space.  

 

5.16 16 responses were received to this question: 

• One respondent favoured Option 1; 

• 3 favoured Option 2, one stating the importance of creating connectivity between 

settlements in order to encourage greater use of means of transport other than the 

Page 396



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

31 

 

car, which would produce multiple benefits for health and the environment. This 

individual also felt that the concept of the creation of Linear Parks across the 

Borough should be core to the Local Plan.  

• One respondent supported Option 3, specifically mentioning the provision of safe 

and secure children’s play areas. 

• 9 supported all three options, with one highlighting the fact that West Lancashire 

faces a number of challenges in relation to health and wellbeing and experiences 

significant inequalities.   

• One respondent preferred a combination of Options 1 and 2; 

• One preferred a combination of Options 2 and 3.   

• One individual observed that each option has its pros and cons while another stated 

the importance of considering options available in relation to sustainable and 

‘healthy’ design and layout on a case-by-case basis, taking into account the capacity 

of the site to accommodate features.  

5.17 A number of issues surrounding the third option were raised, including the importance of 

ensuring any open / green space is designed and maintained in a way that also protects, 

maintains, enhances, expands and links the district's identified Ecological Networks.  A call 

was made for ecological assessments of all significant developments, requiring designers to 

have regard to, and preferably retain, existing habitat features where practicable, and 

demonstrate how the proposal would enhance biodiversity and ensure links to the 

Ecological Network.  Open space features should be an integral part of any development 

scheme and not “tucked away in a forgotten corner to be underutilised or vandalised”.  A 

mix of careful planting would help to soften built environment and green space.  One 

respondent suggested that this option should make provision to consider off-site provision 

in lieu of on-site provision. 

5.18 Additional observations included: 

• The flat nature of the West Lancashire landscape makes it ideal for cycling. 

• Support of efforts to encourage increased activity levels due to the high levels of 

obesity in the North West region. 

• A suggestion that more could be done to facilitate walking in the Borough – raising 

specifically the lack of pavements in some areas which discourages pedestrians. 

• Support for housing near to employment sites which would provide people with the 

opportunity to walk or cycle to work, as well as for more safe routes which will 

encourage more children to walk to school. A further response recommended that 

community and road safety be considered, as the perception and fear of crime can 

discourage active travel and the use of green facilities for physical activity.  

 

Page 397



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

32 

 

26. Are there any other environmental policy issues that should also be considered? If 

so, what are they? 

This question requested further comments on any other environmental policy issues that 

should also be considered. This prompted a range of responses which also typically 

varied in scope and scale.  

 

5.19 Most comments received under this question related to more macro-scale issues which 

extend beyond the scope of a Local Plan, to sub-national or national level, but 

nonetheless can be influenced by actions at local level: 

• .Air quality and its impact upon human health which has recently risen up the 

political agenda. 

• One individual suggested that all developments should be encouraged to minimise 

emissions produced in their construction and use and also by associated transport 

movements.  

• Another expressed concern about the widespread use of pesticides and herbicides; 

in particular neonicotioids which research suggests can have a particularly negative 

impact upon pollinating insects, for example bees.  

5.20 One respondent provided detailed comments and submitted evidence in relation to 

flooding, specifically the impact of proposed closure of pumping stations in the Alt-

Crossens catchment areas. The written evidence highlighted the impact of flooding 

upon infrastructure (such as road and rail) and also upon the wider environment 

(including on the behaviour and survival of certain species). The conclusion of the 

evidence submitted, in the view of the respondent, was that both flood resistance and 

resilience measures should be promoted as part of the planning process. 

5.21 Although it is beyond the scope of the Local Plan, one response raised concern about 

the environmental impact of ‘fracking’ on local wildlife, water supply and general 

amenity in the Borough.    

5.22 As outlined above, some comments in this section related to more local level issues 

which could be addressed through smaller scale actions. These included encouraging 

residents to cultivate gardens in such a way as to create wildlife habitats and to use 

rainwater for domestic purposes wherever possible, to create incentives for developers 

to include landscaping that encourages pollinating insects, or for agricultural businesses 

in the Northern Parishes to look into how green waste products may generate energy 

through an anaerobic digester. 

  

Page 398



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

33 

 

Feedback from West Lancashire Borough Council Members 

5.23 The value of biodiversity was discussed and recognised by Members.  Beyond its 

intrinsic value, it was highlighted how important biodiversity is to tourism, particularly 

for popular sites such as Martin Mere.  

5.24 However, some Members highlighted that some rural areas were like ‘barren 

landscapes’ in terms of nature and biodiversity, as in a number of cases intensive 

agriculture is harming wildlife.  

5.25 Some Members specifically supported the Ecological Network approach to nature 

conservation as the way forward in terms of future provision for wildlife. All Members 

supported the suggestion that development could present an opportunity to increase 

biodiversity across the Borough. Some Members suggested that Green Infrastructure 

should be built around housing, improving connectivity between places; all Members 

specifically agreed that new development should link into the proposed and developing 

linear parks. 

5.26 All Members recognised hedges and trees as important features and habitats within 

West Lancashire, and it was suggested these should take the place of walls in terms of 

boundary treatments where possible.  Some Members supported the expansion of tree 

planting, suggesting the designation of sites for tree planting in the future.  The value of 

tree planting for the absorption of surface water run-off and prevention of flooding in 

general was highlighted by some Members, as was the avoidance of excessive 

hardstanding within the garden areas and frontages of houses. In terms of sustainable 

design and construction, the re-use of grey water was raised as an issue which should 

be provided in new development. 

5.27 Many Members articulated strongly that the Borough has a responsibility to deliver on 

its commitment with regards to renewable energy, with one even suggesting that the 

Borough should aim towards becoming self-sustaining. These same Members 

supported the idea that new housing should be warm and cheap to heat and suggested 

that renewable energy infrastructure should be located in the best / most appropriate 

places and also smaller scale infrastructure (e.g. solar panels) should be provided as 

part of new development. This aspect was also raised by other Members who 

supported the installation of solar panels on the roofs of factories as an ideal way of 

boosting renewable energy supply.  Some Members indicated that they felt wind 

turbines were inappropriate in West Lancashire due to their visual impact upon the 

Green Belt. 

5.28 All Members expressed the opinion that flood resilience is important within West 

Lancashire and that homes in particular need to be safe. Some Members suggested that 

it may be possible to build within Flood Zones, provided precautions were taken in 

terms of construction methods – for example potentially the use of ‘raft’ foundations. 

However, it was recognised that the engineering costs of designing out flooding could 

be significant.  

Page 399



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

34 

 

5.29 Some Members stated that the Council should avoid homogenous development and 

encourage variety. It was suggested that perhaps some ‘quirky’ features which 

distinguish places and create a sense of distinct place could be embraced. This has been 

the case across the Borough in the past.  

 

Feedback from Parish Councils 

5.30 Comments from the Parish Council Forum on environmental issues were based around 

flood risk, including the conflict and tension that exists in relation to development in 

Flood Zones.  Concern was expressed that development should not take place in areas 

subject to a higher risk of flooding, but it was also recognised that without any 

development in Flood Zones 2 or 3, villages in the Borough may well suffer without any 

new build. A lack of new families in the area could result in villages ‘dying’, schools 

closing, etc.  

5.31 Parish Councillors were keen to emphasise that flooding incidences cannot only be 

attributed to coastal and fluvial flooding, but are also due to drainage issues, surface 

water and problems with United Utilities’ (UU) infrastructure.  Concern was expressed 

at the lack of existing procedure to rectify this.  There was particular concern about the 

threat posed by pumps being turned off by the Environment Agency in the Alt-Crossens 

river catchment area and the impact this may have on future business investment 

decisions in the affected area. 

5.32 Written comments on the Environmental Policy Options Paper were received from 

three Parish Councils.  

5.33 In relation to local nature sites, two supported the continuation of the Local Nature 

Conservation Sites designation (Option 1) while the remaining one supported the 

removal of this designation and the incorporation of these sites within the 

Environmental Network (Option 2).  

5.34 In relation to renewable energy generation, two Parish Councils supported the 

designation of specific areas for renewable energy infrastructure (Option 1) while one 

supported a combination of the two proposed options.  

5.35 With regards to sustainable design and construction features or measures, two Parish 

Council responses favoured a combination of Option 1 and 3 which would see both the 

incorporation of sustainable design and construction features or measures on some 

sites with an additional policy requiring a contribution towards a central fund for 

sustainable construction and design. The other response favoured solely Option 3. An 

additional comment came from one Parish Council who felt that smaller developments 

should also be required to make some contribution towards features which would 

encourage an active lifestyle. 

 

 

Page 400



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

35 

 

Feedback from Public Workshops 

5.36 The value of local nature sites was made clear at most of the public consultation 

workshops. The importance of large, designated sites of the Ribble Estuary and Martin 

Mere to nature and tourism was recognised by many, however local people also keenly 

highlighted a variety of smaller sites which they valued for a number of reasons. Some 

examples were Mere Sands Wood in Burscough and Beacon Park near Skelmersdale. 

These sites were valued for their own sake – for nature value – but also for their 

associated recreational value. For this reason, a number of people supported improved 

access to these and other sites. In the Northern Parishes the new path across Ribble 

Marshes was praised for opening up this area to visitors and local people alike. People 

in Skelmersdale in particular called for improved access for all to areas of the Tawd 

Valley.  

5.37 Associated with this desire for improved access to green areas was a wish to see better 

use of underused or waste land for the benefit of local people – e.g. as allotments. 

5.38 In relation to improving nature value in West Lancashire, concern was raised across a 

number of workshops about the negative impact of farming on biodiversity. Specific 

issues included the removal of hedgerows which provide valuable wildlife habitats. 

Most agreed that hedgerows should be given more protection.  

5.39 A number of people appreciated the importance of wildlife corridors to species 

movement and survival. Some saw the potential of linking this concept to that of the 

proposed and developing linear parks across the Borough. The concept was recognised 

by many of those attending the workshops and viewed as having future potential. Some 

saw the provision of linear parks and as a means by which the impact of future 

development could be mitigated.  

5.40 A clear message through many workshops was that consideration of the environment 

when providing new development is vitally important. There was a call for 

improvement of the environment when surrounding sites are developed, rather than it 

being forgotten or pushed to the bottom of a list of priorities. There was a consensus 

across most events that measures supporting biodiversity and improved habitats for 

wildlife should be built into new developments. These could include features such as 

bat bricks and bird nesting boxes or simply the retention of existing habitats or natural 

features such as groups of trees, ponds and hedges.  

5.41 There was a general consensus that renewable energy was a positive means of 

supplying our energy needs. However there was a divide over which forms of 

renewable energy generation would be most effective and acceptable and the scale of 

the provision and concentration of such infrastructure. Some gave their support to any 

form of renewable energy, believing more should be done to encourage this ‘clean’ 

form of energy generation.  This belief was often based upon the attitude that 

renewable energy infrastructure is at least reversible (even turbines), unlike other 

forms of generation such as nuclear. There was wider support for the inclusion of 

Page 401



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

36 

 

turbines in more industrial areas. Several people who attended the Skelmersdale 

workshop claimed that they had become accustomed to the ‘Walker’s’ turbine since it 

had been installed. Others were more cautious about the impact of wind energy – 

especially the visual impacts of larger solar farms and wind turbines. In relation to solar 

farms, some saw little impact on the local environment since land can still be used for 

grazing and their installation is reversible. Those against were more fearful of losing 

valuable agricultural land.  

5.42 There was more general support for the inclusion of renewable energy generation as 

part of new development – particularly solar panels on new housing or warehousing 

and retail developments. The latter was seen as having particular potential and least 

impact on people. There was suggestions at all of the events concerning new and 

emerging renewable energy technologies – e.g. solar roof tiles and Ground Source Heat 

Pumps as well as suggestions for more innovative solutions – e.g. harnessing tidal 

power and using former mine shafts for geothermal energy. Several people at two 

events felt that energy generated locally should benefit these local communities 

specifically. There was general consensus that new development should be as energy 

efficient as possible. Rising fuel costs were a particular concern in Skelmersdale. A 

number of people at this workshop expressed the view that new homes should be as 

cheap to heat as possible.  

5.43 At the workshop events there was alarm almost universally expressed at the suggestion 

that the Council should consider permitting development on Flood Zones 2 or 3.  Some 

individuals suggested that there could be some measures employed which may allow 

some development within these areas (e.g. raised floor levels) but there was some 

scepticism that this would provide an acceptable solution. Flooding from some source 

or another was raised as an issue of concern in all of the areas, but was particularly 

acutely felt in Burscough. There was an understanding in most cases that flooding was a 

complex and multifaceted issue but many of those attending felt strongly that it needed 

to be dealt with effectively as part of any future development. Suggestions for methods 

of doing this included the use of SUDS and more greenery in general in order to help in 

the natural absorption of water. A number of people recognised that there was a need 

to deal with water effectively within households through efforts such as water 

recycling.  

5.44 In relation to the layout of new development there was some concern that there was 

not sufficient space within recent housing developments for the creation of a 

sufficiently green and pleasant environment. A number of people across several 

workshops claimed that many new housing estates included too much obvious 

hardstanding (generally tarmac). Along the same lines, out of a number of discussions 

emerged a preference for hedges rather than harder boundaries such as fences or 

walls. Wider ‘green’ boundaries, wildflower areas and open spaces were also seen as a 

means of accommodating more wildlife in and around these developments.  

Page 402



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

37 

 

5.45 There was general support for improved links within and out of/in to new 

developments by foot or bike. A lack of suitable pavements in new estates was raised a 

number of times as this was felt to discourage pedestrians on safety grounds. An 

absence of signage and legible routes was highlighted as a particular issue in 

Skelmersdale which discourages walkers and cyclists. In terms of the provision of local 

green spaces, the importance of small local play spaces for children within residential 

areas was raised and suggested as an important way of providing children with an 

opportunity for exercise, so promoting healthier lifestyles.  

5.46 There were a number of discussions around the design of new housing and many felt 

that in most cases the design of new homes was too ‘standard’, not distinctive enough 

and did not reflect the style of their individual locality.   

 

Other Feedback 

5.47 Although beyond the scope of the Local Plan, one Parish Council response raised 

concern about the environmental impact of ‘fracking’ on local wildlife, water supply and 

general amenity in the Borough.    

5.48 A separate Parish Council comment raised the issue of air quality and queried the 

impact of tree and woodland schemes on improvements to air quality. 

 

  

Page 403



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

38 

 

6. Representations on Social Policy Options 

6.1 This chapter summarises the representations made on the questions relating to the 

Social Policy Options, which covered the following matters: 

• Affordable housing 

• Self and custom build housing 

• Caravan and houseboat accommodation 

• The Skelmersdale housing market 

• Social requirements of older people 

• Accommodation for older people 

• Houses in multiple occupation 

• Off-campus, purpose-built student accommodation 

• Accommodation for Travellers 

 

Feedback from Online Surveys / Written Representations 

27. Affordable Housing 

There are various policy options to deliver affordable housing (‘AH’); several of these 

can be used together. The options are:  

• Option 1: Do nothing, i.e. have no policy on AH  

• Option 2: Continue with the usual ‘percentage’ approach to AH policy  

• Option 3: Carry on with a broadly similar policy to policy RS2 of the current Local 

Plan with geographical and percentage variation between schemes 

• Option 4: Add more detail to the Local Plan policy e.g. on house sizes and tenures  

• Option 5: Allocate specific sites for 100% AH schemes  

• Option 6: Allow AH in locations where general market housing would not be 

permitted  

• Option 7: Allow for more flexibility when delivering AH as part of larger market 

housing developments  

• Option 8: Have greater flexibility in what the Council defines as AH 

Which option(s) for the approach towards AH policy do you think is (are) the most 

appropriate for West Lancashire? Why? 

 

6.2 A total of 26 responses were received to this question from members of the public and 

other stakeholders via the online surveys and paper representation forms.  The eight 

options were not necessarily mutually exclusive, and responses favoured a variety of 

options, either single options or hybrids of several options, for example options 2-4, and 

/ or 5-8.  Option 1 received the least support (2 respondents); Options 2, 8 and 3 were 

the most popular (10, 8 and 7 ‘votes’ respectively); Options 4, 5 and 7 had support from 

6 respondents, and Option 6 had 5 respondents’ support. 

Page 404



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

39 

 

6.3 The comments made by representors included the following: 

• 100% AH allocations need to have a high probability of being delivered; 

• Steer away from creating ‘sink estates’ (i.e. mix AH with market housing); 

• Greater weight should be given to schemes which meet the full AH requirements; 

• It is important to have a robust evidence base to back up AH policies; 

• Option 3:  Any policy needs flexibility to apply during a long plan period; 

• Option 8:  There are many AH needs, the definition of AH should be broad; 

• Off-site contributions via commuted sums should be considered; 

• The Community Infrastructure Levy is undermining viability, thus also AH provision; 

• Look not just at affordability but also quality, choice, type, tenure and size; 

• There is a need for one policy for rented AH and another policy for AH for purchase. 

 

28  Demand for self- and custom-build housing 

The options for self- and custom-build housing ('SCB housing') are as follow: 

• Option 1: Do not allocate any sites for SCB housing 

• Option 2: Set aside parts of larger allocated housing sites for SCB plots  

• Option 3: Identify and allocate small sites for SCB dwellings in line with demand  

Do you have an interest in building your own home? Which of the above policy options 

for self and custom build housing do you think would help you to build your own home? 

Why? 

 

6.4 18 responses were received to question 28, with 4 favouring Option 1, one favouring 

Option 2, and 6 favouring Option 3.  One respondent was of the opinion that none of 

the options should be pursued, but that there should be flexibility in policy to allow for 

SCB housing if needed.  The House Builders Federation advised that setting aside part of 

a large site for SCB housing could impact on the whole site’s viability and delivery.  

Another respondent advised that SCB properties should be environmentally 

sustainable. 

 

 

Page 405



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

40 

 

29 : Demand for alternative residential accommodation 

In terms of meeting the needs of caravan / houseboat dwellers, the options are: 

• Option 1: Allow for caravan or houseboat accommodation to come forward as the 

market demands  

• Option 2: Allocate new sites, or land on the edge of existing sites, for additional 

caravan-based accommodation or mooring berths.  

• Option 3: Vary Green Belt policy on a site-specific basis, to allow for expansion or 

intensification of residential caravan sites or mooring berths to meet identified 

needs  

Which of the above policy options do you think would best ensure the right amount of 

pitches or berths are made available for caravans and houseboats? Why? 

 

6.5 18 comments were made on question 29, with five respondents favouring Option 1, 

four favouring Option 2, three favouring Option 3, and one favouring a mix of all three 

options.  Several people were of the view that allowing these forms of accommodation 

would provide people with the opportunity to downsize, thereby freeing up market 

housing.  There were varying opinions about whether or not to relax Green Belt policy 

to meet these needs.  It was advised that, as canal boat occupiers require the facilities 

found at marinas, that their needs should be met on the edge of existing marinas. 

 

30  The Skelmersdale housing market 

The options to address the issues relating to the Skelmersdale housing market are: 

• Option 1:  Continue to relax, or further relax policy requirements for housing sites in 

Skelmersdale  

• Option 2:  Base the Local Plan Review strategy on the regeneration and expansion of 

Skelmersdale  

Which policy option for addressing the issue of relative market weakness in 

Skelmersdale do you think is the most appropriate?  Why? 

 

6.6 With respect to addressing the relative underperformance in the Skelmersdale housing 

market, 31 responses were received.  10 expressed a preference for Option 2; 2 for 

Option 1, and at least 3 for a blend of the options.  Various comments were made on 

the Skelmersdale market and associated issues, which can be summarised as follows: 

• If Option 1 is pursued, environmental protection policies should not be relaxed, nor 

should open space policies, nor CIL where applicable (as infrastructure is needed), 

but affordable housing requirements can be further relaxed.  Option 1 should 

include wider community benefits; 

• One needs to look not just at housing, but how infrastructure will be provided to 

create sustainable communities; policy in relation to infrastructure provision should 

Page 406



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

41 

 

not be relaxed.  One should also investigate providing incentives to develop, for 

example fast-track planning arrangements; 

• Housing and employment investment around Skelmersdale can act as a ‘catalyst’ for 

regeneration within the town.  Develop the ‘easier’ sites first, then once the town 

centre is delivered, develop housing within the town.  The town centre needs to be 

more than a retail park.  A range of housing is required for the town, including for 

second and third time buyers, to be integrated with jobs provided; 

• Conversely, some expressed the view that recent policy has not worked and it is 

‘time to move on to other areas’ or to ‘start from scratch’, that expanding a 

deprived area will make it worse, and that a strategy to focus development on the 

town will not deliver any significant or necessary levels of development. 

 

31  The social requirements of older people 

With respect to the ‘social needs’ of older people, the options are: 

• Option 1: A general ‘sustainable development’ policy which directs new development 

to places where services and facilities are available  

• Option 2: Allocate specific sites in appropriate locations for services and facilities.  

• Option 3: Prepare an Area Action Plan or similar document to ensure facilities are 

provided as part of any very large new developments  

Which policy options for the approach towards the social requirements of older people 

do you think is the most appropriate for the Local Plan? Why? 

 

6.7 29 stakeholders responded to this question, 10 expressing a preference for Option 1, 

two for Option 2, and two for Option 3, as well as one person opting for a combination  

of Options 1 and 2, and one opting for Option 1, backed up by 2 and 3. 

6.8 Specific comments made on this topic are summarised thus: 

• Accommodation needs to be integrated with the community and / or with new 

development; older people should not be ‘shipped off’, away from their homes and 

families; special developments only for older people carry a risk of ‘ghettoization’; 

• Conversely, support was expressed by one respondent for a retirement village; 

• It is important that health, transport and consumer facilities are readily available; 

• There is no need for an elderly-specific sustainable development policy (Option 1), 

as sustainable development should run through the whole Local Plan; 

• Option 3: a new approach is needed as there is an insufficient range of suitable 

types of development; specialist schemes tend to be exclusive; 

• Whilst the objectives are supported, the Local Plan should not be prescriptive as to 

how these should be achieved; 

• Liaison with the Lancashire County Council Public Health Team is recommended. 

 

Page 407



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

42 

 

32  Residential accommodation for older people  

With respect to the accommodation requirements for older people, the options are: 

• Option 1: Have no specific policy, but let the market deliver appropriate 

accommodation in line with local demand  

• Option 2: Continue the current approach, i.e. require that a percentage of new 

dwellings be designed specifically to accommodate the elderly  

• Option 3: In conjunction with the above, provide a tighter definition of what 

constitutes ‘housing designed specifically to accommodate the elderly’  

• Option 4: Adopt one or both of the optional Technical Standards for new houses  

• Option 5: Require adherence to, or at least that regard be had to, the HAPPi 

(Housing our Ageing Population: Panel for Innovation) Design Principles  

• Option 6: Allocate specific sites for elderly accommodation  

• Option 7: Adopt the more general policy approach of promoting ‘Lifetime 

Neighbourhoods’ 

Which policy option(s) for providing accommodation for older people would you 

therefore prefer? 

 

6.9 The options set out in question 32 are not mutually exclusive, so several of the overall 

33 responses involved the choice of two or more options.  Options 2, 5 and 7 received 7 

‘ticks’ each, followed by Options 6, 4, 1 and 3 with 6, 5, 4 and 3 ‘ticks’ respectively.  Four 

other respondents expressed a preference for bungalows. 

6.10 Several representors advised that older people’s needs vary between individuals and 

over time, and therefore the ways of meeting needs also vary considerably, requiring a 

‘mix and match’ approach, rather than ‘one size fits all’.  As a general principle, people 

want the right to choose whether to stay at home (independently, or with support) and 

when (or if) to move into specialist accommodation.  The types of accommodation 

included sheltered or retirement housing, Extra Care, adaptable dwellings (satisfying 

Building Regulations M4(2) or M4(3)), and extra care villages.  One developer suggested 

‘downsizer units, made available to older people in the first instance. 

6.11 Other comments included recommendations to liaise with LCC Public Health, and to 

follow the advice in the ‘Housing for Later Life: Planning Ahead for Specialist Housing 

for Older People’ toolkit and suggested policy wording.  Two respondents opposed the 

application of Technical Standards, as well as the HAPPi principles, citing the Housing 

Standards Review which recommended minimising the application of standards, instead 

favouring a permissive policy which facilitates provision of suitable accommodation. 

 

Page 408



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

43 

 

33  Provision of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in Ormskirk 

In terms of future policy to address the issues relating to HMOs, the key options are: 

• Option 1: Expand the ‘Article 4 area' and the area to which the HMO percentage 

policy applies, to include neighbouring settlements  

• Option 2: Revoke the Article 4 Direction and policy RS3, and have no policy  

• Option 3: Decrease the HMO limit from current levels on all or specific streets to a 

lower percentage, potentially even down to 0%  

• Option 4: Increase the HMO limit from current levels on all or specific streets to a 

higher percentage.  

Which key policy option with regard to the issue of control over HMOs in Ormskirk do 

you think is the most appropriate? Why? Are there any other policy options or minor 

changes that should also be considered? 

 

6.12 15 responses were received to question 33.  7 favoured Option 1, followed by 3 in 

favour of Option 2, and 2 in favour of Option 4.  Specific points made were as follows: 

• In preparing a new policy, it is necessary to know student accommodation supply 

and demand, and to have flexibility for the future if a long plan period is chosen; 

• If HMO provision is restricted, the Council should ensure student accommodation 

needs are met some other way, taking account of the University’s aspirations; 

• Consider a student quarter in Skelmersdale, with good public transport links to the 

University. 

 

34  Provision of off-campus purpose-built student accommodation in Ormskirk 

With regard to the provision of  purpose built student accommodation, the options are: 

• Option 1: Continue with the current policy approach of restricting off-campus 

purpose-built student accommodation unless strict criteria are met.  

• Option 2: Relax policy to allow purpose-built student accommodation away from the 

University Campus.  

• Option 3: Allocate specific sites for off-campus student accommodation, whilst 

restricting 'unplanned' developments elsewhere.  

• Option 4: Tighten the current policy to severely, or entirely, restrict off-campus, 

purpose-built student accommodation.  

Which policy option for off-campus, purpose-built student accommodation do you think 

is the most appropriate for Ormskirk / West Lancashire? Why? 

 

6.13 Of the 20 responses to this question, six favoured Option 1; six favoured Option 3; two 

favoured Option 2; and one favoured Option 4.  Three respondents expressed the view 

that accommodation should be provided on campus as far as is possible.  Edge Hill 

University’s (EHU) agent advised that EHU remains committed to providing on-campus 

Page 409



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

44 

 

accommodation, but would also like to explore building some units in Ormskirk centre.  

Two respondents expressed concern about the impact on town centre shops; another 

stated that students / graduate can have a positive effect on town centres.  Other 

locations suggested for sites included ‘scrubland out of town’, Skelmersdale, land in 

low- or non-residential areas, and land released from the Green Belt.  It was advised 

that regard be had to transport and access to basic services when choosing sites. 

 

35  Delivering suitable accommodation for travellers 

The options for providing traveller accommodation are: 

• Option 1: Allow the travellers based at present in West Lancashire to stay on their 

(currently unauthorised) sites.  

• Option 2: When allocating new sites for other development in the Borough, set aside 

part of those sites for travellers 

• Option 3: Compulsory Purchase  suitable sites in order to allocate them for Travellers  

Which policy option(s) for addressing the issue of meeting traveller accommodation 

needs do you think is (are) the most appropriate for West Lancashire? Why? 

 

6.14 17 responses were provided to question 35.  Option 1 was the most popular, with 7 

‘votes’; Option 3 had 4 ‘votes’ and Option 2 just a single vote. 

• In terms of Option 1, one respondent suggested flood risk was not an issue, as 

caravans could be moved if floods were imminent.  The Environment Agency, 

conversely, advised that allocating sites in Flood Zone 3 is contrary to the NPPF; 

• For Option 2, the view was expressed that locating Travellers adjacent to housing 

would not work; 

• For Option 3, CPO should only be used as a last resort if negotiation did not work; 

• Any allocated sites should have a ‘contract’ that they be well maintained. 

 

Feedback from West Lancashire Borough Council Members 

6.15 At their forum, Council Members discussed affordable housing, accommodation for the 

elderly, and provision for Travellers. 

6.16 There were differing views between Members concerning affordable housing.  Some 

held the view that the current policy should be continued, that there should be more 

social rented and / or Council housing, that sites should be allocated for 100% 

affordable housing schemes, including on Council-owned land, and that the use of 

commuted sums for off-site provision was not supported.  Others considered that 

affordable housing distorts the market, which should be allowed to ‘run its course’,  

that there were plenty of cheap (i.e. affordable) properties in Skelmersdale, that there 

Page 410



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

45 

 

should be no sites for 100% affordable housing schemes, but that affordable units 

should be ‘pepper-potted’ through developments. 

6.17 All Members were of the view that the emphasis on viability was undermining the 

policy, and that there was no ‘one size fits all’ approach. 

6.18 In terms of accommodation for the elderly, Members agreed there was a need for a 

policy, although it could be amended, for example by providing a tighter definition of 

‘accommodation for the elderly’.  There was consensus that there is no ‘one size fits all’ 

approach, that people generally would prefer to live in their own homes, rather than 

move to a care home (etc.), and that bungalows were desirable, but in short supply.  

There is also a short supply of suitable properties to enable older people to downsize, 

both privately and Council-owned.  In terms of ‘institutions’, the view was expressed 

that large developments such as Brookside in Ormskirk are the way forward.  It was 

recommended that good practice elsewhere be observed and emulated. 

6.19 In relation to accommodation for Travellers, it was pointed out that there are different 

types of Travellers, and that seeking to accommodate them all on one site would not 

work.  The question was asked whether there would be any harm in allowing existing 

Travellers to stay on the sites they currently occupy.  Members considered that setting 

aside part of a site allocation for Travellers would be unlikely to be successful, and that 

compulsory purchase looked to most realistic option, with brownfield sites favoured 

over greenfield. 

 

Feedback from Parish Councils 

6.20 Online representations on (a selection of) the Social Policy Options were made by 5 

Parish Councils (Aughton, Burscough, Halsall, Lathom, Scarisbrick, Up Holland).  As 

stated earlier, 8 Parish Councils (PCs) were represented at the forum, and in total, 10 

different Parish Councils made comments on the Social Policy Options as part of the 

Issues and Options consultation. 

6.21 Five PCs responded online to question 27 on affordable housing (AH); the matter was 

also discussed at the PC forum.  The following comments were made: 

• Small clusters of AH in rural settlements to meet local needs enable communities to 

remain intact (Options 5 and 6); 

• The current definition of AH is not fit for purpose (Option 8); 

• In the light of the local need for AH, housing schemes that include AH should be 

prioritised; 

• AH should be encouraged without being prescriptive as to the amount / type, to 

reflect the differing needs of different areas; 

• It is extremely important to create and retain housing within the reach of first time 

buyers, as well as those with special needs; 

Page 411



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

46 

 

• There is a need for affordable housing to enable children who have grown up in a 

village to stay in the area, and that a good mix of types / tenures is important. 

6.22 In terms of self and custom build (SCB) housing (question 28), four PCs responded.  Two 

chose Option 3: Allocate sites for SCB housing; one chose a combination of Option 2: 

Have SCB plots on larger allocated sites, and Option 3.  Burscough Parish Council (BPC) 

supported SCB housing as an opportunity to create something out of the ordinary. 

6.23 For question 29: caravan and houseboat accommodation, three PCs gave views; one 

supported Option 1: Leave to the market; one supported Option 3: Vary Green Belt 

policy.  BPC pointed out that these types of accommodation could provide low cost 

homes, but could lead to a loss of holiday homes, a growth area in the visitor economy.  

BPC expressed the view that there may be a need for a marina at Burscough. 

6.24 Three PCs commented on the Skelmersdale housing market (question 30).  Up Holland 

PC did not support Option 1: Relaxation of (developer contribution) policies in 

Skelmersdale, adding that market weakness provides housing for people on low 

incomes.  BPC supported Option 2; Halsall PC supported both Options 1 and 2. 

6.25 At the Parish Council forum, Parish Councillors made the following points about the 

ageing population:   

• People want suitable accommodation in their local areas to enable them to 

downsize (and also accommodation for young people / families to ‘get onto the 

housing ladder’), rather than more large executive homes.  The current trend of 

replacing bungalows with larger houses should be resisted; 

• We should provide for older people to stay in the settlement where they live; 

• There is a desire for bungalows, and for multi-occupancy facilities (spread around 

the Borough); a mix of ages helps community cohesion. 

6.26 Three PCs commented online regarding policies for older people (questions 31 and 32).  

Halsall PC supported the allocation of  specific sites for services and facilities; Burscough 

PC advised that old people generally have no wish to be segregated.  In terms of 

accommodation, there was support for Option 2: Continue the current policy; Option 3: 

Provide a tighter definition of ‘accommodation for the elderly’;  Option 4: Application of  

Technical Standards on accessibility;  Option 6: Allocate sites for elderly (and affordable) 

accommodation; and Option 7: Promote ‘Lifetime Neighbourhoods’. 

6.27 With regard to student accommodation (question 33), Burscough PC supported the 

expansion of the ‘Article 4 area’ (Option 1) for HMOs to Burscough; Halsall and Up 

Holland PCs also supported Option 1, although they did not specify any additional areas 

to which the Article 4 Direction would apply.  For off-campus purpose-built 

accommodation, Halsall PC chose Option 2: Relax current policy, whereas Up Holland 

PC chose Option 1: Continue with the current policy. 

Page 412



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

47 

 

6.28 The same three PCs responded to question 34 (Traveller accommodation).  Halsall PC 

considered Option 1: Allow Travellers to remain on current sites to be the most optimal; 

Burscough and Up Holland PCs chose Option 3: Use of compulsory purchase powers. 

 

Feedback from Public Workshops 

6.29 At the public workshops, social policy option questions were asked in relation to 

affordable housing, self and custom build housing, student accommodation, and 

housing and facilities for the elderly. 

6.30 Eight recurring points were made with regard to affordable housing (AH): 

• AH needs to be provided where there is infrastructure, facilities, and employment; 

• AH is needed in order to allow people to stay in the area where they grew up; 

• AH needs to be genuinely affordable; some AH products are expensive; 

• Factors such as Right to Buy have worsened the affordability situation; 

• It was asked whether the Council could build affordable properties for rent or sale; 

• There is a need for a mix of different types, sizes and tenures of affordable housing; 

• Cheaper accommodation exists in Skelmersdale.  Some recommended that people 

should move there; others considered this was an unreasonable expectation; 

• There was a desire that the Council enforce AH percentages; the viability argument 

appears to undermine AH provision. 

6.31 Self and custom build (SCB) housing was only discussed briefly, and only at two 

workshops.  People were generally supportive of the concept, and considered that 

small sites should be allocated for SCB housing, maybe with land being provided at a 

discount or free of charge to encourage this type of housing. 

6.32 Student accommodation was discussed only at the Ormskirk workshop.  The main 

points raised were: 

• Policy RS3 has made some impact, but 2-student properties ‘fall under its radar’ and 

can have a significant cumulative impact; 

• Some considered the HMO limit should be 0%; others considered 5% was 

reasonable; 

• Policy RS3 only takes into consideration HMOs on the same street.  There can be 

impact from HMOs to the rear or side of a property on different streets;  this should 

be taken into account when assessing HMO proposals; 

• There was a discussion as to the benefits or otherwise of students and the 

University in general.  Negative effects included parking issues and students’ 

exemption from Council Tax; positive effects included expenditure in the town; 

• On-campus accommodation was generally preferred to off-campus; first years 

should all be accommodated on campus; this may ‘free up’ HMOs for general use. 

Page 413



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

48 

 

6.33 The topic of accommodation for the elderly raised much interest at each workshop, the 

main points made being: 

• People are active until old age; they want to retain their independence and stay in 

their houses, therefore adaptable properties are necessary; 

• There is a need for suitable properties for people to downsize into, both affordable 

accommodation (which is considered to be lacking), and ‘quality’ units; 

• Older people’s housing needs to be located within easy reach of services and 

facilities and / or good public transport; 

• Old people generally do not want to live within an ‘enclave’, but to be integrated 

with the wider community: on the whole, mixed communities were considered 

better, although there was some desire for quiet cul-de-sac type developments; 

• There needs to be a mix of types of old people’s housing, from adaptable ‘standard’ 

market houses, through bungalows (which received widespread support, and 

preference to multi-storey developments) to schemes with on-site care; 

• There was also support for a mix of ages, combining old people’s housing with 

affordable housing, and properties for first time buyers; 

• As with affordable housing, there was a call for the Council to build accommodation 

for the elderly. 

  

Page 414



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

49 

 

7. Representations on Spatial Portrait 

7.1 This chapter provides an overview of the representations made on the questions 

relating to the Spatial Portrait (questions 4-6 of the online survey).  The Spatial Portrait 

summarises the key data for the Borough and, from that evidence, purports to describe 

each of the different areas of the Borough and identify the key planning-related issues 

across West Lancashire.  

 

4. Spatial Portrait 

Is there any data or evidence available that we haven’t referred to in the Spatial Portrait 

Paper? If so, can you provide us with it or tell us where we can access it?  

 

7.2 Representors agreed with most of the conclusions presented through the spatial 

portrait, particularly in relation to issues like the ageing population. Nonetheless, there 

were suggestions of data or evidence that could be included through future iterations.  

7.3 It was considered that the Local Plan was correct in identifying the regeneration of 

Skelmersdale Town Centre as an important objective and suggested evidence should be 

collated to evidence the leakage of expenditure from Skelmersdale to other areas, the 

loss of high street retailers, and lost ground in the national retail rankings. This was to 

show that the Concourse needs protecting as per the current Policy SP.2. 

7.4 Some felt that the data presented through the Spatial Portrait is inconsistent, 

particularly regarding Up Holland and Bickerstaffe where data on those areas is 

provided separately to Skelmersdale and at other times combined with Skelmersdale. It 

is considered that Up Holland and Bickerstaffe are different in character to 

Skelmersdale and should be treated separately. Summary statements cannot therefore 

accurately reflect the area as a whole.  

7.5 There were complaints that there was no mention of fracking and the negative impacts 

it would have on tourism, agriculture and the environment. Halsall Parish Council 

provided links to evidence from USA research on the damage caused by fracking. 

Separate links were also provided to data on soil health, peat loss, and water level 

management in the Alt-Crossens catchment by the Lancashire Wildlife Trust.  

7.6 There were demands for the results of the HEDNA and Liverpool City Region SHELMA to 

feature in later iterations of the Spatial Portrait.  Some also wanted the Spatial 

Framework proposals of Greater Manchester and Liverpool, when adopted, to feature 

in the Portrait and CPRE (Campaign to Protect Rural England) provided links to evidence 

rebutting the need for extensive Green Belt release in those areas.  Some respondents 

considered that cross-boundary issues should be emphasised more strongly – felt to be 

particularly important given West Lancashire’s geographical proximity to larger urban 

areas and the Liverpool City Region.  

Page 415



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

50 

 

7.7 One representor requested data be sought that identifies the percentages of pupils at 

primary and secondary levels travelling out of Skelmersdale to reach education, as they 

considered parents are choosing to send their children to schools outside the town.  

7.8 Some representors felt that more emphasis should be given to the importance of 

agricultural and food production and its value to the local economy and provided links 

to BRES and ONS data sources.  

7.9 There were requests for more local infrastructure studies – including road traffic 

assessments in the northern parishes.  Burscough Parish Council offered evidence of 

flooding which they considered is not adequately covered in the evidence base.  

7.10 Some representors stated that the Spatial Portrait made insufficient reference to the 

importance of buildings as heritage assets and buildings at risk. It was considered 

important to explain the contribution of the historic environment to the character of an 

area, its economic well-being and the quality of life of its communities.  

7.11 Finally, others suggested that the evidence should include reference to playing pitch 

strategy and other health related strategies.  The Council’s Economic Development 

Strategy (2015) should be included within the Spatial Portrait.  

 

5. Spatial Portrait (ii) 

Does the Spatial Portrait match your experience of West Lancashire or the area you live, 

work or visit within West Lancashire. If not, what’s different? 

 

7.12 Most people concurred with the Spatial Portrait. However, a small number of 

comments made suggestions for improvement and minor corrections.  

7.13 Some representors felt that the Portrait does not reflect all areas accurately – for 

example, analysis using ward boundaries merges deprived areas with affluent areas to 

blur evidence whilst Ormskirk and Aughton have been merged for administrative and 

political purposes which has resulted in the erosion of Aughton’s identity as a village in 

its own right. Similarly, some respondents considered that Up Holland should not be 

considered as part of Skelmersdale’s whole but be a separate entity geographically and 

culturally. It was felt that the inclusion of Bickerstaffe and Up Holland with 

Skelmersdale as a single coherent area does not facilitate easy analysis of data and 

statements do not apply across all areas; the data is too generalised.  

7.14 There were calls that the Portrait should provide greater commentary on the linkages 

between West Lancashire and other local authority areas and communities. It was also 

considered that more should be made of green infrastructure and more said about the 

importance of agriculture and food production.  Representors wished to emphasise the 

poor infrastructure in the northern parishes – including roads, low water pressure and 

often reduced bus services and health services. They also emphasised the need for 

development to support economic growth, sustain local services and facilities. 

Page 416



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

51 

 

7.15 Representors said the Portrait alluded to the need for the regeneration of Skelmersdale 

town centre but did not adequately express the urgent requirement to deliver a 

credible evening economy and improve the town centre environment. Others felt that 

the Portrait should provide a description and assessment of the historic environment in 

the Borough and the contribution it makes in each area.  

7.16 There were some minor corrections requested, including: 

• Ravenhead brickworks is a SSSI for its geology rather than wildlife; 

• Correction within last sentence relating to Wrightington Bar Pasture SSSI and its 

biological importance; 

• Statement relating to the Borough having “the highest total areas of Wildlife Trust 

reserves in the county” should be corrected as it is incorrect. 

 

6. Key Issues 

Have we identified the correct key issues? Are there any others we’ve missed out? What 

about the issues related to each area – do they correspond with your understanding of 

those areas? 

 

7.17 Again, most respondents agreed that the Spatial Portrait identified the correct key 

issues for the Borough, including the need for affordable housing, sustainable 

development and the issues relating to an increasing, ageing population.  Although it 

was proposed that the Portrait should explicitly acknowledge how issues interlink; for 

example, the link between the growth in ageing population and the decline in the 

working age population and how this impacts on the need to boost economic 

development. 

7.18 Some respondents suggested that the enhancement of waterways and the prevention 

of fracking should be listed as issues. Some felt that the current Portrait only addresses 

international biodiversity issues, but should instead look spatially at ecology in 

strategic/wider landscape terms across the whole of the borough and into adjoining 

authorities and better integrate networks and green infrastructure.  Other respondents 

suggested that the Council should consider the possibility of creating new garden/green 

villages which are currently being promoted by DCLG.  

7.19 Some respondents suggested that a new issue should be ensuring that new 

development in Skelmersdale town centre does not result in the decline of the 

remainder of the town centre (Concourse). The completion of Skelmersdale Town 

Centre should be linked with the creation of an attractive, accessible Tawd Valley Park.  

7.20 Respondents considered that the issue of safety, crime, community safety and reducing 

hospital admissions for violent crime should be addressed through the design of safe 

and accessible environments. 

Page 417



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

52 

 

7.21 There was re-emphasis that education provision needs to be reviewed once housing 

sites have been determined and should therefore be an issue for consideration. 

Provision of employment opportunities and the provision of a support context to 

attract businesses (housing, training, attractive environment) should also be an 

important issue. Development opportunities should be maximised along the M58 

corridor. 

7.22 Some respondents considered greater consideration should be given to the public 

transport provision issues (including bus services, connectivity, Skelmersdale rail station 

proposals) and its interrelation with new development so as not to compound existing 

problems. It was also suggested that air quality management should be an issue to 

address.  

7.23 Respondents suggested that the disparity between Skelmersdale and the remainder of 

the Borough needs to be stressed and addressed more effectively.  

7.24 Respondents thought that cross-boundary issues and the role of West Lancashire in the 

Liverpool City Region should be given greater emphasis.  

7.25 Respondents considered that the emerging Local Plan should ensure it encourages 

sustainable development, and reduces any impact on the environment locally, 

regionally, nationally and internationally, so that we can all live sustainably. As with the 

previous questions, respondents suggested that protecting agricultural land should be a 

key issue as it is of national, not just regional, importance.  Others reminded that there 

is no mention of key heritage assets or the historic environment.  

  

Page 418



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

53 

 

8. Duty to Co-operate 

8.1 Ten organisations that are covered by the Duty to Co-operate, as well as a further three 

that are key stakeholders related to strategic and / or cross boundary issues, responded 

to the Local Plan Review: Issues & Options Consultation.  Where these organisations 

made specific comments on individual issues, these have been covered in the relevant 

sections above.  However, it is important to specifically identify the key Duty to Co-

operate issues that have been raised by these organisations at this early stage of the 

Local Plan Review against the Strategic Priorities set out in NPPF paragraph 156.  This 

section of the Consultation Feedback Report therefore identifies the key Duty to Co-

operate Issues raised. 

Homes and Jobs 

8.2 In general, the key issues that tend to be relevant to this NPPF Strategic Priority are 

those of the delivery of housing and employment opportunities, and issues that derive 

from the relationship between these two factors (such as commuting ratios).  As such, 

the Council is seeking to address these key issues together through the Liverpool City 

Region Strategic Housing and Employment Land Market Assessment (SHELMA) but, 

given this assessment is still being prepared by the City Region Authorities (including 

West Lancashire Borough Council (WLBC)), some of the Council’s neighbouring 

authorities have made comments on this issue. 

8.3 Sefton Council have raised the potential issue that they may not be able to meet all of 

their long-term housing and employment land needs within Sefton and so WLBC may 

need to consider whether it can accommodate any of this long-term need.  However, 

Sefton cannot quantify what this long-term need may be at the current time.  Sefton 

also consider that, should WLBC seek to meet any of Sefton’s longer-term needs, they 

should be accommodated as close as possible to Southport (the area within Sefton 

most constrained and unable to meet development needs).  In addition, Sefton agrees 

that some of the City Region’s need for large-scale B8 logistics development identified 

in the SHELMA could be met in WLBC, along the M58. 

8.4 Knowsley Council have confirmed that they do not require WLBC to meet any of their 

development needs.  St Helens Council have stated support for the identified 

Objectively-Assessed Need for WLBC and have stated their willing ness to continue to 

work with WLBC as both the St Helens and the West Lancashire Local Plans are 

prepared to consider how each authority may help each other meet their objectively 

assessed development needs. 

8.5 Another factor in the delivery of homes and jobs is the length of the Local Plan period, 

with the Council proposing two options – to 2037 or to 2050.  Sefton and Knowsley 

have both expressed some concern about planning beyond 2037, but Lancashire County 

Page 419



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

54 

 

Council (LCC) welcome the suggestion, as it could contribute to achieving wider 

strategic economic and regeneration objectives. 

Retail, Leisure and other Commercial Development 

8.6 LCC provided comments on the retail options discussed in the Economic Policy Options 

Paper, primarily in relation to seeking more sustainable and healthy living by reducing 

the need for car-based journeys. 

Infrastructure 

8.7 Sefton and St Helens Councils both made comments on the need for any development 

near to their boundaries to be planned with regard to cross-boundary impacts on 

infrastructure, particularly in relation to highways, public transport and education.  

LCC’s School Planning Team also provided detailed comments on planning for education 

as part of the Local Plan Review in relation to how any increased demand for school 

places will be identified and accommodated, in particular the difficulties of calculating 

accurate pupil projections if the Local Plan were to cover a longer Plan period.  LCC and 

Highways England both commented on the need to continue to work with the Council 

as the Local Plan Review progresses, to identify any impacts on the highways networks 

in and around WLBC. 

Health, security, community and cultural infrastructure 

8.8 Several organisations made general comments on the need to ensure appropriate 

provision of community and cultural infrastructure and to promote healthier lifestyles 

through the way places are planned, including LCC and Sport England.  However, these 

issues, while important, are not necessarily relevant to the Duty to Co-operate as they 

are not cross-boundary issues for WLBC, but they have been considered against the 

relevant issues in the earlier sections of this report. 

Climate change and natural and historic environment 

8.9 As statutory consultees with responsibility for particular aspects of the natural and 

historic environment, Natural England, the Environment Agency and Historic England 

have all provided detailed comments on their respective areas of expertise, as have the 

Lancashire Wildlife Trust, and these have been considered against the relevant issues in 

the earlier sections of this report.  However, with the exception of some localised 

drainage / flooding issues and some ecological issues (mainly covered by the Habitats 

Regulations Assessment), these issues are not cross-boundary issues and so are not 

wholly relevant to the Duty to Co-operate. 

 

 

Page 420



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

55 

 

Summary 

8.10 Those organisations who are affected by the Duty to Co-operate and have responded to 

the Local Plan Review consultation have raised several relevant issues that will require 

further consideration and discussion.  Most crucially, the on-going co-operation with 

neighbouring authorities on the provision of homes and jobs will shape the Local Plan 

Review and will, in turn, have impacts on infrastructure provision within WLBC and its 

neighbours, as well as having impacts on the environment which must be managed.  As 

the preferred strategic development option is selected and specific sites identified for 

allocation to meet that preferred option, these issues will need to be considered further 

with the relevant Duty to Co-operate bodies and infrastructure providers. 

   

Page 421



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

56 

 

9.  Developers Forum 

 

9.1 A total of 45 developers and / or agents attended the forum, held at WLBC offices on 20 

March 2017.  At the forum, a number of set questions were asked, relating to key 

issues, in order to generate discussion.  The key issues, and the points made in response 

by the attendees, are set out below. 

 

9.2 Key Issue 1: Why West Lancashire? 

- West Lancashire is a missed opportunity – it enjoys a good position in the region, so 

can sustain a good level of housing and economic development; 

- Market potential – the Borough has not fulfilled that potential because it is 

restricted by the Green Belt, despite being reasonable location-wise; 

- Advantage of a University in Ormskirk; 

- M58 Corridor – this has good opportunities for logistics operations with the 

Superport; 

- The Borough enjoys good infrastructure, albeit with some shortfalls, e.g. no station 

at Skelmersdale; 

- Eastern Parishes doesn’t have enough population because the Green Belt is 

constraining it; the area is deteriorating; 

- Opportunities exist for a new settlement option; 

- House builders need some commitment from the Council to invest; investment is 

needed in Skelmersdale rail, Skelmersdale Town Centre, the West Lancashire Route 

Management Strategy, and in water-related infrastructure. 

 

9.3 Key Issue 2: How much new development? 

The Plan should go for higher numbers to: 

- deliver economic growth and affordable housing need; 

- take advantage of the Superport; 

- satisfy NPPF which seeks positive opportunities for growth, as Cheshire East have 

done; 

- let market decide – provide an over-supply to help deliver affordables and to 

provide range and choice – market will move to West Lancs if there is a boost to 

supply; 

- plan for longer-term in order to plan properly and release GB in one go (so don’t 

have to have GB debate each Local Plan); 

- provide labour force to industrial areas (Knowsley Industrial Park works because 

residential areas on doorstep, Castleford another good example). 

However, there is a limit to the market, a ceiling (though its value is unknown; this is a 

national issue) because of the limited number of housebuilders – this is even more so in 

Skelmersdale, so a broader selection of market locations is needed.  Skelmersdale Rail is 

a game changer though and provides opportunities to make good new places in 

outlying areas of Skelmersdale to raise this ceiling. 

 

 

Page 422



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

57 

 

9.4 Key Issue 3: Where should we put new development? 

(The question posed was the same as Issues and Options consultation question 11.) 

- All 4 scenarios (reflect existing distribution, Key Service Centres, rural focus, 

Skelmersdale focus); don’t concentrate on one area – all need to grow. 

- Make use of previously developed sites on brownfield land in the Green Belt; have a 

more flexible policy for these.  

 

9.5 Key Issue 4: What kind of employment development is needed and where? 

- The M58 Corridor is the best option, but this corridor needs to be defined. 

 

9.6 Key Issue 5: Do we need sites for retail and town centre uses? 

- Skelmersdale needs more retail, so policy needs more flexibility to stop leakage of 

food spend elsewhere. 

- Could also do with a non-food retail park. 

 

9.7 Key Issue 6: Specialist Housing 

- Need a cross section of accommodation types across the sites collectively 

- Industry is nervous about compartmentalising people 

- Could elderly housing be exempt from the Community Infrastructure Levy? 

- Provision of affordable housing is driven by Registered Providers 

- The house building industry is embracing Starter Homes and is ready to deliver 

them 

- Developers would welcome off-site delivery of affordable and specialist housing 

 

 

  

Page 423



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

58 

 

10. Questionnaire work  

10.1 This chapter provides a summary of the comments made during informal on-street 

questionnaires which were carried out over the course of 2-3 hours each in several 

locations. These locations comprised Skelmersdale Concourse Shopping Centre 

(Wednesday 19 April), Ormskirk Town Centre (Thursday 20 April), West Lancashire 

College, Skelmersdale Campus (Wednesday 19 April) and Edge Hill University 

(Wednesday 5 April).  This form of consultation, and in these locations, was carried out 

in order to gain the opinions of those who would not generally participate in Local Plan 

consultations. The questionnaire was designed to be short, taking no more than five 

minutes to answer, and the questions were tailored to the specific location. The 

questions asked are set out below, and this is followed by a summary of each 

consultation event. 

 

Edge Hill University 

• What's the best thing about living in / studying in Ormskirk? 

• What's the worst thing and what can we do about it? 

• Would you consider living in Ormskirk or the surrounding area after you graduate? 

• What would prevent you from doing this? 

 

West Lancashire College (Skelmersdale Campus) 

• What's the best thing about (living in) Skelmersdale? [OR, if not from Skelmersdale] 

Why did you choose to come to West Lancs College? 

• What is good about Skelmersdale? 

• What would you do to improve Skelmersdale? 

• Would you consider living in the area after you finish college? Why? 

• What would stop you from choosing to live in the area? 

 

Ormskirk Town Centre/Skelmersdale Concourse Shopping Centre   

• What's the best thing about living in / visiting [Ormskirk/Skelmersdale]? 

• What is the worst thing about living in / visiting [Ormskirk/Skelmersdale] and what 

would you want the Council to do about it? 

• Where should the Council try to focus new development in the future? (3 options: 

build as much as possible within the towns and villages; on the edge of towns and 

villages; or by creating new towns and villages). 

• What sort of new housing do you think is needed in [Ormskirk / Skelmersdale] or 

wider West Lancs? 

• What sort of business and job opportunities do you think that we need to attract to 

[Ormskirk / Skelmersdale] or wider West Lancs? 

• What infrastructure improvements are needed in Ormskirk/ West Lancs? 

  

Page 424



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

59 

 

Edge Hill University 

10.2 25 responses were collected in total from students at Edge Hill University. The majority 

of students spoken to had a positive view of Ormskirk as a town. Many of these cited 

the smaller, market town feel as something they valued. Some used the word ‘friendly’ 

to describe the town and many valued its good transport links, particularly to Liverpool 

City Centre. 16 of those asked thought that Ormskirk offered a reasonable range of 

shops which provided them with what they needed day-to-day.  

10.3 Of those who responded to the question concerning negative aspects of the town, 

several expressed concern about the number of recent shop closures which had taken 

place in the main shopping area. Some cited the lack of things to do, particularly leisure 

facilities, as something they would like to see improved. A couple of responses 

specifically highlighted the lack of a cinema in the town, necessitating a journey to 

Southport. A similar number stated that it can be a confusing place to navigate by car 

due to the one-way system. Lack of parking was also raised by two students who 

travelled primarily by car to the University. A number of students living in the town 

itself, rather than on the University campus, expressed concern about the cost of 

student rental accommodation and the standard of these properties given the cost, for 

example there can be issues of noise in some locations.  

10.4 The majority of students surveyed did not anticipate staying in Ormskirk / West 

Lancashire following graduation. Generally this was due to the ‘pull’ of their home town 

and family ties, rather than any local issues ‘pushing’ them away.  However there was a 

general perception that the labour market in their home town / city offered more job 

opportunities.  Three students felt that moving to a larger city such as Liverpool or 

Manchester would provide better job opportunities; a similar number had a specific 

employment sector in mind, or a location that would take them away from the area. 

One student expressed a desire to live and work abroad following graduation. However 

ten students (most of whom already lived relatively locally) wished to remain in the 

local area, if future employment offers allow. One trainee teacher stated that West 

Lancashire has a number of good local schools and would thus be an attractive location.   

 

West Lancashire College (Skelmersdale campus) 

10.5 Thirty six responses were gathered during the consultation of students in Skelmersdale. 

Twenty five of those interviewed were from the town itself with the remaining 11 

travelling from elsewhere (mostly from within West Lancashire). Around eight 

Skelmersdale residents interviewed did not like living in the area and did not highlight 

any positive aspects of living there. However the remaining students mentioned some 

positive features of the town which included the College, the availability of shops and a 

green environment in which to live. Two students stated that they lived in a quiet area 

which is something that they valued.  

10.6 A number of suggestions were made by students concerning improvements that could 

be made to the town. The overwhelming complaint was that there was not enough to 

Page 425



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

60 

 

do in the Town Centre of an evening. Students cited a lack of restaurants, cinemas, pubs 

and other leisure activities. Several supported the idea of a train station opening in 

Skelmersdale.  13 made comments in relation to infrastructure including roads, parks 

and signage, complaining that these were poor and deteriorating. Three also would like 

to see better sporting facilities provided in the town, whilst others are keen to see  a 

better range of shops provided within Skelmersdale.   

10.7 Despite this, most of the students interviewed expressed a desire to continue living in 

Skelmersdale after finishing at College.  This was generally due to family connections or 

ties within the town, although some cited the availability of housing as a reason for 

staying. Amongst the reasons for wanting to leave was the presence of gangs in the 

area and the feeling that it was not safe or desirable to go out of an evening and there 

was no real destination to visit in the Town Centre.  

 

Ormskirk Town Centre 

10.8 A total of 30 people were interviewed in Ormskirk Town Centre on market day.  Those 

commenting commonly valued its character as a small ‘friendly’ market town with a 

reasonable range of shops and good public transport connections to other areas of 

Lancashire and Merseyside.  

10.9 Negative issues raised by respondents typically concerned the number of town centre 

shops that had recently closed.  Some considered the area was declining, particularly 

the range of shops.  Four people felt that there were too many student properties in 

what is a small town, impacting negatively on the local environment and mix of people 

living there.  One resident identified a lack of facilities for those with young children – 

i.e. shops for baby clothes, a Children’s Centre or adequate play and nursery facilities.   

10.10 When consulted on the location of future development in Ormskirk, five people felt 

that the town centre was already too crowded in terms of development, and that there 

were insufficient brownfield sites left to develop upon. These people also expressed 

concern that any green sites should be considered for housing as they valued local 

parks and green areas within the town.  

10.11 In relation to the types of new housing that should be provided, over half of those who 

commented highlighted a lack of first time buyer and/or affordable homes. Many felt 

this section of the market had been ‘taken over’ and used as student homes.  

10.12 When asked about employment and business and job opportunities, some felt that 

there was a lack of support and accommodation for small, independent shops and 

businesses in the town.  Two people suggested that more employment space could be 

established on the outskirts of the town or near the motorway, but others considered 

that large scale employment was probably inappropriate for a town of Ormskirk’s size. 

10.13 Responses in relation to infrastructure improvements focussed around traffic 

congestion and parking with thirteen people raising this issue.  

Page 426



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

61 

 

Skelmersdale Concourse Shopping Centre 

10.14 Sixteen responses were received during an on-street questionnaire session in the 

Concourse Shopping Centre. Three people interviewed picked out the sense of 

community and the people in their neighbourhoods as what they valued about 

Skelmersdale.  A similar number liked the green surroundings of the housing estates 

and the fact that the town was surrounded by countryside. However in contrast, three 

people stated that they didn’t enjoy living in the area and were looking to move out. A 

small number of people interviewed were not Skelmersdale residents but had travelled 

to the Concourse to use the shops and appreciated these facilities and the availability of 

free parking.  

10.15 Seven people when asked what improvements should be made to the area responded 

that there was little to do of an evening in the town, specifically mentioning a lack of 

bars and restaurants. This linked into the observation by several people that there was 

a poor range and choice of shops in the Concourse and a number perceived this as 

getting worse.  

10.16 There was a mix of responses when people were asked where new development should 

be located. Only one person supported the development of underused green spaces, 

one suggested density of development could be increased while two felt that building 

on the edge of the town was preferable.  

10.17 Again, a mix of responses was received in response to the question about the sort of 

housing that people felt would be required in the future. Most people suggested this 

needed to be ‘affordable’ and three stated that more family homes were required. A 

similar number claimed that there was a need for more bungalows and housing 

specifically for older people. Three people expressed a wish to see more energy 

efficient homes that were cheap to heat and run, highlighting the incidence of fuel 

poverty in the area.  

10.18 In relation to employment provision, people gave many different responses. Many felt 

that a flexible approach was necessary to attract any business willing to invest in the 

area. There was some concern expressed by three people that skills should match the 

jobs available in the local area. One person suggested that providing a better evening 

offer in terms of entertainment could improve job opportunities – for example in the 

restaurant sector.  

10.19  By far the most common response to the question concerning infrastructure 

requirements in Skelmersdale was that the town needs a railway station. Almost 

everyone questioned raised this topic. One person suggested that there was a need for 

better sports facilities which can be used by all, but particularly young people.  

 

  

Page 427



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

62 

 

11. Representations on other matters 

11.1 In addition to the 37 consultation questions relating to the content of the four Options 

Papers and the Spatial Portrait, comments were invited or permitted on other 

supporting and / or evidence base documents, including the Strategic Flood Risk 

Assessment Level 1, the Strategic Housing and Employment Land Availability 

Assessment, the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, and the Sustainability Appraisal.  The 

comments received, as well as general comments not included elsewhere in this report, 

are summarised below. 

 

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Level 1) 

11.2 There were 8 responses to the Issues and Options public consultation that are of 

relevance to the draft Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 (February 2017) which 

provides evidence to inform the emerging Local Plan. Five responses were from 

members of the public, two from Parish Councils and one from the Environment 

Agency. Those responses can be summarised as follows: 

• Rufford, Halsall and Burscough were considered to be areas at risk of local flooding. 

Drainage was considered as being inadequate in Burscough and concerns were 

expressed in relation to the impact of new development on surface water flooding 

and flooding from sewers; 

• The potential closure of pumping stations in the Alt-Crossens catchment area would 

adversely affect agriculture, the wider economy, infrastructure and housing.  

• Evidence of flooding is available that has not been adequately covered by the 

evidence base. (NB Paragraph 7.1 of the draft SFRA indicates what official sources of 

flooding are taken into account in the document); 

• Whilst the SFRA is a very thorough review it takes no account of increased future 

risk from flooding due to climate change. Extreme caution should be applied to 

increasing development in high flood risk zones and the Local Plan should consider 

the lifetime of housing development. Improved data may come to light during the 

lifetime of the Plan; 

• There will be a significant reduction in EA maintenance in the Alt-Crossens 

catchment, withdrawing land drainage operations, and creating uncertainty. This 

requires specific attention in the Local Plan and for the Council to fully engage with 

partners. The increase in ground saturation and rising groundwater levels will be a 

major issue with off-site flooding likely to become increasingly relevant. 

11.3 In addition, a comment was received at the Rural East Public Workshop that the draft 

SFRA also needed to take topography into account. 

 

Page 428



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

63 

 

11.4 Finally, the representation from the Environment Agency made several detailed 

comments for amendment of the SFRA, including: 

• Ormskirk is a high flood risk area.  Add a comment about the interaction between 

the older drainage systems and Sandy Brook; 

• Parbold should be added as an area at risk from flooding. There are no flood 

defences in the vicinity of Parbold; 

• The SFRA should define Flood Zone 3b (functional floodplain); 

• Commentary relating to flood risk management systems (part of section 8) should 

be removed. The diversion of Calico Brook into East Quarry at Appley Bridge has 

ceased. 

 

Strategic Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA) 

11.5 A ‘Call for Sites’ exercise was carried out seeking suggestions for suitable sites for 

housing, employment, and other land uses, as part of the Local Plan Issues and Options 

Consultation.  People were also given the opportunity to comment on the methodology 

and findings of the Draft Strategic Housing and Employment Land Availability 

Assessment (‘SHELAA’). 

11.6 This ‘Call for Sites’ and consultation was extended to those on the Council’s Local Plan 

Consultation Database, and also to people who owned, or who had submitted sites for 

the SHELAA in previous ‘Calls for Sites’.  Information requested included: 

• Site specification – size, current uses, planning history 

• Proposed uses – indication of capacity and potential timeframe for delivery 

• Other information, e.g. on known constraints, viability. 

11.7 The 2017 Call for Sites yielded a total of 15 new sites – 7 for housing only, 1 for 

employment only, and 7 for mixed uses including employment. 

11.8 The consultation on the Draft SHELAA also generated 42 responses in relation to 

existing sites.  These responses tended to involve the submission of additional 

details on sites, including timescales for anticipated delivery, and supporting 

information e.g. topographical surveys.  However, much of the material received 

simply reiterated information already contained within the existing site submission 

forms. 

11.9 The above submissions will be incorporated into the 2017 SHELAA, and will be reflected 

in the final 2017 SHELAA report which will be published later in the year, and will inform 

the next stage of the West Lancashire Local Plan Review. 

 

Sustainability Appraisal 

11.10 No specific representations were received on the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) per se, 

although it was mentioned in two representations: one representor simply repeated 

national policy and Regulations in stating that SA needs to be undertaken and that it 

Page 429



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

64 

 

should inform the Local Plan strategy;  Lancashire County Council referred to the SA in 

their comments on several Options questions: 

• Key Issues (question 6) – acknowledges that hospital admissions for violent crime is 

listed as an indicator in the SA; this should influence urban design considerations; 

• Location of development (question 13): LCC agrees with the SA's conclusion that 

Options 1 and 2 are the most sustainable; 

• Infrastructure (question 14): the SA includes an indicator on numbers killed or 

seriously injured on roads; this should be reflected in the Plan, with highway safety 

being a key area for consideration in the Preferred Options paper; 

• Healthy town centres (question 19): the SA concludes that Option 3 is likely to be 

the most sustainable; consideration should be given to policies that  contribute to 

healthy town centres to address specific health inequalities; 

• Affordable housing (question 27): it is noted that in the SA, Option 4 (detailed AH 

policy) and Option 8 (flexibility in the definition of AH) perform well relative to the 

baseline. 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment 

11.11 A representation was received from Natural England which agreed that the spatial 

options were insufficiently developed to accurately predict potential effects upon 

European designated sites. They expressed a desire to discuss evidence that will be 

needed on which to base an effective Habitats Regulations Assessment as the Local Plan 

progresses. 

 

Other (General) Comments 

11.12 Various other comments were made during the consultation, not directly relating to 

any specific Issue and Options question, or supporting document, but of relevance 

to the plan-making process, including: 

• Consideration should be given to policy options to facilitate healthy lifestyles; 

• Concern was raised about the possibility of hydraulic fracturing (‘fracking’) in West 

Lancashire.  (Note: this matter is beyond the remit of the West Lancashire Local Plan 

Review, but comes under the authority of Lancashire County Council, as Minerals 

and Waste Planning Authority.) 

• Burscough Parish Council requested that comments made by individuals be given 

equal weight to comments made by agents on behalf of landowners or developers. 

(Note: West Lancashire Borough Council has always attached equal weight to 

comments received from all respondents and will continue to do so.) 

• One member of the public expressed the view that the Equality Impact Assessment 

for the Local Plan Review Issues and Options Cabinet Report was inadequate, and 

that more attention needs to be paid to those with protected characteristics, for 

example people with a disability. 

  

Page 430



West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

65 

 

12. Conclusions 

12.1 A total of 113 representations were received on the Local Plan Review Issues and 

Options consultation, from a range of different stakeholders (statutory consultees, 

Parish Councils, residents’ groups, individuals, organisations, developers, landowners 

and agents) covering a very wide variety of topics.  15 further representations were 

received on the Scope of the Local Plan Review. 

12.2 A total of 138 people (excluding Council officers) attended the six consultation 

workshops around the Borough.  24 West Lancashire Borough Councillors and 12 Parish 

Councillors attended their respective forums.  45 developers and / or agents attended 

the Developers’ Forum, and 8 neighbouring authorities attended the Duty to Co-

Operate meeting hosted by the Council. 

12.3 It is not surprising, given the nature of the questions asked, and the range of 

respondents, that the answers received to the different questions varied significantly 

between different stakeholders, and often between different areas of the Borough. 

Given the number of questions asked (over 35) and the range of views, this concluding 

chapter of the Consultation Feedback Report will not attempt to provide an overall 

summary of the representations received and reported in earlier chapters. 

12.4 In due course, the Council will respond where appropriate, in a separate report, to 

points made in the representations on the Local Plan Review Issues and Options 

consultation, in line with the requirements of the West Lancashire Statement of 

Community Involvement (SCI).  As stated in the SCI, the Council is not bound to respond 

to each individual submission / representation to the consultation. 

12.5 The full set of representations can be viewed on the Council’s website: 

http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/the-local-plan/local-plan-review.aspx  

12.6 The next stage of preparation of the Local Plan Review will be the Preferred Options 

stage, in which the preferred strategy for the future development of West Lancashire 

will be set out.  It is envisaged that consultation on the Local Plan Review Preferred 

Options document will take place in summer 2018. 

 

Page 431



West Lancashire Local Plan Review Issues and Options – Consultation Feedback Report  June 2017 

66 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally left blank (formatted for double-sided printing) 

Page 432



 

67 

 

Appendix 1 Consultation Questions 

The 37 consultation questions on the Local Plan Review – Issues and Options documents are as 

follows: 

 

1-3. (Personal details – name, address, etc. Do you wish to be added to our consultation database?) 

 

4. Spatial Portrait 

 

The accompanying Spatial Portrait Paper considers how the Borough is currently functioning in economic, social and 

environmental terms, looking at key indicators and data to identify issues that the Borough is facing and assessing 

the physical nature of the Borough, be that in terms of the natural environment, built environment or infrastructure 

provision.  It identifies a series of issues for each part of the Borough that the Local Plan should seek to address but 

also pinpoints several key issues which affect the whole, or most of, the Borough. 

Is there any data or evidence available that we haven't referred to in the Spatial Portrait Paper? 

If so, can you provide us with it or tell us where we can access it?  

5. Does the Spatial Portrait match your experience of West Lancashire or the area you live, work or visit within 

West Lancashire? If not, what's different? 

 

6. Have we identified the correct key issues? Are there any others we've missed out? What about the issues 

related to each area - do they correspond with your understanding of those areas? 

 

7. A draft Vision for West Lancashire 

The Vision is what the Council would like to see achieved for West Lancashire, based on the current evidence 

available. 

West Lancashire will be an attractive place where people want to live, work and visit.  The Borough will retain its 

local character and will also make the most of its highly accessible location within the North West and its links with 

the three City Regions of Liverpool, Greater Manchester and Central Lancashire and to this end will be an outward 

looking proactive partner within this setting. 

West Lancashire will grow economically; creating jobs, attracting new businesses and making sure that existing 

employers have every opportunity to expand and succeed in the Borough, set within the three City Regions context. 

West Lancashire will play its part in providing a fantastic range of housing, at the right quality, as a fundamental 

factor in delivering economic growth and leaving a lasting, vital legacy for the next generations.  This will include 

provision of affordable housing to ensure positive impacts on the health, wellbeing, social mobility and general 

quality of life for West Lancashire residents. 

The Borough’s three main settlements of Skelmersdale with Up Holland, Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough will 

be the focus for new development, with each town building on its individual strengths but all three working together 

to reduce inequality across the Borough by providing a well-rounded employment base, opportunities for business 

and the right residential mix.  The regeneration of Skelmersdale in particular will be vital to this and all three town 

centres will be more robust and vibrant, offering what people need in a 21st Century town centre. 

West Lancashire’s fantastic potential will have been developed through investment in young people through 

education and training and in particular working with Edge Hill University and West Lancashire College to ensure 

that a greater number of post graduate jobs are created in order to retain skills and talents within the Borough. 

Page 433



 

68 

 

In rural areas, Village and Hamlet settlements will retain their rural character whilst seeking to provide local focal 

points for services and employment, where appropriate, and the provision of good quality affordable homes.  The 

agricultural and horticultural industry will continue to be a focus in rural areas. 

The identity and unique landscape of West Lancashire will be valued, enhanced and sustained in accordance with 

best practice, enabling people to access and enjoy all that it offers.  This will incorporate the Borough’s historic 

buildings and character, its valuable and important wildlife, habitats and biodiversity, its vital agricultural role and its 

network of green spaces and waterways. 

Infrastructure in West Lancashire will be improved and focused on the places that need it, be that improved 

sustainable transport options within and between the larger settlements and to key locations outside of the Borough 

(such as the proposed Skelmersdale Rail Link), improved utilities and communications, improved education offer or 

improved health, community and leisure infrastructure – all of which will provide a better, and healthier, quality of 

life for those who live, work and visit in West Lancashire. 

What do you think of the draft Vision for the Local Plan? Does it cover all it needs to? Is it aiming for the right 

improvements? 

 

8. Objectives 

Objectives set out how the Vision will be delivered. They are important in guiding what the planning policies should 

aim to achieve, and in monitoring whether the policies are working successfully after the Local Plan is adopted. 

The draft Objectives are: 

Objective 1: Sustainable Communities 

Objective 2: A Healthy Population 

Objective 3: A high quality built environment 

Objective 4: Addressing climate change 

Objective 5: Reduced inequality 

Objective 6: The right mix of housing 

Objective 7: A vitalized economy 

Objective 8: Vibrant town and village centres 

Objective 9: Accessible services 

Objective 10: A natural environment 

Are the draft Objectives seeking to achieve the right things? Are they specific enough, or are they too detailed? 

Have we missed anything out?  

 

9. Strategic Development Options 

The 3 variables 

The Strategic Development Options focus on potential options for delivering new housing and employment land, 

and the options cover three variables:  

� How much new housing and employment land we should provide each year 

� How far into the future the Local Plan is to look (the Local Plan period) 

� How we spread new development land around the Borough 

The amount of development land required 

In relation to the amount of development land required per year, we are considering five options. 

The options are, for each year of the plan period,: 

� A: Approximately 8 ha of land (for 200 dwellings) and 2 ha of employment land 

� B: Approximately 12 ha of land (for 300 dwellings) and 3 ha of employment land 

� C: Approximately 16 ha of land (for 400 dwellings) and 4 ha of employment land 

� D: Approximately 20 ha of land (for 500 dwellings) and 5 ha of employment land 

� E: Approximately 24 ha of land (for 600 dwellings) and 6 ha of employment land 

*One hectare (ha) is about the size of one and a half football pitches. 

Which option for the amount of housing and employment land development required per year do you think is the 

most appropriate for West Lancashire? Why? 

Page 434



 

69 

 

10. The Local Plan Period 

We are considering two time periods for the Local Plan, both of which have a base date of 2012 to match the base 

data of the SHELMA* and the current Local Plan. 

*The SHELMA (Strategic Housing and Employment Land Market Assessment) is an important study we are 

undertaking with neighbouring Merseyside councils to work out our future housing and employment land needs. 

The options are:  

� Option I - 2012 to 2037 

� Option II - 2012 to 2050 

Should the Council go for a standard Plan Period (Option I) or plan longer-term (Option II)? Why? 

 

11. Distributing the development requirements across West Lancashire 

A further consideration for the Strategic Development 

Options is the way the total amount of development 

land required is spread across the Borough. Whichever 

way the Borough is sub-divided, there will always be 

imperfect fits, as administrative boundaries never fully 

reflect the way the real world works, but we think the 

following Spatial Areas are more appropriate. 

Are the proposed spatial areas appropriate? If not, 

how should the Borough be divided up to help identify 

where development should go? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12. In terms of the distribution of new development between these new areas, we have identified four realistic 

potential scenarios that we might wish to take forward. 

The options are:   

� Scenario 1: Spread new development around West Lancashire according to the proportionate size of existing 

towns and villages. 

� Scenario 2: Focus new development in and around the key service centres* of Skelmersdale, Ormskirk and 

Burscough 

� Scenario 3: Allocate less development to the key service centres and more to the rural areas such as the 

Northern Parishes. 

� Scenario 4: Focus development on Skelmersdale; grow Skelmersdale significantly more than the other key 

service centres. 

*Key service centres (such as Ormskirk and Burscough) are those centres that have a good range of retail and service 

provision that can meet day to day needs, particularly for convenience (food) shopping. They will also have a primary 

school, secondary school, local employment, GP surgery, playing fields/areas and regular public transport services. A 

full explanation of the different types of centres can be found in the 'Sustainable Settlement Study'. 

Page 435



 

70 

 

Which scenario for the distribution of housing and employment land requirements around the Borough is most 

appropriate? Why? Would you prefer a completely different option or distribute development differently in any 

way? 

 

13. The location of new development 

The previous question asks how we should spread development across West Lancashire. But we also need to think 

about where new development should go in relation to what exists at present. For example, should we try and fit 

new development within existing settlements, or put it in the countryside? 

The options are:  

� Option 1: Maximise the capacity of existing settlements by prioritising infill developments within built-up areas 

or by building higher. 

� Option 2: Locate new development adjacent to existing settlements to reduce the need to travel and reduce 

emissions. 

� Option 3: Create brand new settlements with the necessary associated infrastructure. 

� Option 4: Entirely restrict new development in areas at risk of flooding (i.e. in Flood Zones* 2 or 3 or in a Critical 

Drainage Area). 

* Flood zones are mapped by the Environment Agency and refer to the likelihood of river and sea flooding, ignoring 

the presence of any defences. Flood zone 2 is a medium chance of flooding (or the chance of flooding once in every 

100 or 200 years). Flood zone 3 is a high chance of flooding (or the chance of flooding more than once in every 100 

years). There are no critical drainage areas in West Lancashire at present. 

Where should new development be located in principle? Are there any key constraints (potentially such as flood 

risk) which would mean development should be severely limited in the areas affected by those constraints? 

 

14. Providing infrastructure and services 

Identifying what infrastructure and services will be required to support a new Local Plan will depend upon which 

strategic development options are ultimately selected and which sites are allocated to meet the Local Plan 

requirements. However, infrastructure is still a key issue that we must consider at this early stage of plan 

preparation. The different options for the amount of new development, and the whereabouts in the Borough it 

should go, all have their own implications for infrastructure and services provision. 

In your experience, what are the infrastructure and transport constraints in the areas of West Lancashire that you 

live, work and spend leisure time in? Where is infrastructure and transport well-provided for in West Lancashire 

and in what way? 

 

15. Economic Policy Issue 1: Providing the right scale, mix and distribution of employment land 

We need to contribute towards sustainable national economic growth. This includes providing the right size and mix 

of employment sites, better connecting Lancashire, supporting the rural and visitor economy and improving 

knowledge and skills. It places particular focus upon Skelmersdale. We need to consider how much future 

development should take place, where it should be, what type of development, which specific areas need to be 

regenerated, how business can be supported and how local communities can benefit. 

The options are:  

� Option 1: Allocate sites specifically for strategic distribution and warehousing needs 

� Option 2: Allocate sites to encourage geographical clusters of specialist employment uses 

� Option 3: Allocate all new sites for a range of 'B class' uses* 

� Option 4: Increase town centre office sites 

*Class B of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order (1987). This includes uses such as business and light 

industry (Class B1), general industry (B2), and warehousing (B8). 

Which policy option or options above for how we should allocate land for employment sites do you think is the 

most appropriate for West Lancashire? Why? Is there an alternative option that you think is appropriate that has 

not been considered? If so, what is it? 

 

Page 436



 

71 

 

16. Economic Policy Issue 2: Existing Employment Areas 

The following options consider how we should treat existing employment areas. 

The options are:  

� Option 1: Continue with the existing Local Plan policy approach - i.e. protect employment uses on the most 

important sites; allow for other uses in certain situations on other sites 

� Option 2: Protect all existing employment areas for business class employment uses 

� Option 3: Designate selected employment areas either wholly or in part for non-business class uses 

� Option 4: Do not protect employment areas for Class B1, B2 and B8 uses* 

*Class B of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order (1987). This includes uses such as business and light 

industry (Class B1), general industry (B2), and warehousing (B8). 

What kind of protection do you think the Local Plan should give existing Employment Areas? Why? Is there an 

alternative option that you think is appropriate that has not been considered? If so, what is it? 

 

17. Economic Policy Issue 3: Spreading economic opportunities by supporting the rural economy 

National policy requires local authorities to support the growth of business in rural areas, promote development and 

diversification of agriculture, and support sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments. Providing these rural 

economic opportunities raises multiple and potentially complex issues. The policy options below may either form a 

single future policy or a number of future policies. 

The options are:  

� Option 1: Continue with existing Local Plan Policy approach 

� Option 2: Increased development in rural areas 

� Option 3: A tourism and visitor economy policy 

What do you think about the policy options above for supporting the rural economy? Is there an alternative 

option that you think is appropriate that has not been considered? If so, what is it? 

 

18. Economic Policy Issue 4: Network and hierarchy of centres 

The Local Plan establishes a hierarchy of centres within the Borough:- town centres, large village centres and small 

village centres and local centres. This hierarchy is designed to provide a framework for the type and levels of 

development that will be appropriate for each of those centres. 

The options are:  

� Review the Local Plan centre hierarchy 

There are no other reasonable policy options in relation to this issue. 

Do you have any comments in relation to the Network and Hierarchy of Centres in the Local Plan? 

 

19. Economic Policy Issue 5: Ensuring healthy town, village and local centres - appropriate uses 

Town centres are often the heart of a community and we want to support them. We need to consider whether the 

existing town centres and primary shopping areas* are still appropriate and what uses should be allowed within 

them. 

*Primary shopping areas are the areas of town or village centres where shops are concentrated. Other parts of the 

town centre may have leisure (restaurants, cafes, bars) or business (offices etc) uses so we use the term 'primary 

shopping area' to identify the main retail area. 

The options are:  

� Option 1: Review current town, village and local centre boundaries 

� Option 2: Review current primary shopping area boundaries 

� Option 3: Review what we consider to be appropriate uses in town centres 

Do any of the above options for Ensuring Healthy Town, Village and Local Centres get your support?  If so, why?  Is 

there an alternative option that you think is appropriate that has not been considered? If so, what is it? 

 

  

Page 437



 

72 

 

20. Economic Policy Issue 6: Sites for town centre uses 

Town centre uses are those that you'd typically expect to see in your town centre  - things like shops, cafes, bars, 

restaurants and offices. 

We need to make sure that there are enough sites in our town and village centres to be able to accommodate any 

identified needs for town centre uses. This will allow centres to grow sustainably, meet residents' needs and retain 

spending within the Borough.  

The options are:  

� Option 1: Continue our current approach - make Skelmersdale town centre the priority for investment 

� Option 2: Allocate site(s) for town centre uses at Ormskirk 

� Option 3: Allocate a non-town centre site somewhere in the Borough for a retail warehouse park. 

� Option 4: Allocate a site to meet retail needs in the north of the Borough 

Do we need to allocate Sites for Town Centre Uses within West Lancashire in the Local Plan?  If so, which option 

do you think is most appropriate and why?  Is there an alternative option that you think is appropriate that has 

not been considered? If so, what is it? 

 

21. Are there any other economic policy issues that should also be considered? If so, what are they? 

 

22. Environmental Policy Issue 1: Local Nature Conservation Sites 

There are many levels of protection given to different nature conservation sites. One of the lower levels is called 

'Local Nature Conservation Sites'. However, there is some concern that these sites no longer accurately reflect areas 

that are important to biodiversity and new and alternative assessments could be used to categorise and identify 

sites. National planning policy refers to the establishment of 'ecological networks' - looking at links between 

different sites and how improvements can be made to support nature conservation. We need to consider whether 

to keep the 'Local Nature Conservation Sites' designation, or to base our future policy approach on ecological 

networks. 

The options are:  

� Option 1: Continue with the Local Nature Conservation Sites* designation in the next Local Plan 

� Option 2: Remove the Local Nature Conservation Sites designation from the Local Plan. The sites would instead 

be incorporated into the Ecological Network** and given appropriate protection. 

* Local Nature Conservation Sites are designated by local authorities as areas of locally important nature and 

landscape 

** Ecological Networks are the basic, joined up infrastructure of existing and future habitat needed to allow 

population of species and habitats to survive in changing conditions. 

Should West Lancashire retain the Local Nature Conservation Site designation in the future? Which policy option 

for the management of local nature sites do you think is the most appropriate for West Lancashire?  Why? 

 

23. Environmental Policy Issue 2: Renewable Energy 

Planning can play an important role in reducing greenhouse gas emissions, providing resilience to climate change, 

and delivering renewable energy*. It is important to consider how the Local Plan should encourage the provision of 

renewable energy in West Lancashire. 

*Renewable energy is energy collected from renewable sources - i.e. that which can be generated and replaced in 

short timescales. It includes solar panels and wind turbines. 

The options are:  

� Option 1: Designate specific areas where the generation of wind energy, solar farms and any other renewable 

energy technologies may be appropriate. 

� Option 2: Do not designate any specific areas for renewable energy technologies, but consider any applications 

for the development of such technologies on a case-by-case basis. 

Should West Lancashire Borough Council designate sites for the provision of Renewable Energy?  Which policy 

option for provision of Renewable Energy do you think is the most appropriate for West Lancashire?  Why? 

 

Page 438



 

73 

 

24. Environmental Policy Issue 3: Sustainable Design and Construction 

The way that buildings are designed and constructed can help to reduce the effects of climate change by reducing 

demands on energy - for example through insulation, electric vehicle charging points and use of sustainable 

materials. Design can also help protect and promote biodiversity - for example by providing habitats for wildlife (bird 

boxes, bat bricks, hedgehog friendly fencing). 

The options are:  

� Require specific sustainable design and construction features or measures to be incorporated into new 

developments. 

� Do not require any specific features or measures through policy. 

� Require new development to contribute financially to a Community Energy Fund*. 

*The Community Energy Fund would require certain new developments to pay the Council money, and that money 

would then be used to make existing properties more sustainable or to deliver renewable energy developments. This 

would help reduce the impact of development. 

Which policy option for Sustainable Design and Construction do you think is the most appropriate for West 

Lancashire?  Why?  Would a combination of options help to assist sustainable development? What kind of 

measures could we require of new development? 

 

25. Environmental Policy Issue 4: Sustainable and Healthy Places 

There are obviously lots of factors that influence health, although planning plays a significant role. The layout of new 

developments can contribute to encouraging exercise, improving connectivity, and reducing car usage, improving air 

quality, and improving the attractiveness of the area to enhance mental health and help people with dementia-

related issues navigate their way around the area.   Whilst the Borough has many areas of green spaces, there are 

shortages in certain types of open space and sports facilities and access to them. 

The options are:  

� Option 1: Require developments over a certain size to incorporate features that encourage an active lifestyle for 

local residents and visitors 

� Option 2: Require developments over a certain size to provide direct connections from the development to the 

wider cycling and walking infrastructure. 

� Option 3: Require residential developments over a certain size to incorporate public open space and amenity 

green space. 

Which policy option for creating Sustainable and Healthy Places do you think is the most appropriate for West 

Lancashire?  Would it be appropriate to include more than one of the options in order to create healthy and 

accessible environments for all?  Which ones, and why? 

 

26. Are there any other environmental policy issues that should also be considered? If so, what are they? 

 

27. Social Policy Issue 1: Affordable Housing 

Housing affordability is a long standing issue, in West Lancashire and elsewhere. House prices are high and rising, 

and the Council's ability to deliver affordable housing has been reduced over recent years. The usual policy approach 

has been to require a percentage of houses on schemes above a certain size to be affordable. Moving forward, there 

are various policy options to deliver affordable housing; several of these can be used together. 

The options are: 

Option 1:  Do nothing, i.e. have no policy on affordable housing 

Option 2: Continue with the ‘usual’ approach to affordable housing policy 

Option 3: Carry on with a broadly similar policy to policy RS2 of the current Local Plan 

Option 4: Add more detail to the Local Plan policy e.g. on house sizes and tenures 

Option 5: Allocate specific sites for 100% affordable housing schemes 

Option 6: Allow affordable housing in locations where general market housing would not be permitted 

Option 7:  Allow for more flexibility when delivering affordable housing as part of larger market housing 

developments 

Option 8: Have greater flexibility in what the Council defines as affordable housing 

Page 439



 

74 

 

Which option(s) for the approach towards affordable housing policy do you think is (are) the most appropriate for 

West Lancashire?  Why? 

 

28. Social Policy Issue 2: Demand for self- and custom-build housing 

Self- and custom-build housing ('SCB housing') can take various forms, from individual houses designed and built by 

the person who will live in them, to 'grand design' type properties that are commissioned by the occupant but built 

by tradespeople, to more general housing built by volume housebuilders but with certain internal features chosen 

by the occupant. Interest in self-build and custom-build housing continues to rise, and national policy means that 

Councils must register demand for plots for such housing, and make adequate provision of sites, or plots, to meet 

that demand. 

The options are: 

Option 1: Do not allocate any sites for SCB housing 

Option 2: Set aside parts of larger allocated housing sites for SCB plots 

Option 3: Identify and allocate small sites for SCB dwellings in line with demand 

Do you have an interest in building your own home? Which of the above policy options for self and custom build 

housing do you think would help you to build your own home? Why? 

 

29. Social Policy Issue 3: Demand for alternative residential accommodation  

People may choose to live in caravans (or park homes) and houseboats, rather than 'bricks and mortar housing'. 

Draft government guidance recommends local authorities measure the need for caravan and houseboat 

accommodation and then consider how to meet those needs. We expect to do a needs assessment over coming 

months, but can consider the policy options now. 

The options are: 

Option 1: Allow for caravan or houseboat accommodation to come forward as the market demands 

Option 2: Allocate new sites, or land on the edge of existing sites, for additional caravan-based accommodation or 

mooring berths. 

Option 3: Vary Green Belt policy on a site-specific basis, to allow for expansion or intensification of residential 

caravan sites or mooring berths to meet identified needs 

Do you have any interest in living in a caravan / park home or house boat / canal barge?  Which of the above 

policy options do you think would best ensure the right amount of pitches or berths are made available for 

caravans and houseboats?  Why? 

 

30. Social Policy Issue 4: the Skelmersdale housing market  

The housing market in Skelmersdale is considered weaker than in other areas of the Borough. The regeneration of 

Skelmersdale, in particular the town centre, has been a long standing priority for the Council. There are policies and 

initiatives already in place to strengthen the Skelmersdale housing market, but, moving forward, there are other 

general policy options that could help achieve this goal. 

The options are: 

1) Continue to relax, or further relax policy requirements for housing sites in Skelmersdale 

2) Base the Local Plan Review strategy on the regeneration and expansion of Skelmersdale 

Which policy option for addressing the issue of relative market weakness in Skelmersdale do you think is the most 

appropriate?  Why? 

 

  

Page 440



 

75 

 

31. Social Policy Issue 5: The social requirements of older people  

'Older people' covers a very broad group, but generally speaking 'older people' have a number of requirements - 

they should be able to access facilities (including health care), services and social networks; they should be able to 

engage with their local or closest communities; they should have access to public and/or private transport; they 

should have employment and training opportunities; and they should feel safe and supported. Planning can affect 

ease of access to facilities, social opportunities and transport.  

The options are: 

• Option 1: A general ‘sustainable development’ policy which directs new development to places where services 

and facilities are available 

• Option 2: Allocate specific sites in appropriate locations for services and facilities. 

• Option 3: Prepare an Area Action Plan or similar document to ensure facilities are provided as part of any very 

large new developments 

Which policy options for the approach towards the social requirements of older people do you think is the most 

appropriate for the Local Plan?  Why? 

  

32. Social Policy Issue 6: Residential accommodation for older people  

Older people have specific accommodation requirements - for example design features that can respond to 

people's changing health and mobility difficulties. It is expected that the housing market will, to an extent, deliver 

accommodation for older people. However, there are some concerns that provision for elderly needs is not receiving 

the priority it requires, and therefore there is a need for policy to prompt such delivery.  

The options are: 

• Option 1: Have no specific policy, but let the market deliver appropriate accommodation in line with local 

demand 

• Option 2: Continue the current approach, i.e. require that a percentage of new dwellings be designed 

specifically to accommodate the elderly 

• Option 3: In conjunction with the above, provide a tighter definition of what constitutes ‘housing designed 

specifically to accommodate the elderly’ 

• Option 4: Adopt one or both of the optional Technical Standards* for new houses 

• Option 5: Require adherence to, or at least that regard be had to, the HAPPi (Housing our Ageing Population: 

Panel for Innovation) Design Principles** 

• Option 6: Allocate specific sites for elderly accommodation 

• Option 7: Adopt the more general policy approach of promoting ‘Lifetime Neighbourhoods’ 

*The 'Technical Standards' are part of national Building Regulations, and require dwellings to be accessible for 

elderly or wheelchair-bound occupants, e.g. wide doorways, ground floor bathrooms etc 

** The HAPPi principles are a set of 10 design criteria relating to things such as good natural light, and room to move 

around. They are particularly relevant to older people's accommodation needs. 

As you get older, what kind of accommodation do you think you might want to live in? Which policy option(s) for 

providing accommodation for older people would you therefore prefer? 

 

33. Social Policy Issue 7: Provision of HMOs in Ormskirk  

HMO's refer to Houses in Multiple Occupation. The increase in the number of HMOs has been an issue in Ormskirk 

for a number of years and has had effects on the area. The properties converted to HMOs typically tend to be at the 

cheaper end of the market, reducing the availability of first-time or affordable properties. In streets where the 

proportion of HMOs is high, the character of the street can be changed.  

*An Article 4 Direction, a legal tool that gives the Council extra control over development, was introduced in 2011 to 

control changes of use from dwellings to HMOs in Ormskirk, most of Aughton, and Westhead. Consequently, 

planning permission is needed to convert a house to a HMO in these areas. It works alongside policy RS3 of the 

current Local Plan, which limits the proportion of HMOs in a street, typically to 5%.  We want to know how future 

policy should address HMOs. 

 

Page 441



 

76 

 

The options are: 

Option 1: Expand the ‘Article 4 area'* and the area to which the HMO percentage policy applies, to include 

neighbouring settlements 

Option 2: Revoke the Article 4 Direction and policy RS3, and have no policy 

Option 3: Decrease the HMO limit from current levels on all or specific streets to a lower percentage, potentially 

even down to 0% 

Option 4: Increase the HMO limit from current levels on all or specific streets to a higher percentage. 

Which key policy option with regard to the issue of control over HMOs in Ormskirk do you think is the most 

appropriate? Why? Are there any other policy options or minor changes that should also be considered? 
 

34. Social Policy Issue 8: Provision of off-campus purpose-built student accommodation in Ormskirk 

In addition to HMOs, students can be housed in purpose built accommodation either on-campus or off-campus. The 

provision of on-campus accommodation is dealt with above in question 33. With regard to the provision of off-

campus, purpose built student accommodation, there are a number of options.  

The options are: 

• Option 1: Continue with the current policy approach of restricting off-campus purpose-built student 

accommodation unless strict criteria are met. 

• Option 2: Relax policy to allow purpose-built student accommodation away from the University Campus. 

• Option 3: Allocate specific sites for off-campus student accommodation, whilst restricting 'unplanned' 

developments elsewhere. 

• Option 4: Tighten the current policy to severely, or entirely, restrict off-campus, purpose-built student 

accommodation. 

Which policy option for off-campus, purpose-built student accommodation do you think is the most appropriate 

for Ormskirk / West Lancashire? Why? 
 

35. Social Policy Issue 9: Delivering suitable accommodation for travellers  

For several years there has been, and is, a lack of authorised or suitable accommodation in the Borough for the 

travelling community. Providing accommodation for travellers has proved difficult, with the 'available' sites often 

found in unsuitable locations (for example in flood risk areas) and the 'suitable' sites not available for travellers 

to purchase. National policy requires the Council to allocate specific sites to meet local accommodation needs.  

The options are: 

Option 1: Allow the travellers based at present in West Lancashire to stay on their (currently unauthorised) sites. 

Option 2: When allocating new sites for other development in the Borough, set aside part of those sites for travellers 

Option 3: Compulsory Purchase* of suitable sites in order to allocate them for travellers 

*A Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPO) is a legal function that would allow the Council to obtain land or property 

without the consent of the owner. To issue a CPO, the authority must demonstrate the land is necessary and there is 

a public interest. Compensation is usually provided. 

Which policy option(s) for addressing the issue of meeting traveller accommodation needs do you think is (are) 

the most appropriate for West Lancashire? Why? 

 

36. Are there any other social policy issues that should also be considered? If so, what are they? 
 

37. Do you have any general comments to make on the Issues and Options consultation? 

Page 442



Question 4: Is there any data or evidence that we haven't referred to?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

14 non that I am aware of Noted

17 We have been instructed by The Skelmersdale Partnership who own the 
Concourse Centre to submit representations in respect of the emerging 
draft West Lancashire Local Plan Review Issues & Options Consultation. -  - 
Our clients have owned the Concourse Centre since March 1997.  It was 
constructed by the Commission for New Towns in the 1960s and is built 
over 3 floors with the main trading floor (two thirds of the retail space) on 
the first floor.  We attach a site location plan and floor plans of the 
Centre. -  - The Centre was originally designed for pedestrians and vehicles 
to be kept separate and therefore integration between car parking and the 
Centre is difficult.  Access to the main trading floor is via a number of 
pedestrian bridges from the surrounding areas.  In the 1980s the Centre 
was subdivided to include a 3 level multi storey car park which does not 
link directly into the trading floors of the Concourse at all levels. -  - As a 
result, the distance between the car park and the shop floor is much larger 
than modern retail shopping centres.  In order to traverse the centre it is 
necessary to travel between different levels by ramps, escalators, stairs or 
lifts.  This makes trolley shopping particularly difficult.  Not only does this 
negatively affect shoppers but it also results in a lower spend per trip as 
people tend to make smaller basket sales.  As a result, the Concourse is 
particularly vulnerable to new shopping development either within the 
Town Centre or within its catchment area. -  - The internal arrangement of 
the Centre is extremely tired.  This is an inevitable consequence of the age 
of the Centre.  Furthermore as can be seen from the submitted floor plans, 
a number of the large retailers occupy floorspace that is irregularly shaped, 
some of which is compromised by supporting pillars.  This format is not 
ideal for some large space retailers who prefer a more regular layout which 
allows them to optimise and customise their store design. -  - The Centre 
has struggled in recent years, there are currently a number of long term 
vacant units at the Centre.  Including the second floor which is completely 
vacant other than some storage and represents about 10% of the overall 
floorspace.  The Centre is currently 35% vacant.  This level of vacant space 
is difficult but manageable.  However, the current trading position of the 
Centre is fragile and it is vulnerable from other retail development in the 
town centre and elsewhere.  For example, the owners remain extremely 
concerned about the impact of the St Modwen development on the 
Concourse Centre.  They have held a number of meetings with the Council 
to express their concerns and would prefer to see the site developed for 
housing. -  - For the reasons outlined above, the Concourse Centre is 
‘protected’ in the Council’s current Local Plan.  In particular Policy SP2 of 
the Local Plan states that any new retail development in Skelmersdale 
Town Centre: - -  - “should not harm the vitality of the Concourse Centre 
and must provide sufficient linkage to the Concourse.” -  - The continuation 
of this policy protection is specifically supported.  Furthermore, the 
retention and regeneration of the Concourse Centre is supported by a large 
number of residents and retailers.  We attach a number of letters in 
support of the Concourse Centre. -  - Turning to Skelmersdale Town Centre, 
the last retail study dated December 2011 concluded that the town had 
progressively lost ground in the national retail rankings with the pace of 
decline accelerating in recent years.  A number of High Street retailers had 
all left the town e.g. Dunnes and had not been replaced. -  - Other 
deficiencies include the fact that most comparison retail outlets in the town 
operate at the lower end of the retail spectrum; the very weak food and 
drink offer with no high quality restaurants, coffee shops or family eating 
places, only some public houses and no cinema or other leisure facilities.  
Furthermore, there is considerable leakage of comparison goods, 
expenditure leaking to destinations beyond the Skelmersdale town 
catchment area. -  - In view of the above, the Town Centre is exceptionally 
weak for a town with a population of some 40,000 people and that it fails 

Noted

Page 443



ID Representor Comments Council Response

to function effectively as a town centre.  We do not believe that the St 
Modwen scheme will do anything to correct this decline.  Whilst it may 
offer the opportunity to provide a modern retail development with free car 
parking, all that it will do is to further assist with the decline of the 
Concourse Centre by eventually attracting all of the tenants from the 
Concourse Centre to the St Modwen development.  Accordingly we do not 
believe that there will be any net benefits to the Town Centre. -  - 
Recommendation -  - So we believe that the Local Plan review is correct in 
continuing to identify the regeneration of Skelmersdale town centre as an 
important objective.  However, we believe that the Concourse Centre must 
continue to be protected as per the existing adopted Local Plan i.e. Policy 
SP2.  The reason being that the Centre is now even more fragile than it was 
during the preparation of the adopted Local Plan and so it is important that 
specific measures are put in place to ensure that its regeneration takes 
place.  In doing so we would specifically request that the St Modwen 
scheme is deleted from the Town Centre and that retail and leisure uses are 
not considered appropriate for the site rather it be identified for residential 
development.  - 

18 The Spatial Portrait recognises that the demographic profile of the 
Authority is ageing which we consider to be a matter of critical importance 
over the Development Plan period.

Noted

20 None at this time. Noted

23 No Noted

24 Not as far as I know Noted

26 I think it would be good to refer to your playing pitch strategy and any 
other 'health' related strategies. 

At the time of writing, the open space 
studies were in the process of being 
updated. The results of which will be 
included in the preparation of the Local 
Plan Review.

28 Data regarding Up Holland is inconsistent as sometimes Up Holland is 
included with Skelmersdale and sometimes it is separate.  - Up Holland is 
clearly different in character to Skelmersdale and this is acknowledged and 
yet Up Holland is still included with Skelmersdale.

Noted. It is not always possible to find data 
for the individual areas, but where available 
and appropriate we will do our best to 
provide data separately for Up Holland and 
Skelmersdale.

30 The elected Mayors of Greater Manchester and Liverpool, will when they 
have adopted the Spatial Framework proposals currently under 
consideration and resolved issues of the relationships between the 
Boroughs Planning Functions and the Mayors overarching responsibility 
greatly influence West Lancashire's role as the green belt between the 
conurbations.  CPRE Lancashire submitted extensive, well research rebuttal 
of the Greater Manchester proposed Spatial Framework and its attack on 
its green belt.  This is available on the CPRE Lancashire website. 

Noted

31 Not that I can think of Noted

32 I can't think of anything Noted

35 The commitment by WLBC to provide an updated Spatial Portrait of the 
Borough and the settlements within it is supported, as this will ensure that 
the Local Plan and the policies contained within it are reflective of the 
current provisions and needs of the Borough and its population. - The 
assessment of Burscough undertaken and the summary of the spatial 
portrait of the settlement is generally supported. It clearly demonstrates 
that Burscough is a sustainable settlement with a wide range of shops and 
services, and is reasonably well-connected by public transport. 
Furthermore, Burscough serves a purpose for supporting nearby smaller 
settlements, further demonstrating the importance of the settlement. - The 
document also identifies the key issues facing Burscough, including the 
capacity of the sewerage system, concerns relating to surface water 

Noted

Page 444



ID Representor Comments Council Response

drainage and flooding, congestion levels on the roads through Burscough 
and the upgrading of the railways and bus services. It is necessary for WLBC 
to appreciate that although a greater number of houses within the 
settlement could adversely impact upon these services if not mitigated 
effectively, if appropriate measures are put in place by the Council and by 
relevant developers, further development within and around Burscough 
may in fact relieve each of these pressures on infrastructure. This must be 
carefully considered by the Council through the Local Plan Review and 
therefore, how revisions to the Plan may in the longer-term address current 
and potential pressures within some settlements across the Borough. -  - 
Paragraph 4.3 identifies that Yew Tree Farm was allocated within the 
current Local Plan for housing and employment uses, and further land was 
safeguarded for potential longer-term development. It is necessary for 
WLBC to acknowledge that this allocation has not delivered the level of 
development it was intended to within the first few years of the Plan 
period, and as such, the Local Plan Review should consider the earlier 
release of safeguarded land to meet the development needs of Burscough 
and the wider Borough. - The allocation of land at Yew Tree Farm included 
the release of land from the Green Belt to allow development to take place 
to meet the needs of the Borough. Following the release of land from the 
Green Belt and its identification as an area for development a masterplan 
was produced through an SPD, identifying the phasing of the development 
of Yew Tree Farm – this masterplan is therefore purely a material 
consideration in the determination of applications within the area. The 
policy consideration is that the land was released from the Green Belt, 
acknowledging that the Council consider the whole site suitable for 
development. - Therefore, as the land has already been released from the 
Green Belt as part of the current Local Plan, further consideration should 
be given to the deliverability of each of the parcels within the site and the 
contributions these could make, through allocations to the development 
needs of the Borough. Consideration and subsequent allocation of such 
sites could reduce the need to release further Green Belt land.

39 Burscough reference to Martin Mere makes no mention of the challenge of 
recently permitted fracking under SSSI sites and Martin Mere and any 
negative impacts this may have on tourism and agriculture included in the 
related government reports and referred to in the ‘the all members 
parliamentary committee report’ on fracking. - There is also no mention of 
the significance of proposed fracking in Flood Zones 2 & 3 and near aquifers 
throughout the area (Burscough, Halsall, Banks etc.) which although 
considered ‘unsuitable’ in these zones except in “mitigating circumstances” 
by the Environment Agency they have not been withdrawn from current 
PEDL fracking licence areas. - Although the local plan has no jurisdiction 
over ‘fracking or mineral extraction’ the undoubted consequences of 
published proposals to road infrastructure, water quality, agricultural and 
tourism is to be considered in non political forward planning. -  - Halsall 
Parish Council has been in correspondence with the Environment Agency 
and the Health and Safety Executive and we copy below some of our 
questions to them, which highlight our concerns,  and which also includes a 
link to the USA research  on the damage caused by fracking. - Halsall Parish 
Council wishes to submit that this evidence from the USA research needs 
full and careful consideration in formulating the Local Plan - Our 
correspondence - The Customers and Engagement Team, Cumbria and 
Lancashire Environment Agency,CMBLNC Info requests -   email 
Inforequests.cmblnc@environment-agency.gov.uk - cc Tony Almond , 
Health and Safety Executive - email tony.almond@hse.gov.uk -  - Thank you 
for your reply dated 25th October. - You state in your e mail that fracking  
takes place 2-3 km underground so it will have no effect on flood risk. - 
•	However fracking involves pouring millions of gallons of poisonous water 
into the ground to force the gas upwards and this practice is untested in 
the UK.Can we please again ask you to comment specifically and 
acknowledge your awareness  of the catastrophic errors made in the  US 

Fracking licences are the responsibility of 
Lancashire County Council, not the Borough 
Council. Environmental concerns regarding 
fracking are therefore for the consideration 
of LCC.

Page 445



ID Representor Comments Council Response

experience as shown in the following, and demonstrate precisely how  the 
previous faulty  technology has been made failsafe and tested?Please will 
you acknowledge that you have taken note of how recent the violations are 
and how much older  is the protective legislation which has been 
demonstratively unequal to the task in the US. - 
•	http://www.pnas.org/content/110/28/11250.full.pdf?sid=6e9e43dc-
0210-4785-8c76-5819cfb92d20 -  -   where the US research results  stated  
on page11251  that - Results and Discussion .....Dissolved methane was 
detected in the drinking water of 82% of the houses sampled (115 of 141). 
Methane concentrations in drinking water wells of homes <1 km from 
natural gas wells (59 of 141) were six times higher on average than 
concentrations for homes farther away (P = 0.0006, Kruskal–Wallis test) 
(Fig. 1 and Fig. S3). Of 12 houses where CH4 concentrations were greater 
than 28 mg/L (the threshold for immediate remediation set by the US 
Department of the Interior), 11 houses were within 1-km distance of an 
active shale gas well (Fig. 1). The only exception was a home with a value of 
32 mg CH4/L at 1.4-km distance.  -  - and on page 11254 stated that  - The 
two simplest explanations for the higher dissolved gas concentrations that 
we observed in drinking water are (i)faultyor inadequate steel casings, 
which are designed to keep the gas and any water inside the well from 
leaking into the environment, and (ii) imperfections in the cement sealing 
of the annulus or gaps between casings and rock that keep fluids from 
moving up the outside of the well (4, 40–42). In 2010, the Pennsylvania 
DepartmentofEnvironmentalProtection(DEP)issued90violations for faulty 
casing and cementing on 64 Marcellus shale gas wells; 119 similar violations 
were issued in 2011......... -  - ........Casing leaks can arise from poor thread 
connections, corrosion, thermal stress cracking, and other causes (43). If 
the protective casing breaks or leaks, then stray gases could be the first sign 
of contamination, with less mobile salts and metals from formation waters 
or chemicals from fracturing fluids potentially coming later. In 
contrast,faulty cement can allow methane and other gases from 
intermediate layers to flow into, up, and out of the annulus into shallow 
drinking water layers........ -  -  ............This result could mean that the 
number of drinking water problems may grow with time or that drilling 
practices are improving with time; more research is needed before firm 
conclusions can be drawn. - You state that any development in flood zones 
2 and 3 require a Flood Risk Assessment to be submitted by the developers 
in support of any planning application. - •	This request to a young 
inexperienced commercial undertaking,( ie the fracking company) for 
expert Assessments to be submitted to  the established experts in the 
field,( ie yourselves), seems to be akin to the doctor asking the patient for 
medical advice.As you have decades of experience in the field of hydrology 
, it is surely  contingent on yourselves to provide this information as the 
Body set up to manage these matters and to defend our Environment as 
your Title implies.Can we, the Parish Council , again please request your 
assessment of the risk to residents, animals and  agricultural produce 
,based on your expertise,from pouring millions of gallons of contaminated 
water into the potable aquifer at Halsall Moss.Can you please demonstrate 
where you believe the poisoned water will flow out into the environment 
and its rate of flow and your scientifically tested reasons to discount the 
evidence of the upward flow shown in the US experience? - In the HSE Q&A 
document, it is stated that the HSE uses HSE experienced well inspectors to 
monitor the operators, and also that Independent Well Examiners also 
serve this function - •	As fracking is in its infancy in the UK, can we,Halsall 
Parish Council,  please ask for evidence of where the experienced HSE well 
inspectors have derived their experience? - •	The experienced HSE well 
inspectors appear from the wording  to be different from the  Independent 
Well Examiners mentioned in the document.Similarly can we ask where 
they derive their experience?Also  can you please provide the Parish 
Council with information as to where the Independant Well Examiners 
derive the funding for their salaries, with particular focus on the 
Independence of the funders? - Finally , as we perceive the majority of the 
benefits of fracking to flow outside the area, whilst all the risks  fall on the Page 446



ID Representor Comments Council Response

health and welfare of the unwilling local community, the vulnerable 
environment, and the economic  livelihood of farmers, can we urge you to 
use your influence to press for the establishment of a Bond or similar 
deposit of adequately large funds, by the fracking companies, tied to the 
areas in question, and which can be held in reserve long term , to be 
released to cover the long term costs of repair to the land, water, health 
and households affected? Otherwise these costs will fall on the taxpayer 
and not those responsible.It will also be a spur to greater efficacy. - Halsall 
Parish Council has submitted further questions to the Environment Agency 
and the Health and Safety Executive concerning a Guardian article which 
revealed the huge waste disposal problems involving the contaminated 
water ,  the need to transport the waste water and to set up cleansing 
plants.Here is an extract …... - ….....In the following article, reproduced in 
full below, published in the 
Guardian,https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2016/jun/15/uk-
fracking-firm-plans-dump-wastewater-in-sea-ineos  the hazards of 
wastewater are analysed. We have noted that 20% to 40% of chemically 
contaminated and radioactive water rises to the surface and that the 
Operators are required to cleanse the water of its poisonous, radioactive 
components prior to its release into the sea. - Shale companies pump 
water, chemicals and sand at high pressure underground to fracture shale 
rock and release the gas within, but each well can use as much as 6m 
gallons of water. Between 20 and 40% flows back to the surface, containing 
salts, chemicals and naturally occurring radioactive material which the 
Environment Agency (EA) says is likely to be classified as radioactive 
waste. - As we have noted above, Barton Aquifer is in flood zones 2 and 3 
and is prone to flooding, as is the area in general. Also it is a potable 
resource and the water is used for human and animal consumption as well 
as for watering crops which again will be consumed. The Parish Council is 
extremely concerned that it will be impossible for the operators to contain 
the spread of this radioactive chemically poisoned water when the 
inevitable flooding takes place. Also as the water that rises up is slated for 
purification, and is per se unfit to be left in its current state, this admission 
of its poisonous state, begs the question as to its fitness to be allowed to 
take its natural undergound course to its destination for drinking supply 
and also its outflow, naturally to the sea. We are extremely encouraged to 
read that you applied your powers to stop the irresponsible dumping of 
contaminated surface  water ,into the Manchester Ship Canal as shown in 
the following extract from the same article. - Two years ago, shale firm 
Cuadrilla withdrew an application for a permit to frack in Lancashire after 
the EA tightened up the rules over safe disposal. The change came after 2m 
gallons of wastewater had already been discharged into the Manchester 
ship canal. - We hope we can have confidence that you will not only adopt 
a similar approach with Barton Aquifer surface wastewater and 
contaminated floodwater, but also use your considerable expertise to 
address the concerns of natural underground flow of the poisonous 60%-
80% into the drinking supply and eventually the Irish Sea. Please will you let 
the Parish Council  know whether you  will use your powers to stop the 
irresponsible proposal to frack at Barton Aquifer so we can put our minds 
at rest?  - •        We have also noted that there is a wastewater processing 
plant which is required, as mentioned in the following extract. - An 
environmental permit from the Environment Agency... will be required 
where we need to dispose of any process water according to an agreed 
waste management plan. We will employ licensed water treatment 
companies to process our wastewater.” - A spokesman for UK Onshore Oil 
and Gas, which represents the shale industry, said: “In the exploration 
phase operators will send all flow back fluid to EA permitted treatment 
facilities for safe disposal ... When the industry moves to commercial 
production it will want to recycle flow back fluid and reuse it for the next 
stage of operation.” - Please will you inform Halsall Parish Council :- - a) 
Where the proposed plant would be sited? - b) If not sited locally, the 
numbers of lorry journeys per day which  would be the norm for removal of 
the 20-40% wastewater which normally rises to the surface during the Page 447



ID Representor Comments Council Response

fracking process? - c) The number of lorry journeys which would be 
required to remove exceptional  wastewater rising to the surface after the 
fracking process had stopped and which is a likelihood as it is sited in flood 
zones 2 and 3? (This again needs costing into the proposed Bond and/or be 
written into the contract with the Operators) - d) As was mentioned in our 
earlier point, infrastructure damage to roads is a likelihood of frequent 
heavy lorry use. Will this be costed into the proposed Bond, so the public 
purse does not suffer? - e) Where will the chemical and radioactive waste, 
after the water is removed,  be disposed? - f) Are the disposal procedures 
the same as for radioactive waste in the nuclear industry?   - •         The 
Parish Council has noted the following opinion of water professionals as to 
the inability of current technical processes to meet regulatory standards for 
disposal of radionuclides. - In March, the Chartered Institution of Water 
and Environmental Management, which represents water professionals, 
said in a consultation response to the EAthat “we are concerned about the 
ability to treat flowback fluid at the present time”. - It noted: “Advanced 
treatment technologies may not be able to treat the levels of dissolved 
solids in produced water which would limit the ability to treat produced 
water on site. Dilution at a treatment works may be able to reduce the 
salinity, however it may not be appropriate to dilute to the level required 
to dilute the radionuclides present to regulatory levels.” - As stated before, 
this is only considering the 20-40% initial flowback and does not address 
the question of the residual 60-80% during and after  fracking, remaining 
underground in the drinking water supply and /or eventually flowing into 
the Irish Sea .Can you please reassure the Parish Council that you have 
noted the opinions of your fellow professionals, and that you as the 
responsible Authority will make a robust stand on this before we find 
ourselves glowing in the dark in a new kind of  Green Deal?  - •         
Finally,can the Halsall Parish Council be assured that our concerns are being 
redirected by yourselves, to the decision takers in your organisations, if  
you yourselves are not in this direct line of decision taking authority for our 
area? - a) Is there actually a procedure in existence, in your organisations to 
syphon local concerns to the decision makers? - b)If you are not in this 
decision making capacity and/or if there is no system for feedback 
reporting, can you please give the names and contact details of those who 
will be making decisions, so we can address them with our concerns?  - 
Finally can I thank you for all your hard work and expertise in building a 
case for use in future planning applications..... - As a result of our 
correspondence, a meeting is currently being arranged between Halsall 
Parish Council and the Environment Agency to address the questions we 
have raised.(date  of writing this is 21/4/2017) We believe that it is 
imperative and urgent that a Planning Department representative attends 
and that the above dangers are recognised and addressed as part of the 
Local Plan .As stated above, our opinion is that fracking is at cross purposes 
to the economic, social and environmental objectives of the Local Plan and 
a danger to the realisation of its worthwhile aims. -   - Response C - 
Reference to the Western Parishes transportation does not include rural 
isolation between the western parishes and Ormskirk and generally poor 
condition of road surfaces on the ‘Moss Roads’ although this is a Lancashire 
County Council matter, it is a recordable fact that impacts spatial portrait.

42 Yes, on soil health, agriculture, peat loss, water level management in the 
Alt-Crossens Catchment, and relating mainly to West Lancashire Borough. 
It's accessible via 
http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidenc
edocument/environmental-audit-committee/soil-
health/written/26828.html and additional data and evidence through the 
local Environment Agency office.

This data will be examined.

46 The issue of education provision within Skelmersdale needs to be 
addressed as this appears to be distorted in terms of the number of parents 
choosing to send their children to schools outside of the town.Therefore 

The Council will continue to liaise with LCC 
Education with regard appropriate 
education provision.

Page 448



ID Representor Comments Council Response

data which identifies percentages of pupils at primary and secondary levels  
travelling out of the town to outlying schools would provide the 
opportunity to compare with other areas or towns in order to determine if 
there is an issue as this could have repercussions within the housing market.

60 At the time of writing the Liverpool City Region SHELMA has not been 
published and therefore the impact on West Lancashire cannot be assessed 
at this stage. Paragraph 9.25 of the HEDNA  states that it has not 
specifically assessed the need for affordable housing. Reference is also 
made in the HEDNA to the 2009 SHMA and therefore we question whether 
an update will be undertaken.

Comments noted

62 No comments are provided in respect of the Spatial Portrait Paper. Noted

64  We await the publication of the Liverpool City Region SHELMA. Noted

70 Whilst the Commissioners believe the general scope of the data and 
evidence outlined in the - Spatial Portrait Paper is sufficient for this stage of 
the plan making process, the issue is how - the data and evidence is 
interpreted which will be key in ensuring future policies in the Local - Plan 
Review are sound. Also, important will be ensuring that the evidence is up 
to date and - robust and future policies can be justified and are consistent 
with national policy. -  - We note that there is a separate paper on Duty to 
Cooperate and believe the Spatial Portrait - could emphasise cross 
boundary issues more strongly. This is important especially give West - 
Lancashire’s geographical proximity to larger urban areas and the Liverpool 
City Region.

Comments noted

72 no Noted

77 Not Known Noted

81 Agriculture and Food Production - Evidence of importance to West 
Lancashire Economy -  - Agriculture and food production are particularly 
important to the West Lancashire economy. According to agricultural 
census data, there are 400 agricultural holdings in West Lancashire 
employing 2,300 people. The annual BRES data collected by ONS reports 
and additional 200 employees are employed in agriculture in 2015, in 
addition to those employed on farms. -  - In terms of food processing, BRES 
data indicates that there are 2,250 jobs in food production in West 
Lancashire representing a third (32%) of the manufacturing jobs in the 
district and 4.7% of total jobs. -  - Food production has been the source of 
much of the growth in manufacturing employment both in West Lancashire 
and also across GB.  However West Lancashire has been much stronger 
growth accounting for 17.1% of manufacturing jobs since 2009,  This has 
helped support overall growth of manufacturing employment in the 
borough, whereas GB has seen a fall in total manufacturing 
employment. -  - Together, agriculture and food production account for 
10% of jobs in West Lancashire compared to fewer than 3% nationally.  
Both of these sectors are, therefore vitally therefore a priority growth 
sector and important to the local economy and need to be included as a 
KEY ISSUE in the emerging Local Plan. -  - Local Infrastructure -  - Several 
road traffic assessments have been undertaken demonstrating the traffic 
and infrastructure constraints associated with the northern Parishes. This is 
also set out at Para. 2.36 of the Adopted West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-
2027), in which "there are issues with traffic congestion in the two villages, 
particularly along the main Hesketh Lane/Station Road route. HGV's 
accessing agricultural and produce/packing facilities combine with local 
traffic, particularly at peak times, and can cause significant problems."  -  - 
In addition, the West Lancashire Highways and Transport Masterplan 2013 
sets out the vision of constructing the Green Lane Link and route 
management strategy, as a direct solution to the infrastructure constraints 
associated with the Northern Parishes. -  - This evidence base has not been 
included or referred to within the Spatial Portrait and needs to be included 

Comments noted

Page 449



ID Representor Comments Council Response

as KEY ISSUES in the emerging Local Plan.

85 In terms of any new definition of areas we would urge no change to Lathom 
being part of the Eastern Parishes in line with the agricultural community 
and close ties with Newburgh and Parbold. It has little link with what is an 
industrial area of Burscough. -  - 

Noted

87 Burscough Parish Council has good evidence of flooding which is not 
adequately covered in the evidence base.  This is available to WLBC and the 
LLFA.   - The hierarchy described, of three equal towns, is changed from the 
previous heirarchy and requires further discussion.   - The over-riding issues 
for the local plan to address relate to adequate infrastructure to support 
development.  Drainage is not adequate and roads are not adequate.  
Access to internet remains limited.   - The spatial portrait therefore does 
not match our experience of it.

Comments noted. Flooding is benig 
explored through the Council's SFRA work 
and ongoing liaison.

95 2.1 The Spatial Portrait Topic Paper provides a character summary of each 
identified area of the Borough. We generally agree with the key issues that 
WLBC has identified both in respect of the borough in general and for 
specific areas of the borough. -  - Ormskirk with Aughton - 2.2 The following 
facts are drawn from WLBC’s Spatial Portrait as they are pertinent to our 
representations: - • Ormskirk is the second largest settlement in West 
Lancashire with a population of 18,000 people. Together with Aughton, the 
total population of the settlement increases to some 27,154 people, 
representing 24.53% of the overall population of the borough. By 
comparison, Skemersdale with Up Holland has a population of 42,698 
(38.58%) while Burscough has a population of 11,231 (10.15%). - • Ormskirk 
represents the administrative hub of the Borough, with a large student 
population – associated with Edge Hill University – and several major 
employers including the University, Ormskirk Hospital and WLBC. - • It is 
accepted that Aughton effectively performs as a ‘suburb’ of Ormskirk. With 
the exception of two small local centres, Aughton tends to rely on Ormskirk 
for its facilities and services. - • Ormskirk with Aughton is highly 
sustainable; it is well served by rail with railway stations in Ormskirk, 
Aughton Park and Town Green and excellent access onto the main strategic 
highway network. - • While Ormskirk has a relatively balanced residential 
population, Aughton has one of the highest proportions of people over 
65. -  - These points provide context and an important back-drop to our 
representations.

Noted

96 AIUH notes that the subject site is statutorily listed and that the Seminary 
building has been identified as a Building at Risk. We would also note that 
in September 2016, the Victorian Society identified it as being one of the 
“top ten” buildings in terms of endangered historic buildings at risk and in 
urgent need of help and protection. -  - We feel that this should be 
identified directly within the Spatial Portrait as it clarifies the planning 
importance of the heritage asset and reinforces the need to secure a 
positive way forward. -  - Beyond this, AIUH makes no comment on this 
matter.

Comments noted

97 St. Modwen is somewhat surprised that no reference is made to the 
Council’s Economic Development Strategy (2015) which is underpinned by 
evidence and makes a number of recommendations. St. Modwen makes no 
other comment on this matter.

Comments noted

99 We await the publication of the Liverpool City Region SHELMA. Noted

102 A sound local plan should be based on an up-to-date evidence base which 
includes reference to the historic environment.  The evidence base needs to 
identify: -  - •	What contribution the historic environment makes to the 
character of the area, to its economic well-being and to the quality of life of 
its communities; - •	What issues and challenges is it facing and likely to be 
facing in the future; - •	What opportunities the historic environment offers 
for helping to deliver the other objectives in the Plan area. -  - When 
undertaking this exercise, it is important to bear in mind that it is not 

Comments noted

Page 450



ID Representor Comments Council Response

simply an exercise in listing known sites but, rather understanding their 
value to society (i.e. their significance).  There is a need to identify the 
subtle qualities of the Borough and its local distinctiveness and character 
which can easily be lost.  There will need to be an assessment of the 
likelihood of currently unidentified heritage assets including sites of historic 
and archaeological interest being discovered in the future.  It may also be 
necessary to identify heritage assets outside the Council’s area where there 
are likely to be setting impacts caused by any development proposals put 
forward in the area.  It is also important to bear in mind that some asset 
types are not currently well recorded.  For example, the Register of Parks 
and Gardens of Historic Interest in England, is thought to represent only 
around two thirds of sites potentially deserving inclusion.  Evidence 
gathering can also help to identify parts of a locality that may be worthy of 
designation as a conservation area and identify assets that are worthy of 
inclusion in a local list. -  - Potential sources of evidence include: -  - 
•	National Heritage List for England - •	Historic Environment Record - 
•	Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans - •	Local Lists - 
•	National and Local Heritage At Risk Registers - •	Historic 
Characterisation Assessments - •	World Heritage Site Management Plans - 
•	In house and local knowledge expertise -  - Where the evidence base is 
weak, the Council will need to commission additional work to ensure that 
the historic environment is adequately dealt with and can be used to 
inform the Plan. - 

103 Separate data sets for Skelmersdale, Bickerstaff and UpHolland.  - Some 
data sets are segregated some are not. The fact that very different areas 
are amalgamated means that the summary statements do not reflect the 
position for Up Holland.

Noted. It is not always possible to find data 
for the individual areas, but where available 
and appropriate we will do our best to 
provide data separately for Up Holland, 
Bickerstaffe and Skelmersdale.

107 I have no further information Noted

Page 451



Question 5: Does the Spatial Portrait match your experience of West 
Lancashire or the area you live, work or visit within West Lancashire? 
If not, what's different?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

14 yes Noted

20 There is some disquiet within Aughton regarding the gradual erosion of 
Aughton's identity as a village in its own right.  The linking of and reference 
to Ormskirk with Aughton seems to have taken place purely for 
administrative and political purposes without any consultation with the 
residents of Aughton.

Aughton is associated with Ormskirk for the 
purposes of the Local Plan to create a spatial 
area, just as Skelmersdale and Up Holland or 
any of the rural parish groupings are. The 
Council are aware of the different identities 
of each area, which are each explored 
through the spatial area papers.

23 No. Although Up Holland is linked to Skelmersdale by the boundaries 
designated in the document it is a separate entity geographically and 
culturally, and I feel it should not be considered as part of Skelmersdale's 
whole.

Up Holland is associated with Skelmersdale 
for the purposes of the Local Plan to create a 
spatial area, just as Ormskirk and Aughton or 
any of the rural parish groupings are. The 
Council are aware of the different identities 
of each area, which are each explored 
through the spatial area papers.

24 Yes Noted

28 Up Holland is a separate entity to Skelmersdale and the people in Up 
holland do not naturally identify with Skelmersdale.

Up Holland is associated with Skelmersdale 
for the purposes of the Local Plan to create a 
spatial area, just as Ormskirk and Aughton or 
any of the rural parish groupings are. The 
Council are aware of the different identities 
of each area, which are each explored 
through the spatial area papers.

30 The Spatial Portrait  does not reflect my experience of living in 
Skelmersdale.  All references to Skem should be preceded by "some parts 
of".  I think Fosters Green and Elmers Green and parts of old town are as 
affluent as Aughton and Parbold.  The problem is that they are split and 
combined with less affleunt estates to form electoral wards

Concerns noted. It is not always possible to 
provide these lower level details.

31 Yes Noted

32 Yes. I feel it relatively accurate. Noted

39 No comment Noted

40 The Spatial Portrait does reflect our experience and understanding of the 
issues, particularly with reference to the ageing population and the need 
for additional elderly accommodation. Furthermore, we agree that there is 
a need for significant economic growth which will in turn attract younger 
economically active households to the area which will make a valuable 
contribution to the competitiveness of West Lancashire within the wider 
region.

Noted

42 2.10 Ravenhead Brickworks is designated as a Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI) for its geology rather than for its wildlife. -  - 5.5 We welcome 
the reference to "Mere Sands Wood Nature Reserve". The nature reserve 
and its visitor centre is owned and managed by The Wildlife Trust for 
Lancashire, Manchester & North Merseyside. In addition to its role in 
providing a green infrastructure amenity for residents and visitors, it is also 
a major node in the district's and county's ecological networks - a role 
recognised by its identification as a county-level Local Wildlife Site 
("Lancashire Biological Heritage Site" (BHS)). It is also a nationally-
designated geological SSSI. -  - 6.7. If our understanding of the Eastern 
Parishes boundary be correct, then the last sentence in this paragraph is in 
error. The privately-owned Wrightington Bar Pasture SSSI lies at an altitude 

Comments noted and corrections will be 
reflected in the Preferred Options.

Page 452



ID Representor Comments Council Response

of around 90 m OD on the West Lancashire Borough side of the valley of 
Syd Brook, which flows between the villages of Wrightington Bar and 
Eccleston - the latter in Chorley Borough. It is important as one of the few 
remaining species-rich unimproved grasslands in Lancashire and represents 
the largest flushed example of this community type in the county. This 
vulnerable habitat is now rare both nationally and in Lancashire and West 
Lancashire Borough due, primarily, to many decades of agricultural 
intensification. For many years the site has been assessed  by Natural 
England and its predecessor bodies as in unfavourable condition due to 
lack of appropriate grazing management. This has led to the progressive 
encroachment of scrub onto diminishing areas of species-rich grassland, 
with the remaining grassland of the site becoming increasingly rank. This is 
arguably the single most important site-related nature conservation issue 
within West Lancashire Borough; albeit one the resolution of which does 
not lie within the immediate remit of the West Lancashire Local Plan. -  - 7.4 
We welcome the reference to our Haskayne Cutting and to our Mere Sands 
Wood nature reserves. -  - 8.34 We note the passing reference to green 
infrastructure (and one to biodiversity) under the heading "Transport & 
Infrastructure". We feel that rather more should be made of the role of 
green as well as grey infrastructure in providing services to those who live, 
work & learn in the Borough, and to visitors. -  - 8.38 reads; -  - "The 
Borough has the highest total area of wildlife trust reserves in - the country, 
with Martin Mere and the Ribble Estuary being the - larger two assets. 
These are recognised as internationally important - wetland habitats, 
particularly important as a winter feeding ground - for wetland birds." -  - 
What is the source for the statement that, "The Borough has the highest 
total area of wildlife trust reserves in the country"? Regardless of whether 
the country in question is England or the UK, we would be surprised if that 
be the case - and we would make more of it! We currently own and 
manage two nature reserves in West Lancashire Borough; Haskayne Cutting 
and Mere Sands Wood. Martin Mere is owned and managed by the 
Wildfowl & Wetlands Trust. A substantial area of the Ribble Estuary within 
the borough is managed by Natural England as part of its statutory Ribble 
Marshes National Nature Reserve, and a smaller part by the Royal Society 
for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) as the latter's Hesketh Outmarsh nature 
reserve. Your authority also manages some statutory Local Nature 
Reserves. -  - We suspect that, compared with the other Lancashire 
districts,  West Lancashire Borough probably has the largest area of land 
(public and private - mostly the latter) within Lancashire County that is 
identified as Local Wildlife Sites ("Biological Heritage Sites"), but would 
need to confirm that with the Lancashire Environmental Record Network 
(LERN), the local biological record centre for Lancashire.

46 The Spatial Portrait reflects the Borough accurately and also highlights the 
key issues for each area.

Noted

50 This section of the review focusses on the Strategic Development Options 
paper, which discusses - the level of development intended for the 
Borough, including potential housing numbers and the - area for 
employment land, the Local Plan period, the location of development, and 
the distribution - of development. - The paper presents a number of 
‘Strategic Development Options’ covering the amount, and broad - location 
of, new housing and employment development. The paper sets out the 
positives and - negatives for each option, and consults on a preferred 
approach. - It is noted that paragraph 1.1.7 identifies that the Council is not 
currently earmarking any - specific sites for potential development at this 
stage of the Local Plan process. - The Topic Paper is sub-divided into a 
number of sections with specific questions at the end to - respond to. These 
sections are headed as: - 
Objectives; - 
Distribution of Allocations; - 
Located; and - 

Noted

Page 453



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Some of these topics are less likely to have any significant impacts on the 
SRN, such as the exact - wording of the Spatial Portrait or Vision. 
Notwithstanding this, there are a number of topics which - could have a 
direct impact on the operation and safety of the SRN, and therefore the 
reminder of - 4 - this section will focus on the following elements, which are 
most likely to be of interest to Highways - England: - 
Development Options; - 
Allocations; and - 
Development Options - This section of the Topic Paper sets out three 
variables for potential options concerning housing - and employment land 
in the Borough, covering: - 
housing and employment uses per year; - 
Local Plan is to look (the Local Plan period); and - 
amount of development land required throughout the Local Plan period is - 
spread across the Borough.

57 The Spatial Portrait seems to suggest that West Lancashire has no 
connection with the adjacent local authority areas and communities.  Apart 
from one mention of the Port of Liverpool, there is no reference to any 
linkages with 'the outside world' - this could be interpreted as insularity 
and isolation.

Comments noted

60 Our clients see West Lancashire as an area that they wish to continue to 
invest in and to assist in meeting the existing and future needs of its 
residents.

Comments noted

61 I'm not sure if this belongs within Spatial Portrait but there is poor 
infrastructure within the Northern parishes. This relates to roads, low 
water pressure and often reduced bus services & health services.

Comments noted

64 Our Clients consider that this is an opportunity for the Council to be 
ambitious and to bring forward an aspirational and ambitious plan which 
will help to change the perspective and role of Skelmersdale as a Regional 
Town. 

Noted

67 To large extent. -  - What much of the evidence shows is that development 
and growth in West Lancashire has been highly constrained in the past with 
negative economic and social impacts resulting.   There is a danger that all 
of the Borough's urban areas, towns and villages will stagnate without 
appropriate levels of development to support both economic growth and 
to sustain local services and facilities through household expenditure.

Comments noted

70 The Spatial Portrait summary provided in the paper highlights a number of 
key issues such as - an ageing population, declining working age population, 
need to boost employment rates - within the Borough and ability to 
maximise employment opportunities off the back of schemes - such as 
Liverpool2. -  - The evidence base that has already been prepared to 
support the plan making process; namely - the Housing and Economic 
Development Needs Assessment (“HEDNA”) and the Liverpool City - Region 
Strategic Housing and Employment Land Market Assessment (“SHELMA”) 
confirms this - view. As outlined above however, it is how this data is 
interpreted and translated to an - appropriate policy response which will be 
key to ensure any future Local Plan policy which - seeks to address these 
issues is ultimately sound. This is discussed further in our comments - 
below. -  -  - Spatial Portrait Paper: - The Spatial Portrait Paper ties together 
social, economic and environmental data to ascertain - the current issues in 
different areas of the Borough. This is broken down into the spatial areas - 
identified in the Strategic Policy Options Paper. We comment on the issues 
in relation to the - relevant spatial areas according to the Commissioners’ 
landholdings as well the general key - issues for West Lancashire. -  - The 
Western Parishes - This area contains the Commissioners’ landholdings and 
is characterised as rural, with areas - of agricultural land and peat deposits. 
The paper also highlights affordability issues within the - area and that the 
Western Parishes contain an ageing population with the retired sector set - 

Comments noted

Page 454



ID Representor Comments Council Response

to grow and become a greater proportion of the population over the plan 
period. -  - These issues point to the area needing to be positively planned 
so that the population could - be potentially be rebalanced (addressing the 
issue of an ageing population) and that - settlements in the area can be 
maintained as viable and sustainable villages which are able to - offer local 
services and facilities for residents. -  - This indicates a need to 
accommodate additional residential development in this area and - given 
its location, the settlements in the area also have the potential to link and 
support - growth in towns such as Ormskirk and settlements in 
neighbouring Sefton. -  - We note the constraints outlined in this section, 
however issues of peat deposits and flood - risk can be assessed on a site by 
site basis and the presence of peat or areas of flood risk do - not necessarily 
preclude sites as technical solutions can be found to address these 
constraints. -  - It is clear that to support future development in this area 
that the Green Belt boundary would - need to be assessed. We note in the 
SHELAA that this issue has been ‘parked’ for the time - being. Whilst there 
is a Green Belt Study, this was undertaken in 2011 and appears to be a - 
selective/partial review of the Green Belt (which does not include all of the 
Commissioners’ - land). We also object to the way in which the 
Commissioners’ land which is included has been - assessed. As such we 
believe this study needs to be revised and updated. -  - Key Issues for West 
Lancashire - This section of the paper repeats the main issues highlighted at 
the beginning of the Strategic - Policy Options paper and amongst other 
things highlights: - • An ageing population; - A declining working age 
population; - • The need to boost employment rates within the Borough; - 
• Ability to maximise employment opportunities; and - • Issues of rural 
isolation. -  - We have already discussed these issues within Section 2 and 
believe that in order to tackle - these, the Council will need to plan 
positively for development in West Lancashire and ensure - future policies 
are sufficient flexible so as to promote growth throughout the plan period.

72 yes Noted

76 The Spatial Portrait does reflect our experience and understanding of the 
issues namely that the population is ageing and that there is a need to 
sustain the existing economic growth as well as planning for significant 
economic growth to increase the competitiveness of West Lancashire 
within the wider region. In order to retain and attract younger 
economically active households, who are the future work force, issues of 
housing affordability need to be addressed.

Noted

77 Matches as learned at workshop Noted

78 Attended workshops, information matches Noted

81 There is a lack of emphasis placed on the critical importance that the 
agricultural and food production sector, which together accounts for 10% 
of jobs in West Lancashire compared to fewer than 3% nationally.  Both of 
these sectors are, therefore vitally therefore a priority growth sector and 
important to the local economy  -  - Agriculture and food production are 
particularly important to the West Lancashire economy. According to 
agricultural census data, there are 400 agricultural holdings in West 
Lancashire employing 2,300 people. The annual BRES data collected by ONS 
reports and additional 200 employees are employed in agriculture in 2015, 
in addition to those employed on farms. -  - In terms of food processing, 
BRES data indicates that there are 2,250 jobs in food production in West 
Lancashire representing a third (32%) of the manufacturing jobs in the 
district and 4.7% of total jobs. -  - Food production has been the source of 
much of the growth in manufacturing employment both in West Lancashire 
and also across GB.  However West Lancashire has been much stronger 
growth accounting for 17.1% of manufacturing jobs since 2009,  This has 
helped support overall growth of manufacturing employment in the 
borough, whereas GB has seen a fall in total manufacturing 
employment. -  - In addition, as a result of the Green Belt policy, which is 
highly restrictive, there are very limited opportunities for employment 

Comments noted

Page 455



ID Representor Comments Council Response

creation within the Northern Parishes, which is vital to maintain the 
sustainability of West Lancashire Borough, as a whole.

96 With reference to Section 2 which concerns Skelmersdale with Up Holland, 
the Spatial Portrait is primarily - focused upon matters pertaining to 
Skelmersdale. The failure of the Spatial Portrait to provide more detailed - 
reference to the Up Holland area, or more particularly this complex of 
buildings is regrettable. - We would note that the Up Holland area has 
excellent access to the national road network so is also well suited in those 
respects to contribute to housing and employment needs. The Up Holland 
area also has a substantial number of prominent listed buildings, a number 
of which are no longer in active use.

Comments noted

97 With reference to Skelmersdale, the Spatial Portrait alludes to the need for 
regeneration of the town centre but it does not adequately express the 
urgent requirement to deliver a credible evening economy and other 
improvements to the town centre environment.

Comments noted

99 Our Clients consider that this is an opportunity for the Council to be 
ambitious and to bring forward an aspirational and ambitious plan which 
will help to change the perspective and role of Skelmersdale as a Regional 
Town.

Noted

102 The Local Plan should include a proper description and assessment of the 
historic environment in the Borough and the contribution it makes to the 
area (NPPF, Paragraph 169).  The Plan needs to describe the historical 
growth of the area and identify its historic environment.  It should also 
clearly identify the different places their character and identity and the 
contribution it makes to all aspects of life in the district of West Lancashire.  
Therefore, this paper should be amended accordingly.   

Comments noted

103 The inclusion of Up Holland and Bickerstaff with Skelmersdale as a single 
coherent area does not facilitate easy analysis of data and often statements 
are made that do not apply to the less densely populated and more 
affluent areas of Bickerstaff and Up Holland. - The issues raised for 
Skelmersdale and the SE parishes do not reflect the issues for Up Holland 
because the data is generalised.

Noted. It is not always possible to find data 
for the individual areas, but where available 
and appropriate we will do our best to 
provide data separately for Up Holland, 
Bickerstaffe and Skelmersdale.

107 The constant reference to Aughton with Ormskirk is a cause of continuing 
concern to Aughton residents who view this as an erosion of the 
independent identity of Aughton as a vibrant semi-rural village.   - This is 
being engineered for political and administrative reasons without any 
consultation with the Aughton community. - This also conflicts with some 
of the later objectives referring to the development of vibrant local villages.

Aughton is associated with Ormskirk for the 
purposes of the Local Plan to create a spatial 
area, just as Skelmersdale and Up Holland or 
any of the rural parish groupings are. The 
Council are aware of the different identities 
of each area, which are each explored 
through the spatial area papers.

109 Yes Noted

110 My experience does match SOME of the councils spatial portrait but the 
problem the Council see's of an ageing population, particularly in Aughton 
and Ormskirk is jaded because the councils own policies are leading this 
problem by not attracting younger families to the area. The policy of trying 
to encourage building in Skelmersdale by not implicating a CIL levy is 
flawed in this respect. This is because it places extra pressure on developers 
in areas like Ormskirk and Aughton to deliver only high end expensive 
saleable houses so restricting the influx of young families to the area which 
is stifling and stagnating Ormskirk and Aughton by burdening it with mainly 
retired folk. This is also killing the shops in Ormskirk as the steam of new 
customers is being lost to surrounding towns.

Comments noted

Page 456



Question 6: Have we identified the correct key issues? Are there any 
others we've missed out? What about the issues related to each area - 
do they correspond with your understanding of those areas?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

14 I think so Noted

17 We agree that Skelmersdale Town Centre  needs to be protected but it is 
important to ensure that new development is not approved which would 
result in a decline of the remainder of the Town Centre.

The Council are aware of the importance of 
protecting the viability of the entire 
Skelmersdale town centre

18 Yes, the first bullet point acknowledges that the demographic profile of the 
Authority is ageing.  The provision of adequate support and 
accommodation for the increasingly ageing democratic profile of the City 
region is a significant challenge and, unless properly planned for, there is 
likely to be a serious shortfall in specialist accommodation for the older 
population, which will have a knock on effect in meeting the housing needs 
of the whole area and wider policy objectives. Specialist accommodation 
for the elderly, such as that provided by McCarthy and Stone, will therefore 
have a vital role in meeting the areas housing needs. -  - 

More detailed issues relating to the ageing 
population are detailed in our report 'An 
ageing population in West Lancashire' which 
is available from the Local Plan Review 
Evidence Base webpages at 
www.westlancs.gov.uk/localplan.

20 It is unrealistic to be asked to comment on areas with which we have little 
knowledge of or appreciation of their issues. As far as Ormskirk with 
Aughton.........there appears to be sufficient land available on Edgehill 
campus for further residential student accommodation without further 
usage of  housing stock in the area. The Council are obviously losing a 
substantial Council tax  income from HMO's and business rates through the 
conversion of commercial properties into further HMOs.

The purposes of the Issues consultation is to 
identify an issues that we have not yet done 
so. Consultation was Borough-wide so 
anyone could comment on any area of the 
Borough.

24 We have to support people with regard to keeping a pleasant and 
envivonmentaly friendly place to live in

Noted

26 yes Noted

30 1. You have failed to consider the possibility of creating new Garden/Green 
Villages currently being promoted by the DCLG.  There are 3 currently 
proposed for elsewhere in the North West.  Such villages, if needed, 
properly masterplanned with adequate infrastructure are better than 
random, chance ad hoc additions to existing rural settlements. - 2.The 
completion of Skelmersdale Town Centre is a key issue. It should be linked 
with the creation of an attractive, accessible Tawd Valley Park, potentially a 
major asset but currently a run down "hidden gem".  CPRE objections to 
the design currently approved for the misleadingly named "High Street" 
should be reconsidered and the design modified to take advantage of views 
of the park and facilitate access to the park by provision of dedicated 
parking.  The site to the South of Ingram, should be included and the 
character of the proposed development recognised as "out of town 
warehouse" in style.  The current unfinished, disjointed spaces combined  
need good design, speedily implemented.  Possibly in stages so that people 
are atracted to use the park while some development plots remain 
undeveloped within a well designed foot path and road system.  The 
present situation does not make Skelmersdale either an attractive shopping 
or residential destination.  A successful town centre would inpact on 
mamny of the other option and other policies

Noted. The Council are working with partners 
to deliver improvements to Skelmersdale 
Town Centre and the Tawd Valley.

31 Yes Noted

32 Yes. Overall it reflects my understanding of the borough. Noted

34 1.1.2 Three dimensions to Sustainable Development - Paragraph 1.1.2 
discusses the three dimensions to sustainable development and how the 
NPPF requires the planning system to perform a number of roles. - The 
Local plan is split into different papers including Economy, Environmental 
and Social papers. To ensure Sustainable development these need to be 

Comments regarding natural capital are 
noted, although it is not always the easiest 
thing to assess and further guidance would 
be welcome. We will seek to accommodate 
water resources into the Local Plan Review.Page 457



ID Representor Comments Council Response

interlinked, which the papers do appear to do in some areas. E.g. the 
impact of Flood risk is raised within the Social Paper. Moving forward to the 
next stage of the local plan we would recommend that this relationship is 
strengthened for guiding future development. One area that this could be 
done is through the recognition of the environment as an important asset. 
Natural capital is a way to value the environment economically by 
recognising that the environment can have a monetary value and can help 
attract investment. This helps to create a high quality environment through 
protecting and enhancing assets such as waterways within West Lancashire 
alongside supporting economic growth (e.g. linking to the value of visitor 
economy) whilst ensuring that we have healthy places to live for 
residential/recreational purposes through high quality green spaces. 
Natural Capital is therefore a key way to link these 3 papers whilst 
contributing to the Local Plan objectives. -  - Section 1.4 Issues affecting 
West Lancashire In relation to the issues identified within section 1.4 there 
is a lack of recognition for the borough’s waterways. We note that climate 
change is identified which incorporates flooding and drainage however, the 
current state of waterways with West Lancashire is not included within the 
issues listed. The 'thematic spatial evidence papers' 8.0 Water quality and 
resources outlines the current state of the watercourses however, this has 
not fed through to the Local Plan document. Waterways can support a 
range of habitat, their management influences flood risk and can provide 
attractive recreational spaces/investment areas. The current state of these 
watercourses in terms of water quality is therefore highly important to 
West Lancashire and the improvement/enhancement under the Water 
Framework Directive could assist in meeting the Local Plan’s objectives. We 
would therefore recommend that the current state of waterways is 
highlighted to ensure future development does not cause pollution and 
where possible these are enhanced.

39 Response A - No mention of impact on fracking (most of West Lancashire is 
in PED L fracking licence area 164 & 165) and what measures taken to 
mitigate effects including clean up, roads, particularly Moss Roads, Water 
Quality, noise and generally pollution and impact on agriculture and 
tourism and any regard to the existing or proposed Environmental Policy 
and subsequent impact. -  - Response B - No mention of poor infrastructure 
Moss Roads, no bus services to isolated settlements such as Shirdley Hill 
and measures to combat rural isolation. -  - Response C - Although there is 
a duty of co-operation with neighbouring authorities there may be cross 
boundary issues where large numbers of houses on boundaries of larger 
combinations of neighbouring authorities are not catered for in terms of 
schooling and medical services. - 

Fracking licences are the responsibility of 
Lancashire County Council, not the Borough 
Council. Environmental concerns regarding 
fracking are therefore for the consideration 
of LCC.

42 The section on the 'Key Issues' for West Lancashire Borough addresses only 
international biodiversity issues; and as follows:   -  - "Parts of West 
Lancashire are internationally important designated nature reserves, 
accommodating significant proportions of the world population of certain 
species. - These are both an asset to the Borough, requiring continued 
protection, and also a potential constraint to development in some 
areas." -  - There is surely a need and opportunity to look spatially at 
ecology in strategic / wider landscape terms across the whole of the 
borough and into adjoining authorities; and to better integrate 
maintenance, restoration and recovery of functional ecological networks 
through the planning system with other land uses and developments; and 
with delivery of green infrastructure for (human) residents, employees, 
students and tourists. And to consider international, national and county 
contexts.

Comments noted.

43 8.33 suggests that there are sufficient school places. This statement was 
made against the previous Local Plan sites and a review will be needed 
once these sites have been determined. - Skelmersdale Development – It 
has been communicated to LCC School Planning that the former Glenburn 
High School site is being considered for some additional housing. It should 

Comments noted. WLBC will continue to 
liaise with LCC, as education provider, with 
regard future development proposals to 
ensure that education provision can be 
appropriately planned for.Page 458



ID Representor Comments Council Response

be noted that such an increase in the area would require LCC to reconsider 
the position statement submitted in August 2016. The document focuses 
on Skelmersdale and options to increase housing and employment 
opportunities than previously stated in the Local Plan. If Skelmersdale and 
its surrounding areas are to be developed in such a way, LCC recommend a 
strategic approach to the area is taken for developments collectively and 
not in isolation. We would welcome the opportunity to discuss this further 
through the consultation process and face to face meetings with WLBC 
planning officers.

46 Greater consideration should be given towards the commuter type of travel 
mainly by car from the main settlements. This being the only current 
realistic method of travel means that large scale development which is 
furthest from the motorway and arterial road network should be avoided 
as to do so would relatively quickly compound the existing problems during 
peak travel times.

Comments on commuter travel patterns 
noted.

47 I live on Ashurst. Parbold Rail Station is nearby and can be reached by the 
hourly 3A bus service. There are two trains per hour from Parbold to 
Manchester and the same to Southport. However, the likes of Tanhouse 
and Digmoor and even the town centre is further away from Parbold, so I 
can understand why people in those areas might be keener on Skem 
getting its own train station. One thing I would say is that getting to 
Liverpool has always been harder than it should be. The 311 bus service 
takes forever, and that service no longer goes through Ashurst. So you are 
looking at a bus to the Concourse, then a bus to Liverpool. Or a bus to the 
Concourse, another bus to Ormskirk and then the train to Liverpool. In 
practice, you are looking at 2 1/2 hours travel time on a good day, and that 
easily rise to 3 1/2 hours when services are disrupted. Also, Upholland train 
station is not at all accessible for the disabled and not served by public 
transport.

Noted

48 The key issues need to support the population so that we reduce our 
impact on the environment locally, regionally, nationally and 
internationally so that we can live sustainably.

Noted

56 Whilst Taylor Wimpey’s main interest lies in the provision of housing to 
provide for the needs of the borough, it acknowledges that this is 
inherently linked to the provision of employment opportunities. The 
National Planning Practice Guidance [Practice Guidance] requires that 
potential job growth is considered in the context of potential unsustainable 
commuting patterns and as such plan-makers should consider how the 
location of new housing could help address this. Ensuring a sufficient 
supply of homes within easy access of employment sources represents a 
central facet of any efficiently functioning economy and can help to 
minimise housing pressures and unsustainable levels of commuting (and 
therefore congestion and carbon emissions). - Taylor Wimpey therefore 
welcomes the acknowledgment in the SDO Paper that providing the right 
supporting context for attracting business (including appropriate housing 
provision to accommodate employees) is needed along with providing 
employment land in the right location [§4.4.1 – 7th bullet]. The new Local 
Plan should identify sufficient housing sites in close proximity to existing 
and proposed employment areas. - Taylor Wimpey particularly welcomes 
the Council’s approach to the Duty to Co-operate [§1.1.11] set out in the 
Duty to Co-operate Statement [DtC Statement] and in particular welcomes 
that WLBC has signed the Liverpool City Region [LCR] Statement of Co-
operation. More detailed comments are made below in the ‘Duty to Co-
Operate’ section of these representations but it is particularly important to 
ensure that housing and employment needs are met in appropriate 
locations. This does not just include the needs of West Lancashire alone but 
also any unmet need from neighbouring authorities. In this regard, it is 
welcomed that the SDO Paper recognises that “the key sub-regional matter 
for the Local Plan will be the Duty to Co-operate” and that the Framework 
requires that “cross-boundary issues are suitably addressed and collective 

Noted

Page 459



ID Representor Comments Council Response

development needs are met in full” [§1.3.5]. - Taylor Wimpey notes the 
recognition that the Local Plan period should be at least 15 years [§1.2.3] 
and welcomes that the Council is considering a longer period (possibly to 
2050). More detail on this point is provided below in the ‘Local Plan Period’ 
section of these representations. - Taylor Wimpey agrees that the 
affordability of housing and particularly that the median house price is 
almost 7 times median earnings [§4.4.1 – 3rd bullet] is a critical issue that 
needs to be addressed by the Local Plan. Further comments are made in 
relation to this below in the “Amount of Development Land Required” 
section of these representations.

57 Although referred to in passing, the significant disparity between 
Skelmersdale and the remainder of the borough, particularly in economic 
and social terms, needs to be stressed and addressed more effectively. - 
Furthermore, the constraints imposed on the development of West 
Lancashire, particularly such policy constraints as Green Belt policy, are 
barely mentioned. 

Comments noted

60 see answer to Question 4 above. Comments noted

61 I agree development opportunities should be maximised along the M58 
Corridor, in particular around Skelmersdale. The road infrastructure is 
good, far better than the rest of West Lancashire, with easy access to 
motorways, including the M6. - It also has a modern college to help provide 
the skills that will be needed. - Priority should be placed on providing rail 
links to Skelmersdale and also improving the town centre. - This will also 
help to reduce the disparity highlighted between Skelmersdale and the 
Northern parishes with regard to deprivation.

Comments noted

62 Section 1.4 of the Strategic Development Options Paper identifies a number 
of ‘key issues’ facing West Lancashire which should be addressed through 
the Local Plan Review. The following issues are considered to be 
particularly pertinent: -  - · “The issue of student accommodation in 
Ormskirk needs to be adequately addressed to ensure that sufficient 
provision is made to accommodate student demand; - · West Lancashire 
needs to be fuelled not just by providing land in the right location for new - 
employment premises to attract businesses (both large and small, 
established and new), but by - providing the right supporting context to 
attract those businesses which includes providing a skilled - local 
workforce, appropriate housing provision to accommodate employees and 
an attractive - environment and offer to retain and draw working age 
people to the area, especially graduates; and, - · There is a significant 
opportunity to boost the local economy, especially in the M58 corridor, as 
a - result of the Liverpool2 deep water terminal and expected surge in 
demand for logistics facilities and ‘spin-off’ industries. Skelmersdale is likely 
to be the most appropriate location for such opportunities given its 
excellent road access from the Port of Liverpool.” - We consider that the 
Council have successfully identified the most pertinent ‘key issues’ facing 
the borough. In particular we endorse the importance of the issues set out 
above, namely; the need to accommodate and manage student demand, 
the provision of appropriate housing, the retention of graduates and the 
potential of the borough to harness increased demand for logistics 
facilities. - The Council have identified the opportunity to boost the local 
economy, in particular the M58 Corridor, as a result of the Liverpool2 deep 
water terminal and the expected increase in demand for logistics facilities. 
With this in mind consideration should be given to the role that the 
borough can play within the sub-region and the North West. West 
Lancashire can play a role in accommodating unmet demand and 
development from the city regions of Greater Manchester and Liverpool as 
well as Central Lancashire. West Lancashire is a highly accessible location 
within the North West and its links with Liverpool, Greater Manchester and 
Central Lancashire will have an indirect effect on the Borough. It will be 
essential therefore that the Local Plan Review takes into detailed 
consideration these cross boundary issues and that these are suitably 

Noted

Page 460



ID Representor Comments Council Response

addressed. - Collective development needs will need to be met in full.

64 Further consideration should be given to the role and impact that the 
Liverpool City Region has on West Lancashire, particularly in relation to the 
Objectively Assessed Needs (“OAN”) and employment land requirements 
within West Lancashire over the Plan period when this document is 
published.

Noted

69 Key issues must all relate directly to the need to support the projected 
population - number and profile - in a way that reduces our currently 
unsustainable impact on the planet and on our local environment.

Noted

70 Whilst the broad issues identified are generally correct, as outlined above, 
a greater - acknowledgment of cross boundary issues should be provided; 
especially in relation to the - potential need to accommodate future 
housing growth from nearby local authorities which - contain larger urban 
areas as well as links to the City Regions of Liverpool, Greater Manchester - 
and Central Lancashire. -  - The Commissioners are pleased that issues such 
as an ageing population, decline in working - age population and need to 
boost economic development are identified. However it is clear - that these 
issues are all interlinked and this part of the paper does not explicitly 
acknowledge - this to any great degree. For instance, the ageing population 
and decline in working age - population are clearly strongly related. This in 
turn can cause a greater amount of commuting - in the area. Whilst 
commuting is mentioned within the issues, the importance of reducing 
this - in order to create sustainable patterns of development is critical if 
future policies are to be - sound. -  - These issues along with the need to 
boost economic development and maximise economic - opportunities all 
point to an upward revision in West Lancashire’s housing target. Again, 
the - Commissioners would expect this to be referenced in this part of the 
document.

Comments noted

72 yes Noted

73 Edge Hill University considers that the Council has successfully identified 
the most - relevant ‘key issues’ that need to be addressed through the Local 
Plan Review. -  - WLBC has aspirations to continue the recent and ongoing 
steady growth in economic - activity; possibly at a higher rate. This 
ambition is supported by the University, although - it is acknowledged that 
economic growth may be challenging to achieve in the context of - an 
ageing population and declining workforce. Indeed, the 2014-based Sub-
National - Population Projections indicate a decline of c. 5,900 working age 
residents in the - Borough by 2037. -  - In the circumstances, WLBC must 
actively seek to promote new economic growth over - the plan period. This 
will include by: -  - Ensuring that sufficient land for new employment uses is 
made available, and in - the right locations over the plan period. - • 
Providing sufficient support to existing businesses to enable their 
aspirations for - growth to be achieved. - • Developing a skilled local 
workforce. - • Creating an attractive environment which draws and retains 
working age people - to the Borough, especially graduates. -  - Such an 
approach would be consistent with national policy which confirms that: - 
“Investment in business should not be over-burdened by the combined 
requirements of - planning policy expectations. Planning policies should 
recognise and seek to address - potential barriers to investment, including a 
poor environment or any lack of - infrastructure, services or housing”3.

Noted

75 Paragraph 3.3 in the paper makes reference to the designated Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA) in Ormskirk town centre. Key Issues for 
Ormskirk with Aughton refers to traffic congestion in and around the town 
centre but it is recommended that this issue should be expanded to include 
reference to the AQMA in Ormskirk too. - Paragraph 7.6 in the paper makes 
reference to the percentage of economically inactive residents in the 
Western Parishes, including the proportion of retired people. Key issues for 
the Western Parishes refers to rural isolation and access but it is 

Comments noted

Page 461



ID Representor Comments Council Response

recommended that this issue should be expanded to include reference to 
the ageing population too. -  - Violent crime is acknowledged within the 
paper (paragraph 8.9) and hospital admissions for violent crime is listed as 
an indicator within the Sustainability Appraisal. - In West Lancashire, 
hospital admissions for violent crime are consistently above the England 
average. Safety and fear of crime should be recognised as an important 
aspect for planning policy and urban design consideration, especially in 
instances where perceptions of community safety might be preventing the 
full use of local facilities. Paragraph 2.7 (Skelmersdale with Up Holland) in 
the paper alludes to this with regard to the current limited usage of the 
network of footpaths, underpasses and footbridges around Skelmersdale, 
due to a perceived risk of crime. - As stated in the Government Planning 
Practice Guidance note on Designi - "It is important that crime reduction-
based planning measures are based upon a clear understanding of the local 
situation, avoiding making assumptions about the problems and their 
causes. Consideration also needs to be given to how planning policies relate 
to wider policies on crime reduction, crime prevention and sustainable 
communities. This means working closely with the police force to analyse 
and share relevant information and good practice." -  - It is recommended 
that the preparation of the Preferred Options Paper takes account of 
guidance in the National Planning Policy Frameworkii, on preparing local 
plan policies which deliver good design and promote healthy communities 
(paragraphs 58 and 69). Potential developments should be judged by how 
they prioritise "safe and accessible environments where crime and 
disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine quality of life or 
community cohesion" and "safe and accessible developments, containing 
clear and legible pedestrian routes, and high quality public space, which 
encourage the active and continual use of public areas."

78 Traffic problems in local villages. Much to [sic] heavy for infrastructure. Noted

79 Story Homes considers that the Local Plan Vision should be clearly defined 
and positively - worded in order to ensure the vision underpins and informs 
all resultant policies. It is therefore - recommended that at the next stage of 
consultation the Council should establish the Vision - early in the Local Plan 
and ensure that it secures the support in principle from key stakeholders. - 
Story Homes believes the Local Plan offers an opportunity for West Lancs to 
set an ambitious - and challenging Vision which seeks to encourage 
betterment for the Borough and its existing - and future residents. - In line 
with the need for a clear and positive Vision for the Local Plan, the key Aims 
and - Objectives should be set out, incorporating matters such as the 
delivery of housing and - employment, As per the Vision policies can then 
be worded accordingly to demonstrate how - these Aims and Objectives 
would best be met. - In accordance with the NPPF, the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development should - form the golden thread of 
emerging policies, worded to encourage delivery of proposals in the - most 
appropriate locations where they are needed most. - Story Homes is clear 
that Green Belt release is required in West Lancashire to accommodate - 
the housing needs of the Borough as there is a shortage of deliverable 
housing land within the - existing urban area if the OAN is to be met. To 
provide for the housing needs and accounting - for the economic growth 
potential of West Lancashire in its sub-regional context, there are - 
“exceptional circumstances” to justify GB release subject to looking at all 
possible alternatives - such as safeguarded land (as detailed previously at 
paragraph 1.39 of the Housing White - Paper). - Density and Developable 
Areas - Story Homes considers that a density figure of 30 dwellings - per 
hectare (dph) and a net developable area ratio of 75:25 are reasonable in 
principle and - broadly in line with the housebuilding industry’s approach 
to development, particularly in relation - to family homes. However, 
individual sites vary according to their specific physical - characteristics. As 
such, these figures should not be used as a constraint on the scale of - 
development which can be proposed by specific development sites, 
including safeguarded land, - when such land comes forward for 

Comments noted

Page 462



ID Representor Comments Council Response

development. - HOW Planning LLP (“HOW”) has been instructed by Story 
Homes to prepare and submit - representations to the West Lancashire 
Local Plan Review Issues and Options Consultation. - These representations 
have addressed the questions posed within the Strategic Development - 
Options Paper and the Social Policy Options Paper. - The work undertaken 
by Story Homes’ appointed economic consultant would suggest a housing - 
requirement of close to Option C (400 dwellings per annum) to meet West 
Lancashire’s - development needs. Should, however, West Lancashire agree 
to meet unmet need from - adjoining authorities, as suggested in the 
Strategic Development Options Paper, the housing - requirement will need 
to be higher. The Council’s suggestion that it may deliver between 100 - 
and 200 dwellings per annum on behalf of adjoining authorities would also 
need to be added to - the OAN. As such, Story Homes reserves the right to 
make further comments on the - soundness, or otherwise, of the Council’s 
approach to OAN once the approach within the - Housing Market Area 
(HMA) has been confirmed and agreed by the participating Authorities. It - 
will only be at this time, from a review of all the available evidence, that 
Story Homes will be - able to provide a fully evidenced opinion on the OAN 
required to meet West Lancashire’s - housing needs. - Story Homes have 
great concern that the Local Plan Review proposes a baseline date of 2012 - 
(the same at the adopted Local Plan), as the Local Plan Review intends to 
be a new standalone - DPD and therefore should be based on up to date 
evidence and have a start date of 2017. With - regards to the length of time 
which the Local Plan Review should cover, Option 1: 2012 to - 2037, would 
be Story Homes’ recommended time period. Local Plans must generate 
the - confidence that they are planning sustainably over the full plan period 
and Story Homes are - unconvinced that this could be achieved through a 
Local Plan which sets a Plan period of - approximately 35 years. 
Furthermore, the longer plan period is unlikely to be able to provide an - 
approach which will be sufficiently flexible to take account of changing 
market conditions over - the length of the plan period. - Story Homes 
considers it imperative that existing safeguarded sites should be released as 
a - priority in advance of the release of additional Green Belt land (see 
paragraph 1.39 of the - Housing White Paper), and that new safeguarded 
sites should be identified as necessary to - ensure the Green Belt 
boundaries do not need to be amended further at the end of the Plan - 
period. - Story Homes have considered the four scenarios for the proposed 
spatial distribution of - development and are of the opinion that Scenario 2, 
which proposes to focus development within Key Service Centres, would 
provide a reasonable starting point to determine the spatial - distribution 
of development within the Local Plan Review. Story Homes, however, 
consider that - an updated SHELMA would need to influence the proposed 
distribution of the OAN to each Key - Service Centre to ensure that the 
development allocations will be deliverable and developable. - In relation 
to the Social Policy Options Paper, Story Homes acknowledges and 
supports the - need for the delivery of additional affordable homes, 
provided this can be done in a viable - manner. - The above presents a 
summary of Story Homes’ opinions based upon the information available - 
for review as part of the Local Plan Review Issues and Options Consultation 
and Story reserve - the right to make further comments as and when new 
evidence is published

81 No. -  - 1. The Key Issues states "the amount of best and versatile 
agricultural land in the Borough is regionally important resource and is vital 
to the high performing agricultural industry in West Lancashire". -  - 
Evidence states that the best and most versatile agricultural land in the 
Borough (and critically the Northern Parishes) is NATIONALLY important, as 
opposed to simply regionally important. This recognition is not identified as 
a KEY ISSUE, nor is there any support proposed within the Issue and 
Options paper, to maintain the sustainable growth of the agricultural and 
food processing sector. -  - Agriculture and food production are particularly 
important to the West Lancashire economy. According to agricultural 

Comments noted

Page 463



ID Representor Comments Council Response

census data, there are 400 agricultural holdings in West Lancashire 
employing 2,300 people. The annual BRES data collected by ONS reports 
and additional 200 employees are employed in agriculture in 2015, in 
addition to those employed on farms. -  - In terms of food processing, BRES 
data indicates that there are 2,250 jobs in food production in West 
Lancashire representing a third (32%) of the manufacturing jobs in the 
district and 4.7% of total jobs. -  - Food production has been the source of 
much of the growth in manufacturing employment both in West Lancashire 
and also across GB.  However West Lancashire has been much stronger 
growth accounting for 17.1% of manufacturing jobs since 2009,  This has 
helped support overall growth of manufacturing employment in the 
borough, whereas GB has seen a fall in total manufacturing 
employment. -  - Together, agriculture and food production account for 
10% of jobs in West Lancashire compared to fewer than 3% nationally.  
Both of these sectors are, therefore vitally therefore a priority growth 
sector and important to the local economy and need to be included as a 
KEY ISSUE in the emerging Local Plan. -  - 2. The Key Issues fails to address 
the infrastructure constraints within the Northern Parishes, and only 
explicitly identifies problems in Skelmesdale, Burscough and Orsmirk. -  - 
Several road traffic assessments have been undertaken demonstrating the 
traffic and infrastructure constraints associated with the northern Parishes. 
This is also set out at Para. 2.36 of the Adopted West Lancashire Local Plan 
(2012-2027), in which "there are issued with traffic congestion in the two 
villages, particularly along the main Hesketh Lane/Station Road route. 
HGV's accessing agricultural and produce/packing facilities combine with 
local traffic, particularly at peak times, and can cause significant 
problems."  -  - In addition, the West Lancashire Highways and Transport 
Masterplan 2013 sets out the vision of constructing the Green Lane Link 
and route management strategy, as a direct solution to the infrastructure 
constraints associated with the Northern Parishes. -  - This evidence base 
has not been included or referred to within the Spatial Portrait and needs 
to be included as KEY ISSUES in the emerging Local Plan. -  - 3. Given the 
change in agriculture, and the nature of the agricultural sector, with 
specific reference to processing, packaging and distribution of agricultural 
products, both nationally and internationally, grown on agricultural land 
and processed in the Northern Parishes, the current policy framework is 
wholly inadequate. -  - The emerging Local Plan needs to incorporate a 
specific policy framework that sets the parameters for development in 
relation to these important sectors, to enable the sustainable growth of 
this key industry within the Borough. -  - 4.There is a clear lack of housing 
provision to support the continued and sustainable development of the 
agricultural and food processing industry within the Northern Parishes. It is 
identified (above) that this sector within West Lancashire has been much 
stronger growth accounting for 17.1% of manufacturing jobs since 2009 
and account for 10% of jobs in West Lancashire compared to fewer than 3% 
nationally. Therefore, additional market housing is required to support this 
documented growth and boost the local economy, in close proximity to the 
place of work, being the Northern Parishes. -  - The lack of housing to meet 
the demand of those employed in agriculture, results in expenditure 
leaking out to the neighbouring authorities. This relates to an identified Key 
Issue.

82 The key issues is the need to support the population in a way that reduces 
our impact on the environment.

Noted

89 This section of our report considers the Strategic Development Options 
Paper, which identifies a series of strategic development options for the 
amount and broad location of new housing and employment 
development. - Paragraph 1.1.7 of the Strategic Options Paper identifies 
WLBC’s priorities: - “…it is important that whichever options are ultimately 
selected the Borough is enabled to grow economically, has good social 
infrastructure and its environment is protected and enhanced wherever 
possible...” - Our Client supports the principle of growth in West 

Comments noted

Page 464



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Lancashire, this accords with the Framework’s requirement to positively 
and proactively encourage sustainable economic growth as well as 
significantly boost the supply of housing. - This Representation now 
addresses several of the key questions set out in the Paper.

96 Key issues for the Spatial Area are identified within Section 2 of the Spatial 
Portrait, and more detailed analysis - is provided at a borough‐wide basis 
within Section 9 of the Spatial Portrait. We would note that at a local level - 
(i.e. within Section 2) no mention is made of the issue which is comprised of 
a recognition of having key heritage - assets (such as the Seminary, the 
Benedictine Priory and the former Ravenhead Brickworks) and the need to - 
identify opportunities to bring these into more effective active use. - Within 
Section 9, there is a paragraph which highlights the importance of 
designated nature reserves and the fact - that can be viewed equally as 
asset or constraint in certain circumstances. We conclude that it would be - 
appropriate in similar form to refer to built environment assets and set 
their future role as a key issue. - We agree that the changing demographic 
profile of West Lancashire is important and that weight should be - 
afforded to the need to meet the requirements of an ageing population. 
The Local Plan Review provides an - opportunity to improve the supply of 
housing to fulfil the needs of an ageing population and (perhaps) by giving - 
strong weight to schemes that can provide more substantial contribution to 
those specialist housing needs.  - We also agree that the affordability of 
housing is a key issue and that it is fundamentally intertwined with the 
contrasting market strengths across the Borough. We feel that this has 
been exacerbated by previous policy directives to allocate more housing in 
some of the areas with poor market conditions and a suppression of 
delivery in other areas. - If higher levels of growth are to be achieved, then 
it will be important to reconcile the planned distribution of development 
with these housing market issues. There is a very clear affordability issue in 
West Lancashire, and the Local Plan Review provides an opportunity to 
improve the supply of affordable housing to fulfil unmet needs by 
increasing overall supply in areas with better market conditions and 
(perhaps) by giving strong weight to schemes that can provide more 
substantial contribution to affordable housing needs, or indeed to enable 
the completion of works to preserve heritage assets and bring them back 
into active use.

Comments noted

97 Multiple key issues are identified within Section 9 of the Spatial Portrait, 
but in our view these do not give remotely adequate weight to the urgent 
need to improve the town centre offer for Skelmersdale and provide 
credible employment opportunities and opportunity for evening economy 
choices that are simply absent. - If it were deemed that there was merit in 
pursuing a retail warehouse park within West Lancashire, national policy 
and the Council’s previous retail policy advice would strongly direct that 
investment towards town centre locations. The siting of any such facility 
outside town centres could easily prejudice the vitality of existing centres 
and planned investment. - This is particularly relevant in the context of 
Skelmersdale which has been subject of a long‐held ambition to enhance 
and regenerate the town centre. The first priority for any potential retail 
warehouse park should be to ascertain whether it can be located within 
Skelmersdale town centre, in addition to the consented scheme between 
the Concourse and the College. Out‐of‐centre locations should be robustly 
tested against their potential to prejudice town centre vitality and the 
delivery of planned investment in Skelmersdale town centre.

Comments noted

99 Further consideration should be given to the role and impact that the 
Liverpool City Region has on West Lancashire, particularly in relation to the 
Objectively Assessed Needs (“OAN”) and employment land requirements 
within West Lancashire over the Plan period when this document is 
published.

Noted

102 It is important that decisions taken in relation to the future of West 
Lancashire should carefully be balanced against the impacts on the historic 

Comments noted

Page 465



ID Representor Comments Council Response

environment. There may be instances where the level of growth in a 
particular area may not be able to accommodate growth due to its historic 
environment, conversely there may be opportunities for growth in areas, 
which may tackle, for example heritage at risk.  The KEy issues therefore, 
should be amended accordingly.

103 The inclusion of UpHolland and Bickerstaff with Skelmersdale as a single 
coherent area does not facilitate easy analysis of data and often statements 
are made that do not apply to the less densely populated and more 
affluent areas of Bickerstaff and Up Holland. - The issues raised for 
Skelmersdale and the SE parishes do not reflect the issues for Up Holland 
because the data is generalised. - 

Noted. It is not always possible to find data 
for the individual areas, but where available 
and appropriate we will do our best to 
provide data separately for Up Holland, 
Bickerstaffe and Skelmersdale.

107 I will restrict my comments to areas I know. - The impact of Edge Hill 
University on the wider areas of the borough needs to be further 
explored. - How much employment does it bring to resident in within the 
borough. - How much Income is lost to the council through the loss of 
council rates and business rates through the uncontrolled expansion of 
HMO's includi g those on commercial premises

Noted

110 The policies try to address individual problems within the borough but the 
problem needs to be talked as a whole. What is seen as a cure for one 
specific problem only compounds the problems within the policy document 
as a whole. - The councils main aim of trying to invigorate Skelmersdale is 
totally flawed. The nettle that needs to be grasped is that NO ONE 
ACTUALLY WANTS TO LIVE THERE.  - Burscough is a lively and vibrant town 
now, this is because of the new homes built there and to be built there. Yet 
Ormskirk is being left to die on its feet because of lack of vision and 
encouragement to build here.

Comments noted

Page 466



Question 7: What do you think of the draft Vision for the Local Plan? 
Does it cover all it needs to? Is it aiming for the right improvements?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

14 yes Noted

17 We agree that Skelmersdale should be a focus for development. Noted

18 The draft vision is a fair reflection of the Spatial portrait and the key issues. 
Whilst we would have preferred greater emphasis on meeting the needs of 
older people in the wording of the vision, it is appreciated that brevity is 
important and we do not consider any supplemental wording is necessary.  

Noted

20 The question of providing affordable housing in Aughton has always been a 
'bone of contention' with our group. Albeit local families and persons 
wishing to live in Aughton often find themselves 'priced out' and no 
'affordable housing' available. It is a fact of life that housing in some areas 
is more expensive than others, with Aughton considered as a prime place 
to live. Very recent developments in Aughton have not included a 
proportion of affordable housing and any future developments are unlikely 
to do so as what the developers may consider as affordable will no doubt 
be beyond the reach of many..

Noted

21 It does not give enough space and importance to farming and food 
production.

Noted

24 The Vision seems to include many of the points I would consider 
important.  There does not seem to be any mention of how we would use 
renewable energy within the Borough which I think is an important part of 
the future plan.  Perhaps the Objectiver (8.) should be included in the Vision

Noted

26 This appears to address the requirements for the borough Noted

28 Too much emphasis on housing, not enough given to rural land uses and 
the environment.

Noted

29 The local plan mentions all needs,like retirement housing,but the is no 
solution for elderly housing  or a retirement village ,which would be a 
marvelous addition to West Lancashire. - There have been proposals and 
willing private investment,into a retirement village project,which need to 
be supported by the council.

Noted, the Local Plan will identify sites 
where such provision for housing for the 
elderly will need to be delivered.

30 Idealistic!. Improvement to the use of rail services to Skelmersdale could be 
made by provision of temporary  car parking on the Pimbo Estate next to 
the railway line within easy walking distance of UpHolland Station. 
UpHolland is as far from the station as Skelmersdale but is better 
connected to the station by road.  To chance finding a space at the informal 
parking spot opposite the station is foolish and the absence of designated 
parking, (and bus connection), prevents people from using the Manchester 
Victoria, via Wigan to Kirkby service.  A positive promotion of parking at 
Pimbo may help reduce commuterYes parking and congestion at Appley 
Bridge..

Noted.  There are limited locations where 
new parking for rail stations can be 
accommodated, however, the Council 
acknowledges that, wherever possible and 
where there is funding available, improved 
access to rail stations (be that in terms of car 
parking, walking, cycling or bus services) 
should be provided.

31 Good. Nothing contentious. Noted

32 The aims seem well thought out Noted

34 We support the Draft Vision for West Lancashire as it reflects the 
environmental assets within West Lancashire.

Noted

35 Overall the Vision for the Local Plan is supported. - The acknowledgement 
of the important role that the Borough can have within the Liverpool City 
Region is supported, as this will guide overall development within the 

Noted

Page 467



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Borough through the Plan period. - Furthermore, the recognition that the 
three main settlements, including Burscough, will be the focus for new 
development demonstrates the Council’s appreciation for the role these 
already play and that this can be further enhanced for the benefit of the 
wider Borough. - Additionally, the acknowledgment of the importance of 
the delivery of housing to support economic growth in the Borough is 
supported.

39 Response A - Retain rural employment through retaining employment 
sites.  provide more affordable accommodation for the elderly in rural 
areas to reflect changing population trends. -  - Response B - 1 & 2 bed 
starter homes are needed in all areas especially in rural areas, however 
Local plans may also see this as desirable but don’t have any influence on 
developers to build such housing. - 

Noted

40 We note that specific reference is made to providing a fantastic range of 
housing, however, there is no specific reference to elderly or specialist 
elderly accommodation – these types of accommodation are critical to 
providing the right housing mix and choice, future iterations of this 
document should include such reference.

Noted

42 No comment at this time.

46 The Vision accurately identifies the main issues especially in terms of 
employment and housing with a particular emphasis on the regeneration of 
Skelmersdale which should be the central focus for Housing and 
employment with corresponding environmental improvements which will 
help transform this important town of the Borough.

48 The vision section should include a statement that all sections of the plan 
will take account of us all living within our means.

Noted

56 The Vision should make clear that if the economic aspirations of the 
Borough are to be achieved, family homes of a high enough quality must be 
provided in the right locations to help attract and retain a sufficiently 
skilled workforce within the Borough. - Taylor Wimpey supports various 
parts of the Draft Vision in so much as it: - 1 Recognises West Lancashire’s 
‘highly accessible’ location and links with neighbouring City Regions; - 2 
Seeks for West Lancashire to be an ‘outward looking proactive partner’ 
which accords with the Duty to Co-operate; - 3 Seeks to unlock the growth 
potential of West Lancashire through job creation and providing 
opportunities for new and existing businesses; and, - 4 Identifies that an 
appropriate range and quality of housing is fundamental to supporting such 
growth; - The description of West Lancashire’s location should go further 
and identify it as a major advantage in helping to achieve a thriving 
Borough with a vibrant economy. The opportunity to tap into the growth 
being driven by the Northern Powerhouse agenda and the significant 
investment in infrastructure projects within the Liverpool City Region and 
North West in general (such as the Superport and HS2) and easy access to 
the strategic roads network should also be highlighted. - The 4th bullet of 
the Draft Vision identifies that the Borough’s three main settlements 
(Skelmersdale with Up Holland, Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough) will 
be the focus of new development. The Draft Vision currently fails to 
acknowledge the need to also distribute new development to the 
Borough’s other settlements in order to ensure their sustainable long term 
growth and to provide housing in appropriate locations to meet the needs 
of west Lancashire’s growing population. This point is covered by Objective 
6 (The right mix of housing), which Taylor Wimpey supports but it should 
also be included in the Vision. - It is also noted however that the Draft 
Vision doesn’t include reference to the objective of contributing to the 
achievement of sustainable development contained in the Framework 
[§151] although this has clearly been a major consideration throughout the 
SDO Paper and is covered by Objective 1 (Sustainable Communities).

Noted

57 More needs to be done to address the isolation of Skelmersdale and its Noted
Page 468



ID Representor Comments Council Response

community.

58 The draft vision is supported, particularly the reference to aligning housing 
with economic growth.

Noted

59 West Lancashire will be an attractive place where people want to - live, 
work and visit. The Borough will retain its local character - and will also 
make the most of its highly accessible location within - the North West and 
its links with the three City Regions of - Liverpool, Greater Manchester and 
Central Lancashire and to this - end will be an outward looking proactive 
partner within this - setting. -  - West Lancashire will grow economically; 
creating jobs, attracting - new businesses and making sure that existing 
employers have - every opportunity to expand and succeed in the Borough, 
set - within the three City Regions context. -  - West Lancashire will play its 
part in providing a fantastic range - of housing, at the right quality, as a 
fundamental factor in - delivering economic growth and leaving a lasting, 
vital legacy for - the next generations. This will include provision of 
affordable - housing to ensure positive impacts on the health, wellbeing, 
social - mobility and general quality of life for West Lancashire residents. -  - 
The Borough’s three main settlements of Skelmersdale with - Up Holland, 
Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough will be the - focus for new 
development, with each town building on its - individual strengths but all 
three working together to reduce - inequality across the Borough by 
providing a well-rounded - employment base, opportunities for business 
and the right - residential mix. The regeneration of Skelmersdale in 
particular - will be vital to this and all three town centres will be more 
robust - and vibrant, offering what people need in a 21st Century town - 
centre. -  - West Lancashire’s fantastic potential will have been developed - 
through investment in young people through education and - training and 
in particular working with Edge Hill University and - West Lancashire 
College to ensure that a greater number of post - graduate jobs are created 
in order to retain skills and talents - within the Borough. -  - In rural areas, 
Village and Hamlet settlements will retain their rural - character whilst 
seeking to provide local focal points for services - and employment, where 
appropriate, and the provision of good - quality affordable homes. The 
agricultural and horticultural - industry will continue to be a focus in rural 
areas. -  -  - The identity and unique landscape of West Lancashire will be - 
valued, enhanced and sustained in accordance with best practice, - 
enabling people to access and enjoy all that it offers. This will - incorporate 
the Borough’s historic buildings and character, its - valuable and important 
wildlife, habitats and biodiversity, its vital - agricultural role and its network 
of green spaces and waterways. - Infrastructure in West Lancashire will be 
improved and focused on - the places that need it, be that improved 
sustainable transport - options within and between the larger settlements 
and to key - locations outside of the Borough (such as the proposed - 
Skelmersdale Rail Link), improved utilities and communications, - improved 
education offer or improved health, community and - leisure infrastructure 
– all of which will provide a better, and - healthier, quality of life for those 
who live, work and visit in West - Lancashire.” -  - Which comes first – the 
infrastructure or the development? So far, it has been the development, 
with the infrastructure lagging a long way behind - 

Aside from that infrastructure which is 
required to enable a development to be 
built and occupied, it would be unusual to 
see new infrastructure put in place before 
new development is built, but what the 
Local Plan can help secure is the funding for, 
or future delivery of, infrastructure needed 
to make a development acceptable in 
planning terms.

60 Redrow Homes and Wainhomes consider that the Spatial Vision is largely 
consistent with national policy. However they consider that the Local Plan 
Review should identify and release sufficient land to achieve the Vision.

Noted

61 I think the draft vision for the Local Plan is good.  I think the three main 
settlements should be the focus for new development. - The natural 
environment is hugely important . Linear parks should be developed as well 
as open spaces for recreation and exercise. - High quality agricultural land 
should be "ring fenced" for food production. This is of national, not just 
local importance as the population continues to grow. Whilst people need 
housing, they primarily need food.

Noted

Page 469



ID Representor Comments Council Response

62 The draft vision put forward by the Council is broadly supported, in 
particular the emphasis on new - development being focused around the 
borough’s main settlements of Skelmersdale with Upholland, - Ormskirk 
with Aughton and Burscough. - Ormskirk (with Aughton) is the second 
largest settlement in the Borough (this is recognised by its designation as a 
Key Service Centre in the Local Plan) and functions as the Borough’s 
administrative centre, providing a wide range of facilities and services. The 
Council’s own evidence suggest that the settlement is highly sustainable 
and it therefore follows that Ormskirk should accommodate a large amount 
of the borough’s development as set out in any new Local Plan. - 90% of 
West Lancashire is designated as Green Belt, and therefore the borough is 
highly constrained. - Consideration should be given to whether there is 
sufficient brownfield land with the borough to - accommodate housing and 
employment requirements. If Green Belt release is required for residential 
and employment development then consideration should be given to the 
most appropriate locations for release, such as, new housing to be located 
on the edge of the most sustainable settlements, such as Ormskirk (with 
Aughton). Indeed, thought should also be given to market signals, to 
confirm areas where there is most likely to be demand for further 
residential development. Additionally, new employment sites should be 
located where the infrastructure can accommodate such development.

Noted

64 Our Clients are generally supportive of the proposed draft Vision for West 
Lancashire. The Spatial Vision is largely consistent with national policy, and 
will help bring forward positive change in terms of economic and social 
aspirations.  -  - The Vision should however be more aspirational and help 
to bring forward a change in perceptions of some of the settlements within 
West Lancashire, such as Skelmersdale across the Plan period.  -  - We also 
consider that it should identify the need for Green Belt release to help 
achieve the aspirations of the Borough. - 

Noted

67 Broadly covers the correct visions and aspirations for West Lancashire. - 
However, economic development and growth to stimulate the renewal and 
regeneration of the Borough generally and Skelmersdale in particular 
should be identified as a key priority - consistent with the outputs from the 
2014 West Lancashire Economic Study.

Noted

69 The Vision needs to state that West Lancashire will be a borough which 
lives within its environmental means.  This includes reducing our 
environmental footprint. So the Plan must identify and facilitate ways of 
maintaining/improving quality of life for all while limiting our use of 
resources, not least conserving energy and water, and setting us on a path 
to eliminate the use of fossil fuels as agreed necessary by inter-
governmental climate conferences. - The non-specific marketing term 
'fantastic' is inappropriate in a legal planning document and should be 
removed from paragraphs 3 and 5. 

Noted

70 The Commissioners believe that there are a number of positive aspects in 
the draft Vision, - however a number of key elements are missing which 
need to be covered so that there is no - ambiguity over what the Local Plan 
Review needs to achieve. We therefore believe that the - following should 
be added into the draft Vision: - • An acknowledgement that housing 
growth is needed to address issues of an - ageing population, declining 
working age population and to reduce commuting - patterns, as well and 
ensuring an appropriate balance between jobs and growth. - • The 
requirement under the Duty to Cooperate to potentially meet housing 
needs - of neighbouring authorities within West Lancashire; most notably in 
the longer - term. - • The opportunity to sustainably grow smaller 
settlements within West Lancashire - to ensure that these settlements 
remain vibrant and viable over the plan period. - • Requirement to re-
examine Green Belt land in order to accommodate the growth - required in 
the Borough over the plan period.

Noted, although the suggestions tend to 
relate to how a Local Plan will achieve its 
Vision, rather than about what West 
Lancashire should be like once this Local 
Plan is delivered.

Page 470



ID Representor Comments Council Response

72 I act as agent for small builders, self builders, investors and land owners 
across the North West and I think that there is a fundamental flaw in the 
vision in that the limitations imposed by 93% of the Borough being in green 
belt restricts investment and therefore negates growth. My clients want to 
invest in Wrightington settlements and its environs rather than 
Skelmersdale but there is a scarcity of developable land particularly for 
residential development due to the settlements being too small and 
restricted by green belt. Indeed you cannot even develop brown field land 
in the green belt. There is demand for housing from local families that 
cannot be satisfied.

Noted - the distribution of development 
needs is addressed through the options 
considered in Q12.

73 The draft vision presented in the Paper provides a positive framework for 
the Local Plan - review by setting out – at a high level – how the Council 
wishes the Borough to develop. - It will be important that the Vision 
evolves as engagement continues and the Local Plan - develops. -  - In terms 
of setting a broad strategy for the plan, Edge Hill University agrees that it 
is - appropriate for the majority of new development over the plan period 
to be focused - within and adjacent to the Borough’s main settlements of 
Skelmersdale with Up Holland, - Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough. -  - 
Ormskirk (with Aughton) is the second largest and most populated 
settlement in the - Borough (after Skelmersdale)4. It functions as the 
Borough’s administrative centre and - provides a wide range of facilities 
and services, including a twice-weekly market, retail - opportunities, leisure 
and sports facilities, a hospital and railway and bus stations5. - Indeed the 
Council’s own evidence indicates that the settlement is highly sustainable. 
It - can and should accommodate a larger share of the borough’s 
development needs under - any new Local Plan. -  - WLBC’s draft vision also 
recognises the important role that the University plays in - realising and 
maximising the potential of West Lancashire’s residents, increasing the - 
number of postgraduate jobs available and retaining skills and talent within 
the Borough. - This is supported.

Noted

77 Covers needs. Noted

78 Yes- more attention to green belt though. Noted

81 No.  -  - 1. The Vision is a clear repetition of the PREVIOUS vision's for the 
Borough over the course of the last 20 years, which primarily directs 
development to Skelmersdale (1999, 2005, 2013) and more recently 
Burscough and Ormskirk (2013).  -  - 2. There is clear NEGLECT of the needs 
of the Northern Parishes, which contains the highest proportion of best and 
most versatile land within West Lancashire and in turn, where the highest 
concentration of agricultural and food production economy is based. -  - 
Agriculture and food production are particularly important to the West 
Lancashire economy. According to agricultural census data, there are 400 
agricultural holdings in West Lancashire employing 2,300 people. The 
annual BRES data collected by ONS reports and additional 200 employees 
are employed in agriculture in 2015, in addition to those employed on 
farms. -  - In terms of food processing, BRES data indicates that there are 
2,250 jobs in food production in West Lancashire representing a third (32%) 
of the manufacturing jobs in the district and 4.7% of total jobs. -  - Food 
production has been the source of much of the growth in manufacturing 
employment both in West Lancashire and also across GB.  However West 
Lancashire has been much stronger growth accounting for 17.1% of 
manufacturing jobs since 2009,  This has helped support overall growth of 
manufacturing employment in the borough, whereas GB has seen a fall in 
total manufacturing employment. -  - Together, agriculture and food 
production account for 10% of jobs in West Lancashire compared to fewer 
than 3% nationally.  Both of these sectors are, therefore vitally therefore a 
priority growth sector and important to the local economy and need to be 
included as key objective of the Spatial Vision in the emerging Local 
Plan.  -  - 3. It is STRONGLY disagreed that in order to provide a sustainable 
and 'well rounded' economy, the focus of new development is WHOLLY 
concentrated to the south of the Borough. i,e,  Skelmersdale, Burscough 

Concerns noted and to be considered as 
Local Plan Preferred Options prepared.  The 
Council recognise the important role the 
agricultural sector plays in West Lancashire 
and, in particular, in the Northern Parishes, 
and the Local Plan will seek to meet 
identified and evidenced needs for new 
development that support the agricultural 
sector.  However, this is not the only sector 
important to the West Lancashire economy, 
and so regard will also be given to other 
sectors which would necessarily be focused 
in the southern parts of the Borough.

Page 471



ID Representor Comments Council Response

and Ormskirk - this is wholly unsustainable and contrary to the objective of 
the NPPF. -  - The Spatial Vision should be explicit in its support of the 
sustainable growth of rural villages; critically villages in the Northern 
Parishes, given that the agricultural and food processing economy 
generates 10% of jobs in West Lancashire and is a SIGNIFICANT contributor 
to West Lancashire Gross Domestic Product (GDP). -  - The clear lack of 
support in this Spatial Vision is disappointing and does not provide any 
acknowledgement for this important contributor to the West Lancashire 
economy, and is CONTRADICTORY in its approach. -  - Given the intention of 
this Local Plan is potentially for 30 years, this lack of support is worrying, as 
it will stagnate this important part of the Borough, in terms of its economic 
input, thereby restricting growth and threatening the agricultural and food 
processing sector in the Northern Parishes as a whole. -  - The lack of 
support towards the agricultural and food processing sector in the 
Northern Parishes compromises the ability for this sector to continue to be 
recognised as a key player in the national agricultural market and 
throughout the UK as a whole. -  - This draft Vision needs to be 
substantially amended and to EXPLICITLY commit to: -  - - equal distribution 
of new development throughout the Borough, not directed wholly to the 
South of the Borough -  -supporting the agricultural and food processing 
sector in West Lancashire and specifically Northern Parishes - - through this 
support, the commitment to delivering key infrastructure improvements, to 
enable this key economy to maintain its current input and sustainable 
growth - - through this support, the commitment to delivering housing to 
meet the needs of the existing and future job creation from the agricultural 
and food processing sector, specifically in the Northern Parishes - -
Sustainable expansions of the existing village/rural settlements, through 
the development on land, in the following chronological order: - i. within 
existing settlement boundary - ii. Protected Land (that is a logical expansion 
of existing settlement boundary) - iii. Land released from the Green Belt, 
where appropriate, provided that the housing needs cannot be met by land 
within the policies (i and ii above) -  - - a separate explicit policy to enable 
residential development on previously developed land within the Green Belt

82 The vision needs to include the determination to live within our means, 
investing in renewable energy and reducing our carbon foot-print.

Noted

89 Section 1.4 of the Strategic Development Options Paper identifies the 
following issue: - “Whilst the number of people in the Borough is increasing 
relatively slowly, the population is ageing, with older age cohorts projected 
to grow very significantly both number-wise and percentage-wise over 
coming years. Conversely, the working age population is projected to 
decrease. This change in the make-up of the population is likely to place 
increased demand on the - provision (availability, accessibility and variety) 
of housing, services, health care, and appropriate training/ jobs for the 
older population, whilst the number of persons able to contribute towards 
providing such services decreases proportionally. It is also likely to have 
implications for job growth requirement, commuting levels, and general 
housing provision.” - Our Client agrees that the ageing population will have 
significant implications on the employment market within West Lancashire. 
To encourage the retention of working age population within the Borough 
our Client recommends that additional employment land be allocated and 
that priority is given to the retention and expansion of existing businesses. - 
The fourth paragraph of the vision identifies that the Borough’s three main 
settlements of Skelmersdale with Up Holland, Ormskirk with Aughton and 
Burscough will be the main locations for development. The principle of 
providing a greater quantum of development within the most sustainable 
locations, specifically Burscough is supported. This demonstrates the 
Council’s commitment to sustainable development in accordance with the 
Framework as a whole.

Noted

95 In general, DWH is supportive in principle of the new Vision set out in the NotedPage 472



ID Representor Comments Council Response

SDOP, particularly in terms of: - 
three main settlements of Skelmersdale with Up-Holland, Ormskirk with 
Aughton and Burscough will be the focus of new development and the 
intention to align housing with economic growth; and - 
the delivery of housing is a fundamental factor in delivering economic 
growth. -  - However, the draft Vision asserts that “West Lancashire will 
play its part in providing a fantastic range of housing…”. This proposition 
falls very short of meeting full development needs as required by national 
planning policy and is not positively prepared. This Vision needs to be 
amended in this respect by confirming that West Lancashire will seek to 
meet its housing needs in full and provide a wide range of housing in the 
right locations – including in areas of high demand – to meet this need. -  - 
It would also be helpful if the draft Vision should be amended and 
expanded to include specific ambitions for each of the Borough’s key 
spatial areas. This would assist in providing clarity and understanding in 
respect how WLBC expects growth and development to be successfully 
achieved in its areas, mindful that each is very different in character, scale, 
nature and issues.

96 The Vision sets out an ambitious way forward for the Borough. It is difficult 
to reconcile how this could be achieved if the lower growth scenarios 
(especially scenarios A and B) were progressed. On the assumption that one 
of the more ambitious growth scenarios is taken forward, the Vision sets 
out improvements that are ambitious but deliverable and will result in 
tangible improvements in the performance of the Borough at a city region 
level. The delivery of affordable housing and accommodation for older 
people are hugely important, and needs to be afforded appropriate weight 
with reference to other policies with competing objectives.

Noted

97 The Vision sets out an ambitious way forward for the Borough. It is difficult 
to reconcile how this could be achieved if the lower growth scenarios 
(especially scenarios A and B) were progressed. On the assumption that one 
of the more ambitious growth scenarios is taken forward, the Vision sets 
out improvements that are ambitious but deliverable and will result in 
tangible improvements in the performance of the Borough at a city region 
level. The delivery of these regeneration ambitions are hugely important, 
and needs to be afforded appropriate weight with reference to other 
policies with competing objectives.

Noted

98 McDermott Homes broadly supports the vision for West Lancashire and 
welcomes reference to the fact that the Borough’s three main settlements, 
including Ormskirk With Aughton, will be the focus for new development, 
with each of the towns identified building on their individual strengths.

Noted

99 Our Clients are generally supportive of the proposed draft Vision for West 
Lancashire. The Spatial Vision is largely consistent with national policy, and 
will help bring forward positive change in terms of economic and social 
aspirations. The Vision should however be more aspirational and help to 
bring forward a change in perceptions of some of the settlements within 
West Lancashire, such as Skelmersdale across the Plan period. We also 
consider that it should identify the need for Green Belt release to help 
achieve the aspirations of the Borough.

Noted

102 The historic environment and heritage assets are not just those classed as 
"buildings". The vision should refer to the historic environment to ensure 
that all assets/elements are covered.

Noted

103 Generally in the right direction. - Could include more on the provision of 
cycle and walking routes. Promotion of safe and sustainable healthy travel 
by walking and cycling could be given greater prominence.  - How many 
journeys by car are less than 1 mile? - 

Noted

108 Underpinning the entire vision is the need for sustainability of all the Noted
Page 473



ID Representor Comments Council Response

plans.  - All public transport needs to be moved away from fossil fuels, 
housing needs to be designed and built to carbon neutral standards and 
high energy efficiency 

109 I believe this is broadly positive Noted

111 Section 2.1 of the Options Paper identifies a Draft Vision for the Borough. 
The fourth Paragraph - of the vision states: - “West Lancashire will play its 
part in providing a fantastic range of housing, at - the right quality, as a 
fundamental factor in delivering economic growth and - leaving a lasting, 
vital legacy for the next generations. This will include - provision of 
affordable housing to ensure positive impact on the health, wellbeing, 
social mobility and general quality of life for West Lancashire - residents.” 
Our client is of the opinion that this vision should be extended to include 
specific mention of the - need to address an ageing population. Section 1.4 
of the Strategic Development Options Paper - identifies the following 
issue: - “Whilst the number of people in the Borough is increasing relatively 
slowly, the - population is ageing, with older age cohorts projected to grow 
very - significantly both number-wise and percentage-wise over coming 
years. - Conversely, the working age population is projected to decrease. 
This change - in the make-up of the population is likely to place increased 
demand on the - provision (availability, accessibility and variety) of housing, 
services, health - care, and appropriate training/ jobs for the older 
population, whilst the number - of persons able to contribute towards 
providing such services decreases - proportionally. It is also likely to have 
implications for job growth requirement, - commuting levels, and general 
housing provision.” As set out in the Social Policy Paper the number of 
residents aged 75 years and above is due to - increase by 75% up to 2037. 
This critical issue is not reflected fully within the vision and hence - an 
amendment should be made to state that West Lancashire will seek to 
provide adequate - housing/facilities/job opportunities to meet the needs 
of an ageing population. The fourth paragraph of the vision identifies that 
the Borough’s three main settlements of - Skelmersdale with Up Holland, 
Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough will be the main locations - for 
development. The principle of providing a greater quantum of development 
within the most - sustainable locations, specifically Ormskirk with Aughton 
is supported. This demonstrates the - Council’s commitment to sustainable 
development in accordance with the Framework as a whole.

Noted

Page 474



Question 8: Are the draft Objectives seeking to achieve the right 
things? Are they specific enough, or are they too detailed? Have we 
missed anything out?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

9 I would like you to specifically state that you will not build on greenbelt 
land. No developer should even be permitted to consider building on green 
space until every single brownfield site has been exhausted. 

All those developable brownfield sites in 
West Lancashire have been identified 
through the Council's Brownfield Land 
Register, and the supply of development 
they can provide will be accounted for in the 
Local Plan.  However, this will not be 
sufficient to meet the development needs of 
West Lancashire.  As such, some greenfield 
land will be required and, given how tightly 
drawn the Green Belt boundary is around 
settlements in West Lancashire, this will 
inevitably have to include some release of 
Green Belt land.

14 they seem comprehensive and correct Noted

17 We agree with objectives regarding vibrant town and village centres but 
have a query how this will be achieved with regards Skelmersdale Town 
Centre?

Development proposals for Skelmersdale 
Town Centre have been in preparation for 
some time and while these have not 
progressed as quickly as the council would 
have hoped, they are moving forward and 
new development in Skelmersdale town 
centre will hopefully be coming forward in 
the very near future.

18 We support the wording of Objective 6: The right mix of housing, 
specifically the need to meet the diverse housing requirements of older 
people, 

Noted

20 These draft objectives are wide ranging and somewhat complex. As far as 
objective 8 is concerned, I would again point out that the village of Aughton 
is fast losing its identity.

Noted

23 Yes, these are broadly appropriate Noted

24 The Objectives appear to cover all the areas I would consider important.  
Sustainability needs to run through the whole of the Objectives and Vision

Noted

26 Yes they appear to be fair and balanced Noted

28 Objective titles are reasonable but the definitions are open to 
interpretation, for example sustainability is not fully reflected and the 
economic aspect is dominant at the expense of the environment and 
society. - There should be 3 equal aspects to Sustainability .

Noted

29 The local plan mentions all needs,like retirement housing,but the is no 
solution for elderly housing  or a retirement village ,which would be a 
marvelous addition to West Lancashire. - There have been proposals and 
willing private investment,into a retirement village project,which need to 
be supported by the council.

As comments above

30 Yes. But the authors should recognise that land use planning cannot solve 
many issues of health and inequality (however measured) and sustainability 
and recognise that rural West Lancashire is an attractive place to live to 
those who work in Manchester and Liverpool because of its geen belt and 
ambiance.  Its economy is dependent, in part on these conurbations.  It 
should not seek to provide services to Liverpool superport that are better 
provided on dockland adjacent to the port.

Noted

32 The draft objectives are seeking to achieve the right things in my opinion.  
The specifics are adequate, however detail is sorely lacking. Even within the 

Noted

Page 475



ID Representor Comments Council Response

option paper.

34 Section 2.2 Objectives - Flood risk is highlighted as an important issue in 
section 1.4 however, there is no mention of flood risk within any of the 
objectives. The impacts of flooding can have a great impact on the 
economy and people's health alongside the environment. Flood risk could 
be included within Objective 3 as part of ensuring West Lancashire can 
adapt to Climate Change and ensuring the Local Plan can provide a high 
quality built environment. - Flood Risk could also be incorporated into 
Objective 10. A catchment management approach to flood risk including 
using ‘slow the flow’ techniques upstream can greatly help to reduce 
localised flood risk and more natural land management techniques can be 
incorporated into the improvement/creation of green spaces. Pollution 
reduction by enhancing green spaces such as the installation of reed beds 
could also be considered within Objective 10.

Noted

35 The draft objectives are considered to be appropriate for WLBC and will 
achieve the Vision, as identified. The level of detail provided for each 
objective is appropriate, as this allows sufficient flexibility for more detailed 
matters to be addressed within specific policies whilst also ensuring the 
policies seek to achieve a common set of aims. - Objective 6 is fully 
supported by Bloor Homes and UKLP and will ensure the housing needs of 
the population, and the future population are met.

Noted

39 Response A - The objectives need detail support of specific issues to achieve 
the objectives. -  - Response B - It is difficult in the initial consultation to 
comment until the draft plan is ready for consultation. - 

Noted

40 Our client agrees with draft objectives. It will be critical for future policies 
to be carefully drafted to ensure these objectives can be realised.

Noted

42 Objective 2: A Healthy Population - To encourage the improvement of the 
health and wellbeing of the - population of West Lancashire by encouraging 
a healthier lifestyle - through the way that new development is planned 
and designed, - increasing and improving the network of green spaces and 
Linear - Parks, waterways, Sport and Recreation spaces across the 
Borough - and improving access to health and community facilities. To 
tackle - health inequalities, especially within young people, focusing on - 
areas of social deprivation. -  - We welcome the green infrastructure 
aspects of the draft  "A Healthy Population" objective and note that those 
are repeated in the 'A natural environment" objective. -  - "Objective 10: A 
Natural Environment - To improve and make the most of our “green” 
Borough by protecting - and enhancing the natural environment, including 
biodiversity - and a network of green spaces, waterways and connecting 
Linear - Parks, facilitating the visitor economy, supporting the agricultural - 
and horticultural industries and generally enabling rural - communities to 
thrive." -  - Whilst welcome in apparent intent, this draft objective on "A 
natural environment" makes no specific reference to ecological networks.  
It also conflates the needs of wildlife ("biodiversity") with that of green 
infrastructure for people ("a network of green spaces, waterways and 
connecting Linear Parks"). It further mixes these with some economic 
objectives relating to tourism and agricultural production and with some 
social objectives relating to rural (but not urban) communities. -  - We 
suggest the following rewording, or similar, would refine and focus the 
objective: -  - To improve and make the most of our borough’s “green” 
assets: by protecting, enhancing, restoring and expanding its ecological 
networks and the native biodiversity that these support (including Habitats 
& Species of Principal Importance); and by protecting and enhancing our 
borough’s green infrastructure (e.g. green spaces, greenways, 
watercourses, canals, linear parks, and soils) and so securing and improving 
the ecosystem services that such infrastructure provides to our rural, urban 
and coastal residents, businesses and employees, and visitors. -  - We are 
broadly supportive of the other draft objectives, insofar as the content of 
each falls within our environmental charitable remit.

Noted

Page 476



ID Representor Comments Council Response

46 The Objectives are balanced across the needs for the Borough and provide 
a robust approach towards tackling some of the main issues identified in 
the Spatial Portrait Paper, which also reflect the responsibilities have for 
wider issues such as Climate Change, Housing, the Natural Environment 
and the Economy.

48 Objective 3 should say A high quality sustainable built environment - 
Objective 6 should say The right mix of sustainable housing - Objective 7 
should say A vitalised sustainable economy - Objective 10 should say A 
vibrant and sustainable natural environment

Noted

56 The Objectives in the SDO Paper are generally supported but Taylor 
Wimpey wishes to comment in relation to specific Objectives. - Taylor 
Wimpey generally supports the principles in Objectives 1, 3 and 4 aimed at 
achieving sustainable, high quality development that helps address climate 
change. The Council must however ensure that the Local Plan does not 
place unnecessarily burdensome requirements or standards on 
developments to the point that viability and deliverability is impacted. 
Taylor Wimpey reserves the right to comment on such issues at the next 
stage of preparing the Local Plan. - Taylor Wimpey supports Objective 5 
(Reduced Inequality) and believes it is important to plan for new 
development and improved infrastructure in ways which reduce inequality 
by addressing areas of identified and hidden deprivation across the 
Borough. The Council must ensure that the overall distribution of 
development and the Vision also reflect this. - Taylor Wimpey particularly 
supports Objective 6 (The Right Mix of Housing) regarding the provision of 
a wide range of housing types and tenures in appropriate locations to meet 
the needs of West Lancashire’s growing population. Again, the overall 
distribution of development and the Vision also need to reflect this. - Taylor 
Wimpey welcomes that Objective 7 (A Vitalized Economy) reflects the 
economic opportunities presented by the Borough’s location. - Taylor 
Wimpey generally supports Objective 8 (Vibrant Town and Village Centres) 
aimed at creating vitality and vibrancy at the heart of each community but 
again notes that this must be supported by an appropriate distribution of 
new development.

Noted

57 Although the objectives are unobjectionable in themselves, they are rather 
anodyne and generic and could come from any local plan document in any 
part of the developed world at any time in the past 50 years. A focus on 
West Lancashire objectives would be welcome.

Noted

58 The draft objectives are considered appropriate both in terms of detail and 
range. We particularly welcome objective 6.

Noted

61 The draft objectives are seeking to achieve the right things Noted

64 Our Clients are generally supportive of the proposed Objectives on the 
basis that they are largely compliant with the NPPF. However, it is felt that 
generally they should be more aspirational and pro-growth based. We set 
out below our comments in relation to specific Objectives as drafted.  - 
•	Objective 1 – Whilst we are encouraged by the Council’s approach to 
ensure that sustainability is a guiding principle, we consider that at the 
outset, the Council should strengthen this and clearly set out its 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and refer to the NPPF 
within this Objective.  - •	Objective 4 – Whilst our Clients are supportive of 
the Council’s approach in ensuring that new development helps to 
contribute towards the creation of a low carbon environment, the Council 
must ensure that any requirements are not too onerous that they restrict 
or prevent development coming forward.  - •	Objective 7 – Our Clients do 
not consider that this Objective is sufficiently aspirational. The Council 
should seek to take this opportunity to bolster the economy of West 
Lancashire rather than downplaying its role to providing opportunities for 
“appropriate development”.  - 

Noted

69 Add the word 'sustainable' to objectives 3, 6 and 7, 'sustainable' meaning NotedPage 477



ID Representor Comments Council Response

that the construction, servicing and usage involved must not compromise 
the survival/quality of life/prospects of future generations, nor of other 
communities or species.

70 Consistent with our comments above, Objective 6 (The Right Mix of 
Housing) needs to be - much clearer on the need for housing growth to 
address the issues identified earlier and to - ensure the balance of jobs 
growth and new homes are achieved in order to create sustainable - 
patterns of development.

Noted

72 No, the objectives should seek to achieve development where the demand 
is strongest. the extent of settlements particularly in the Eastern Parishes 
such as Wrightington Bar is too limited and unsustainable and green belt 
should have natural (such as streams) and existing man made boundaries 
(such as main roads) to ensure that they are robust in the right places. the 
green belt and settlement boundaries follow redundant land use patterns 
and appear to be wash over in nature rather than thought out for growth 
and sustainability.

Noted, although demand cannot be the only 
consideration against which a Local Plan is 
formulated, hence the Objectives cover a 
wide range of matters.

73 WLBC’s proposed objectives appear appropriate at this stage; however, as 
with the - Vision, it will be important that the detail of the objectives are 
reviewed at each stage of - the Local Plan review and continue to evolve as 
the detail of the Plan is developed. This is supported.

Noted

77 Could be more specific. Noted

78 Could be more specific Noted

81 The Objectives are too vague to be able to inform how the Vision will be 
delivered. Critically, we consider that the Vision is wholly imbalanced 
towards development in the south of the Borough and does not provide 
any vision or support for the Northern Parishes, its residents and 
agricultural and food processing economy. -  - 1. The Vision is a clear 
repetition of the PREVIOUS vision's for the Borough over the course of the 
last 20 years, which primarily directs development to Skelmersdale (1999, 
2005, 2013) and more recently Burscough and Ormskirk (2013).  -  - 2. 
There is clear NEGLECT of the needs of the Northern Parishes, which 
contains the highest proportion of best and most versatile land within West 
Lancashire and in turn, where the highest concentration of agricultural and 
food production economy is based. -  - Agriculture and food production are 
particularly important to the West Lancashire economy. According to 
agricultural census data, there are 400 agricultural holdings in West 
Lancashire employing 2,300 people. The annual BRES data collected by ONS 
reports and additional 200 employees are employed in agriculture in 2015, 
in addition to those employed on farms. -  - In terms of food processing, 
BRES data indicates that there are 2,250 jobs in food production in West 
Lancashire representing a third (32%) of the manufacturing jobs in the 
district and 4.7% of total jobs. -  - Food production has been the source of 
much of the growth in manufacturing employment both in West Lancashire 
and also across GB.  However West Lancashire has been much stronger 
growth accounting for 17.1% of manufacturing jobs since 2009,  This has 
helped support overall growth of manufacturing employment in the 
borough, whereas GB has seen a fall in total manufacturing 
employment. -  - Together, agriculture and food production account for 
10% of jobs in West Lancashire compared to fewer than 3% nationally.  
Both of these sectors are, therefore vitally therefore a priority growth 
sector and important to the local economy and need to be included as key 
objective of the Spatial Vision in the emerging Local Plan.  -  - 3. It is 
STRONGLY disagreed that in order to provide a sustainable and 'well 
rounded' economy, the focus of new development is WHOLLY concentrated 
to the south of the Borough. i,e,  Skelmersdale, Burscough and Ormskirk - 
this is wholly unsustainable and contrary to the objective of the NPPF. -  - 
The Spatial Vision should be explicit in its support of the sustainable growth 
of rural villages; critically villages in the Northern Parishes, given that the 
agricultural and food processing economy generates 10% of jobs in West 

Concerns noted and to be considered as 
Local Plan Preferred Options prepared.

Page 478



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Lancashire and is a SIGNIFICANT contributor to West Lancashire Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP). -  - The clear lack of support in this Spatial Vision is 
disappointing and does not provide any acknowledgement for this 
important contributor to the West Lancashire economy, and is 
CONTRADICTORY in its approach. -  - Given the intention of this Local Plan is 
potentially for 30 years, this lack of support is worrying, as it will stagnate 
this important part of the Borough, in terms of its economic input, thereby 
restricting growth and threatening the agricultural and food processing 
sector in the Northern Parishes as a whole. -  - The lack of support towards 
the agricultural and food processing sector in the Northern Parishes 
compromises the ability for this sector to continue to be recognised as a 
key player in the national agricultural market and throughout the UK as a 
whole. -  - This draft Vision needs to be substantially amended and to 
EXPLICITLY commit to: -  - - equal distribution of new development 
throughout the Borough, not directed wholly to the South of the 
Borough -  -supporting the agricultural and food processing sector in West 
Lancashire and specifically Northern Parishes - - through this support, the 
commitment to delivering key infrastructure improvements, to enable this 
key economy to maintain its current input and sustainable growth - - 
through this support, the commitment to delivering housing to meet the 
needs of the existing and future job creation from the agricultural and food 
processing sector, specifically in the Northern Parishes - -Sustainable 
expansions of the existing village/rural settlements, through the 
development on land, in the following chronological order: - i. within 
existing settlement boundary - ii. Protected Land (that is a logical expansion 
of existing settlement boundary) - iii. Land released from the Green Belt, 
where appropriate, provided that the housing needs cannot be met by land 
within the policies (i and ii above) -  - On the basis of the amendments to 
the draft vision, set out above, the existing Objectives should then be 
revised to support and new objectives should be prepared.  -  - Explicitly, a 
new Objective 11 - support of agricultural and food processing economy in 
Northern Parishes

89 Section 2.2 outlines the objectives of the Plan. Objective 7 states: - “To 
provide opportunities for appropriate new developments that will see the 
Borough play an increased role within the three City regions by 
encouraging businesses to establish themselves in west Lancashire.” - Our 
Client supports the acknowledgment that West Lancashire should play an 
increased role through encouraging businesses to locate within the 
Borough. It is also recommended that this Objective be extended to 
consider the retention and expansion of existing businesses. The retention 
and expansion of existing businesses may assist West Lancashire in 
attracting more businesses and those of a working age to the area. - 
Objective 9 considers Accessible Services and states: - “To enable, 
encourage and plan for greater connectivity to a wide range of services to 
all parts of the Borough with an emphasis in providing ways of moving 
across the Borough as an alternative to car travel, making appropriate 
provision, or re-provision, of new facilities in the most accessible locations 
and locating development in accessible and sustainable locations.” - Our 
Client supports the delivery of development within accessible locations as 
this will significantly improve the sustainability of proposed developments, 
increase the viability of existing services and provide improvements in 
locations where the benefit will be experienced by the most people.

Noted

95 DWH is broadly supportive of the 10 draft Objectives set out in the SDOP. 
However, it is noted that: - 6 - • As with the draft Vision (see above), 
neither ‘Objective 1: Sustainable Communities’ or ‘Objective 6: The Right 
Mix of Housing’ specifically identify or refer to the importance of meeting 
the full housing needs of the Borough as required by national planning 
policy. - ‘Objective 6: The Right Mix of Housing’ identifies the types of 
housing which might be required to meet the needs of particular groups, 
such as affordable homes, student homes, elderly accommodation, etc. 
However, it does not refer to the importance of providing family homes 

Noted

Page 479



ID Representor Comments Council Response

which are critical to attracting younger and working age households to the 
Borough, particularly given the ageing of the population; and - • ‘Objective 
7: A Vitalized Economy’ could be more positively worded, for example to 
state that the Local Plan Review will seek to identify and deliver sustainable 
growth opportunities which are not currently provided for, which can 
deliver a step-change the economic performance of the Borough and raise 
its profile both within the Merseyside sub-region and beyond. Such an 
approach would be consistent with the requirement of the NPPF for Local 
Plans to be “…aspirational but realistic…” (paragraph 154) and to not only 
meet needs but “…respond positively to wider opportunities for growth…” 
(paragraph 17). - 3.7 DWH respectfully requests that the above draft 
objectives are amended prior to the next draft of the Local Plan Review.

96 AIUH supports objectives 1‐3, 5, and 8‐10. ‐ We express some reservations 
in terms of objective 4, it is considered that reference to the targets from 
the COP 21 Summit may be unnecessarily geared towards the use of 
renewable technologies rather than forming part of a package to reduce 
carbon emissions with more of an emphasis on reducing net energy 
demand. - We fully support objective 6, and highlight that there are clear 
opportunities in Up Holland (notably the former - St Joseph’s Seminary 
area) promoted by AIUH that can provide substantial contribution to the 
delivery of - affordable housing and accommodation for older people, 
whilst also resulting in the opportunity to bring heritage - assets back into 
active use. It is also feasible that the location of new development can 
gravitate to the existing development limit, thereby creating a contiguous 
and sensible extension of the urban area, which mitigates impacts upon the 
openness of the Green Belt and the setting of heritage assets.

Noted

97 St Modwen supports objectives 1‐3, 5‐6 and 8‐10. We express some 
reservations in terms of objective 4, and whilst we support the principles it 
is considered that reference to the targets from the COP 21 Summit may be 
unnecessarily geared towards the use of renewable technologies rather 
than forming part of a package to reduce carbon emissions with more of an 
emphasis on reducing net energy demand. - We fully support objectives 7 
and 8, and highlight that the Skelmersdale Town Centre development 
promoted by St Modwen represents the most important project to deliver 
improvements to the vitality of key centres and will generate substantial 
employment and economic activity for the Borough as a whole.

Noted

99 Our Clients are generally supportive of the proposed Objectives on the 
basis that they are largely compliant with the NPPF. However, it is felt that 
generally they should be more aspirational and pro-growth based. We set 
out below our comments in relation to specific Objectives as drafted. - • 
Objective 1 – Whilst we are encouraged by the Council’s approach to 
ensure that sustainability is a guiding principle, we consider that at the 
outset, the Council should strengthen this and clearly set out its 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and refer to the NPPF 
within this Objective. • Objective 4 – Whilst our Clients are supportive of 
the Council’s approach in ensuring that new development helps to 
contribute towards the creation of a low carbon environment, the Council 
must ensure that any requirements are not too onerous that they restrict 
or prevent development coming forward. • Objective 7 – Our Clients do not 
consider that this Objective is sufficiently aspirational. The Council should 
seek to take this opportunity to bolster the economy of West Lancashire 
rather than downplaying its role to providing opportunities for 
“appropriate development”.

Noted

102 The Plan should include a specific objectivie on the hisotirc environment.  
The historic environment and heritage assets are not just those classed as 
"built" (title of Objetive 3).   The wording used in the Plan and inparticular 
objective 3, does not reflect the terminology of the NPPF in that it refers to 
hisotric features, for example.  This should be amended accordingly.

Noted

Page 480



ID Representor Comments Council Response

108 All objectives need to be sustainable . The built environment should be high 
quality and carbon neutral, food growing should be moving towards 
organic, which employs more people and is healthier without the chemicals 
, 

Noted

110 These are admirable policies, but most will fail due to the councils mind set 
focused mainly on Skelmersdale.

Noted

111 Section 2.2 outlines the objectives of the Plan. Objective 1 states the 
following: - “To ensure sustainability is a guiding principle within our 
communities - providing a balanced mix of housing tenures and types, 
employment - opportunities and access to services and the natural 
environment by adapting - the principles set out within the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Agenda 2030.” Our client agrees with the 
inclusion of a balanced mix of housing and tenures. However, it is 
recommended that this could be improved to recognise the delivery of 
elderly housing. As is  discussed previously, West Lancashire has an ageing 
population and the delivery of housing for - this population needs to be 
considered and delivered. - Objective 6 states: - “To provide a wide range of 
housing types and tenures in appropriate locations - to meet the needs of 
West Lancashire’s growing population, including - affordable housing, 
accommodation for older people, student - accommodation, houses of 
multiple occupation and residential caravans and - house boats.” - Our 
Client supports the acknowledgment that the needs of the growing 
population must be met - and in particular the reference to 
accommodation for older people. Objective 9 considers Accessible Services 
and states: - “To enable, encourage and plan for greater connectivity to a 
wide range of - services to all parts of the Borough with an emphasis in 
providing ways of - moving across the Borough as an alternative to car 
travel, making appropriate - provision, or re-provision, of new facilities in 
the most accessible locations and - locating development in accessible and 
sustainable locations.” Our Client supports the delivery of development 
within accessible locations as this will significantly improve the 
sustainability of proposed developments, increase the viability of existing - 
services and provide improvements in locations where the benefit will be 
experienced by the most - people.

Noted

Page 481



Question 9: Which option for the amount of housing and employment 
land required per year do you think is the most appropriate for West 
Lancashire? Why?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 16 ha 400 houses Noted

2 16 ha 400 dwellings Noted

9 Option A as it is least development. Even this is too much. This area is a 
desirable location to live because it is semi-rural. Development at the levels 
suggested would not be "making the most of our green borough" nor 
would it be sustainable. It will ruin the character of this agricultural area, 
irreversibly. 

Concerns noted.  However, national planning 
policy requires each area to at least meet its 
own development needs, and so Option A is 
the very bare minimum level of development 
that West Lancashire would have to provide.

14 I don't know Noted

18 No comment

19 West Lancashire is a beautiful region to live in especially because it has a lot 
of agricultural land and other Green space. The size of our region is 
however not getting any larger hence if our Grand children are to enjoy the 
same beautiful region we need to safeguard un developed land. Any of the 
above options will year on year shrink the green space available to a 
growing West Lancashire population. For that reason I would really like to 
see a proposal for 0ha of land for dwellings and 0ha for employment land 
and instead develop our existing brownfield sites and use the developed 
space more densely. As this option is currently not available I would 
propose option A.

Concerns noted.  However, national planning 
policy requires each area to at least meet its 
own development needs, and so Option A is 
the very bare minimum level of development 
that West Lancashire would have to provide.  

All those developable brownfield sites in 
West Lancashire have been identified 
through the Council's Brownfield Land 
Register, and the supply of development they 
can provide will be accounted for in the Local 
Plan.  However, this will not be sufficient to 
meet the development needs of West 
Lancashire.  As such, some greenfield land 
will be required for development.

20 Option A is the most appropriate as it is inline with the current local plan 
and the needs of West Lancashire. Other options appear to more so 
designed to assist other Boroughs and their needs.

Noted

21 The land should not be used for housing and employment development. 
the government states - only use brown field sites.

Concerns noted.  However, national planning 
policy requires each area to at least meet its 
own development needs, and so Option A is 
the very bare minimum level of development 
that West Lancashire would have to provide.  

All those developable brownfield sites in 
West Lancashire have been identified 
through the Council's Brownfield Land 
Register, and the supply of development they 
can provide will be accounted for in the Local 
Plan.  However, this will not be sufficient to 
meet the development needs of West 
Lancashire.  As such, some greenfield land 
will be required for development.

23 A. Energy and expense should be spent on improving what already exists, 
rather than building on fresh land.

Noted, however, even if investment were 
available to improve what already exists, this 
would not create the level of new 
development needed to meet the housing 
and employment needs of West Lancashire.

24 You say that the community in the future will have a greater number of NotedPage 482



ID Representor Comments Council Response

elderly people and will be a slow growing community.  As a lot of the 
Borough is rural, it seems to me that housing and employment land set 
aside should be minimal - therefore agreeing to A or less than that

26 No comment

28 Options difficult to assess as the amount of housing land is tied to 
employment land. - Also it is not clear as to whether this is new 
employment land or remodelling of existing premises and land. - In addition 
there is no option for regeneration and improvement of existing 
properties. -  - Within these limited options it would have to be Option A 
with employment land in the existing industrial areas with good 
infrastructure and housing mainly within Skelmersdale and not Up Holland. 
Small housing schemes should be developed as necessary to ensure 
vibrancy of small villages such as Down Holland.

Noted

30 Options A or B.  No one yet knows the land requirements (if any) of Greater 
Manchester or Liverpool approved spatial frameworks.  There should be 
emphasis on much higher densities in town centres and adjacent to good 
transport links in West Lancashire than proposed.  There should be 
landmark ,iconic high rise flats to take advantage of the magnificent views 
of West Lancashire. 

Noted.  The Duty to Co-operate requires local 
authorities to co-operate as they prepare 
Local Plans and so the Council are aware of 
the emerging proposals for Greater 
Manchester and the Liverpool City Region 
Spatial Frameworks and has taken them into 
account as the West Lancashire Local Plan is 
prepared.

31 Option B - The spatial Portrait anticipates a population increase of 4,300 
residents by 2037. This equates to 215 new residents per annum therefore 
option B (300 dwellings per annum) should be plenty.

Noted

32 Option A seems to provide adequate dwelling numbers. However option B 
may be preferable given the need for employment provision and to give 
flexibility.

Noted

34 We agree with the need to investigate infrastructure and environmental 
impacts as part of selecting the most appropriate option as stipulated 
within paragraph 3.2.8. This should also consider the potential economic 
impacts for example in terms of adapting to flood risk and the visitor 
economy whilst also investigating the potential for securing enhancements 
as part of future development.

Noted

35 At this initial stage, it is considered that most appropriate for the delivery 
of housing and employment within the Borough will be an amount of land 
per year which is greater than that provided by Option B, and strives to 
achieve the amount provided through Option C. the reasons for this 
preliminary conclusion are set out below: - • WLBC identify themselves that 
Option A is the very minimum level of new development which would be 
needed. This approach is not aspirational and is therefore not appropriate 
for the Plan period. - • Option B reflects a housing scenario that 
incorporates forecasted job growth, this approach is supported, and is 
reflective of the Vision proposed. However, the question is raised as to 
whether this approach is aspirational enough. - Option C seeks to deliver a 
greater number than is necessary in WLBC, as this would help meet a wider 
sub-regional need. This approach is supported, as will promote the role of 
West Lancashire within the Liverpool City Region and attract further 
investment to the Borough. - • Options D and E both promote a greater 
level of development above the OAN, with that proposed within Option E 
as being identified as ‘extremely challenging to deliver, especially for 
housing’. These options are not considered to be appropriate, it is 
acknowledged that housing targets should be optimistic, however they 
should also be realistic to prevent a negative approach being taken to the 
delivery of such levels, which may further hinder development coming 
forward and adversely affect housing delivery. - Notwithstanding the 
above, we draw attention to the fact that the LCR SHELMA has not been 
published alongside the consultation document (as stated at Paragraph 
3.2.2) and the outcome of this will significantly influence the Local Plan 

Noted

Page 483



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Review. Therefore, there may be the need for West Lancashire to meet 
unmet need from authorities in the Region, as is discussed within 
Paragraph 3.2.11, however the extent of this is unknown at present and as 
such the amount of development land required within West Lancashire is 
not yet full known and tested. Bloor Homes and UKLP reserve the right to 
provide further representations on this matter when further evidence in 
relation to the development requirements of the wider City Region are fully 
understood and the implications of such are recognised.

39 Response A– Option C -  - Option C – Increases greenbelt release over 
existing Local Plan but responds to employment, housing, land needs. - 

Noted

40 Option E (the highest level of growth) is essential. The background evidence 
clearly demonstrates that it is only this option that would likely meet the 
full affordable housing need. Whilst it is inevitable that this would lead to 
the release of Green Belt land, given the high proportion of Green Belt land 
in West Lancashire, the overall release would be very small when 
considered on balance. This is the option that will deliver the desired levels 
of economic growth, that maximises the opportunity and will provide the 
flexibility to provide the fantastic range of housing that has been referred 
to in this consultation.

Noted, however, it must also be a 
consideration of whether aiming for higher 
numbers simply to meet full affordable 
housing need will actually be deliverable in 
relation to the house-building industry being 
able to deliver that quantum of housing year-
on-year.

42 The impact of development on our core remit of recovery of nature and 
functional ecosystems is primarly spatial, so it is difficult to comment on 
generic intensity of development other than to note that, if no other 
policies, constraint sand opprtunities were to be in play, increasing 
hectarage of development would statistically increase the chances of 
negative impacts on the district's ecological network, its components and 
functionality . Similar concerns would arise with the district's green 
infrastructure and its associated ecosystem services. To  mimise susch risks 
we would expexct to see strong protection provided in Development 
Management Policies for ecological networks, including the whole 
hierarchy of designated wildlife sites, and for habitats & species of principal 
importance.   In designing development schemes, regard must be had to 
ensuring that the biodiversity of the development sites is protected, and 
wherever possible enhanced, with links to the identified surrounding 
ecological network. -  - We would also wish to see similar protection for 
established green infrastructure and the enhancement of the ecosystem 
services that it provides.

Noted

46 Option D. because of the need for balance between the right type of 
housing in the right areas with corresponding employment land to provide 
the right environment for an ambitious West Lancashire. Too low a housing 
figure would be unrealistic, would fail to provide critical mass to deliver the 
future needs of the Borough and the wider Liverpool City Region and would 
risk the imposition of development in areas least suitable for the needs of 
the Borough.

47 For me, those areas of land for housing and employment are not something 
that I can conceive of. What I will say is that I am a big fan of mixed use 
planning zones. For example, when new housing estates are built they 
shouldn't just be dormitory communities with no amenities. There should 
be workplaces, schools, shops and leisure facilities nearby. I am not in 
favour of out of town shopping developments. Also, single use zoning with 
all the factories far from the homes of low income employees who do not 
have cars, with these factories not served by public transport is a big 
problem for Skem folk who work on Pimbo industrial estate.

Noted

48 What forecasts have been used? How accurate are they? We don't know 
the answer to this as we have not seen the data. However whatever 
forecast is used it must take into account already allocated land for both 
industrial and social use. It must also take the nationally important high 
quality agricultural land and it's retention into account.

Noted.  The Issues and Options Papers refer 
to the Strategic Housing and Employment 
Land Market Assessment (SHELMA) which 
provided the basis of the calculation of 
development needs.  The West Lancashire 
Housing and Economic Development Needs 
Assessment (HEDNA), which was provided on Page 484



ID Representor Comments Council Response

the Council's website with the Issues & 
Options consultation, summarised 
thefindings of the SHELMA vis-à-vis West 
Lancashire.

50 This variable presents five options in relation to the amount of 
development land required per year: - A. Approximately 8 ha of land (for 
200 dwellings) per year and 2 ha of employment land per - year; - B. 
Approximately 12 ha of land (for 300 dwellings) per year and 3 ha of 
employment land per - year; - C. Approximately 16 ha of land (for 400 
dwellings) per year and 4 ha of employment land per - year; - D. 
Approximately 20 ha of land (for 500 dwellings) per year and 5 ha of 
employment land per - year; and - E. Approximately 24 ha of land (for 600 
dwellings) per year and 6 ha of employment land per - year. - The options 
range from what is considered to be the very minimum level of new 
development that - West Lancashire needs, to the absolute maximum. - 
Options C, D and E all assume that West Lancashire will, on some level, look 
to accommodate an - unmet need for housing and employment from the 
Liverpool City Region (LCR). These options - specifically state that in regards 
to employment land this will be large-scale logistics. It is not yet - 
determined whether this unmet need will materialise, and this will become 
clearer through the Plan - process and through the progression of 
neighbouring authorities’ Local Plans. - However, it is evident that were 
there a need to provide for the LCR’s demand for large scale - logistics 
employment sites, these are likely to have a significant impact on the SRN, 
over and - above the general employment needs of the Borough. Indeed, 
these same demands on the SRN - may also occur as a result of the unmet 
housing need; the social and economic ties of ‘new’ - residents to the LCR 
generating a desire to frequently travel to and from this area. -  - Until 
there is further clarity over the exact requirements of neighbouring 
authorities, ‘worst - case’ scenarios (in terms of vehicular demand) 
associated with Option E should be - considered in order to quantify the 
existing infrastructure capacity, and the potential for - cost-effective 
improvement works to facilitate the upper level of development.

Noted

54 Issue 1 of the Strategic Development Options Paper seeks views on the 
amount of development land required. Whilst we strongly support a more 
ambitious development target (Options C, D or E as outlined in the Options 
Paper) which does not seek to constrain development activity, we would 
emphasise that it is important that any development target must be a 
minimum and should not act to prevent sustainable development from 
being brought forward in suitable locations.

Noted

56 The overall amount of development land required will be significantly 
influenced by the Liverpool City Region SHELMA work. The draft SHELMA 
has not yet been published. Therefore, whilst Taylor Wimpey provides 
some general comments below on housing requirements and the different 
Options set out in the SDO Paper, it reserves the right to comment further 
on this issue at the next stage in the preparation of the Local Plan. It should 
also be noted that Taylor Wimpey has not carried out a detailed review of 
any evidence base documents. - The Framework [§47] is clear that there is a 
need to boost significantly the supply of housing in order to deliver a wide 
choice of high quality homes and ensure that Local Plans meet the full and 
objectively assessed needs for market and affordable housing in the 
relevant housing market area. - West Lancashire should plan for a level of 
housing growth to support the economic aspirations of the Borough and 
align with the Borough’s growth objectives. The Council should ensure that 
the relevant evidence base documents and studies have regard to each 
other, and that the objectively assessed need [OAN] for employment land is 
aligned with the OAN for housing in the Borough. - There are substantial 
negative economic and social implications of not providing sufficient 
housing to meet identified needs and demand. It is therefore crucial that 
enough housing land is allocated in the Local Plan for residential 
development throughout the Borough. Demand for housing land and 

Noted

Page 485



ID Representor Comments Council Response

demand for employment land are inherently linked, and provision of both 
should be well planned and promote sustainable travel. - The Practice 
Guidance requires that potential job growth is considered in the context of 
potential unsustainable commuting patterns and as such plan-makers 
should consider how the location of new housing could help address this. 
Ensuring a sufficient supply of homes within easy access of employment 
represents a central facet of any efficiently functioning economy and can 
help to minimise housing pressures and unsustainable levels of commuting 
(and therefore congestion and carbon emissions). If the objective of 
employment growth is to be realised then it will need to be supported by 
an adequate supply of suitable housing. - The OAN is the number of 
dwellings needed to provide the necessary development for the Borough to 
achieve its economic and social potential. If the Council is serious about the 
Borough achieving its social potential and having a thriving economy, a 
housing target higher than the OAN should be set in the Local Plan to 
provide enough flexibility and choice to help ensure that enough housing is 
delivered over the plan period. For example, if any allocated sites are not 
delivered over the plan period, this could jeopardise the Borough’s ability 
to realise its Strategic Aims and Objectives and its Vision. - Taylor Wimpey 
objects to the approach taken in Options A and B. Option A seeks only to 
‘meet’ the 2014-based Sub-National Population Projections (with relevant 
adjustments), only to ‘meet’ the need for general employment land and 
does not aim to meet any of the sub-regional need for large-scale logistics. 
Whilst Option B includes a higher housing figure (300 dpa) than Option A, it 
also does not aim to meet any of the sub-regional need for large-scale 
logistics. Without a review of the SHELMA it is not possible to fully 
determine how each option would integrate the housing and economic 
strategies for the area but in both cases the general approach would not 
seem to align with such strategies and would potentially therefore be 
contrary to the Framework [§158]. - Options C and D seek to deliver more 
housing land than is necessary in order to meet a wider sub-regional need. 
This general approach is welcomed and accords with the Councils overall 
approach to the DtC. Both options also include a 20% margin for flexibility 
which is also supported. The key difference in the approach set out in 
Options C and D is that Option C seeks to meet a ‘small’ proportion of the 
LCR demand for large-scale logistics but Option D seeks to meet a ‘larger’ 
proportion. Taylor Wimpey therefore supports the general approach of 
Options C and D. - The Practice Guidance is clear that local authorities 
should consider an increase in the total housing requirement in a Local Plan 
where it could help to deliver the required number of affordable homes 
and that this is in addition to an uplift related to the affordability ratio 
when taking into account market signals1. In this context, whilst it is 
acknowledged that the SDO Paper states that Option E “provides an 
absolute maximum option in terms of what is potentially deliverable”. The 
Council must consider increasing the overall housing requirement to help 
deliver the required affordable housing needs of the Borough. - In terms of 
the actual numbers involved (dpa) in each scenario, Taylor Wimpey is 
unable to comment fully at this stage and reserves the right to comment 
further at subsequent stages of the Local Plan process. For example, when 
the SHELMA is published and the full implications of growth (including 
logistics), affordable housing needs and any unmet development needs 
from neighbouring authorities are clearer. Without a full review of such 
evidence, it is difficult make an informed judgement to determine whether 
Option A is “the very minimum level of new development that West 
Lancashire could be argued to need” [SDO Paper §3.2.3] or Option E 
“provides an absolute maximum option in terms of what is potentially 
deliverable” [SDO Paper §3.2.7]. - In summary, a housing target higher than 
the OAN should be set in the Local Plan to provide enough flexibility and 
choice to help ensure that enough housing is delivered over the plan 
period. The OAN for housing should be based on robust evidence and 
should align with the OAN for employment land for the Borough. 
Furthermore, the Council must consider meeting any unmet need from 
neighbouring authorities in the LCR as part of the overall housing Page 486



ID Representor Comments Council Response

requirement.

57 Whichever option is chosen, planning policy needs to meet the needs of 
present and future residents in the borough  whilst retaining the essential 
character of the various communities within it. The function and extent of 
the Green Belt needs to be addressed as an integral part of this process.

Noted

58 The choice of option will be heavily influenced by the outputs from the LCR 
SHELMA work. Unfortunately the draft LCR SHELMA was not published at 
the time of writing this response. The following response is, therefore, 
based solely upon the available information at the time of writing and may 
change once the draft LCR SHELMA is published. The following response is 
primarily focused upon the identified housing requirements within each 
option. -  - The HBF would not support option A, this scenario would only 
meet the baseline demographic scenario identified within the 2017 West 
Lancashire Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment 
(HEDNA). It does not take account of the need for a market signals 
adjustment, as required by the PPG (ID 2a-019) nor would it align with the 
economic and housing strategies of the area (PPG ID 2a-018) and as such 
would be contrary to the NPPF, paragraph 158. The HBF does not, 
therefore consider this option to be the minimum housing requirement 
figure as suggested by the options paper. - Option B identifies a need of 
300 dwellings per annum. The options paper suggests that this is “…roughly 
based on the SHELMA’s Economic Growth scenario for housing based on 
the anticipated job growth in West Lancashire…”. Without full details of the 
SHELMA it is difficult to ascertain the extent this option integrates the 
housing and economic strategies for the area. It is, however, noted that it is 
above the economic growth scenario discussed within the HEDNA, table 45. 
The HBF does have concerns regarding some of the assumptions used 
within the HEDNA on issues such as economic activity rates and 
appropriate market signals uplift which may suppress this requirement 
figure. -  - It is noted that option B takes no account of meeting any sub-
regional need for land for large-scale logistics. This is likely not only to 
impact upon the employment land requirement but also the housing 
requirement. Given this omission it would appear from the information 
available that an uplift to the housing requirement identified in option B 
would be required to fully align economic and housing growth. -  - Options 
C and D both refer to West Lancashire assisting to meet a proportion of the 
needs from other LCR authorities. These are valid options if such a request 
is made. It is, however, unclear at this stage if and how much housing 
would need to be accommodated within West Lancashire. It is therefore 
difficult to assess the appropriateness of the uplift identified in the two 
options. -  - In reference to Option E the PPG is clear that an increase in the 
total housing included in a plan should be considered where it could help 
to deliver the required number of affordable homes (ID: 2a-029). This is a 
different uplift to that made for the affordability ratio identified under 
market signals (PPG ID 2a-019). The need to consider meeting the full 
affordable housing need was reinforced by Stewart J in Satnam Millennium 
Ltd v Warrington Borough Council (2015). Moreover in Oadby and Wigston 
Borough Council v Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government and Bloor Homes Ltd (2015), Hickinbotton J stated that a 
failure to respond to affordable housing need is a policy choice which 
means that the Councils should demonstrate that either affordable housing 
need is met or justify why it cannot be met. Therefore if the full need for 
affordable housing cannot be met, inclusive of other forms of delivery, the 
Council will need to justify its position. -  - In summary, based upon the 
available information the HBF would recommend that the housing 
requirement is set in excess of option B. The amount above option B will be 
dependent upon the full implications of growth, including logistics, 
identified - through the LCR SHELMA, a need to consider how to address 
the affordable housing needs of the area and any unmet needs from 
neighbouring authorities. -  - 

Noted

59 We do not argue with this approach but see earlier comments. - The five Comments NotedPage 487



ID Representor Comments Council Response

options listed at 3.2.1 do not necessarily cover the right choice. There is no 
good reason for assuming that the requirement for employment 
development land should be directly linked to housing development land, 
since the components of each category are different, with only some 
degree of overlap. For example, high density employment developments, 
such as are common in the cities, produce more jobs per hectare than will 
warehousing and logistics developments, whereas housing developments 
are largely averaged at around 30 to 40 per hectare. -  - “1.1.8 As well as 
these “strategic” issues, and the options for addressing - them, the Local 
Plan must consider the issues that affect the - Borough as a “place” and 
that affect the people who live, work - and spend leisure time in West 
Lancashire. As such, there are a - series of Topic Papers sitting underneath 
this Paper that we invite - you to consider, especially if you have an interest 
in a particular topic - area.” -  - This is a fair statement. People want, or do 
not want, to live in particular areas according to their own particular 
circumstances or points of view. The problem appears to be that the Local 
Plan process makes everything else subservient to economic growth and 
never-ending releases of land. This approach can lead only to one outcome 
– one huge conurbation. This is not why people generally choose to live in 
West Lancashire.  -  -  - “1.3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), and its - accompanying Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), provides 
the key - context for all planning matters in the Local Plan, with one of - the 
tests of soundness that the Local Plan will be examined on - being 
consistency [sic] with the NPPF. The golden thread running - through the 
NPPF is that of “sustainable development” and, in - particular, the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. - This holistic emphasis 
on the economic, social and environmental - impact of development has to 
come through a Local Plan and the - Local Plan should fully meet an area’s 
objectively-assessed need for - development unless there are over-riding 
adverse impacts of doing - so which would outweigh the benefits of doing 
so. -  - 1.3.2 This then sets the tone for any new Local Plan, in that it must - 
be positively-prepared, seeking to promote any development that - is 
sustainable and, wherever possible, meeting more than the basic - 
development needs for an area; being creative in how those needs - are 
met to make better places for people to live, work and spend - their leisure 
time; and being viable and deliverable.” -  - If only this had been our 
experience of West Lancashire through several  - versions of the Local 
Plan. -  -  - “1.3.4 Within the NPPF and the PPG, a wide range of planning 
matters are [is] - discussed and, where appropriate, the national policy on 
these - matters is drawn out in this Paper as we discuss certain issues, but - 
all must ultimately contribute to the aim of sustainable development - that 
fully meets development needs (including necessary - infrastructure).” -  - 
Necessary infrastructure is the basic weakness in West Lancashire. Roads of 
all types have become poorly maintained and heavily loaded through a long 
period of housing and employment development. Rail services, other than 
to Liverpool from Ormskirk, have diminished and bus services have been 
largely wiped out.  During this same period, the availability of services for 
rural areas, from re-cycling facilities to postal deliveries, post offices, local 
shops etc. has declined substantially; health and voluntary services have 
also declined.  There is much improvement that needs to be made before 
the Borough can even start to move forward.  -  -  - “• Economically, West 
Lancashire continues to gradually grow, [split infinitive!] - with steady 
growth in jobs in particular, and this growth is - anticipated to continue and 
possibly at a higher rate. However, - the local workforce will decline in 
number as the population ages - (and as working age people struggle to 
afford a house in West - Lancashire).  -  - • As such, the continued economic 
growth of West Lancashire  - needs to be fuelled not just by providing land 
in the right location  - for new employment premises to attract businesses 
(both large  - and small, established and new), but by providing the right  - 
supporting context to attract those businesses which includes  - providing a 
skilled local workforce, appropriate housing provision - to accommodate 
employees and an attractive environment and  - offer to retain and draw 
working age people to the area, especially  - graduates.” -  - A skilled Page 488



ID Representor Comments Council Response

workforce should be attracted to skilled employment, where it exists. -  - “• 
There is a significant opportunity to boost the local economy, - especially in 
the M58 corridor, as a result of the Liverpool2 - deep water terminal and 
expected surge in demand for logistics - facilities and ‘spin-off’ industries. 
Skelmersdale is likely to be - the most appropriate location for such 
opportunities given its - excellent road access from the Port of 
Liverpool.” -  - The most appropriate location in what area? Why would 
importers or exporters want to do anything in West Lancashire, other than 
possibly to provide a stopover for HGVs travelling to Liverpool/Bootle. Does 
the Borough’s workforce need even more logistics work? -  - “• There is 
significant leakage of expenditure from the Borough, - especially in relation 
to comparison (non-food) retail and - commercial leisure / entertainment 
and the night-time economy. - The Borough’s town centres in particular 
need to be managed - and developed appropriately to help them reinvent 
themselves - to meet 21st Century preferences for retailing, leisure and - 
entertainment.” -  - But not to become no-go areas for ordinary people at 
night. Town centres should be places to live, as well as to shop and be 
entertained. -  - “• The amount of best and most versatile agricultural land 
in the - Borough is a regionally important resource and is vital to the high - 
performing agricultural industry in West Lancashire.” -  - Agreed but this 
demonstrates the need to protect this resource, not to develop it for huge 
housing and employment sites.  -  - “• Parts of West Lancashire are 
internationally important - designated nature reserves, accommodating 
significant - proportions of the world population of certain species. - These 
are both an asset to the Borough, requiring continued - protection, and 
also a potential constraint to development in - some areas.” -  - Not all 
areas should be regarded as potential development areas. -  - “• The 
impacts of climate change, particularly in relation to - flooding and 
drainage, must be managed appropriately including - considering how and 
where new development is built in West - Lancashire to ensure that new 
development does not make - existing issues worse.” -  - The most pressing 
issue is the Environment Agency’s plan to stop maintaining pumping 
operations within the pumped drainage scheme. This needs to be resolved 
without further political manoeuvring.

60 2.1	Five housing requirement options are set out, these being: - •	A. 
Approximately 8 ha of land (for 200 dwellings) per year and 2 ha of 
employment land per year  - •	B. Approximately 12 ha of land (for 300 
dwellings) per year and 3 ha of employment land per year  - •	C. 
Approximately 16 ha of land (for 400 dwellings) per year and 4 ha of 
employment land per year  - •	D. Approximately 20 ha of land (for 500 
dwellings) per year and 5 ha of employment land per year  - •	E. 
Approximately 24 ha of land (for 600 dwellings) per year and 6 ha of 
employment land per year - 2.2	Paragraphs 3.2.2 to 3.2.12 provide a 
commentary from the Council’s perspective on each option as to the 
benefits and/or adverse impacts. At this stage in the process we note that 
West Lancashire is part of the wider Liverpool City Region Strategic Housing 
and Employment Land Market Assessment (SHELMA). That document has 
yet to be published although it will assess the housing and employment 
needs across the six authorities in the City Region of which West Lancashire 
is one. Therefore the implications of Duty to Co-operate will need to be 
considered going forward although the West Lancashire Housing and 
Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) and the LPR 
documents are clear that any impact of Duty to Cooperate would require 
an increase in the housing requirement for West Lancashire. Therefore the 
HEDNA should be seen as the minimum requirement going forward.  - 
2.3	The HEDA sets out the various components which would comprise the 
OAN for West Lancashire.  The conclusion in Table 45 is: -   - 2.4	The OAN is 
set out as 241 dwellings per annum. However we have the following 
reservations.  - 2.5	Paragraph 9.31 summarises the affordable housing 
need in West Lancashire. It confirms that “this shows a need for 540 units 
per annum. At an affordable housing delivery rate of 30% this would 
require the delivery of 1,800 dwellings. The affordable housing needs 

Noted

Page 489



ID Representor Comments Council Response

evidence suggests that an uplift from the demographic need (based on the 
2014-based Household Projections) would be justified in West Lancashire. 
The uplift then applied is 10%”. - 2.6	Such an uplift only provides an 
additional 20 affordable homes per annum. If the 30% affordable housing 
percentage is applied to the Economic Baseline (221) that would provide 66 
affordable homes, whereas with the OAN it would deliver 72 affordable 
homes. Therefore the uplift would provide an additional 6 affordable 
homes per annum which we consider is not a material change that makes 
any meaningful impact on the significant need. Therefore a greater uplift is 
required.  - 2.7	Paragraph 9.39 of the HEDNA states: - “In considering the 
scale of adjustment, it should be borne in mind that in addition to the 
market signals uplift West Lancashire also sees an adjustment (22%) to 
support economic growth.” - 2.8	Therefore the HEDNA has advised that 
there should be a 22% uplift for economic growth and a 10% uplift for 
affordable housing. This would be an uplift from the demographic starting 
point (200 dwellings).  Applying such uplifts would require the OAN to be 
increased to 268 dwellings. This is calculated as follows: - •	Demographic 
Based Need – 200; - •	22% economic growth uplift  - 244; - •	10% 
affordability uplift – 268.  - 2.9	Table 45 should be revised accordingly. - 
2.10	We have significant reservations with the 10% affordability uplift for 
two main reasons.  - 2.11	The first is as we explain in paragraph 2.7 above 
which is that a 20 dwelling uplift will not make any meaningful contribution 
to the severe affordable housing crisis in West Lancashire.  - 2.12	The 
second is for market signals. The HEDNA includes market signals along with 
affordable housing need in one uplift of 10%. This is clearly not appropriate 
and there should be two separate uplifts. Affordability is clearly a 
significant issue which is not improving in West Lancashire.  Indeed 
paragraph 12.23 of the HEDNA sets out the key market signals, the two key 
ones being: - •	The lower quartile affordability ratio (house price to income 
ratio) is 6.9 in West Lancashire – the highest of the LCR authorities. - 
•	House price growth in West Lancashire has exceeded the regional 
average in the longer-term. - 2.13	This is evidenced in the following tables 
in the HEDNA. -   - 2.14	West Lancashire is clearly the most expensive area 
to live in the Merseyside region by a significant margin.  - 2.15	Figure 32 
shows the lower quartile affordability ratio and paragraph 9.17 states that 
meaning lower quartile house prices are 6.9 times higher than lower 
quartile annual earnings in West Lancashire which is the highest ratio of the 
City Region authorities. -   - 2.16	There are clearly significant affordability 
issues and West Lancashire is rightly seen as a location that people wish to 
live. The adopted local plan has failed to address affordability and the 
delivery of much needed affordable homes in West Lancashire.  This is 
encapsulated in paragraph 2.7 of the Social Policy Issue Paper which 
states: - “2.7 Housing affordability is a longstanding issue, not just in West 
Lancashire but nationwide. Not only are house prices high and rising but 
(owing to changes in national policy, the weight given to viability matters, 
and macro-economic issues such as austerity, recession and Brexit) the 
Council’s ability to procure affordable housing, either from 100% affordable 
schemes, or in conjunction with market housing developments, has been 
significantly curtailed. Thus the Council are operating in a difficult 
environment as far as facilitating or delivering affordable housing is 
concerned and, as a consequence, in recent years the delivery of affordable 
housing in West Lancashire has been below the annual need.” - 2.17	The 
LPR is the opportunity to do address this issue and the only realistic way of 
improving affordability is to increase the supply of housing significantly 
beyond the OAN. This can be undertaken through Duty to Co-operate or an 
increased uplift for a greater number of affordable homes and also for 
market signals. West Lancashire is part of the wider Merseyside housing 
market area and has strong interrelationships so can provide a sustainable 
location to meet needs arising from Duty to Cooperate.   - 2.18	Additional 
factors which will impact on the OAN and which are not assessed or 
publicly available as yet are as follows: - •	 The Merseyside SHELMA; - •	An 
updated SHMA as the last was undertaken in 2009 as set out in Table 2.8; - 
•	The implications of Duty to Cooperate; and  - •	Further increased need Page 490



ID Representor Comments Council Response

for B8 employment in the Merseyside Region. This is important for West 
Lancashire due to the M58 and its links to the Merseyside to the west and 
the M6 to the east.   - 2.19	The conclusion to draw at this early stage is 
that Option C is the minimum requirement that should be advanced. This 
accords with the conclusion in 3.2.9 of the consultation document which 
states that Options A and B “are lower than those in the current Local Plan 
and what would typically be expected in West Lancashire and so could 
stymy economic development in West Lancashire and have a detrimental 
social impact as a result”. - 2.20	Options C to E are also identified in the 
consultation document as bringing “economic and social benefits to West 
Lancashire and facilitate the improvement and renewal of towns such as 
Skelmersdale, with the growth potentially attracting funding to improve 
infrastructure in the Borough, all of which, if planned properly, can narrow 
the inequality gaps that exist between different parts of the Borough”. - 
2.21	The LPR should proceed on the basis of Option C as the minimum but 
whether Options C, D or E are eventually chosen will be determined as the 
evidence base and Duty to Cooperate discussion are held.

61 Option B I think is most appropriate  because it is based on the SHELMA's 
Economic Growth scenario for housing. Option C meets the need for co-
operation with neighbouring Councils but if  a region the size of Liverpool 
City can't meet its housing needs then it is unrealistic to expect West 
Lancashire to be able to meet its own needs and be able to provide an 
additional 100 dwellings a year. This option and options D & E would result 
in an over development of West Lancashire. - The Social Policy Options 
document (2.1) states ' the population in West Lancashire is expected to 
increase from 111,900 in 2016 to 116,200 in 2037 representing an increase 
of 3.8% or an additional 4,300 residents on 2014 levels'. It is difficult 
therefore to see how any more dwellings than Option B, which will provide 
7500 dwellings in the same period, can be justified in the next local plan 
based on forecast demand.

Noted

62 The Strategic Development Options Paper identifies five “Strategic 
Development Options” for the amount of new housing and employment 
development: - a) Approximately 8 ha of land (for 200 dwellings) per year 
and 2 ha of employment land per year; - b) Approximately 12 ha of land 
(for 300 dwellings) per year and 3 ha of employment land per year; - c) 
Approximately 16 ha of land (for 400 dwellings) per year and 4 ha of 
employment land per year; - d) Approximately 20 ha of land (for 500 
dwellings) per year and 5 ha of employment land per year; and, - e) 
Approximately 24 ha of land (for 600 dwellings) per year and 6 ha of 
employment land per year. - It is considered that Option E is the most 
appropriate growth option for the borough. Whilst, Option E is supported 
in principle, it is acknowledged that further evidence based work to support 
these growth scenarios is required. For example, any development and land 
requirements arising from need from the wider Liverpool City Region are at 
this stage unclear. - Notwithstanding the above, it is noted that the 
adopted Local Plan (2012-2027) sets out a minimum - requirement for 
4,860 dwellings and 75ha of employment land over the plan period. This 
equates to a minimum average requirement of 324 dwellings per annum 
and 5ha of employment land per annum. On this basis alone it would be 
appear that Options A-B are far too conservative and should be discounted. 
Indeed Options A and B could hinder the economic growth in the borough 
and have a detrimental social impact as a result. Further details are set out 
below: - The Council acknowledge that Option E reflects a scenario where 
the Local Plan seeks to meet close to the full affordable housing need for 
West Lancashire. Consequently, there is a greater requirement for 
employment land in the borough to support the additional housing 
requirement as well as accommodating a larger proportion of the Liverpool 
City Region demand for large-scale logistics. Option E is therefore 
supported as it represents an ambitious pro-growth scenario in line with 
the recommendations of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
Indeed paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that: - · “Local planning authorities 

Noted

Page 491



ID Representor Comments Council Response

should positively seek opportunities to meet the development needs of - 
their area;  - · Local plans should meet objectively assessed needs, with 
sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid - change.” - Paragraph 17 states the 
following in relation to the planning system: - “proactively drive and 
support sustainable economic development to deliver the homes, business 
and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local places that the country 
needs. Every effort should be made objectively to identify and then meet 
the housing, business and other development needs of an area, and 
respond positively to wider opportunities for growth. Plans should take 
account of market signals, such as land prices and housing affordability, 
and set out a clear strategy for allocating sufficient land which is suitable 
for development in their area, taking account of the needs of the 
residential and business communities”. -  - It is considered that due to the 
emerging analysis of development needs for West Lancashire in the draft 
report of the Liverpool City Region Strategic Housing and Employment Land 
Market Assessment (SHELMA), the Council should look towards a pro-
growth option. -  - Option C indicates that West Lancashire would have to 
meet an unmet housing need from the Liverpool City Region or other 
surrounding Authorities and represents be a more appropriate and 
considered approach. - Further consideration should be given to the 
opportunity to meet large-scale logistics which will seek to grow West 
Lancashire economically whist meeting a wider sub-regional need. - As 
such, the Council should look towards providing 600 dwellings per annum 6 
ha of employment land per annum (Option E). We consider it vital that the 
Borough enables itself to grow economically and that the necessary 
housing and associated infrastructure is provided alongside the delivery of 
increased employment land. Notwithstanding this, we do acknowledge that 
there are a number of factors to consider including the environmental 
impact of developing the land required, however, this needs to be balanced 
against the benefits which would be provided by creating more jobs and 
providing much needed housing in the area. - Whilst Option E would clearly 
require Green Belt release, it is considered that any environmental impacts 
could be mitigated against, particularly when identifying sustainable 
growth locations on the edge of the larger settlements in the Borough such 
as Skelmersdale with Upholland and Ormskirk with Aughton. - It is 
therefore considered essential that the Council undertake a Green Belt 
review as Green Belt boundaries around the key settlements in the 
Borough will prevent the Council meeting its development targets in the 
most appropriate locations. The Council will not be able to deliver 
significant quantum’s of growth without the release of Green Belt land.

64 Our Clients support a pro-growth approach for West Lancashire, to ensure 
it is aspirational and meets the full, objectively assessed needs of the 
Borough over the Plan Period. Paragraph 47 of the NPPF is clear - local 
planning authorities are required to “boost significantly the supply of 
housing” and in doing so, must ensure that the Local Plan meets the “full 
objectively assessed needs for market and affordable housing in the 
housing market area”. -  - At this stage, we have not undertaken a detailed 
examination of the Council’s Housing and Economic Development Needs 
Assessment (“HEDNA”) in relation to the full Objectively Assessed Needs 
(“OAN”) however it is noted that there is an identified required to apply an 
uplift to the Borough’s housing need figure to support economic growth 
and meet affordable housing provision. The HEDNA does however only 
cover the period 2012 – 2037. If the Plan period is to be extended, which 
our Clients support, a commitment to reviewing the OAN during the Plan 
period up to 2050 will be required because household projections for this 
time are unknown.  -  - The Council’s current Local Plan requirement is 324 
dpa. It is our Clients’ position that to meet the aspirational needs of the 
Borough and to address affordable housing shortfall, at the very minimum 
there is a requirement to deliver a higher housing figure (minimum of 400 – 
500 dwellings and 4/5 ha of employment land per annum. This is to ensure 
that the emerging Local Plan achieves an ambitious pro-growth target that 

Noted

Page 492



ID Representor Comments Council Response

West Lancashire should seek to deliver. To facilitate this Green Belt release 
will be required to meet these needs, because if not the Plan will be 
constrained.  - A lower requirement will not take account of market signals 
adjustment, as required by the PPG or align with the economic and housing 
strategies for the area, and will fail to take account of a sub-regional need 
for land for large scale logistics, which will impact on both housing and 
employment land requirements.  -  - The housing requirement from the 
Liverpool City Region SHELMA are unavailable at this time, and our Clients 
support the Council’s commitment for the housing requirement to be 
revised when the SHELMA from the Liverpool City Region is published. This 
is because of the overlap between the Housing Market Area of Central LCR 
and Mid Mersey HMA, which will affect the housing and employment 
requirements within West Lancashire. If any departure from the Liverpool 
City Region SHELMA is proposed, necessary justification must be provided 
to ensure that the Council is able to demonstrate that the emerging Local 
Plan housing requirement is appropriately justified.  -  - It is our Clients’ 
consideration that a suitable buffer should be applied to the housing 
requirement, to ensure that a sufficient supply of housing is provided, in 
accordance with Paragraph 47 of the NPPF. This will ensure there is 
flexibility, choice and competition within the housing market, and provide 
greater opportunities for housing need to be met in full, and ensure the 
Local Plan is consistent with the NPPF.  -  - Policies should be sufficiently 
flexible and provide a positive framework to assist housing delivery and 
avoid unnecessary restrictive policies.

66 Housing Target - In selecting a housing target, the Council should seek to 
meet full objectively assessed housing needs for market and affordable 
housing. In addition, the strategy should also seek to effectively coordinate 
with relevant neighbouring authorities on how they might help to assist in 
cross boundary strategic issues, such as unmet housing needs. -  - From the 
options put forward for consultation, Gladman would be supportive of the 
selection of the - upper end of the housing figures considered (option E). 
The selection of a lower figure would not reflect the Frameworks 
requirement to set a positive vision for the future area, meeting full OAN 
for housing in the HMA and proactively encourage sustainable economic 
growth and regeneration. - The selection of Option E as a housing target 
represents a more positive approach to future growth in accordance with 
the requirements of national policy and the need to significantly boost the 
supply of housing and meeting full OAN. This should however not be seen 
as a maximum but rather the minimum amount of housing that the Plan 
should seek to meet.

Noted

67 Options A-B would do nothing to boost significantly the delivery of homes 
and would perpetuate the recent historic situation of under-supply. -  - 
Options C- E must be considered to enable the development and growth 
requirements of the Borough to be accommodated, and to address issues 
of affordability. -  - see attached comprehensive submissions - 

Noted

69 It is almost impossible for the lay person to comment on specific figures, 
but the key factors are: - the amount of previously allocated, as yet unused, 
development land; - the exceptionally high quality of agricultural land 
throughout West Lancashire, which if developed to any extent will not be 
able to be restored to its former value or use.  Many experts consider that 
we will need to supply more of our food locally in the future. - Option A - 
the lowest - appears the most sustainable, and even this may be more than 
is necessary in any given year. I fail to see that an identical amount for 
every year is essential or appropriate.

Noted

70 The Issues and Options paper presents a number of different scenarios with 
a number of - growth options which could feed into the Local Plan Review. 
These have been informed by the - Liverpool City Region SHELMA. -  - The 
Commissioners note that the rationale for the Local Plan Review is to 
ensure that future - needs for housing are met and that opportunities for 

Noted

Page 493



ID Representor Comments Council Response

growth are maximised. As a result of this - we would expect the Council to 
seek a figure which is aspirational in nature and which goes - over and 
above the Objectively Assessed Need (“OAN”) for future housing growth 
over the - plan period. We note the OAN in the SHELMA is around 200 
dwellings per annum whilst the - more recent HEDNA defines the OAN as 
241 dwellings per annum. -  - As outlined above, we also believe that as 
West Lancashire sits in a position between large - urban areas and has 
linkages with a number of City Regions, there will be a requirement for - 
the Borough to accommodate growth from neighbouring authorities which 
may not have the - capacity to accommodate all their housing 
requirements. This would point to the most - appropriate strategy to be 
either Option D or E (500 – 600 dwellings per annum). These - options 
would also mean that the strategy in the Local Plan Review is sound on the 
basis of - being positively prepared. -  - We note that the difference 
between Option D and E is the degree to which affordable housing - is 
addressed. This is clearly an important objective of the Local Plan Review. It 
is noted that - the National Planning Policy Guidance (“NPPG”) states that: - 
“An increase in the total housing figures included in the local plan should 
be considered w here it could help deliver the required number of 
affordable homes.” (Reference ID: 2a-029-20140306) -  - In this instance an 
uplift in overall housing numbers to support affordable housing provision - 
is justified and therefore out of the options presented within this paper, 
the Commissioners - Favour Option E (600 dwellings per annum). In 
endorsing this approach, we recognise the - challenge there will be to 
accommodate such growth but a positively planned framework of - policies 
and appropriate allocations should ensure such growth can be achieved 
and the issues - identified can be addressed. -  - This amount of new 
development, which we believe will be necessary, will require the release - 
of Green Belt land. We note that the Council undertook a Green Belt Study 
in 2011 (plus an - addendum in 2012). However, this appears to be a 
selective/partial review of Green Belt land - (missing what we believe to be 
key parcels of land owned by the Commissioners) and we - would strongly 
object to some of the conclusions drawn in relation to the Commissioners’ 
land - and how they have been assessed. As such we believe that a revised 
Green Belt Study should - be undertaken to support the Local Plan Review 
and the Commissioners should be afforded - the opportunity to submit its 
own evidence and assessments in respect of Green Belt matters - relating 
to the relevant landholdings.

71 Sefton Council is a statutory consultee to the West Lancashire Local 
Plan. The current West Lancashire Local Plan was adopted in October 
2013.  However, as a result of the changing national planning policy context 
and a desire to ensure that polices in the Plan are not considered to be out-
of-date, the Council has resolved to begin the preparation of a new Local 
Plan. The current consultation is the first stage in that process. Sefton has 
recently received its Inspector’s report, following the examination of its 
Local Plan. Of relevance is paragraph 16, which states “… the examination 
has identified tensions relating to Southport’s development needs which 
may have cross-boundary implications going forward…..The tightly drawn 
administrative boundary with WLBC has made it difficult to meet the 
town’s housing and employment needs close to where they arise. WLBC 
advised Sefton that it was unable to accommodate any of Sefton’s needs 
within its area and, importantly, the West Lancashire Local Plan was found 
sound after the duty to co-operate was introduced. So, while there has 
been compliance with the duty in the current round of plan preparation, 
there may be a need for more positive engagement on this cross-boundary 
issue in the future. One of the key tests in determining whether the Local 
Plan is sound is whether the Duty to Cooperate has been met. Therefore, in 
order for West Lancashire to be able to demonstrate that this Duty has 
been met it needs to show that it has considered Southport’s future 
housing and employment needs that may arise in the future. 4. The 
Options West Lancashire is consulting on 3 variables – the amount of 
development; how long the Plan period should be, and how the 

Noted.  The Council will continue to liaise 
with Sefton Council and other neighbouring 
authorities as it prepares the Local Plan 
Review and in so doing fulfil the Duty to Co-
operate and the requirements of the NPPF in 
relation to consideration of strategic, cross-
boundary matters, including housing need.

Page 494



ID Representor Comments Council Response

development is distributed around West Lancashire. Two plan periods are 
being considered. The first would run form 2012 – 2037, which would 
provide a post-adoption plan period of 15 years and aligns with the 
forecasts in the SHELMA. The longer period would run form 2012 – 2050. 
This will allow West Lancashire to plan its future in a coordinated way and 
to release sufficient land form the Green Belt to meet longer term 
development needs, consistent with NPPF policy relating to the revision of 
Green Belt boundaries. The 5 options, based on the findings of the draft 
SHELMA with regard to the Objectively Assessed Needs for West 
Lancashire, are: A. Approximately 8 ha of land (for 200 dwellings) per year 
and 2 ha of employment land per year B. Approximately 12 ha of land (for 
300 dwellings) per year and 3 ha of employment land per year  C. 
Approximately 16 ha of land (for 400 dwellings) per year and 4 ha of 
employment land per year D. Approximately 20 ha of land (for 500 
dwellings) per year and 5 ha of employment land per year E. 
Approximately 24 ha of land (for 600 dwellings) per year and 6 ha of 
employment land per year. The supporting text indicates that under 
Option C, West Lancashire would be able to meet an unmet housing need 
form the Liverpool City Region or other surrounding authorities for 100 
extra dwellings a year.  Finally, 4 development scenarios are put forward 
for comment:  Scenario 1: the existing pattern of household and 
employment land distribution Scenario 2: a focus on the key service 
centres  Scenario 3: a focus on rural communities  Scenario 4: a focus on 
growing Skelmersdale in particular.   The supporting text indicates that 
Scenario 3, which sees more development in the Northern and Western 
Parishes (i.e. the areas closest to Southport), would be appropriate if it was 
decided these areas needed to grow in order to make them more 
sustainable and to reduce the burden on the main urban areas if the latter 
were constrained in a significant way. Significant investment in new 
infrastructure would be required to support this scenario. This scenario 
could include the creation of a new village or significantly expanding an 
existing village to meet this need. If the urban extension / new settlement 
were to be located adjacent to Skelmersdale, where it would support the 
Skelmersdale rail link and relieve congestion in other parts of the Borough, 
this would not meet Southport’s future needs. However, it is acknowledged 
that the creation of a new village or the expansion of an existing village in 
the Western Parishes or at Banks would be likely to run into similar issues 
relating to flood risk, development costs associated with peat, and ecology 
as are to be found in eastern Southport, so could be difficult to achieve. 5. 
Implications for Sefton It is difficult to see how West Lancashire can plan to 
2050 when most existing forecasting only covers the period to around 2037 
(i.e. the SHELMA). Furthermore, the longer the Plan period, the more 
variations in the economic cycle there are likely to be, so this makes 
planning for such a long time extremely challenging. At present the Local 
Plan does not indicate that there is any need for any further residential or 
employment development in Sefton to meet its needs, but this could 
change as updated population and household projections are prepared by 
the CLG. It is therefore not possible to identify any future needs that Sefton 
would wish West L:ancs to meet in the future. The SHELMA identifies a 
need for at least 300ha of land suitable for large scale B8 logistics 
development across the Liverpool City Region. Sefton agrees that some of 
this need could be met in West Lancashire, along the M58 corridor. 
However, whether this is an appropriate location for this should be 
identified by a Liverpool City Region-wide study and potentially through a 
City Region’s Spatial Framework. It is still early on in the consultation 
period and further discussions will take place between West Lancashire and 
Sefton during the consultation period to confirm how the West Lancashire 
Local Plan will consider Sefton’s concerns. It does not have to agree to 
meet them, but, for the Duty to Cooperate to be met, it does need to 
consider them. In addition to meeting any long term housing and 
employment need that Sefton is unable to meet within its own boundaries, 
and where this should be located. Development close to Skelmersdale 
would not meet this need, so the possibility of creating a new village or Page 495



ID Representor Comments Council Response

expanding Banks or a village in the Western Parishes, must be fully 
investigated as any unmet provision that is met in West Lancashire should 
be located as close as possible to Southport. The West Lancashire Local 
Plan review needs to consider how infrastructure needs relating to any 
future expansion of Southport are met and how development located in 
Southport’s hinterland, albeit in the West Lancashire administrative area, 
can contribute towards the costs of providing new and enhances 
infrastructure such as increasing school capacity. It needs to consider the 
transport infrastructure requirements of new development close to the 
Sefton boundary and how Southport can be better served and linked to the 
national road and rail networks in the future. This should include the 
reinstatement of the Burscough Curves, which is included in the Liverpool 
City Region Long Term Rail Strategy.  Finally, it also needs to consider the 
impact that future development in West Lancashire will have on the 
highways network in Sefton, such as the A59 and Switch Island, which are 
already at or close to capacity , and provide one of the key road 
connections from Ormskirk, Burscough and the Northern Parishes to 
Liverpool.

72 600 plus houses per annum where demand will support take up. Noted

73 It is noted that WLBC is seeking views on five different options for the 
amount of - development land required per year. However, at this stage, it 
is not possible for the - University to comment in detail on which of these 
options is the most appropriate for the - Borough, as the supporting 
evidence base documents – particularly in respect of the full - development 
need implications arising from wider Liverpool City Region – have not yet - 
been made available for review. -  - However, the provision of a wide range 
of housing has a significant role to play in terms - of attracting staff to work 
at the University and to retaining graduates in the borough. As - such, it is 
vital that sufficient housing growth is secured to support the University’s - 
aspirations for growth over the plan period.

Noted

74 The option chosen should be based on meeting the OAN as a minimum and 
ongoing negotiations through the Duty to Cooperate to accommodate 
unmet need in neighbouring authorities. - The nature of affordable housing 
need in the Borough can be met through providing additional housing 
beyond the OAN, which can serve to meet direct defined affordable 
housing and increase the housing offer in terms of market housing by 
providing modern energy efficient new dwellings of sizes to meet need and 
latent demand.  This in itself can have a positive impact on social and 
economic aspects and environmentally through good design. - In this 
respect, the plan needs to attract house builders to the Borough by 
providing suitable and readily deliverable sites and not hindering 
development on sites close to existing settlements that already benefit 
from good access or local services and facilities. - Options C-E would 
provide sufficient scope for these additional benefits to be delivered 
through the provision of good quality housing.

Noted

76 If the Council want to achieve the vision as set out in the Strategic 
Development Options Paper housing and economic development Options A 
and B are not considered to be sufficient. This is accepted by the Council in 
paragraph 3.2.9 in the Strategic Development Options Paper which states 
that: - ‘the requirements are lower than those in the current Local Plan and 
what would be expected in West Lancashire and so could stymy economic 
development in West Lancashire and have a detrimental social impact as a 
result’. - In order to achieve the vision as set out in the Spatial Development 
Options Paper, and be in accordance with the NPPF in respect of planning 
positively for the development needs and infrastructure of the area for the 
plan - period a higher growth option should be implemented over the 
emerging plan period.

Noted

79 Story Homes’ appointed economic development consultant, Regeneris, 
have prepared a - Review of West Lancashire Housing Requirement 
Evidence, which is included at Appendix 2 - and provides a detailed 

Noted

Page 496



ID Representor Comments Council Response

response to the amount of development land required to be allocated by - 
West Lancashire in the Local Plan Review. -  - Regeneris agree with the 
Council that the following are the key issues pertinent to the Local - Plan 
Review: - 
particularly through growth in the - logistics sector and through clawing 
back lost retail and leisure spend. - 
population, with a pressing need to create the - conditions (i.e. housing and 
infrastructure) to attract new working age families to the - Borough. - 
Worsening house price affordability ratios. - Regeneris consider that there 
are significant flaws in the GL Hearn West Lancashire Housing - and 
Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) and have highlighted 
the four main - criticisms in their report: - 
economic potential of West Lancashire. GL Hearn model two - economic 
scenarios. First, the Baseline Scenario is actually below the long term 
average - employment growth rate for West Lancashire. Second, the 
Growth Scenario represents a - tiny uplift on the Baseline Scenario and 
channels only 1% of additional employment - growth in the wider Liverpool 
City Region into West Lancashire. - 
participation assumptions. Regeneris consider - that the idea that West 
Lancashire can connect a working age population loss of 6,000 - with an 
economic jobs gain of 6,000 via the addition of 21 dwellings per annum is 
deeply - flawed. This connection is only achieved via GL Hearn’s unrealistic 
assumptions about - economic rising participation rates of existing 
residents, particularly older residents. - The HEDNA fails to apply a market 
signals uplift. GL Hearn conclude that a 10% market - signals uplift is 
required but then do not apply it and argue it is subsumed within their - 
economic uplift. The market signals adjustment is designed to provide 
additional housing for the existing population and help ensure, via a house 
price adjustment effect, that - those households that have not been able to 
form historically due to affordability - constraints can do so in the future. It 
is entirely appropriate and necessary to add the - market signals uplift to 
the economic uplift. - 
Regeneris advise that evidence in the - most recent estimate of affordable 
housing need for West Lancashire suggests a - substantial affordable 
housing need of 540 affordable dwellings per annum. Despite this - 
evidence, GL Hearn have made no upward adjustment to the Objectively 
Assessed Need - (OAN) to help boost the delivery of affordable units. An 
OAN set in the region of 240 - dwellings per annum, as prescribed by GL 
Hearn, will do little to deliver the required - amount of affordable housing. - 
Story Homes urge the Council to consider the criticisms set out in the 
Regeneris report to better - understand the true OAN for West Lancashire. 
Regeneris consider that the above factors would - yield an OAN in the 
region of 350 to 400 dwellings per annum for West Lancashire. This would - 
suggest a housing requirement of close to Option C (400 dwellings per 
annum) to meet West - Lancashire’s development needs. Should West 
Lancashire agree to meet unmet need from - adjoining authorities, as 
suggested in the Strategic Development Options Paper, the housing - 
requirement will be higher. The Council’s suggestion that it may deliver 
between 100 and 200 - dwellings per annum on behalf of adjoining 
authorities would also need to be added to the OAN. - Notwithstanding any 
housing need which may be required to be delivered within West - 
Lancashire to meet the need from other Authorities in the HMA, the 
Council should be seeking - to ensure, through this Issues and Options 
Consultation, that the Local Plan Review will boost - significantly the supply 
of housing by planning for economic growth and an uplift in OAN. - Story 
Homes reserves the right to make further comments on the soundness, or 
otherwise, of - the Council’s approach to OAN once the approach within 
the Housing Market Area (HMA) has - been confirmed and agreed by the 
participating Authorities. It will only be at this time, from a - review of all 
the available evidence, that Story Homes will be able to provide a fully 
evidenced - opinion on the OAN required to meet West Lancashire’s 
housing needs.

Page 497



ID Representor Comments Council Response

81 E - Approximately 24ha of land (for 600 dwellings) and 6 ha of employment 
land -  - It is widely acknowledged, as advocated by the Government within 
the NPPF, that in plan making, Local Planning Authorities should: - -
Positively seek opportunities to meet the development needs of their 
area; - -local plans should meet objectively assessed needs, with sufficient 
flexibility to adapt to rapid change  -  - Taking into consideration para's 
150 - 156 of the NPPF, paragraph 157 states that Local Plan should be 
drawn up over an appropriate time scale, preferably 15 years, take account 
of longer term requirements and be kept up to date.  -  - On the basis that 
the potential is for the Local Plan to be in excess of 15 years, the LPA should 
not just plan to meet their five year housing supply, but for the lifetime of 
the Local Plan and the longer term. If the LPA genuinely has a Vision for this 
Borough, in terms of employment then it should, be implication seek to 
deliver the highest amount of development for both housing and 
employment. -  - Critically, any assessment on housing and employment 
need should take into consideration the existing unmet needs for both 
housing and employment that are contained within the Adopted Local Plan 
2012-2027, so a carry over is required to ensure this unmet need is also 
addressed and not excluded from the SHELMA. -  - NB. It should be noted 
that these comments are submitted on the assumption that 600 dwellings 
per year and 6ha of employment land are the maximum housing and 
employment need for the Borough taking into consideration their Duty to 
Co Operate. We reserve the right to comment further once detailed 
information is produced in future consultation process.

Noted

84 Persimmon Homes feel that the draft vision and objectives as set out in the 
Issues & Options - paper are positively prepared and drafted and reflect the 
aspirations for future housing and economic growth. It is important that 
these social, economic and environmental settings are - considered 
throughout the development of the Local Plan review as it moves through 
the - Preferred Options stage to adoption. -  - As a volume house builder, 
Persimmons comments at this stage are generally focussed on the - housing 
element of the requirement. - This work is the most immediately reliant on 
the ongoing work of the Liverpool City Region - SHELMA work. Given that 
this work has not yet been released we are unable to make a complete - 
judgement on the options and their corresponding impact in meeting, or 
otherwise, the currently - unconfirmed housing requirement. - This not 
withstanding we would like to provide the following comments. - Option A - 
This Option will only meet the baseline demographic scenario identified in 
the evidence base - (West Lancashire Housing and Economic Development 
Needs Assessment). There is no - consideration for the economic and 
housing strategies of the Local Authority or sub regional city - region. As 
such this is not considered to be compliant with National Planning Policy 
Framework - and accompanying guidance. Persimmon Homes would not 
therefore, support Option A. -  - Option B - This option considers the 
Economic Growth Scenario of West Lancashire as set out in the SHELMA - 
(this cannot at this time to be verified), but not any further sub-regional 
need, particularly in - relation to logistics. The more precise meaning of 
'roughly based' in relation to its relationship - with the SHELMA needs to be 
clarified. Persimmon Homes do not consider that this option - therefore 
fully considers the economic and housing growth aspirations and should 
not be - supported. -  - Option C - Option C uplifts the housing and 
economic requirements in line with requirements (as yet known} - to meet 
needs from other Liverpool City Region authorities. Due to the currently 
unknown need - identified across the City Region, or the other authorities I 
markets abilities to meet their needs, it - is not appropriate to assess the 
level of uplift required at this stage. -  - Option D - The same position as 
option C applies to this option which just proposes a greater level of uplift - 
due to a potential greater level of needs required to be met from elsewhere 
in the City Region. He - requisite level of uplift cannot be commented on 
without seeing the relevant documentation and - evidence from the City 
Region. -  - Option E - Option E allows for meeting the affordable housing 

Noted

Page 498



ID Representor Comments Council Response

need in West Lancashire. This would result in a - significant uplift over 
current and recent housing delivery rates. However, national policy and - 
guidance is clear in its direction that housing uplift should be considered 
where this would help to - deliver the identified requirement of affordable 
housing (ID:2a-029}. There are also a number of - examples in recent legal 
decisions demonstrating the need to justify a deviation from this - 
approach. - West Lancashire should therefore provide justification for 
moving away from this option, even if it - is in part.

87 Burscough does not need, and cannot cope with further allocations of 
housing.  Roads and drainage are seriously under capacity.  Where 
homeowners travel south to work (presently estimated at 60%) a greater 
strain is placed on the A59 and Ormskirk.  This makes no sense. 
Roads to Scarisbrick and to Newburgh/Skelmersdale are country lanes 
taking far more and larger traffic than they were designed for.
West Lancs should take the minimum number of houses that it is allowed 
to do.  Those houses should be close to the motorway network where they 
will not increase pressure on overcrowded roads. This is Option A on page 
14.

The NPPF and its Golden thread running through it with the presumption in 
favour of “sustainable development”, this does need to be considered as 
there have been criticism of how it is being interpreted leading to failures, 
as highlighted below. The following points are extracts from a Government 
Select Committee in 2015 
- The concept of sustainable development is at the heart of the NPPF, which 
included as its “golden thread” a new concept of a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development, which includes provision that development 
proposals in accordance with the local plan should be approved. We have 
been told, however, that, far from delivering development that is 
sustainable, the NPPF is, in fact, leading to unsustainable development. 
People variously said that sustainable development was ill-defined in the 
NPPF, that decision-makers were giving greater weight to economic over 
environmental or social considerations, and that sustainable development 
was not being delivered in respect of infrastructure, renewable energy and 
the natural environment. We consider all these issues in Chapter 2. In our 
view, however, they are not so serious as to require the tearing up of the 
NPPF but they deliver a strong case for making it operate as it was originally 
intended to do. The NPPF is clear that development should be sustainable; 
withdrawing the NPPF would serve only to take the principle of sustainable 
development out of the planning system.
Rather, what we need to do is ensure sustainable development is being 
delivered in practice. In the following chapters, we will consider how to 
untie some of the tangles in the NPPF’s golden thread to ensure it leads to 
the delivery of development that is demonstrably sustainable.
- A particular concern about unsustainable development was that planning 
permission was being given to substantial housing development on the 
edge of towns and villages, as a result of ‘speculative’ applications by 
developers. These applications used the provisions in the NPPF to target 
sites that had not been allocated for development or were unlikely to be 
allocated.  It appeared that these developers were taking advantage of the 
absence of the local plan and five year supply of housing land to seek 
planning permission, often on 
Four Marks Parish Council from Hampshire, for instance, said that the 
parish was “basically ‘under siege’” because of an “‘open season’ attitude 
for developers” - 
(https://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/cmcomlo
c/190/190.pdf)
From the above comments you can see the Burscough and other parts of 
West Lancs have been under siege due to the attitude of developers  
Planners also need to understand the issues affecting the environment and 
communities and importantly maintain an ethic of impartiality in making 
decisions. The environment is unable to speak for itself and therefore it is 

Noted

Page 499



ID Representor Comments Council Response

important for planners to take account of issues, as regards the Burscough 
community many residents don’t believe that WLBC take sufficient account 
of the environment and local communities with this having been 
demonstrated on a number of occasions with criticism still existing.  At the 
forefront of criticism of NPPF is the presumption “in favour of sustainable 
development policy” as this can be crucial catalyst in focusing much needed 
developments when they potentially are a detriment to the environment 
and local communities. The Government has set great store in the brevity 
and simplicity of the NPPF, this does not achieve the clarity required 
therefore presenting gaps in Planning Policy. It is this point with ambiguity 
in the policy and the number of clauses it is easy for two people to have a 
different understanding. 
In a report from Government Select Communities and Local Government 
Committee they have offered comments to the Government on the NPPF. 
They recommend strengthening the planning framework to tackle emerging 
concerns about inappropriate and unsustainable development. Stating the 
same weight needs to be given to environmental and social factors as to 
economic dimension to ensure the planning system delivers the sustainable 
development promised by the NPPF. They found that developers were 
taking advantage of loopholes in the framework to launch speculative 
planning applications leading to unwanted developments contrary to the 
wishes of local communities  - The Government Committee recommend the 
following on Sustainable development - “We recommend that the 
Government take appropriate steps to impress publicly upon both the 
Planning Inspectorate and local authorities the importance of giving equal 
weight to each of the three dimensions of sustainable development, as 
required by the NPPF. Both the Planning Inspectorate and local authorities, 
when they make their decisions on planning applications, should set out 
clearly how all three factors have been considered as part of the decision-
making process.” 
BPC should support 1.3.2  provided they include all the above points about 
improving Sustainable developments and removing Speculative 
development opportunities. 
On the impact of climate change to flooding and drainage, not only must it 
be managed appropriately, to ensure it is fit for purpose and does not 
make current situations worse, there has to be clarity, openness and 
transparency at every stage. All meetings at every stage must meet this 
criteria with minutes/notes available for all meeting.
Something needs to be done regarding a massive improvement on Public 
transport for Burscough with more regular service during the day and a 
service in the evenings and Sundays.
Objectives 2.2 should be fully supported and make sure no part of West 
Lancs is not left out, it is not just about a few places but all places. This 
issue is again crucial and must not be just talk, it has to be investment in 
the right projects in the right places.

89 Section 3.1 focuses on the Development Options for the Borough. These 5 
options are based around the following three variables: - 1. “The amount of 
development land required for housing and employment uses per year - 2. 
How far into the future the Local Plan is to look (the Local Plan period) - 3. 
The way the total amount of development land required throughout the 
Local Plan period is spread across the Borough.” - The options provided 
within section 3 are as follows: - A. “Approximately 8ha of land (for 200 
dwellings) per year and 2ha of employment land per year - B. 
Approximately 12ha of land (for 300 dwellings) per year and 3ha of 
employment land per year - C. Approximately 16ha of land (for 400 
dwellings) per year and 4ha of employment land per year - D. 
Approximately 20ha of land (for 500 dwellings) per year and 5ha of 
employment land per year - E. Approximately 24ha of land (for 600 
dwellings) and 6ha of employment land per year.” - It is identified within 
paragraph 3.2.2 of the options paper that the strategic options have been 
identified through the SHELMA document. - Option A is the very minimum 
level of new development that West Lancashire could be argued to need. 

Noted

Page 500



ID Representor Comments Council Response

This Option is not supported by our Client as it does not provide for growth 
and only seeks to provide the minimum level of development. This 
therefore does not accord with the requirement for positively prepared 
plans within Paragraph 182 of the Framework. - Option B sees an uplift for 
development needs compared to the very minimum for Option A, reflecting 
a housing scenario that incorporates forecast job growth and an 
employment land figure that takes account of past trends. This option is 
not supported by our Client as it does not provide any support to the sub-
regional area and is actually lower than the existing Plan target. Housing 
will need to be provided within the wider sub-regional areas, including 
WLBC, to provide housing to meet a range of needs. West Lancashire is a 
sustainable location for economic and housing growth. - The concerns 
raised by ourselves in relation to Options A and B are also recognised by 
the Council within paragraph 3.2.9: - “For example, Options A and B would 
clearly have the least environmental impact and, depending on how the 
housing and employment land requirements were divided up between the 
different parts of the Borough and, depending on how the housing and 
employment land requirements were divided up between the different 
parts of the Borough and depending on the length of the Local plan period, 
may not require additional green Belt release (although they would require 
development of greenfield land that is in the current Local Plan either as an 
existing allocation or as safeguarded land). However, while these options 
are based on potential scenarios for development needs, the requirements 
are lower than those in the current Local Plan and what could typically be 
expected in West Lancashire and so could stymy economic development in 
West Lancashire and have a detrimental social impact as a result” - Our 
Client fully agrees with the risks identified in paragraph 3.2.9 and on this 
basis recommends that neither of these development options are 
selected. - Option C is an above-OAN option that it could be argued seeks 
to deliver more housing and employment land than is strictly necessary in 
West Lancashire to meet the wider sub-regional need. Our Client supports 
the view that West Lancashire should aim to deliver housing and economic 
growth to support the sub-regional area. However, the level of growth 
included within Option C would not sufficiently assist the sub-regional area. 
Paragraph 3.2.11 of the report considers development across the sub-
regional area and states: - “With Options C and D, regarding both housing 
and employment land requirements, they involve West Lancashire meeting 
an unmet housing need from authorities in the Liverpool City Region and a 
wider sub-regional demand for large-scale logistics development. If such a 
need or demand is realised from Liverpool City region or other surrounding 
local authorities as the Local plan Review progresses, under the Duty to Co-
operate, the Council are required to work with our neighbours to find the 
best solution for meeting those unmet needs and demands. Depending on 
those discussions, West Lancashire may be identified as the best location to 
meet those unmet needs and demands.” - Our Client agrees with the 
assertion made at the end of paragraph 3.2.11 that West Lancashire might 
be the best location to meet the unmet need. Other Local Authorities 
within the region are substantially more constrained than West Lancashire. 
Sefton; for example, is constrained by Sites of Special Scientific Interest, 
Flood Risk as well as internationally renowned golf courses. Therefore, it 
may be difficult for Sefton to provide a sufficient quantum of land for 
development to support the region, and the neighbouring authority of 
West Lancashire may be the most appropriate alternative option. On this 
basis, Option C should be discounted given that it would not assist the sub-
region in meetings its housing need. - Option D reflects a level of 
development needs significantly above the OAN to seek growth of West 
Lancashire economically whilst meeting a wider sub-regional need. Option 
D is supported by Our Client as this represents a sustainable option where 
West Lancashire can make a realistic contribution to meeting the 
development needs of the sub-region. - Option E comprises an option 
which greatly exceeds the OAN and which West Lancashire claims as being 
their ‘absolute maximum’ option in terms of what is potentially deliverable. 
Option E is also supported by our Client. This option could assist West Page 501



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Lancashire in increasing their working age-population and retaining 
students from Edge Hill within the West Lancashire. - In summary, our 
Client supports Options D and E. However, it is recommended that further 
work be undertaken on a sub-regional level to ascertain the level of growth 
which can be accommodated within each Borough, sustainably, without 
harm to the environment. - The Council identifies within paragraph 3.2.10 
that Options C to E will require Green Belt release. Our Client supports the 
Council in releasing Green Belt land for development

91 Thank you for inviting comments on the West Lancashire Local Plan Review 
Issues and Options - (2017). At this stage, as the review of the Local Plan is 
at a very early stage and no specific policies or - development sites have 
been identified, the Council only has general comments to make. -  - 
Housing and Economic Development Needs - The Council support the 
identified objectively assessed housing need of 241 units per annum and 
the employment land requirement for office and industrial uses of 22.6 ha 
(use classes B1a/b/c and B2 and excluding B8 land) identified in the West 
Lancashire Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment (2017), 
having been prepared in accordance with the NPPF and PPG guidance to 
the best of our knowledge.

Noted

95 The Options Paper establishes a series of options relating to the amount of 
housing and employment land to be provided, as summarised in the table 
below. -  - [See document for table] -  - 3.9 The descriptions of the scenarios 
strongly implies that Option A is considered as a ‘very minimum level of 
new development that West Lancashire could be argued to need’, with 
Option B broadly representative of the objectively assessed need for 
housing and employment land. - 3.10 Subsequent options are presented as 
providing for levels of need which exceed the local OAN for West 
Lancashire, with levels of provision assumed to support a level of unmet 
housing need and sub-regional strategic need for large-scale logistics. - 3.11 
Option E is described as providing for ‘an absolute maximum option in 
terms of what is potentially deliverable’ with reference made to the 
extremely challenging delivery context for this option, particularly in 
relation to housing. -  - 3.12 The Topic Paper indicates that the suggested 
options reflect the emerging evidence of development needs for West 
Lancashire in the draft report of the Liverpool City Region Regional 
Strategic Housing and Employment Land Market Assessment (LCR SHELMA) 
which seeks to identify an OAN for employment and housing needs. 
However the SHELMA report has yet to be published and therefore we 
cannot comment on its contents. We consider that the SHELMA, when 
published, will have a potential impact on the evidence-based justification 
for the development of policy in West Lancashire. On behalf of DWH, we 
reserve a position to comment on its content when published. - 3.13 WLBC 
has, however, published a Housing and Economic Development Needs 
Assessment (HDNA), prepared by GL Hearn, to inform the consultation. This 
concludes that there is an OAN for at least 221 dwellings per annum in 
West Lancashire and indicates that a higher level of housing provision (241 
dpa) will be needed to support the economic growth scenario which is 
more aspirational. - 3.14 The following table summarises the adjustments 
applied in arriving at the concluded OAN for West Lancashire within the 
HEDNA. -  - [see document for table 3.2] -  - 3.15 The scope of the HEDNA is 
limited to a presentation of the ‘local’ need for housing and employment 
land in West Lancashire and confirms that the LCR SHELMA will consider 
the future strategic need for warehouse/distribution (B8) floorspace across 
the City Region taking into account of demand drivers and the growth of 
the Port of Liverpool. - 3.16 Therefore whilst the HEDNA provides an 
evidence-based justification for Options A and B, the absence of an 
evidence-based position on the need for housing across the Liverpool City 
Region – and particularly those authorities sharing the strongest housing 
market relationships with West Lancashire – means that it is therefore 
challenging to evaluate the justification for Options C and D in particular. 
Equally, in terms of the level of employment land proposed beyond Option 

Noted

Page 502



ID Representor Comments Council Response

B, the absence of the SHELMA document makes it impossible to judge how 
the additional provision for employment land in the remaining options 
relates to the overall assessed need for large-scale logistics land across the 
City Region. - 3.17 It is recognised that this results from a delay in the 
production of sub-regional evidence, and it is appreciated that WLBC has 
sought to maintain progress in preparing its Local Plan by advancing with 
the planned consultation. However, the partial nature of the evidence base 
underpinning the Options Paper is considered a significant limitation in 
providing a fully considered response. - 3.18 It is equally evident that many 
parts of the HEDNA appear to have been adapted from the SHELMA, 
meaning that a limited amount of information is included to support a 
number of the critical adjustments proposed. It is assumed that the detail 
supporting these justifications is included in the SHELMA, with the 
adjustments applied based on a considered sub-regional view. Whilst it is 
considered beneficial to ensure a level of consistency across the Liverpool 
City Region, the absence of the evidence in the HEDNA again poses a 
challenge in enabling meaningful comment on its conclusions. - 3.19 In this 
context, the expedient publication of the SHELMA will be critical to 
ensuring that subsequent stages of the West Lancashire Plan’s 
development are based upon a more fully considered evidence base. - 3.20 
Notwithstanding this, Turley Economics has critiqued the HEDNA and our 
assessment is presented in a separate report which is appended to these 
representations. In summary: - • Whilst a range of demographic projections 
are presented within the HEDNA – of which several are based on longer-
term population growth trends – these are largely dismissed in favour of 
retaining the official projections, despite the higher level of need implied. It 
is unclear whether this results from consideration of these sensitivity 
scenarios at a City Region level. However, in the absence of this 
justification, the rationale for selecting the preferred population projection 
is not considered adequately evidenced; - • The HEDNA applies an 
adjustment to the household formation rates applied within the 2014-
based SNHP, which recognises the impact of a long-term worsening in 
affordability on younger household formation. However, whilst such an 
adjustment is considered as necessary, the HEDNA seeks to make the 
adjustment on the basis of a return to regional and national trends. It is 
widely acknowledged that affordability has nationally had a detrimental 
impact on the extent to which younger households have been able to 
access the housing market. This adjustment therefore does not assume a 
positive recovery in the context of a nationally recognised ‘housing crisis’. It 
is considered that a more positive adjustment is more appropriate to 
respond to this issue; - • In assessing the implications of supporting 
forecast employment job growth on population pressures, issues relating to 
the uncertainties of forecasting future labour-force behaviours are 
acknowledged. Preference is placed on the use of the labour-force 
assumptions within the Experian forecast. Whilst the rationale for using this 
information is understood, it is not considered that adequate consideration 
is given to the risks associated with assuming that a large proportion of 
future employment will be supported by older cohorts in the labour-force. 
This is considered to be particularly pertinent in the context of the types of 
jobs which West Lancashire has traditionally seen as its growth sectors and 
which are likely to be forecast to grow in the future under both a baseline 
and a growth scenario; and - • The HEDNA recognises that West Lancashire 
shows evidence of worsening market signals. In particular, it is noted that 
the borough has seen affordability issues considerably worsen, even in the 
context of a worsening national picture. In this context, the decision to 
apply an upward adjustment is considered appropriate, although it is 
considered that the justification for the scale of adjustment is unclear and 
should be more clearly articulated. -  - The Most Appropriate Development 
Option - 3.21 If WLBC is to adopt a positive Local Plan which seeks to boost 
the local economy by significantly embracing the employment potential 
that is expected to arise from the Liverpool City Region and in particular, 
the anticipated demand in logistics, alongside benefiting from economic 
growth arising from existing large scale employers such as Edge Hill Page 503



ID Representor Comments Council Response

University then it will be essential for WLBC to advocate a Development - 
10 - Option which meets this economic ambition if it is to establish a 
sustainable approach to growth. - 3.22 In this context, and while we await 
the publication of the LCR SHELMA, it is the view of DWH that a housing 
requirement over 300 dwellings per annum is likely to be necessary to 
support this ambition. -  - Reserve sites - 3.23 The SDOP identifies that a 
requirement of 300 dwellings per annum would equate to a need for 
approximately 12ha of land per annum, which assumes a net density of 25 
dwellings per hectare. It is, however, unrealistic to expect that every 
identified site – either brownfield or greenfield – will be delivered or will 
provide the number of new homes from it within timescale envisaged. 
Recent DCLG analysis1 has indicated that 10-20% of planning permissions 
are not implemented, whilst a further 15-20% are subject to a revised 
application process which delays delivery. As such, it is reasonable to 
assume that upwards of 15% of the total supply anticipated within the plan 
period may not come forward. It is therefore essential to allow the 
flexibility of additional provision. - 3.24 Numerous Local Plans have 
acknowledged that not all sites are delivered within the timescales 
expected. This has been an issue in West Lancashire in recent years (see 
below). The Local Plans Expert Group2 (LPEG) identified this as a particular 
problem in maintaining a supply of homes which are required to meet 
needs: - “…because Plans tend only to allocate the minimum amount of 
land they consider necessary, once adopted, there is little that Local Plans 
can do to address any shortages that appear in the five year supply…” 
(paragraph 11.2) - 3.25 The LPEG report therefore set out a clear 
recommendation that Local Plans should make provision for, and provide a 
mechanism for the release of, developable ‘reserve sites’ equivalent to 20% 
of their housing requirement. This is a particular issue where, as in West 
Lancashire, Green Belt boundaries are tightly drawn around the urban 
area. - 3.26 The identification of reserve sites has been progressed by other 
local authorities throughout the UK, including in the North West. For 
example: - • Cheshire East provided an additional 7% housing land to 
provide for an element of non-delivery; an - • The draft St Helens Local 
Plan3 has identified land for Green Belt releases and safeguarding, and 
includes a mechanism to undertake a review of those sites for release 
should there be under-delivery during the course of the plan period. - 3.27 
The inclusion of a similar approach in the Local Plan Review would be a 
positive way of reducing the delivery risk which is currently inherent within 
it and ensure it meets the test of soundness of being “effective” – i.e. 
deliverable over its plan period. In effect, if the housing requirement for the 
Borough is 300 dwellings per annum, the Local Plan Review should make 
provision for sufficient land to provide 360 dwellings per annum,thereby 
providing 20% reserve sites against the minimum development 
requirement. -  - [See document for footnotes]

96 As we will set out later, the key matters for consideration are the quantum 
of development set against the - willingness to prioritise locations that can 
maximize the opportunity to deliver substantial positive planning - impacts. 
Whilst the quantum is important, in isolation it will not arrest the key 
challenges which face West - Lancashire in the context of the city region. 
The overriding objective must be to promote a Plan which is - ambitious 
and has the best prospect of delivering against those key challenges and 
achieving tangible progress - towards achieving the set Vision. - Options A 
and B represent growth scenarios that would represent a bare minimum in 
terms of what would be - needed to meet objectively assessed needs, and it 
is difficult to reconcile how that approach could feasibly result - in 
achieving the Vision to any material extent. These are options which 
fundamentally lack ambition and will not - be able to provide West 
Lancashire the opportunity to compete on a city region level, particularly 
given the - growth agenda in other surrounding areas. - Option E on the 
other hand represents a more ambitious approach which is largely 
predicated upon the objective - to fully meet identified affordable housing 
need for the borough, on the assumption of housing delivery of mixed - 

Noted

Page 504



ID Representor Comments Council Response

schemes with affordable housing provided in accord with Plan standards. It 
also promotes a substantial increase - in the delivery of employment land, 
reflecting the growth of the logistics sector and the excellent connectivity 
of - those areas on and close to the M58 corridor. Whilst Option E is 
ambitious and would work proactively to deliver much needed affordable 
housing, it will represent a substantial change of approach and may be 
challenging to - deliver unless the Council is willing to promote appropriate 
and well‐considered elements of Green Belt release. ‐ In our view, the 
step‐change required to achieve the Vision and to allow West Lancashire to 
compete more - effectively within the city region necessitates the ambition 
to achieve Option E. The Council’s evidence very - clearly shows that a 
typical approach to identifying market housing need would not be 
ambitious and would - largely reflect established take‐up levels and do not 
provide the opportunity for growth. - The stark problems in terms of the 
affordability ratios and lack of specialist accommodation are all a product 
of - failing to identify housing opportunities in locations with a credible 
opportunity to be delivered in a timely manner. - Clearly the Council is not 
fully in control of investment decisions as to the timing of the delivery of 
housing sites - with positive allocations, but given that experience through 
the last Plan period it is even more crucial now to - grasp that opportunity 
and plan for sustainable growth. - Option E can provide a framework to 
deliver a compelling opportunity to meet thee latent needs, and 
particularly - to address affordable housing need and the need for 
well‐considered accommodation for older people. Given the ‐ experience 
from the previous Plan period, it is important to identify locations for 
housing needs in locations where - the market can be able to sustain these 
and deliver these within the earlier part of the Plan period. The land to - 
the south of St Joseph’s Seminary provides that opportunity and also the 
basis for enabling development to bring - the heritage assets to the north 
(the Seminary) back into active use.

97 The Strategic Development Options focus on potential options for 
delivering new housing and employment land, and the - options cover 
three variables: - 
should provide each year - 
look (the Local Plan period) - 
around the Borough -  - In relation to the amount of development land 
required per year, we are considering five options. The options are, for 
each year - of the plan period,: - 
dwellings) and 2 ha of employment land - 
(for 300 dwellings) and 3 ha of employment land - 
of land (for 400 dwellings) and 4 ha of employment land - 
Approximately 20 ha of land (for 500 dwellings) and 5 ha of employment 
land - 
employment land -  - As we will set out later, the key matters for 
consideration are the quantum of development set against the willingness 
to prioritise locations that can maximize the opportunity to deliver 
substantial positive planning impacts. Whilst the quantum is important, in 
isolation it will not arrest the key challenges which face West Lancashire in 
the context of the city region. The overriding objective must be to promote 
a Plan which is ambitious and has the best prospect of delivering against 
those key challenges and achieving tangible progress towards achieving the 
set Vision. - Options A and B represent growth scenarios that would 
represent a bare minimum in terms of what would be needed to meet 
objectively assessed needs, and it is difficult to reconcile how that approach 
could feasibly result in achieving the Vision to any material extent. These 
are options which fundamentally lack ambition and will not be able to 
provide West Lancashire the opportunity to compete on a city region level, 
particularly given the growth agenda in other surrounding areas. -  - Option 
E on the other hand represents a more ambitious approach which is largely 
predicated upon the objective to fully meet identified affordable housing 
need for the borough, on the assumption of housing delivery of mixed 

Noted

Page 505



ID Representor Comments Council Response

schemes with affordable housing provided in accord with Plan standards. It 
also promotes a substantial increase in the delivery of employment land, 
reflecting the growth of the logistics sector and the excellent connectivity 
of those areas on and close to the M58 corridor. Whilst Option E is 
ambitious and would work proactively to deliver - much needed affordable 
housing, it will represent a substantial change of approach and may be 
challenging to deliver unless the Council is willing to promote appropriate 
and well‐considered elements of Green Belt release. ‐ In our view, the 
step‐change required to achieve the Vision and to allow West Lancashire to 
compete more effectively within the city region necessitates the ambition 
to achieve Option E. The Council’s evidence very clearly shows that a typical 
approach to identifying market housing need would not be ambitious and 
would largely reflect established take‐up levels and do not provide the 
opportunity for growth. -  - Option E provides a compelling opportunity to 
meet housing and employment land requirements to drive growth, and 
through the allocations process these need to be in locations where the 
market can be able to sustain these and deliver these within the earlier part 
of the Plan period. Should the Skelmersdale housing market improve, those 
Sklemersdale‐based opportunity sites can come forward.

98 The Council is seeking to ensure that the Local Plan Review is aspirational in 
its approach and we would expect this to guide the development option 
selected. At this stage it is not possible to comment on the most 
appropriate development option however, McDermott Homes reserves the 
right to provide further representations on this matter at a later stage.

Noted

99 Our Clients support a pro-growth approach for West Lancashire, to ensure 
it is aspirational and meets the full, objectively assessed needs of the 
Borough over the Plan Period. Paragraph 47 of the NPPF is clear - local 
planning authorities are required to “boost significantly the supply of 
housing” and in doing so, must ensure that the Local Plan meets the “full 
objectively assessed needs for market and affordable housing in the 
housing market area”. At this stage, we have not undertaken a detailed 
examination of the Council’s Housing and Economic Development Needs 
Assessment (“HEDNA”) in relation to the full Objectively Assessed Needs 
(“OAN”) however it is noted that there is an identified required to apply an 
uplift to the Borough’s housing need figure to support economic growth 
and meet affordable housing provision. The HEDNA does however only 
cover the period 2012 – 2037. If the Plan period is to be extended, which 
our Clients support, a commitment to reviewing the OAN during the Plan 
period up to 2050 will be required because household projections for this 
time are unknown. The Council’s current Local Plan requirement is 324 dpa. 
It is our Clients’ position that to meet the aspirational needs of the Borough 
and to address affordable housing shortfall, at the very minimum there is a 
requirement to deliver a higher housing figure (minimum of 400 – 500 
dwellings and 4/5 ha of employment land per annum. This is to ensure that 
the emerging Local Plan achieves an ambitious pro-growth target that West 
Lancashire should seek to deliver. To facilitate this Green Belt release will 
be required to meet these needs, because if not the Plan will be 
constrained. A lower requirement will not take account of market signals 
adjustment, as required by the PPG or align with the economic and housing 
strategies for the area, and will fail to take account of a sub-regional need 
for land for large scale logistics, which will impact on both housing and 
employment land requirements. The housing requirement from the 
Liverpool City Region SHELMA are unavailable at this time, and our Clients 
support the Council’s commitment for the housing requirement to be 
revised when the SHELMA from the Liverpool City Region is published. This 
is because of the overlap between the Housing Market Area of Central LCR 
and Mid Mersey HMA, which will affect the housing and employment 
requirements within West Lancashire. If any departure from the Liverpool 
City Region SHELMA is proposed, necessary justification must be provided 
to ensure that the Council is able to demonstrate that the emerging Local 

Noted

Page 506



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Plan housing requirement is appropriately justified. It is our Clients’ 
consideration that a suitable buffer should be applied to the housing 
requirement, to ensure that a sufficient supply of housing is provided, in 
accordance with Paragraph 47 of the NPPF. This will ensure there is 
flexibility, choice and competition within the housing market, and provide 
greater opportunities for housing need to be met in full, and ensure the 
Local Plan is consistent with the NPPF. Policies should be sufficiently 
flexible and provide a positive framework to assist housing delivery and 
avoid unnecessary restrictive policies.

108 As it is impossible to know how many dwellings are needed, option A 
appears the best, to ensure that existing building land is used, empty 
properties are used, brownfield sites are used, better housing mixes, so 
that single people  and elderly can have smaller properties, developments 
like Brookside in Ormskirk.

Noted

111 Section 3.1 focuses on the Development Options for the Borough. These 5 
options are based - around the following three variables: - 1. The amount of 
development land required for housing and employment - uses per year - 2. 
How far into the future the Local Plan is to look (the Local Plan period) - 3. 
The way the total amount of development land required throughout the - 
Local Plan period is spread across the Borough. - The options provided 
within section 3 are as follows: - A. “Approximately 8ha of land (for 200 
dwellings) per year and 2ha of - employment land per year - B. 
Approximately 12ha of land (for 300 dwellings) per year and 3ha of - 
employment land per year - C. Approximately 16ha of land (for 400 
dwellings) per year and 4ha of - employment land per year - D. 
Approximately 20ha of land (for 500 dwellings) per year and 5ha of - 
employment land per year - E. Approximately 24ha of land (for 600 
dwellings) and 6ha of employment - land per year.” It is identified within 
paragraph 3.2.2 of the options paper that the strategic options have been 
identified through consideration of the emerging SHELMA document. - 
Option A is the very minimum level of new development that West 
Lancashire could be argued to - need. This Option is not supported by our 
Client as it does not provide for growth and only seeks - to provide the 
minimum level of development. This therefore does not accord with the - 
requirement for positively prepared plans within Paragraph 182 of the 
Framework. Option B sees an uplift for development needs compared to 
the very minimum for Option A, - reflecting a housing scenario that 
incorporates forecast job growth and an employment land figure - that 
takes account of past trends. This option is not supported by our Client as it 
does not provide - any support to the sub-regional area and is actually 
lower than the existing Plan target. Housing - will need to be provided 
within the wider sub-regional areas, including WLBC, to provide housing - 
to meet a range of needs. West Lancashire is a sustainable location for 
economic and housing - growth. The concerns raised by ourselves in 
relation to Options A and B are also recognised by the - Council within 
paragraph 3.2.9: “For example, Options A and B would clearly have the 
least environmental - impact and, depending on how the housing and 
employment land - requirements were divided up between the different 
parts of the Borough and, - depending on how the housing and 
employment land requirements were - divided up between the different 
parts of the Borough and depending on the - length of the Local plan 
period, may not require additional green Belt release - (although they 
would require development of greenfield land that is in the - current Local 
Plan either as an existing allocation or as safeguarded land). - However, 
while these options are based on potential scenarios for - development 
needs, the requirements are lower than those in the current - Local Plan 
and what could typically be expected in West Lancashire and - so could 
stymy economic development in West Lancashire and have a - detrimental 
social impact as a result” Our Client fully agrees with the risks identified in 
paragraph 3.2.9 and on this basis recommends that neither of these 
development options are selected. - Option C is an above-OAN option that 

Noted

Page 507



ID Representor Comments Council Response

it could be argued seeks to deliver more housing and - employment land 
than is strictly necessary in West Lancashire to meet the wider sub-
regional - need. Our Client supports the view that West Lancashire should 
aim to deliver housing and - economic growth to support the sub-regional 
area. However, the level of growth included within - Option C would not 
sufficiently assist the sub-regional area. Paragraph 3.2.11 of the report - 
considers development across the sub-regional area and states: - “With 
Options C and D, regarding both housing and employment land - 
requirements, they involve West Lancashire meeting an unmet housing 
need - from authorities in the Liverpool City Region and a wider sub-
regional demand - for large-scale logistics development. If such a need or 
demand is realised - from Liverpool City region or other surrounding local 
authorities as the Local - plan Review progresses, under the Duty to Co-
operate, the Council are - required to work with our neighbours to find the 
best solution for meeting those - unmet needs and demands. Depending on 
those discussions, West - Lancashire may be identified as the best location 
to meet those unmet - needs and demands.” - Our Client agrees with the 
assertion made at the end of paragraph 3.2.11 that West Lancashire - might 
be the best location to meet the unmet need. Other Local Authorities 
within the region are - substantially more constrained than West 
Lancashire. Sefton; for example, is constrained by - Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest, Flood Risk as well as internationally renowned golf courses. - 
Therefore, it may be difficult for Sefton to provide a sufficient quantum of 
land for development to - support the region, and the neighbouring 
authority of West Lancashire may be the most - appropriate alternative 
option. On this basis, Option C should be discounted given that it would - 
not assist the sub-region in meeting its housing need. - Option D reflects a 
level of development needs significantly above the OAN to seek growth of - 
West Lancashire economically whilst meeting a wider sub-regional need. 
Option D is supported - by Our Client as this represents a sustainable 
option where West Lancashire can make a realistic - contribution to 
meeting the development needs of the sub-region. - Option E comprises an 
option which greatly exceeds the OAN and which West Lancashire claims - 
as being their ‘absolute maximum’ option in terms of what is potentially 
deliverable. Option E is - also supported by our Client. This option could 
assist West Lancashire in increasing their working - age-population and 
retaining students from Edge Hill within the West Lancashire In summary, 
our Client supports Options D and E. However, it is recommended that 
further work - be undertaken on a sub-regional level to ascertain the level 
of growth which can be - accommodated within each Borough, sustainably, 
without harm to the environment. - The Council identifies within paragraph 
3.2.10 that Options C to E will require Green Belt release. - Our Client 
supports the Council in releasing Green Belt land for development.

Page 508



Question 10: Should the Council go for a standard Plan Period (Option 
I) or plan longer-term (Option II)? Why?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Option 1 you need to be flexible with planning don't set it in stone for such 
long periods 

Noted

2 Option 1 or shorter as planning needs to be flexible Noted

9 Option 2- to give certainty to home owners and businesses alike. Noted

14 I think longer because there are not to many issues that are going to 
change a great deal

Noted

18 No comment.

19 Option 11 - 2012 - 2050. A longterm view is much more likely to be a 
strategic sustainable plan less affected by political and economic changes.

Noted

20 Option 1.  This is a more realistic proposition albeit the goalposts may be 
changed at any time during the plan. A crystal ball may be required to 
predict the needs and requirements likely to be faced in 2050.

Noted

23 Option II. A cautious and considered approach to development will allow 
for changing demographics and for continual reassessment as the plan 
unfolds. It will also limit the impact on people who already live and pay 
taxes in West Lancashire.

Noted

24 Go for Option II.  It will prevent the Council having to spend a lot of money 
on consultation exercises.  Short term solutions don't keep up with change 
eg sustainability takes a long time to set up and produce results.

Noted

26 The shorter term brings it in line with the majority of LA I am aware of. Noted

28 Option 1 - The timescale in option 2 is too far into the future. Noted

30 Given only two choices Option 1.  Ideally it should be for a shorter period 
of 10 years up to 2027 so the impact of adjacent developing policies and 
Liverpool superport can be properly evaluated for their impact on West 
Lancashire.

Noted.  National policy requires a Local Plan 
period to be at least 15 years in length.

31 Option 1 - Although it is certainly worth looking far ahead in regard to 
climate change. I do not believe meaningful plans can be made up to 2050 
for housing and employment developments. - The rate of change of 
technology, work/life balance, longevity, geopolitical stability, pandemic 
infection, lack of effective antibiotics etc. may have each dramatic effects.

Noted

32 Option ll it is essential that all local authorities plan together and longer 
term.  Climate Change, employment, health and welfare, are all issues with 
far reaching implications

Noted

35 Whilst the aspirations of the Council to plan longer term for the Borough 
of West Lancashire, which will create stability in the planning policy 
situation is supported, this approach must be given careful consideration, 
and may not necessarily be the most appropriate for West Lancashire. - To 
plan for a longer Plan period will require reliance to be put upon existing 
evidence and data for a considerable period of time, despite the fact that 
such information is not intended to forecast so far into the future beyond 
the end of the current Plan period. Confirming this point, the SHELMA 
does not forecast beyond 2037. - Therefore, it is considered that the 
standard Plan period should be maintained, which will ensure that the 
Plan and policies within it, accurately reflect the development needs and 
requirements of the Borough. - However, it would also be prudent of the 
Council to identify further sites of safeguarded land, alongside other 
potential future sources of supply, which will ensure that the Green Belt 

Noted

Page 509



ID Representor Comments Council Response

boundary will not require significant change following the end of the Plan 
period. It is important to note that such additional identification may need 
to include some Green Belt land. It may also be appropriate for policy to 
allow for such land to come forward ahead of the end of the Plan period in 
such circumstances where the development needs of the Borough are not 
being effectively met. - At Paragraph 3.3.4 the document states that ‘a 
portion of the housing and employment land requirements ultimately 
identified in the new Local Plan will have already been met’, due to the 
base date of 2012. However, we would also like to draw attention to the 
fact that a number of the current allocations, including the Yew Tree Farm 
site have not delivered the level of development anticipated at the start of 
the Plan period, and as such delivery so far within the Plan period must be 
carefully considered irrespective of which Plan period is considered the 
most appropriate.

36 Life of Local Plan - we think it a good idea, both in terms of stability, cost 
and man hours, if the Local Plan was in place for a longer period than it 
currently is.  As this review shows, the current Local Plan hasn't been in 
place that long, and is already being reviewed.  Increasing the length of the 
next Local Plan, would provide stability for everyone, in terms of knowing 
what is, or isn't agreed. It must cost a substantial amount of money to 
review and put in place a new Local Plan, plus man hours required to do it, 
therefore it would be in everyone's benefit if it wasn't reviewed as often.

Noted

39 Response A – Option 1 -  - Option I  (2012-27) – This is a more realistic 
period for a small borough which can be subject to considerable changes 
as part of the wider Liverpool City Region. - 

Noted

40 In our view Option 2 is too long as it will be difficult to forecast growth 
(economic and housing) to 2050. It is accepted that any review of the 
Green Belt should be strategic and long term (a key requirement of NPPF), 
therefore we would advocate a hybrid of the two whereby safeguarded 
sites are identified for the second phase of the Plan, however, these will be 
subject to a review mechanism at the appropriate time.

Noted

42 We are anticipating a "25-year plan for nature" from the UK Government, 
as promised in its 2015 manifesto; though we have been waiting for it 
since May 2015. Consequent to any change in policy from the incoming 
Government, it would suit our purposes to have a plan that extends at 
least as far as 2037.

Noted

43 It should be noted that the length of the plan period (15 to 30 years) does 
cause some challenge for school planning in terms of accuracy of pupil 
projections. Firstly, we cannot predict how many children will be born in a 
particularly year and assumptions need to be made about what births will 
come forward in future years. Secondary, the birth rate has to be 
considered in conjunction with the housing projections. In the short term 
the pupil projections use the housing land supply document and assess 
demand against developments with planning consent, whereas the longer 
term projections assume that all developments included in the local plan 
will secure planning consent. - A number of options in terms of scale of 
development are being considered by West Lancashire. Regardless of 
which option is identified by the local planning authority the impact on 
school places would need to be calculated based on LCC's Education 
Contribution Methodology. Once the preferred option has been identified 
LCC would revisit the position statement provided at August 2016. - Please 
note that any developments included within the updated Local Plan that 
already have planning consent have already been taken into account in 
terms of LCC's pupil projections. For any development that does not 
currently have planning consent, these would need to be incorporated 
into LCC's short term/long term pupil projections. - Where a number of 
developments are being brought forward within close proximity to each 
other, LCC would ask that the local planning authority consider whether a 

Noted, however national policy does require 
Local Plans to cover at least a 15 year period.

Page 510



ID Representor Comments Council Response

new school should be the preferred option in terms of addressing demand. 
To achieve this the local planning authority would need to consider these 
applications in terms of it being one strategic site. - 3.7.2 The education 
statement will need to be revisited once Local Plan sites are determined.

46 Option II- 2012 to 2050 because this will provide a strategic platform on 
which to base a realistic timescale to really achieve genuine regeneration 
and transformation and so be in accord with the wider sub-regional need. 
Far better to fit in with a wider strategic vision rather than an 'ad-hoc' 
approach given over several time periods. This will allow for quality long 
term planning towards the infrastructure needs to ensure proper provision 
of planned settlements.

48 The longer term plan should be adopted - 2012-2050. This ties in with the 
Climate Change Act that has a target for carbon reduction of 60% by 2050.

Noted

50 The Topic Paper presents two options for the Plan Period: - 1. 2012 to 
2037; and - 2. 2012 to 2050. - Option 1 ensures the plan will represent the 
standard 15-year plan period from the anticipated - year of adoption 
(intended to be 2020). Option 2 extends the plan period for a further 13 
years, - potentially covering a 30 year period were the Plan to be adopted 
in 2020. - While the ability to plan for a longer period of time should be 
welcomed, it is likely that there will be - less certainty of the later years of 
the plan period, particularly were the plan to run till 2050. The - Strategic 
Options Paper states that the SHELMA only forecasts to 2037 (Option 1), 
indicating that - housing and employment needs beyond this are likely to 
be increasingly speculative. Furthermore, - Highways England’s Road 
Investment Strategy (RIS) functions in 5 year blocks, with RIS 2 - planned 
for the period 2020 – 2025. - It is also noted that the NPPF states in 
paragraph 157 that Local Plans should: - “be drawn up over an appropriate 
time scale, preferably a 15-year time horizon, take account of - longer term 
requirements, and be kept up to date” -  - Highways England will look to 
support those options that enable greater certainty over the - distribution 
and type of development, and that allows the identification of the 
necessary - infrastructure to support the anticipated levels of growth. It is 
considered that Option 1 is - more likely to provide the certainty necessary 
to accurately plan infrastructure - requirements over the Plan period.

Noted

56 The Framework [§157] identifies the need for local plans to plan for a 15 
year time horizon to ensure a long term approach is taken and sufficient 
land for development is provided. Taylor Wimpey supports an end date for 
the new Local Plan of at least 2035 to meet this requirement if the Local 
Plan is adopted by the start of 2020. If the adoption of the plan is delayed 
however, the timeframe should be extended beyond 2035 to ensure that 
the minimum 15 year time horizon will be achieved and flexibility is built 
into the plan. - Taylor Wimpey welcomes that the Council is also 
considering Option II which would see a longer plan period (possibly to 
2050) that could help ensure that the Council is planning the future 
growth of the Borough in a co-ordinated way. - Whilst the lack of reliable 
projections for housing and employment need to 2050 may make such a 
long plan period impractical, a third option could be to set a 15 year plan 
period but also safeguard additional land to provide greater flexibility 
required should Green Belt release be necessary. The approach (taken in 
the currently adopted West Lancashire Local Plan) of allocating reserve 
Strategic sites would give more flexibility by allowing reserve sites to be 
taken out of the safeguarded land supply if certain triggers are met. Policy 
RS6 of the adopted Local Plan includes the following mechanism for 
releasing reserve sites after 5 years of the plan: - “If less than 80% of the 
pro rata housing target has been delivered after 5 years of the Plan period, 
then the Council will release land from that safeguarded from 
development…” - Such an approach to reserve sites is supported by The 
Local Plan Expert Group [LPEG] report to Government which states that: - 

Noted

Page 511



ID Representor Comments Council Response

“the NPPF makes clear that local plans should be required not only to 
demonstrate a five year land supply but also focus on ensuring a more 
effective supply of developable land for the medium to long term (over the 
whole plan period), plus make provision for, and provide a mechanism for 
the release of, developable Reserve Sites equivalent to 20% of their 
housing requirement, as far as is consistent with the policies set out in the 
NPPF”. - It is noted that in any case, a Green Belt Study was prepared in 
2011/12 to inform the currently adopted Local Plan and whilst at least 
some parts of the study are still relevant, an updated Green Belt Review 
may be needed to identify further land for release should more housing 
need to be accommodated.

57 Whilst it is necesary to look at longer term needs, economic, societal and 
other changes which will inevitably occur may render an overly 
prescriptive local plan redundant within a short period of time. Therefore, 
a broad brush strategy for the longer term, with more detailed policy 
guidance for the shorter term would seem to be a sensible compromise.

Noted

58 Both options would meet the NPPF preference for plans to have at least a 
15 year time horizon. Both also provide a sufficient length of time to 
ensure that the plans vision can be met. -  - Whilst laudable option II, 
providing a plan period until 2050, is unlikely to be practical due to the 
significant uncertainties associated with such a long time-frame, not least 
due to the lack of reliable projections for both housing and employment 
need over this period. -  - The HBF recommends that a hybrid approach is 
adopted. The plan period could include the option I period of 2012 to 
2037, providing sufficient allocations to meet the needs in full over this 
period. However the plan could also identify sufficient safeguarded land, 
alongside other potential future sources of supply, to ensure that the 
Green Belt boundary endures until at least 2050. If, as anticipated, 
exceptional circumstances can be demonstrated this approach would 
conform to the NPPF. Paragraph 85 of the NPPF identifies that where 
necessary Local Plans should provide safeguarded land to meet longer 
term development needs stretching “…well beyond the plan period…” and 
that local authorities should satisfy themselves that Green Belt boundaries 
“…will not need to be altered at the end of the development plan 
period…”. -  - The above approach will not only provide a robust long-term 
Green Belt boundary but will also provide certainty for residents and 
developers alike in terms of likely growth locations beyond the end of the 
plan period. It is recommended that the Council carefully considers the 
amount of land required to ensure that Green Belt boundaries will not be 
required to be further amended upon the review of this Local Plan.

Noted

60 3.1	Two options are set out for consultation these being: - •	2012 to 
2037; or, - •	2012 to 2050. - 3.2	Our view is that the plan period for West 
Lancashire should be 2012 to 2050. Our reasons for this are as follows. - 
3.3	The first is that West Lancashire will require Green Belt release. On 
that point Government guidance is clear. Paragraph 83 states that “At that 
time, authorities should consider the Green Belt boundaries having regard 
to their intended permanence in the long term, so that they should be 
capable of enduring beyond the plan period”. We also refer to paragraph 
85 of the NPPF and specifically the third and fifth bullet points which are: - 
•	where necessary, identify in their plans areas of ‘safeguarded land’ 
between the urban area and the Green Belt, in order to meet longer-term 
development needs stretching well beyond the plan period - •	satisfy 
themselves that Green Belt boundaries will not need to be altered at the 
end of the development plan period - 3.4	As the Council will be aware 
they reviewed their Green Belt as part of the adopted Local Plan and the 
LPR is clear that further Green Belt releases will be required for the 
majority of the housing options. Therefore with a review being necessary 
using either plan period, it would be in the interests of all parties and in 
accordance with Government guidance that the plan period is to 2050. 
This would also necessitate further work on the OAN post 2037.

Noted

Page 512



ID Representor Comments Council Response

61 It makes sense to have a longer term strategy to 2050. However, this 
would have to be properly planned and managed with regular review 
periods( short, medium & long term goals) because the current Local Plan 
will only be approximately half way through when the new plan is adopted 
and already the exiting plan is in need of review.

Noted

62 In respect of the Local Plan Period two options are put forward: - I. 2012 to 
2037; and, - II. 2012 to 2050. - It is considered that the first option (2012 to 
2037) is most appropriate, this would exceed the minimum period 
required for a Local Plan (15 years) from the year of anticipated adoption 
in 2020 and align with the forecast period in the SHELMA. A plan period to 
2050 appears excessive and it is unclear at this stage how sufficient 
evidence and certainty over such a long timeframe would be ensured. - 
However, the Council may wish to consider adopting a ‘hybrid approach’ 
which could include identifying sufficient allocations to meet the needs in 
full over the period between 2012 and 2037, whilst also identifying 
sufficient safeguarded land and other potential future sources of supply to 
ensure that the Green Belt boundary endures until at least 2050. Such an 
approach would be consistent with the NPPF which requires LPAs, when 
reviewing Green Belt boundaries, to consider their intended permanence 
in the long term so that they are capable of ensuring beyond the plan 
period. - Notwithstanding the above it is considered vital that the new 
Local Plan provides appropriate triggers to enable it to be reviewed at 
appropriate junctures, ensuring sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid 
change during the plan period, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the 
NPPF.

Noted

64 It is our Clients’ view that if the Council is seeking to deliver an ambitious 
Plan, which we consider it should, then the Council should extend the Plan 
period to 2050, rather than 2037. This will help to realise the longer term 
potential for growth and development with Skelmersdale. However, this 
would be dependent on whether sufficient land is released i.e. greater 
than 400 dpa. If this is the case, a longer Plan period may be appropriate. 
However, there remains a number of unknowns associated with this, in 
particular, the lack of reliable projections for both housing and 
employment need over the plan period. It is important if the Council 
progresses with a longer Plan period, that any allocations are deliverable, 
suitable and available, and will help achieve the Plan requirements, both in 
the short and long term.  -  - Our Clients would recommend that the 
emerging Local Plan includes safeguarding land for the post 2037 period. It 
should include a mechanism within the Plan which triggers an early review 
or land release if the Council fails to deliver the level of housing required 
i.e. when housing delivery is significantly below the anticipated level (for 
circa 1-3 years), and if this is due to a lack of land supply, a partial or full 
Plan review will be undertaken.  -  - We support the Council’s position that 
they would need to review the evidence base in light of the revised Plan 
period, because it will have been largely based on a shorter Plan period.

Noted

66 The plan period should align with the Plan’s evidence on housing and 
economic needs, as such the - period 2012 to 2037 is considered to be the 
most appropriate as this will align with the evidence - contained in the 
HEDNA. The use of a plan period extending to 2050 is not considered 
appropriate nor would it be justified by any evidence on housing and 
economic needs. Indeed, extending the plan period would instead act to 
artificially suppress annual housing delivery and would not be in 
accordance with the requirements of the Framework.

Noted, although the Council is unclear how 
extending the Plan period to 2050 would 
"artificially suppress annual housing delivery".

67 On balance the standard 15 year period is preferable as it provides a 
framework which can be reviewed and adapted to meet changing 
circumstances and priorities. - One consideration that arises from the 
longer plan period is the requirement in the NPPF for Local Plans to define 
Green Belt boundaries to include for safeguarded land to meet loner term 
development needs "sell beyond the plan period".  This requirement is 

Noted

Page 513



ID Representor Comments Council Response

likely to apply equally if the plan period were 15 or 30 years.

69 Option II, we need to plan for the longer term. - The Climate Change Act, in 
line with inter-governmental agreements, sets targets up to 2050 also.

Noted

70 The two plan periods highlighted in the paper are: - • 2012 – 2037; and - • 
2012 – 2050. -  - These allow for planning over a period of 25 or 38 years. 
The Commissioners believe there is - merit in planning for a longer period 
of time as this will result in planning more positively for - growth and 
provide more certainty regarding future development coming forward. -  - 
We believe there are sites (including the Commissioners’ landholdings) 
which can provide - additional land to meeting this need over the longer 
plan period. -  - Irrespective of which plan period is chosen, there is clearly 
going to be a need to examine - Green Belt land to accommodate future 
growth. As such, and in line with our comments above, - we believe a 
revised Green Belt Study should be undertaken.

Noted

72 option 1 Noted

73 The University agrees that it is appropriate for the plan to cover a period 
of at least 15 - years from the anticipated date of adoption, in accordance 
with national policy6. -  - Whilst the preparation of a plan up to 2050 
would provide certainty and enable strategic - decisions about Green Belt 
boundaries to be made, it is unclear at this stage how - sufficient evidence 
and certainty over such a long timeframe would be prepared. For - 
instance, it would be very difficult for the University to articulate with a 
high degree of - certainty what specific development needs it would 
require in 2050 largely owing to the - competitive market it operates 
within and the need to adapt to other external forces such - as 
Government policy. -  - In the circumstances, WLBC may wish to consider 
adopting a ‘hybrid approach’ as - recommended by the HBF7. This could 
include identifying sufficient allocations to meet - the needs in full over the 
period between 2012 and 2037, whilst also identifying - sufficient 
safeguarded land and other potential future sources of supply to ensure 
that - the Green Belt boundary endures until at least 2050. Such an 
approach would be - consistent with national policy which requires LPAs, 
when reviewing Green Belt - boundaries, to consider their intended 
permanence in the long term so that they are - capable of ensuring beyond 
the plan period8. -  - Whichever option WLBC chooses to progress with, it 
will be important that the new - Local Plan provides triggers to enable it to 
be reviewed at appropriate opportunities, and - provide sufficient 
flexibility to adapt to rapid change during the plan period, in - accordance 
with the Government’s presumption in favour of sustainable 
development9.

Noted

74 Standard Plan Period.  A longer term plan could potentially pull focus from 
the short term  and immediate needs.  A clear strategy for a significantly 
longer period of time would be difficult to define and may become 
unfocused and ineffective in its delivery. -  - For comparison, if such a plan 
period was due to end today in 2017, that plan period would  - have begun 
in 1979.  Providing a clear focused planning strategy for such a long time 
period is unlikely to be effective.

Noted

75 We welcome the option to extend the Local Plan period to 2050 as this 
could contribute to achieving wider strategic economic and regeneration 
objectives, such as the regeneration of Skelmersdale. This would also 
support Lancashire County Council’s long-term ambitions, particularly with 
regard to the delivery of public health, infrastructure and transport 
interventions.

Noted

76 If the Council seeks the longer plan period policies will need to be flexible 
enough to enable the development industry to respond to changing 
circumstances, which are highly likely given the current uncertain 
economic and political climate we are in, both locally and nationally. As 
such a shorter Local Plan period is considered to be more appropriate. - 

Noted

Page 514



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Any Local Plan subject to the longer term should make allowances for an 
early review, should the Plan become out of date.

77 Standard plan (option1) Noted

78 Standard (option 1) Noted

79 The Strategic Development Options Paper considers two time periods for 
the Local Plan - (Option I: 2012 to 2037 and Option II: 2012 to 2050), both 
of which have a base date of 2012 to - correspond to the base date of the 
Strategic Housing and Employment Land Market - Assessment (SHELMA). 
Paragraph 1.1.5 of the Strategic Development Options Paper advises - that 
“while the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 is not out of date at his 
point in time, it is - considered prudent to begin work on a Local Plan 
Review with the aim of preparing a new - Local Plan, especially given that 
the gathering and review of all evidence, the preparation of a - Local Plan 
and the Examination of the final document by a Planning Inspector can, all 
together, - take several years” (emphasis added). Story Homes therefore 
have significant concerns that the - base date of 2012 will be out of date at 
the time of adoption of the Local Plan Review and - therefore will not 
provide a sound base to ascertain West Lancashire’s development needs - 
throughout the whole of the Local Plan Review plan period. As set out in 
response to the Local Plan Review’s proposed spatial distribution of 
development, - Story Homes consider that an approach which sets out an 
alternative spatial distribution - strategy to that in the adopted Local Plan 
should be taken forward. The Council’s Annual - Monitoring Reports for 
the period 2012 to 2016 identify a cumulative delivery shortfall of 258 - 
units (against an annual target of 302 units for the period 2012-2017, 
following which the target - increases to 335 through to 2027), therefore 
raising concern that the current development - strategy is not facilitating 
development within the areas where the market wants to see - 
development. Story Homes have fundamental concerns about the adopted 
Local Plan’s reliance - on Skelmersdale to meet housing needs; this is 
expanded upon further within the response to - the proposed spatial 
distribution of development. Story Homes, therefore, question the 
appropriateness of the Local Plan Review having the - same start date as 
the adopted Local Plan when the Local Plan Review is intended to be a - 
standalone, replacement, Development Plan Document. The adopted Local 
Plan has been - guiding development over the last 5 years and therefore to 
ensure that the right level of - development is allocated to the most 
appropriate locations, an updated SHELMA evidence base - is imperative. - 
Notwithstanding the above comments, and focusing specifically on the 
length of time which the - Local Plan Review should cover, Option 1: 2012 
to 2037, would be Story Homes’ recommended - time period. Local Plans 
must generate the confidence that they are planning sustainably over - the 
full plan period and Story Homes are unconvinced that this could be 
achieved through a - Local Plan which sets a Plan period of approximately 
35 years. It is important that the Local - Plan should incorporate 
safeguarded land in accordance with paragraph 85 of the NPPF, which - 
identifies that where necessary, local authorities should identify such land 
to meet longer-term - development needs stretching well beyond the plan 
period. Where safeguarded land is already - identified this should be 
considered for allocation in preference to the release of further - 
Greenbelt land in accordance with guidance contained within the new 
Housing White Paper - (para 1.39) which states that Councils should only 
allocate Green Belt land after ‘they have fully - examined all other 
reasonable options for meeting their identified development 
requirements.’ - Furthermore, the longer plan period is unlikely to be able 
to provide an approach which will be - sufficiently flexible to take account 
of changing market conditions, or changes to OAN over the - length of the 
plan period.

Noted

81 Standard Plan Period - Option 1 : 2012-2037 -  - Based on the lack of vision NotedPage 515



ID Representor Comments Council Response

for the Borough contained within the Issues and Options Paper and taking 
into consideration the comments above, i.e. imbalanced approach to 
housing and employment development focused solely on the southern 
areas of the Borough, lack of support for agricultural and food processing 
economy and exclusion of any infrastructure or support for the Northern 
Parishes, in our view the emerging Local Plan can only be for the period 
2012 - 2037.  -  - Paragraph 157 of the NPPF advocates an appropriate 
period of 15 years, to ensure a local plan remains up to date and takes 
account of longer term requirements.  -  - Based on the LPA's vision and 
objectives set out in this paper, both the Borough's immediate and future 
needs have failed to be taken into consideration, and so it is strongly 
objected against a period of 50 years.  -  - Several key strategic sites have 
failed to be delivered in the existing local plan, and therefore it is 
imperative that a regular review mechanism, is incorporated into any local 
plan, to ensure that any changes can be planned in a sustainable manner.

82 Option II ties in with the The Climate Change Act which aims to reduce UK 
carbon emissions so that in 2050 they are at least 60 per cent lower than 
the 1990 baseline.

Noted

84 Persimmon Homes has concern over the longevity of projections and 
evidence considered and - produced currently across a plan period greatly 
in excess of the more standard 15 year approach. - Persimmon 
understands that the Authority wishes to provide as great a possible 
period of - permanence in relation to development land provision and in 
particular greenbelt across the - Borough. Care should be taken however 
that the Authority are not leaving themselves open to - challenge as local 
and regional evidence bas change over time, leaving a pre-determined 
and - inflexible Local Plan I Locational Strategy outdated. -  - In part, the 
changing nature of demographics and economics can be seen in this early 
review of - the current Local Plan adopted only 3 years ago.

Noted

85 We consider it a little early to be commencing a new local plan so soon 
after the one currently supposed to run from 2012-2017. -  - There appear 
to be two main issues in this Options paper, firstly how many houses are 
required and we consider this should match the projected population in 
West Lancs which would mean a requirement for 300 per year and 3/4 
hectares of land for employment land. -  - We consider that the plan 
should run for the shorter period to 2037 as any later time would subject 
Green Belt land to greater threat and with changes in farming practices 
there could potentially be little need to release further green belt and 
reliance should be placed on Brown field sites for development.

Noted

87 The local plan should be for a shorter period.  There are many external 
factors that may affect future development and the longer plan period 
would limit WLBC’s ability to be flexible.

Noted

89 West Lancashire are considering two time periods for the Local Plan. The 
first is a plan period of 25-years (2012 to 2037) and the second is a 38-year 
plan period (2012 to 2050). - The NPPF recommends that a local Plan 
should cover a Plan period that lasts at least 15 years from the anticipated 
adoption date. West Lancashire identify within paragraph 1.2.3 that it is 
likely that the Local plan review would be adopted towards the end of 
2019 or start of 2020, a local plan for 15 years would equate to 2035. - The 
option for up to 2037 aligns with the forecast period for SHELMA and 
meets the requirement of the Framework to allow for a plan period of at 
least 15 years. This Option is supported by our Client as this time-line has 
been forecasted and subsequently the amount of development to be 
delivered is realistic and will likely meet the needs of West Lancashire’s 
existing and future residents. - The second Option would comprise a plan 
period up to 2050, and is not supported by our Client. This would delay the 
process further as West Lancashire would need to review whether the 
requirements to 2037 should continue to 2050 or if the needs should 
change. It is unlikely that the needs post 2037 can be accurately forecasted 

Noted

Page 516



ID Representor Comments Council Response

given the changing demographics in the Borough. This Option could 
therefore result in West Lancashire failing to meet the needs of future 
generation. - Our Client supports the option whereby the Plan period runs 
to 2037 and land is released from Green Belt to meet immediate needs 
and safeguarded land is also identified now to meet needs post 2037. This 
would be the only sound approach and would accord with Paragraph 83 of 
the Framework which states: - “Local planning authorities with Green Belts 
in their area should establish Green Belt boundaries in their Local Plans 
which set the framework for Green Belt and settlement policy. Once 
established, Green Belt boundaries should only be altered in exceptional 
circumstances, through the preparation or review of the Local Plan. At that 
time, authorities should consider the Green Belt boundaries having regard 
to their intended permanence in the longer term, so that they should be 
capable of enduring beyond the plan period.” - Paragraph 85 also requires 
the Council to satisfy themselves that Green Belt boundaries will not need 
to be altered at the end of the plan period. Safeguarding land for a 
significant period post 2037 would potentially mean that the Green Belt 
boundary could endure for a significant length of time without the need 
for further review. This would also ensure that West Lancashire would be 
able to meet their housing and economic growth targets as there would be 
further development options if strategic sites fail to deliver. - 

95 3.28 The SDOP suggests two potential plan periods: - • 2012 to 2037 - • 
2012 to 2050 - 3.29 Both options would meet the minimum period for a 
Local Plan (15 years) from the anticipated date of adoption in 2020 and 
would align with the forecast period adopted in the SHELMA work. WLBC’s 
willingness to consider the second longer-term option is welcomed and 
would provide a degree of certainty to both the development industry an 
the local community about the development strategy for the Borough. 
However, there are additional challenges associated with establishing 
robust development forecasts over such a period and, in the event that 
this approach is pursued, WLBC would need to satisfy itself that the Local 
Plan Review incorporates sufficient triggers to review the success of the 
development strategy at regular intervals. - 3.30 WLBC could consider a 
hybrid of the two options. This could involve: - • Establishing a Local Plan 
for the period 2020 to 2040, providing a 20-year plan period; and - • 
Identifying sufficient safeguarded land to accommodate additional needs 
up to 2050. - 3.31 This would balance the need to provide certainty with 
the inherent uncertainties of establishing a Local Plan which lasts longer 
than 20-years, given the lack of robust demographic and economic 
forecasts beyond this timeframe. In any event, the Local Plan Review must 
include similar triggers to those in the current Local Plan, which enable the 
delivery of ‘Plan B’ sites in the event that the delivery of new development 
falls short of expectations as it has in recent years (see below).

Noted

96 In our experience it is particularly difficult for a planning authority to 
accurately project future planning needs beyond a more typical Local Plan 
period, and on that basis we see no proper requirement for the Council to 
dedicate resource to taking forward a Plan period akin to Option II. There 
are urgent requirements which should be addressed at the earliest 
opportunity, and a longer Plan period way well discourage that early 
delivery to be promoted and delivered in practice.

Noted

97 In our experience it is particularly difficult for a planning authority to 
accurately project future planning needs beyond a more typical Local Plan 
period, and on that basis we see no proper requirement for the Council to 
dedicate resource to taking forward a Plan period akin to Option II. There 
are urgent requirements which should be addressed at the earliest 
opportunity.

Noted

98 The NPPF recommends that a Local Plan should cover a Plan period that 
lasts at least 15 years from the anticipated adoption date. In the interest of 

Noted

Page 517



ID Representor Comments Council Response

providing greater certainty to residents and developers, and in order for 
the Council to make more long term strategic decisions, McDermott 
generally welcomes the proposed Plan period extending to 30 years or 
until 2050 (Option II). However, support would be predicated on the right 
level of sites being identified and suitable flexibility being introduced 
through safeguarded/ buffers sites to ensure deliverability. Above and 
beyond this, it would be expected that the Council would introduce a 
mechanism whereby if delivery fell below a certain point additional sites 
could come forward for development (i.e. below a year housing land 
supply). -  - In terms of the evidence base provided it is considered that a 
full detailed Green Belt and Landscape Assessment is required to inform 
the decision making process. This is especially important in West 
Lancashire given the highly constrained nature of the settlements which 
are surrounded/ washed over by Green Belt designations.

99 It is our Clients’ view that if the Council is seeking to deliver an ambitious 
Plan, which we consider it should, then the Council should extend the Plan 
period to 2050, rather than 2037. This will help to realise the longer term 
potential for growth and development with Skelmersdale. However, this 
would be dependent on whether sufficient land is released i.e. greater 
than 400 dpa. If this is the case, a longer Plan period may be appropriate. 
However, there remains a number of unknowns associated with this, in 
particular, the lack of reliable projections for both housing and 
employment need over the plan period. It is important if the Council 
progresses with a longer Plan period, that any allocations are deliverable, 
suitable and available, and will help achieve the Plan requirements, both in 
the short and long term. Our Clients would recommend that the emerging 
Local Plan includes safeguarding land for the post 2037 period. It should 
include a mechanism within the Plan which triggers an early review or land 
release if the Council fails to deliver the level of housing required i.e. when 
housing delivery is significantly below the anticipated level (for circa 1-3 
years), and if this is due to a lack of land supply, a partial or full Plan review 
will be undertaken. We support the Council’s position that they would 
need to review the evidence base in light of the revised Plan period, 
because it will have been largely based on a shorter Plan period.

Noted

108 Option 2, sustainable options need long term thinking.  The decisions 
made need to be right for our grandchildren.

Noted

111 West Lancashire are considering two time periods for the Local Plan. The 
first is a plan period of - 25-years (2012 to 2037) and the second is a 38-
year plan period (2012 to 2050). The NPPF recommends that a local Plan 
should cover a Plan period that lasts at least 15 years - from the 
anticipated adoption date. West Lancashire identify within paragraph 1.2.3 
that it is likely - that the Local plan review would be adopted towards the 
end of 2019 or start of 2020, a local plan - for 15 years would equate to 
2035 The option for up to 2037 aligns with the forecast period for SHELMA 
and meets the requirement - of the Framework to allow for a plan period 
of at least 15 years. This Option is supported by our - Client as this time-
line has been forecasted and subsequently the amount of development to 
be - delivered is realistic and will likely meet the needs of West 
Lancashire’s existing and future - residents. The second Option would 
comprise a plan period up to 2050, and is not supported by our Client. - 
This would delay the review process further as West Lancashire would 
need to review whether - the requirements to 2037 should continue to 
2050 or if the needs should change. It is unlikely - that the needs post 2037 
can be accurately forecasted given the changing demographics in the - 
Borough. This Option could therefore result in West Lancashire failing to 
meet the needs of future - generation.  Our Client supports the option 
whereby the Plan period runs to 2037 and land is released from - Green 
Belt to meet immediate needs and safeguarded land is also identified now 
to meet needs - post 2037. This would be the only sound approach and 
would accord with Paragraph 83 of the - Framework which states: - “Local 

Noted

Page 518



ID Representor Comments Council Response

planning authorities with Green Belts in their area should establish - Green 
Belt boundaries in their Local Plans which set the framework for Green - 
Belt and settlement policy. Once established, Green Belt boundaries 
should - only be altered in exceptional circumstances, through the 
preparation or - review of the Local Plan. At that time, authorities should 
consider the Green - Belt boundaries having regard to their intended 
permanence in the longer - term, so that they should be capable of 
enduring beyond the plan period.” Paragraph 85 also requires the Council 
to satisfy themselves that Green Belt boundaries will not - need to be 
altered at the end of the plan period. Safeguarding land for a significant 
period post - 2037 would potentially mean that the Green Belt boundary 
could endure for a significant length - of time without the need for further 
review. This would also ensure that West Lancashire would - be able to 
meet their housing and economic growth targets as there would be further 
development - options if strategic sites fail to deliver. 

Page 519



Question 11: Are the proposed spatial areas appropriate? If not, how 
should the Borough be divided up to help identify where development 
should go?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Development should be spread all over west Lancashire  - not everyone 
wants to live in Skelmersdale..people who were  - brought up in parbold 
want to live in that area.and that goes  - for Croston Ormskirk wrightington 
and so on.

The Local Plan will seek to ensure each area 
of the Borough is able to accommodate some 
new development to meet local demand / 
need, but this can be quite challenging in 
some locations due to the nature of 
constraints to development in those areas.  
As such, it can be hard to find suitable sites in 
places like the Eastern Parishes.

2 Self building in all areas should be considered as people want to live - were 
there families are

Noted - self build will always be an option 
where residential development is permitted, 
but the Council acknowledges that it can be 
challenging for a self-builder to buy an 
appropriate site at an affordable value and 
will explore ways in which the Council can 
help identify suitable sites.

9 Skelmersdale is an entity all to itself. A new build "town" with no 
infrastructure, services or culture. It is deeply inappropriate that historic 
UpHolland and other surrounding areas are lumped in with this planning, 
economic and social disaster zone. Everything east of Skelmersdale should 
come under the "Eastern Parishes" area. 

Noted.  The spatial areas merely reflect 
where areas have connections in terms of 
residents travelling to access services.  The 
individual identity of each settlement within 
those areas is still recognised and maintained.

14 I agree Noted

18 No Comment.

20 Too complex an issue for us to address in detail. However Ormskirk is a well 
established market and university town which does not make it a realistic 
fit with Aughton which is a semi rural residential village with its own history 
and characteristics.  .

Noted.  The spatial areas merely reflect 
where areas have connections in terms of 
residents travelling to access services.  The 
individual identity of each settlement within 
those areas is still recognised and maintained.

21 No. Use brown field sites only. See comments above

23 Yes Noted

24 The subdivisions seem to make sense by the way of communities with 
different needs and attitudes.

Noted

26 This appears to be appropriate Noted

28 The spatial areas as depicted do not reflect the current and historical 
position of Up Holland in relation to Skelmerdale. -  The needs and 
character of Up Holland are very different to those of Sklemersdale and 
have more in common with the South Eastern Parishes and we cannot 
understand why the village of Up Holland is joined to Skelmersdale. - There 
is no shortage of housing in Up Holland village and in recent years Up 
Holland has been over-developed with many new housing estates at the 
expense of the environment.

Noted.  The spatial areas merely reflect 
where areas have connections in terms of 
residents travelling to access services.  The 
individual identity of each settlement within 
those areas is still recognised and maintained.

30 Newburgh and Parbold should be included within the proposed 
Skelmersdale and South Eastern Parishes area. - I live in the ecclesiastical 
Parish of Dalton

Noted

31 Proposed spatial areas are appropriate. Noted

32 I believe so. Noted
Page 520



ID Representor Comments Council Response

35 The identified spatial area of Burscough and the Central Parishes is 
considered to be appropriate. At this stage, we have no further comments 
on this.

Noted

39  - Response A– Yes - Noted

40 We generally agree with the spatial areas, it is common sense for the higher 
levels of growth to be directed towards the Key Service Centres that are 
generally more accessible and therefore sustainable. However, the 
approach outlined should not preclude sites from coming forward in other 
areas if it is demonstrated that they suitable development sites – for 
example, this could include PDL sites within the Green Belt that are not 
directly connected to a settlement, but nonetheless given their location to 
other settlements would be appropriate.

Noted

42 We have no strong views on this matter, which is peripheral to our core 
charitable remit.

46 The proposed sub-division of the Borough is an improvement on the 
previous arrangements as it reflects a more realistic picture of how the 
settlements interact with each other.

48 We don't have enough information to make an informed judgement. 
However, using the outlined plan seems reasonable given that existing 
brownfield sites are used with the parameter that there is existing 
transport, commercial and social services to support the development.

Noted

50 The Topic Paper presents newly defined spatial areas for the Borough, 
which are considered to - better reflect how the different areas of the 
Borough function. The majority of the population of the - Borough is 
concentrated in three of the six Spatial Areas: Skelmersdale and the South-
Eastern - Parishes; Ormskirk with Aughton; and Burscough and the Central 
Parishes. - This variable presents 4 scenarios for the distribution of 
employment and housing land within - these newly defined spatial areas: - 

distribution; - 
3: a focus on rural communities; and - 
Skelmersdale in particular. -  - For Highways England, the crucial aspect of 
any scenario is the potential impact on the - safety and operation on the 
SRN. Highways England will look to encourage patterns of - growth that 
minimise the need to travel and promote the use of sustainable modes. 
This - does not, however, mean that patterns of growth should be 
promoted solely on the basis of - minimising travel on the SRN, nor should 
this preclude the encouragement of development - that seeks to capitalise 
on the connectivity of the SRN, provided that it can be - demonstrated 
through evidence that these sites can be safely and sustainably - 
accommodated by the SRN (any resulting requirement for improvements / 
capacity - enhancements necessary improvement works being identified for 
inclusion within the authority’s - Infrastructure Development Plan). - It 
stands to reason that locating a greater proportion of employment land 
and dwellings in close - proximity to the SRN and popular commuter 
destinations (e.g. Liverpool, St Helens, or Wigan) - could increase vehicular 
demand for the SRN, as opposed to locating development sites in the - rural 
areas, which are a considerable distance from the SRN. - However, the 
precise impacts of proposed site allocations will be dependent on a number 
of other - factors, such as use class, proportion of affordable housing, policy 
support and masterplanning for - sustainable and active travel, sustainable 
interventions (for example, a new rail station at - Skelmersdale) and the 
proximity of employment and facilities. - It is also noted that under the 
postulated scenarios whereby West Lancashire looks to - accommodate an 
under-provision of large-scale logistics employment usage from 
neighbouring - authorities, these are likely to require locating in close 
proximity to the SRN and have a potentially - significant impact. -  - Key 
Points - 
Options Topic Paper present - significantly different variables in terms of 

Noted

Page 521



ID Representor Comments Council Response

the amount of development intended, the location - for development, and 
even the length of the plan period. In this context, it is difficult to - draw 
conclusions on the expected impacts of each variable or on the 
combination of - variables. - 
significantly higher potential for impacts on the - SRN, and were the option 
to accommodate the unmet requirements of the LCR to - materialise, then 
these impacts could be significantly higher. - 
Council toward one option or the other, Highways England looks to - work 
proactively in partnership with West Lancashire Borough Council towards 
assessing - the implications for the SRN of all likely scenarios as these are 
determined. - The Location of New Development - This chapter presents 
four options for the precise location of development within the newly 
defined - Spatial Areas. These options can be summarised as: - 
infill developments and building higher within the existing settlements; - 
Locate new development adjacent to existing settlements; - 
new settlements; and - 
of flooding. -  - It is noted within the Topic Paper that these options are not 
necessarily mutually exclusive. - As identified in the commentary presented 
in the Options Paper, locating new development - adjacent to existing 
settlements is likely to be the most cost effective approach to creating - 
sustainable developments, by maximising the use of existing sustainable 
and active travel - infrastructure without the loss of green and open space 
associated with Option 1. - However, there are merits to each option, 
especially were the Council to adopt a longer plan - period and select a 
variable for a higher level of development. In this instance, it may be more - 
appropriate to consider all available options, as the potential for growth 
may exceed the available - capacity for infill or require interventions that 
are not cost-effective. - Highways England encourages site allocations to be 
located where there are realistic - options for sustainable travel and to 
minimise private car usage. Through the development of - the Local Plan 
and the accompanying transport evidence, the potential for usage of these 
modes - is expected to become better understood. - At this stage, while it is 
less likely that development in rural areas will be able to achieve modal - 
splits comparable with urban areas, these options should not be 
immediately discounted or - discouraged until feasibility work on potential 
locations has been undertaken. -  - Key Points: - 
supports any potential site allocations that can reasonably promote - 
sustainable travel patterns. This is more likely to be those that are located 
near to existing - urban areas with good sustainable and active travel 
connectivity. - 
studies should be undertaken to - assess the likelihood of sustainable travel 
usage and the potential for cost-effective - interventions. - Site Allocations - 
The Topic Paper includes a further call for sites, with details of 
requirements for supporting - information. At this stage of the Local Plan 
process there are no proposed sites to comment upon. - Providing 
Infrastructure and Services - This section of the Topic Paper offers high-
level commentary on the potential impacts of the - distribution of 
development on existing infrastructure, and potential future requirements 
as a - consequence. - There is no discussion of the SRN within the Options 
Paper. However, it should be noted that - the M58 could be considered to 
be under-capacity, although not without localised - congestion and 
operational issues at a number of junctions, particularly at each terminus.

54 Issue 3 seeks opinion on the distribution of new development, with 
Scenario 3 focusing on rural communities and seeking to allocate more new 
development to the rural areas. - We strongly support the ambitions of 
scenario 3 in enabling rural areas and the smaller villages, in particular 
Wrightington, to become more sustainable and reduce the burden of new 
development on the Borough’s towns.

Noted

56 The spatial distribution of development should assist in the creation of 
sustainable patterns of development in accordance with national guidance 

Noted

Page 522



ID Representor Comments Council Response

and this should be one of the key determinants of the locations and sites 
identified for development. - In order to ensure a robust and flexible Local 
Plan and ensure that the Council is able to demonstrate a deliverable 5 year 
supply of housing land throughout the life of the plan, it is important that 
the spatial distribution of development allows all sites identified for 
development to conform with the deliverability criteria set out in footnote 
11 of the Framework [§47]. - With regard to the four scenarios for 
distributing new development in the new Local Plan set out in the SDO 
Paper. Scenario 1 would see new development distributed according to the 
current distribution of existing housing and employment land. Scenario 2 
would see most development directed towards the 3 ‘key service centres’ 
(and less to rural areas) with Scenario 3 the opposite (more development to 
rural areas). Scenario 4 is a variation on Scenario 2 which would see the 
development in the key service centres more weighted towards 
Skelmersdale. - Taylor Wimpey does not have a strong preference at this 
stage for any of the 4 scenarios set out but notes that the Council must 
ensure that the long term sustainable growth of all settlements in the 
Borough is supported through the Local Plan. - The SDO Paper states that 
under Scenario 2, up to 90% of new development would be distributed to 
the three key service centres. Distributing this much development to the 
key service centres could potentially threaten the long term growth of the 
Borough’s other sustainable settlements, particularly the ‘Key Sustainable 
Villages’ and ‘Rural Sustainable Villages’ identified in the adopted Local 
Plan. Therefore distributing 90% of development to the Key Service Centres 
is considered too high particularly in the context that the adopted Local 
Plan distributes 76% of development to the Key Service Centres. - The SDO 
Paper states that Scenario 3 is ‘the opposite’ of Scenario 2 [§3.4.9] and 
would be: - “…appropriate if it was considered that rural areas need to be 
grown in order to make them more sustainable and to reduce the burden 
of new development in the Borough’s towns”. - Taylor Wimpey welcomes 
that the Council is considering distributing more development to rural 
areas which is the most sustainable option. In this context, Taylor Wimpey 
does not wish to make detailed comments on but generally supports the 
definition of the spatial areas set out in the Spatial Portrait Paper [SP 
Paper]. The adopted Local Plan distributes development in rural areas by 
spatial area (i.e. Northen Parishes, Eastern Parishes and Western Parishes). 
In the new Local Plan, rather than broadly distributing development 
outside of the key service centres this way, the Council should consider 
specifying the level of development in identified sustainable rural 
settlements (e.g. Appley Bridge) where sustainable growth is necessary. - In 
summary, whilst the focus of new development in the new Local Plan may 
be the key service centres, the Council must ensure that the sustainable 
growth of other settlements in the Borough is adequately supported by 
distributing an appropriate level of development to the more rural areas.

57 The detail of the sub-division of the borough is almost entirely irrelevant.  
What matters is that each community should be allowed to develop in an 
appropriate manner.

Noted

64 Our Clients’ support the Council’s approach in terms of the distribution of 
the spatial areas. However, it is our Clients’ view that the location for Green 
Belt release should be identified within these spatial areas.

Noted

67 see attached submissions Noted

69 Possibly, but this issue is a supporting factor to the crucial question 12 
below.  The principle for any significant development should be that it 
takes place primarily within existing brownfield sites, and only where the 
resources - transport infrastructure, public 
transport/health/social/educational services and facilities, utility supplies 
and infrastructure,commercial facilities to meet daily needs - exist.

Noted, although, in relation to brownfield 
land, all those developable brownfield sites in 
West Lancashire have been identified 
through the Council's Brownfield Land 
Register, and the supply of development they 
can provide will be accounted for in the Local 
Plan.  However, this will not be sufficient to 
meet the development needs of West Page 523



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Lancashire and as such, some greenfield land 
will be required as well.

70 Whilst the Commissioners do not have any specific comments about the 
spatial areas - identified, there should be an acknowledgement regarding 
the synergy and connections - between these areas. For instance, the 
Western Parishes clearly have linkages with Ormskirk - and Aughton and 
can help support the growth of these settlements. They also have linkages - 
to settlements in the neighbouring authority of Sefton (relevant to the Duty 
to Cooperate) and - the possibility to accommodate some of Sefton’s future 
housing needs in line with the longer - plan period suggested through this 
consultation document (which goes beyond the current - plan period of the 
adopted Sefton Local Plan).

Noted

72 I think that Appley Bridge should be taken out of the eastern parishes as it 
naturally conjoins with Wigan rather than West Lancashire

Noted, although Appley Bridge is part of the 
Parish of Wrightington.

73 The University agrees that the broad Spatial Areas identified by the Council 
appear - appropriate. However, it will be important to recognise that these 
areas do not operate - independently and a number of themes will require 
consideration at the Borough-wide - level.

Noted

75 Whilst we agree that a ‘blend’ of the four scenarios would be the most 
sustainable, we welcome Scenario 4 and a focus on growing Skelmersdale. 
This would support  Lancashire County Council’s ambitions to provide a 
new rail station and public realm improvements to Skelmersdale town 
centre.

Noted

77 The larger development should be where infrastructure is more prevalent - 
e.g. Skelmersdale.

Noted

78 Small mixed development in villages - affordable for locals only. Larger 
where there is good infrastructure as in Skelmersdale. 

Noted

81 Broadly support the Spatial Areas and consider appropriate in terms of 
boundaries. -  - We reserve the right to comment further on the importance 
in terms of these Spatial Areas hierarchy in terms of housing and 
employment distribution.

Noted

82 Development should be on existing brownfield sites and where there is an 
existing infrastructure and facilities to support it i.e. transport, commercial 
land, and services (schools, social services, healthcare).

Noted, however, the remaining available 
brownfield land will not be sufficient to meet 
the development needs of West Lancashire 
and, as such, some greenfield land will be 
required.

87 Burscough Parish Council supports a focus on developing Skelmersdale.  If 
Skelmersdale is going to improve it needs lots of help, and further housing 
will support an improved town centre offer:  these should go hand in hand. 
Ormskirk is now out of balance and is dominated by the college and its 
town centre is failing.  More housing, particularly on the south side of 
Ormskirk would boost the town centre and create a more balanced 
community.  New residents are more likely to work in Merseyside and 
locating new homes in the south of the borough or close to the motorway 
network makes most sense because it has the least impact on the road 
network.  Burscough is set to grow massively over the next decade.  Faster 
growth may de-stablise what is currently a fairly healthy community.

Noted

89 Section 3.4 of the Options Paper provides 4 differing scenarios for spatial 
distribution across West Lancashire. - 

95 The Topic Paper proposes a new definition of Spatial Areas to inform any LP 
review. The new definition reaffirms that Ormskirk with Aughton continues 
to be identified together. BDW supports this approach. Most of the built 
development in the Aughton parish forms part of a continuous urban 
settlement with Ormskirk and we would agree with WLBC’s suggestion that 
Aughton now effectively performs as a ‘suburb’ of Ormskirk.

Noted

Page 524



ID Representor Comments Council Response

96 AIUH is generally supportive of the proposed Spatial Areas. It will however 
be important to ensure that if it is recognised that housing delivery in 
Skelmersdale itself is challenging, then allocations should be made in other 
parts of the Spatial Area which provide stronger prospects of substantive 
contribution to the unmet needs for affordable housing, market housing 
and accommodation for older people. Sites in and adjacent to the 
Upholland development limit are the obvious next consideration, and this 
site is particularly well‐placed to provide a substantial contribution to 
housing supply and also meet other planning objectives.

Noted

97 St Modwen makes no comment on this matter.

98 In terms of the distribution of development requirements across the 
Borough, McDermott Homes broadly supports scenario 2 which seeks to 
focus new development in and around the Key Service Centres of 
Skelmersdale, Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough so, for housing, the 
areas encompassing these towns take a larger proportion of new housing 
development (perhaps as much as 90% in total) while the rural areas take 
less. - This is considered to represent the most sustainable approach to 
delivering housing in West Lancashire. As detailed in the Spatial Portrait 
Paper (February 2017) Ormskirk with Aughton benefits from good transport 
links to surrounding areas, with a fifteen minute frequency electric rail 
service to Liverpool and a less frequent diesel service to Preston. A number 
of bus routes converge at Ormskirk Bus station, connecting to Liverpool, 
Southport, Preston and Wigan. The M58 Motorway can be accessed 3km 
south east of the settlement, and the A59 provides good north-south road 
links, whilst the A570 provides north west–south east links. - Aughton is 
one of the most affluent areas of the Borough with good market demand 
but does have issues over affordability. The settlement provides a number 
of services and facilities for its residents. Overall, it is considered that 
designating new housing allocation(s) around Aughton would contribute to 
achieving the Council’s overall vision for the Borough and would contribute 
to addressing current issues of affordability/ downsizing challenges.

Noted

99 Our Clients’ support the Council’s approach in terms of the distribution of 
the spatial areas. However, it is our Clients’ view that the location for Green 
Belt release should be identified within these spatial areas.

Noted

111 Section 3.4 of the Options Paper provides 4 differing scenarios for spatial 
distribution across West - Lancashire. Scenario 1 seeks to spread new 
development around West Lancashire in accordance with the - current 
distribution of existing households and employment land. This option 
effectively continues - the current situation in terms of the proportionate 
size of settlements in West Lancashire and the - availability of local 
employment opportunities.  Our Client does not support this spatial 
distribution option as it is deemed to be unsustainable. - Paragraphs 3.4.5 
and 3.4.6 of the Strategic Options Paper identifies some of the concerns - 
associated with this option by stating: “However, when the distribution of 
employment land, in particular, is - considered, the current spread of 
employment opportunities from offices, - industrial units and warehousing 
is extremely skewed towards Skelmersdale - and the South-Eastern 
Parishes, with the Borough’s second largest settlement - (Ormskirk with 
Aughton) making a negligible contribution (although there are - of course 
many other types of employment opportunity in Ormskirk). - Likewise, in 
relation to housing distribution, simply maintaining the same - 
proportionate distribution going forward does not necessarily reflect the - 
most sustainable approach as it could mean that some settlements have 
to - take more development than their existing infrastructure, services and - 
environment can practically cope with and/or that other settlements take 
less - development than they could otherwise cope with.”  We agree with 
the concerns outlined by West Lancashire; it is vital that future housing 
and - employment development is provided in locations which are 

Noted

Page 525



ID Representor Comments Council Response

sustainable. The distribution of too - much housing to Skelmersdale and the 
south-eastern parishes may not be viable and may result - in serious under-
delivery of housing across the plan period  Scenario 2 seeks to focus new 
development in and around the Key Service Centres of - Skelmersdale, 
Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough. Paragraph 3.4.7 indicates this could 
be - as much as 90% of the overall housing distribution to be located within 
these settlements. A - further difference between scenario 1 and 2 is that 
Ormskirk with Aughton would take a much - larger share of new 
employment opportunities. This Scenario is supported by our clients, as 
locating housing within existing key service centres - is the most sustainable 
option. The sustainability credentials of this proposed Scenario are - 
recognised within paragraph 3.2.8 of the Strategic Options Paper which 
states: - “This scenario essentially adjusts the historic pattern of 
development in - Scenario 1 to make it more sustainable by locating more 
new development - around the Key Service Centres (which have more key 
infrastructure) in a - broadly proportionate way, though not entirely 
removing the historic patterns. - This is especially the case for employment 
land where Skelmersdale and - Burscough still have a larger share than 
their populations might ordinarily - justify.” Our Client supports the delivery 
of development within accessible locations as this will - significantly 
improve the sustainability of proposed developments, increase the viability 
of existing - services and seek to provide improvements in locations where 
the benefit will be experienced by - the most people.  Scenario 3 is the 
opposite to scenario 2 and seeks to allocate more land within the rural 
areas. - It is identified within paragraph 3.4.10 that this scenario could be 
partially met by creating a new - village, whilst the focus would generally be 
on the rural areas in the Northern Parishes.  Provision of housing on a large 
scale within the Northern Parishes would require vast - infrastructure 
improvements which could render development unviable. However our 
client has - identified a need for appropriately scaled provision of specialist 
elderly accommodation within - these areas. Towns such as Skelmersdale, 
Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough are all well connected by - both 
road and rail to the wider region which is why existing businesses have 
located here. - Locating significant amount of housing development in 
locations away from these centres without - significant transport 
improvements would result in the perpetuation of unsustainable - 
transportation methods.  If infrastructure improvements are required these 
should also be located where the most benefit can be realised. Our Client 
does not support this option; this would not meet the immediate needs of 
the Borough as delivery of a Strategic Village would require significant 
levels of new development which takes time. Hourigan Connolly Completed 
a Study in Respect of the Delivery of Urban Extensions for - Gladman 
Development Limited. This study compared Sustainable Urban Extensions 
of sites of - 500 dwellings upwards from all over the country. The Study 
identified the following timescales in - terms of delivering development: - 
Achieving an allocation takes on average 8 to 10 years - 
planning permission takes an average 34 months from - submission to 
approval. - 
from - resolution to grant to issuing of the decision notice. - 
reserved matters planning permission takes an average of 6 to - 9 months 
from submission to issuing of the decision notice. The report surveyed 
several House Builders and undertook significant discussions with 
developers, which provided an average annual delivery rate of 30-35 
dwellings per annum per single housebuilder.  This information clearly 
indicates that from the point of achieving an allocation it is reasonable to - 
assume it would take a developer approximately 5.5years to achieve a start 
on site. In addition to the lack of immediate delivery, there would be a 
significant amount of additional - costs associated with development where 
there is a lack of existing key infrastructure. This could - render 
development in the rural areas unviable Scenario 4 is a variation of scenario 
2 with the exception that more development is required from Skelmersdale 
than the other Key Service centres. This is not supported by our Client, as 
skewing development towards Skelmersdale is not viable. - The adopted Page 526



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule allocates a zero rate 
to - Skelmersdale to render development in this location deliverable. 
Delivering a greater amount of - development in Skelmersdale will not 
provide the affordable housing and infrastructure the - Borough needs for 
growth.  Table 5.27 of the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 2016 identifies 
that only 20% of development - allocated to Skelmersdale has been 
delivered since 2012. This is significantly below the 43.2% - target allocated 
to the settlement within the adopted Local Plan. This therefore 
demonstrates that - the adoption of Scenario 4 would not be positively 
prepared and the sites would risk being deemed - undeliverable when 
assessed against the definition provided in Footnote 12 of the Framework. 

Page 527



Question 12: Which scenario for the distribution of housing and 
employment land requirements around the Borough is most 
appropriate? Why? Would you prefer a completely different option or 
distribute development differently in anyway?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Spread the development over west Lancashire  - 98 percent green belt 
there is massive potential  - 

Noted

2 All development across West Lancashire small and large not everyone  - 
wants to live in Skelmersdale 

Noted

9 As much as I would like to plump for option 4, the fact is that Skelmersdale 
is beyond reprieve- people don't want to live there given its well earned 
and dire reputation- so mass building of houses would be futile. The fairest 
option would seem to be to spread new development around in proportion 
to the size of existing towns and villages, although again, I cant stress 
enough that greenbelt should not be touched. 

Noted

14 scenario 2, because you are providing what is wanted not what you think 
people need, that is to live in burscough, skem, and Ormskirk.

Noted

18 McCarthy & Stone recognises the need to plan for housing delivery 
quantitatively but is more concerned as with the qualitative aspect of 
housing delivery i.e. ensuring that the right mix of housing is delivered to 
meet the diverse needs of all residents, particularly the elderly.     

Noted

20 Out of the 4 options....Scenario 4 is the preferred option. However an 
alternative proposal is the building of affordable houses in Ormskirk Town 
Centre which would aid in its rejuvenation.

Noted

21 Yes. We do not need housing and employment land. We need to produce 
more food not less. The population is increasing.

The evidence suggests that new 
development is required both nationally and 
in West Lancashire, not least because the 
population is still increasing, but also 
because of other demographic changes in 
household sizes and numbers.  However, the 
Council recongises that food production is 
also important, and so the right balance 
must be struck to ensure the majority of 
farmland is still available to grow crops.

23 Scenario 1. An even spread of development will have the least impact on 
pre-existing settlments while allowing each area to expand in a natural 
manner.

Noted

24 Any new development should take place OUTSIDE green belt sites.  Any 
development should be served by existing services such as transport,  
health services, education etc ect.  Scenario 4 seems to be the best option

Concerns noted.  However, the supply of 
new development that can be provided 
outside the Green Belt will not be sufficient 
to meet the development needs of West 
Lancashire.  As such, it is likely that some 
land will need to be released from the Green 
Belt for development.

The Council agrees that provision of 
infrastructure alongside new dveelopment is 
important and the Local Plan seeks to 
address this.

26 No comment 

28 In Scenario 2 and 4 - do you mean Skelmersdale or Skelmersdale with Up 
Holland?  -  - Scenario 1 is the most appropriate option although 
considering the recent housing developments in UpHolland we consider 
minimal new development and regeneration of existing stock is the only 

Noted

Page 528



ID Representor Comments Council Response

suitable option for Up Holland.

30 Scenario2.  I would prefer Scenario 4 but the poor state of the town centre 
combined with the poor image the council paints of the town in documents 
such as this detracts from the attractiveness of  the town to would be 
house purchasers.  The use of the golf course for landfill "improvements" 
gives visitors the impression that no one cares.

Noted

31 Scenario 2 or 4 - Housing development should be concentrated around 
Skelmersdale and Ormskirk with Employment development being 
concentrated in Skelmersdale and the Western Parishes. - I am strongly 
against option 3 as this puts an unnaceptable burden on the Northern 
Parishes which are known to suffer from traffic gongestion and 
infrastructure difficulties.

Noted

32 Scenario 4 appears to be the best option, giving housing development and  
providing employment will help lower levels of deprivation in Skelmersdale.

Noted

35 The Council’s own assessment of Scenario 1, that this does not necessarily 
reflect the most sustainable approach is supported. Instead, the 
distribution should reflect where recent development and demand for 
development is taking place and the locations where growth could be 
supported, and to what extent. - Scenario 2, which seeks to focus new 
development in and around the Key Service Centres of Skelmersdale, 
Ormskirk and Burscough is supported. This reflects the role of these 
settlements within the settlement hierarchy of the Borough, as shown by 
their identification as Key Service Centres. Furthermore, settlements such 
as these often have a wide range of shops and services and are well 
connected by a range of public transport links, meaning they are 
sustainable settlements, capable of accommodating increased 
development. - Scenario 3, to allocate more development to the rural areas 
is not considered appropriate. This approach would not reflect the 
accessibility of settlements where development is to be focused and would 
not utilise existing infrastructure, likely resulting in the need to provide 
increased infrastructure to serve new developments at an increased cost 
and a greater impact on the environment. - Therefore, it is considered that 
new development within the Borough should be focused towards areas 
where there is existing infrastructure to support such growth, and 
consideration should be given to what type of development can be 
accommodated within different areas. Additionally, distribution of 
development should be considered depending on where there is the ability 
to upgrade infrastructure to support such levels of development. - It is 
necessary to note that it may not be appropriate to specify the distribution 
of development at the start of the Plan period without some flexibility to 
ensure that development comes forward to meet the requirements of the 
Borough and is not unnecessarily hindered, responding to changes in 
circumstances and needs during the Plan period.

Noted

39 Response A – Scenario 1 -  - Scenario 1 – Distributes development in 
accordance with current development and population patterns. - 

Noted

40 We strongly support Scenario 2 which focusses development in and around 
the Key Service Centres of Skelmersdale, Ormskirk and Burscough. Caution, 
however, will need to be paid to the ultimate level of growth identified for 
Skelmersdale as the market may struggle to deliver very significant levels in 
this area. In the first instance a full understanding of site availability needs 
to be established to determine the exact nature of distribution.

Noted

42 It is not possible, at this scale, to assess specifically how each scenario 
might impact on  the functionality of the district's and counties' (intentional 
plural) ecological network. To minimise such risks, we would expect to see 
strong protection provided in Development Management Policies for 
ecological networks, including their key components such as the whole 

Noted

Page 529



ID Representor Comments Council Response

hierarchy of designated wildlife sites, and habitats & species of principal 
importance.  In designing development schemes, regard must be had to 
ensuring that the biodiversity of the development sites is protected, and 
wherever possible enhanced, with links and preferably enhancements to 
the identified surrounding ecological network. -  - We would also wish to 
see similar protection for established green infrastructure and the 
enhancement of the ecosystem services that it provides.

46 Definitely Scenario 4. Focus development on Skelmersdale.  because the 
needs of Skelmersdale in terms of environmental improvements, housing 
stock improvements and the fact that there is hardly any provision in terms 
of retail and service provision relative to the size of population of the town. 
The close proximity of Skelmersdale to the M58 corridor ideally positions it 
as a springboard for improvement with existing infrastructure far better 
than any other part of the borough in terms of roads, drainage and mains 
services ready to build and extend upon. In order to attract good quality 
jobs and a good range of housing, capitalising on the Liverpool City Region 
and Greater Manchester Region means that Skelmersdale can truly lift itself 
into a whole different level of ambitious regeneration which will not only 
significantly improve the lives of the residents of Skelmersdale but will also 
greatly benefit the borough of West Lancs as whole.The patchy nature of 
potential employment opportunities throughout the borough means that 
we need to maximise the possibility of where we can actually genuinely 
attract quality employment in sufficient concentrations to bring about 
regeneration.

47 I think the main problem with all scenarios is that the planning department 
is mainly allowing housing developments without sufficient ameneties.

The Local Plan will seek to ensure sufficient 
amenities and services are provided to 
support new development, but such 
provision is not always in the control of the 
Council.

48 Scenario 4 as the area already has the infrastructure to hand and the 
availability of brownfield sites.

Noted

54 Issue 4 seeks views on the broad location of new development, of which 
option 2 proposes locating new development adjacent to existing 
settlements. The Options Paper acknowledges that this option will 
inevitably involve the loss of Green Belt due to the current tight boundaries 
drawn around existing settlements. Whilst this is the case, locating new 
development directly adjacent to existing services and employment will 
reduce the need to travel and emissions thereto, which is considered to be 
the optimum sustaiable sustainable growth strategy. - We strongly support 
option 2 and consider that our client’s property and adjacent land at Derby 
House, Wrightington is a suitable allocation site for development under this 
option, involving the release of the property and the adjacent 6 hectares of 
agricultural greenfield land from the Green Belt. - Derby House is an 
existing successful retail and leisure destination, providing important 
services and employment for the locality and wider Borough. Its future 
sustainability and success must therefore be protected by its formal 
recognition and allocation within the emergin Local Plan. - Land adjacent to 
Derby House is a greenfield site with no significant constraints to 
development and sustainably located with good access to bus routes and 
the nearby M6. The site is available for development and thus capable of 
delivering new development, assisting the Council in being able to 
demonstrate a flexible supply of deliverable sites for new development. - 
Derby House and land at Derby House, Wrightington has also been 
submitted to the Strategic Housing and Employment Land Availability 
Assessment (SHELAA) 2017 consultation to further enable its consideration 
through the Local Plan process.

Noted.  Site suggestion will be considered as 
part of the SHELAA and Local Plan 
preparation.

57 Either Scenario 1 or 2 would promote sustainable development more 
effectively than 3 or 4.

Noted

58 The HBF does not have any particular preference regarding the options for NotedPage 530



ID Representor Comments Council Response

the spatial distribution of housing and employment land. It is, however, 
imperative that - whichever option is chosen that it is demonstrated to be 
deliverable and viable over the plan period. This assessment should 
conform to footnote 11 of the NPPF, paragraph 47.

59 “• Scenario 1 seeks to spread new development around West - Lancashire 
according to the proportionate size of existing - settlements. As pointed out 
above, simply maintaining the - same proportionate distribution could 
mean that some - settlements have to take more development than their 
existing - infrastructure, services and environment can practically cope - 
with and / or that other settlements take less development than - they 
could otherwise cope with. For the higher development - requirements 
(e.g. Options D and E) and the longer plan period - (Option II), it is probable 
that just about all spare existing - infrastructure capacity would be ‘used 
up’ in all settlements. - However, even for the lower development 
requirements it is - highly likely that this scenario would require the 
significant - improvements to infrastructure such as waste water 
treatment - serving Ormskirk and Burscough that are identified in the 
2012 - IDP and the highways implications for the same towns would -  - • 
Scenario 2 seeks to focus new development in and around the - Key Service 
Centres of Skelmersdale, Ormskirk and Burscough. - This scenario locates 
more new development around the - Key Service Centres which have more 
key infrastructure. As - with Scenario 1, there would be a requirement for 
significant - improvements to waste water treatment for Ormskirk and - 
Burscough and careful consideration of highways impacts of new - 
development in Ormskirk and Burscough. -  - • Scenario 3 seeks to allocate 
less development to the Key Service - Centres and more to the rural areas 
such as the Northern - Parishes, where there is currently less key 
infrastructure. As - such, this scenario would necessitate significant 
investment - in infrastructure in the rural areas. As highlighted above, this - 
could involve the significant expansion of a small village or even - the 
creation of a new settlement. As such, there will be a need - to introduce 
new infrastructure in locations where it does not - currently exist. In some 
cases, enhancing existing provision (e.g. - broadband) is easier than 
creating it ‘from scratch’; in other - cases (perhaps road capacity), new 
provision may be easier, - although there is no hard and fast rule. -  - • 
Scenario 4 focuses development on Skelmersdale, and could - reflect a 
need, or policy objective to grow Skelmersdale - significantly more than the 
other Key Service Centres. This - may tie in with current infrastructure 
capacity that exists in - Skelmersdale (for example, highways capacity), and 
mean that - infrastructure constraints in other Key Service Centres (for - 
example waste water treatment capacity) are not exacerbated - to any 
great extent. High levels of development in Skelmersdale - could aid the 
business case for major infrastructure - improvements such as a rail station 
at Skelmersdale.” -  - The problem with all scenarios 1 to 4 is that the circles 
on small-scale maps are misleadingly small for what is being mooted. For 
example, the inclusion of Bickerstaffe Ward with Skelmersdale and 
Upholland is not illustrated by any of the scenarios but the outer circles 
showing new development areas seem to cover only areas that have 
already been developed. We conclude that the real proposal is to extend 
Skelmersdale significantly in a westerly direction but avoiding Lathom, 
Newburgh,  Parbold and Dalton Parishes. This is being obscured. Outward 
development  inevitably entails urban sprawl and tends towards the 
merger of towns. At present the distance separating the towns of Ormskirk 
and Skelmersdale is about the minimum to retain real separation and the 
Green Belt in between the towns should be guarded resolutely.  -   - The 
dangers presented by Green Belt release apply to most of the Borough but 
the area to the west of Ormskirk (up to the Scarisbrick boundary) seems to 
carry the least risk of merging towns; development there would at least be 
in an area of greatest daily commuting (Ormskirk to Southport and 
Southport to Ormskirk) which is still within relatively easy reach of Ormskirk 
railway station, served by a circular bus route and the Southport to Wigan 
services. One caveat is that we do not favour basing development plans on 

Comments Noted

Page 531



ID Representor Comments Council Response

huge estates, which are difficult to absorb into local communities. Instead, 
much development could be absorbed in small extensions to the many 
villages and benefit those communities by supporting schools, pubs and 
play/sports facilities and small village halls, by virtue of an influx of younger 
families.  -  - The addition of Bickerstaffe Ward to Skelmersdale and 
Upholland is not logical in terms of the expansion of Skelmersdale, which, 
in any case, is not justified in advance of much-needed improvements to 
parts of the existing built up areas. It is logical only in the context of 
proximity to the M58 and then only to the areas which are immediately 
adjacent to the motorway. Very limited and controlled development of 
small centres would be possible without destroying the essential rural 
nature of the area. -  - The review of Lancashire County Council Divisions 
indicates areas of common interest in the Borough, as well as balancing 
populations, and we can see no better way of dividing the borough than 
following that. The Spatial Portrait recognises that there is nothing of note 
to justify combining Bickerstaffe Ward with the “Regional Town” of 
Skelmersdale with Upholland, recognising that the Simonswood industrial 
area stands alone. -  - Within the limited time available we have been 
unable to study and digest the whole suite of documents and supporting 
information which underpins this set of proposals. Unfortunately, 
volunteers do not have the resources to devote to this task, bearing in 
mind that full time employees of the Council and consultants have spent 
many months assembling them. -  - Please note also:  -  - 1.	We query the 
annual average migration numbers shown in table 9 of the HEDNA, in 
which the numbers appear to have been reversed between ‘internal’ and 
‘international’ columns in the 2008 to 2015 period. - 2.	We have been 
unable to locate the SHELMA on the Council’s website, contrary to the 
statement in para 3.2.2.  - 

60 4.1	Four scenarios for the distribution of development are set out in 
paragraph 3.4.3. They are: - •	Scenario 1: the existing pattern of household 
and employment land distribution; - •	Scenario 2: a focus on the key 
service centres; - •	Scenario 3: a focus on rural communities; and, - 
•	Scenario 4: a focus on growing Skelmersdale in particular. - 4.2	Our 
overarching view is that one of the above specific scenarios should not be 
chosen and the distribution of development should be based according a 
settlement hierarchy and the needs of each settlement. This would be 
more broadly in accordance with a mix of Scenarios 1 and 2 as a settlement 
hierarchy would be based on the existing pattern of housing and 
employment land distribution and the majority of newly arising need would 
be best placed at the Key Service Centres as that is where the would be 
best served. This should not be at the expense of rural settlements which 
the Framework is clear that development should enhance or maintain the 
vitality of rural communities. - 4.3	Therefore the settlement hierarchy as 
set out in Policy SP1 of the adopted local plan is supported. A concern we 
had at the Local Plan Examination was how development was distributed in 
Policy SP1 where Burscough was given 850 dwellings whereas the 
significantly larger and more accessible Ormskirk with Aughton was given 
750 dwellings.  Going forward it should be recognised that the existing 
Local Plan has provided Burscough with sufficient land to meet it needs 
going forward in the LPS through the allocation and safeguarded land at 
Yew Tree Farm for 1,000 dwellings and 60 at Red Cat Lane (Plan B).  The 
clear and compelling needs for Ormskirk with Aughton must be addressed 
and its role in West Lancashire and the wider region recognised which 
reflects its services, facilities and rail links and the growing status of Edge 
Hill University.  - 4.4	It is therefore apparent that with Burscough being 
able to deliver that level of development provided all sites come forward, 
then Ormskirk with Aughton and Skelmersdale are the two most 
sustainable locations to meet need.  - 4.5	Therefore we can conclude that 
future development should be based on the settlement hierarchy set out in 
Policy SP1 and that each settlement should be allocated the requisite share 
of the overall housing requirement to reflect their role and status.

Noted

Page 532



ID Representor Comments Council Response

61 I think scenario 4 is the most appropriate. This is because Skelmersdale has 
good road infrastructure  with easy access to major motorways. It is ideally 
placed to take advantage of the opportunities that will be presented by 
Liverpool 2. Developing Skelmersdale will help to narrow the disparity in 
deprivation between Skelmersdale & the Northern parishes.  I think 
Burscough centre has been greatly improved over recent times, but the 
other key service centre of Ormskirk has not.

Noted

62 The Options Paper sets out four potential scenarios in respect of 
distribution: - · Scenario 1: the existing pattern of household and 
employment land distribution; - · Scenario 2: a focus on the key service 
centres; - · Scenario 3: a focus on rural communities; and, - · Scenario 4: a 
focus on growing Skelmersdale in particular. -  - It is considered that 
distribution should be a hybrid of Scenarios 1 and 2. Development should 
be distributed around West Lancashire and whilst providing development 
in the current distribution format is supported in principle (development 
proportionate to the size of the settlements) it is important for 
employment to be better distributed. It is considered that Ormskirk and 
nearby areas, such as Bickerstaffe could accommodate a greater 
employment provision going forward (as suggested in Scenario 2). Scenario 
1 is therefore considered - a sound basis for assessing the future 
distribution of development but is not the most appropriate approach on 
its own. - Scenario 2 supports greater development in the Key Services – 
particularly Ormskirk with Aughton. This is considered a more sustainable 
Scenario (particularly when considering existing services and infrastructure 
etc.) than Scenario 1. Notwithstanding this, whilst it is important for the 
Key Service Centres to support a large percentage of development, some 
smaller scale development should still go to the smaller settlements to 
ensure that these villages remain proportionally vibrant (but not to the 
extent suggested by Scenario 3).  - We therefore support Scenario 2 and 
consider it to be the most appropriate option, particular emphasis should 
be given to development around Ormskirk (with Aughton) and to those 
locations which could accommodate large scale logistics sites.

Noted

64 In terms of the proposed distribution, it is noted that there are difficulties 
associated with each approach in terms of housing and employment land 
requirement distribution. It is our Clients’ view that a hybrid approach 
should be adopted which focuses on the growth of Skelmersdale as a 
Regional Town, alongside the growth of Key Service Centres and rural 
communities. Whilst our Clients have land interests specifically to the west 
of Skelmersdale, it is recognised that there is a need for more housing and 
employment land throughout the Borough. The current approach of 
development within the existing pattern of household and employment 
land distribution has not worked effectively. -  - It is our Clients’ position 
that without the release of Green Belt land, none of these options are 
deliverable. The NPPF confirms in Paragraph 83 of the NPPF that the Green 
Belt should only be altered in exceptional circumstances, through the 
preparation or review of the Local Plan given the Green Belt constraints 
which exist throughout the Borough. It is therefore appropriate to 
undertake a Green Belt review at this time, particularly given the 
aspirations of the Council to extend the Plan period to 2050. If this is the 
case, it is pertinent that the Green Belt is reviewed, and Green Belt land is 
released to meet the needs of the Borough in full within the Plan period 
and beyond.

Noted

66 In the first instance the Council should identify what the OAN for the 
borough is before any decision is made on the spatial approach. -  - In 
terms of the proposed spatial distribution, the current options being 
considered explore a series of options which consider the various potential 
strategies. Gladman would be supportive of delivering growth towards 
principle settlements within the borough, especially those considered to be 
sustainable with access to a variety of services and facilities. This should 
however not be at the expense of allowing proportionate growth 

Noted

Page 533



ID Representor Comments Council Response

opportunities from coming forward in sustainable lower order 
settlements. -  - Paragraph 55 of the Framework seeks to promote 
sustainable development in rural areas to maintain and enhance rural 
vitality and vitality. It is essential, therefore, that the needs of sustainable 
rural settlements across the borough are assessed and meaningful growth 
apportioned to them to ensure their ongoing vitality and viability.

67 see attached submissions Noted

69 Scenario 4 is the most sustainable, given the existence of greater 
brownfield space, actual and potential infrastructure. -  - The principle for 
any significant development should be that it takes place primarily within 
existing brownfield sites, and only where the resources - transport 
infrastructure, public transport/health/social/educational services and 
facilities, utility supplies and infrastructure,commercial facilities to meet 
daily needs - exist.

Noted, see comments on brownfield land 
above.

70 The distribution of development for the Borough needs to ensure 
opportunities for growth are - provided for both larger and smaller 
settlements. This ensures that whilst there is growth in - the main towns 
within the Borough, it also allows for sustainable growth in rural areas. 
We - believe this is important in order to ensure the future vibrancy and 
viability of smaller - settlements in West Lancashire. -  - Whilst this would 
reflect Scenario 3 to a certain degree, we have strong concerns that all the - 
scenarios considered do not identify or make an allowance for spatially 
accommodating needs - from other authorities within the Borough. For 
instance, there is a clear opportunity to - accommodate additional growth 
as sustainable extensions to existing coastal settlements - within Sefton 
(such as Ainsdale) in line with the longer plan period suggested through 
this - consultation document (which goes beyond the current plan period of 
the adopted Sefton Local - Plan) or to accommodate any further uplift in 
housing needed in the area as a result of further - growth opportunities. 
This needs to be included within the strategy for distribution. The - 
development of land on the edge of Sefton (and Ainsdale in particular) 
would be appropriate - given the town’s significant population and its 
ability to offer employment opportunities and - services for West 
Lancashire. -  - We would therefore advocate a new scenario based on 
these above comments. -  - Given the amount of development we believe is 
needed for West Lancashire over the plan - period, releasing land from the 
Green Belt will need to be considered. Whilst we note that the - Council 
undertook a Green Belt Study in 2011, this needs to be re-examined and 
revised; especially as the assessment does not appear comprehensive in 
nature and we believe does - not assess the Commissioners’ land correctly.

Noted

72 Scenario 3 is the only scenario that will work economically and produce 
growth. It sits naturally within a plan to grow the agricultural economy in 
its broadest sense. Options 1,3 and 4 will fail.

Noted

73 WLBC has presented four potential scenarios for distributing economic and 
housing - growth across the Borough, which can be summarised as 
follows: - 1) Replicating the existing pattern of household and employment 
land distribution - 2) A focus in and around the Key Service Centres of 
Skelmersdale, Ormskirk and - Burscough - 3) A focus on rural communities - 
4) A focus on growing Skelmersdale, in particular - These scenarios are 
considered in turn below. - • Scenario 1: The University is concerned that 
Scenario 1 could continue the - existing pattern of employment 
development, which is heavily ‘skewed’ towards - Skelmersdale. Continuing 
to replicate this pattern could compromise the ability of - Ormskirk with 
Aughton to contribute to economic growth and meet development - needs 
in the future. - • Scenario 2: Focusing the majority of new development 
within those parts of the - Borough that are identified as being the most 
sustainable in terms of connectivity - and the number of services and 
facilities is a sound planning principle. As - indicated above, the University 
considers that Ormskirk with Aughton should - receive more development 

Noted

Page 534



ID Representor Comments Council Response

than currently envisaged in the adopted Local Plan - owing to its 
sustainability, scale and function. - Scenario 3: Focusing new development 
on rural communities would be likely to - lead to unsustainable patterns of 
development and increased reliance on travel by - private car. Such an 
approach is also likely to require significant investment in - supporting 
infrastructure and services. This option should be discounted. - • Scenario 
4: A specific focus on Skelmersdale has the potential to result in - housing 
and employment needs in other settlements failing to be met. Such an - 
approach would also fail to reflect the significance of Edge Hill University – 
which - is located in Ormskirk – to the economic growth of the Borough. - In 
light of the above, Edge Hill University considers that Scenario 2 is the 
most - appropriate starting point to adopt in the distribution of housing 
and employment land - across the Borough but would advocate that 
Ormskirk with Aughton should receive - more development than currently 
envisaged in the adopted Local Plan owing to its - sustainability, scale and 
function.

74 The white paper on housing provides a clear direction of travel to providing 
more houses more quickly across the Borough.  A particular focus of this is 
providing smaller development sites for small and medium housebuilders 
as a way of ensuring that delays in delivery can be addressed, not relying 
solely on a few large sites for a few major housebuilders.  In order to attract 
such development, a focus should be given to providing smaller sites in 
more locations across the Borough.  A variation of Scenario 1 would be 
appropriate, spreading development to more settlements. - Potential sites 
adjacent to existing settlements, in locations with good accessibility or 
services should be promoted as much as possible.

Noted

77 Keep smaller developments in villages and allow locals to buy/rent. Noted

78 Where there is good access and suitable roads. Noted

79 The Strategic Development Options Paper sets out the following four 
scenarios with regards to - the spatial distribution of development: - 
Scenario 1: The existing pattern of household and employment land 
development. - 
3: A focus of rural communities - 
Skelmersdale in particular -  The four Scenarios are discussed in further 
detail below. -  - Scenario 1 seeks to spread new development across West 
Lancashire according to the current - distribution of existing households 
and employment land. The Council advises that this option - effectively 
continues the current situation in terms of the proportionate size of 
settlements in - West Lancashire. - Story Homes do not consider that 
Scenario 1 should be the basis of the spatial distribution of - development 
in the Local Plan Review. The Spatial Portrait Paper (February 2017) 
identifies the - following key issues for Skelmersdale with Up Holland: - 
Skelmersdale contains deprived areas, having on average poorer health, 
lower - educational attainment, higher unemployment and lower incomes 
than other parts of - West Lancashire. Parts of the town are poorly 
designed and/or in need of regeneration. - 
would benefit from enhancement of its retail, leisure and - evening 
economy offer to cement its role as the highest level centre in the 
Borough. - 
services to nearby towns, - Skelmersdale at present lacks a rail station. 
Whilst it is understood plans are being - considered for a new garden village 
which would include a new train station, it is - considered that it will take a 
considerable length of time for the housing market to - improve in 
Skelmersdale, even with a new station. Furthermore there cannot be 
absolute - certainty at this stage if and when the new station would be 
delivered. - The above factors make Skelmersdale a very unattractive 
location for the housing market. The - adopted Local Plan’s dependence on 
Skelmersdale has already appeared to be impacting - housing delivery in 
West Lancashire (as set out at paragraph 2.6) and the promotion of a - 

Noted

Page 535



ID Representor Comments Council Response

strategy within the Local Plan Review which seeks to continue this 
approach will make - achieving increased levels of housing delivery 
extremely difficult. Continuing this approach will - further stifle 
development within West Lancashire. The Local Plan Review should look to 
deliver - housing in areas which will enable a range and choice of dwellings 
to be built to meet market - and affordable needs. Scenario 1 is not justified 
as it is not the most appropriate strategy, when - considered against the 
reasonable alternatives, based on proportionate evidence. - Scenario 2 
seeks to focus new development in and around the Key Service Centres of - 
Skelmersdale, Ormskirk and Burscough so, for housing, the areas 
encompassing these towns - will take a larger proportion of new housing 
development under Scenario 2. The Strategic - Development Options Paper 
considers that Scenario 2 “essentially adjusts the historic pattern of - 
development in Scenario 1 to make it more sustainable by locating more 
new development - around the Key Service Centres (which have more key 
infrastructure) in a broadly proportionate - way, though not entirely 
removing the historic patterns.” - Story Homes consider that a spatial 
distribution scenario which focuses growth on Key Service - Centres 
provides the basis of a reasonable approach, subject to the quantum of 
development - allocated to each settlement and their surrounding areas. 
The Local Plan Review needs to - promote an approach that will meet 
housing market requirements for choice and competition, - therefore 
promoting an approach which would, at the appropriate time in the Plan’s 
production, - allocate a range of sites across the Key Service Centres. The 
adopted Local Plan’s approach of - concentrating development in 
Skelmersdale and on a large site in single ownership does not - present the 
required flexibility to enable choice and competition. - The Key Service 
Centres, and their supporting towns, benefit from existing infrastructure 
which - would be able to support development within these locations. As 
such, Scenario 2 presents a - sustainable approach to development - An 
approach, such as Scenario 2, would assist in ensuring that development 
potential meets - housing requirements by delivering a diverse supply of 
sites. Story Homes therefore consider - that Scenario 2 would be a good 
starting point in determining the spatial distribution of - development for 
the Local Plan Review. Is in imperative, however, that development 
allocations - are not skewed heavily towards Skelmersdale, for the reasons 
set out in the response to - Scenario 1. - Scenario 3 is presented as “the 
opposite of Scenario 2”, seeking to allocate more new - development to the 
rural areas, and so less to the Key Service Centres. The Strategic - 
Development Options Paper advises that the Northern Parishes in 
particular would therefore - see a greater level of development under this 
Scenario, as would the Eastern and Western - Parishes. - Story Homes do 
not support Scenario 3, however do recognise that a number of the rural - 
communities, specifically the large and medium-sized villages, play an 
important supporting role - to the Key Service Centres and therefore, 
where infrastructure is able to support development, - the Local Plan 
should consider how villages (such as Rufford) could be considered as part 
of a - Scenario 2 spatial distribution of development. - For the reasons set 
out in response to Scenario 1, Story Homes do not consider that Scenario 
4 - should be pursued by the Council. This will not provide the foundations 
for an effective plan. - In summary, Story Homes consider that Scenario 2, 
which proposes to focus development - within Key Service Centres, would 
provide a reasonable starting point to determine the spatial - distribution 
of development within the Local Plan Review. Story Homes, however, 
consider that - an updated SHELMA would need to influence the proposed 
distribution of the OAN to each Key - Service Centre to ensure that the 
development allocations will be deliverable and developable.

81 We consider the four options presented to be unbalanced and is not a 
sustainable approach for the Borough, if it is to achieve its Draft vision and 
objectives, as proposed or as we submit above. -  - Importantly, 
development in terms of spatial distribution should be proportional, but it 
must meet the needs of the Borough as a whole. -  - It cannot, as these 4 

Noted

Page 536



ID Representor Comments Council Response

options suggest advocate a one or the other approach, whereby either one 
part of the Borough seeks the benefits and the other looses out. This is not 
good planning, nor is is sustainable and does not meet the requirements of 
the NPPF. -  - In our view, a more balanced approach should be taken, 
where development should be directed based on the needs of those areas; 
for example, Scenario 2, proposes a 90/10 split for housing towards the key 
services centre (90%) and 10% for everywhere else - On what basis has this 
calculation been assessed? -  - The Northern Parishes, which contains the 
majority of the Agriculture and food production industry are particularly 
important to the West Lancashire economy. According to agricultural 
census data, there are 400 agricultural holdings in West Lancashire 
employing 2,300 people. The annual BRES data collected by ONS reports 
and additional 200 employees are employed in agriculture in 2015, in 
addition to those employed on farms. -  - In terms of food processing, BRES 
data indicates that there are 2,250 jobs in food production in West 
Lancashire representing a third (32%) of the manufacturing jobs in the 
district and 4.7% of total jobs. -  - Food production has been the source of 
much of the growth in manufacturing employment both in West Lancashire 
and also across GB.  However West Lancashire has been much stronger 
growth accounting for 17.1% of manufacturing jobs since 2009,  This has 
helped support overall growth of manufacturing employment in the 
borough, whereas GB has seen a fall in total manufacturing 
employment. -  - Together, agriculture and food production account for 
10% of jobs in West Lancashire compared to fewer than 3% nationally.   -  - 
None of the Options, as proposed takes into consideration the importance 
of providing housing for this key sector within the West Lancashire 
economy.  -  - In conclusion we strongly disagree with Options, 1, 3 and 4, 
and consider that further work should be undertaken on Option 2, to 
assess a more accurate distribution between the key service centre and key 
sustainable villages (i,e, Tarleton), in terms of housing and employment.

82 Scenario 4 is the most sustainable option, Skelmersdale was initially 
planned for a much larger population and already has the infrastructure 
and services - although these will need to be invested in and improved.

Noted

84 Scenario 1: the existing pattern of household and employment land 
distribution - On the surface this appears to be a logical and sustainable 
approach to the locational strategy. - The main reservation with this option 
is the overreliance on Skelmersdale and under reliance on - other 
sustainable local centres. -  - Scenario 2: a focus on the key service centres - 
This is Persimmons Homes preferred option as it would represent the most 
sustainable approach - to future development. However, it is not 
considered positive planning to move all rural areas to - completely zero 
contributions and consideration should be made to support and even 
strengthen - their role without detriment to the growth the key service 
centres. -  - Scenario 3: a focus on rural communities - Persimmon does not 
support a focus on rural communities to the detriment of the sustainable - 
growth of existing service settlements. This would likely present the 
greatest impact on - infrastructure resulting in the greatest requirement for 
development led infrastructure (both - physical and social). This will have a 
significant impact on the viability of development, and will - therefore 
impact on delivery and present unnecessary unknowns when considering 
the supply of - development land. -  - Scenario 4: a focus on growing 
Skelmersdale in particular - Persimmon Homes would not support an over 
focus on growth within Skelmersdale. It is - appreciated that Skelmersdale 
presents the most challenging housing market in West Lancashire - and it is 
not considered that concentration of all development in this location is the 
most effective - option for delivery of new homes. In the Council's last 
Annual Monitoring review it was identified that only one of the 10 sites 
over 8units delivering units in 205/16 was in Skelmersdale. This site - 
presented approximately 15% of the overall total annual unit completions. 
This was an affordable - led scheme for new Council Housing. No market 

Noted

Page 537



ID Representor Comments Council Response

units (on sites above 8 units) were delivered in - Skelmersdale in the last 
monitoring period. It would therefore be naive to consider that a reliance - 
on Skelmersdale for the majority of housing development represented a 
sustainable approach to - delivery. -  - Overall it is considered that a 
balanced approach of a couple of the options is taken.

89 Scenario 1 seeks to spread new development around West Lancashire in 
accordance with the current distribution of existing households and 
employment land. This option effectively continues the current situation in 
terms of the proportionate size of settlements in West Lancashire and the 
availability of local employment opportunities. - Our Client does not 
support this spatial distribution option as it is deemed to be unsustainable. 
Paragraphs 3.4.5 and 3.4.6 of the Strategic Options Paper identifies some of 
the concerns associated with this option by stating: - “However, when the 
distribution of employment land, in particular, is considered, the current 
spread of employment opportunities from offices, industrial units and 
warehousing is extremely skewed towards Skelmersdale and the South-
Eastern Parishes, with the Borough’s second largest settlement (Ormskirk 
with Aughton) making a negligible contribution (although there are of 
course many other types of employment opportunity in Ormskirk). - 
Likewise, in relation to housing distribution, simply maintaining the same 
proportionate distribution going forward does not necessarily reflect the 
most sustainable approach as it could mean that some settlements have to 
take more development than their existing infrastructure, services and 
environment can practically cope with and/or that other settlements take 
less development than they could otherwise cope with.” - We agree with 
the concerns outlined by West Lancashire, it is vital that future housing and 
employment development is in locations which are sustainable. The 
distribution of too much housing and employment land to Skelmersdale 
and the south-eastern parishes may not be viable and may result in serious 
under-delivery across the plan period. - Scenario 2 seeks to focus new 
development in and around the Key Service Centres of Skelmersdale, 
Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough. Paragraph 3.4.7 indicates this could 
be as much as 90% of the overall housing distribution to be located within 
these settlements.. - This Scenario is supported by our clients, as locating 
employment land within existing key service centres is the most sustainable 
option. The sustainability credentials of this proposed Scenario are 
recognised within paragraph 3.2.8 of the Strategic Options Paper which 
states: - “This scenario essentially adjusts the historic pattern of 
development in Scenario 1 to make it more sustainable by locating more 
new development around the Key Service Centres (which have more key 
infrastructure) in a broadly proportionate way, though not entirely 
removing the historic patterns. This is especially the case for employment 
land where Skelmersdale and - Burscough still have a larger share than 
their populations might ordinarily justify.” - Our Client supports the delivery 
of development within accessible locations as this will significantly improve 
the sustainability of proposed developments, increase the viability of 
existing services and seek to provide improvements in locations where the 
benefit will be experienced by the most people. - Scenario 3 is the opposite 
to scenario 2 and seeks to allocate more land within the rural areas. It is 
identified within paragraph 3.4.10 that this scenario could be partially met 
by creating a new village, whilst the focus would generally be on the rural 
areas in the Northern Parishes. - Over-provision of employment land within 
the Northern Parishes would require vast infrastructure improvements 
which could render development unviable. Towns such as Skelmersdale, 
Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough are all well connected by both road 
and rail to the wider region which is why existing businesses have located 
here. Locating significant amount of housing development in locations 
away from these centres without significant transport improvements would 
result in the perpetuation of unsustainable transportation methods. -  If 
infrastructure improvements are required these should also be located 
where the most benefit can be realised. - Our Client does not support this 
option; this would not meet the immediate needs of the Borough as 

Noted

Page 538



ID Representor Comments Council Response

delivery of a Strategic Village would require significant levels of new 
development which takes time. Hourigan Connolly Completed a Study in 
Respect of the Delivery of Urban Extensions for Gladman Development 
Limited. This study compared Sustainable Urban Extensions of sites of 500 
dwellings upwards from all over the country. This information clearly 
indicates that from the point of achieving an allocation it is reasonable to 
assume it would take a developer approximately 5.5years to achieve a start 
on site.In addition to the lack of immediate delivery, there would be a 
significant amount of additional costs associated with development where 
there is a lack of existing key infrastructure. This could render development 
in the rural areas unviable. - Scenario 4 is a variation of scenario 2 with the 
exception that more development is required from Skelmersdale than the 
other Key Service centres. - This is not supported by our Client, as skewing 
development towards Skelmersdale is not viable. The Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule which has been adopted 
allocated a zero rate to Skelmersdale to render development in this 
location deliverable. Delivering a greater amount of development in 
Skelmersdale will not provide the infrastructure the Borough needs for 
growth.

95 Context - 3.32 WLBC’s updated evidence base4 confirms that: - “One of the 
key aims of the Local Plan is to create sustainable communities and 
promote sustainable development. Housing, employment opportunities 
and services should be located close together to reduce the need for travel, 
particularly by private motor vehicle. Development should generally be 
directed toward those settlements that have a good range of services and 
employment opportunities” - 3.33 In reflecting its evidence base, as set out 
in section 2, the Options Paper proposes 4 scenarios for the future spatial 
distribution of development around the borough, including: - • A 
distribution of development according to the proportionate size of existing 
settlements (1); - • A focusing of development in and around the Key 
Services Centres of Skelmersdale, Ormskirk and Burscough (2); - • A greater 
share of development outside of the Key Service Centres with higher levels 
of provision in the more rural parts of the borough. This could involve the 
creation of a new settlement (3); and - • A focusing of development on 
Skelmersdale (4). - 3.34 There is a longstanding and growing undersupply of 
new homes in West Lancashire. In the first four years of the current Local 
Plan from 2012 to 2016 just 1,016 dwellings (net) were delivered against a 
requirement for at least 1,208 dwellings (net). This means that there is 
already an undersupply of 192 new homes, despite the relatively recent 
adoption of the Local Plan and the lower housing target set in the early 
years of the plan period. This exacerbates an existing shortfall of a further 
679 dwellings which built up prior to the adoption of the current Local Plan, 
when housing delivery was guided by the North West Regional Strategy. 
This is illustrated in Figure 3.1 below. - 3.35 This shortfall is likely to 
exacerbate in the coming years. WLBC’s own data forecasts that just 1,209 
new dwellings (net) will be delivered over the next five years, against a 
baseline requirement for at least 1,642 dwellings (net). This means that: - • 
A shortfall of 625 new homes will have built-up in the first nine years of the 
Local Plan, equivalent to almost a fifth of the minimum number of homes 
required; and - • WLBC has a land supply equivalent to just 2.75-years – far 
less than the 5-years required by the NPPF. -  - [see document for chart] -  - 
3.36 The land supply provided by the current Local Plan is clearly not 
delivering enough new homes. This is due, at least in part, because it is 
located principally in areas of low market demand. In particular, the spatial 
focus of current Local Plan is to secure the regeneration of Skelmersdale, 
with 2,100 dwellings to be delivered in the town, supported by a reduced 
amount of development in the two Key Service Centres of Ormskirk with 
Aughton and Burscough (750 dwellings and 850 dwellings respectively). 
However, the amount of development delivered to date in both 
Skelmersdale and Burscough is significantly below that required, as shown 
in Table 3.3. -  - [see document for table 3.3] -  - 3.37 Moreover, despite the 
availability of development land in Skelmersdale and Burscough, there is a 

Noted

Page 539



ID Representor Comments Council Response

significant shortage of sites with planning permission to deliver the new 
homes urgently required. There is a total land supply in Skelmersdale of 
2,649 dwellings, but only 270 dwellings (10.19%) have planning permission. 
This equates to a land supply of - 14 - just 1.93-years against the need for 
an average of 140 dwellings pa in the town, or just 1.62-years when the 
requirement is adjusted for under-delivery to date. Similarly, in Burscough 
just 145 dwellings have planning permission, equating to a supply of just 
2.54-years against the average annual need for 57 dwellings, or just 2.28-
years when adjusted for under-delivery to date. -  - [see document for 
figure 3.2] -  - 3.38 It is clear that the land supply in Skelmersdale and 
Burscough is not delivering the new homes required and this failure is 
exacerbating the longstanding housing shortfall in the Borough. The low 
rates of delivery reflect the relatively weak demand in those settlements. 
For example, compared to the Borough average of £206,636, house prices 
in Skelmersdale and Burscough (£139,239 and £188,957 respectively) are 
below average5. This is particularly the case in Skelmersdale, where house 
prices are just 67.38% of the average across West Lancashire. The scale of 
prices in Skelmersdale mean that it there are significant market difficulties 
in delivering a sizeable number of new homes in the town – they simply do 
not deliver the commercial returns required to ensure that new 
development is viable. Large-scale development in the town is therefore 
very challenging. - 3.39 Skelmersdale and Burscough between them have 
63.08% of the Borough’s available land supply, despite having just 48.72% 
of the population and the weak demand and market challenges. 
Conversely, Ormskirk with Aughton – an area of comparatively higher 
demand (see below) – has just 13.42% of the land supply but almost a 
quarter (24.53%) of the population. In effect, the Local Plan provided both 
Skelmersdale and Burscough with a share of the land supply which is 
disproportionate to their size and role within the settlement hierarchy, 
with Burscough placed on an equal – or indeed higher – footing to Ormskirk 
with Aughton, despite its reduced size, sustainability and market demand. 
By comparison, it is clear from Figure XX below that Ormskirk with Aughton 
has been poorly provided for in terms of new housing supply. -  - [see 
document for figure 3.3] -  - 3.40 DWH welcomes the ongoing regeneration 
of Skelmersdale. However, it is likely to take many years to overcome the 
market difficulties which are being present in the town. As such, whilst 
DWH anticipates that Skelmersdale will remain a focus for development in 
the emerging Local Plan Review – and indeed supports such an approach 
given the status of the town in the settlement hierarchy – the town already 
has a substantial supply of available development land which is not 
presently being delivered. It would be unsustainable to plan for significant 
land releases in the area. It is clear that the spatial distribution established 
in the current Local Plan – which focusses to a significant and 
disproportionate extent on delivery in Skelmersdale, and to a lesser extent 
in Burscough – cannot be continued if the housing needs of the Borough 
are to be met, as required by national planning policy. - 3.41 A subtle 
change of development strategy is required. The housing needs of the 
Borough will only be met if significant land is made available in areas where 
there is market demand and where new development is viable. Such an 
approach will complement and could help to facilitate the regeneration 
effort in other locations. In this context, DWH’s strong view is that the 
Ormskirk with Aughton must receive a much greater share of development 
in the Local Plan Review. - The need in Ormskirk with Aughton - 3.42 The 
current Local Plan identifies that Ormskirk with Aughton is a Key Service 
Centre. It is the second largest settlement in the Borough after 
Skelmersdale. In terms of population it is well over twice the size of 
Burscough. Despite this, it has been critically under-provided for in terms of 
new housing supply. - 3.43 WLBC’s own evidence clearly points towards the 
opportunity for and demand for new homes in Ormskirk with Aughton. If 
an appropriate scale of development is not delivered to meet a number of 
issues and drivers, it is likely to have severe consequences for the future 
sustainability of the settlement. In particular: - (a) Ormskirk is the second 
largest settlement in West Lancashire with a population of 18,000 people. Page 540



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Together with Aughton, the total population of the settlement increases to 
some 27,000 people (representing 24.53% of the overall population of the 
borough). By comparison, Skelmersdale has a population of 35,000 (38%) 
while Burscough has a population of 9,500. A similar picture is presented 
when one looks at households. WLBC’s own evidence confirms that while 
Skelmersdale contains the largest proportion of households (38.8%) it 
confirms that Ormskirk with Aughton contains the second highest 
proportion (23.8%). Burscough, in contrast, contains just 10% of the 
Borough’s households – less than half that in Ormskirk with Aughton. - (b) 
Ormskirk with Aughton represents the administrative hub of the Borough, 
with a large student population – associated with Edge Hill University – and 
several major employers including the University, Ormskirk Hospital and 
WLBC. The location of these employers alongside its infrastructure 
connections is reflective of its position as a market town and large Key 
Service Centre. - (c) Ormskirk with Aughton is highly sustainable. It is well 
served by rail with railway stations in Ormskirk, Aughton Park and Town 
Green and excellent access onto the main strategic highway network (A59, 
A570, M58). The proximity of the M58 to Ormskirk in particular is 
referenced in the various parts of WLBC’s evidence base with the 
expectation that this provides the potential to support future economic 
growth in key sectors such as logistics6. The area is also well-served by 
regular bus services, which provide links to destinations throughout 
Merseyside and beyond. - (d) Ormskirk with Aughton remains a desirable 
place to live and is a strong market area. Owing to its strong transport 
connections, compared to other parts of the borough, Ormskirk with 
Aughton has stronger travel to work connections with other large 
employment centres across the City Region. The forecast higher growth 
across the City Region is therefore likely to have a significant impact on 
increasing the need/demand for further housing in Ormskirk with Aughton 
than other parts of the borough. - (e) Edge Hill University is a significant 
asset to the Borough. It makes a significant contribution to the local 
economy, estimate in 2011, to be in the region of $75 million Gross Added 
Value (GVA). It is also one of the most significant employers in West 
Lancashire, employing over 1,500 members of staff in 2015/16; the vast 
majority being full time. It also provides a wide range of high class facilities 
which are well used by the community. - It is understood that the 
University has ambitions to further grow and expand from its previously 
established ‘vocational-led’ learning approach towards to a more 
‘mainstream’ research-led university and its current faculties are 
investigating ways to further diversify their programme offer (to include 
postgraduate and masters programmes) as well as notable growth in 
research. Indeed the expansion of new areas of teaching and learning are 
already emerging through the opening of the Creative Edge and there 
recent completion of a new Technological Hub which is anchored by the 
Technology and Computer Sciences and supports the University’s 
expansion in Digital Creative and Food Sciences (Biotechnology) disciplines. 
The hub also includes a ‘enterprise hatchery’ for fledging businesses and 
SME’s (as well as the local community) and will result in the emergence of a 
comprehensive corridor of a science and technology quarter at the 
campus. - It is anticipated that this evaluation of the University will require 
further growth and expansion of its Ormskirk campus and generate further 
benefits for the borough and sub-region in terms of employment (direct 
and in-direct), highly skilled graduates and spin-off employment 
opportunities through entrepreneurship and SME activity. This continued 
economic growth of the University will need to be supported by providing 
homes commensurate to this growth. - (f) Our analysis of local market 
signals in the accompanying submission ‘Housing Need – Evidence Based 
Critique’ identifies that the settlement currently demonstrates symptoms 
of relatively significant imbalance between the supply and demand for 
housing compared to other parts of the borough. This is driven by strong 
demand for housing illustrated through higher average house prices which 
has in turn implications for affordability. In particular, the average house 
price in Ormskirk with Aughton is c.£240,000, which is well above the Page 541



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Borough average of c.£207,000. WLBC’s own evidence7, which states that 
“…much housing is unaffordable, making home ownership, including for 
first time buyers, increasingly difficult…”. If this is not addressed, this will 
present challenges for working age households and those looking to enter 
the housing market for the first time in remaining in the area and risk in 
delivering an unsustainable and unbalanced community in the settlement. 
It will also potentially threaten delivering upon WLBC’s economic ambition 
and economic growth. - (g) Our analysis confirms that the population in 
Ormskirk and Aughton is ageing, with WLBC’s evidence identifying that the 
area has “…one of the highest proportions of people over 65…”7 in the 
Borough. Without suitable new housing stock to retain and attract young 
families, the average age of the population will continue to rise and the 
proportion of younger and working age households will decline further. 
This will have adverse impacts on the local economy, the vitality of local 
shops and facilities, and increase the burden on health-related services. - 
3.44 It is clear from the above that there is a significant and growing need 
for an increase in the number of new homes which are being delivered in 
Ormskirk with Aughton. The settlement is under-provided for in the current 
Local Plan, with the amount of development proposed falling far short of 
the role of the area in the settlement hierarchy. This must be rectified by 
the Local Plan Review. - 3.45 DWH considers that the amount of residential 
development provided for in Ormskirk with Aughton must be 
commensurate with its size and profile in the Borough. It should, as a 
minimum, accommodate at least 25% of the development requirement 
established in the Local Plan Review; this share of growth would be 
equivalent to the size of the settlement and its population. An uplift to this 
proportion should also be applied, mindful of the market signals which 
clearly highlight the strength of demand and, by implication, the scale of 
the need in the settlement.

96 It is noteworthy that whilst the Spatial Portrait refers substantively to the 
identified Spatial Areas, the above - scenarios only name the key service 
centres. For consistency, and to promote delivery, we would suggest that - 
the scenarios should be amended to refer to Spatial Areas or alternatively 
for a further scenario which expressly - confirms that approach. - AIUH has 
land interests in the Up Holland area that could be suitable for housing and 
commercial development - subject to market conditions. This falls into the 
proposed Skelmersdale and Up Holland Spatial Area. - The Council is aware 
that market conditions for new residential development in the 
Skelmersdale area are - challenging. AIUH considers it appropriate that 
reference should be given to the wider Spatial Area to give an - opportunity 
for the delivery of residential development in existing stronger market 
areas, with the potential for - delivery in Skelmersdale should market 
signals improve later in the Plan period.

Noted

97 St Modwen clearly has land interests in the Skelmersdale area that could be 
suitable for housing and commercial development subject to market 
conditions. St Modwen considers it appropriate that residential 
development opportunities in Skelmersdale be supported but as part of a 
broader approach which also encourages development in stronger market 
areas. - In respect of retail and town centre uses, St Modwen reminds the 
Council that the Skelmersdale town centre area is substantial and provides 
latent physical opportunity to support further town centre uses to 
supplement the existing town centre offer for Skelmersdale. This includes 
the leisure‐led scheme to extend the town centre in terms of its offer, 
ability to trade into the evening and to link other areas such as the College. 
In respect of town centre uses, we support Scenario 4.

Noted

99 In terms of the proposed distribution, it is noted that there are difficulties 
associated with each approach in terms of housing and employment land 
requirement distribution. It is our Clients’ view that a hybrid approach 
should be adopted which focuses on the growth of Skelmersdale as a 
Regional Town, alongside the growth of Key Service Centres and rural 
communities. Whilst our Clients have land interests specifically to the west 

Noted

Page 542



ID Representor Comments Council Response

of Skelmersdale, it is recognised that there is a need for more housing and 
employment land throughout the Borough. The current approach of 
development within the existing pattern of household and employment 
land distribution has not worked effectively. -  - It is our Clients’ position 
that without the release of Green Belt land, none of these options are 
deliverable. The NPPF confirms in Paragraph 83 of the NPPF that the Green 
Belt should only be altered in exceptional circumstances, through the 
preparation or review of the Local Plan given the Green Belt constraints 
which exist throughout the Borough. It is therefore appropriate to 
undertake a Green Belt review at this time, particularly given the 
aspirations of the Council to extend the Plan period to 2050. If this is the 
case, it is pertinent that the Green Belt is reviewed, and Green Belt land is 
released to meet the needs of the Borough in full within the Plan period 
and beyond.

108 Scenario 4.  - The most sustainable option is to build where the 
infrastructure and services are already. - Unfortunately areas of 
Skelmersdale are unappealing for people to live, and this is a huge job to 
improve/change

Noted

Page 543



Question 13: Where should new development be located in principle? 
Are there any key constraints (potentially such as flood risk) which 
would mean development should be severely limited in the areas 
affected by those constraints?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Build higher were appropriate adopt Staffordshire councils  - lead they 
allow local people to self build on greenbelt land - but they are only 
allowed to sell at 60 percent of the value  - this will ensure genuine people 
apply 350 houses have been  - built so far

The Council will explore Staffordshire 
Council's approach to self-build and consider 
if it is appropriate for West Lancashire.

2 Of course all flood risks should be assessed Noted

9 Option 1 every time. You cant get greenbelt back once it has been 
destroyed. 

Noted

14 concentrate in the 3 towns Noted

18 Housing for older persons is most appropriately located on infill developed 
in urban areas. Accordingly we support Option 1.

Noted

20 Skelmersdale  is the obvious choice for a New Garden City. It has the 
space,capacity and infrastructure and is well linked to the Motorway 
networks.

Noted

21 Rufford has frequently been flooded. The land is not suitable for building. Noted.

23 Option 3. If new development must occur it is logical to create a well 
supported "New town" with appropriate infrastructure rather than 
straining what already exists.

Noted

24 I think we should try and conserve as much of the countryside as is 
humanly possible - for our future generations to enjoy.  Therefore I would 
opt for Option 1.  Option 1 I think should apply particularly to 
Skelmersdale.  It is a very large community but they have very little in the 
way of facilities or transport. Option 4 seems to be common sense.

Noted

26 Option 1 will ensure that the infrastructure is already there in a lot of cases. Noted

28 Option 1 Noted

30 These options are not mutually exclusive, Option 4 must be adopted until 
decisions are made to continue to operate the pumps currently under 
notice of closure by the Environment Agency.  The impact of flooding will 
be flt by the economy, infrastructure and those  travelling from and 
through West Lancashire as well as the houses at greater risk of flooding. 
Option 1 should include building higher.  I have identified option3 as a key 
issue not identified by the council/author.

Noted

31 Option 3, close to Skelmersdale Noted

32 New development should be in and around Skelmersdale there is easy 
motorway access.  Also the potential for bringing in employment will help 
protect the environment be hopefully reducing the daily commute thus 
reducing car emissions. - Areas in flood zones should not be built on. Nor 
should areas with critical drainage issues

Noted

34 We support Option 4 as it follows the methodology specified within the 
NPPF. However if through evaluating these options for locating new 
development you are unable to restrict development out of flood risk areas 
then any site allocations within the flood risk zones will require the 
application of the Sequential approach and a Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (SFRA). If Option 4 is brought forward then there will still need 
to be consideration of ensuring development will not increase flood risk 
elsewhere through effective surface water management whilst recognising 

Noted

Page 544



ID Representor Comments Council Response

current problems. - As identified by the Spatial Portrait Paper and the level 
1 SFRA there are current issues of flood risk within Burscough which is 
within Flood Zone 1. Through assigning areas for new development 
consideration should also be given to opportunities for resolving current 
problems. - In regards to the issues at Burscough, there has been previous 
discussions over if this could be designated as an ‘area with critical 
drainage problems’. Unfortunately the flooding issues do not impact a main 
river and the Environment Agency are therefore unable to designate it 
ourselves as it does not meet the criteria stipulated by the NPPF. - Despite 
this it is recognised that there are problems locally resulting from surface 
water run-off which impact local drainage systems. The new Local Plan 
presents an opportunity to resolve/ensure future development does not 
exacerbate the problem. To resolve/manage this the Local Plan and 
subsequent Site allocations could include policies to guide developments 
and help address such concerns. We would be happy to help in the creation 
of such policies alongside consultation with the LLFA. Consideration should 
also be given as to whether the use of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
funding could be utilised from future development to effectively manage 
surface water for developments within Burscough to create a joined up 
solution. - In terms of flood risk we recommend a catchment approach to 
managing flood risk and drainage. This can include using slow the flow 
upstream where possible and could also be done through the use of CIL 
funding. This may require working with neighbouring authorities. Such an 
approach can bring many benefits including reducing pollution and 
improving water quality and biodiversity. - Another item to draw your 
attention to are the Alt Crossens Pumping Stations. Whilst this is 
mentioned within the SFRA it does not feed through to the Local Plan 
document and could be a significant issue for West Lancashire. The 
Environment Agency prioritises flood risk management activity that 
provides the greatest protection for people and property, and to support 
this, it is stopping land drainage activity including the operation of pumping 
stations in areas where evidence shows that it does not deliver sufficient 
flood risk benefit to people and property. A sustainable alternative needs 
to be agreed to manage land drainage in Alt Crossens for the benefit of 
agriculture, the environment, communities and businesses to form part of 
the overall water level management strategy in the catchment. We note 
that the plan refers to the high quality agricultural land within West 
Lancashire and some of this is within the area that is managed through the 
pumping stations. A solution therefore needs to be sought for this area.

35 Whilst the approach of option 1 to maximise the capacity of existing 
settlements through the prioritisation of infill developments is generally 
supported, there are a number of factors related to such development 
which must be carefully considered, not least that it is expected that if such 
sites were available for development (given their location and likely 
availability to infrastructure and services), in many instances it is likely that 
these would have already come forward for development. It is highly 
unlikely that there will be sufficient such sites available to meet the needs 
of the Borough and therefore further sites will still need to be identified. - 
Should the Council seek to progress this option (either as a single option or 
through a combined approach), it will be necessary to ensure that they do 
not seek to prioritise brownfield land; such an approach is not supported 
the National Planning Policy Framework and therefore, would prevent the 
Plan being found sound. - Option 3, the creation of new settlements, would 
have the greatest impact upon the countryside and Green Belt. 
Furthermore, such an approach would require the creation of considerable 
infrastructure to support such developments, at increased cost and 
timescales. - The second option is considered to be the most appropriate to 
effectively meet the needs of the Borough. This approach would ensure 
that the viability of some existing settlements is maintained and would also 
make use of existing infrastructure and, as discussed previously within 
these representations, would also provide the opportunity for these to be 

Noted

Page 545



ID Representor Comments Council Response

improved and upgraded to the benefit of the existing population, as well as 
future residents, workers and visitors. - As with the previous question asked 
however, it is necessary for the Plan to ensure an element of flexibility is 
applied to allow development to come forward where sites are available to 
meet needs.

36 Safeguarded Land - we think it an absolute priority that land that is 
currently protected as 'safeguarded land' is carried forward to the next 
plan.  This land was safeguarded for very good reasons, in the current Local 
Plan, therefore it is imperative that this continues, and this land is not 
released for development of any kind.  With specific regards to Dalton, the 
field at the top of Beacon Lane/Higher Lane opposite St Michaels Church, is 
currently safeguarded.  With the development that is occurring at 
Whalleys, this field is all that separates the rural village of Dalton, from the 
urban sprawl of Skelmersdale.  It is vital that this field is kept as 
safeguarded to not only define a boundary between the two settlements, 
but to also maintain the rural open character of Dalton, Beacon Country 
Park, Ashurst Beacon & St Michaels Church.

The field referred to is not currently 
designated as "safeguarded land" (which is 
covered by policy GN2 of the adopted Local 
Plan, but as "protected land" under policy 
GN1(b) of the adopted Local Plan.  
Comments about the desire to continue the 
protection of this land noted.

39 Response A– They should be concentrated in areas suggested on the 
previous question but outside Flood Risk zones 2 & 3 in all cases (New Cut 
Lane, Moss Road etc). -  - 

Noted

40 In terms of Green Belt release, we generally support the release of sites 
that adjoin existing urban areas as these tend of have a lesser impact on 
the Green Belt and its associated purposes. However, as outlined elsewhere 
within these representations, this should not preclude the redevelopment 
of other suitable sites.

Noted

42 It is not possible, at this scale, to assess specifically how each scenario 
might impact on the functionality of the district's and counties' (intentional 
plural) ecological network. To minimise such risks, we would expect to see 
strong protection provided in Development Management Policies for 
ecological networks, including their key components such as the whole 
hierarchy of designated wildlife sites, and habitats & species of principal 
importance.  In designing development schemes, regard must be had to 
ensuring that the biodiversity of the development sites is protected, and 
wherever possible enhanced, with links and preferably enhancements to 
the identified surrounding ecological network. -  - We would also wish to 
see similar protection for established green infrastructure and the 
enhancement of the ecosystem services that it provides. -  - That said, 
Option 4 would have the likely advantage of reducing the political pressure 
for further degradation of remaining functionality of wetland ecological 
networks through old-style hard engineered flood defences, with 
consequent impacts on biodiversity and landscape, and of improving 
potential availability of low-lying open land as green infrastructure for 
temporary and seasonal storage of flood waters ("slowing the flow"), to 
reduce the potential of high and/or persistent periods of rainfall flooding 
extant built property in the district and in other districts downstream and 
simultaneously improve the connectivity and functionality of the borough's 
wetland ecological network.

Noted

46 A blend of Options 2 & 3.   Option 2. because There should be some, albeit 
restricted and of the right type, i.e. affordable development adjacent to 
existing settlements in order to address the acute shortage of truly 
affordable homes where there has been a predominance of 'Executive' type 
developments due to a market driven housing trend in recent times. - 
Option 3. because there needs to be a transformational approach in terms 
of design for the provision of settlements for the long term future. Current 
research into the potential for 'Garden Towns and Villages' needs to be 
thoroughly investigated and explored within the process of this Local Plan, 
so as to future proof the quality of housing and living design taking into 
account all the latest energy efficient and environmentally good design 
practises.

Page 546



ID Representor Comments Council Response

47 I am in favour of low rise high density developments. Houses and flats and 
business premises up to four storeys high. No new development in areas of 
flood risk. Smaller gardens but larger areas for 'the commons' - wide 
pavements and public green areas.

Noted

48 The list of options are not correct. Option 4 should be the main priority 
followed by Option 1. A mix of  options 1 and 2 should be the next in 
priority status but decided on a case by case basis. Option 3 should not be 
included.

Noted

57 No options should be ruled out.  A local plan should enable sustainable 
development and not hinder it.

Noted

60 5.1	Under this section four options are set out, these being: - 1. Maximise 
the capacity of existing settlements; - 2. Locate new development adjacent 
to existing settlements to reduce the need to travel and reduce emissions; - 
3. Create brand new settlements with the necessary associated 
infrastructure; and, - 4. Entirely restrict new development in areas at risk of 
flooding (i.e. in Flood Zones 2 or 3 or in a Critical Drainage Area). - 5.2	We 
propose that the location of development should be based on options 1 
and 2. As the LPR recognises relying too much on Option 1 may result in the 
risk the loss of valuable urban green space or cause over-development in 
existing built-up areas, potentially markedly changing the character of our 
existing towns and villages. We agree and therefore the Strategic Housing 
and Employment Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA) will indicate the 
level of development that could be achieved. Table 1 of the Draft SHELAA 
concludes that there is capacity for 422 dwellings. If that figure is robust it 
demonstrates that Option 2 is inevitable. - 5.3	The main concern with 
Option 2 in the LPR documents is that this would inevitably involve the loss 
of Green Belt and open countryside (because the Green Belt boundary is so 
tight around the built-up areas of most settlements in West Lancashire). 
However it also recognise that this would locate new development as close 
to existing services and employment as possible without unduly 
overdeveloping the existing settlements. - 5.4	With the loss of Green Belt 
being inevitable under options 2, 3 and 4, to minimise Green Belt loss, then 
the LPR must allocate all the Plan B sites and safeguarded land in Policy 
GN2 of the adopted Local Plan as a priority. These sites would provide 
1,540 dwellings.  - 5.5	Taking account of existing commitments, the 
SHELAA capacity, Plan B and safeguarded land, then there will be a residual 
need to be met in the LPR. The current total potential supply is: - 
•	Completions  2012 to 2016 – 1,208 dwellings; - •	Commitments in 2016 
AMR – 2,160 dwellings; and, - •	Delivery 2021 to 2027 – 1,989 dwellings. - 
5.6	The current housing trajectory in the 2016 AMR would expect 5,357 
dwellings to be completed between 2012 and 2027. If we add in the Plan B 
sites (830 dwellings) that would increase to 6,187 dwellings and also adding 
on the safeguarded land (710 dwellings) would total 6,897 dwellings.  - 5.7	 
The table below takes the above figures and sets out them against the 5 
options in the LPR. This then calculates the residual requirement that the 
LPR would need to plan for assuming all the sites the above components of 
supply are deliverable.  - 	2012-2037	Residual for LPR to plan for to 
2037	2012-2050	Residual for LPR to plan for to 2050 - Option A	5,000	-
1,897	7,600	703 - Options B	7,500	603	11,400	3,203 - Option 
C	10,000	3,102	15,200	5,703 - Option D	12,500	5,603	19,000	8,203 - 
Option E	15,000	8,103	22,800	10,703 -  - 5.8	The conclusion from the 
above table is that under all options with one exception then even with all 
sites in the adopted local plan allocated, there will be a need for additional 
land and Green Belt release to take place under as part of the LPR. Option 2 
is inevitable and the most sustainable.

Noted

61 I think it would be responsible to entirely restrict new development in areas 
of risk of flooding for  say the first 3/5 years of the plan for review to see 
whether this restriction has caused the settlements affected to stagnate.

Noted

Page 547



ID Representor Comments Council Response

62 Following on from the distribution of development section the Options 
Paper sets out four Scenarios in respect of the location of new 
development: - 1. Maximising the capacity of existing settlements by 
prioritising infill developments within the built-up area or by building 
higher; - 2. Locating new development adjacent to existing settlements to 
reduce the need to travel – this option would inevitably involve the loss of 
Green Belt but would locate new development as close to - existing services 
and employment; - 3. Create brand new settlements with the necessary 
associated infrastructure; and, - 4. Entirely restricting new development in 
areas at risk of flooding (i.e. in Flood Zones 2 or 3 or in a - Critical Drainage 
Area). - Again it is considered that a hybrid and flexible approach should be 
taken in respect of the location of new development. In principle Scenario 1 
is the most appropriate approach. However, it is clear that infill 
development within built up areas will not meet development needs. 
Again, it is not considered that there would be strong demand for high rise 
/ high density developments within the borough. It follows that pursuing 
Scenario 2 is absolutely necessary if the borough is to deliver the right 
amount of development in the right locations. - In respect of Scenario 3, it 
is unclear as to whether there is sufficient evidence available to judge 
whether this is a viable option. However, our client is a major landowner in 
the Borough and has the potential to deliver a comprehensive scheme 
adjacent to key transport infrastructure. Therefore, if the Council was 
minded to explore opportunities for a new settlement as part of the Local 
Plan Review we would wish to engage further with you to explore 
opportunities in close proximity to the M58 and without the need to 
address extensive landowner assembly that is often associated with 
strategic sites. -  - Whilst we agree with Scenario 4 in principle, it is 
considered that taking a blanket approach to flood risk (Zones 2&3) may 
rule out some parcels of land that are suitable for development, where 
suitable mitigation can be provided. Indeed, it is clear that a Green Belt 
Review is required. The Green Belt Review process, will identify those 
parcels of land that are severely constrained and therefore those which are 
considered to be unsuitable for development. Furthermore, sustainable 
drainage systems, such as swales can be incorporated into developments as 
part of public open space, potentially providing mitigation as well as nature 
and biodiversity benefits. - It should also be noted that our client owns a 
substantial amount of land adjacent to Edge Hill University. A key part of 
both the Councils vision and objectives is to ensure that there is sufficient 
student accommodation in the borough as well as being able to 
successfully retain graduates. It therefore follows that expansion of Edge 
Hill University will be necessary. Indeed we understand that the University 
are trying to diversify and increase their offer to attract a wider range of 
students. - It is understood through discussions with the Universities 
representatives that additional land for campus expansion is likely be 
required beyond 2022 to meet development needs. The University has 
begun to speak to adjoining landowners about potential further land 
acquisition to deliver an expansion of the Ormskirk campus and we 
consider that this expansion should form part of a wider mixed use 
development expansion proposal of Ormskirk.

Noted

64 It is our Clients’ view that Green Belt release is essential to meet the future 
needs of the Borough both in terms of housing and employment. Without 
Green Belt release, none of these options are possible.  -  - It is our Clients’ 
view that Option 2 is the most appropriate option, which relates to locating 
new development adjacent to existing settlements to reduce the need to 
travel and reduce emissions. Our Clients’ have significant land interests for 
housing and employment at land to the west of Skelmersdale and it is 
considered that building a large urban extension to the west of 
Skelmersdale would be the most appropriate option. Whilst it would result 
in the inevitable loss of Green Belt, as alluded to previously, Green Belt 
release is required within West Lancashire to meet the growth aspirations 
over the Plan period.

Noted

Page 548



ID Representor Comments Council Response

66 To meet identified housing need the Council will likely need to undertake a 
review of the existing Green Belt boundaries. It is essential that in 
conducting a Green Belt review the Council are satisfied that enough land 
will have been released to ensure housing needs are met both within this 
plan period and beyond for the next plan period to ensure that they do not 
have to be reviewed again in the short term. -  - Indeed, the Framework is 
clear that ‘when defining boundaries, local planning authorities should 
not - include land which it is unnecessary to keep permanently open.’ Once 
established, revised Green Belt boundaries should have regard to their 
intended permanence in the long term, so that they should be capable of 
enduring beyond the plan period. -  - Gladman appreciate that the release 
of sites from the Green Belt is a controversial issue, but this is - likely to be 
necessary to meet full OAN for housing and in the likely event that WLBC 
need to assist - neighbouring authorities in the HMA to meet unmet needs. 
Releasing sufficient land during this Plan - will remove the risk of further 
pressures in the future, will help to meet local housing needs and will - 
begin to tackle the significant issue of housing affordability in the borough 
which is placing a significant strain on the local area in terms of young 
people being able to afford accommodation. The Council need to be 
confident that the level of Green Belt release will be sufficient to meet this 
need and outlast the plan period as stated by the Framework guidelines.

The Local Plan will propose an amendment 
to the Green Belt boundary should land 
need to be released from the Green Belt to 
meet development needs.  However, a 
Green Belt Review (i.e. an assessment of 
whether the land that is currently within the 
Green Belt fulfils at least one of the 
purposes of the Green Belt) was prepared in 
2012 for the last Local Plan, and its findings 
still stand (that virtually all land within the 
West Lancashire Green Belt around existing 
settlements fulfills at least one purpose of 
the Green Belt).  As such, for the Local Plan 
Review, should Green Belt release be 
necessary, determination of which sites to 
release for allocation will be based upon 
other factors, as the fact that all potential 
sites in the Green Belt meet a purpose of the 
Green Belt has been established.

67 Option 2 would appear to be the only logical option. - Opportunities within 
exisiting settlements are limited having been the focus for many years - the 
potential within settlements is finite. -  - see attached submissions. -  - In 
terms of flood risk matters and the utilisation of areas most at risk of 
flooding it is the case that the NPPF and PPG set out a clear sequential test 
to be applied in the preparation of Local Plans.  The unequivocal national 
policy position is that development be directed away from areas most at 
risk of flooding (Flood Zones 2 and 3) as a preference.  Therefore, sites 
which are largely free from flood risks constraints (i.e. sites that are wholly 
or predominantly in Flood Zone 1) should be considered ahead of other 
sites more at risk (i.e. wholly or largely in flood Zones 2 and 3.  it is assumed 
that the emerging Local Plan will be subject to thorough and robust 
sequential testing.

Noted

69 This is not  satisfactory as a list of options. "Option 4" is essential, and 
surely not in reality an option! -  - Option 1 would in many cases be the 
most sustainable (resource-efficient). A mixture of Options 1 and 2, decided 
on a case-by-case basis, may be best. Maximising the use of existing 
development would be better still. Option 3 would not appear sustainable 
even in solely financial terms.

Noted

70 The options discussed within this section of the paper outline a number of 
options for locations - including infill, development adjacent to existing 
settlements and creating brand new - settlements. -  - Whilst undertaking 
infill development can contribute towards the Council meeting its housing - 
target, it is considered unlikely that this alone would provide the required 
housing numbers - and that the Council will likely need to look at new 
development adjacent to existing - settlements. The Commissioners believe 
this is the most desirable option as it will provide the - opportunity to meet 
the housing requirements in the Local Plan whilst at the same time 
utilising - and ‘plugging into’ infrastructure which exists in current 
settlements. -  - Any decisions on the location of development will need to 
be informed by the SHELAA in terms - of local constraints and a revised 
Green Belt Study.

Noted

72 Produce the best spaces you can where demand guarantees success by 
sensitively growing the existing smaller settlements into peripheral green 
belt with much needed residential development. This will attract inward 
investment and kick start growth. Build on brownfield sites within green 
belt irrespective of where it is located within the Borough as long as there 
is demand. the alternative is stagnation, decline and reduced local 

Noted

Page 549



ID Representor Comments Council Response

authority funding in West Lancashire. Make the most of the Authority's 
strengths rather than focus on its weaknesses.

73 Edge Hill University is keen to ensure that the new Local Plan strongly 
supports the - University’s continued development and growth. The 
University is a key economic driver - for the borough, a job generator, a 
producer of graduates with key skills and a provider - of well used 
community facilities. The importance and the contribution the University 
can - make to the borough and its economic growth will only increase 
through the Local Plan - period. - The University is currently preparing an 
update to its Estates Strategy, which will - crystallise the University’s 
growth ambitions and provide an updated Development - Framework 
demonstrating how this could be achieved. Through this process, the - 
University has identified development opportunities within the campus for 
the next 4 – 5 - years. - In the circumstances, the University is keen to 
ensure that a new Local Plan supports - and encourages the institution’s 
growth aspirations to be met and further economic - value to be captured 
and realised in the borough. It will be important for the Plan to - provide 
sufficient flexibility to adapt to changing circumstances over the plan 
period, and - to include relevant ‘triggers’ for review. This will be especially 
relevant if WLBC opts to - prepare a plan up to 2050. - While the University 
is in the early stages of development planning for the longer term, it - can 
confirm that additional land for campus expansion is likely be required 
beyond 2022 - to meet development needs (as articulated above). As such 
the University has begun to - speak with the adjoining landowner about 
potential further land acquisition to deliver an - expansion of the Ormskirk 
campus and which is likely to form part of a wider mixed-use - expansion 
proposal of Ormskirk. - The University is keen to work with WLBC and other 
stakeholders to develop this - concept further over the coming months to 
inform the Local Plan process.

Noted

74 Option 2 – Locating new development adjacent to existing settlements Noted

75 We agree with the Sustainability Appraisal, that Options 1 and 2 are the 
most sustainable. However, Option 1 should be revised to include 
prioritising infill development or high-rise buildings on under-utilised land. 
Infill development should also improve the quality of housing and urban 
green space that is available.

Noted

76 To ensure future development is sustainable by way of location, new 
development should be principally located within and adjacent to existing 
settlements. This includes settlements that do not fall within the borough 
of West Lancashire, as is the case with my client’s Site, which effectively 
functions as part of Simonswood (Knowsley Council). - Previously 
developed sites in these locations benefit from existing utility connections 
and direct links to sustainable transport connections as well as being in 
close proximity to existing local services and facilities. This will enable 
future households to support existing services, as opposed to requiring the 
provision of new facilities etc. This approach will ensure new development, 
in terms of its location, is sustainable. - Discounting sites purely on high 
level technical constraints is not considered to be appropriate. Each site 
should be assessed on its merits, particularly in respect of flooding and 
drainage. As part of the Local Plan Review process opportunities should be 
made available to explore these technical issues to ascertain the source and 
the true element of risk as well as the potential to mitigate against it whilst 
also ensuring that the risk of flooding elsewhere is not increased in 
accordance with the NPPF.

Noted

77 No in flood areas or encroaching on greenbelt. Noted

78 Not in flood areas or near nature reserves and natural habitat - so 
important to many visitors or encroaching on green belt and agricultural 
land should grow more locally. 

Noted

81 Option 2 is the most sustainable option, being new developments should Noted
Page 550



ID Representor Comments Council Response

be located adjacent to existing 'settlements' to reduce the need to travel 
and reduce emissions. -  - New developments should be proportionally 
distributed between key service centres and key sustainable villages, in the 
Northern Parishes (i.e. Tarleton).  -  - Such new sustainable developments,  
through the development on land, should be considered in the following 
chronological order: -  - i. within existing settlement boundary - ii. 
Protected Land (that is a logical expansion of existing settlement 
boundary) - iii. Land released from the Green Belt, where appropriate, 
provided that the housing needs cannot be met by land within the policies 
(i and ii above) -  - - a separate explicit policy to enable residential 
development on previously developed land within the Green Belt -  - 
Notwithstanding, 'settlements' should include Key Sustainable Villages (i.e 
Tarleton) and Rural Sustainable Villages (i.e. Mere Brow), as defined in the 
Adopted Local Plan 2012-2027. -  - Given the geographic location of the 
West Lancashire Borough, it is unreasonable to exclude any development 
that it is a Flood Zone, provided that it meets the requirements under the 
NPPG.

82 Option 4 is essential - and surely not just an option. Option 1 is the most 
sustainable choice, but  - a mixture of Options 1 & 2 decided on a case by 
case basis could be beneficial but only after maximising the use of existing 
developments.   -  - This list would make more sense as priorities rather 
than options - 

Noted

89 Section 3.5 of the Strategic Options Paper considers the precise location of 
new development within a spatial area. - Option 1 seeks to maximise the 
capacity of existing settlements by prioritising infill development within the 
built-up area or by building higher. - Our client does not support this option 
due to the potentially higher build costs associated with these locations for 
employment uses, which could render development unviable or require 
unreasonable and unsightly noise mitigation. - West Lancashire identify 
that Option 1 could also potentially result in the loss of valuable urban 
green space or cause the over-development of built up areas. Our Client 
agrees that these are significant concerns in relation to this option. This 
policy could result in development which does not accord with section 7 of 
the Framework and significantly alter the character of the existing 
settlements. - Option 2 seeks to locate new development adjacent to 
existing settlements with a view to reducing the need to travel and lessen 
emissions. This Option is supported by our Clients as this comprises 
sustainable development in accordance with Paragraph 30 of the 
Framework which states: - “Encouragement should be given to solutions 
which support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and reduce 
congestion. In preparing Local Plans, local planning authorities should 
therefore support a pattern of development which, where reasonable to do 
so, facilitates the use of sustainable modes of transport.” - It is 
acknowledged by West Lancashire, within this Option, that Green Belt 
release will be required for this development scenario to be delivered. We 
support the Council and accept the need to release Green Belt around 
existing settlements to meet the needs of existing and future residents. - 
Option 3 suggests that a new settlement is built with the necessary 
infrastructure. - Our Client does not support this option; this would not 
meet the immediate needs of the Borough as delivery of a Strategic Village 
would require significant levels of new development which takes time. As 
detailed above, the study undertaken by Hourigan Connolly in Respect of 
the Deliveryof Urban Extensions concluded that from the point of achieving 
an allocation it is reasonable to assume it would take a developer 
approximately 5.5 years to even achieve a start on site. - In addition to the 
lack of immediate delivery, there would be a significant amount of 
additional costs associated with development where there is a lack of key 
infrastructure existing already. This could render development in the rural 
areas unviable - The adoption of Option 4 would entirely restrict 
development in areas at risk of flooding. Our Client agrees that this option 
would conform with the policies in Chapter 10 of the Framework. 

Noted

Page 551



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Restricting development in areas at risk of flooding is supported in 
principle. However, it is recognised that some small development may be 
required in order to ensure the vitality and viability of settlements.

95 3.46 The preferred strategic development option selected by WLBC will 
inform the spatial framework from which development is to be allocated. 
However, equally pertinent is the precise location of new development 
within a spatial area, especially in relation to minimising the impact of new 
development on the natural environment and planning for the impacts of 
climate change. WLBC has proposed a series of (not necessarily mutually 
exclusive) options which are currently being considered, including: - (i) 
Maximise the capacity of existing settlements by prioritising infill 
developments within the built-up area or by building higher. - (ii) Locate 
new development outside of but adjacent to existing settlements to reduce 
the need to travel and reduce emissions. - (iii) Create brand new 
settlements with the necessary associated infrastructure. - 3.47 DWH 
acknowledges the aspiration to focus development within the built-up area 
of existing settlements and supports the objective of re-using brownfield 
land. However, there is simply not enough land of this type to meet the 
housing needs of the Borough and it is not coming forward at anything like 
the rate needed. This is evident in the slow rate of delivery of new homes in 
Skelmersdale. In Ormskirk with Aughton, WLBC’s evidence identifies a 
maximum land supply of just 94 dwellings within the existing urban area. 
Even if there was sufficient land within the existing urban areas to 
accommodate housing needs, doing so would not necessarily result in a 
sustainable pattern of growth. Prioritising infill development and/or 
building upwards would risk the loss of valuable urban green space or 
cause over-development in existing built-up areas, potentially markedly 
changing the character of our existing towns and villages. - 3.48 There is 
therefore a need to undertake the early release of greenfield land alongside 
ongoing regeneration schemes. This is particularly the case in Ormskirk with 
Aughton, given the significant shortage of land supply within the existing 
urban area and the emerging significant economic growth opportunities in 
the local area. Given that the Green Belt is tightly drawn around the 
existing urban area, the release of land from the Green Belt for 
development will be necessary. - Exceptional Circumstances for Green Belt 
release - 3.49 The Green Belt is not an environmental designation; it is a 
strategic planning tool which was introduced to manage the growth of 
urban areas. It is wholly appropriate to revisit Green Belt boundaries when 
development requirements justify this. Given the critical shortage of 
deliverable land supply in the Borough, DWH’s strong view is that there are 
likely to be clear “…exceptional circumstances…” (NPPF, paragraph 82) to 
amend the existing Green Belt boundaries. Those exceptional 
circumstances are particularly evident in Ormskirk with Aughton; Green 
Belt releases in the settlement are now critical if it is to grow sustainably, 
meet its housing needs, and capitalise upon the economic growth 
opportunities which are available in the local area. - 3.50 WLBC has 
expressed concerns that Government policy may prevent Green Belt 
releases from being undertaken unless they relate solely to the minimum 
baseline demographic needs of the Borough. The Government has recently 
set out its approach to ‘exceptional circumstances’ in the Housing White 
Paper8. This states that: - “…authorities should only amend Green Belt 
boundaries when they can demonstrate that they have examined fully all 
other reasonable options for meeting their identified development 
requirements…” (Annex 2) - 3.51 This makes it clear that Green Belt 
releases can be undertaken to meet the identified ‘development 
requirement’ for the Borough, as long as “all other options” for doing so 
have been explored. A Local Plan development requirement is derived not 
just in respect of the baseline demographic needs, but also mindful of the 
forecast economic growth within the relevant area and other emerging 
growth opportunities. This is one of the ‘Core Planning Principles’ set out at 
paragraph 17 of the NPPF, which states that Local Plans should not only 
seek to meet the objectively identified needs of their areas but should also 

Noted

Page 552



ID Representor Comments Council Response

“…respond positively to wider opportunities for growth…”. - 3.52 For 
example, in West Lancashire the recent development of Liverpool 2 and the 
continued development of assets such as Edge Hill University will result in a 
higher level of economic growth in the Borough, above that captured in 
baseline economic forecasts. Such growth opportunities will only be 
successful if they are accompanied by a commensurate level of housing 
growth. Such housing growth must therefore be factored into the 
development requirement of the Borough and can justify Green Belt 
release if there are no other reasonable options to provide it. DWH does 
not consider that Government would act to prevent a local planning 
authority from undertaking a Green Belt release if it is necessary in order to 
secure positive and sustainable growth opportunities. - 3.53 WLBC has set 
out that it intends to use the previous Green Belt Assessment – prepared in 
2011 to inform the current Local Plan – to inform decisions about potential 
releases. DWH does not agree with this approach. It was prepared over six 
years ago and there may have been material changes in respect of both the 
sites to be considered and to the methodology which should be applied, 
which should be taken into account as part of the Local Plan Review 
process. The Green Belt Assessment should therefore be updated to ensure 
that it is capable of forming a robust part of the evidence base. - Approach 
to regeneration - 3.54 DWH notes that WLBC is raised the prospect of 
undertaking a Green Belt review to facilitate the delivery of a large-scale 
urban extension on the edge of Skelmersdale. DWH strongly disagrees with 
this approach. As set out earlier in this report, there are significant market 
challenges associated with the viable delivery of a large number of new 
homes in Skelmersdale. This is evident in the slow rate of delivery 
experienced in recent years, with large areas of available land being 
available but unused as a result of the weak market demands in the town. 
A new large-scale sustainable urban extension on the outskirts of the 
settlement would need to be accompanied by significant investment in new 
infrastructure; it is highly unlikely that this would be viable, given the 
challenges associated with the development of land which is available now 
and which does not require such investment. - 3.55 WLBC has advised that 
there are emerging plans to deliver a rail station in Skelmersdale, alongside 
a branch line on the Kirby-Wigan rail line. This proposal may help to 
improve the strength of the market in the town in the future. However, it 
will be many years before such proposals are realised and, even if it is, it is 
only one of many steps required to address the lack of demand in 
Skelmersdale. - 3.56 DWH’s strong view is therefore that the delivery of a 
large-scale urban extension on the edge of Skelmersdale is not a deliverable 
or justifiable response to the Borough’s growth needs. Even if it was 
deliverable it would not address the urgent and growing need for new 
homes in other high demand locations, such as in Ormskirk with Aughton. 
However, the delivery of new homes in such locations could help to 
facilitate the regeneration of Skelmersdale. - 3.57 Development in areas of 
high demand is typically more capable of viably contributing towards the 
delivery of infrastructure or affordable homes. WLBC could seek to re-
direct a proportion of such contributions towards the regeneration efforts 
in other areas of the Borough where financial returns are more limited in 
scale. DWH would welcome a discussion with WLBC regarding the 
feasibility of such an approach, mindful of the legal and financial 
mechanisms available.

96 The current Local Plan has largely adopted Option 1, with a refinement 
wherein development opportunity has - been focused in regeneration areas 
to encourage investment and vitality. Regrettably, market conditions in 
areas - such as Skelmersdale have resulted in low housing delivery despite 
the favourable policy position. - We would therefore suggest that Option 1 
would not represent a positive way forward to achieve the ambitions - of 
the Vision. We would suggest that Option 2 provides a positive way 
forward and in the case of land at and to - the south of St Joseph’s 
Seminary provides an opportunity to deliver development adjacent to the 
settlement - boundary and not requiring any further built development 

Noted

Page 553



ID Representor Comments Council Response

north of the Seminary complex. - Option 3 represents a feasible option only 
necessary where development cannot be identified under Option 2, - and is 
not thought necessary at least in the context of the Skelmersdale and Up 
Holland Spatial Area. We do not - support Objective 4, which runs contrary 
to founding principles of the planning system which seeks to ensure that - 
proposals are considered on their merits through a planning balance 
exercise.

97 Clearly national policy directs development towards urban areas and 
indeed defined centres. with respect to commercial development. The 
experience of West Lancashire through the most recent Local Plan is to give 
substantial preference to housing development in the Skelmersdale area to 
support regeneration, and whilst encouraging the town centre expansion it 
also introduced a mechanism to safeguard the existing retail core which is 
underperforming. -  - The resultant under‐delivery of housing and town 
centre development in Skelmersdale is an unintended consequence, but 
regrettable. It is recommended that the Council consider a broader range 
of development options for housing development to include a greater 
emphasis on areas with stronger market signals to pumpprime delivery 
including unmet needs for affordable housing. Development for town 
centre uses should be focused in Skelmersdale town centre and that land 
identified through a primary shopping area (PSA). The PSA will cement the 
opportunity for the extension to supplement the existing offer of the 
Concourse, and must therefore include both the Concourse and the 
consented extension scheme. - Should the Council conclude that there is 
merit in progressing a scheme for a retail warehouse park, opportunities to 
site that in other parts of the current Skelmersdale town centre should be 
investigated. In the event that a suitable site cannot be identified in the 
current Skelmersdale town centre area, only at that point should the 
Council look to progress out‐of‐centre options.

Noted

99 It is our Clients’ view that Green Belt release is essential to meet the future 
needs of the Borough both in terms of housing and employment. Without 
Green Belt release, none of these options are possible. It is our Clients’ view 
that Option 2 is the most appropriate option, which relates to locating new 
development adjacent to existing settlements to reduce the need to travel 
and reduce emissions. Our Clients’ have significant land interests for 
housing and employment at land to the west of Skelmersdale and it is 
considered that building a large urban extension to the west of 
Skelmersdale would be the most appropriate option. Whilst it would result 
in the inevitable loss of Green Belt, as alluded to previously, Green Belt 
release is required within West Lancashire to meet the growth aspirations 
over the Plan period.

Noted

101 I feel extreme caution should be applied in any increase in development in 
the high flood risk zones.  - The Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Level 1, 
February 2017) is a very thorough review, but admits (paragraph 9.1 and 
9.2) that it takes no account of increased future risk of flooding due to 
climate change. Although the local plan only covers a few years, we should 
be considering the lifetime of the housing development - which could easily 
be up to the end of the century. (Built in 2037 its first mortgage could be till 
2067!). By 2100 we can expect sea-level rise of up to around 1 metre [this is 
my area of expertise, although I don't have explicit figures for the 
Lancashire coast which may be lower or higher than this global average 
figure]. This rise may substantially increase the low-lying areas at risk - the 
spring tide will reach over 6m compared to the Ordance Survey datum. It 
will also put increased pressure on flood defences and pumping, so it would 
be wise to assume that these resources may not continue to be available 
indefinitely.  - There are also possible changes in rainfall, storminess and 
river flow, all of which make local prediction very difficult and explain why 
the Environment Agency have not yet carried out the mapping. It is worth 
bearing in mind that this is an extremely active area of research and 
improved data may come to light during the lifetime of the Local Plan. -  - 

Noted

Page 554



ID Representor Comments Council Response

However I understand the argument that complete rejection of planning in 
those areas will be damaging to the existing villages, and the older 
settlements are generally on small areas of higher ground. Is it possible to 
implement an option that development in these areas is only permissible 
subject to investment in specific flood-protection measures, at either 
household or village level? We may choose to build houses on stilts! 
Sewerage, Power and roads to developments also need protection.

107 Option 1, could provide solutions to a number of issues. - 1. Building higher 
level apartments within Ormskirk town centre could provide both privately 
owned affordable -  Housing and the additional population needed to drive 
rejuvenation. -  - 2. This could also work for Skelmersdale which again 
needs both more affordable housing and a major population increase.

Noted

108 Option 4 seems necessary within the other options. No development 
should be done in flood risk areas. - Option 1 is the most sustainable and 
should be done where possible. - Option 2 is the right option in some cases 
. - This would work better if if it was priority list eg - 1. No new 
development in flood areas - 2. Prioritise infill developments ( option 1) - 
3.Then use adjacent to existing settlements( option 2) if this was deemed 
necessary on a case by case basis -  -  -  

Noted

111 Section 3.5 of the Strategic Options Paper considers the precise location of 
new development - within a spatial area.  Option 1 seeks to maximise the 
capacity of existing settlements by prioritising infill development within the 
built-up area or by building higher.  Our client does not support this option 
due to the potentially higher build costs associated with taller buildings, 
which could render development unviable or unable to deliver the required 
affordable housing and infrastructure required.West Lancashire identify 
that Option 1 could also potentially result in the loss of valuable urban - 
green space or cause the over-development of built up areas. Our Client 
agrees that these are - significant concerns in relation to this option. This 
policy could result in development which does - not accord with section 7 
of the Framework and significantly alters the character of the existing - 
settlements.Option 2 seeks to locate new development adjacent to existing 
settlements with a view to - reducing the need to travel and lessen 
emissions. This Option is supported by our Clients as this - comprises 
sustainable development in accordance with Paragraph 30 of the 
Framework which - states: - “Encouragement should be given to solutions 
which support reductions in - greenhouse gas emissions and reduce 
congestion. In preparing Local Plans, - local planning authorities should 
therefore support a pattern of development - which, where reasonable to 
do so, facilitates the use of sustainable modes of - transport.”It is 
acknowledged by West Lancashire, within this Option, that Green Belt 
release will be required - for this development scenario to be delivered. We 
support the Council and accept the need to - release Green Belt around 
existing settlements to meet the needs of existing and future 
residents.Option 3 suggests that a new settlement is built with the 
necessary infrastructure Our Client does not support this option; this would 
not meet the immediate needs of the Borough - as delivery of a Strategic 
Village would require significant levels of new development which takes - 
time. As detailed above, the study undertaken by Hourigan Connolly in 
Respect of the Delivery - of Urban Extensions concluded that from the point 
of achieving an allocation it is reasonable to - assume it would take a 
developer approximately 5.5 years to even achieve a start on site. In 
addition to the lack of immediate delivery, there would be a significant 
amount of additional - costs associated with development where there is a 
lack of key infrastructure existing already. - This could render development 
in the rural areas unviable. The adoption of Option 4 would entirely restrict 
development in areas at risk of flooding. Our - Client agrees that this option 
would conform with the policies in Chapter 10 of the Framework. - 
Restricting development in areas at risk of flooding is supported in 
principle. However, it is - recognised that some small development may be 

Noted

Page 555



ID Representor Comments Council Response

required in order to ensure the vitality and - viability of settlements. 

Page 556



Question 14: In your experience, what are the infrastructure and 
transport constraints in the areas of West Lancashire that you live, 
work and spend leisure time in? Where is infrastructure and transport 
well-provided for in West Lancashire and in what way?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

9 I chose to move to a semi-rural area therefore I accept that I need to drive 
to most places. If people want good public transport they should move to a 
city.  

Noted

14 I think this is very important. Transport should be prioritised.  - We need 
better trains, more frequently to Preston, also to link into skem if possible 
to the proposed new station. - Cycling is positively dangerous along main 
roads, many more would cycle if it were not so. Allow cyclists to share 
pavements with pedestrians, link the towns with cycle tracks. - find ways 
somehow to get people out of their cars for short round town rides.

Noted - the Council recognise that the 
provision of improved transport and cycling 
infrastructure alongside new development is 
important, and the Local Plan will reflect 
this.  The Council's Green Infrastructure & 
Cycling Strategy sets out a series of proposals 
that it is hoped can be delivered in West 
Lancashire to improve cycling if funding can 
be identified to deliver it.

18 no comment

20 Although Aughton is well served by railway stations and served by the  A59, 
there are traffic issues on other roads in Aughton which are not designed to 
carry large numbers of vehicular traffic and would certainly not be able to 
cope with such an increase brought about by a large influx of new housing 
developments.

Noted

24 As above, I think priority should be given to Skelmersdale in all areas, to 
make it a better place to live, to improve transport (train particularly), to 
provided better and more housing.

Noted

26 No comment 

28 The road infrastructure is adequate and serves the needs of business and 
industry based on the existing industrial estates and service centres. - Rail 
linkage is poor and the plan for a rail station at Skelmersdale would have 
limited impact on Up Holland. -  - Investment in environmental corridors, 
walkways and cycleways should be a major priority. - This includes 
pavements alongside existing roads to link residential areas with service 
centres.

Noted

30 Please see suggestion previously made about parking at Pimbo for Up 
Holland Station. Educational provision in Skelmersdale is poor and has 
declined while I have lived here.  It is not now possible to study for "A" 
levels. The closure of Glenburn and loss of its sporting faclities is regretted.  
Land must be made available in the new plan for a new school on the 
former Westbank/Glenburn site, easily accessed on foot.  It is not 
sustainable to encourage children to travel out of town for education.  
Lathom High had to provide "temporary shed accommodation to 
accommodate children displaced from Glenburn.   Not an attractive option 
and one that will not encourage people to buy on the new development at 
Woodlands.  Should the new Skem Town Centr station ever materialise it 
will need to be supported by a multistory car park.  To create a 500 place 
Park and Ride Car Park will involve destruction of all town centre playing 
pitches.  An attractive feature and major design feature of the New Town 
plan.  It gives a good impression when entering from the M58. l 

Noted

31 I live in Tarleton, close to the boundary with Hesketh Lane. The Local Plan 
acknowledges Hesketh Lane as one of the three most congested roads in 
West Lancashire. It typically grinds to a halt twice per day during school 
term times. Cycle travel around the villages of Tarleton and Hesketh bank is 
hazardous. I do not believe the proposed Green Lane link would allieviate 
the problems as this would be mainly of benefit to commercial hauliers that 

Noted

Page 557



ID Representor Comments Council Response

mostly avoid Hesketh Lane at peak times.

32 There are significant infrastructure issues in the Northern Parishes.  
Hesketh Lane can barely cope with the traffic it is currently handling, it was 
not designed to handle the amount of traffic it now sees on a daily basis.  - 
Tarleton village centre struggles with large lorries going back and forth to 
growers in the area. - There are also drainage issues, as well regular 
problems with water pressure. - I travel to work from Tarleton to both 
Ormskirk and Upholland the roads are in very poor repair and although 
they are being patched up this is not adequate. - Skelmersdale has an  
excellent road network and motorway access.

Noted

34 When the site allocations are at a stage ready for consultation, we will be 
happy to review future site allocations against our remit and associated 
environmental constraints. We would request advance notification of an 
upcoming consultation where possible and that shape files are provided to 
allow for efficient analysis.

Noted

35 As discussed throughout these representations, it is recognised that 
infrastructure within some locations of the Borough, including within 
Burscough, may be close to capacity or in need of upgrading/improvement 
works. Where new development is proposed, it may be possible for 
improvements to infrastructure to be undertaken to mitigate the impacts 
and in conjunction with the Council, could result in upgrades to benefit the 
wider community. - The opportunities for such should be given careful 
consideration, although it must be the case that contributions made 
towards infrastructure improvements as a result of a development are 
proportionate to the development coming forward.

Noted

39 Response A– The constraints in Halsall are poor quality network of rural 
roads (Moss Roads) which with current driving speed limits represent a 
serious safety hazard with deep drainage ditches abutting roads and 
numerous accidents recorded and barely able to serve the agricultural 
vehicles serving those areas. -  - The lack of bus service to Shirdley Hill 
providing a severe mobility problem for many elderly residents and 
employees and visitors to businesses and the hospital situated in the 
area,exacerbated by lack of pavements on roads used by Southport and 
Ormskirk traffic. -  - Lack of suitable drainage provision to numerous areas 
in Halsall causing localised flooding (sewage) to Housing situated within the 
village and at it borders. - 

Noted

42 Our core charitable concern is the current lack of a strategic and integrated 
approach to West Lancashire's green infrastructure. Such an approach 
would include the identification of the location and types of current green 
infrastructure within, adjacent to and crossing the borough, the ecosystem 
services each delivers, and the current gaps in green infrastructure 
provision and maintenance; and the related efficient and effective delivery 
of ecosystem services at the times and places where these are most needed.

Noted.  The Council do have a Green 
Infrastructure & Cycling Strategy and have 
sought to ensure that the Ecological 
Networks previously identifed by the Wildlife 
Trust for Lancashire County Council are not 
unduly affected by the proposed GI network.

46 There are significant infrastructure restraints throughout the rural areas of 
the borough and even within some of the main settlement centres, 
especially Burscough where the highways, drainage and sewage facilities 
are at or near capacity. The northern Parishes suffer from being in effect 
'terminus' settlements as most residents are employed outside of where 
they live and thus there is a commuter style of living which has the effect of 
producing dormitory settlements leading to traffic congestion.

48 Finance is the main constraint. Affordable, regular and targetted bus routes 
would encourage greater use. Better and affordable train links from 
Ormskirk to Southport, Preston, Skelmersdale and Manchester would 
reduce the need and use of private car use. Lack of a regional public 
transport system does discriminate against the least well off and reinforces 
social segregation. The decline of Ormskirk town centre as a market and 
shopping centre should be addressed.

Noted

Page 558



ID Representor Comments Council Response

57 Effective public transport is non-existent in the majority of this rural 
borough and this is highly unlikley to change.  Therefore, the needs of 
private transport (ie private cars, etc) needs to be properly planned for.

Noted, although the Local Plan seek to see 
public transport provision improved 
alongside new development and cannot be 
overly-reliant on a rural highway network 
which is not always suitable for taking 
significantly more traffic than existing.

61 In the Northern parishes road infrastructure is poor, particularly Hesketh 
Lane , the one road between Tarleton & Hesketh Bank. - Even the A59 , the 
main road between Preston & Ormskirk struggles to deal with the existing 
volume of traffic. An accident or road works on or near Bank Bridge on A59 
can cause major traffic delays and disruption.  - In addition, water pressure 
is low in Hesketh Bank & Tarleton. - The proposal to switch off pumping 
stations is a major concern for potential flooding in Rufford.

Noted

64 Our Clients understand the need for developer contributions to help secure 
both on and off site infrastructure provision, where this is necessary to 
make development acceptable in planning terms. It is a well-documented 
position that there are infrastructure constraints within Skelmersdale and 
the wider Borough, many of which could be addressed by improvements to 
the infrastructure throughout the Borough. These constraints are identified 
within the Draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan (“IDP”). -  - The Council should 
ensure that the emerging Local Plan can facilitate the level of infrastructure 
needed to prevent delays in delivering housing sites. Emerging Local Plan 
policies should ensure that they are not so onerous that they restrict or 
delay delivery.  -  - Further details are required as to how the adopted 
Community Infrastructure Levy will apply to new developments, including 
strategic sites.   -  - We support the Council’s position that the IDP is an 
evolving document which will be updated as part of the Council’s evidence 
base.

Noted

69 The reductions over recent years in our already-limited public transport is a 
severe constraint on people needing or wishing to travel for work, 
shopping, and all services, around the borough or to and from adjacent 
places/regions [apart from those able to access the Merseyrail trains 
between Ormskirk and Liverpool.] -  - This is a significant factor in reducing 
the footfall and thus the economic success of Ormskirk market and town 
centre shops, for example, to the detriment of largely independent and 
local businesses.  The absence of any convenient rail services or station has 
held back the potential development of Skelmersdale. Bus services are few 
and far between now, and fail to connect the town and activity centres 
with the outlying villages and rural areas. -  - Lack of public transport 
discriminates sharply and in multiple ways against those least economically 
and socially advantaged - e.g. those who most need jobs are less likely to 
be able to run a car . -  - For those who need to make work or social 
journeys in the evenings or on Sundays, there are few if any "non-car" 
options.  -  - Road haulage based businesses (and longer distance 
commuters using cars) here appear to be better provided for, with an 
adequate motorway coverage/connections  and adjacent 
industrial/distribution sites.

Noted

70 The provision of infrastructure is important to support future development 
and growth; - however, the Commissioners believe that the phasing of such 
infrastructure will be key to - ensuring that house building is not unduly 
delayed and that the infrastructure burden is not - so high as to make 
providing new homes unviable. -  - Key to this for some sites will be 
maximising existing infrastructure, transport and services - that are already 
present in the area (particularly in urban areas). For instance, the nearby - 
town of Ainsdale in Sefton has such infrastructure which would make new 
development on the - settlement’s edge a deliverable prospect. This is 
commensurate with the need to locate - development in this area as 
expressed in our comments above. -  - We note that the vast majority of 
Borough-wide infrastructure can be provided through the - adopted 
Community Infrastructure Levy (“CIL”) which was last updated in November 

Noted

Page 559



ID Representor Comments Council Response

2016. It - may be that a further update to the Regulation 123 list is required 
depending on which - scenarios/options are chosen for the Local Plan 
Review. We note that the Council has - undertaken an Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan and would expect this to guide any further changes - to 
CIL. -  - As this is the case, this would mean any further infrastructure 
required to support development - should be site-specific in nature and as 
such, the scope and timing of such contributions is - best discussed through 
the development management process (along with other potential - 
contributions such as affordable housing).

72 Where possible you should focus development close to Grid and Primary 
Electricity substations to reduce the physical size and ecological damage of 
the Electricity Grid and to take up existing transformer capacity before the 
existing cheaper electricity capacity is taken up by adjoining Local 
Authorities such as Chorley and Wigan which are competing with West 
Lancashire for economic growth and prosperity.

Noted

74 Spreading development across the Borough, on more smaller sites can 
reduce the need for major significant infrastructure requirements, with 
existing capacity more likely to be able to meet development needs.  The 
spread across the Borough also reduces the potential for a particular 
location to feel the burden of providing the majority of new development 
over a long period, particularly where associated infrastructure may be 
phased.

Noted

75 Road Safety - The draft of the local plan should recognise the issue of road 
safety more prominently. Killed and Seriously Injured (KSI) levels are only 
currently represented as an indicator within the Sustainability Appraisal, 
but are not referenced within the Issues and Options papers. - Figure 1 
displays KSI causalities for West Lancashire between 2009 and 2014, with 
the district level significantly worse than the England average. - Figure 1 
Killed and Seriously Injured (KSI) casualties on England's roads – - West 
Lancashire between 2009 and 2014. (see charts on PDF) -  - It is 
recommended that highway safety should be a key area for consideration 
when preparing the Preferred Options Paper. This will help West Lancashire 
to deliver healthier communities in accordance with National Planning 
Policy Framework. - The plan preparation should properly consider existing 
evidence on KSIs, with a view to supporting the Towards Zero Lancashire 
Road Safety Strategyiii which recommends a Safe Systems approach. -  - 
Increasing road safety has the opportunity to not only reduce the number 
of road casualties but could also facilitate increased uptake in active travel 
and physical activity, through the provision of a safe highway system and 
public realm.

Noted

77 Within the Skelmersdale area where infrastructure is in place and not in 
small villages such as Appley Bridge, Parbold, Newburgh where 
roads/drains are already ruined.

Noted

78 The good roads around Skelmersdale and M58 should be maximised. Most 
villages suitable only for light industry - no roads! 
Appley/Parbold/Newburgh roads and drains destroyed by traffic far too 
heavy.

Noted

81 As set out at Para. 2.36 of the Adopted West Lancashire Local Plan (2012-
2027), a Key Issue identified "there are issues with traffic congestion in the 
two villages, particularly along the main Hesketh Lane/Station Road route. 
HGV's accessing agricultural and produce/packing facilities combine with 
local traffic, particularly at peak times, and can cause significant 
problems."  -  - In addition, the West Lancashire Highways and Transport 
Masterplan 2013 sets out the vision of constructing the Green Lane Link 
and route management strategy, as a direct solution to the infrastructure 
constraints associated with the Northern Parishes. -  - It is evident that the 
Green Lane Link nor a route management strategy has been implemented 
and it is critical that this is delivered through the emerging Local Plan and is 
maintained as a key issue in order to support the agricultural and food 

Noted - delivery of the Green Lane Link and 
other proposals emerging from the Highways 
& Transport Masterplan are the responsibility 
of Lancashire County Council, although the 
Borough Council would also support the need 
for the implementation of such transport and 
highways schemes.

Page 560



ID Representor Comments Council Response

processing industry in the Northern Parishes.

82 Public transport - reduced bus services, especially to Skelmersdale is forcing 
people into cars. This makes commuting too expensive for those on low 
wages and is a major disincentive to taking up employment opportunities.  
The lack of affordable public transport also affects the elderly and disabled 
causing social exclusion and associated health problems.

Noted

83 I think to make the Skem housing market stronger you need a railway to 
link it properly to both Manchester and Liverpool so that as well as being a 
place to live for working locally it can also attract commuters for work and 
access cultural events in the major cities by sustainable public transport 
that runs regularly into the evening.   To safely access the railway station 
the footpaths across skelmersdale would need making safe to use at night 
by adding LED lighting and upgrading them so they feel safe in the dark.  
(eg install CCTV from the police station and improve sight lines by removing 
dark trees. -  - The third rail electric from Kirkby should be extended out 
into a station by Skem library and nye bevan pools.  The Northern rail 
should be converted to a metrolink tram running through Wigan and into 
Manchester via Atherton/Walkden. - This would give Skem the pulling 
power of a commuter town like Parbold and Burscough- but additionally 
with the local motorway links being good for business too.   Skem should 
put itself forward ahead of other distribution centres that are getting set up 
in Ashton or fringes of St Helens as the correct place for new development 
rather than other cluttered fringes of the M6 corridor. - It would also allow 
skem folk opportunities to work in the bigger cities which currently they 
cannot get to owing to the bad rail link from Upholland station. - I think the 
electric railway from Ormskirk should be extended to Burscough with a new 
station  where the line cuts under the A5209 - this would serve the 
proposed new housing near to the old airfield industrial estate so that 
commuters for liverpool do not drive to work down the A59.  The end 
station to the line should be at Burscough bridge by using the curves so 
that the diesel to Preston starts also at burscough bridge. - Ormskirk Skem 
and Burscough should have plans for cycle routes safe from the main roads 
to get to the railway stations and to the schools and hospitals with cycle 
parking at the main stations.  cycle route from back of edge hill to ormskirk 
town centre uisng ruff lane also serving the hospital. -  - Relocate ormskirk 
railway station or make a good walking route from the station into the 
town centre - 

Noted

87 Burscough Parish Council is extremely concerned about the impact of new 
development on risk of surface water flooding and flooding from sewers.  
The Parish Council welcomes discussions regarding this and sharing 
information.
The key issue for the local plan should be the improvement of 
Skelmersdale, so that it is a town that West Lancs can be truly proud of, 
and a place where residents want to live.   This is achievable, but only if all 
our efforts are put into this.  Otherwise it will never change.

Noted

89 Section 3.7 provides infrastructure delivery options to identify what 
infrastructure and services will be required to support new development 
within the Plan Period. Paragraph 3.7.3 states the following: - “The new 
Local Plan will cover the period to at least 2037, and will inevitably involve 
further housing and employment land development, over and above that 
set out in the 2012-2017 Local Plan…” - It is agreed that further 
infrastructure will be required to support development across the Borough, 
the level and nature of the improvements will be wholly dependent on the 
strategic development options chosen. Each infrastructure scenario 
responds directly to the development distribution scenarios 1 – 4 which are 
discussed above. - Development distribution Scenario 1 perpetuates 
existing patterns of development. Section 3.7 of the report identifies the 
following: - “For the higher development requirements (e.g Options D and 
E) and the longer plan period (Option 2), it is probable that just about all 

Noted

Page 561



ID Representor Comments Council Response

spare existing infrastructure capacity would be ‘used up’ in all settlements. 
However, even for the lower development requirements it is highly likely 
that this scenario would require the significant improvements to 
infrastructure such as waste water treatment serving Ormskirk and 
Burscough…” - We accept that development within existing settlements 
would be likely to require improvements to existing infrastructure. It is 
recommended that the CIL charging schedule is revised once a 
development scenario and sites are selected to ensure that settlements can 
accommodate growth. - Development distribution Scenario 2 sought to 
focus new development in and around the Key Service centres of 
Skelmersdale, Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough. As is identified within 
the discussion above, development within existing settlements will require 
infrastructure improvements. A review of CIL is supported to ensure this 
can be delivered, it is therefore suggested that development is focused in 
higher value areas to ensure that the level of infrastructure required across 
the Borough can be achieved, potentially through additional Section 106 
contributions. - Our client agrees with West Lancashire’s statement within 
Paragraph 3.7.10: - …scenario 2 would accelerate the importance of 
transport improvements at these locations, particularly the need to review 
the road network to ease traffic congestion around Ormskirk and provide a 
new railway station at Skelmersdale. As a focus for public transport to serve 
surrounding areas these settlements would also benefit from improved 
interchanges between different modes of transport, for example from car 
to bus and/or to rail. This may include the provision/ improvement of park 
and ride facilities in key locations (such as rail stations)” - We agree that 
development in the key service centres will result in resolutions to existing 
infrastructure problems and therefore scenario 2 is the preferred scenario - 
Development distribution Scenario 3 focusses development within the rural 
areas. As has been previously discussed this scenario is not supported by 
our Client. West Lancashire identifies that this development distribution 
scenario would result in the need to introduce new infrastructure in 
locations where it does not currently exist. We identified previously that 
the provision of new infrastructure could result in additional abnormal 
costs which may render this development scenario unviable. - Within 
section 3.7 of the Strategic Options Paper, West Lancashire confirm that 
enhancing existing provision is easier than creating it ‘from scratch’. This is 
confirmed further within Paragraph 3.7.11 which states: “Scenario 3 would 
involve more development in rural areas and would require greater 
emphasis upon improvements to rail and bus services in these areas whilst 
managing increased usage of rural roads. The challenge would be to 
improve transport over a wide area, especially public transport. “ - Our 
clients agree with this assertion and would add that this renders 
development distribution scenario 3 unviable. Development distribution 
Scenario 4 built on scenario 2 but with a greater proportion of 
development to be delivered in Skelmersdale. West Lancashire suggest that 
this would ensure existing problems are not exacerbated to any great 
extent. We disagree strongly with this statement; existing infrastructure 
problems should be identified and development which can provide 
infrastructure delivery to improve these issues should be preferred to 
deliver benefits for existing and proposed residents of West Lancashire. 
Paragraph 3.7.12 of the Strategic paper states: - “Focussing development at 
Skelmersdale under scenario 4 would give increased support to the 
proposed Skelmersdale Rail Link and new railway station and could 
potentially minimise the increased demand on congested routes in other 
parts of the Borough.” Our client does not support development 
distribution scenario 4. As is identified within the adopted CIL charging 
schedule development in Skelmersdale cannot contribute towards CIL 
payments. This scenario will not provide enough CIL monies to deliver new 
infrastructure within Skelmersdale let alone elsewhere within the Borough 
and therefore the infrastructure required to improve quality of life will not 
be achieved. In order for West Lancashire to achieve a new Rail Link within 
Skelmersdale development within higher value areas would need to be 
identified. - Paragraph 3.7.6 of the Strategic Paper identifies that situating Page 562



ID Representor Comments Council Response

new development where it is well located or can be made to be well 
located in relation to the transport network. Our Client agrees with this 
statement as it conforms fully with Paragraph 30 of the Framework. 
Development within Burscough would make best use of existing transport 
facilities.

92 The strategic direction set by the Local Plan should be a balanced and 
sustainable development approach towards integrating land use and 
transport, regeneration and economic development, social inclusion and 
help tackle climate change.   -  - It should provide for the integration of land 
use and transport planning.  For example location of development in 
accessible locations, use of TRACC software to assist with this, 
developments based around the need for access by all forms of transport, 
management of parking in new development, expectation that developers 
should contribute to cost of public transport access in areas that are not 
well served by existing public transport services. -  - We welcome the 
transport policies outlined in the document. We note that you have 
mentioned the Local Transport Plan and Transport Plan for Growth but it 
would be useful to additionally make reference to other related transport 
strategies of the Liverpool City Region such as the Rail Strategy, Bus 
Strategy, Local Journeys Strategy, Freight & Logistics Strategy, etc. We are 
also working closely with Lancashire County Council on the proposals for a 
new rail line to and station at Skelmersdale.  -  - Spatial Planning shapes the 
places where people live and work and the country we live in.  Good 
planning ensures that we get the right development, in the right place and 
at the right time.  It makes a positive difference to people’s lives and helps 
to deliver homes, jobs and better opportunities for all, whilst protecting 
and enhancing the natural and historic environment and conserving the 
countryside and open spaces that are vital resources for everyone.  But 
poor planning can result in a legacy for current and future generations of 
run-down town centres, unsafe and dilapidated housing, crime and 
disorder, retrofitting of sustainable transport solutions and the loss of our 
finest countryside and green spaces to development. - Housing provision 
needs to reflect the economic ambition put forward in the City Region 
Growth Strategy and the Government’s Industrial Strategy. Housing is just 
one element of many that go towards creating sustainable communities; it 
is not the only or most important element.  All the various elements are of 
equal importance eg health, education, shops, community facilities, etc.  
Delivering just houses and not communities will just create dormitory 
suburbs and towns and so lead to greater commuting and long distance 
commuting; this will then have significant implications for the transport 
infrastructure.  Currently across the UK there is a major shortage of 
affordable housing and housing to meet the diversity of everyone’s needs. 
It is clear that there is a housing crisis caused due to a growing population 
and the failure to replace sold-off council stock over the past decades. Add 
to that greater numbers of students living away from the family home, as 
well as the increasing cost of housing relative to average incomes, and 
government estimates show that we need to build at least 225,000 homes 
per year to keep up with population growth and start to tackle years of 
undersupply, and this needs to be done as economically as possible. A 
comprehensive package of bold and transformative actions needs to be 
urgently delivered to address this housing crisis. If not people will be forced 
to live further and further away from their place of work and this will lead 
to greater commuting adding to the transport challenges. Not tackling this 
housing crisis adequately will compromise our nation’s economic 
ambitions. -  - Critical issues include land availability, finance availability, 
time taken from planning approval to delivery of new homes, affordable 
housing (that stays affordable for long term) and diversity of housing types 
and tenures, etc. Often there is a time lag between developers gaining 
planning approval and completion of the physical houses on the ground. 
Really we need to reduce this time to the minimum so that houses are 
actually delivered. One option to explore to speed up delivery of new 
housing could be factory built modular homes. These are far removed from 

Noted

Page 563



ID Representor Comments Council Response

the old postwar prefabs and today are attractive, versatile, highly energy 
efficient and can easily be customised to the customer’s specification. Such 
methods are commonplace in countries such as Sweden, Germany, Austria 
and the Baltic States. Here in the UK a number of providers such as Legal & 
General Homes are already exploring this to revolutionise the home 
building industry by providing precision engineered factory manufactured 
houses.

96 AIUH note that in certain parts of the Borough that there are challenges in 
terms of public transport (i.e. the lack - of a rail station in Skelmersdale and 
operational matters in terms of the timetable for bus services in that area) - 
and connectivity to the regional road network. In the context of Up 
Holland, there is excellent connectivity to the - regional road network, and 
public transport services include a local train station and bus services. - A 
more substantive infrastructure constraint is the fundamental lack of 
housing readily available in the - marketplace which is affordable. This 
drives up values yet further in terms of the stock which is available, and - 
results in the adverse affordability ratios. The HEDNA evidence base 
document sets out a startling affordable - housing need of circa 540 units 
per annum which is consistent with the above analysis. It is crucial to break 
this - cycle and deliver more housing in locations which have stronger 
market signals and where any adverse planning - effects can be weighed in 
the balance to arrive at a positive allocation.

Noted

97 St. Modwen note that in certain parts of the Borough that there are 
challenges in terms of public transport (i.e. the lack of a rail station in 
Skelmersdale). St. Modwen is encouraged that there is a clear objective to 
take forward the rail station for Skelmersdale and concludes that this will 
act as a catalyst to redress other operational matters in terms of the 
timetable for bus services in that area.

Noted

99 Our Clients understand the need for developer contributions to help secure 
both on and off site infrastructure provision, where this is necessary to 
make development acceptable in planning terms. It is a well-documented 
position that there are infrastructure constraints within Skelmersdale and 
the wider Borough, many of which could be addressed by improvements to 
the infrastructure throughout the Borough. These constraints are identified 
within the Draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan (“IDP”). The Council should 
ensure that the emerging Local Plan can facilitate the level of infrastructure 
needed to prevent delays in delivering housing sites. Emerging Local Plan 
policies should ensure that they are not so onerous that they restrict or 
delay delivery. Further details are required as to how the adopted 
Community Infrastructure Levy will apply to new developments, including 
strategic sites. We support the Council’s position that the IDP is an evolving 
document which will be updated as part of the Council’s evidence base.

Noted

101 The discussion of plan options superficially assume that everyone works 
locally... I'm sure it has been considered that this is not realistic.  - At the 
moment there is good public transport to Liverpool from Ormskirk, and 
some (quick but infrequent) from Burscough and Rufford. There is fair 
public transport from Burscough and Parbold to Manchester. But public 
transport from Parbold to Liverpool is poor, and from Skelmersdale to 
Liverpool very poor, considering the size of the population. It shouldn't take 
90 minutes to travel 15 miles between town centres. Any move to improve 
public transport should be encouraged.  - Cycle routes in West Lancashire, 
outside Skelmersdale, are very poor. Some of the back lanes and sections of 
towpath provide safe routes, but in general cyclists are forced to share 
narrow roads with heavy (both senses) traffic. Considering the flatness of 
the borough, this is an area ripe for development to improve sustainable 
transport and public health. - Regarding both this and my answer to section 
13, West Lancashire could perhaps learn many lessons from the 
Netherlands.

Noted

Page 564



ID Representor Comments Council Response

108 Reduced bus services to Skelmersdale is a huge problem. - Reduced bus 
services across the borough especially to rural areas has had a big impact. - 
Good train links to Liverpool although we pay more than Merseyside. -  -  - 

Noted

111 Section 3.7 provides infrastructure delivery options to identify what 
infrastructure and services will - be required to support new development 
within the Plan Period. Paragraph 3.7.3 states the - following: “The new 
Local Plan will cover the period to at least 2037, and will inevitably - involve 
further housing and employment land development, over and above - that 
set out in the 2012-2017 Local Plan…”  It is agreed that further 
infrastructure will be required to support development across the 
Borough, - the level and nature of the improvements will be wholly 
dependent on the strategic development - options chosen. Each 
infrastructure scenario responds directly to the development distribution - 
scenarios 1 – 4 which are discussed above. Development distribution 
Scenario 1 perpetuates existing patterns of development. Section 3.7 - of 
the report identifies the following:“For the higher development 
requirements (e.g Options D and E) and the - longer plan period (Option 2), 
it is probable that just about all spare existing - infrastructure capacity 
would be ‘used up’ in all settlements. However, even - for the lower 
development requirements it is highly likely that this scenario - would 
require the significant improvements to infrastructure such as waste - 
water treatment serving Ormskirk and Burscough…” We accept that 
development within existing settlements would be likely to require 
improvements - to existing infrastructure. It is recommended that the CIL 
charging schedule is revised once a - development scenario and sites are 
selected to ensure that settlements can accommodate - growth. 
Development distribution Scenario 2 sought to focus new development in 
and around the Key - Service centres of Skelmersdale, Ormskirk with 
Aughton and Burscough. As is identified within - the discussion above, 
development within existing settlements will require infrastructure - 
improvements. A review of CIL is supported to ensure this can be delivered, 
it is therefore - suggested that development is focused in higher value areas 
to ensure that the level of - infrastructure required across the Borough can 
be achieved, potentially through additional Section - 106 contributions. Our 
client agrees with West Lancashire’s statement within Paragraph 3.7.10: - 
…scenario 2 would accelerate the importance of transport improvements 
at - these locations, particularly the need to review the road network to 
ease traffic - congestion around Ormskirk and provide a new railway station 
at - Skelmersdale. As a focus for public transport to serve surrounding 
areas - these settlements would also benefit from improved interchanges 
between - different modes of transport, for example from car to bus and/or 
to rail. This - may include the provision/ improvement of park and ride 
facilities in key - locations (such as rail stations)”  We agree that 
development in the key service centres will result in resolutions to existing - 
infrastructure problems and therefore scenario 2 is the preferred scenario. 
Development distribution Scenario 3 focusses development within the rural 
areas. As has been - previously discussed this scenario is not supported by 
our Client. West Lancashire identifies that - this development distribution 
scenario would result in the need to introduce new infrastructure in - 
locations where it does not currently exist. We identified previously that 
the provision of new - infrastructure could result in additional abnormal 
costs which may render this development - scenario unviable. Within 
section 3.7 of the Strategic Options Paper, West Lancashire confirm that 
enhancing - existing provision is easier than creating it ‘from scratch’. This is 
confirmed further within - Paragraph 3.7.11 which states: - “Scenario 3 
would involve more development in rural areas and would require - greater 
emphasis upon improvements to rail and bus services in these areas - whilst 
managing increased usage of rural roads. The challenge would be to - 
improve transport over a wide area, especially public transport. “ Our 
clients agree with this assertion and would add that this renders 
development distribution - scenario 3 unviable. Development distribution 

Noted

Page 565



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Scenario 4 built on scenario 2 but with a greater proportion of 
development to be delivered in Skelmersdale. West Lancashire suggest that 
this would ensure existing problems are not exacerbated to any great 
extent. We disagree strongly with this statement; existing infrastructure 
problems should be identified and development which can - provide 
infrastructure delivery to improve these issues should be preferred to 
deliver benefits for - existing and proposed residents of West Lancashire.  
Paragraph 3.7.12 of the Strategic paper states: - “Focussing development at 
Skelmersdale under scenario 4 would give - increased support to the 
proposed Skelmersdale Rail Link and new railway - station and could 
potentially minimise the increased demand on congested - routes in other 
parts of the Borough.” Our client does not support development 
distribution scenario 4. As is identified within the - adopted CIL charging 
schedule development in Skelmersdale cannot contribute towards CIL - 
payments. This scenario will not provide enough CIL monies to deliver new 
infrastructure within - Skelmersdale let alone elsewhere within the borough 
and therefore the infrastructure required to - improve quality of life will not 
be achieved. In order for West Lancashire to achieve a new Rail - Link 
within Skelmersdale development within higher value areas would need to 
be identified.  Paragraph 3.7.6 of the Strategic Paper identifies that 
situating new development where it is well - located or can be made to be 
well located in relation to the transport network. Our Client agrees - with 
this statement as it conforms fully with Paragraph 30 of the Framework. 
Development within - Aughton would make best use of existing transport 
facilities.

112 I write these few comments on planning ideas for the years 2027-2037 and 
beyond with the background of 2012-2027 Plan ringing in one's mind and 
the effects of that plan still felt by all the people of Burscough. - I attended 
The Grove meeting of 27/3/17 where an insight was given into the future 
requirements of government in relation to Planning matters.  I did speak 
with Mr MacFarlane 24/3/17 and with Mr Benge 28/4/17 as well as they 
being at the Grove meeting so they will have an insight into my comments.  
I will document the main items of concern over current position especially 
in relation to completion let alone implementation f the 2012-2027 Plan, 
particularly those mentioned below. - 1st Road improvements to alleviate 
the dangers of Industrial Estate Traffic - a) en route to  M6 via A5209 with 
severe overloading of Square Lane - Newburgh - b) for access to M58 via 
B5240 Square Lane again to Hall Lane - c) Access to M58 via the more 
westerly route has an 18T weight limit in Ormskirk. - d) So we need a link 
from Burscough to M6 and M58 which reduces volume of TRAFFIC on A59 
through Burcsough between the "Tesco" island and the "Booths" 
roundabout, a better link to M6 for northern areas and one also for M58 
for the southern part of A59 to relieve the ever long suffering Burscough 
Town and Square Lane residents. - WE DO NOT NEED A BYPASS just better 
access to M6 and M58.  This could well be helped by the ideas mooted for 
handling of residents' traffic that will come from the Yew Tree Farm 
houses.  We shall see what happens to the 5 schools' access for 190 days 
per year when traffic lights are installed at the Higgins Lane junction with 
the A59. -  - Item II - Another major issue with any further development to 
the Burscough and local area is the still unresolved issues with the flow of 
water under the railway on its way to the sea and Crossens Pumping 
Station.  This is a real problem in times of heavy rainfall. - The sewerage 
works at New Lane are now taking vast areas of foul water from Rufford to 
the north, Scarisbrick in the west and Ormskirk in the south causing 
problems in fields in times of heavy usage in wet weather. -  - Now to 
general ideas: - Item III - "Enough is enough" in the Burscough area.  At 
present until the 2012-2027 Local Plan is nearing completion we do not 
want or need any more urbanisation forced upon us in our village and 
surrounding. - So what about present plans with the football pitch and area 
between the bridges? - Ideas: - 1) A Venetian style pedestrian bridge over 
canal from Library to Wharf with a multi-storey car park adjacent.  This 
would reduce people walking over the A59 bridge in arms distance of 42 

Noted

Page 566



ID Representor Comments Council Response

ton artics which are causing subsidence on the bridge very close to 
buildings and mothers with prams. - 2) Another thought the church grave 
yard to east of railway bridge is nearly full and there is waste land adjacent 
to it on its northern side. - 3)What is [the] future for [the] area around [the] 
station and its now unused new ticket office; could that area be used to 
better advantage? - With these comments I close thisquickly written letter 
hoping that the ideas of an 82 year old whose family have lived and farmed 
in the village for over 100 years may be of benefit to a new type village of 
yesteryear. - Thank you

Page 567



Question 15: Which policy option or options above for how we should 
allocated land for employment sites do you think is the most 
appropriate for West Lancashire? Why? Is there an alternative option 
that you think is appropriate that has not been considered? If so, what?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Option 2 we feel would be better Noted.

12 Option 1 - Make use of derelict scrubland ie brown belt rather than green Comments noted.  As a general principle, 
brownfield land is a 'first port of call' when 
looking for land for new employment sites, 
but other factors mean that it is often 
necessary to use greenfield sites.

14 I would think all the options important and to be encouraged Comments noted.

18 no comment -

20 Option 1: Allocate sites specifically for strategic distribution and 
warehousing needs........and the further opportunity to increase the 
development of Skelmersdale.

Comments noted.

21 Don't need employment sites - we need food production. Comments noted.  The importance of food 
production is acknowledged, especially in an 
area like West Lancashire with much prime 
agricultural land.  However, there is 
considered to be a need for employment 
sites as well.

23 Option 1.  - Location of warehousing near the M58 is appropriate Comments noted.

24 Option 1 would seem to point to Skelmersdale as it has good motorway 
links and the land to accommodate large business premises.  However, 
public transport is poor so encouraging businesses within the Skelmersdale 
area, which would be easy to reach by the local workforce, would be 
desirable.

Comments noted.  The issue would be finding 
appropriate land / sites within Skelmersdale 
to fulfil this function.

26 ECONOMIC IMPACT
In 2010, sport and sport-related activity contributed £20.3 billion to the 
English economy – 1.9% of the England total.  The contribution to 
employment is even greater – sport and sport-related activity is estimated 
to support over 400,000 full-time equivalent jobs, 2.3% of all jobs in 
England.
'Traditional' jobs  have changed and there is a growing job market created 
around sport. In West Lancashire in 2013 it was estimated that there was 
462 jobs created directly in the sports industry and 580 jobs created 
indirectly.  This equated to £18.8m and £23.7m respectively.
The following link will give the details behind these 
figures:https://www.sportengland.org/research/benefits-of-
sport/economic-value-of-sport/

Comments on sports-related jobs noted.  The 
SHELMA study looks at needs for future 
employment land, based on an analysis of all 
sectors of employment.

28 Option 3 Noted.

30 There are sufficient warehouses underused on Pimbo for strategic 
distribution needs.  The fact that Matalan warehouse has remained empty 
suggests there is no demand for more such large warehouses, A mixtire of 
options 2 and 4 if evidence of demand exists. There is a need to develop 
more highly skilled/graduate employment opportunities in Skelmersdale

Comments noted.  There is expected to be a 
significant increase in demand for 
warehousing / logistics linked to the 
Liverpool2 Superport.  
It is agreed that there is a need to develop 
more highly skilled / graduate employment 
opportunities in Skelmersdale.

31 In order of preference, options 2, 1 & 3 - not option 4 Comments noted.

32 Rural and agricultural land in the borough needs to be protected, with 
growth in population comes higher demand for food production. Option 3 

Comments on options 3 and 4 noted.
The importance of food production is 

Page 568



ID Representor Comments Council Response

allocating new sites for  B class use seems appropriate for most areas, 
keeping work close to already built up areas. Option 4 increasing town 
centre office work, this can help redevelop run down town centres and 
provide work without impacting on already straining infrastructure.

acknowledged, especially in an area like West 
Lancashire with a high proportion of prime 
agricultural land.

39 Response re :- Options 1,3 and 4 ...comments added 
1.Strategic distribution and warehouse needs specific allocation of sites 
likely in M58 Skelmersdale corridor. 
Comment ...agreed
3. Allocate sites in all areas according to use class (1 – 4).  Comment 
...Business units for SMEs are required in all areas.
4.Allocate sites around town centres for all business / employment use.
Comment ..Due to the Victorian design and size of town centres, expansion 
is now an issue. Town centre rates,  poor and expensive parking provision 
deters  businesses to take up town centre units.

Comments on Options 1,3 and 4 noted, 
including agreement re. M58 corridor and 
the need to encourage SMEs across the 
Borough.  Comments on town centres 
acknowledged; Skelmersdale is different from 
the others, being a New Town.

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted.

46 The above options should not necessarily be mutually exclusive, achieving 
the right balance of types of employment and economic activity will impact 
on the quality and range of housing and so lead to much better balance 
communities. Being aware of the different employment needs of the 
borough needs to take into account the differing existing areas of economic 
activities, i.e. the growing industry and related business in the rural sectors.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that the 
options are not mutually exclusive, that there 
is a need for different types of jobs, and for 
different types of employment in the 
different areas of the Borough to achieve 
sustainable mixed communities.

47 I feel we should move away from factory fodder and warehousing jobs. I 
would like to see more attention give to land uses which facilitate rural 
livelihoods, such as local food production, agroforestry and woodland 
crafts. Integrated, self-sufficient developments in rural areas. Also, more 
skilled jobs including a big emphasis on entrepreneurship and self-
employment. And non-polluting businesses, which could more easily be 
located in close proximity to housing.

Comments acknowledged.  Whilst there is 
support for small / rural businesses, and non-
polluting businesses that can be located close 
to housing, there is also considered to be a 
need for the larger / 'traditional' jobs, 
especially in the light of the Liverpool2 
'Superport'.

48 Option 1 should be principally targetted at Skelmersdale with its good 
transport links to M58 and M6. Allocate B class users to industrial zoned 
areas like Burscough and other smaller trading estates in and around 
Ormskirk and Tarleton.

Comments noted / acknowledged.

50 Providing the Right Scale, Mix, and Distribution of Employment Land
However, the first Economic Policy Issue, Providing the Right Scale, Mix, 
and Distribution  of Employment Land, does present the potential for 
impacts on the SRN. The Economic Policies Topic Paper presents four 
options on what type of employment land is required and where specific 
types may be appropriate. These options are summarised as:
1. Allocate sites specifically for strategic distribution and warehousing 
needs; 
2. Allocate sites to encourage geographical clusters of specialist 
employment uses; 
3. Allocate all new sites for the range of B classes uses (business, general 
industry and - warehousing); and
4. Increase town centre office sites. 

It is noted that these options are not mutually exclusive. From the 
perspective of Highways England, Option 1 is preferred over other options, 
or at least Option 1 in combination with other elements. Particularly under 
a scenario where West Lancashire looks to fulfil an under provision of large-
scale logistics in neighbouring authorities, the ability to plan infrastructure 
requirements will be better facilitated through the precise determination of 
allocated sites’ locations and size.  However, it is anticipated that there is a 
requirement for employment allocations beyond largescale logistics. It may 
therefore be appropriate to allocate specific strategic sites with smaller 
generic employment sites available for all use types.

Comments, and preference for Option 1 
noted

Page 569



ID Representor Comments Council Response

57 The local plan should provide an appropriate policy context which 
accommodates the needs of the businesses which already exist in the 
borough and those which seek to locate there, subject to normal access 
and other sustainablility criteria.  The policy should also allow for 
alternative development of existing employment sites which no longer 
meet the needs of businesses.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that the Plan 
should take account of the needs of existing 
employers.  Policy needs to appropriately 
address the issue of non-employment uses 
mooted for existing employment sites, taking 
account of national policy.  There is little 
point in allocating land for employment uses 
if it can go for housing relatively soon after 
the Plan's adoption, but it may be 
appropriate in certain cases on some 'older' 
sites.

61 Option 1 - would enable Skelmersdale to benefit from the opportunities 
presented by Liverpool 2 and this area has the appropriate links to the 
motorway network.
Option 2 - To be able to capitalise on the benefits of potentially retaining 
students from edge Hill (and their skills) in West Lancashire if there are 
start up opportunities available locally.

Comments acknowledged, including 
references to Liverpool2 and retention of 
Edge Hill University graduates.

62 Economically, West Lancashire continues to grow, with a steady growth in 
jobs in particular and this growth is anticipated to continue. We therefore 
fully support an increase in employment provision in the Borough. It is 
important that in addition to stimulating housing growth the economic 
growth is delivered alongside this.
However, in additional to meeting economic growth, it is vital that the local 
workforce has the housing choice to live and work in the Borough. As 
stated above our client owns a significant amount of land in the Borough 
with a particular focus around the M58, a sustainable location with easy 
access to important highways infrastructure, which is considered to have 
good capacity to accommodate employment growth in the area. It is 
therefore considered that the land around the Junction 3 could be easily 
delivered as there is no multiple landowner assimilation to consider. As set 
out above there is evidence to suggest that the borough could deliver large 
scale logistics development as part of the wider Liverpool City Region. As 
such, serious consideration should be given to the allocation of new sites 
for logistics/employment within the borough, well located next to key 
infrastructure.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that housing 
and employment growth needs to be 
integrated, and that development land 
should have access to infrastructure.  
Comments on land around M58 Junction 3 
noted.

64 It is our Clients’ position that there is a need for additional employment 
land within West Lancashire, and consider that there is an appropriate 
opportunity for a new employment site at land to the west of Skelmersdale, 
to the south of the Motorway, which is suitable for logistics. On the basis of 
this approach, our Clients’ would support Option 1. This Option seeks to 
allocate sites specifically for strategic distribution and warehousing needs, 
and in particular identify the M58 corridor as an appropriate location. It is 
however recognised that other specialisms such as start-up businesses for 
emerging business sectors are appropriate as set out in Option 2.

Comments noted, including support for 
Option 1, and acknowledgement that support 
for start-up businesses is appropriate.

67 See attached submissions.
We see a mix/hybrid of these options as the preferable way forward with a 
focus on larger scale/strategic sites at Skelmersdale and the M58 corridor 
but also additional sites to meet more localised and smaller scale industrial 
and business requirements across the full range of economic development 
types as defined by the NPPF.
Flexible allocation to accommodate a variety and choice (including but not 
exclusively the traditional B use classes).

Comments noted, including support for a mix 
/ hybrid of the options, and the need to 
provide sites both for large and for small 
businesses across a range of employment 
types to provide flexibility / choice.

68 West Lancashire, particularly Skelmersdale, needs to attract and create a 
more highly skilled, more affluent work force with a good work-life balance.
Highly skilled businesses are more effective at growing the local economy 
than large, land hungry warehouse units that provide limited employment 
opportunities and whose profits go to shareholders outside of West Lancs.
Owners of highly skilled businesses are more likely to relocate here if we 

Comments noted.  It is agreed that it would 
be good to attract highly skilled workers to 
the Borough with appropriate employment 
and housing.  There is also considered to be a 
need for logistics / warehousing, i.e. a range 
of employment opportunities.

Page 570



ID Representor Comments Council Response

create aesthetically pleasing housing developments and smaller business 
units.  -   -

69 Option 4 shows the right principle. As long as not to the detriment of other 
important town centre roles e.g. shopping and social/cultural life, the 
principle should be to reduce environmental and cost impact by using 
existing infrastructure and services, notably public transport for workers' 
access.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that locating 
development in areas easy to access by 
public transport and where infrastructure 
already exists is a good thing.  However, 
opportunities to meet employment needs in 
town centres may be limited in West 
Lancashire.

72 no comment -

73 No comment. -

75 Economic Policy Issue 1: Providing the Right Scale, Mix and Distribution of 
Employment Land - Option 1 may result in the allocation of large sites for 
strategic distribution and warehousing uses, most likely in the M58 
corridor, however this location may not necessarily be the most accessible 
for all West Lancashire residents. It is critical that access to employment 
opportunities is fully considered particularly with regard to access by 
Skelmersdale residents.

The M58 corridor is chosen as an area of 
search for logistics for highways reasons, but 
also because it is close / accessible to 
Skelmersdale and can benefit local residents 
who desire such jobs.

77 Keep smaller light industries in the villages. Comment noted; it is agreed that in general, 
rural employment types are more likely to be 
smaller / lighter, although there are some 
larger employers in rural areas (e.g. 
agricultural produce packaging).  Some 
smaller businesses are also appropriate in 
towns.

78 As above 14. In Appley Bridge Skull House Lane offices and light industry 
appropriate - near M6 but not heavy industry - too much already. 

Comments noted.

81 None of the above.
A key strategic B1/B8 employment site situated to the south of Tarleton off 
the A59 is supported and the landowner (Tarleton Estates Limited) are 
committed to delivering this site, as there has historically been a lack of 
employment sites in rural/key sustainable villages.
This is particularly relevant in this strategic locality, given the loss of the 
employment element of both the Tarleton Mill and Alty's Site, which 
contained allocated employment provision, following the grant of consent 
for housing under the existing Local Plan 2012-2026.

Comments noted, including comments 
regarding Tarleton Estates Land.  It is 
acknowledged that 'traditional' employment 
opportunities in Tarleton have decreased 
over recent years, although other businesses 
do exist, e.g. at Windgate.

82 Building better business and finance models that stamp out short-termism 
and the pursuit of profits today with no regard for sustainability. Game-
changing innovation should be embraced and nurtured, and should be 
active and clear about long-term sustainability targets like carbon reduction 
and the absolute reduction of resource waste.
Local business should be supported, rather than just encouraging large 
enterprises to come to West Lancashire.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that local 
businesses should be supported, as should 
sustainability, and there should be scope for 
innovation.  Finance models may be beyond 
the scope of Planning.

85 Continue of current economic policy with industrial development centred 
on the three main areas of Ormskirk, Burscough and Skelmersdale but also 
take advantage of rural opportunities that come forward and potential 
tourism opportunities.

Comments acknowledged, including the role 
of tourism.

87 Recent experience shows that there has been limited opposition to changes 
of use between B class uses, within existing industrial areas in Burscough.  
This would allocate all employment sites for the range of business use 
without identifying any sites for specialist employment uses.  We do not 
know what businesses will present requiring premises in Burscough and 
flexibility is required.
Specific sites seeking change of use from Business use to Housing should 
not generally be allowed, or must be included in the local plan, so that total 
numbers can be quantified and suitable infrastructure planned for in line 

Comments noted, including comments on the 
need for flexibility, the need to plan 
infrastructure, and the need to locate HGV-
heavy uses close to the motorway network 
where possible.

Page 571



ID Representor Comments Council Response

with developments.
All proposed development must have regard for the poor road network and 
the increased weight of HGV and regular traffic.  Warehousing, and 
businesses requiring substantial HGV traffic movements are more suited to 
locations close to the motorway network.

89 Option 1 is to Allocate sites specifically for strategic distribution and 
warehousing needs. It is identified that this would primarily be within the 
area of Skelmersdale. Our Client supports the allocation of sites for 
strategic distribution and warehousing needs but thinks it would be unwise 
to focus only on Skelmersdale. Burscough would also provide a suitable 
location with links to the M6, M58 and the railway network. Restricting 
these locations to only Skelmersdale would not be positive as this could 
impact on delivery of development due to the viability of this location.
Option 3 seeks to allocate all new sites for the range of B class uses. Our 
Client supports this approach as this provides businesses with flexibility and 
allows for market changes during the plan period. This Option is seen to be 
justified in accordance with the framework as it seeks economic growth.

Comments noted.  Access from Burscough to 
the M58 / M6 is not as good as access from 
Skelmersdale.  Support for Option 3 noted.

90 West Lancashire, particularly Skelmersdale, needs to attract and create a 
more highly skilled, more affluent work force with a good work-life balance. 
Highly skilled businesses are more effective at growing the local economy 
than large, land hungry warehouse units that provide limited employment 
opportunities and whose profits go to shareholders outside of West Lancs. 
Owners of highly skilled businesses are more likely to relocate here if we 
create aesthetically pleasing housing developments and smaller business 
units.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that it would 
be good to attract highly skilled workers to 
the Borough with appropriate employment 
and housing.  There is also considered to be a 
need for logistics / warehousing, i.e. a range 
of employment opportunities.

95 4.2 The Economic Topic Paper confirms that WLBC expect West 
Lancashire’s economy to continue to gradually grow with steady jobs 
growth and this growth could increase at a higher rate owing to the 
significant opportunity to boost the local economy being presented by the 
anticipated surge in sub-regional demand for logistics facilities emanating 
from the operation of the Liverpool2 deep water terminal and the 
aspiration to retain more graduates within the borough.
4.3 WLBC proposes a number of options:
(i) Allocate sites specifically for strategic distribution and warehousing 
needs (most likely to be in the M58 corridor)
(ii) Allocate sites to encourage geographical clusters of specialist 
employment uses 
(iii) Allocate all new sites for the range of B classes uses
(iv) Increase town centre office sites
4.4 It is considered that all of WLBC’s identified options (in some form) will 
be required if the Local Plan is going to be positively prepared and seek to 
capitalise on economic growth aspirations.
4.5 In terms of Ormskirk, it is acknowledged within the Economic Topic 
Paper that Ormskirk represents an important concentration of 
employment, in large part a result of the location of a number of major 
employers. It has, however, been acknowledged within WLBC’s evidence 
base that the current amount of employment land in the settlement is 
comparatively low for its size, with an expectation that the Local Plan will 
look to support a proportionate level of employment growth within the 
settlement to reflect its economic potential in this regard. 
4.6 The role of Edge Hill University is evidently important as a driver of a 
range of employment opportunities in Ormskirk and as identified above, 
likely to grow its role and contribution in the future. Indeed WLBC’s TSEP 
confirms that ‘Edge Hill University has enjoyed success and growth over the 
past decade and is a major employer in the town
The Social Policy Options Paper similarly notes that: - “Edge Hill University 
is a major employer in the Borough having grown significantly over the past 
two decades, and enjoys a good reputation nationally. Overall, it is 
considered that the University has a beneficial impact upon West 

Comments noted, including qualified support 
for the 4 options.  These options are not 
mutually exclusive.
Comments on the significance of Edge Hill 
University and of Ormskirk are noted - as 
quoted, these points are acknowledged in 
the Options Papers and evidence base.

Page 572



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Lancashire, making a significant contribution to the local economy through 
direct employment, the ‘supply chain’ and patronage of local businesses”
4.7 The Economic Policy Options Paper highlights the potential to capitalise 
upon this existing asset through the allocation of sites for clusters of 
specialist employment uses, as “…sites could be provided for forecast 
growth in emerging business sectors such as professional and scientific 
services or for start-up businesses which may be compatible with 
development scenario 2 (Key Service Centres focus) given the presence of 
Edge Hill University…”
4.8 In addition to supporting employment, it has also been recognised that 
the University can also contribute towards sustaining and growing the 
younger working age population of West Lancashire, with the retention of 
graduates in suitable high quality jobs in the borough identified as a key 
planning objective for Ormskirk.
4.9 Outside of the University the Local Plan and its evidence base includes 
specific reference to the economic opportunities associated with the 
anticipated growth in the logistic sector, and to a lesser degree, advanced 
manufacturing and its supporting sectors. Reference is made to the 
potential that West Lancashire has to benefit from and support this 
economic growth along the M58 corridor, with this forming an important 
consideration in the allocation of future employment land. In terms of 
capitalising on logistics growth, West Lancashire is geographically well 
placed with the M58 corridor connecting easily to the M6 motorway in the 
east and directly into the Liverpool (via the M58, A580 and Dunningsbridge 
Road) and is a corridor which is relatively untapped in terms of its 
development potential. A positive approach towards accommodating some 
of the anticipated sub-regional need for logistics space would also bring 
significant economic benefits to the borough.
4.10 Whilst the links between Skelmersdale and the Port of Liverpool are 
emphasised it is important to recognise that, as set out in WLBC’s evidence 
Ormskirk also enjoys comparatively strong links to the M58 noting that it 
can be “…accessed three kilometres south east of the settlement…”. This is 
also recognised within WLBC’s Economic Policy Options paper which in 
referencing the potential growth of the M58 Corridor notes that the 
location of jobs in the area would be most compatible with development 
scenario 2 (Key Service Centre Focus) as well as scenario 4 (Skelmersdale 
focus). In the context of the evidence presented in these representations it 
is apparent that Ormskirk has an important role to play in accommodating 
a share of additional need / demand generated from additional 
employment growth and associated housing resulting from this 
opportunity.

96 AIUH make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

99 It is our Clients’ position that there is a need for additional employment 
land within West Lancashire, and consider that there is an appropriate 
opportunity for a new employment site at land to the west of Skelmersdale, 
to the south of the Motorway, which is suitable for logistics. On the basis of 
this approach, our Clients’ would support Option 1. This Option seeks to 
allocate sites specifically for strategic distribution and warehousing needs, 
and in particular identify the M58 corridor as an appropriate location. It is 
however recognised that other specialisms such as start-up businesses for 
emerging business sectors are appropriate as set out in Option 2.

Comments noted, including support for 
development of clients' land west of 
Skelmersdale, and also support for Option 2.

107 A well evidenced combination of the above options should be developed to 
ensure a wide range of development options whilst ensuring we do not put 
all of our efforts into one options which may not deliver what is required. 
Consideration must be given to what will be the future employment needs 
of society and plan to be best placed to meet them.  For example higher 
level manufacturing, regional and local distribution systems (drones etc). - 

Comments noted.  It is agreed that it would 
be wiser not to 'put all our eggs into one 
basket' employment-wise, and also to 
consider how employment and employment 
land needs are changing / may change in the 
future.Page 573



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Working from home with perhaps intermittent access to office facilities.

Page 574



Question 16: What kind of protection do you think the Local Plan 
should give existing Employment Areas? Why? Is there an alternative 
option that you think is appropriate that has not been considered?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

14 option 1, plan and enforce employment sites and expansion Comments noted.

18 no comment -

20 Too complex an issue for us to address. Noted.

23 Option 1. A case by case approach is most appropriate Comments noted.

24 Option 1.  I think there has been good progress in employment areas within 
the  Ormskirk and Burscough areas.

Comments noted; it is agreed these 
employment areas are generally doing 
reasonably well.

26 With reference to my previous comments, it is import to understand how 
many jobs are being created.  I would draw your attention to 2 planning 
applications for gymnastics clubs allowed in Employment sites in Sandwell 
(PA ref  DC/16/59751) and Birmingham (PA ref 2016/09468/PA).  Both clubs 
are employing and training a number of people.
Therefore I agree some protection is required but as I suggest it should 
depend on employment and training opportunities created.

Comments noted.  The approach advocated 
is effectively Option 3 - allowing some non-B 
class uses on some employment areas.

28 Option 1 Noted.

30 Option 1 Noted.

31 In order of preference, option 2 then 1 Comments noted.

32 Option one to continue with existing Local Plan approach seems the most 
sensible option

Comments noted.

39 Responses re :- Option 1 ,2 &3.
1.       	Continue with existing local plan policy including : - Strategic 
Employment Sites - Other significant employment sites - Other Existing 
Employment Sites 
All existing employment areas would be reassessed 
2.       Increased development in rural areas
Protect all existing employment areas for business class employment uses 
prevents change of use to residential from employment.
3.       A tourism and visitor economy policy
The adoption of a strategy to increase non food retail income into the 
Borough could be modelled on the Cheshire Oaks approach, whereby a 
designated area for aesthetically pleasing high quality retail units,with good 
parking, and connecting road infrastructure, might be located in the 
Borough. This could include a cinema and boutique eating establishments. 
The advantage of this approach is that the development is located in a 
designated area, consumers can be offered a great variety of purchasing 
options in one easily accessible place, and without puntive parking 
constraints as a disincentive. Warrington New Town was also a  model in 
the 1970s whereby a clear strategy was adopted and an officer was 
appointed to co-ordinate the project, although the large mass warehouse 
type of shopping unit in Warrington might perhaps be out of character with 
West Lancashire's more rural character. Nevertheless these development 
models are a potential precedent which could be emulated, and perhaps 
liaison with the officers who were part of these developments might be a 
way of gathering advice for a future similar  strategy.

Comments noted, including support for a 
large retail development.  (These comments 
are more relevant to Question 19.  In general 
terms, a large out-of-centre retail park is 
likely to impact negatively upon existing 
town centres, even if the aim is to claw back 
expenditure leaked to other districts.)

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted.

46 Flexibility is important when considering Employment Areas as the needs Comments acknowledged.  It is agreed that 
Page 575



ID Representor Comments Council Response

and types of employment change within the timescale of the Local Plan. 
There has been Employment areas designated but then subsequently 
struggled to fulfil their allocated sites with sustainable employment 
opportunities. So really, Option 1.

needs and types of employment change over 
time, and that the Plan needs to take 
account of this.

47 Some employment area types are not suitable in close proximity to housing 
due to pollution, noise, or heavy industrial traffic. So keep the Walkers 
Crips type business where it is. But things like Solid Sheds, electrical 
wholesalers and other businesses which are non-polluting and work 9am-
5pm could be sited nearer to housing.

Comments noted - it is agreed that some 
employment uses can be located close to 
housing, whereas others need to be on 
industrial estates.

48 Continue with option1. Noted.

50 Existing Employment Areas 
Economic Policy Issue 2 discusses four potential options for existing 
employment land uses within the Borough. These are summarised as: 
1. Continue with the existing Local Plan approach; 
2. Protect all existing employment areas for business class employment 
uses; 
3. Designate selected employment areas either wholly or in part for non-
business uses; and 
4. Do not protect employment areas for B1, B2 and B8 uses.
Highways England’s key guidance document, The Strategic Road Network: 
Planning for the Future (2015) states that: - “Capacity enhancements and 
the infrastructure required to deliver strategic growth should be identified 
at the local plan stage. In this way options for road capacity enhancement 
or other transport infrastructure to support strategic development sites can 
be considered long before the planning application stage.”
Where there is a greater degree of uncertainty over the use-class of a site, 
it will be more difficult to predict the likely impacts of the site on the local 
and strategic road networks; Option 4 in particular does not protect any 
land for employment use, instead allowing market forces to dictate the 
appropriate mix of uses within existing employment uses.
We therefore would prefer that those options promoted facilitate a degree 
of certainty over the use-type of existing sites, allowing more accurate 
planning of infrastructure and lessening unforeseen impacts.

Comments noted.  It is not always possible 
to specify the use class for a site; often, 
employment sites are allocated for B1, B2 
and B8 uses.

57 See above (Noted.)

61 Option 1 - protect employment uses on the most important sites. Allowing 
other uses, not automatically residential use, but leisure and other services 
needed in an area should be explored. The process to establish whether an 
employment site is viable should be more rigorous and more timely.  A' for 
sale' sign indicating an employment site is up for sale (sometimes for years ) 
should not be sufficient evidence of  viability (or not) for employment use. 
There should be key robust stages set out in the Local Plan that a land 
owner needs to meet before employment land is deemed unviable for that 
purpose. 
2 of the 4  sites  identified in the current local plan for employment use are 
located in Hesketh Bank & Tarleton. One has already been deemed 
unviable for employment use and has moved to residential use and the 
other site is highly unlikely to deliver employment use.  This is a waste of 
resources and time.

Comments noted; Option 3 alllows for other 
uses on certain designated employment sites.
Employment needs change, as do 
circumstances relating to individual sites.  
The allocation of the sites in Tarleton / 
Hesketh Bank in 2013  was undertaken to 
the best of officers' knowledge at that 
juncture, and is not considered a 'waste of 
resources and time'.

64 For sites in existing employment use, these sites should be continued to be 
designated for this use.

Comments noted - this is similar to Option 2.

67 see above - a more pragmatic and flexible approach should be considered. Comments noted.

69 Allocate as part of a holistic plan to focus on Skelmersdale and other 
existing hubs, so that  existing infrastructure is used and work is accessible 
from where people live

Comments noted; it is agreed that it is 
prudent to locate development where 
infrastructure exists and where people can 
access it easily.

72 Grow the rural and ancillary rural economy. Comments noted.

Page 576



ID Representor Comments Council Response

73 No comment. -

78 Encourage young locals for agricultural work Comments noted.

81 If it can be demonstrated that there is no demand for the employment site 
and they can come forward for an alternative use, i.e. Housing and such 
development is sustainable, then this policy should be supported.

Comments noted.  This is similar to current 
national policy in some respects.

82 Key issues must all relate directly to the need to support the projected 
population - number and profile - in a way that reduces our currently 
unsustainable impact on the planet and on our local environment.

Comments noted; the Local Plan does 
indeed seek to support the projected 
population, both in terms of number and 
profile - population projections strongly 
influence housing and employment land 
requirements.

87 Burscough’s industrial areas have seen an increase in non-business uses, 
such as fitness centres, activity centres, professional services and direct 
sales of items that have both a business to business, and business to 
consumer market, such as sheds/windows/tool hire etc.  While availability 
of good quality employment land must be maintained for all industry, the 
need for out of town locations for non-industry use is recognised.  Serious 
problems exist where we see an increase in members of the public on foot 
in areas where there are no footpaths and no safe walking routes.  Where 
this is considered proper and adequate provision must be made for 
pedestrians.  This proposal will further increase traffic movements on and 
to our industrial areas:  The capacity of our road network must be 
considered.

Comments noted.  Option 3 acknowledges 
the increase in non-B Class uses on existing 
industrial estates, some of these uses related 
to the employment uses.  In general terms, 
out-of-centre retail is not encouraged, but 
some forms are most appropriate on 
industrial estates.  Whilst it is not disputed 
that providing for pedestrians is a good and 
necessary thing, most goods available for 
purchase at employment areas are likely to 
require a vehicle to carry them.
The Local Plan will be subject to a transport 
assessment.

89 Option 1 identifies a continuation of the existing Local Plan policy approach 
and states: - “This includes three types of existing site comprising: Strategic 
Employment Sites, Other Significant Employment Sites and Other Existing 
Employment Sites. B1, B2 and B8 uses as well as A1 retail warehouses on a 
like for like basis are allowed at Strategic Employment sites with more 
specialist uses (offices, hotels, D1) supported at selected sites. B1, B2 and 
B8 uses are permitted at Other Existing Employment Sites. B1, B2 and B8 
uses are permitted at other Employment Sites whilst allowing their 
redevelo0pment under certain circumstances. All existing employment 
areas would be reassessed to confirm whether they would still meet criteria 
for their designation.  The approach would assume that the previously 
describes relaxation in planning rules will not adversely affect the purpose 
and function of existing employment areas.”
- Our Client agrees with the protection of employment sites and would 
recommend that the Council include within their policies that opportunities 
to extend or enhance these employment areas would be sought and 
supported.
West Lancashire identify the following within Paragraph 2.8: - “…There is a 
need to ensure that existing employment areas and premises continue to 
meet a diverse range of business needs and consider if it would be 
appropriate for them to allow alternative commercial needs beyond the 
traditional employment uses of business, general industry and 
warehousing…” 
- Our Client supports the statement and intention within paragraph 2.8 and 
asserts that seeking opportunities to extend and enhance with employment 
areas would assist the Council in achieving this. Strengthening existing 
employment locations and providing opportunities for companies to grow 
will retain these uses within the Borough. -

Comments noted, including support for 
protection and enhancement (and 
expansion) of existing employment areas, 
including by allowing related commercial but 
non-B class uses.

96 AIUH make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

99 For sites in existing employment use, these sites should be continued to be 
designated for this use.

Comments noted.

Page 577



Question 17: What do you think about the policy options above for 
supporting the rural economy? Is there an alternative option that you 
think is appropriate that has not been considered? If so, what is it?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Option 2 local people want to live were they were brought up - they can't 
afford to because of the lack of property in there area.

Comments noted; these comments are 
relevant to the Social Options paper also.

9 Option 3 Noted.

12 Option 3 eg camping/glamping. Comments noted.

14 option 3, tourism and visitors are a growth industry, and can be integrated 
into our economy without being even noticed by most people

Comments noted.

18 no comment -

20 Option 1: Continue with existing Local Plan Policy approach. Comments noted.

21 Keep the pumps working and give more support to the farmers and 
producers. You have not given them enough consideration.

Comments noted.  'Keeping the pumps 
working' is outside the powers of the Local 
Plan, but the continued drainage of the Alt 
Crossens area is supported.

23 Option 3. Encouraging tourism and visitor economy by maintaining the 
character and countryside of West Lancashire will benefit everyone.

Comments noted; it is agreed that tourism 
should be encouraged, but not at the 
expense of the countryside and character 
that attracts people in the first place.

24 Option 1 Noted.

26 I think an overarching policy could be open to interpretation where as 
more specific policies may be better

Comments noted; this principle applies more 
generally, not just to policies for the rural 
economy!

28 Option 1 Noted.

30 Option 1 combined with Option 3  The Tawd Valley Park and Cloughs of 
Skelmersdale have much potential to be linked with Beacon Country Park 
and surrounding footpaths in Green Belt countryside as a destination for 
walkers/hikers.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that Beacon 
Country Park is a valuable asset, that the 
Tawd Valley Park has significant potential, 
and that linking 'green infrastructure' can 
provide multiple benefits.

31 With option 1, EC3 has not been well supported in the Northern Parishes 
where a mixed use development was almost lost to a massive housing 
development without any real effort to deliver business use. Key Local Plan 
policies like Coastal Zone were side lined and the recommendations of the 
of the Inspector to the Local Plan were down played.
Option 3 seems appropriate for rural communities. In regard to the 
Northern Parishes, any increased road use (hesketh Lane) is unlikely to 
coincide with peak commuter travel.

Comments regarding Options 1 and 3 noted.  
Development Plan policies are taken as the 
starting point when dealing with planning 
applications, but material considerations 
sometimes indicate that a variation from the 
policies may be appropriate.

32 Option 1 the existing Local plan option makes sense as it seeks to protect 
agricultural and rural land whilst providing employment at appropriate 
levels. 
Option 2 increased development would surely threaten the very nature of 
rural communities

Comments noted.  Any rural development 
focus (if chosen) would need to ensure that 
development levels did not threaten the 
nature of rural communities or the general 
character of the rural area.

39 Responses... a multi faceted approach…
1.	 Protect the best agricultural land, protect rural; employment and re-use 
existing buildings to allow rural business growth, encourage renewable 
energy combine rural sites for mixed use rural development 
2.	 Increase development in rural areas packing and distribution centres, 
larger farm shops 
3. Tourism and visitors economic policy concentrating on larger scale 

Comments on Options 1 and 2 noted.  
Option 3 was not intended to imply a large 
scale retail type development.  (See also the 
Council's response to Q16 above.)

Page 578



ID Representor Comments Council Response

tourist sites such as Martin Mere and caravan parks or holiday lodges, 
including a Cheshire Oaks style top end retail unit development in a 
strategically located site as described in our response to the previous 
question.

42 Option 3) A tourism and visitor economy policy reads:
"This could consider site specific criteria for the expansion of larger scale 
tourism sites such as Martin Mere or new facilities. In order to grow the 
rural economy this approach could also identify circumstances whereby the 
development and / or expansion of caravan parks or holiday lodges may be 
suitable. Careful consideration would need to be given to compatibility 
with Green Belt policy."
However, Green Belt would not be the only significant policy with which it 
would need to be compatable. It would also need to comply with policies 
on Ecological Networks (including components recognised as nationally and 
internationally important sites as well as Local Wildlife Sites) and policies 
on Green Infrastructure and its related ecosystem services.
Such an approach would potentially be more sustainable over a medium to 
longer term than the current unsustainable agriculture drainage and 
ploughing practice that delivers grade one and two agricultural land at the 
cost of rapid soil loss through the oxidation of peat with resultant 
substantial release of millennia of stored carbon, windblow of sand and silt, 
and eutrophication and degradation of watercourses.  
See: 
http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidenc
edocument/environmental-audit-committee/soil-
health/written/26828.html 
for our locally specific expansion on that; though the recommendations in 
the report of the House of Commons' Environmental Audit Select 
Committee on Soil Health have broad local relevance.  
The stalled initiative on a Ribble Coast & Wetlands Regional Park 
(http://www.ribblecoastandwetlands.com) went some way to consider the 
local natural environment's contribution to a tourism and visitor economy, 
albeit in a somewhat wider geographical context; but the local government 
and NGO capcacity and tourism and visitor economy in play at the time was 
unable to deliver. I'm unsure if local circumstances have changed 
sufficiently in the interim to revisit this in some form? I am well outside my 
own core expertise here, in terms of the tourism economy; but WWT 
Martin Mere and, our own experiences at our Mere Sands Wood nature 
reserve & visitor centre in West Lancashire and, on a larger scale at 
Brockholes in Preston City, may offer some guidance as may the RSPB's at 
Leighton Moss in Lancaster City District and the National Trust's at Formby 
in Sefton Borough.

Comments acknowledged.  It is agreed that a 
tourism / visitor economy approach needs to 
comply not just with Green Belt policy, but 
also with policies to protect the natural 
environment and designated nature sites.  
Even leaving aside the nature conservation 
argument, it is in people's economic interest 
to preserve the assets and character of the 
countryside as this is what draws many 
tourists and visitors in the first place.  And as 
stated, several of the Borough's attractions 
are strongly linked to the natural 
environment, e.g. Martin Mere.
The effects of intensive agricultural practice 
(including turf growing) are acknowledged; 
much of this is beyond the control of 
Planning.

46 Option 3. has the greatest potential for economic opportunities throughout 
the borough. Keying West Lancashire into the wider 'Marketing Lancashire' 
framework is vital. We need to exploit and develop the unique potential of 
West Lancashire in terms of its positioning within wider Lancashire in 
particular in terms of its Ramsar sites and wildlife areas.In particular the 
water borne navigational potential within the borough uniquely places 
West Lancs at an advantage by being at the centre of the link of the canal 
systems throughout the North West and also as the gateway to the open 
sea via the River Ribble. Very few navigable alternative options are 
available in as close a proximity to significant numbers of the population as 
West Lancs, it being closer to the open coastal reaches of the Irish Sea that 
Preston Docks and far more easily navigable than Southport.

Comments on Option 3 noted.  It is agreed 
that the assets and position of the Borough 
provide great potential and should be 
capitalised upon if the tourism / visitor 
economy is to flourish.  It is agreed that the 
canal / navigable river network is an asset in 
the Borough, providing important links 
further north.

47 Basically, Skem town centre is rubbish. And the proposed new retail and 
leisure developments won't help much as it is just creating a clone town of 
chains with nothing unique about it, and therefore nothing to attract 
tourists. How about some unique artisan businesses (food and crafts) on a 
proper high street, in the fresh air, not in a mall, anywhere in West Lancs.

Comments noted; work is ongoing to 
regenerate Skelmersdale Town Centre.  
Ormskirk has some 'artisan businesses'.

Page 579



ID Representor Comments Council Response

48 All 3 options should be adopted with rural development restricted to small 
light industry on suburban and derelict farm building sites.

Comments noted; it is agreed that light 
industry would be appropriate on some 
derelict farm sites.  There is also a role in 
West Lanashire for larger agricultural 
produce packaging facilities.

57 The existing approach is unduly restrictive, due to an overly rigid 
interpretation of Green Belt policy.

Comments noted.

61 Option 1: The best and most versatile agricultural land should be protected 
for the continuity of the food supply for the country. Once lost this can not 
be re-gained. Tourism of an appropriate scale and renewable energy 
projects should be supported. 
As previously suggested, the criteria for retaining employment use should 
be more rigorous within the Local Plan in an attempt to keep this use and 
prevent it going for residential use. All other uses, such as leisure, should be 
fully explored before simply building more houses , which often is the easy 
option.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that the best 
and most versatile agricultural land is an 
asset of wider importance than this Borough, 
and should be protected where possible.
In terms of non-employment uses on 
employment sites, any Local Plan policy must 
be compliant with national policy, which 
allows non-employment uses in certain cases.

64 Paragraph 28 of the NPPF supports economic development in rural areas, 
and our Clients are supportive of growth and development within these 
locations, where appropriate.

Comments noted.

69 Farming especially arable should be a priority given the advantages of the 
soil and conditions in West Lancs.  A visitor economy that is carbon neutral 
and takes advantage primarily of existing assets would be worthwhile

Comments acknowledged.  It is agreed that 
arable farming is an important 'element' of 
West Lancashire borough.  It is agreed that a 
visitor economy that recognises the 
Borough's natural assets should be supported.

72 Option 2 definitely - increase development in rural areas sensitively. Option 
1 isn't working. 

Comments noted, although it is not agreed 
that Option 1 'isn't working'.

73 No comment. -

75 Economic Policy Issue 3: Spreading Economic Opportunities by Supporting 
the Rural Economy 
We welcome Option 2 of allowing for proportionate increases in 
development in rural areas through a more permissive approach, subject to 
detailed transport considerations. This option has the potential to deliver 
positive effects in terms of health and social inclusion benefits and rural 
employment opportunities.

Comments noted; it is agreed that 
accessibility, especially by public transport, is 
an issue for rural employment.

78 Supporting 'farm' type enterprises and small work units encouraging the 
young at suitable affordable rates. 

Comments noted.  It is agreed that suitable  
employment opportunities should be 
provided for local young people.

81 Support Option 2 - A key strategic B1/B8 employment site situated to the 
south of Tarleton off the A59 is supported and the landowner (Tarleton 
Estates Limited) are committed to delivering this site, as there has 
historically been a lack of employment sites in rural/key sustainable villages.
This is particularly relevant in this strategic locality, given the loss of the 
employment element of both the Tarleton Mill and Alty's Site, which 
contained allocated employment provision, following the grant of consent 
for housing under the existing Local Plan 2012-2026.

Comments noted.  See response to Q15.

82 A sustainable and fair economy means measuring and starting to reduce 
our usage of the word’s carbon, land, water and raw materials, and putting 
a much higher priority on non-GDP measures of national success and 
prosperity. It also means using all levers Government has to inspire 
dynamic and disruptive innovation to deliver the technology and new 
business models we urgently need.

Comments acknowledged, although much of 
what is recommended is beyond the scope of 
the Local Plan.

87 Burscough Parish Council supports option 1 which is to continue with the 
existing Local Plan Policy.  However, a more substantive policy towards 

Comments on Option 1 and support for a 
more substantive tourism and visitor Page 580



ID Representor Comments Council Response

supporting the tourism and visitor economy should be incorporated into 
this policy and more encouragement should be given to renewable energy 
projects.  Please note that Burscough Renewable Energy CIC commissioned 
UCLAN to prepare a very excellent report into wind power in Burscough 
and this is available on the Parish Council’s website.  It is of use to any 
business considering wind power in Burscough and covers most industrial 
areas.  We note that there was little objection to the recent application for 
a solar farm at Pippin Street so long as the site was properly screened and 
remained under some form of agriculture (such as grazing land).  It is 
important that, within the local plan, various forms of renewable energy 
are dealt with separately, as the impact on local residents can be very 
different.

economy policy noted.
Renewable energy is supported in principle; 
the Council intends to commission a study 
into renewable energy and how it can be best 
provided in West Lancashire.  It is agreed that 
different types of renewable energy require 
different consideration.

96 The rural area can include some areas which are highly accessible to the 
regional road network. To that extent,  these represent positive 
opportunities for high growth uses such as distribution. Opportunities to 
accommodate distribution uses should be encouraged as part of a 
broad‐based initiative to improve employment land take‐up.
Housing development in and adjacent to Up Holland will inevitably provide 
a boost to services and retailing within Up Holland Local Centre which will 
support the local economy.

Comments noted; whilst access to the road 
network is an important consideration for 
distribution uses, there are other factors that 
need to be taken into account.
Comments on housing noted.

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

99 Paragraph 28 of the NPPF supports economic development in rural areas, 
and our Clients are supportive of growth and development within these 
locations, where appropriate.

Comments noted.

Page 581



Question 18: Do you have any comments in relation to the Network 
and Hierarchy of Centres in the Local Plan?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

14 no -

17 We agree that Skelmersdale Town Centre should be identified as the 
principal town in the hierarchy of Centres.

Comments noted.

18 no comment -

20 No comments. -

23 No -

24 Option 3 Noted.

26 No comments Noted.

28 Hierarchy fine as long as Up Holland is considered to be a village centre and 
not part of Skelmersdale.

Comments noted.

30 I support the existing heirarchy.  I welcome the reduction in land area 
allocated to Skelmersdale Town centre shown in Appendix 2.  Is this a 
proposal or has the wrong plan been included by mistake?

Comments noted.  The boundary shown for 
Skelmersdale Town Centre in Appendix 2 is 
the same as the boundary for the Town 
Centre marked on the 2012 WLLP policies 
map.  (The wider boundary marked on the 
2012 WLLP policies map was for the 
Skelmersdale Town Centre Strategic 
Development Site.)  This is not an error.

31 no comments Noted.

39 Response A: These should be reviewed to include Halsall and other village 
centres.

Comments noted.  Whilst Halsall has a 
number of facilities (e.g. filling station, 
pharmacy, pubs), these are not together in 
one place.  As such, there is not considered 
to be a village centre as such at Halsall.

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted.

46 Hierarcy of centres should be flexible enough to take into account that 
some areas, Skelmersdale for example, need significant increases of 
activities associated with town centres. This could impact the amount and 
type of activities in the other town and village centres.

Comments noted.  If town / village centres 
change to the extent that the hierarchy 
needs amending, this can be done in future 
through a review of the Plan. (Plans are to 
be reviewed every 5 years.)

48 Review the Local Centre heirarchy. However, developing new housing in 
the smaller centres increases transport pressure to service the increased 
rural population. Servicing any increase in rural population with additional 
shops etc. needs to be considered.

Comments noted; the respondent has not 
indicated how the local centre hierarchy 
should be reviewed.
It is agreed that provision of additional 
services in rural centres would be beneficial 
and should be supported by policy; rural 
services tend to be lost through lack of 
patronage.

64 Our Clients are supportive of the continued growth and development of the 
identified centres within the settlement hierarchy.

Comments noted.

72 the existing hierarchical approach is failing because the small village centres 
are failing so review the hierarchy accordingly.

It is acknowledged that small village centres 
have struggled, due in part to factors 
beyond the control of the Local Plan.  
However, their continued designation means 
that provision of future services there is 

Page 582



ID Representor Comments Council Response

supported, even if the services are not 
operational at present.

73 No comment. -

75 Economic Policy Issue 4: Network and Hierarchy of Centres
We welcome the option of a review of the existing hierarchy with regard to 
increasing choice and accessibility to retail, employment, community 
services and facilities within the centres. Any changes to the hierarchy 
should take account of impacts on sustainability with particular 
consideration given to accessibility for residents from deprived areas, social 
and rural isolation, and detailed transport considerations.

Comments noted.

81 A key strategic B1/B8 employment site situated to the south of Tarleton off 
the A59 is supported and the landowner (Tarleton Estates Limited) are 
committed to delivering this site, as there has historically been a lack of 
employment sites in rural/key sustainable villages. 
This is particularly relevant in this strategic locality, given the loss of the 
employment element of both the Tarleton Mill and Alty's Site, which 
contained allocated employment provision, following the grant of consent 
for housing under the existing Local Plan 2012-2026.

Comments noted.  See response to Q15.

82 No Noted.

87 In the present local plan, the regional town is Skelmersdale and Ormskirk 
and Burscough are stated as equal in both being key service centres.  In this 
Issues and Options Paper, a different scenario of three equal key service 
centres or town centres is proposed.  The position of a settlement in the 
hierarchy may be intended to inform decisions about new developments 
such as housing.   In this case the hierarchy is not defined by population, 
nor can it be defined by transport and drainage infrastructure – we assume 
it is defined by services available within each settlement.   Burscough Parish 
Council would like to repeat its request for a discussion about this and 
other aspects of the Issues and Options papers before further decisions are 
made.  In so much as the evidence base is not clear on the rationale for this 
classification, much more discussion is needed regarding the designation 
and the implications relating to this point.

Comments noted.  It is confirmed that the 
town / village / local centres hierarchy is 
defined by services available within each 
centre (and also the wider settlement).  In 
terms of a discussion, it is recommended 
that Burscough Parish Council contact WLBC.

96 AIUH make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

99 Our Clients are supportive of the continued growth and development of the 
identified centres within the settlement hierarchy.

Comments noted.

Page 583



Question 19: Do any of the above options for Ensuring Healthy Town, 
Village and Local Centres get your support? If so, why? Is there an 
alternative option that you think is appropriate that has not been 
considered? If so, what is it?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Option 1 as there is to much green belt in west Lancashire - we have the 
most green belt in England.the boundaries  - should be moved to allow 
people to build were born

Comments noted.

2 Option 1 boundaries should be moved to allow local people to live in there 
area and be able to afford it

Comments noted.

14 I don't have any comment here Noted.

17 Option 1
We have been instructed by The Skelmersdale Partnership who own the 
Concourse Centre to submit representations in respect of the emerging 
draft West Lancashire Local Plan Review Issues & Options Consultation.
Our clients have owned the Concourse Centre since March 1997.  It was 
constructed by the Commission for New Towns in the 1960s and is built 
over 3 floors with the main trading floor (two thirds of the retail space) on 
the first floor.  We attach a site location plan and floor plans of the Centre.
The Centre was originally designed for pedestrians and vehicles to be kept 
separate and therefore integration between car parking and the Centre is 
difficult.  Access to the main trading floor is via a number of pedestrian 
bridges from the surrounding areas.  In the 1980s the Centre was 
subdivided to include a 3 level multi storey car park which does not link 
directly into the trading floors of the Concourse at all levels.
As a result, the distance between the car park and the shop floor is much 
larger than modern retail shopping centres.  In order to traverse the centre 
it is necessary to travel between different levels by ramps, escalators, stairs 
or lifts.  This makes trolley shopping particularly difficult.  Not only does this 
negatively affect shoppers but it also results in a lower spend per trip as 
people tend to make smaller basket sales.  As a result, the Concourse is 
particularly vulnerable to new shopping development either within the 
Town Centre or within its catchment area.
The internal arrangement of the Centre is extremely tired.  This is an 
inevitable consequence of the age of the Centre.  Furthermore as can be 
seen from the submitted floor plans, a number of the large retailers occupy 
floorspace that is irregularly shaped, some of which is compromised by 
supporting pillars.  This format is not ideal for some large space retailers 
who prefer a more regular layout which allows them to optimise and 
customise their store design.
The Centre has struggled in recent years, there are currently a number of 
long term vacant units at the Centre.  Including the second floor which is 
completely vacant other than some storage and represents about 10% of 
the overall floorspace.  The Centre is currently 35% vacant.  This level of 
vacant space is difficult but manageable.  However, the current trading 
position of the Centre is fragile and it is vulnerable from other retail 
development in the town centre and elsewhere.  For example, the owners 
remain extremely concerned about the impact of the St Modwen 
development on the Concourse Centre.  They have held a number of 
meetings with the Council to express their concerns and would prefer to 
see the site developed for housing.
For the reasons outlined above, the Concourse Centre is ‘protected’ in the 
Council’s current Local Plan.  In particular Policy SP2 of the Local Plan states 
that any new retail development in Skelmersdale Town Centre:  “should not 
harm the vitality of the Concourse Centre and must provide sufficient 
linkage to the Concourse.”
The continuation of this policy protection is specifically supported.  
Furthermore, the retention and regeneration of the Concourse Centre is 

It is acknowledged that the Concourse Centre 
has formed the key part of Skelmersdale 
Town Centre's retail offer for decades, and 
that the Centre has lately been struggling for 
a variety of reasons.  The request to continue 
to protect the Concourse Centre by means of 
planning policy is acknowledged; this makes 
sense.
In terms of the St Modwen development, this 
has received planning permission, subject to 
conditions (including preventing the 
occupation of units in the proposed scheme 
by occupiers of the Concourse) and has also 
survived a legal challenge.  As such, the 
scheme cannot be 'deleted'.
Retail studies have shown capacity (and 
need) for extra retail and leisure floorspace in 
Skelmersdale Town Centre.  Whilst additional 
housing in and around the Town Centre is 
supported, it is not considered that this 
should replace or substitute the St Modwen 
scheme.

Page 584



ID Representor Comments Council Response

supported by a large number of residents and retailers.  We attach a 
number of letters in support of the Concourse Centre.
Turning to Skelmersdale Town Centre, the last retail study dated December 
2011 concluded that the town had progressively lost ground in the national 
retail rankings with the pace of decline accelerating in recent years.  A 
number of High Street retailers had all left the town e.g. Dunnes and had 
not been replaced.
Other deficiencies include the fact that most comparison retail outlets in 
the town operate at the lower end of the retail spectrum; the very weak 
food and drink offer with no high quality restaurants, coffee shops or family 
eating places, only some public houses and no cinema or other leisure 
facilities.  Furthermore, there is considerable leakage of comparison goods, 
expenditure leaking to destinations beyond the Skelmersdale town 
catchment area.
In view of the above, the Town Centre is exceptionally weak for a town with 
a population of some 40,000 people and that it fails to function effectively 
as a town centre.  We do not believe that the St Modwen scheme will do 
anything to correct this decline.  Whilst it may offer the opportunity to 
provide a modern retail development with free car parking, all that it will 
do is to further assist with the decline of the Concourse Centre by 
eventually attracting all of the tenants from the Concourse Centre to the St 
Modwen development.  Accordingly we do not believe that there will be 
any net benefits to the Town Centre.

Recommendation
So we believe that the Local Plan review is correct in continuing to identify 
the regeneration of Skelmersdale town centre as an important objective.  
However, we believe that the Concourse Centre must continue to be 
protected as per the existing adopted Local Plan i.e. Policy SP2.  The reason 
being that the Centre is now even more fragile than it was during the 
preparation of the adopted Local Plan and so it is important that specific 
measures are put in place to ensure that its regeneration takes place.  In 
doing so we would specifically request that the St Modwen scheme is 
deleted from the Town Centre and that retail and leisure uses are not 
considered appropriate for the site rather it be identified for residential 
development.

18 no comment -

20 Option 3: Review what we consider to be appropriate uses in town centres. 
Ormskirk town centre has lost a number of retail stores which seem to have 
been replaced by cafes, bars or charity shops. Surely there must be a 
'saturation point' for such businesses to be granted permission to set up 
and trade.

Comments noted.  Whilst charity shops may 
not be the preferred use for Ormskirk Town 
Centre retail units, these are considered 
better than empty units.  Whether a 
'saturation point' is reached is determined by 
the market, rather than by local planning 
policy which is in any eveny constrained by 
national policy.

24 I think the shopping areas in the Borough are central and encourage 
residents to visit but we need to keep reviewing what is there and if they 
meet the needs of the local population.  I think therefore, that the need to 
review the boundaries is not necessary but we need to make sure the uses 
of the town centres are fit for purpose.  Option 3

Comments noted and acknowledged; retail 
patterns are changing and town centres need 
to change as well.

26 There is merit each of the options listed. Comments noted.

28 Option 3 as retail and service demands are changing. Comments noted.

30 Option1 combined with Option 3 Comments noted.

31 no comments Noted.

32 All three options get my support, if town and village centres are to remain 
supported and thriving then ongoing reviews are necessary.

Comments noted.

39 Responses..a combined approach Comments noted.Page 585



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Re Option 2  Allocate site(s) for town centre uses at Ormskirk. This 
approach would be in addition to site allocation at Skelmersdale town 
centre and would vary from recommendations in the West Lancashire 
Retail Study. Ormskirk town centre is currently performing relatively well 
but physical constraints exist to finding development sites as a result of the 
historic core and one way system; however, it needs to evolve and 
reinforce the commercial offer in order to remain competitive with other 
shopping and leisure destinations. The redevelopment potential of existing 
or likely future underused areas within the town centre would be 
investigated. It could also justify the development of an area based policy / 
strategy specific to the town centre.
Response A - Renew primary shopping area boundaries in the Adopted 
Local Plan.  Use local evidence to review boundaries of Ormskirk and 
Burscough and decide if there is a need to define a shopping area for 
Skelmersdale.
Re Option 3  Allocate a non-town centre site for a retail warehouse park. 
This would be a radical approach, again varying from recommendations in 
the West Lancashire Retail Study and would seek to address the lack of a 
quality retail warehouse park in the Borough. It would look to reduce the 
loss of residents’ non-food spending from the Borough by allocating an 
accessible site for a non-food retail warehouse park outside existing town 
centres, therefore acknowledging that town centre sites were unavailable 
and / or unsuitable. The most likely location would be either Ormskirk or 
Skelmersdale. However, this approach would not be without risk in terms 
of developing a potentially competing attraction with existing town centres.
Response B  ..This approach would be compatible with our suggestion of a 
Cheshire Oaks/Warrington Gemini Retail  Park type model, as indicated 
above, and could be combined with the need to provide a site suitable for 
the retail needs in the North of the Borough

Re. Response A:  it is agreed that Ormskirk is 
performing reasonably well given the recent 
and ongoing economic difficulties, but that 
the town needs to 'evolve'.  The potential for 
a strategy / policy specific to Ormskirk can be 
investigated.
Re. Response B:  As noted in the response to 
Q15 and Q16, and as stated by the 
Representor, a large out-of-centre retail park, 
even if it was successful in 'clawing back' 
existing expenditure leakage from the 
Borough, would be likely to have a significant 
negative impact on existing town centres, 
adding to their current difficulties.

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted.

46 Greater consideration  should be given as to the changing needs of town 
and village centres during this recent period of changing retail patterns and 
shopping/leisure habits, with enough policy flexibility to allow for 
fluctuations within communities.

Comments noted and agreed; these changes 
are indeed being taken into account, not just 
in planning policy.

48 All 3 options need reviewing. In relation to Ormskirk Centre, revitalisation is 
important as the town centre has declined markedly in the last 5 years. 
Parking costs (compared to free parking in trading estates), rate and rent 
prices should reflect the competition and overall dominance of the large 
retailers that makes many town centr sites uneconomic for smaller 
retailers. The mix of shops needs  careful consideration, for in Ormskirk the 
number of charity and coffee shops has increased in relation to other food 
and retail units.

Comments noted; the past few years have 
been difficult for town centres in general. It is 
considered Ormskirk has been reasonably 
resilient over this period.  Parking charges 
have recently been reviewed. Whilst several 
A1 retail units have been replaced by bars / 
cafes, etc. and whilst there are several charity 
shops, this is considered preferable to empty 
units.  Under national policy / law, planning 
can only control the mix of uses to a limited 
extent.

61 I support prioritising Option 2 & option 3. - Option 2 because these centres 
are the biggest and will therefore have a bigger potential impact on 
healthier living for a wider population. The review should initially 
concentrate on areas of concern for example high childhood obesity. - 
Option 3 because where planning policy permits it should be used 
effectively to encourage healthy lifestyles.

Comments noted.  Obesity and healthy 
lifestyles are important considerations, not 
just in Planning, and it is acknowledged the 
Local Plan should seek to be a positive 
influence in this respect.  However, the word 
'healthy' under this policy area is used in a 
more economics sense, i.e. vitality and 
viability of town / village centres.

64 Our Clients are supportive of the continued improvements and 
enhancements to the Town, Village and Local centres, and would support 
the review of the defined boundaries. They do not however support the 
retention of the Council’s minimum percentage threshold for Use Class A1. 
The nature of the high street is changing, and other uses should be 
encouraged not precluded from the high street.

Comments noted.  The threshold percentage 
for A1 uses will be looked at; it is agreed that 
other uses can also be appropriate in town 
centres.

Page 586



ID Representor Comments Council Response

67 Option 3 is vital.
The role and nature of all centres (town, district and local) has changed 
fundamentally due to much changed shopping patterns.  Centres need to 
adapt and be permitted to provide a wider range of complementary town 
centre uses.  Beyond vital primary shopping frontages mixed and divers 
town centre should be encouraged and supported.

Comments noted and agreed - adaptability in 
an ever-chaning retail / town centre context 
is vital.

69 We should promote town centres as longstanding transport and social 
hubs, working out how best to do this is the priority.

Comments noted and agreed.

72 its too limited - you need to look at social infrastructure such as schools, 
churches, parish halls - they need 'walk up' population to support them. 
That means growing settlements such as Wrightington Bar and giving 
parents and children the opportunity of walking half a mile or a mile to 
school rather than arriving in SUVs and breeding a nation of fatties.

it is agreed that town centres do not 
comprise only retail, etc. uses, but that social 
infrastructure and population within walking 
(and cycling) distance are also important 
considerations.  Transport to school 
comments noted; this is a wider health issue.

73 No comment. -

75 Economic Policy Issue 5: Ensuring Healthy Town, Village and Local Centres – 
Appropriate Uses
The options for this policy include to review the policy approach to 
determining appropriate uses in town centres. This policy option could be 
used as part of a drive to promote healthier lifestyles in West Lancashire by 
limiting the amount of, and convenient access to, inappropriate uses. In 
particular, the policy option could be used as part of a drive to tackle health 
indicators associated with obesity and alcohol consumption. 
The Sustainability Appraisal states that: - "Option 3 offers the Council more 
opportunity to influence the types and balance of uses within Town, Village 
and Local Centres and is likely to be the most sustainable option. This could 
include a restriction on the number of fast food outlets or bars within a 
certain area. This could have a significant positive effect upon the social 
aspects of sustainability in terms of encouraging healthy lifestyles for those 
living in these centres, and perhaps lessening the incidences of anti-social 
behaviour linked to the consumption of alcohol.   However there may be a 
slight negative impact upon economic sustainability since there is a 
potential risk that this may result in empty units if there are no alternative 
competing uses to occupy them."
It is recommended that consideration should be given to the development 
and inclusion of policies that contribute to healthy town centres to address 
specific health inequalities. This approach could also be extended to local 
and district centres. An example of this would be the inclusion of policies 
that look to limit the percentage of building uses allowed in the town 
centres, and local and district centres, for hot food takeaways, drinking 
establishments and even tanning salons, in order to encourage healthier 
lifestyles. This would reflect the commitment outlined in the Lancashire 
County Council Local Government Declaration on Healthy Weight to 
‘Consider supplementary guidance for hot food takeaways, specifically in 
areas around schools, parks and where access to healthier alternatives are 
limited’

Comments noted; it is agreed that impacts on 
health, and ways to improve health, should 
be at the forefront of thinking when 
developing policies.  Health determinants are 
wide-raning and complex, and a take-away 
policy on its own will not address the 
problem, but it could be considered.

78 Encourage public transport - keeping town centres clean and bright to 
encourage local business and keep alive. 

Comments noted and agreed.

81 Support through planning policy should be maintained for town and village 
centres, that enables them to continue to be viable. This could be through 
allowance for retail units change of use, to cafes, bars and restaurants, and 
the ability to construct housing within large village centre boundaries.

Comments noted; these largely reflect 
practice in West Lancashire over recent 
years, and emerging national policy.

82 Local businesses can enrich local people, but most of the businesses in our 
town centres seem to be multinational companies that just provide low 
paid work and take money out of the area, giving support to independent 
local businesses can make a difference.

Comments noted; this is a wider issue 
applying nationwide.  It is considered 
Ormskirk has a reasonably good proportion 
of independent local businesses; measures Page 587



ID Representor Comments Council Response

outside of planning policy (e.g. Town Centre 
Management Group) support such 
businesses.

87 The primary shopping area of Burscough should be reviewed in line with 
the emerging Neighbourhood Plan.  Any change of use should not allowed 
without planning permission, and that an increase in the minimum % for 
shop ( class A1) uses at ground floor level within primary shopping areas 
should be applied.

Comments noted; the Primary Shopping Area 
boundary can be considered in the light of 
the Neighbourhood Plan.  Policies on change 
of use must be consistent with national 
policy.

96 Housing development in and adjacent to Up Holland will inevitably provide 
a boost to services and retailing within Up Holland Local Centre which will 
support the local economy. This should be afforded positive weight. 
AIUH makes no other specific comment in these respects.

Comments noted.

97 Skelmersdale has a defined town centre which is extensive, but has no 
identified primary shopping area (PSA). It is clear from review of the 
consultation stages of the adopted Local Plan that consideration was had in 
terms of identifying a PSA for Skelmersdale but rejected on the basis that it 
would need to ultimately include reference to the town centre extension 
scheme.
The subsequent planning activity has secured an approval for the town 
centre extension, but its implementation has been prejudiced as a 
consequence of the interpretation of a standing policy which affords weight 
to the protection of the existing and underperforming Concourse and does 
not expressly afford appropriate weight to the planning benefits to be 
accrued as a result of the town centre extension.
We conclude that the identification of a PSA for Skelmersdale which 
encompasses the Concourse and the approved town centre extension 
scheme is the appropriate policy approach which will catalyse delivery of 
the long‐awaited scheme.

Comments noted; the extent of any Primary 
Shopping Area in Skelmersdale can be 
determined having regard to the most up-to-
date knowledge of approved / proposed 
redevelopment of the Town Centre.

99 Our Clients are supportive of the continued improvements and 
enhancements to the Town, Village and Local centres, and would support 
the review of the defined boundaries. They do not however support the 
retention of the Council’s minimum percentage threshold for Use Class A1. 
The nature of the high street is changing, and other uses should be 
encouraged not precluded from the high street.

Comments noted.  The threshold percentage 
for A1 uses will be looked at; it is agreed that 
other uses can also be appropriate in town 
centres.

Page 588



Question 20: Do we need to allocate Sites for Town Centre Uses within 
West Lancashire in the Local Plan? If so, which option do you think is 
the most appropriate and why? Is there an alternative option that you 
think is appropriate that has not been considered? If so, what? 
ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Option 1 as this is an employment area Comments noted.

9 Option 1 Noted.

12 3 and 4 - Make use of derelict scrubland ie brown belt rather than green Comments noted.

14 continue current approach Comments noted.

18 no comment -

20 Option 1: Continue our current approach - make Skelmersdale town centre 
the priority for investment . It should be the priority for investment, 
attracting new business investments and opportunities and the 
accompanying development of new housing.

Comments noted.

21 No Comment noted.

23 Option 1 is appropriate. Comments noted.

24 Definitely Option 1 because Skelmersdale is most in need of investment. Comments noted.

26 No comments -

28 No further retail sites required in the Borough as there is already an over-
supply particular considering proximity to major city Centres and the 
Trafford Centre. 
None of the above options are suitable.

Comments noted; there is not considered to 
be an 'over-supply' of retail floorspace in 
West Lancashire.  Facilities such as the 
Trafford Centre and city centres are some 
distance from West Lancashire.

30 Option 1 but include the land opposite ASDA to the south of Ingram, so 
that the misleadingly named "High Street" can be redesigned to include 
retail warehouses for items not sold in the Concourse, eg Garden Centre, 
DIY /Builders Merchant, Car Maintenance and spares.  To adopt option 3 
will detract from the possibility of ever developing the Skem Town centre.  
The redesign should take advantage of the views of Tawd Valley Park and 
include leisure activities.  It should complement rather than compete with 
the Concourse and provide parking for those wishing to use the park, 
particularly the disabled,  To turn south at the bottom of Ingram to be 
faced with a service yard is a most unattractive option.  Please see the 
comments, previously submitted at the application stage on behalf of CPRE, 
on the currently approved St Modwen Scheme.Plan.  CPRE wants strong, 
vibrant town centres to avoid the need for green field development in the 
countryside.

Comments noted.  The detailed comments, 
repeated from CPRE's comments on the St 
Modwen planning application for 
Skelmersdale Town Centre, are noted, but 
these proposals now have consent.
It is agreed that proposals for the Town 
Centre should result in an attractive scheme 
for pedestrians and that nautral assets of the 
area (e.g. the Tawd valley) should be 
acknowledged.

31 Out of town retail parks are not a sustainable solution. It would be good to 
see an increase in the number of local shops in the Northern Parishes but I 
believe major effort should go into improving the shopping in Skelmersdale.

Comments noted.

32 Option 1 to continue with the current approach seems to make the most 
sense, however Option 2 allocating sites in Ormskirk would also make sense 
and hopefully prevent Ormskirk becoming even more run down than it 
currently is. The borough does not need more out of town retail parks we 
need to cherish our town centres and help them survive and thrive, thus 
limiting the traffic impact on our overburdened road infrastructure

Comments noted.  It is agreed that in general 
terms, policy should support town centres 
before out-of-centre development, and that 
traffic generation is a factor that needs to be 
considered.

39 Responses..a combined approach   - Re Option 2  Allocate site(s) for town 
centre uses at Ormskirk. This approach would be in addition to site 
allocation at Skelmersdale town centre and would vary from 

Comments noted.
Re. Response B:  It is conisdered that a retail 
park of the size of Cheshire Oaks could not be Page 589



ID Representor Comments Council Response

recommendations in the West Lancashire Retail Study. Ormskirk town 
centre is currently performing relatively well but physical constraints exist 
to finding development sites as a result of the historic core and one way 
system; however, it needs to evolve and reinforce the commercial offer in 
order to remain competitive with other shopping and leisure destinations. 
The redevelopment potential of existing or likely future underused areas 
within the town centre would be investigated. It could also justify the 
development of an area based policy / strategy specific to the town centre.
Response A -  Allocate new town centre uses in Skelmersdale and Ormskirk
Re Option 3  Allocate a non-town centre site for a retail warehouse park. 
This would be a radical approach, again varying from recommendations in 
the West Lancashire Retail Study and would seek to address the lack of a 
quality retail warehouse park in the Borough. It would look to reduce the 
loss of residents’ non-food spending from the Borough by allocating an 
accessible site for a non-food retail warehouse park outside existing town 
centres, therefore acknowledging that town centre sites were unavailable 
and / or unsuitable. The most likely location would be either Ormskirk or 
Skelmersdale. However, this approach would not be without risk in terms 
of developing a potentially competing attraction with existing town centres.
Response B  ..This approach would be compatible with our suggestion of a 
Cheshire Oaks/Warrington Gemini Retail  Park type model, as indicated 
above, and could be combined with the need to provide a site suitable for 
the retail needs in the North of the Borough.

justified in West Lancashire, not least 
because there is not the expenditure capacity 
to accommodate it.

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted.

46 A mixture of Option 1. and Option 2. Comments noted.

47 Ormskirk town centre is already an integrated development with housing, 
retail and employment in close proximity. But it is being undermined by out 
of town developments. I would like to see more focus on increasing footfall 
in Ormskirk town centre and thinking what is needed for retail and cafes, 
bars etc to thrive in the town centre.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that increasing 
footfall in Ormskirk Town Centre would be 
beneficial.

48 Option 1 is fine if Skelmersdale is the focus for housing and industrial 
development in the future. However, Ormskirk has declined as a centre due 
to parking costs and the loss of bespoke and smaller traders. There should 
be a policy to develop Ormskirk as a market town with a distinctive mix of 
smaller shops and offices. The policy must reflect the detrimental effect 
trading estates have on traditional town centre vibrancy.  
If there is a proven need for small retail development in the north of the 
borough (option4) then Tarleton is the obvious choice. However, the 
[population living in rural areas must expect to travel to the larger centres 
for the major shopping experience.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that a policy 
specific to Ormskirk is worth looking at.
Comments regarding Tarletonand rural areas 
are noted.

61 Options 1 & 2 seem the most appropriate because of better road links for 
deliveries to the site & for customer access.

Comments noted.

64 No comment. -

69 Continue option 1 Noted.

72 Keep large vehices on motorways and distributor roads away from where 
the general population live.

Comments noted.

73 No comment. -

75 Economic Policy Issue 6: Sites for Town Centre Uses
We welcome the option of allocating a site to meet retail needs in the 
north of the Borough. This supports Lancashire County Council’s objectives 
of reducing unnecessary vehicle movements and ensuring local access to 
convenience services and fresh produce. However, the size of any retail 
development should be proportionate to the surrounding villages.

Comments noted.

Page 590



ID Representor Comments Council Response

78 If rates are now low more shops will be used towns more vibrant - at least 
same income for council?

Comments noted; it is accepted that the 
more shops and local businesses there are in 
town centres, the more vibrant it should be.

82 Retail warehouse parks destroy independent local businesses.  
Skelmersdale needs investment.

Comments noted.

87 Burscough Parish Council supports the revitalisation of Ormskirk Town 
Centre and the freezing of car parking charges there.  The current 
designation of Skelmersdale Town Centre as a strategic development site 
remains hugely important to West Lancs

Comments on Ormskirk and Skelmersdale 
Town Centres noted.

96 AIUH make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

97 National policy and previous advice to the Council has directed retail 
development towards key centres, and has clearly identified the very 
substantial extent of comparison expenditure leakage both in terms of 
higher order goods and bulky goods. In general terms, the established 
approach has been to direct retail development towards Skelmersdale and 
despite substantial planning activity the delivery of those uses has not 
occurred.
It is our recommendation that the case for retail development and other 
town centre uses in Skelmersdale to supplement the Concourse remains 
absolutely clear, and should remain the overriding objective. The new 
development should add to the existing offer, but we strongly encourage 
that the resultant policy wording should afford appropriate weight to 
regeneration and improvement to the town centre offer. 
Clearly if the Council decides to identify a need for a retail warehouse park, 
the first option should be within or close to Skelmersdale town centre. Only 
where that proved impracticable should the Council look to consider an 
out‐of‐centre site. We conclude that Option 1 is the preferred way forward 
to meet long‐held objectives.

Comments noted.  Skelmersdale is the 
highest town in the West Lancashire 
settlement hierarchy, and has, under current 
policy, been the primary location when 
considering the location for new retail 
floorspace.
Comments on the Town Centre are noted.

99 No comment. -

Page 591



Question 21: Are there any other economic policy issues that should 
also be considered? If so, what are they?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

2 Tunnel vision with Skelmersdale isn't the way to go Comments noted.

10 At the recent planning meeting regarding Whalleys 4 both the developer, 
Keepmoat, and the some members of the Council appeared to have the 
idea that "if you build it they will come".  I suggest that existing light 
industrial zones such as Pimbo are given priority in attracting new and 
varied businesses  including high-tech such as IT etc.  Together with 
improved housing and retention of a pleasant and desirable landscape 
more scope would be opened to young professionals who would otherwise 
have to travel some distance.  In order to flourish professional people must 
be attracted.  This in itself would have a trickle-down effect in improving 
lifestyle choices and therefore better health and life expectancy.  I think it's 
true to say that we live in an aspirational culture and this is something that 
needs strengthening particularly in certain areas of Skelmersdale.

Comments noted.  
It is agreed that the attraction of quality 
employment, creation / maintenance of an 
attractive environment, and attraction / 
retention of professionally qualified people 
to Skelmersdale should be an aim, in order to 
help improve / regenerate the town.

14 that edge hill university has massive economic importance and this should 
be encouraged and worked with in pertnership

Comments noted; the benefits and potential 
of Edge Hill University are recognised by the 
Council.

17 We have been instructed by The Skelmersdale Partnership who own the 
Concourse Centre to submit representations in respect of the emerging 
draft West Lancashire Local Plan Review Issues & Options Consultation.
Our clients have owned the Concourse Centre since March 1997.  It was 
constructed by the Commission for New Towns in the 1960s and is built 
over 3 floors with the main trading floor (two thirds of the retail space) on 
the first floor.  We attach a site location plan and floor plans of the Centre.
The Centre was originally designed for pedestrians and vehicles to be kept 
separate and therefore integration between car parking and the Centre is 
difficult.  Access to the main trading floor is via a number of pedestrian 
bridges from the surrounding areas.  In the 1980s the Centre was 
subdivided to include a 3 level multi storey car park which does not link 
directly into the trading floors of the Concourse at all levels.
As a result, the distance between the car park and the shop floor is much 
larger than modern retail shopping centres.  In order to traverse the centre 
it is necessary to travel between different levels by ramps, escalators, stairs 
or lifts.  This makes trolley shopping particularly difficult.  Not only does this 
negatively affect shoppers but it also results in a lower spend per trip as 
people tend to make smaller basket sales.  As a result, the Concourse is 
particularly vulnerable to new shopping development either within the 
Town Centre or within its catchment area.
The internal arrangement of the Centre is extremely tired.  This is an 
inevitable consequence of the age of the Centre.  Furthermore as can be 
seen from the submitted floor plans, a number of the large retailers occupy 
floorspace that is irregularly shaped, some of which is compromised by 
supporting pillars.  This format is not ideal for some large space retailers 
who prefer a more regular layout which allows them to optimise and 
customise their store design.
The Centre has struggled in recent years, there are currently a number of 
long term vacant units at the Centre.  Including the second floor which is 
completely vacant other than some storage and represents about 10% of 
the overall floorspace.  The Centre is currently 35% vacant.  This level of 
vacant space is difficult but manageable.  However, the current trading 
position of the Centre is fragile and it is vulnerable from other retail 
development in the town centre and elsewhere.  For example, the owners 
remain extremely concerned about the impact of the St Modwen 

Comments noted.
It is acknowledged that the Concourse Centre 
has formed the key part of Skelmersdale 
Town Centre's retail offer for decades, and 
that the Centre has lately been struggling for 
a variety of reasons.  The request to continue 
to protect the Concourse Centre by means of 
planning policy is acknowledged; this makes 
sense.
In terms of the St Modwen development, this 
has received planning permission, subject to 
conditions (including preventing the 
occupation of units in the proposed scheme 
by occupiers of the Concourse) and has also 
survived a legal challenge.  As such, the 
scheme cannot be 'deleted'.
Retail studies have shown capacity (and 
need) for extra retail and leisure floorspace in 
Skelmersdale Town Centre.  Whilst additional 
housing in and around the Town Centre is 
supported, it is not considered that this 
should replace or substitute the St Modwen 
scheme.

Page 592



ID Representor Comments Council Response

development on the Concourse Centre.  They have held a number of 
meetings with the Council to express their concerns and would prefer to 
see the site developed for housing.
For the reasons outlined above, the Concourse Centre is ‘protected’ in the 
Council’s current Local Plan.  In particular Policy SP2 of the Local Plan states 
that any new retail development in Skelmersdale Town Centre: “should not 
harm the vitality of the Concourse Centre and must provide sufficient 
linkage to the Concourse.” 
The continuation of this policy protection is specifically supported.  
Furthermore, the retention and regeneration of the Concourse Centre is 
supported by a large number of residents and retailers.  We attach a 
number of letters in support of the Concourse Centre.

Turning to Skelmersdale Town Centre, the last retail study dated December 
2011 concluded that the town had progressively lost ground in the national 
retail rankings with the pace of decline accelerating in recent years.  A 
number of High Street retailers had all left the town e.g. Dunnes and had 
not been replaced.
Other deficiencies include the fact that most comparison retail outlets in 
the town operate at the lower end of the retail spectrum; the very weak 
food and drink offer with no high quality restaurants, coffee shops or family 
eating places, only some public houses and no cinema or other leisure 
facilities.  Furthermore, there is considerable leakage of comparison goods, 
expenditure leaking to destinations beyond the Skelmersdale town 
catchment area.

In view of the above, the Town Centre is exceptionally weak for a town with 
a population of some 40,000 people and that it fails to function effectively 
as a town centre.  We do not believe that the St Modwen scheme will do 
anything to correct this decline.  Whilst it may offer the opportunity to 
provide a modern retail development with free car parking, all that it will 
do is to further assist with the decline of the Concourse Centre by 
eventually attracting all of the tenants from the Concourse Centre to the St 
Modwen development.  Accordingly we do not believe that there will be 
any net benefits to the Town Centre.

Recommendation
So we believe that the Local Plan review is correct in continuing to identify 
the regeneration of Skelmersdale town centre as an important objective.  
However, we believe that the Concourse Centre must continue to be 
protected as per the existing adopted Local Plan i.e. Policy SP2.  The reason 
being that the Centre is now even more fragile than it was during the 
preparation of the adopted Local Plan and so it is important that specific 
measures are put in place to ensure that its regeneration takes place.  In 
doing so we would specifically request that the St Modwen scheme is 
deleted from the Town Centre and that retail and leisure uses are not 
considered appropriate for the site rather it be identified for residential 
development.

18 no comment -

20 None at this time. Noted.

26 As mentioned above, consideration should be given to sport as an 
employer and training for local populations. 

Comments noted.

30 The increase in online shopping, particularly by Skem residents who have 
never had a Town Centre bookshop and similar specialist shops.  The retail 
/trade shops on the Skem industrial estates for businesses that would be 
normally found in Town centres.  It is unusual that a large firm of solicitors 
is based on Gillibrands rather than in  a Town cente office block.
Effects of Brexit , Housing for asylum seekers , who are not allowed to work 
and who contribute to the unemployment figures.

Comments noted - there are a number of 
'unusual features' relating to Skelmersdale; 
where possible / appropriate, these need to 
be taken into account in planning policy 
terms.

Page 593



ID Representor Comments Council Response

31 none come to mind Noted.

32 Investment in SME 's (small to medium enterprises) in our town and village 
centres is essential, shuttered up shops are not good for a healthy 
economic environment, if investment can be made into small businesses in 
our towns and villages it may  go some way to preventing them becoming 
dormitories for people  commuting to Manchester and Liverpool along 
already overburdened road infrastructure.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that attraction 
/ retention of SMEs in town and village 
centres (and elsewhere) is important, in 
order to improve the local employment offer.

34 Section 3 Reinvigorating Town and Village Services 
We promote using waterways as an asset in creating a sense of place. We 
are currently working with the Parks department on a project to create a 
Linear Park along the River Tawd. Part of this is to reduce a current 
pollution problem through the installation of reed beds but it will also help 
to create a sense of place within Skelmersdale. The Linear Park will provide 
a place for recreation and associated health benefits and should positively 
impact the visitor economy. Waterways present an asset to the borough 
and it is critical that they are given value and enhanced. Reference to 
waterways could be incorporated into the Economy Paper.

Flooding and the Economy
Paragraph 1.2 of the Environmental Paper discusses the potential impact of 
flooding on an area’s economy for agricultural and horticultural industries 
and built-up areas however, there is no mention of this within the Economy 
Paper. We recommend that the Economy and Environment Papers are tied 
together with a section in the Economy paper to strengthen this 
relationship. 
Through helping businesses to become flood resilient/adapt to climate 
change the economic risk/recovery costs can be reduced overall. 
Consideration should Also be giving to using CIL to raise funds for flood 
protection for existing developments. By helping existing businesses and 
residential areas be more resilient to flood events we can reduce the 
economic impact of flooding whilst assisting areas to adapt to climate 
change.

Comments on waterways noted.  It is agreed 
that waterways are an asset in creating a 
sense of place and can add value to the 
economy.  The Council supports the Tawd 
Valley Park project.

Comments on flooding also noted.  The Local 
Plan Review will eventually be one 
document, rather than five separate papers, 
so a 'linking statement' should not be 
necessary.  The environmental / economic 
aspects of flooding should be mentioned.
Whilst flood prevention measures are 
infrastructure and could in theory be paid for 
by CIL, new developments should not 
increase flood risk (they require mitigation 
measures) and so CIL monies from them 
should not be spent on flood prevention.  As 
such, 'flood protection' is not on the Council's 
Regulation 123 List.

39 Response A - Underlying all of  this responsible planning is the conflicting 
threat of fracking, which has not been mentioned in the Local Plan and 
which will bring to nothing these worthwhile aims and endeavours unless it 
is robustly resisted. There seems to be little effective democratic defence to 
the Central Government's will in relation to this, so it is imperative that 
WLBC is aware of this threat and takes legal advice to ensure that its plans 
will not be jeapordised and that WLBC take legal steps to guarantee that 
their plans do take precedence over this commercial threat.

Comments noted.  The Borough Council is 
aware of the issues relating to fracking.  
Ultimately, decision-making on fracking is the 
responsibility of Lancashire County Council 
rather than WLBC, which is why the matter is 
not addressed in the Local Plan Review.

42 We recommend that your authority addresses the economic value of the 
borough's natural capital and the ecosystem services that such capital 
provides. The UK Government's Natural Capital Committee recently 
published “How to do it – a natural capital workbook”. This practical guide 
and its supporting valuation paper are aimed at anyone who wants to use 
natural capital approaches in making decisions about the natural 
environment.  These documents are intended to support decision-makers, 
including planners, communities and landowners, but have particular 
relevance for place-based decisions. Please see 
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/natural-capital-committee for 
summary background and a link to the draft workbook. Please contact us if 
you wish to explore this further.

Comments noted.  Council officers are aware 
of the concept of natural capital; it is agreed 
that its use in decision making would benefit 
the natural environment, as well as the 
economy.

44 West Lancashire, particularly Skelmersdale, needs to attract and create a 
more highly skilled, more affluent work force with a good work-life balance.
Highly skilled businesses are more effective at growing the local economy 
than large, land hungry warehouse units that provide limited employment 
opportunities and whose profits go to shareholders outside of West Lancs.
Owners of highly skilled businesses are more likely to relocate here if we 

It is agreed that attraction / retention of a 
highly skilled workforce in the area, 
Skelmersdale in particular, would be of great 
local benefit.  This is one of the goals of 
planning for West Lancashire; it is also agreed 
that, accompanying the employment, good 

Page 594



ID Representor Comments Council Response

create aesthetically pleasing housing developments and smaller business 
units.

quality local housing should be provided, 
again particularly in Skelmersdale.

45 West Lancashire, particularly Skelmersdale, needs to attract and create a 
more highly skilled, more affluent work force with a good work-life balance.
Highly skilled businesses are more effective at growing the local economy 
than large, land hungry warehouse units that provide limited employment 
opportunities and whose profits go to shareholders outside of West Lancs.
Owners of highly skilled businesses are more likely to relocate here if we 
create aesthetically pleasing housing developments and smaller business 
units.

It is agreed that attraction / retention of a 
highly skilled workforce in the area, 
Skelmersdale in particular, would be of great 
local benefit.  This is one of the goals of 
planning for West Lancashire; it is also agreed 
that, accompanying the employment, good 
quality local housing should be provided, 
again particularly in Skelmersdale.

46 The need for 'incubator' units for the development of new business 
working in conjunction with Edge Hill University and West Lancs College.

Comments noted.

48 We should be aware that warehousing provides little and mainly low paid 
employment for the area of land used. Encouraging more labour intensive 
business with reasonable wage prospects should be a priority.

Comments noted; a variety of businesses / 
jobs should be provided / facilitated in the 
Borough, to give people a choice of 
employment.

50 This Topic Paper discusses economic issues in West Lancashire, and is 
divided into two distinct sections:

The first section considers the future role of, and appropriate uses for, 
existing business and industrial areas, as well as the provision of new sites 
for employment development, while the second section looks to support 
the network of town and village centres in the Borough, promoting their 
future health through permitting suitable uses, and planning for 
appropriate future development opportunities to meet their specific needs.
Rather than suggest specific policies at this stage, the paper presents the 
following six economic policy issues:

While the holistic nature of Transport Planning means that policy can often 
have implicit effects on transport use and habits without explicitly 
addressing the subject, this review focuses on the tangible impacts, 
specifically those that are likely to have an impact on the operation of the 
SRN. 
In this context, there are few issues likely to have a significant implications 
for the SRN directly. 
Providing the Right Scale, Mix, and Distribution of Employment Land
However, the first Economic Policy Issue, Providing the Right Scale, Mix, 
and Distribution  of Employment Land, does present the potential for 
impacts on the SRN. The Economic Policies Topic Paper presents four 
options on what type of employment land is required and where specific 
types may be appropriate. These options are summarised as:
1. Allocate sites specifically for strategic distribution and warehousing 
needs; 
2. Allocate sites to encourage geographical clusters of specialist 
employment uses; 
3. Allocate all new sites for the range of B classes uses (business, general 
industry and - warehousing); and
4. Increase town centre office sites. 

It is noted that these options are not mutually exclusive. From the 
perspective of Highways England, Option 1 is preferred over other options, 
or at least Option 1 in combination with other elements. Particularly under 
a scenario where West Lancashire looks to fulfil an under provision of large-

Comments on Issues 1 and 2 have been 
copied to Q15/16 above; WLBC's responses 
are as above.

In terms of the "Key Points" - comments 
noted; it is not always possible to predict 
with certainty the exact nature of the future 
use of a site.

Page 595



ID Representor Comments Council Response

scale logistics in neighbouring authorities, the ability to plan infrastructure 
requirements will be better facilitated through the precise determination of 
allocated sites’ locations and size.  However, it is anticipated that there is a 
requirement for employment allocations beyond largescale logistics. It may 
therefore be appropriate to allocate specific strategic sites with smaller 
generic employment sites available for all use types.

Existing Employment Areas 
Economic Policy Issue 2 discusses four potential options for existing 
employment land uses within the Borough. These are summarised as: 
1. Continue with the existing Local Plan approach; 
2. Protect all existing employment areas for business class employment 
uses; 
3. Designate selected employment areas either wholly or in part for non-
business uses; and 
4. Do not protect employment areas for B1, B2 and B8 uses.
Highways England’s key guidance document, The Strategic Road Network: 
Planning for the Future (2015) states that: - “Capacity enhancements and 
the infrastructure required to deliver strategic growth should be identified 
at the local plan stage. In this way options for road capacity enhancement 
or other transport infrastructure to support strategic development sites can 
be considered long before the planning application stage.”
Where there is a greater degree of uncertainty over the use-class of a site, 
it will be more difficult to predict the likely impacts of the site on the local 
and strategic road networks; Option 4 in particular does not protect any 
land for employment use, instead allowing market forces to dictate the 
appropriate mix of uses within existing employment uses.
We therefore would prefer that those options promoted facilitate a degree 
of certainty over the use-type of existing sites, allowing more accurate 
planning of infrastructure and lessening unforeseen impacts.

Key Points: 

likely to have significant direct implications for the SRN, Highways England 
would look to promote and support those options that create a greater 
degree of certainty in the location, type and scale of development. This 
certainty will enable more accurate forecasts of vehicular demand, and 
facilitate the determination of any infrastructure requirements.

52 The Economy: Act to reduce empty shops, closed pubs, closed PO building 
etc. Liaise with businesses: what do they want? What would bring them 
here? Scope for business development linked to Edgehill? E.g. media 
businesses. And what else do Edgehill do? What links could be formed 
between business and Edgehill? And a better rail link from Burscough to 
Liverpool (and Preston) would be good for business as well as commuters.

Comments noted and generally agreed.  
Town Centres policy should seek to reduce 
empty units.
The Council liaises with local businesses and 
seeks to attract other companies to the 
Borough.
The Council also liaises with Edge Hill 
University, and attracting University-related 
businesses is a WLBC objective.
It is agreed that improved rail links would be 
good for businesses and commuters.

53 West Lancashire and particularly Skelmersdale needs to attract and create 
a more highly skilled, more affluent work force with a good work-life 
balance.
Highly skilled businesses are more effective at growing the local economy 
than large, land hungry warehouse units that provide limited employment 
opportunities and whose profits go to shareholders outside of West 
Lancashire.
Owners of highly skilled businesses are more likely to relocate here if we 
create aesthetically pleasing housing developments, smaller business units 
and more supported recycling instead of Whitemoss tip expansion with 
dangerous toxic fumes!

It is agreed that attraction / retention of a 
highly skilled workforce in the area, 
Skelmersdale in particular, would be of great 
local benefit.  This is one of the goals of 
planning for West Lancashire; it is also agreed 
that, accompanying the employment, good 
quality local housing should be provided, 
again particularly in Skelmersdale.
The decision on Whitemoss Landfill was 
made by central government, rather than 
locally.

Page 596



ID Representor Comments Council Response

55 I wish to comment on the Options paper in so far as it relates to the 
economic development of Skelmersdale.

General Comments
2.      The Paper identifies the various factors necessary for stimulating 
economic growth.  In my opinion three particularly important factors are:
a)   The creation of jobs;
b)   measures to ensure that local people increase their levels of skills to 
cater for the provision of local jobs that are more varied and of higher 
productivity, which will lead to higher incomes;  and
c)   the creation of opportunities for local wages to be spent in the local 
economy (what is described in the Paper as increased “claw back”).

3.      However, I believe that hitherto the Council has been too preoccupied 
by a) above (job creation), particularly at the low-skilled end of the job 
spectrum such as is found in the warehousing and distribution sectors, at 
the expense of the other two factors.

4.      I believe this is the case because it is plain that the major economic 
problem facing Skelmersdale these days is not unemployment or a lack of 
low-skilled or entry level job opportunities, but low pay in many jobs, 
meaning that many Skelmersdale people do not have the purchasing power 
to contribute a healthy local economy; and those people that do have a 
healthy disposable income often have to travel outside of Skelmersdale to 
spend it because of a lack of retail and leisure opportunities in the town.

5.      Skelmersdale may have had high levels of unemployment in the past, 
but the most recent figures publicly available suggest that it does not now 
have an unemployment rate much above the regional or national average, 
and anecdotal evidence from people working in the field suggests that 
economic hysteresis may have set in and few Skelmersdale people now left 
on the unemployment register have the skills or ability to benefit from 
many of the new jobs that will be created.  Indeed, the large number of EU 
citizens who have moved into the area to take up work with Skelmersdale’s 
employers suggests that the employers are increasingly having to look to 
non-local sources of labour.

6.      Concentrating too much on low-skilled job creation, such as is 
common in the warehousing and distribution sector, is not likely to benefit 
local residents or the local economy to any great degree, as it may just lead 
to greater job vacancies and/or yet more people moving into the area to 
take up work.  Whilst we would not like to see a loss of jobs locally, a 
greater concentration on b) and c) above (upskilling the local workforce 
and higher productivity, together with providing increased opportunities 
for people to spend locally) would have a more significant effect on the 
local economy, because a corollary of higher skills and productivity is higher 
wages and a greater disposable income, with the usual knock-on effects 
that can create a virtuous circle of higher spending leading to more jobs 
(and more varied jobs) and more local disposable income available for 
spending locally.

7.      Upskilling is vital, and I would like to see the Council devoting more 
resources to working with the local institutions (Edge Hill, West Lancashire 
College etc.) to provide more skills training, and hopefully tie-ups between 
the institutions and local employers who require specific skills.  The 
Council’s role as a facilitator in the process will be vital.

8.      With higher pay and greater disposable income available as a result of 
this, the Council’s plans for the regeneration and redevelopment of the 
Skelmersdale town centre are strongly supported, and the increased leisure 
and retail opportunities it will provide should contribute to increasing local 
prosperity.

Extensive comments noted.
It is agreed that improving local skills (and 
providing suitable jobs for skilled workers), 
and encouraging local expenditure are 
important and laudable objectives, and that 
liaison between edicational establishments 
e.g. Edge Hill University and employers, to 
provide and fill skilled positions, is a good 
way to address this issue.
The Council considers there is still scope for 
more distribution jobs, however, and some of 
these may be skilled.
Comments on specific paragraphs / options 
noted.

Page 597



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Specific Comments on the Paper
Paras 2.1 and 2.2 – Agreed, particularly on the proposed complementary 
policy support, particularly for new or emerging business sectors.
Para 2.6 – Agreed.  Some industrial land in Skelmersdale has lain empty and 
unoccupied for decades.  Clearly the use of this land needs reviewing.
Para 2.7 1) – Disagree. The demand for strategic distribution and 
warehousing may not be there (the site at Firswood Road, Lathom was 
approved for such use nearly two decades ago; half the site remains 
undeveloped and, of the rest, the ex-Comet site was empty for years) and, 
in any case, this involves the use of huge areas of land for relatively few 
jobs (lots of automation) and such jobs as there are are not particularly 
highly skilled or well paid.
Para 2.7 2) – Agreed.  This is where the Council’s role as a facilitator 
between businesses and local educational institutions would come to play.
Para 2.7 4) – If the local economy can be made more prosperous and varied 
there should be an increased demand for offices which should be catered 
for.
Para 2.8 – I would support any options that provide for greater flexibility of 
sites.  It is hard for councils to second-guess what will be the major drivers 
of the economy in the future, so flexibility is the key. Clearly housing and 
industry should not be mixed, but some commercial uses are compatible 
with housing development as a mixed-use development or side by side.
Para 3.2 – Agreed.  The council is clearly aware of the issues.
Para 3.10 1) – Broadly supported.  The Council’s current plans for 
Skelmersdale town centre should be supported and expanded where 
possible.  The development of a night time economy in Skelmersdale will be 
vital for retaining spending power in the town.
Para 3.10 3) – Not supported.  An out of town retail warehouse park may 
kill off the new Skelmersdale town centre before it has had a chance to get 
started.  I suggest the Council revisits this idea in another 10 or 15  years.

61 Potential competition to town centre sites should be considered if Option 3 
is included alongside transport links and public transport options.

Comments noted; out-of-centre retail parks 
will have impacts upon town centres.

63 The Plan has to look at strategies for attracting better quality jobs into the 
area, preferably renewable energy manufacturing companies.  Local 
businesses should be encouraged to liaise more with Educational 
establishments creating more work placements and opportunities to show 
young people how enjoyable work can be and that it provides a sense of 
pride and dignity.

The road networks to be changed so you don’t have to drive half a mile in 
the opposite direction before going in the direction you want.  Traffic in 
Skelmersdale is so low volume you can open up dual carriageways to allow 
vehicles to cross the dual carriageway.  You can also provide a way out of 
the Concourse car park without having to drive all the way around the 
Cooperative Bank.  This costs driver so much in money and people with air 
pollution.
According to the WHO, fumes (PM2.5) from diesel engines cause lung 
cancer.  There are no safe levels at all.  Policies should to drawn up to make 
taxis turn their engines off when stationary at the Concourse and at Asda.  
Policies to encourage car share systems.
It would be good to show us the plan for the ‘alleged’ railway.  Where will 
the station be and what route(s) will it take?  People need to see this.

It is agreed that attraction / retention of a 
more skilled employment in the area, around 
Skelmersdale in particular, would be of great 
local benefit.  Liaison between employers and 
educational establishments would be a good 
idea, although beyond Local Plan policies.  
(Council officers are involved with 
apprenticeships.)
Comments on traffic and the road network 
are noted; Lancashire County Council is the 
highways authority for West Lancashire.  
Similarly, whilst it is agreed that measures 
should be taken to reduce air pollution by 
vehicles, some of the suggested measures are 
beyond planning policy powers.
The study into the precise location of the 
proposed railway is ongoing; once published, 
the route can be made public.

64 Our Clients support the growth of Skelmersdale Town Centre, alongside 
employment and  housing.

Comments noted.

67 see attached statement -

70 The Economic Policy Options Paper covers areas such as the economy, 
employment land, job - opportunities, rural employment and retail.
Whilst the Commissioners do not have any specific comments on this paper 
at this stage, it is emphasised that given the issues raised within the 

Comments noted.

Page 598



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Strategic Policy Options Paper, that there is a clear need to promote 
economic development and jobs growth within the Borough over the plan 
period in order that sustainable patterns of development can be supported. 
Part of the rationale of the Local Plan Review, which is to seek to maximise 
growth opportunities such as Liverpool2, further confirms that view.
For this reason, the balance between jobs and new homes is critical and we 
would expect the evidence which accompanies the Local Plan Review to 
demonstrate that this balance has been appropriately achieved. The 
Commissioners believe that as a result of this, further housing land will 
need to be identified and that the Council will need to consider the release 
of further  Green Belt land (subject to an up to date Green Belt Study).

72 Yes, its simple really. Make sure that no matter where you live in the 
Borough there is sufficient appropriate housing for you to live near your 
relatives. That will encourage younger people to stay and invest their 
talents in West Lancashire. Take the blinkers off regarding the huge extent 
of the green belt particularly where it is not good quality agricultural land 
and sensitively grow the existing smaller settlements around Mossy Lea 
Road which are ripe for growth and investment.

Comments noted; retention of young people 
(workers) is an agreed goal of planning for 
the Borough, as is provision of suitable 
housing.

73 Edge Hill University agrees that it will be important for the new Local Plan 
to encourage economic growth in the Borough by including policies which 
provide the right scale and mix of employment sites, a better connected 
West Lancashire, support the rural and visitor economy and take advantage 
of knowledge and skills
10. In terms of the potential options presented by WLBC, the University 
supports the acknowledgement that it may be appropriate to allocate 
specific sites / broad locations where geographical clusters of specialist 
employment uses will be focused. Ormskirk would be an appropriate 
location for such ‘clusters’ given the presence of the University.

Comments noted.

75 The Spatial Portrait Paper provides information on the nature of 
deprivation in West Lancashire. The Strategic Development Paper highlights 
the need to tackle deprivation and reduce inequalities in order to deliver 
the draft local plan objectives of A Healthy Population and Reduced 
Inequalities. It also flags up future economic growth and the provision of a 
skilled local workforce as a key issue for West Lancashire.
The Economic Policy Options paper examines the merits of various 
approaches with regard to economic growth but does not appear to 
consider economic growth as a means of addressing the persisting issues of 
unemployment and income deprivation within the most deprived areas.
The individual domains of deprivation that contribute to the overall IMD 
score should be considered when preparing the Preferred Options Paper. 
For most of the domains, Skelmersdale stands out as a consistent outlier, 
and employment and income are key drivers of the current situation. Figure 
2 displays 2015 Employment deprivation by ward. (see PDF for charts)

It is recommended that access to employment, education and training 
should be a key consideration in the development of the Preferred Options 
Paper, taking account of employment, education and training as Wider 
Determinants of Health. Local Plan policy preparation should be informed 
by asking how future developments can make the residents of the deprived 
areas significant beneficiaries of any economic growth that may occur.

Economic Policy Issue 1: Providing the Right Scale, Mix and Distribution of 
Employment Land - Option 1 may result in the allocation of large sites for 
strategic distribution and warehousing uses, most likely in the M58 
corridor, however this location may not necessarily be the most accessible 
for all West Lancashire residents. It is critical that access to employment 
opportunities is fully considered particularly with regard to access by 
Skelmersdale residents.

General comments noted.
The Plan does in fact consider economic 
growth as means to address unemployment 
and income deprivation; there is a clear link 
between the two.  Simialrly, the Plan and 
evidence base make clear that issues relating 
to deprivation in Skelmersdale are known; 
this is a primary reason for the focus on 
Skelmersdale.

Comments on specific issues are copied and 
responded to under each individual issue.

Page 599



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Economic Policy Issue 3: Spreading Economic Opportunities by Supporting 
the Rural Economy 
We welcome Option 2 of allowing for proportionate increases in 
development in rural areas through a more permissive approach, subject to 
detailed transport considerations. This option has the potential to deliver 
positive effects in terms of health and social inclusion benefits and rural 
employment opportunities. 

Economic Policy Issue 4: Network and Hierarchy of Centres
We welcome the option of a review of the existing hierarchy with regard to 
increasing choice and accessibility to retail, employment, community 
services and facilities within the centres. Any changes to the hierarchy 
should take account of impacts on sustainability with particular 
consideration given to accessibility for residents from deprived areas, social 
and rural isolation, and detailed transport considerations.

Economic Policy Issue 5: Ensuring Healthy Town, Village and Local Centres – 
Appropriate Uses
The options for this policy include to review the policy approach to 
determining appropriate uses in town centres. This policy option could be 
used as part of a drive to promote healthier lifestyles in West Lancashire by 
limiting the amount of, and convenient access to, inappropriate uses. In 
particular, the policy option could be used as part of a drive to tackle health 
indicators associated with obesity and alcohol consumption. 
The Sustainability Appraisal states that: - "Option 3 offers the Council more 
opportunity to influence the types and balance of uses within Town, Village 
and Local Centres and is likely to be the most sustainable option. This could 
include a restriction on the number of fast food outlets or bars within a 
certain area. This could have a significant positive effect upon the social 
aspects of sustainability in terms of encouraging healthy lifestyles for those 
living in these centres, and perhaps lessening the incidences of anti-social 
behaviour linked to the consumption of alcohol.   However there may be a 
slight negative impact upon economic sustainability since there is a 
potential risk that this may result in empty units if there are no alternative 
competing uses to occupy them."
It is recommended that consideration should be given to the development 
and inclusion of policies that contribute to healthy town centres to address 
specific health inequalities. This approach could also be extended to local 
and district centres. An example of this would be the inclusion of policies 
that look to limit the percentage of building uses allowed in the town 
centres, and local and district centres, for hot food takeaways, drinking 
establishments and even tanning salons, in order to encourage healthier 
lifestyles. This would reflect the commitment outlined in the Lancashire 
County Council Local Government Declaration on Healthy Weight to 
‘Consider supplementary guidance for hot food takeaways, specifically in 
areas around schools, parks and where access to healthier alternatives are 
limited’  

Economic Policy Issue 6: Sites for Town Centre Uses
We welcome the option of allocating a site to meet retail needs in the 
north of the Borough. This supports Lancashire County Council’s objectives 
of reducing unnecessary vehicle movements and ensuring local access to 
convenience services and fresh produce. However, the size of any retail 
development should be proportionate to the surrounding villages.

77 To lower rates to local traders therefore encourage more people to invest 
and shop/use and helps to keep places more vibrant.

Comments noted; whilst keeping places 
vibrant is a laudable objective, lowering rates 
to local traders is beyond the scope of the 
Local Plan.

78 As above 20 and encourage businesses that attract the now large student 
population

Comments noted.

Page 600



ID Representor Comments Council Response

87 Section 2 Stimulating Economic Growth - Rural businesses are mentioned 
as being "important and need to be supported."

These are predominantly farming and farms and as we all know there is a 
huge debate about the closure of the 5 pumping stations which will have a 
direct impact on the drainage of agricultural land and also the use of 
agricultural land for further housing developments.

The Borough Council should be making a concerted effort  to come up with 
an acceptable funding regime for the threatened pumping stations and 
resisting any further inroads into agricultural land for housing 
developments.  The issue of surface water flooding, as outlined above, 
must be addressed so that negative impacts on the economy and transport 
infrastructure that is needed for the economy, are not negatively impacted.

Comments on pumping stations noted; this 
issue is largely out of WLBC's hands.  
Discussions should be held with the 
Environment Agency and Lead Local Flood 
Authority on this issue.  Surface water 
flooding will be addressed in Plan policies.

89 West Lancashire have produced the Economic Policy Options Paper which 
considers the options for stimulating economic growth within West 
Lancashire. Paragraph 2.1 of the Economic Policy Options Paper identifies 
the key issues relating to Economic Growth within the area one of which is 
the following: - “The West Lancashire economy continues to grow which 
requires land to be allocated in the right location to meet a range of 
business needs (both large and small, established and new).” 
Our Client agrees with the identification of this as a key issue for the 
Borough and seeks to support West Lancashire in meeting these needs in 
accordance with Paragraph 157 of the Framework.
West Lancashire identifies within paragraph 2.5 of the Paper that 
Burscough functions as an existing business centre when it states:
“West Lancashire has experienced a prolonged and steady increase in jobs 
and this is forecast to continue into the future through the expansion of 
existing businesses and development of new ones. Land will be required to 
meet these business development needs. The principal existing locations of 
economic activity are Skelmersdale, Ormskirk and Burscough…. Burscough 
town centre has a moderate commercial core, however there are several 
employment areas in the town including the sizeable Burscough Industrial 
Estate.”
Our Client confirms and agrees with the Council’s observations but would 
seek for additional employment development to be located within this well-
established location.

Comments noted, including agreement with 
our identification of key issues, and on 
employment land in Burscough.

96 AIUH make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

99 Our Clients support the growth of Skelmersdale Town Centre, alongside 
employment and housing.

Comments noted.

113 Thank you for the opportunity  to meet your team in Parbold at the W . I. 
to “ Have your Say”. It was good to see democracy at work. Whether it 
produces any results for you we wait to see. Our company, Northern Diver 
moved to West Lancs to a base on East Quarry Appley Bridge some  22 
years ago. From a staff of 10 we now employ 43  with many subcontractors 
in the local area. We have almost  reached  the development potential on 
our current site and would like to remain in the area. Trying to find an 
industrial site is very difficult.
There are minimal  opportunities in Skelmersdale but most are not suitable.
The lack of affordable local transport in that area  means that 20% of our 
staff would not be able to work there. We would love to remain in Appley 
Bridge once the most industrial village in Western Europe (1958).  The 
difference in value of a brownfield site or industrial premises compared to a 
residential site is enormous. So if you look back over the past  ten years and 
view how many applications have been successful in turning industrial sites 
to houses I think you will be greatly surprised. It is not just the large sites , 
its mainly the small starter units .

Comments noted.  
These are mainly site-specific comments 
relating to Northern Diver, rather than 
comments on wider policy options.  
However, in general terms, it is 
acknowledged that retetion of / 
encouragement for local businesses is an 
important general economic consideration.

Page 601



ID Representor Comments Council Response

So as part of your policy maybe you can view council owned plots  for 
industrial development first or can you because cuts to your budget 
probably mean it is more beneficial to grant yourselves residential 
permission. 

If you zone land in the rural areas , the actual owner will prove there is no 
requirement by not accepting offers on the site , then a good planning 
consultant will get involved and that potential site turns into a residential 
site.  Whats the answer- I have absolutely no idea. Maybe you in West 
Lancs can put your heads together and come up with a solution. We need 5 
acres preferably close to J27 of the M6 .  In desperation we have started a 
heavy engineering base in Stockton on Tees. For a current military project 
to make three man mini subs for a friendly foreign nation. This employs five 
people currently  during the development stage, with a potential 12 jobs 
over the next 18 months. We would love to bring this back to West 
Lancashire , for the manufacturing phase.  Finally what should we be 
offering as employers and local officials  we at Northern Diver feel  that a 
good education and a potential for a skilled job in the local area should be 
paramount. If you could assist our expansion plans in anyway please do not 
hesitate to contact us.

Page 602



Question 22: Should West Lancashire retain the Local Nature 
Conservation Site designation in the future? Which policy option for 
the management of local nature sites do you think is the most 
appropriate for West Lancashire? Why?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

14 option 1 Noted.

18 no comment -

19 Option 2 - Nature Conservation and wooded areas are extremely important 
to all of - we all need to breathe oxygen - without trees and plants there 
will be no oxygen - trees are the lungs of our planet. Theses areas need to 
be protected and enhanced - I would choose the Ecological Network as a 
more joined up approach. I would also like to see incorporated into this 
plan tree planting along roadsides walkways wherever possible, and 
encouragement to home owners to use their gardens for nature rather 
than car parking or ease of maintenance.

Comments noted.

20 Option 1.   no other comments at this time. Noted.

21 Yes. Protect nature and wildlife mange flood risk. Comments noted.

23 Option 1: maintaining local control is the most logical approach Comments noted.

24 Please retain the Local Nature Conservation Sites, Option 1 Comments noted.

26 Yes they should continue with the designations Comments noted.

27 Yes of course. Noted

28 All environmental protections should be kept as considerable damage has 
already been done.

Comments noted.

30 Option 1 Co-operation with landowners. Comments noted.

31 Option 2 Noted

32 Option 2 is the obvious answer the previous piecemeal approach has 
proved singularly inadequate on several occasion. We need a holistic joined 
up strategy to protect our environment in a sustainable way for future 
generations

Comments noted.

34 Option 1 versus Option 2 Option 2 suggests removing the Local Nature 
Conservation Site designations from the Local Plan and instead assigning 
appropriate protection to the Ecological Network.
However, in order for us to comment we will need to know what this 
appropriate level of is. The local nature conservation sites should have the 
same level of protection as existing otherwise there is a risk to damage to 
these sites if option 2 is selected in its current form. To ensure that this 
policy is sustainable and has no adverse effect on biodiversity we strongly 
recommend that if option 2 is selected then the level of protection is 
confirmed and specified within any future versions of the Local Plan.
The Local Plan may also need to consider in terms of the length of the plan 
and the habitats which currently have European Protection. It is currently 
unclear how this will carry over and the Local Plan could assist in 
recognising the same level of protection.

Comments noted, the Ecological Network is 
an evidence base assessment undertaken 
by Lancashire County Council and the Local 
Plan will designate the assets accordingly.
Comments on specifying the level of 
protection (if Option 2 is chosen) are noted, 
as are comments on European sites.

39 Responses - Response:
Option 1 
1.	Continue with Local Nature Conservation sites designation in the next 
Local Plan.  Requires assessment of status of sites but retains existing status 
such as Haskayne Cutting.
2.	Remove the local Nature Conservation designation from the local plan.
Response A: (Option 1) Retaining existing sites assists in protection against 
fracking in the areas. Policy 2 puts existing sites at risk.

Comments noted regarding Options 1 and 2.
Whilst the Council understands residents' 
concerns over fracking, this is a matter that 
is dealt with by Lancashire County Council 
rather than WLBC.

Page 603



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Response  B:(Option 1) Retaining existing sites retains local democracy. 
Anecdotally from conversations with employees of the EA, DEFRA was the 
influence behind the  EA's decision to switch off the pumping stations in 
the Alt Crossens drainage system, leading to the need for an Independent 
Drainage Board to be set up and funded by local farmers, businesses and 
Council Tax payers etc. This exhibits the fact that the EA, which has the 
oversight of fracking, is subject to the influence  of DEFRA , which in turn is 
an executive arm of Central Government. As the Central Government is 
committed to fracking, ceding local control over Local Nature Conservation 
sites to DEFRA guidance over the value of such sites and DEFRA's possible 
vulnerability to political pressure from Central government, could lead to a 
conflict of interest and could influence objective advice. We feel it would be 
a catastrophic mistake and lead to a loss of local democracy. As Martin 
Mere is close to a potential fracking site, it may be advisable to set up a 
focus group, involving Martin Mere, possibly Edge Hill University and 
yourselves to jointly assess if there should be more Local Nature 
Conservation sites added to the existing ones and adding to the Local Plan. 
Local decision making must be paramount in retaining local democracy.

42 We recommend Option 2.
Dilution of resource and capacity in order to run two parallel Local Wildlife 
Site systems, one at county and one at district level, is probably unrealistic 
given the markedly diminished resources of local authorities, natural 
environment charities and Natural England over the past decade. The 
Wildlife Trust for Lancashire, Manchester & North Merseyside continues to 
support the county system of Local Wildlife Sites (known historically as 
"Biological Heritage Sites") as best we may, out of core charitable 
resources, but we have never had sufficient core resource to support West 
Lancashire's own Local Site system. We think it would be preferable to 
concentrate effort on the development and maintenance of a robust and 
evidence-based ecological network based on regularly updated knowledge 
of the quality and distribution of Habitats and Species of Principal 
Importance in Lancashire as a whole; and in adjacent areas of neighbouring 
counties and city regions; with county-level Local Wildlife Sites, and 
national and international (some currently EU) nature conservation 
designations identifying key hubs and nodes of that network.
The West Lancashire district-level local wildlife site system includes 
selection criteria based around public accessibility to and enjoyment by 
local people. That is more a "green infrastructure" selection criterion than 
one for an ecological network. Your authority may wish to consider that 
(people-focussed) ecosystem service as a criterion in identifying a green 
infrastructure network for the district (or a grouping of districts) and 
developing an associated green infrastructure policy.

Comments noted. West Lancs Borough 
Council agree that the parallel Local Wildlife 
systems are unrealistic to manage. 
Comments on Green Infrastructure noted.  
The council promotes GI through the GI and 
Cycling SPD and will have an associated 
detailed GI policy within the Local Plan; 
consideration can be given to a criterion on 
accessibility.

46 Option 2. because this will lead to a much more 'joined up' approach by 
providing connectivity for wildlife across the borough and will assist in 
developing awareness by a wider number of residents. 
There is a misconception that there is absolute protection for Conservation 
sites which sometimes can be difficult to enforce. By developing greater 
awareness and by placing former Nature Conservation Sites as link 'oasis' 
biodiversity sources, we can achieve a greater range of biodiversity across 
the borough.
Ecological Network policy should be framed so as to give a more effective 
and robust level of environmental protection across the borough.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that 
increasing biodiveristy across the Borough is 
a laudable goal.

48 Option 2 should be adopted. Designating sites on an ecological network 
approach would be much better for the future given this plan will run to 
2050 and there are going to be climatic, social and economic pressures and 
changes that will occur. Given fiscal constraints it would be better to focus 
on changing to the new system rather than putting work into updating the 
old system.

Comments noted; it is agreed that there are 
most likely to be changes to ecology and 
nature sites over coming years / decades.

61 From the descriptions in the paper, Option 1 seems the more robust to Comments noted.  Page 604



ID Representor Comments Council Response

protect the environment and is therefore preferable to option 2. Option 1 
should preserve existing appropriate habitats  and enable connectivity of 
habitats to  enable species and habitats to both survive and thrive in 
changing conditions.

Connectivity of habitats is a key element of 
Option 2.

64 No comment. Noted.

69 1 - continue Noted.

72 status quo is ok. Comments noted.

77 Should retain and encourage more projects similar to above. Comments noted.

78 Monitor and encourage further sites for natural habitat - enlarge original. 
Our great west lancs area is attracting many visitors for walking and 
recreation - so helping the local economy. 

Comments noted.

82 The Ecological Network seems like a good idea, as long as it continues to 
protect existing Nature Conservation Sites

Comments noted.

85 continuation of current Local Nature Conservation sites designation which 
need review and re-assessment .

Comments noted.

87 Burscough Parish Council supports Option 2 – removing the local nature 
conservation sites designation from the local plan.

Comments noted.  The Ecological Network 
approach will still designate nature 
conservation assets accordingly.

96 AIUH make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

99 No comment. Noted.

Page 605



Question 23: Should West Lancashire Borough Council designate sites 
for the provision of Renewable Energy? Which policy option for the 
provision of Renewable Energy do you think is the most appropriate 
for West Lancashire? Why?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Option 1 solar farms get my backing not unsightly like turbines Comments noted.

2 Option 1 solar farms less obtrusive to people Comments noted.

9 Option 1 Noted.

14 option 1, planning and organisation is needed, they can be very ugly 
things. - if we can, encourage shale gas industry, this is  a free new local 
source of wealth and employment.

Comments noted. 
LCC deal with minerals and waste and this 
remit covers shale gas; fracking is outside the 
remit of the Local Plan Review.

16 As an environmental scientist I was impressed to learn about the Council's 
initiation of a broad Local Plan.  The issues I find compelling centre on 
population (strongly linked to global warming and pollution) and energy 
production.  I believe that these issues need to be introduced now into 
school and further education curricula along with dietary advice in order to 
educate the next generation about the problems they are facing and the 
means of tackling them.  As a start, every attempt to cut population growth 
should be encouraged through education.  To offset the predicted shortage 
of younger workers and the increasing use of robots to perform non-
innovative tasks, older people volunteering to work longer should be 
offered re-training programmes.
The ultimate sustainable source of energy is solar and, although the 
efficiency of solar cells in increasing, more investment in this field is 
needed.  For immediate application, extensive use should be made of 
arrays of solar panels raised on stilts and placed so that the land beneath 
them could still be used for grazing and crop production.  The productivity 
of such land might well be improved through (for example) temperature 
increases.  New housing should be roofed with devices to generate power.  
Solar power could presently compliment wind-generated power and 
(through, for example, the use of geostationary satellites collecting infra-
red and transmitting microwave energy to ground stations) solar might 
eventually supersede wind generation. -

Comments noted.
Education and influencing population 
growth, whilst linked to issues that the Local 
Plan is seeking to tackle, are in themselves 
beyond the remit of the Plan.
The Council intend to investigate the 
potential for renewable energy through a 
Renewable Energy Study.

18 no comment -

19 Option 2 -  Renewables are absolutely key to our sustainability so by 
keeping the options open re siting market forces are more able to steer 
where projects may be planned. In addition I would like tidal power and 
groundsource heat pumps to be included in this definition of renewables.

Comments noted.
The Council intend to investigate renewable 
energy through a Renewable Energy Study.  
Tidal power is acknowledged as a RE source, 
although the potential for its implementation 
in West Lancashire is limited.

20 Option 2.   Case by case basis seems the best way forward and has proved 
successful during this current Local Plan period in allowing local residents 
to have their say.

Comments noted.

23 Option 2. A case by case approach will allow greatest flexibility Comments noted.

24 West Lancs is pitifully short of renewable energy generators.  Go for Option 
2 as, if we adopt the 2050 plan, more and more new technologies wlll 
appear and may not be appropriate for previously designated sites.

Comments noted.

26 Yes designate - but beware wind farms have a negative impact on sport - 
cricket, rugby and sailing to mention 3.

Comments noted.  The Council intend to 
undertake a Renewable Energy Study which 
will identify possible areas for renewable 
energy.

Page 606



ID Representor Comments Council Response

28 Option 2 but with the proviso that much more is done to encourage solar 
panels and wind turbines in existing industrial areas.

Comments noted.  The Council intends to 
undertake a Renewable Energy Study which 
will identify possible areas for renewable 
energy.

30 Option 2 Encouragement should be given to the use of ground source heat 
pumps and design of all building types, particularly large warehouses,to 
maximise potential for use of solar energy.  Ground mounted solar panels 
should be avoided.

Comments noted.  It is accepted there are 
different views as to which types of 
renewable energy are best / acceptable.

31 I am strongly in favour of renewable energy. 
Please be bold on this one!
Definitely designate sites (Option 1) whilst I know wind generation has its 
issues, solar has few. The most reliable would be tide related.

Comments noted.
The Council intends to undertake a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible areas for renewable energy.  
Potential for tide related energy in West 
Lancashire is limited.

32 Option 1 is essential Solar arrays can be erected at relatively low levels not 
impacting on views, they do not prevent livestock from grazing, nor do they 
impact overly on existing flora and fauna. What's more they are easily 
dismantled. 
Wind turbines can be problematic due to visual impact and noise issues 
however I have no issues with them myself, other than the intermittent 
nature of the supply.
Tidal power is reliable twice a day tide comes in tide goes out.

Comments noted.  The Council intends to 
undertake a Renewable Energy Study which 
will identify possible areas for renewable 
energy.

34 In terms of the options for Policy 2 we would question that if sites are not 
designated for potential renewable energy then would the policy result in 
successful take up over the lifetime of the plan. In this case how would the 
Policy help meet Objective 4 of the Local Plan. This Policy may need to be a 
combination of Options 1 and 2 to steer development to the right locations. 
If specific sites are allocated then consideration may need to be given to 
suitable mitigation for certain sites depending on site specific constraints.

Comments noted, including on the need for a 
combination of policies.
The Council intends to undertake a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible areas for renewable energy.

36 Renewables - many West Lancs residents are anti-fracking, and against 
wind turbines, so the obvious way forward is solar.  We support solar, and 
feel most residents would do.  However, we support solar in the correct 
setting, that being on the roofs of factories, businesses, houses and even on 
brown field sites.  We do not support solar on greenbelt land, and 
especially not grade 1 & 2 agricultural land that should be used for food 
production...these should be protected from such developments.

Comments noted, including comments on 
solar farms.
The Council intends to undertake a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible areas for renewable energy. Whilst 
we understand residents' concerns over 
fracking this matter is under the remit of 
Lancashire County Council.

39 Response A : Option 1 - Comment : Option 1 is the only option which is 
more certain to deliver renewable energy sites within the planning 
process. - Option 1. Designate specific areas for wind, solar and other 
renewable energy sites subject to each technology.

Comments noted. The Council intends to 
undertake a Renewable Energy Study which 
will identify possible areas for renewable 
energy.

42 Identifying broad areas where specific types of renewable energy 
technology developments are  preferred would be useful; particularly in the 
case of wind turbine arrays, given their potential to impact negatively on 
the special features (notably, overwintering wildfowl populations) of the 
Special Protection Areas (SPA) within and surrounding West Lancashire; 
most particularly Martin Mere SPA, Ribble & Alt Estuaries SPA, Mersey 
Estuary SPA and Wirral North Foreshore & Mersey Narrows SPA. It would 
also be useful to identify areas of mineral peat where release of locked 
carbon from the soil as a result of wind turbine array development could 
exceed the savings of carbon generated by the development; though this is 
compounded by carbon release through agricultural drainage and 
ploughing - which are, of course, normally outside the remit of the planning 
system. A regional guide to both potential constraints was produced quite 
sometime ago by ourselves and the RSPB during the period of regional 
planning: https://www.rspb.org.uk/our-work/our-positions-and-
campaigns/positions/planning/spatial_planning_guides.aspx but the 

Comments on wind farms noted, including in 
relation to peat and birds.
The Council itends to undertake a Renewable 
Energy Study which will identify possible 
areas for renewable energy.

Page 607



ID Representor Comments Council Response

distribution of wildfowl, in particular, changes somewhat over time. -  - As 
you'll be aware:  -  - "Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) Written Statement on Wind Energy (June 2015)  - The June 2015 
Ministerial Statement on Wind Energy states; “when determining planning 
applications for wind energy development involving one or more wind 
turbines, local planning authorities should only grant planning permission 
if:  - • the development site is in an area identified as suitable for wind 
energy development in a Local or Neighbourhood Plan; and  - • following 
consultation, it can be demonstrated that the planning impacts identified 
by affected local communities have been fully addressed and therefore the 
proposal has their backing.”. -  - Assuming that statement still stands after 
the general election, that will also need to be factored into policy 
development on wind energy. -  - In the case of solar farm developments, 
impacts on the district's ecological network would be related to scale as 
well as location. One might anticipate that very large reflective surfaces on 
open fields might significantly confuse large flocks of overwintering 
migratory wildfowl; but we are unfamiliar with the latest research, other 
than a negative finding in "Evidence review of the impact of solar farms on 
birds, bats and general ecology (NEER012)", 1st edition - 9th March 2017, 
University of Manchester for Natural England. Given the proximity of the 
SPAs referred to above, we suggest that you seek advice from Natural 
England. It should have more ready access to the latest relevant 
research. -  - The issue of large land take for both solar arrays and wind 
turbine arrays will also have potential to markedly reduce feeding and 
loafing areas for overwintering birds that are special features of the SPAs; 
but that would apply to any very large development that was 
inappropriately located. -  - Ground-source heat-pumps have no significant 
differences in potential impacts on ecological networks from most other 
development, so far as we are aware, and should, in consequence, be 
considered on a case-by-case basis. Similar considerations apply to hydro-
electric energy generation: given the predominantly low-lying nature of the 
Borough, we presume any applications for development featuring such 
technology would be likely to be small-scale in any case.

45 One cannot meet the local community energy needs with renewable 
energy unless we conserve energy in the first place. New buildings should 
conserve energy as top priority.
Energy conservation and waste prevention are required to help remove 
threats from Fracking and avoid more landfill sites.
High levels of insulation, ground source heat and biomass should be 
promoted through the design of buildings. Solar hot water on houses is far 
more effective than solar electricity panels and needs support. Building 
roofs need to be orientated to take maximum advantage of solar power 
(not necessarily the whole building).

Comments noted.  It is agreed that 
conservation of energy is important.  
Standards of insulation, etc. are covered by 
Building Regulations.
Fracking comes under the remit of Lancashire 
County Council.
The Council intends to undertake a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible areas for renewable energy.

46 Option 1. because West lancs has been identified as having some of the 
most ideal locations for onshore wind energy as well as large areas of lesser 
grade agricultural land suitable for solar farms. The current attitude of 
Government towards onshore wind is illogical and will not prevail very far 
into the future as the economics of renewable energy out perform old fossil 
fuel based energy sources even the extreme energy developments such as 
shale gas which relies upon heavy subsidy and tax exemptions. Lower grade 
agricultural land can be greatly improved by utilising a duel/multi use Solar 
Farm- wildflower meadow combination, thus increasing biodiversity and 
generating significant amounts of energy for the borough. Therefore zoning 
for both types of energy should be included in the Local Plan in order to 
'future-proof' the Plan and to provide an amount of predictability and 
assurance to the wider public who sometimes are alarmed at the prospect 
of a proliferation of such schemes when there is a lack of specific provision. 
There should also be some micro-hydro/tidal energy generation policy 
provision for when further Research and Design reaches the stage where 
schemes can come forward.

Comments on wind and solar energy noted. 
The Council intend to investigate renewable 
energy through a Renewable Energy Study 
which will identify possible areas suitable for 
renewable energy.  Changing economies over 
the lifetime of the Plan should be taken into 
account.

Page 608



ID Representor Comments Council Response

47 I would like to see WLBC getting into the renewable energy business 
themselves. Like council housing, but this time a council-run or municipal 
energy company.

Comments noted. The Council intends to 
investigate renewable energy through a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible suitable areas for renewable energy.

48 West Lancashire needs to be zoned as a renewables target area by central 
government and WLBC should lobby government for this. At present West 
Lancashire is not meeting it's targets for renewable energy generation. 
Option 1 should be adopted as a priority and areas outside the designated 
areas considered under Option 2. The refusal of the Lower Alt Windfarm  
on policy and hence legal technicalities flies in the face of sustainable local 
energy production and it's fiscal benefits to the local community.

Comments noted. The Council intends to 
investigate renewable energy through a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible suitable areas for renewable energy.

53 One cannot meet the local community energy needs with renewable 
energy unless we conserve energy in the first place.

Comments noted. It is agreed that energy 
conservation is important.  This is largely 
outside the remit of the Local Plan and is 
linked more to Building Regulations.

61 I think Option one is more appropriate because it would provide clarity 
about the optimum siting for renewable energy sources taking into account 
potential environmental impacts and indicate where planning permission 
would most likely be granted for the appropriate schemes.

Comments noted. The Council intends to 
investigate renewable energy through a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible suitable areas for renewable energy.

63 Move away from spraying dangerous glyphosate as a weedkiller.  
Glyphosate damages the body’s healing mechanism, it ends up in water, in 
fish and is taken up by insects and birds.  Look at white vinegar and salt 
alternatives.  See google.
Energy conservation and waste prevention are required to help remove 
threats from fracking and avoid extensions to landfill sites.
High levels of insulation, ground source heat and biomass should be 
promoted through the design of buildings. Solar hot water on houses is 
useful as is solar stored in batteries.  Buildings need to be south facing to 
take maximum advantage of solar power.

Comments on glyphosate noted, although 
this matter is outside the remit of the Local 
Plan Water and land pollution fall within the 
remit of the Environment Agency and 
Environmental Health..
The Council intends to investigate renewable 
energy through a Renewable Energy Study 
which will identify possible suitable areas for 
renewable energy.
Whilst we understand residents' concerns 
over fracking this lies under the remit of 
Lancashire County Council.

64 No comment. Noted.

68 One cannot meet the local community energy needs with renewable 
energy unless we conserve energy in the first place. New buildings should 
conserve energy as top priority.
Energy conservation and waste prevention are required to help remove 
threats from Fracking and avoid more landfill sites.
 High levels of insulation, ground source heat and biomass should be 
promoted through the design of buildings. Solar hot water on houses is far 
more effective than solar electricity panels and needs support. Building 
roofs need to be orientated to take maximum advantage of solar power 
(not necessarily the whole building).

Comments noted. The Council intends to 
investigate renewable energy through a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible suitable areas for renewable energy.  
It is agreed that energy conservation is an 
important factor; this is dealt with primarily 
through Building Regulations.  Fracking lies 
under the remit of Lancashire County Council.

69 Yes, I support applying option 1, without excluding case-by-case 
consideration of other proposals.  Alongside energy efficiency - reducing 
use, eliminating wastefulness - providing at least our share of the national 
need for renewable energy, where possible for local communities with their 
involvement, must be a top priority.

Comments noted. The Council intends to 
investigate renewable energy through a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible suitable areas for renewable energy.  
It is agreed that reducing energy use is also 
important.

72 Designate specific areas. Comments noted.

75 We welcome the inclusion of a policy for renewable energy. Consideration 
should be given to the Lancashire Climate Change Strategy 2009-2027 
which sets out the long-term vision that Lancashire is working towards a 
low carbon and well adapted County during the lifetime of this local plan 
period.

Comments on Lancashire Climate Change 
Strategy noted. The Borough Council intends 
to investigate renewable energy through a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible suitable areas for renewable energy.

77 WLBC should designate sites for renewable energy in the form of eg Comments noted. The Council intends to 
Page 609



ID Representor Comments Council Response

stipulate solar panels to be installed onto any new properties. investigate renewable energy through a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible suitable areas for renewable energy.  
Renewable energy requirements need to be 
considered within the whole area of viability.

78 In planning permission stipulate solar panels are installed on building 
regulations solar panels on top of all the large warehouse and industrial 
buildings saving fields. 

Comments noted. The Council intends to 
investigate renewable energy through a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible suitable areas for renewable energy.  
Renewable energy requirements need to be 
considered within the whole area of viability.

82 Option 1 seems like a good idea - designate areas like the Lower Alt that are 
ideal for wind to aid the planning of wind farms in those areas.  

Comments noted.

83 The environment rather than fracking the countryside there should be deep 
drilling to provide ground source or geothermal energy eg to heat the baths 
at park pool and nye bevan and to provide district heating for the towns.
Wind turbines should be allowed onshore eg along the western facing hills 
such as Ashurst Beacon / parbold hill or alongside the M58 where the 
traffic noise will mean the turbines cannot be heard.
The roofs of skelmersdale should have solar panels on them all and with 
deep ground source heating for the concourse and the library etc the town 
could become a  green (because of the green spaces ) & renewable 
township  (plus electric railways to Manchester and Liverpool) 
I am not sure if it would work but maybe there should be a tidal barrage 
from Southport/banks to lytham st annes with a cycle path and footpath 
along the top.  If this isnt going to work then one from Fleetwood to 
Barrow across morcambe bay?

Comments on ideas for 'Green Skelmersdale' 
noted. The Council intends to investigate 
renewable energy generation through a 
Renewable Energy Study which will identify 
possible areas for renewable energy.
Whilst we understand residents' concerns 
over fracking this comes under the remit of 
Lancashire County Council.
Comments on barrages noted.

84 Persimmon Homes feels strongly that the provision of specific policies 
relating to sustainable development stand contrary to the Government 
Housing Standards Review that sought to make the energy requirements 
from a development a matter for building regulations. Therefore - 
additional onerous requirements are not compliant with this. - Any such 
policies (including for example electric charging points) should be included 
within the - plan wide viability assessment. Persimmon Homes does not 
support the provision of charging - points on all new development. There is 
no evidence that the uptake and access to electric - vehicles will require 
such provision in the foreseeable future.

Comments noted.  Any sound Local Plan 
policy on energy will comply with national 
policy and guidance.

85 Take advantage of solar panel opportunities as they arise but in particular 
encourage solar tile use for new housing sites.

Comments noted.

87 Burscough Parish Council supports a strong policy on Renewable Energy. - 
Burscough Parish Council supports Option 1 in part:  designate specific 
areas for the production of med scale wind power, but solar power should 
be treated seperately. Please note that Burscough Renewable Energy CIC 
commissioned UCLAN to prepare a very excellent report into wind power in 
Burscough and this is available on the Parish Council’s website.  It is of use 
to any business considering wind power in Burscough and covers most 
industrial areas.
With regard to solar power, we note that there was little objection to the 
recent application for a solar farm at Pippin Street so long as the site was 
properly screened and remained under some form of agriculture (such as 
grazing land).  It is important that, within the local plan, various forms of 
renewable energy are dealt with seperately, as the impact on local 
residents can be very different.  solar power should be supported in the 
local plan subject to screening and continued sustainable use of land.

Comments on solar power and wind power 
(including the Burscough-specific study) 
noted.
The Council intends to investigate renewable 
energy generation through a Renewable 
Energy Study which will identify possible 
areas for renewable energy.

90 One cannot meet the local community energy needs with renewable Comments noted.  It is agreed that energy 
Page 610



ID Representor Comments Council Response

energy unless we conserve energy in the first place. New buildings should 
conserve energy as top priority. Energy conservation and waste prevention 
are required to help remove threats from Fracking and avoid more landfill 
sites.   - High levels of insulation, ground source heat and biomass should 
be promoted through the design of buildings. Solar hot water on houses is 
far more effective than solar electricity panels and needs support. Building 
roofs need to be orientated to take maximum advantage of solar power. - 

conservation is important.  The Council 
intends to investigate renewable energy 
generation through a Renewable Energy 
Study which will identify possible areas for 
renewable energy. Whilst we understand 
residents' concerns over fracking this lies 
under the remit of Lancashire County Council.

96 AIUH make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

99 No comment. Noted.

Page 611



Question 24: Which policy option for Sustainable Design and 
Construction do you think is the most appropriate for West 
Lancashire? Why? Would a combination of options help to assist 
sustainable development? What kind of measures could we require of 
new development?
ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Energy is key when building new homes solar tiles and underground 
heating is the future

Comments noted.

2 All new properties should have the latest heating systems Comments noted.

9 Developers should be compelled to invest in sustainable design The Council encourages sustainable design 
and construction; this is also covered by 
Building Regulations.

12 Solar energy Comments noted.

14 option 1 Noted.

18 no comment -

19 I believe every new build and extension/rebuild should have a requirement 
to incorporate renewables to the maximum.  This would include a 
requirement for ground source heat pumps - solar water and electric and 
integral part of the roofing, electric vehicle charging points and recycling 
points at source. Also encouraging sustainability in garden schemes that 
promote biodiversity alongside homegrown produce areas either individual 
areas or in group areas. I believe that parking capacity should be limited 
and precedence given to the green infrastructure of the area - helping to 
improve the mental health and physical health of the new residents.

Comments noted.
The Council agrees that renewable energy 
opportunities should be maximised.  The 
Council encourages sustainable design and 
construction; this is also covered by Building 
Regulations.  There are limits, however, to 
what can be required through planning 
policy, as there is an overall requirement for 
schemes to be viable.
It is agreed that Green Infrastructure has an 
important role to fulfil.

20 The first option -  Require specific sustainable design and construction 
features or measures to be incorporated into new developments. This 
appears to be the most suitable.

The Council encourages sustainable design 
and construction; this is also covered by 
Building Regulations.

23 All new developments should require sustainable construction The Council encourages sustainable design 
and construction; this is also covered by 
Building Regulations.

24 All new builds should incorporate sustainability and I agree with the 
statement in the first paragraph.  A mix of the first option and the third 
option would be best.

Comments noted.

26 I think the first and third options are appropriate  - whether or not they can 
be combined depends on the circumstances. 

Comments noted.

28 Options 1 and 3 above to require sustainable design and construction as 
well as the development of the energy fund to improve existing stock.

The Council encourages sustainable design 
and construction; this is also covered by 
Building Regulations.

30 Design requirements should be limited to those in the Building Regulations 
but I would welcome emphasis on orientation to maximise energy 
efficiency. I am opposed to the concept of a Community Energy Fund.  
Those who pay may not be those who benefit.  The Community 
Infrastructure levy is not being wisely spent.

The Council encourages sustainable design 
and construction; this is also covered by 
Building Regulations.
Comments on Community Energy Fund 
noted.  CIL is spent within the Borough 
following consultation with Members, Parish 
Councils and the public.  This matter is 
outside the remit of the Local Plan.

31 Require specific sustainable design and construction features or measures 
to be incorporated into new developments.  Insist that solar panels are 
installed on all new build dwellings.

Comments noted.  The Council encourages 
sustainable design and construction; this is 
also covered by Building Regulations.Page 612



ID Representor Comments Council Response

32 The Council needs to fight for all developers in our borough to provide 
sustainable builds.  The Council needs to be pushing developers to ensure 
that insulation values are at the highest level, all new builds must be built 
with solar capture roofing, where possible grey water capture should be a 
requirement. The developers will cry it is uneconomic for them to do this, 
however if it is borough wide, creating a level playing field we may get 
developers with better ethical credentials wanting to build for us.  West 
Lancashire may become a Borough others want to emulate.

Comments noted, West Lancashire 
becoming a Borough others would want to 
emulate is a laudable aim.  The Council 
encourages sustainable design and 
construction; this is also covered by Building 
Regulations.

34 This policy could also incorporate the inclusion of Sustainable Drainage 
Systems for future development. We agree that Option 2 provides little 
certainty of adoption for such techniques. We therefore recommend a 
combination of options 1 and 3 which should result in better 
implementation.
Pollution prevention could also be included within this section in terms of 
recommending Best Practice Infrastructure to help protect/improve water 
quality. For example within Industrial sites the ability to isolate drainage 
systems if a pollution event occurs or within residential areas ensuring 
sealed surface water downpipes so that washing machines cannot be 
plumbed into surface water drainage can both help protect water quality 
for both ground and surface waters.

Comments on Options and on pollution 
prevention noted.  A policy regarding 
drainage and flooding, etc. will form part of 
the new Local Plan.  It will be important to 
be clear about what comes under planning 
policy and what comes under Building 
Regulations.

35 It is recognised by our clients that good design is inherent to sustainable 
development. However, of the options proposed in response to 
Environmental Policy Issue 3, it is considered that Option 2 is the most 
appropriate.
Option 2 would ensure that flexibility remained for the inclusion of 
sustainable features by developers, and would not, as a result of imposing 
restrictive design features hinder development coming forward due to 
viability issues. The appearance and design of development can be 
controlled through other measures and best practice and the need to 
provide sustainable developments is covered through national policy and 
guidance, including Part L of the Building Regulations. Therefore, it is 
unnecessary for WLBC to place further restrictive requirements on 
developments within the Borough.
Options 1 and 3 are considered restraining and may prevent developments 
coming forward within the Borough to the detriment of WLBC’s needs and 
requirements.

Comments on options noted.  Whilst it is 
accepted that some sustainable design 
fetures are covered by Building Regulations, 
it is considered that backing these up, or 
'enhancing' the requirements by means of 
planning policy, will help achieve more in 
terms of sustainability.  Viability will be 
taken into account when preparing Local 
Plan policies.

39 Option 1. Requirement for sustainable design and construction measures to 
be incorporated into new developments. - Response A: Option 1

Comments noted.

42 A combination of the first and third would be most appropriate as it would 
address opportunities for significant restoration of biodiversity whilst also 
mitigating climate change.

Comments noted.

46 Option1. because we need to 'hard-wire' design requirements into future 
builds, simply requiring developer contributions to a Community Energy 
Fund would not help drive the wider implementation of measures which 
will achieve a significant move forwards. District Energy Schemes should be 
encouraged  and renewable energy options should be encouraged 
especially on larger development sites such as Ground source heat pumps 
and Air source heat pumps. Solar should be strongly encouraged not just 
on residential properties but also on all industrial units, offices and 
warehouses as a matter of good practise.

Comments noted, including comments on 
advocating renewable energy features on 
uses other than housing.

47 Both of
- Require specific sustainable design and construction features or measures 
to be incorporated into new developments. And
- Require new development to contribute financially to a Community 
Energy Fund*.

Comments noted.

48 This should be a major priority. Definitely require specific sustainable 
design and construction features irrespective of their initial cost. The added 
value to the properties and their lower running costs will outweigh the 

Comments noted.  It would be expected that 
sustainable design features and lower 
running costs should add to a property's Page 613



ID Representor Comments Council Response

initial price. Secondly do develop a Community Energy Fund help fund the 
improvement in energy efficiency of older housing stock.

value; there is little evidence of this at 
present, but it is expected that evidence will 
become stronger with time.

50 It is our opinion that Option 1 should be supported - this option ensures 
that sustainable design features are included within every development 
and supports the Council’s Vision for a better, and healthier quality of life 
(as presented in the Strategic Development Options - paper). It would also 
support the draft Objectives 1-4: Sustainable Communities; A Healthy 
Population; A High Quality Built Environment; and Addressing Climate 
Change.
While Option 2 could make development in the Borough more attractive in 
the short-term through a reduction in additional financial requirements for 
developers, allowing poor design will ultimately have long-term 
implications for sustainable travel, and potentially impact on the overall 
attractiveness of the area.
Key Points:

Options Paper that have direct impacts on the SRN. Environmental Policy 
Option 3 is unlikely to have significant direct impacts, but Highways 
England would always look to support and encourage policy options that 
ensure design promotes and facilitates sustainable modes of travel as much 
as possible. Supporting Option 1 may help ensure new development is 
designed in such a way that these principles are upheld.

Comments noted, including links to the 
Vision and Objectives, and implications for 
the strategic road network and sustainable 
travel.  It is agreed that long term benefits 
should be a weightier consideration than 
short-term gain.

56 Electric Vehicle Charging Points
The Environmental Policy Options Paper [EPO Paper] raises the possibility 
of introducing Electric Vehicle [EV] charging points requirements [§4.5] in 
policy. Whilst Taylor Wimpey does not necessarily object to EV charging 
points, it notes that the Framework does not require EV charging points but 
rather simply encourages them “where practical” [§35]. If the Local Plan 
sought to impose Electric Vehicle [EV] charging points requirements on 
developers, this approach would need to be tested in terms of viability.
Sustainable energy standards/requirements
Paragraph 4.5 of the EPO Paper states:  “where it is justified and does not 
make development unviable, the Local Plan can include policies which place 
a requirement for a particular sustainable feature or measure on certain 
new developments to help improve the environmental performance of 
buildings.” [Lichfields emphasis] 
aylor Wimpey acknowledges the qualifying effect of this statement and 
therefore supports Option 2 set out at §4.6, which would not introduce 
make specific policy requirements.
As a result of changes to national policy and advice, largely following the 
Government’s housing standards Review, energy requirements from a 
development are matter solely for Part L of the Building Regulations and 
the Local Plan should not impose additional requirements on developers.
Accessibility Standards 
Taylor Wimpey acknowledges the need to provide accessible 
accommodation as set out in the Social Policy Options Paper [SPO Paper]. 
However, given the Government’s intention to minimise the use of local 
standards (through the Housing Standards Review), Taylor Wimpey would 
not support the introduction of  any additional accessibility standards 
introduced on a ‘blanket’ policy basis as this would lead to viability issues 
on developments.

Comments on options noted.
As mentioned by the respondent, Local Plan 
policies will be viability tested as part of the 
Plan's preparation.
The Housing Standards Review, and the 
remit of Building Regulations are 
acknowledged.

58 The HBF supports option 2 which would not make specific policy 
requirements in this regard. The Council correctly notes at paragraph 4.5 of 
the Environmental Policy Options Paper that energy requirements have 
been removed by changes to national policy and advice in recent years. 
This principally follows on from the Government’s Housing Standards 
Review. The review essentially made the energy requirements from a 
development a matter solely for Part L of the Building Regulations. 
Therefore Local Authorities should not be seeking to place such 
requirements upon developers.

Comments noted. The Housing Standards 
Review, and the remit of Building 
Regulations are acknowledged.  Local Plan 
policies will be viability tested as part of the 
Local Plan's preparation.

Page 614



ID Representor Comments Council Response

The options paper also refers to Electric Vehicle Charging Points. If the 
Council sought to make this a requirement this would need to be viability 
tested. The NPPF encourages rather than requires such charging points, 
paragraph 35 is clear that they should only be provided where practical.

61 Requiring specific sustainable design and construction features be 
incorporated into development is the only sure way of ensuring this policy 
is delivered. A financial contribution to a Community Energy fund alongside 
policy requirements would be the optimum combination.  A financial 
contribution should not be the 'easy option' for the developer to avoid 
energy saving being incorporated in the design. 
Suggestions include solar roof tiles on houses.

Comments on options and the specific 
example of solar tiles noted.  The Council 
encourages sustainable design and 
construction; this is also covered by Building 
Regulations.

63 Housing density needs to allow space for planting trees and vegetation for 
wildlife.   Protect green belt. 

Comments noted.

64 It is our Clients’ view that specific policy requirements should not be set to 
ensure that building requirements should not be overly onerous on 
developers to ensure the viability of developments are not compromised. 
i.e. dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the latest Building 
Standards, rather than seeking to apply Lifetime Home Standards.

Comments noted. Local Plan policies will be 
viability tested as part of the Plan 
preparation.  Lifetime Homes Standards 
have been superseded by Building 
Regulation M4(2).

69 1. Require carbon-reducing/neutralising features in new build and retrofit 
these to existing properties

Comments noted.  It is unlikely that planning 
policies can require retrofitting, but features 
could be required in new build properties.

70 As this paper correctly identifies, it has been the policy of central 
government over recent years to remove matters relating to sustainable 
design and construction from local plans and instead have these addressed 
through the building regulations process. This has been confirmed through 
the Written Ministerial Statement of 25th March 2015, along with the NPPF 
and NPPG which clearly explains that local planning authorities should not 
be setting additional standards such as requirements for renewable energy 
or low carbon technologies. As such, the Commissioners would not expect 
to see prescriptive policies within the Local Plan Review.
As a result of this the Commissioners believe that of the options presented 
in the paper, Option 2 would represent the only sound choice to pursue, 
although the explanation given within the paper is not accurate as the 
necessary standards would be picked up by building regulations.
We note a third option is discussed which would involve financial 
contributions from developers to a Community Energy Fund. The 
Commissioners would object to such a move as it would not pass the 
statutory tests outlined in CIL Regulation 122; specifically that planning 
obligations - should be necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms, as it is clear that such matters now sit outside the planning 
system. There would also be an issue of limited pooling of contributions in 
respect of such an obligation and so in practical terms it is also likely to be 
unfeasible.

Comments on the Housing Standards Review 
and the role of Building Regulations noted; 
also comments on options, and on the 
Community energy Fund and its relationship 
to CIL noted.

72 don't restrict growth by imposing what will be construed as a development 
tax - encourage the best design for individual sites using planning 
conditions. That has the best chance of producing the best spaces for 
people to live in and enjoy.

Comments noted.

75 We welcome the inclusion of a policy for sustainable design and 
construction. More information is required on how the design and 
construction features or measures will be defined, including any reference 
to particular standards, and whether the requirements would go beyond 
existing Building Regulations.

Comments noted.  More information will be 
provided when the draft policy is drawn up 
and viability-assessed.

78 Appropriate to the area to blend in especially where very old buildings 
exist. New designs encouraged in the new larger developments. 

Comments noted.

82  Require specific sustainable design and construction features or measures Comments noted.  The Council encourages Page 615



ID Representor Comments Council Response

to be incorporated into new developments.  Solar panels, ground source 
heat and efficient insulation needs to be encouraged in new builds

sustainable design and construction; this is 
also covered by Building Regulations.

86 We welcome the opportunity to engage with the West Lancashire Local 
Plan Review.  We are pleased to see that environmental policies were 
highlighted in your scoping consultation feedback report and we would 
reiterate how important it is for local plans to protect and enhance the 
environment. A potentially valuable tool to delivering a wide range of 
ecosystem services would be to strengthen your local plan’s priorities 
around sustainable drainage system (SuDS) delivery.  
WWT is a world-leading charity in the conservation of wetlands and the 
wildlife that inhabits them. We operate nine wetland centres across the UK, 
attracting over one million visitors each year, and have over 200,000 
members worldwide. As you will know, one of these centres – the 
internationally important, Martin Mere – is located in West Lancashire.  
WWT is also a passionate champion of SuDS. SuDS seek to manage rainfall 
in the similar way to natural processes. They replicate what happens in 
nature using landscape to control the flow and volume and soil and plants 
act to filter pollution along the way. Examples of SuDS include rain gardens, 
ponds and wetlands. If SuDS are designed and managed appropriately, then 
they can be used to help address many problems faced by local authorities 
through the delivery of multiple benefits. For example, they can help 
reduce flood risk, improve water quality, reach biodiversity targets, 
improve health and well-being, provide safe areas for outdoor learning, and 
more. Furthermore, SuDS can be installed affordably into nearly all kinds of 
new development – as well as retrofitted into existing development – if 
effective planning is in place.
The strength of SuDS policy in local plans is an important factor affecting 
the number of SuDS schemes being built. The current West Lancashire local 
plan has a number of positive statements around SuDS including paragraph 
5.24 which states that SuDS must be integrated into all new developments 
where technically feasible and Policy EN1 which requires all development 
to incorporate SuDS in order to be resilient to climate change.  However, 
there are a number of opportunities to promote SuDS more effectively 
within the plan in order for it to provide a robust line on delivering SuDS 
and clarity to planning officers and developers.
•	A stand-alone policy on SuDS in the updated Local Plan would underline 
their importance and allow you to present clear and detailed SuDS 
guidance. Such a policy should: 
o	 State that SuDS be incorporated into all types and sizes of 
development - there are very few potential developments that would not 
be able to accommodate some form of SuDS scheme. The Richmond 
Council Local Plan, for example, simply states on page 74 that “the Council 
will require the use of SuDS in all development proposals”. 
o 	Support the delivery of multiple benefits through SuDS beyond merely 
reducing flood risk. Potential benefits include, but are not limited to, 
improved water quality, enhanced biodiversity and better health and well-
being for local residents. The Dumfries and Galloway Local Plan goes part 
way towards achieving this on page 89 by stating that SuDS should 
“contribute positively to the biodiversity and general amenity of the area of 
the proposal”.
o 	Require arrangements to be made for the long-term maintenance of any 
schemes proposed. Most SuDS require little ongoing maintenance but it is 
important to allocate responsibility at an early stage. The South Downs 
Local Plan, for instance, states on page 247 that proposals must 
“demonstrate that management and maintenance arrangements for the 
lifetime operation of the scheme are in place”. 
• 	A consistently strong message on SuDS across all relevant policies would 
leave the reader in no doubt about how seriously SuDS are considered in 
West Lancashire. 
o	 SuDS are featured in Policy GN3 of your current Local Plan on Criteria for 
Sustainable Development but the language used could be stronger. Rather 
than just asking developers to “demonstrate that SuDS have been 

Comments noted, including comments on 
SuDS and SuDS policy - this can be explored 
as the next stage of the Local Plan Review is 
prepared.
The international importance of Martin 
Mere as a nature conservation area is 
acknowledged.

Page 616



ID Representor Comments Council Response

explored”, we suggest the plan states that SuDS be included or robust 
justification be given for not doing so.
o 	A similar approach could have been taken for Policy EC4 on Edge Hill 
University which merely “promotes” the use of SuDS. 
o 	SuDS are not mentioned in some relevant policies of the current Local 
Plan despite good opportunities to do so. For example, Policy SP3 on Yew 
Tree Farm states that the site “should deliver...measures to address surface 
water drainage issues” but does not suggest SuDS as a potential solution. 
•	Including the definition of sustainable drainage as given in Schedule 3 of 
the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 would clarify exactly what a 
SuDS scheme is expected to achieve.
•	SuDS should be raised early in the updated Local Plan and considered 
often throughout. There is also merit in providing a certain amount of 
background information on SuDS to help guide planning officers in their 
decision making. This should include the rationale behind using SuDS in 
development, a description of the different types of SuDS that could be 
used and links to further information on SuDS such as CIRIA’s SuDS manual 
and RSPB/WWT’s SuDS guide.
Delivering more SuDS in West Lancashire would significantly benefit local 
communities. It is clear from the spatial portrait in the current Local Plan 
that flooding is a major issue in many areas of the Borough. SuDS would 
help reduce the risk of surface water flooding in these areas immediately 
and mitigate the likely impacts of climate change going forward. Installing 
more SuDS would also help to address other key issues in the Borough such 
as the pressure on waste water treatment facilities and the need for more 
green infrastructure.

87 Burscough Parish Council supports a robust policy on sustainable design, 
that ensures that future energy needs are reduced.  This may include solar 
panels on roofs and low energy heating systems along with technologically 
advanced methods of building.

Comments noted.  The Council encourages 
sustainable design and construction; this is 
also covered by Building Regulations.

92 Sustainable housing does not just mean an energy efficient build, but it 
must also encompass housing design and how the resident will live in the 
house and access the necessary services.  Good building design, location 
and build quality are all very important in creating housing that can create 
long term sustainable communities.
Foster a balanced, integrated and sustainable approach to development in 
order to deliver homes (in a variety of sizes and tenures to meet all needs 
including affordable housing), jobs and better opportunities for all, whilst 
protecting and enhancing the natural and historic environment, key social 
assets and public amenities as well conserving the countryside and open 
spaces and ensuring high quality design for development.
Tackle climate change, decentralise energy infrastructure, promote energy 
efficiency & renewable energy and move towards zero carbon development.
Ensure that development is based around the need for access by all forms 
of transport, management of parking in new development and expectation 
that developers should contribute to cost of public transport access in 
areas that are not well served by existing public transport services.

Comments noted. It is agreed that to achieve 
sustainable communities, one needs to look 
beyond energy efficiency, etc. of homes, and 
to consider such things as lifestyles and 
travel patterns.

95 4.18 In respect of Sustainable Design and Construction, WLBC has noted 
that national planning policy implemented by the Government has 
removed energy requirements, such as the Code for Sustainable Homes. 
Instead, energy efficiency is a matter which is managed by the Building 
Regulations. DWH does not therefore consider that the Local Plan Review 
should add additional policy requirements in this respect. Any policy 
requirements which WLBC does seek to take forward – such as the mooted 
requirement for a proportion of electric charging points – must be carefully 
viability tested alongside other policy aspirations such as affordable 
housing, to ensure that they do not compromise the delivery of new 
development.

Comments noted.  The role of Building 
Regulations is acknowledged, and the Local 
Plan will be viability tested as part of its 
preparation.

Page 617



ID Representor Comments Council Response

96 The Council should carefully consider the imposition of a blanket approach 
to the delivery of specific construction features or contribution to a 
Community Energy Fund, as these were not envisaged as part of the 
process wherein the Council arrived at its CIL Charging Schedule. The 
Council’s adopted CIL Charging Schedule applies tariffs on a geographic 
basis recognizing the fundamental variances in terms of housing market 
conditions and viability across the borough. Should the Local Plan Review 
propose amendments to the development limit within this Spatial Area, the 
boundary in the CIL Charging Schedule should be amended to accord.
If the Council were to decide on introducing new construction 
requirements or planning obligations then that should only be progressed 
in tandem with a review of the CIL Charging Schedule. We would also 
strongly encourage that the Council introduce a Discretionary Policy so that 
the planning benefits of any such obligations could be afforded weight 
relative to other planning benefits which could be prejudiced (by 
unintended consequence). An obvious example of such a situation would 
be where such an obligation could prejudice a scheme that would 
otherwise catalyse the active use of heritage assets so that they can be 
preserved or enhanced.

Comments noted.  The role of Building 
Regulations is acknowledged, and the Local 
Plan will be viability tested as part of its 
preparation.  This viability test will take 
account of CIL which is now in place.  It is 
not agreed that new policies will necessitate 
a review of CIL, or CIL boundaries; rather 
new policies will need to account for the 
impact of CIL on overall viability.

97 The Council should carefully consider the imposition of a blanket approach 
to the delivery of specific construction features or contribution to a 
Community Energy Fund, as these were not envisaged as part of the 
process wherein the Council arrived at its CIL Charging Schedule. The 
Council’s adopted CIL Charging Schedule applies tariffs on a geographic 
basis recognizing the fundamental variances in terms of housing market 
conditions and development viability across the borough.
If the Council were to decide on introducing new construction 
requirements or planning obligations then that should only be progressed 
in tandem with a review of the CIL Charging Schedule. We would strongly 
encourage that the Council introduce a Discretionary Policy so that the 
planning benefits of any such obligations could be afforded weight relative 
to other planning benefits which could be prejudiced (by unintended 
consequence).

Comments noted.  The role of Building 
Regulations is acknowledged, and the Local 
Plan will be viability tested as part of its 
preparation.  This viability test will take 
account of CIL which is now in place.  It is 
not agreed that new policies will necessitate 
a review of CIL, or CIL boundaries; rather 
new policies will need to account for the 
impact of CIL on overall viability.

99 It is our Clients’ view that specific policy requirements should not be set to 
ensure that building requirements should not be overly onerous on 
developers to ensure the viability of developments are not compromised. 
i.e. dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the latest Building 
Standards, rather than seeking to apply Lifetime Home Standards.

Comments noted.  The proposed new Local 
Plan policies will be viability tested as part of 
the Plan's preparation.  The Council is aware 
that Lifetime Homes Standards have been 
superseded by Building Regulations (part 
M(4)).

Page 618



Question 25: Which policy option for creating Sustainable and Healthy 
Places do you think is the most appropriate for West Lancashire? 
Would it be appropriate to include more than one of the options in 
order to create healthy and accessible environments for all?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Option 2 would be best Comments noted.

9 Option 3 should be the priority- all the new build estates I have seen in the 
area recently have the houses packed in so tightly its ridiculous. They are in 
no way like a community.

Comments noted.

14 option 2....does the same as option 1...we are a relatively flat landscape 
ideal for cycling

Comments noted.

18 no comment -

19 Options 2 and3 - are appropriate. Promoting cycling and walking 
infrastructure will increase physical and mental health and hence reduce 
our national medical costs as well as reducing our dependence on motor 
vehicles to move us around.

Comments noted.

20 Option 3: Require residential developments over a certain size to 
incorporate public open space and amenity green space.    Also safe and 
secure childrens' play areas would be advantageous.

Comments noted.

21 Yes

23 Option 3. Greenspace is a commodity for all. Comments noted.

24 I think the three options should be combined to produce the most pleasant 
and health giving environment for the residents of West Lancashire

Comments noted.

26 Please see Sport England's Active Design: 
https://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/active-design/ 
Each options has pros and cons.

Comments noted.

28 All three options are required. Comments noted.

30 Options 2 and 3 should be combined.  They are not alternatives.  Even if 
developments  are designed to encourage active lifestyles there is no 
guarantee that the obese will take advantage of the features..

Comments noted.  Whilst planners cannot 
'control' people's behaviour, by facilitating 
places / layouts that make it easy to lead an 
active lfestyle, we can indirectly influence 
activity levels.

31 Option 1 Comments noted.

32 Surely the options answer themselves all three are essential for our 
communities health and well being.

Comments noted.

34 We support options 2 and 3 for requirements of open space and in 
particular the connectivity of green spaces as part of new development. 
This would not only bring health benefits but could also help create 
habitats for biodiversity and enable migratory networks which will in turn 
help species to adapt to climate change. Opportunities could also be sought 
for flood alleviation within such green spaces such as incorporating 
Sustainable Drainage Systems.

Comments noted.  It is often the case that 
'Green Infrastructure' has more than one 
benefit - in the case cited, health and 
biodiversity.

35 As is suggested within the document, it is not considered that each of the 3 
options provided should be considered mutually exclusively. Instead, a 
combination of the proposed requirements should be considered for 
inclusion within the Local Plan Review, although the nature of their 
inclusion is a matter for consideration.
The requirements identified within the consultation documents should not 

Comments noted.  Whilst it is noted that NJL 
Consulting recommends consideration of 
inclusion of such features on an informal site 
by site basis, this would be unlikely to meet 
the needs of West Lancashire over the plan 
period.  By contrast, a policy sets out Page 619



ID Representor Comments Council Response

be translated, during the Local Plan Review, into specific policies, or a single 
policy, which developments are required to meet. Instead, such features 
should be encouraged where possible and should be considered on their 
suitability for inclusion on a site-by-site basis, reflective of the needs of the 
development, the local area, existing provision and the capacity of the 
development to provide such features.

requirements / targets, derived from the 
evidence base.

39 Option 3. Requirements for residential developments over a certain size to 
incorporate public open space and amenity green space. 
ResponseA : Option 3 - Comment : However, all 3 options could be 
provided.

Comments noted.  The Council is currently 
undertaking a open space assessment as 
part of its evidence base and this will inform 
WLBC on current / future need for open 
space.

42 All three options deliver green infrastructure offering services beneficial to 
the public good and likely to increase public access to and enjoyment of 
nature: it would be invidious to have to choose between them. If we must 
choose then Option 3 is the most closely aligned to our core charitable 
remit, assuming that said public open space and amenity greenspace would 
be designed and maintained in a way that also protects, maintains, 
enhances, expands and links the district's identified ecological networks.
We recommend that it should be a requirement to seek ecological 
assessments of all significant developments, requiring designers to have 
regard to / retain existing habitat features, where practicable, demonstrate 
how the proposal would enhance biodiversity, and ensure links to the 
ecological network.

Comments noted. It is possible to implement 
more than one of the three options.  
Sustainable design and construction is 
promoted through policy in order to achieve 
high quality design, the Council extend this 
to cover healthy places and the movement 
of ecology through networks and green 
infrastructure.

46 Option 2. because we need to create connectivity between settlements in 
order to encourage greater alternative use of means of transport other 
than by car. This would deliver many fold benefits in terms of physical and 
mental health, less road connection, less pollution and a greater degree of 
interaction between communities. The concept of the Linear Parks across 
the borough should be prioritised and promoted as being core to the Local 
Plan.

Comments noted; it is agreed that 
facilitating sustainable modes of transport 
and exercise would bring multiple benefits.  
The 'West Lancashire Wheel' is advocated in 
the West Lancashire Economic Development 
Strategy 2015-25 (p56) and the Green 
Infrastructure and Cycling Strategy 
(September 2017) (p24-26).

47 All of these! Also, mixed use developments to make active travel such as 
walking and cycling feasible. At the moment, with single use zoning, people 
need to drive on the school run, to work, to shop, to leisure. And a lot of 
people in Skem don't have a car, and so they are stuffed - but is WLBC 
bothered?!

Comments noted.  Policy options such as this 
one seek to address the issue of people 
without cars having difficulty accessing 
services.

48 Incorporate all 3 options. With Options 1 and 3, the open space features 
must be an integral part of the scheme  and not tucked away in a forgotten 
corner to be under utilised or vandalised. A mix of careful planting to soften 
the built environment and green space for a range of active and passive 
leisure.

Comments noted; it is agreed that open 
space should not be 'tucked away'.  Good 
planting is important.

61 Ideally all three options would be incorporated in order to create healthy 
and accessible environments for all because high levels of obesity are an 
issue in the North West region.  In Tarleton & Hesketh Bank, for example, 
there has recently been significant housing development in the villages  yet 
there has been no provision for parks to enable residents to enjoy walking 
and/or cycling. 
The delivery, rather than simply the vision, of Linear Parks should be given 
higher importance within the policies of the new local plan.  The additional 
traffic generated by the developments presumably would have increased 
air pollution, yet the most accessible option for walkers is to use narrow 
pavements along often busy roads.

Comments noted, including links to obesity / 
health and wellbeing. In terms of open 
space, the Council is currently undertaking a 
open space assessment as part of its 
evidence base and this will inform WLBC on 
current / future need for open space.  It is 
agreed delivery of the Linear Parks should be 
a priority.

64 Our Clients support Option 3, which requires residential developments over 
a certain size to incorporate public open space and amenity green space. 
Consideration should be given to off-site provision in lieu of on-site 
provision.

Comments noted.  The Council is currently 
undertaking a open space assessment as 
part of its evidence base and this will inform 
WLBC on current / future need for open 
space.

Page 620



ID Representor Comments Council Response

69 Surely all 3 of these options can be combined! Commments noted.

70 Whilst the Commissioners support the notion of creating healthy and 
sustainable places and that developments should incorporate play and 
recreation space where there is a proven need and it is appropriate and 
proportionate, such policies need to be carefully considered.
The provision of open space and amenity green space within developments 
is a laudable aim but the Commissioners would expect to see detailed and 
robust evidence to support any requirements for developments to 
incorporate such spaces and that these would not undermine the viability 
of development in any way and frustrate future housing growth.
For this reason, we believe such requirements need to be examined on a 
case by case basis according to localised need and the presence of existing 
facilities in the area. A blanket policy within the Local Plan Review would 
likely be too rigid in its application and would not endure through the plan 
period as circumstances will likely change over this time.

Comments noted.  The Council is currently 
undertaking a open space assessment as 
part of its evidence base and this will inform 
WLBC on current / future need for open 
space.  It is considered a policy would be 
better than no policy as there would be 
more certainty over what would be expected 
of developers, and a greater likelihood of 
delivery.  Plan policies will be viability-
assessed to avoid making 'typical' 
developments unviable.

72 build houses where local children and parents can walk to school - improve 
pavements etc. 

Comments noted.

75 This policy issue acknowledges the importance of environments that 
promote mental and physical health, and all of the options proposed could 
be used to facilitate increased rates of physical activity, through recreation, 
sporting uses and active travel.
West Lancashire faces a number of challenges in relation to health and 
wellbeing and experiences significant inequalities. For example, the 
percentage of physically inactive adults in West Lancashire in 2013 and 
2015 was significantly higher than in England and the percentage of 
children classified as overweight or obese in West Lancashire was 
significantly higher than in England in 2014/15 and 4 of the preceding 7 
years. The issue is addressed in paragraph 4.7 (with particular reference to 
walking and cycling):  "The design of new development layouts can 
encourage increased activity levels and reduced car-usage in order to 
combat long-term excess weight and obesity related health problems, 
improve local air quality and to generally help residents and users to 
exercise more."
It is recommended that a combination of all of the suggested policy options 
should be explored, as they do not appear to be mutually exclusive. 
Additionally community and road safety should be considered, as the 
perception and fear of crime, and the recorded KSI levels, can discourage 
active travel and the use of green facilities for physical activity. See previous 
comments above with regard to crime prevention and road safety.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that the 
options do not need to be mutually 
exclusive.  Links to health and wellbeing 
acknowledged.  The Council is currently 
undertaking a open space assessment as 
part of its evidence base and this will inform 
WLBC on current / future need for open 
space.

Sustainable design and construction is 
promoted through policy in order to achieve 
high quality design, the Council extend this 
to cover healthy places, and has adopted a 
Green Infrastructure and Cycling strategy.

78 Encourage exercise and advertise swimming pool gyms and sports facilities 
giving information of access by public transport. 

Comments noted.

82 Option 2: Require developments over a certain size to provide direct 
connections from the development to the wider cycling and walking 
infrastructure.  With plenty of trees & bushes etc.

Comments noted.  The Council is currently 
undertaking a open space assessment as 
part of its evidence base and this will inform 
WLBC on current / future need for open 
space.

87 Burscough Parish Council supports policies 2 and 3, and these are not 
mutually exclusive.  All new developments should be able to access 
footpath networks, and all should include open space.  Smaller 
developments should also contribute to local open space.

	Comments noted; it is agreed that the 
options are not mutually exclusive.

96 AIUH make no specific comment in these respects, but is supportive of 
ambitions wherein development can promote healthy lifestyles.

Comments noted.

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects, but is supportive 
of ambitions wherein development can promote healthy lifestyles.

Comments noted

99 Our Clients support Option 3, which requires residential developments over Comments noted.  The Council is currently Page 621



ID Representor Comments Council Response

a certain size to incorporate public open space and amenity green space. 
Consideration should be given to off-site provision in lieu of on-site 
provision.

undertaking a open space assessment as 
part of its evidence base and this will inform 
WLBC on current / future need for open 
space.

104 The plan mentions ‘natural infrastructure’ in relation to the ecological 
networks earlier in the document but doesn’t mention ‘green 
infrastructure’ specifically, this is fine as long as the LPA are planning 
strategically how the natural infrastructure can deliver a number of 
benefits for people and it would be helpful to acknowledge this in the 
document. Natural England welcomes and supports the policy suggestions 
regarding provision of green/open space in that it needs to be provided on 
site so it is close to where people live (as that’s where most people will 
engage with the natural environment) but this also needs to sit as part of a 
wider network to enable people to fully uptake sustainable transport 
options and improve health through being more active.
It would be good for West Lancashire LPA to support an approach that 
encourages developers to use natural solutions over ‘grey’ solutions to 
address onsite issues such as water management through SUDS and the 
acknowledgement that looking at the multifunctionality of green and open 
spaces allows them to address a number of these issues whilst also 
improving the quality of people’s lives and quality of place for the site.
Natural England reviewed the West Lancashire GI strategy for consultation 
recently and it was very closely tied together with the cycle strategy, so 
would expect that the wider sustainable transport network be more 
strongly supported through this paper.
I will be in contact shortly to discuss how Natural England can work more 
closely with you during the development of this Plan.

Comments noted on 'natural infrsatructure' 
and 'green infrastructure'.  As stated by 
Natural England, WLBC have a Green 
Infrastructure and Cycling Strategy in place, 
adopted autumn 2017.
The Council is currently undertaking a open 
space assessment as part of its evidence 
base and this will inform WLBC on current / 
future need for open space.  Sustainable 
design and construction is promoted 
through policy in order to achieve high 
quality design, the Council extends this to 
cover healthy places.  Support for SUDS 
noted; this is covered elsewhere in the Plan.

107 There has to b (Incomplete response.)

Page 622



Question 26: Are there any other environmental policy issues that 
should also be considered? If so, what are they?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

9 New build should incorporate renewable energy technology e.g. solar 
panels 

Comments noted.

10 The utmost care must be taken not to build on or infringe the Green Belt, 
to maintain Greenfield sites as far as possible, and to utilise available 
Brownfield land and unoccupied existing housing as a priority.
Environmental care and management must be given priority, not only to 
protect and encourage wildlife, but in recognition of the proven fact that 
green space is beneficial to mental and physical health, not least of all for 
children.  Green space, including existing old-growth woodland and spaces 
such as Beacon Country Park must be sacrosanct.  Close proximity to the 
countryside encourages physical activity.
Local nature sites must be protected, and the value of trees in preventing 
or ameliorating flood risk should not only be acknowledged but acted 
upon.  Rather than uprooting existing woodland or habitat corridors more 
planting - not just a tree in each new house - must be carried out.
Renewable energy is of high importance and suitable sites for turbines and 
solar panels should be identified.
Housing "creep" must be avoided at all costs to avoid loss of identity, to 
ensure that villages are not swallowed up by new development.
As far as good design goes, the mistakes of the past should be 
acknowledged (Digmoor, Tanhouse for example albeit they were of their 
time) and affordable housing should be of the highest standards possible.  
Good quality building materials and plenty of space rather than cramming 
in as many properties as possible is important.
Amenities should be more carefully considered.  For example, the current 
Whalleys 4 development is taking place without any obvious reference to 
the fact that there are very few shops, one surgery and extremely limited 
parking to both,  and no recreational facilities for children.

Comments noted and generally supported.  
It is agreed that:
- Green Belt should not be built on where 
avoidable
- It is better to use brownfield land before 
greenfield
- Green space, trees, and the natural 
environment provide multiple benefits and 
should be kept / protected where possible.
- Renewable energy is important and should 
be facilitated.  To this end, the Council 
intend to review their Renewable Energy 
evidence base in order to support renewable 
energy.
- Good design is important.
- New housing should be provided within 
easy reach of facilities.

12 Consider glamping sites. Comments noted.

13 Heritage assets should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their 
significance. You number 12  historic monuments in West Lancs. I hope 
there will be full consultation with Halsall residents and the Parochial 
church council over Halsall rectory 14th century which has been badly 
damaged by mismanagement and neglect.

Comments noted. 
The council undertake a wide consultation at 
each stage of the Local Plan process and 
opportunities are available forHalsall 
residents to comment on proposals.
With regards to buildings in private 
ownership the Council have limited powers.  
However, as a council we produce Heritage 
at Risk reports and Conservation Area 
Appraisals and encourage the maintenance 
and enhancement of historic assetts.

14 non that I can think of Comments noted.

18 no comment -

19 How West Lancashire can be self sufficient in terms of food production?
Active visible recycling at all refuse points.

Comments noted.

20 None at this time. Comments noted.

23 Do not build on greenbelt! Redevelop brownfield sites and upgrade existing 
housing stock.

Comments noted, the council promote the 
reuse of brownfield land through 

Page 623



ID Representor Comments Council Response

mechanisms such as the Brownfield Land 
Register.  Council housing stock is 
maintained and upgraded where possible, 
subject to budget constraints (e.g. Firbeck).  
Upgrading existing private housing stock is 
not within the Council's remit.

28 Tree and woodland schemes.  Measurement of air quality and action to 
reduce impact.

Comments noted; the importance and 
benefits of trees are acknowleded; 
maintaining air quality is also important.

30 No Noted

31 Consider other microgeneration schemes for renewable energy. The 
agricultoral business in the Northern Parishes may generate enough green 
waste to support an anaerobic digester.

Comments noted. The Council intends to 
undertake a Renewable Energy Study which 
will identify possible areas for renewable 
energy.

32 Build houses close to employment therefore giving people the opportunity 
to walk or cycle to work, and not spending time in traffic thus reducing 
harmful exhaust emissions.

Comments noted; this is a fundamental 
principle of sustainable development.

34 Paragraph 1.3 discusses flood risk within the borough and touches on the 
location of new development. We agree that the location of new 
development goes to the heart of the Plan-making process however, if 
option four of the Strategic Development Options Paper is not selected and 
allocation of development is allowed within flood risk areas then you may 
need to incorporate flood risk into the other papers as part of allocating 
development.

Additional Comments
Other Environmental Policy Issues
Climate Change and Peat Habitat - The 'thematic spatial evidence papers' 
7.0 Climate change, energy and flooding highlights that West Lancashire 
has a higher per capita rate of CO2 emissions than its regional and national 
counterparts. It is highlighted within the Local Plan that Peat habitat 
represents a valuable agricultural resource however Peat is also a valuable 
habitat as it acts as a ‘Carbon Sink’ for Carbon capture and storage. Peat is 
also a fragile system and so development needs to be sensitive to this. 
Other implications of the erosion of Peat include a potential increase of 
flood risk downstream and a reduction of water quality.
The Alt Crossens area that is currently managed by Pumping Stations is 
highlighted within the Local Plan as high grade agricultural land. This land is 
only available through the current active management and so the options 
for maintaining this land going forward may also need to be considered.
Contaminated land/Redevelopment of Brownfield Sites.  Within the 
Environmental paper there is no mention of contaminated land and 
remediation of sites.  National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 109 
states that the planning system should contribute to and enhance the 
natural and local environment by preventing both new and existing 
development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, 
or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of water pollution.  
Paragraph 120 states that local policies and decisions should ensure that 
new development is appropriate for its location, having regard to the 
effects of pollution on health or the natural environment, taking account of 
the potential sensitivity of the area or proposed development to adverse 
effects from pollution. Government policy also states that planning policies 
and decisions should also ensure that adequate site investigation 
information, prepared by a competent person, is presented (NPPF, 
paragraph 121). - In addition, the North West River Basin Management Plan 
requires the restoration and enhancement of water bodies to prevent 
deterioration and promote recovery of water bodies. The remediation and 
reuse of contaminated land is an integral part of the improvement of water 
quality both for surface water and groundwater and, where consulted on 
development proposals on land affected by contamination, we will aim to 

Comments on flood risk noted - flood risk is 
discussed primarily in the Strategic 
Development Options Paper.
With regards to peat, WLBC will be liaising 
with the minerals and waste authority (LCC) 
to assist on peat-related policies.
Alt Crossens comments noted.
Comments on contamination / remediation 
and water bodies noted.

Page 624



ID Representor Comments Council Response

secure a level of remediation in parallel with national criteria set in the 
Water Framework Directive. We will support the Local Plan policies on the 
re-use of brown-field and contaminated land and we will apply a risk based 
approach to ensuring appropriate and sustainable remediation actions are 
secured to improve water quality.
Detailed advice on the management of land affected by contamination can 
be found within our ‘Guiding Principles for Land Contamination’ documents 
which are available via our website 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/land-contamination-technical-
guidance 
Water Quality/waterways
Waterbodies within West Lancashire have been steadily improving due to 
the work of different partners however, they are still failing to meet the 
requirements of the Water Framework Directive as identified by the 
background Thematic Paper. A concerted effort is therefore required to 
further improve the waterbodies within West Lancashire. We therefore 
recommend that the protection/enhancement of waterbodies within West 
Lancashire in incorporated within the Environmental Paper.

39 Response A: Other environmental policy issues include environmental 
protection against the impact of fracking where these measures will 
damage infrastructure and wildlife and general amenity and water supply 
in Flood Zones 2 & 3 and where aquifers exist.  What protection measures 
can be included against detrimental affects of fracking activity and 
contamination and clean up of sites up to 200 x 2 acres of concrete in West 
Lancashire when PEDL licence areas 164 and 165 proceed.

Comments noted. Whilst WLBC understands 
residents' concerns over fracking this is a 
matter that falls under the remit of 
Lancashire County Council.

44 One cannot meet the local community energy needs with renewable 
energy unless we conserve energy in the first place. New buildings should 
conserve energy as top priority.
Energy conservation and waste prevention are required to help remove 
threats from Fracking and avoid more landfill sites.
High levels of insulation, ground source heat and biomass should be 
promoted through the design of buildings. Solar hot water on houses is far 
more effective than solar electricity panels and needs support. Building 
roofs need to be orientated to take maximum advantage of solar power 
(not necessarily the whole building). -

Comments noted.  It is agreed that energy 
conservation is an important consideration.  
Comments on heat and solar energy noted.  
WLBC do not cover fracking; this falls under 
the remit of Lancashire County Council.

46 Air quality is emerging as one of the most important factors in terms of 
impact on health with new evidence being produced to drive this issues up 
on the national and international agenda.  Diesel particulates from HGV's 
within the borough are of concern and  air quality therefore should be 
given a high level of importance throughout the borough and should 
contribute significantly to the formation of environmental policy 
development. Consideration should also be given to the widespread use of 
pesticides and herbicides, in particular neonicotioids.

Comments noted and supported. It is agreed 
air quality and pollution is an imoprtant 
issue.  This is considered within the WLBC 
policy approach to sustaining the Boroughs' 
environment and tackling climate change.
Comments on pesticides noted; this is 
beyond the remit of the Local Plan, 
unfortunately.

47 Rural livelihoods. West Lancs is traditionally the bread basket of Lancashire, 
feeding the mill towns in the east. More community farms and orchards in 
close proximity to housing or at least easily reached via public transport.

Comments noted and supported.

50 This Topic Paper covers the Environmental Policy Options. The vast majority 
of this paper has no direct specific impacts on the safety and operation of 
the SRN, and there is therefore no need for Highways England to provide 
comment.
However, Environmental Policy Issue 3: Sustainable Design and 
Construction offers three options  in regards to a potential policy which 
addresses sustainable design and construction. While not strictly directly 
impacting on the operation or safety of the SRN, encouraging sustainable 
design is vital in minimising the need for travel and facilitating the use of 
sustainable travel, potentially lessening vehicular demand for the SRN. The 
Topic Paper gives an example of the inclusion of a policy requiring new 
houses to have a suitable external power connection for charging electric 

Comments noted; it is agreed that planning 
to reduce the need to travel is important; it 
is noted that electric vehicles will not 
necessarily reduce congestion; however, 
they will reduce pollution in congested areas 
and should result in fewer air quality issues.

Page 625



ID Representor Comments Council Response

vehicles (although it should be noted that while there are significant 
environmental benefits to electric vehicles, the method by which a vehicle 
is powered does not reduce congestion).
The Topic Paper presents three general policy options in regard to 
sustainable design and construction, which are summarised as:
1. Require specific sustainable design and construction features or 
measures to be incorporated into new developments.
2. Do not require any specific features or measures through policy.
3. Require new development to contribute financially to a Community 
Energy Fund.

52 The Environment: I agree with the issues. Yes we should protect nature 
sites, and develop wind and solar power. Perhaps this would be more 
welcome if it were local council owned and generating power for local 
people, a community project, reducing our costs.

Comments noted. The Council intends to 
undertake a Renewable Energy Study which 
will identify possible areas for renewable 
energy.

62 No comments are provided in respect of the Environmental Policy Options 
Paper.

Noted

64 No comment. Noted

69 Encouraging all developments to minimise the emissions produced in their 
construction and use, also by associated transport movements.  Measures 
that remove nitrogenous emissions as well as carbon emissions

Comments acknowledged.

72 encourage people to cultivate gardens to create habitat. incentivize 
developments that encourage pollinators such as apiary.

Comments noted.

73 No comments. Noted

77 to encourage domestic rainwater etc. Comments noted.

78 To improve air quality around factories or to keep pollution to a minimum 
especially water ways streams etc. Use rain water where possible 
domestically. 

Comments are noted and supported. Air 
quality and pollution are considered within 
the WLBC policy approach to sustaining the 
Boroughs' environment and tackling climate 
change.

82 Resist all attempts to Frack in West Lancashire Comments noted.  Whilst WLBC understands 
residents' concerns over fracking, this falls 
under the remit of Lancashire County 
Council.

83 Rural economy = a 1000% tax on any fracking and the money used to 
provide deep drilled ground source heating for glass houses in Banks/ 
Tarleton so we can grow tomatoes etc all year rather than importing from 
spain.  Solar farms with livestock/ grazing beneath should be permitted 
development.
Mixture of agriculture with good road links for distribution vehicles plus 
rural crafts wildlife areas tea shops walking and cycling routes.  
Maybe another 2 x canal marinas one near to Downholland Cross and one 
in Parbold  so boats can potter up and down between rufford - burscough - 
pinfold - downholland - parbold. -

Comments on the various matters noted.  
Whilst WLBC understands residents' 
concerns over fracking, this falls under the 
remit of Lancashire County Council.
As a general principle, locally grown food 
(without high winter heating requirements) 
is more sustainable than foreign imports.  
The tourist features mentioned are noted.

92 Lastly there is a very urgent need to address concerns over air quality. 
There is now clear evidence that NO2 emissions have negative health 
effects, including respiratory symptoms, asthma prevalence and incidence, 
cancer incidence, adverse birth outcomes and mortality. In the Liverpool 
City Region Devolution Deal there is a commitment to explore a Clean Air 
Zone in the Liverpool City Region. This will require a bold package of 
measures including Clean Air Zones and electrification / decarbonisation of 
transport across all modes.
In December 2015 Defra published a national air quality plan, “Improving 
air quality in the UK: Tackling nitrogen dioxide in our towns and cities”, 
intended to meet legally binding EU air quality targets. The core of the plan 
was the introduction of Clean Air Zones in five cities by 2020: Birmingham, 
Leeds, Nottingham, Derby and Southampton. In November 2016, in a case 

Comments on air quality are noted and 
agreed; if a Clean Air Zone is established 
locally, WLBC will note / comply as 
appropriate. Air quality and pollution is 
considered within the WLBC policy approach 
to sustaining the Borough's environment 
and tackling climate change.

Page 626



ID Representor Comments Council Response

brought by NGO ClientEarth, the High Court of Justice quashed Defra’s 
plan, as it fails to comply with the required EU legislation. Among other 
issues, the court ruled that the plan is based on over-optimistic air quality 
modelling which uses data from laboratory tests of diesel vehicles, rather 
than empirically observed emissions data. Following the ruling, Defra has 
been ordered to produce a new final air quality plan by July 2017. This was 
reiterated by a ruling at the High Court this week. The High Court ruling has 
important implications for the Liverpool City Region. Based on Defra’s 
original air quality modelling assumptions, the Liverpool City Region would 
not be in exceedance of EU air quality targets, and would therefore not be 
legally required to introduce a Clean Air Zone. With the less optimistic 
assumptions Defra has now been ordered to use, this may well change. This 
will be important to keep an eye on and amend and strengthen the policy 
position in West Lancashire and the Liverpool City Region if required to 
tackle the increasingly urgent air quality challenge.

96 AIUH make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects. Noted.

99 No comment. Noted.

104 Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening - Natural England has 
reviewed the initial screening of the West Lancashire Local Plan Issues and 
Options in relation to European designated sites and agrees at this early 
stage of the Plan, that the spatial options are insufficiently developed to 
accurately predict the potential effects upon those sites.
Once additional work on the HRA Screening has been carried out, any sites 
where likely significant effects (LSE) cannot be ruled out, will require 
Appropriate Assessment to determine whether there would be an adverse 
effect on the integrity of the European designated sites. Where there are 
adverse effects, mitigation will be required. The level of assessment in the 
HRA needs to be sufficient to determine the scale of impacts and an 
appropriate scale of mitigation. The scope of the mitigation needs to be 
presented in the Plan along with an identified mechanism to deliver it. We 
would encourage you to consider the need for strategic mitigation as 
appropriate. Strategic mitigation is a positive response to a regularly 
occurring issue whereby a solution is applied through relevant plans or 
strategies, resulting in better outcomes than would occur through a case by 
case approach. This may include, for example, establishing areas that are 
managed specifically for displaced birds, or activities that reduce 
recreational disturbance.
Natural England agrees that the potential impacts identified below will 
need to be considered and assessed throughout the review process:

overwintering birds for foraging);

activity;

European sites;

stage.
Where there are impacts on European sites, the HRA should provide a clear 
methodology and evidence that all alternative sites for the allocations, 
including energy related ones, have been explored. There may also be 
opportunities for cross-boundary approaches with neighbouring 
authorities. Natural England is keen to stress at this time that there needs 
to be a consistent approach between this Local Plan review and associated 
HRA. The likely issues are clearly highlighted above but this list may not be 
exhaustive.
Natural England notes that the consultants at Arcadis have recently worked 
on HRA’s for several neighbouring Local Planning Authorities including 

Comments on initial HRA screening noted.
At the Preferred Options stage, where 
specific sites are proposed for development, 
a more 'definitive' HRA will be carried out 
that will comply with the various 
requirement set out in the representation 
from Natural England.  The Council will fulfil 
its legal requirements in respect of the 
results of the HRA, should e.g. Appropriate 
Assessment / mitigation be required.
Comments on 'strategic mitigation' noted.

Page 627



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Lancaster, Fylde and Wyre, which have similar issues. Following extensive 
engagement with Natural England, Arcadis have now developed a much 
clearer understanding of the evidence and assessment required, and would 
therefore be expected to be able to apply their knowledge and experience 
to this Plan in a similar way.

Page 628



Question 27: Which option(s) for the approach towards affordable 
housing policy do you think is (are) most appropriate for West 
Lancashire? Why?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Option 7 you must be flexible when building homes but maybe affordable 
housing should be shelved as it hasn't had the desired affect

Noted; it is agreed flexibility is useful.  It is 
not considered that affordable housing 
should be shelved as there is a Borough-
wide need for it, plus national policy 
requires provision of affordable housing.

2 Option 6 all area's  in west Lancashire should be open to so called 
affordable homes

Comments noted

9 Option 1. I do not believe it  is tax payers or private companys  
responsibility to subsidise those who want what they cannot afford. 

Comments noted.  Non-provision of 
affordable housing will not address the 
current housing crisis.

14 option 2, and let the market dictate in general Comments noted

18 no comment -

20 Option 3: Carry on with a broadly similar policy to policy RS2 of the current 
Local Plan
Option 5: Allocate specific sites for 100% affordable housing schemes 
- These options seem  the most favourable. However they will only work if 
they are properly implemented adhered to and monitored. We are aware 
of various recent developments where no affordable housing has been 
provided.

Comments noted.  Under national policy, 
viability has to be taken into account when 
determining the amount of affordable 
housing for individual schemes.

23 Option 1. Affordable housing should not be a priority in this development Noted.  The Council's evidence base and 
other material indicate that affordable 
housing is an issue that needs to be 
addressed.

24 I would go for the option which would provide much more affordable 
housing and also housing for the elderly and infirm.  Recent building 
projects have a lot of new housing but they have not provided a lot of 
smaller starter homes or homes for the elderly single/couples.  I think these 
sort of homes are essential.  It would provide first step on the ladder 
houses  for first time buyers.  It would enable the elderly to move from 
large, unmanageable premises into smaller homes.  With the latter, it will 
require the building or perhaps bungalows or sheltered accommodation 
which seems to be in short supply at the moment.  Option 7.

Comments noted; there is a need for 
affordable housing across the Borough, and 
it is agreed tehre is a need for smaller 
properties to enable downsizing, and 
housing for the elderly.

26 There is no one size fits all, but I would steer away from creating 'sink' 
estates.

Comments noted; in general, planners aim 
to 'pepperpot' affordable housing through 
developments rather than locate it all in the 
same place.

28 Option 8 as the current definition of affordable housing is not fit for 
purpose. There needs to be a policy for socially rented housing as the 
private rents are often unaffordable.

Comments noted.  The current definition of 
affordable housing comes from national 
policy; within this definition there is scope 
for variation, from the most affordable 
social rented tenure, through to discounted 
market properties.  A balance nees to be 
struck between a smaller number of more 
affordable properties and a larger number 
of less affordable properties.

30 The two separate markets, housing for purchase and housing for rent Comments noted; it is agreed that housing Page 629



ID Representor Comments Council Response

should have separate policies.  so Option 4 is my preferred choice along 
with Option 8 for the problem of affordability differs according to income 
group.  Skelmersdale does not need more affordable houses for first time 
buyers  but more larger new dwellings for second and third time buyers to 
move up market and to attract ec xecutives and managers to the town.  
There is a need for single person flats to rent.

for purchase and housing for rent are 
different in characteristic, and that 
affordable housing needs vary by area / 
income group.  Comments on housing need 
in Skelmersdale acknowledged; it is agreed 
that a mix of housing types and sizes is 
needed.

31 Option 4 also consider creation of small Council estates with right to buy 
after 10 years.

Comments noted.

32 Option four adding more detail seems sensible with changing demographics 
come changing demands. - Option eight the Council needs more flexibility 
in its ability to define affordable housing,  different areas in the borough 
have very different needs. - Option three carrying on with similar policy is 
not viable,  Policy RS2 seems to be easy for developers to avoid as they 
merely have to cite economic Viability, and councils seem to have to give in 
to them.

Comments on variation of affordable 
housing needs according to demographics 
and location acknowledged.  Councils are 
required by national policy to take viability 
into account in individual developments.

35 It is accepted that the ‘do nothing’ option of the delivery of affordable is 
not appropriate and will not deliver the number of affordable homes 
required.  It is widely recognised that affordable homes are often delivered 
as a result of residential schemes for predominantly market housing and 
this mechanism of delivery will need to be continued. Therefore, it is 
necessary to identify how such schemes can assist in the delivery of 
affordable homes in the Borough.
As acknowledged by WLBC, the approach proposed under option 2 is well 
established and supported across the country and when enforced 
effectively can deliver the required number of affordable units.
Option 3, which is effectively a more detailed version of Option 2 is also 
generally supported and will see the delivery of affordable homes. 
However, both sub-options within Option 3 will need to include an element 
of flexibility to ensure that developments are considered on a case-by-case 
basis and the viability of the scheme is carefully considered. Furthermore, 
when applying a ‘percentage approach’ dependent on the geography or 
size of a development, it will be important for the policy to be supported by 
a robust and sound evidence base to ensure the approach is appropriate 
across the Borough.
Flexibility will also be necessary if Option 4 is progressed, as the details will 
differ geographically and be dependent on the type of development coming 
forward. This policy is considered, therefore, more difficult to impose and 
could detrimentally impact upon the delivery of schemes.
WLBC themselves acknowledge the risks associated with the delivery of 
Option 5 - we agree with this cause for concern and consider similar in 
relation to Option 6. There is a risk that reliance on such sites could remove 
the need for the delivery of affordable units elsewhere, and if these 100% 
sites or ‘permissive’ do not come forward this will result in a shortfall in the 
number of affordable homes being delivered.
Option 7 is supported, such an approach, often implemented elsewhere, 
will ensure that affordable homes can be delivered within the most 
appropriate locations where they are needed to support the population. 
This flexibility is supported.
The flexibility in the definition of affordable, as suggested under Option 8, 
is partially supported in that it will ensure the delivery of a wide range of 
homes to meet the needs of the population and although not officially 
‘affordable’ such homes may meet the needs of some, effectively 
addressing housing requirements and reducing the need for affordable 
homes. However, the Plan must be compliant with the National Planning 
Policy Framework, and as such some caution must be applied to this 
approach if implemented to ensure the plan is in accordance with national 
planning policies and guidance.

Comments on the different policy 
approaches noted, including the support / 
partial support for options 2,3,7,8, the need 
for flexibility, and the need for a robust 
evidence base were option 4 to be 
pursued.  The need for compliance with 
national policy is acknowledged.

39 5.Allocate specific sites for 100% affordable housing schemes would target 
affordable housing to meet community needs.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that the 
allocation of specific sites for affordable Page 630



ID Representor Comments Council Response

6.Include permissive policies for affordable housing.  Allowing affordable 
housing.
Responses A&B:
Comment : Options 5 & 6 favour the provision of small clusters of housing 
in rural settlements such as Halsall which meet the needs of the 
community.  Affordable housing enables local communities to remain intact 
where otherwise young families need to move away from desirable rural 
locations aimed at executive style housing market.

housing, and 'exception site'-type policies 
would be a means to facilitate affordable 
housing for local needs in villages / parishes 
such as Halsall.

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted

45 Housing developments that encourage a good 'work-life balance' and 
sustainable communities should be supported.
A variety of housing is needed with small starter homes and larger homes 
(to encourage working from home) with community facilities and small 
offices close by.
Small offices (designed to look similar to residential homes) mixed with 
houses that blend in with the housing (not a giant office block or industrial 
units) are helpful for supporting small businesses and a thriving local 
economy. This type of development enables people to walk to work.
It is vital to have community facilities within close walking distance of 
homes.
A garden village development would benefit West Lancashire.
Opportunities for self-build developments are essential.
A strict greenbelt policy is supported, except there should be a minimal 
nibbling away to allow villages to become more sustainable, while 
preserving green space between settlements.
Housing density needs to allow space for planting small trees and joined up 
pavements where people can easily walk between locations.

General comments on housing noted.  It is 
agreed that a mix of housing is required, 
and that, ideally, new residential 
development should be within easy reach of 
facilities by sustainable means of transport.  
Support for garden village noted.

46 Options 6,7 & 8 because the current approach is not delivering sufficient 
numbers of the right type and price range of housing in the borough.The 
'Test of Viability' undermines policy to such a degree that it renders the 
current approach obsolete. A new approach is needed to tackle the chronic 
imbalance in the housing market. A more creative aproach is also needed 
to make an important contribution towards the regeneration of 
Skelmersdale.

Comments noted, including support for 
options 6,7, and 8.  The requirement to 
have regard to viability comes from national 
policy.  The need to regenerate 
Skelmersdale is acknowledged.

47 I would like to see more flats and small houses in Skelmersdale, all over the 
place. More housing that people in Skem can afford. I like how a lot of the 
estates are low rise high density developments.

Comments noted

48 Option 4 gives greater control and flexibility over the quality and suitability 
of the housing stock. Option 8 gives greater flexibility over the definition of 
affordable housings so the Council do not have to follow the NPPF national 
definition if it is deemed inappropriate.

Comments on options 4 and 8 noted.  The 
Local Plan must be in conformity with the 
NPPF; this is one of the tests of soundness 
against which the plan will be judged.

52 People Housing and Services: Generally agree with suggestions. Housing 
costs seem a major issue for many – undermining standards of living. A mix 
of cheap rented and for sale housing – enough to keep prices down. Public 
spaces should be preserved – parks, pool, library, public streets. Facilitate 
Edgehill building halls of residence on site.

Comments and general agreement noted.  It 
is agreed that housing costs are a major 
issue, that cheaper houses are needed, that 
public spaces / facilities should be retained.  
Comments on Edge Hill University noted.

57 The LPAs adoption of CIL appears to be severely affecting the viability of 
affordable housing on market-led schemes.  It is unclear if the CIL monies 
are delivering any community assets which are sufficiently beneficial to 
outweigh the lack of affordable housing.

Whilst the CIL Viability Appraisal concluded 
that there was 'headroom' for CIL, taking 
into account the affordable housing 
requirement, it is accepted that CIL could 
affect viability in some cases, although 
there are other factors also affecting 
viability.
CIL money will be spent on a variety of 
community assets; projects are chosen 
following consultation with West Lancashire 
residents for each round of spending.

Page 631



ID Representor Comments Council Response

58 The NPPF requires the needs of both market and affordable housing to be 
delivered across the Council area (paragraph 47). The HBF would therefore 
expect the Council to consider a wide range of initiatives to ensure that the 
affordable housing needs of the area will be met in full over the plan 
period. It is therefore considered that a range of the options identified 
should be utilised.
The main delivery mechanism for affordable housing is likely to be via 
market housing schemes. The delivery of affordable housing via this route 
is, however, highly dependent upon economic viability impact on the 
scheme. The NPPF (paragraph 174) is clear that the Council can only require 
affordable housing contributions, from market schemes, as justified by 
evidence of need and viability. Both options 2 and 3 provide such a 
mechanism. The HBF has no particular preference in relation to delivery by 
options 2 or 3, providing the choice is based upon robust evidence of need 
and viability across the district or geographical area. The possibility of a 
zero requirement within Skelmersdale should not be discounted if this is 
required to promote the regeneration and investment required within the 
town.
The HBF would support the Council in providing other sources of affordable 
housing delivery as described in options 5 and 6. In relation to option 5, 
100% affordable housing, it is important that sites are only allocated if 
there is a realistic chance they will be delivered.
The HBF would also support the inclusion of flexibility within any policy, as 
described by option 7. Such an approach is common in many successful 
affordable housing policies and enables sites to be brought forward which 
contribute to the affordable housing requirement yet retain viability. This 
will enable sites which otherwise may not come forward, or would not 
provide affordable housing, to assist in meeting the affordable housing 
needs of the area.
We also refer the Council to our response to the housing OAN, paragraph 
13, above. If, as is likely, the evidence does not suggest that the full 
affordable housing needs can be met with the chosen housing requirement 
then the Council should consider if a higher overall requirement would 
assist in delivering the affordable housing needs of the area (PPG ID 2a-
029).
In relation to option 8 the HBF would support such flexibility by enabling 
the delivery of products which may not fulfil the NPPF affordable housing 
definition but would provide a form of lower cost housing. It should also be 
noted that the Government intends to amend the definition of affordable 
housing as set out within the NPPF. This is set out within the recently 
published housing white paper.

Comments noted:
WLBC is aware of the NPPF objective to 
meet market and affordable housing needs, 
and for PPG advice that consideration be 
given to a higher housing target if 
affordable housing needs cannot be met in 
full.
Support for options 2 and 3, and for 5, 6 
and 8 noted.  The caveat that sites should 
only be allocated for 100% affordable 
housing developments if they have a good 
prospect of being delivered is noted.  
Comments on the need for flexibility noted.

61 Options2,3& 4 because specific policies setting out the requirements for 
affordable housing are needed because developers do not generally want 
to build affordable homes because they generally generate less profit for 
the developer than market priced homes. These policies can guide the 
appropriate mix of housing delivered.
A further difficulty is that the term ' affordable homes' is subjective and 
developers can use viability as an argument for not building this category of 
home. 
The important consideration should be to ensure the correct mix of 
housing is provided on each site . This would depend on the needs of the 
area where the site is located and the demographics. Housing for an ageing 
population is also important.

Comments noted, in particular support for 
options 2,3, and 4. The definition of 
'affordable housing' is set by national 
policy, which also requires the Council to 
take account of viability.  It is agreed that 
the mix of housing is important and that 
this will vary according to area and 
demographics.  The need for old people's 
housing is acknowledged.

64 Our Clients are supportive of the provision of affordable housing however, 
the most appropriate method is to undertake an approach which includes 
the “usual” approach to affordable housing, and for this to be based on a 
broadly similar approach to the existing relating to geographical variation. 
In applying this method, consideration does however need to be given to 
the Government Ministerial Statement which confirms that on schemes of 
less than 10 dwellings, no affordable housing provision is required, 
therefore a “blanket” percentage requirement approach would not be 

Comments noted, including support for a 
hybrid of options 2,3 and 4.  The Council is 
already applying the national threshold of 
10+ units, and is aware of the new 
definition of affordable housing as first set 
out in the Housing White Paper.  Support 
for off-site affordable housing and for rural 
exception sites noted.Page 632



ID Representor Comments Council Response

feasible.
Consideration should also be given to off-site provision in terms of a 
financial contribution, when tested through a Viability Appraisal. The ideal 
mixture of approaches would be a hybrid of Options 2, 3 and 4.
It is noted that Options 5 and 6 refer to affordable housing schemes. Rural 
Exception Schemes are supported through Paragraphs 54 and 89 of the 
NPPF and the emerging Local Plan should support Rural Exception Sites in 
principle.
Consideration should also be given to the Housing White Paper which seeks 
to amend the definition of affordable housing, as set out in the NPPF, to 
include lower cost housing

66 It is noted that in recent years the delivery of affordable housing in West 
Lancashire has been below the identified annual need. It is important that 
any strategy relating to the delivery of affordable housing must allow for a 
degree of flexibility going forward.
The provision of affordable housing is a key priority that the Council should 
seek to achieve through the Local Plan Review. If the evidence base 
suggests that a certain level of affordable housing is required and the 
Council is not seeking to address this through the Local Plan Review, then 
the affordability gap will only continue to worsen. The Council should note 
guidance set out in the PPG, which states that “the total affordable housing 
need should then be considered in the context of its likely delivery as a 
proportion of mixed market and affordable housing developments, given 
the probable percentage of affordable housing to be delivered by market 
housing led developments. An increase in the total housing figures included 
in the local plan should be considered where it could help deliver the 
required number of affordable homes.”
It is considered therefore that as a minimum the housing target should be 
considered to reflect the upper end of the range considered in the strategic 
options paper to help assist in delivering affordable housing needs.

Comments noted, including the need for 
flexibility going forward.  It is agreed that 
affordable housing is a priority for the Local 
Plan Review.
The Council is aware of the advice in PPG 
regarding affordable housing delivery and 
its relation to overall housing targets.

67 See attached statement - need for balanced housing delivery. Comments noted, including the 
recommendation that higher levels of 
growth be considered in order to deliver 
more affordable housing.

69 Option2 (enforced contractually with a tight definition) plus possibly option 
5 so that the Council and not greedy developers are in control

Comments noted, including support for 
option 2 and possibly option 5.  The Council 
is required to conform to national policy, 
which includes a requirement to have 
regard to viability.

70 Irrespective of the plan period which is chosen (see our comments in 
Section 2 above), any affordable housing policy within the Local Plan 
Review will need to endure over a long period of time. It is therefore 
imperative that sufficient flexibility is provided so as to prevent the - policy 
becoming out-of-date and not fit for purpose.
We note the options presented within the paper regarding how affordable 
housing should be addressed within the Local Plan, however it is likely that 
elements of several of these options should be brought forward in order to 
seek to address the affordable housing need within the Borough.
As such we would advocate: 
• Providing a percentage affordable housing contribution for schemes of 11 
dwellings or more (in line with the NPPG) and base the percentage on 
robust and up to date viability data. We would expect this to form part of 
the Council’s evidence base.
• Allowing discussions to be undertaken at the development management 
stage if there are viability or other reasons why the affordable housing 
percentage cannot be met. This would allow the affordable housing 
contribution to be adjusted on a case by case basis.
• Providing a broad definition of affordable housing to include starter 
homes and discount market value homes. This will ensure all areas of the 

Comments noted; it is agreed that 'future-
proofed' policies are advisable, and that 
policy needs to be based upon a robust 
evidence base.  The Council is aware of the 
requirement to take into account viability 
on a case-by-case basis.  Comments on 
tenure splits are noted.

Page 633



ID Representor Comments Council Response

housing market are catered for and will provide a degree of ‘future 
proofing’ for the policy to take into account any future changes in the 
Borough.
• Resisting the temptation to prescribe rigid tenure splits within the 
affordable housing policy given that the requirements for specific tenures 
are likely to evolve  over time and can be influenced by other government 
initiatives (such as the current Help to Buy scheme).
Whilst we note the Council’s concerns regarding whether a flexible policy 
will deliver the required affordable housing units, as outlined in Section 2, a 
higher overall housing requirement will help ensure delivery of affordable 
housing (as advocated in the NPPG).

72 Encourage mixed developments of public and private dwellings particularly 
smaller development of say up to 10 homes. The old prejudices are 
breaking down. use allocation of housing land to support the approach.

Comments noted

73 No comments. -

74 The Plan should widen the scope for providing 100% affordable housing 
schemes in all locations in the Borough, ensuring that as much of the 
identified need can be met as possible.

Comments noted; 100% affordable housing 
schemes are already permissible in all parts 
of the Borough (subject to compliance with, 
e.g. policy on nature conservation sites, and 
with smaller developments in the 
countryside).

75 The provision of a decent home is a primary wider determinant of health 
and wellbeing. It is important that an affordable housing policy is included 
in the Preferred Options Paper and that the policy is based on delivering 
appropriate accommodation to meet the needs of all. Housing affordability 
should not be the only criteria with regard to provision but should be 
considered alongside other criteria including quality, choice, type, tenure, 
size.
It is noted that in the Sustainability Appraisal, Option 4 (detailed affordable 
housing policy) and Option 8 (Council flexibility in how affordable housing 
is defined) perform well relative to the current local plan policy baseline. 
Consideration should also be given to on/off site provision with particular 
regard to using contributions to improve the existing housing stock within 
the Borough, including in Skelmersdale.

Comments noted; it is acknowledged that 
health and wellbeing is an important 
consideration in preparing the Plan.  
Performance of options 4 and 8 in the 
Sustainability Appraisal is noted, as is LCC's 
support for off-site provision of affordable 
housing.

77 Wherever new developments are built, encourage to have affordable new 
housing along with any other planned homes.

Comments noted - this is effectively options 
2/3.

78 Wherever new developments to have a percentage of affordable housing 
integrated to encourage local only young people with restriction on resale. 

Comments noted - this is effectively options 
2/3.  Affordable housing is offered first to 
local people on the waiting list.  Affordable 
housing is to be affordable in perpetuity; 
this often imposes restrictions on resale.

79 The Council identifies housing affordability as a longstanding issue and 
highlights that its ability to deliver affordable housing has been significantly 
curtailed for various reasons. A number of options are set out taking 
account of recent constraints. Responses are set out below, but in principle 
Story Homes supports the need for the delivery of affordable housing, 
subject to viability considerations and agrees that a combination of the 
options set out below may be most appropriate.

Story Homes agrees that this option is not suitable, as the absence of an 
affordable housing policy would provide no certainty or consistency for 
developers and more importantly, would be unlikely to help address the 
affordable needs which clearly exist in West Lancs.
This option is the traditional way of securing the delivery of affordable 
housing and is the standard approach followed by authorities nationally.  
Story supports this approach in principle with the caveat that viability must 

Extensive comments noted, including 
support for options 2 (paying attention to 
viability), 5 (provided sites can be 
delivered), 6 (subject to robust 
justification), 7 and 8 (provided the policy is 
not contrary to national policy).  The 
recommendation of a 0% requirement for 
Skelmersdale is noted.

Page 634



ID Representor Comments Council Response

always be carefully considered to ensure that the provision of affordable 
homes does not prevent development coming forward. It is considered that 
if there has been a downturn in the delivery of affordable in recent years in 
West Lancs, the Council should reassess its CIL contributions and the 
priority it places on the delivery of affordable relative to other obligations 
which may currently be given priority.
This option suggests that a broadly similar approach to Policy RS2 of the 
West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 could be followed which includes 
variations across the Borough. The geographical approach requires no 
affordable provision in Skelmersdale on account of several factors including 
the existing availability of cheaper properties, with an affordable 
requirement elsewhere in the Borough where the market is stronger. The 
second variation is numerical, essentially requiring a higher percentage of 
affordable as the size of the development increases.  As detailed previously 
in these representations Story does not consider the housing market in 
Skelmersdale to be strong and this, combined with the good availability of 
existing affordable properties supports the principle of a distinct zero 
affordable requirement here.  The ‘economies of scale’ approach of 
variations based largely on the size of the development is not used by the 
majority of authorities’ nation-wide and is considered to be an additional 
layer of complexity. Sites should be considered on their merits and where 
the affordable requirement cannot be met, a viability report should be 
required to justify a reduction. Such is the variation in abnormals between 
sites their size is not often a key determining factor in their ability to 
accommodate affordable housing. Story would therefore suggest that the 
Council should retain the exception policy for Skelmersdale, but consider 
dropping the numerical aspect of the RS2 policy.
Story Homes considers that affordable housing policies in local plans should 
not be so specific as to seek to fix tenure and size requirements, as needs 
will change during the plan period and as such too much detail can make 
policies quickly out of date. Supplementary Planning Documents are a more 
suitable vehicle to provide additional guidance and can typically be  
amended to reflect market changes and differing needs in shorter 
timeframes. Story Homes does not therefore support the inclusion of 
additional detail in the Local Plan policy.
Delivery of 100% affordable schemes have historically proven to be 
challenging, as without values achieved by open market housing the values 
may not exist to allow the sites to come forward. Equally funding streams 
for RSLs are notoriously changeable. Story Homes, whilst not completely 
opposed to the principle of such allocations, does question the logic in such 
an approach because of the aforementioned concerns. 
This option would introduce a policy which makes special allowance for the 
delivery of affordable homes in areas where they would not normally be 
permitted, such as Green Belt or beyond settlement boundaries. Story 
Homes believes that the need for such exceptional cases would need to be 
very clear, but supports the policy in principle as it would have the 
potential; to deliver a greater quantum of much needed affordable housing.
Story Homes supports policies which allow for greater flexibility which 
should allow for a greater quantum of affordable homes to be delivered. 
The suggested option of allowing for off-site contributions in lieu of on-site 
provision is a widely used policy nationally and it is considered that the 
inclusion of a policy which allowed for this approach in suitable 
circumstances should be included.
The Council suggests that greater flexibility could be applied which goes 
beyond the definition of affordable housing as set out in the NPPF. Whilst 
Story considers this Option to be a positive one, the Council must be careful 
that any wider definition of affordable housing does not render the plan at 
odds with the NPPF and therefore at risk of being unsound. That said, if the 
policy can be fully justified then this would be a policy which should help to 
achieve greater affordable delivery. Story Homes would welcome further 
discussions with the Council on this option as the Plan progresses.

Page 635



ID Representor Comments Council Response

81 Where sites are not viable as a result of the specified affordable housing 
provision, provided that this can be demonstrated, then only what element 
of affordable housing that can be delivered should be included within the 
s.106 agreement.

Comment noted; this is standard general 
practice.

82 Option 5: Allocate specific sites for 100% affordable housing schemes
Option 6: Allow affordable housing in locations where general market 
housing would not be permitted.
A major problem is building/property development companies hoarding 
land on which they are not building in order to artificially inflate house 
prices and maximise the profits on the houses that they do build. The large 
builders monopoly on available building land also artificially inflates the 
value of the land they hold.  Access to land and home building needs to be 
democratised and power shifted away from large companies and their 
negative practices.

Support for options 5 and 6 noted.
Issues associated with land values and build 
rates are noted; these issues are not specific 
to West Lancashire are need to be 
addressed on a nationwide basis.

84 As identified, affordability is a key issue in West Lancashire and it is telling 
that although the current Local Policy is set to a 35% requirement for 
affordable housing in new development (over the size threshold), only 20% 
of new development delivered actually was affordable.
Persimmon Homes support greater flexibility in the delivery of affordable 
housing, both geographically, in relation to tenure, delivery mechanisms 
and site viability. Therefore a combination of the options is considered the 
most appropriate to ensure effective and timely delivery of new affordable 
houses in to the market in the most appropriate and sustainable locations.
Requiring 100% affordable schemes will significantly narrow down the 
delivery bodies willing to take on such sites as well as the viability. 
Therefore this option is discouraged.

Comments noted, including the 
recommendation that a combination of the 
options be pursued.  The 35% target has not 
been met as a consequence of taking 
viability into account on a case-by-case 
basis.  Support for flexibility is noted, as is 
the lack of support for option 5.

85 This should take account of the ageing population and persuade developers 
to build more bungalows and encourage a range of developments that 
allow realistic downsizing to happen. Affordable housing should be 
encouraged but without being prescriptive to a certain amount as it should 
reflect the differing needs of an area and the amount of infrastructure 
required to be costed into any development.

Comments noted, including the need to 
avoid policies being over-prescriptive, but 
to encourage a range of housing according 
to the needs of different areas.

87 The term “affordable housing” has a specific meaning in planning terms 
and in general this is not understood by lay people.  Because these are 
words in everyday use, the general population would not expect a specific 
meaning to be attached to the phrase.  To use it in consultation documents, 
without very clear explanation (not just in glossary) is misleading.
Creating and retaining housing that is within reach of first time buyers with 
local links, and available with secure tenancies, is extremely important.  
Providing housing suitable for people with special needs, who require 
specially designed homes is important.  Flexibility in the housing market is 
essential.  Up to date data on which to base requirements is key to 
determining need.
There must also be suitable housing for young couples and single people 
and appropriate housing for people with disabilities and learning difficulties 
who can live in the community, while it is  mention it needs to cover a wide 
range of potential residents needs and situations, however it is essential 
that this is documented and included in any proposals.
In the last few years the housing market has changed quite considerably as 
young people are earning less, temporary/short term employment, having 
difficulty in gaining mortgage and with graduates having large amounts of 
debt the last thing many young people are thinking about is buying an 
expensive house. Young people also see themselves in temporary situations 
in a number of different aspects of their lives yet may wish to live 
independently and therefore the market place needs to take account of 
this change. The number of houses for affordable housing or social housing 
must be of a higher volume than what currently is achieved to meet this 
changing need.

Comments acknowledged on the 
importance of affordable and other 
specialist housing, and the need for up-to-
date evidence.  Affordable housing can be 
defined in a glossary if necessary.
Comments on the affordable needs of 
younger people are acknowledged; it is 
agreed that there is a need for suitable 
means for such people to get on the 
housing ladder, recognising difficulties, e.g. 
with securing a mortgage.

Page 636



ID Representor Comments Council Response

95 4.11 DWH supports the delivery of new affordable homes and welcomes 
the various options which have been identified by WLBC. There is, however, 
no one-size-fits-all approach which will be suitable for every site or market 
area, or which is capable of meeting the Borough’s full affordable housing 
need. WLBC should therefore continue to explore the use of several varied 
approaches.
4.12 Notwithstanding, DWH acknowledges that the provision of market 
dwellings is likely to remain the principal means by which affordable homes 
are provided. In this regard, DWH highlights that:
• An affordable housing target in the Local Plan Review should not be 
established at a level which would comprise the viability of development 
and must for similar reasons incorporate viability. This is a key principle of 
the NPPF, which states that “…To ensure viability, the costs of any 
requirements likely to be applied to development, such as requirements for 
affordable housing…should, when taking account of the normal cost of 
development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land 
owner and willing developer to enable the development to be 
deliverable…” (paragraph 173). The 35% affordable housing target 
established by Policy RS2 of the current Local Plan has on occasion 
threatened the viable delivery of development. WLBC must therefore 
assemble a robust evidence base in respect of viability for the Local Plan 
Review.
• Development of market housing in areas of high demand could contribute 
towards the delivery of infrastructure or affordable homes in regeneration 
areas, via off-site financial contributions (see above). DWH would welcome 
a discussion with WLBC regarding the feasibility of such an approach, 
mindful of the legal and financial mechanisms available.

Comments noted; it is agreed a "one size 
fits all" solution is unlikely.
The Local Plan, including affordable housing 
targets, will be viability-assessed.
Provision for off-site housing can be 
considered as policy options are drawn up.

96 The critical objective must be to deliver more affordable housing to fulfil 
unmet needs. This should be seen in the context of delivering genuinely 
affordable housing, and also to deliver more market housing of appropriate 
formats to address the supply‐side issues and therefore improve 
affordability ratios towards more sustainable  levels. Clearly there could be 
myriad approaches to achieving those critical objectives.
We conclude that the Council should give itself the opportunity to deliver 
housing in the early part of the Plan period in areas where market signals 
are positive. Those areas will also provide a stronger opportunity to deliver 
affordable housing as part of an appropriate development mix and mitigate 
the pressing supply‐side issues facing West Lancashire.
It would also be appropriate to afford strong planning weight to 
development schemes which can deliver strong contribution to affordable 
housing requirements, including those that would deliver more affordable 
housing than would be required by a strict application of policy. This 
approach is not necessarily consistent with any of options 1‐4 so we would 
suggest that those options should not be taken forward.
We conclude that within options 5‐8 there is an implied recognition that 
there is a need to deliver more affordable housing and indeed more market 
housing which is within the reach of the local housing market, and that 
weight can be afforded to the realization of this key planning objective.
We think it more important to recognize the weight that should be 
afforded to the delivery of affordable housing, rather than expressly 
committing to one of the four preferable options (5 to 8) which may 
pre‐suppose and  prejudice the delivery of affordable housing which would 
be a regrettable unintended consequence.

Comments noted on preference between 
options.  It is agreed that schemes that 
provide the full amount of affordable 
housing required by policy are generally 
welcome (subject to other factors), and that 
if the amount is exceeded, this should count 
as a positive .

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects -

99 Our Clients are supportive of the provision of affordable housing however, 
the most appropriate method is to undertake an approach which includes 
the “usual” approach to affordable housing, and for this to be based on a 
broadly similar approach to the existing relating to geographical variation. 
In applying this method, consideration does however need to be given to 
the Government Ministerial Statement which confirms that on schemes of 

Comments noted.  The Council already uses 
the national threshold for affordable 
housing and will continue to have regard to 
this.  A 'blanket' approach (over the 
threshold) is now advocated in the draft 
new NPPF.  Consideration can be given in Page 637



ID Representor Comments Council Response

less than 10 dwellings, no affordable housing provision is required, 
therefore a “blanket” percentage requirement approach would not be 
feasible. Consideration should also be given to off-site provision in terms of 
a financial contribution, when tested through a Viability Appraisal. The 
ideal mixture of approaches would be a hybrid of Options 2, 3 and 4. It is 
noted that Options 5 and 6 refer to affordable housing schemes. Rural 
Exception Schemes are supported through Paragraphs 54 and 89 of the 
NPPF and the emerging Local Plan should support Rural Exception Sites in 
principle. Consideration should also be given to the Housing White Paper 
which seeks to amend the definition of affordable housing, as set out in the 
NPPF, to include lower cost housing.

the emerging policies to off-site affordable 
housing, and to rural exception sites.  The 
Council will have regard to the revised 
definition of affordable housing in the draft 
NPPF / Housing White Paper.

107 The provision of high quality affordable housing should be viewed as the 
social responsibility of national and local governments who must take the 
lead in identifying exactly what is required, where and when. They should 
then drive the construction/provision of such accommodation to meet 
those needs.
As long as the 'problem' is left to profit motivated developers to resolve it 
will not happen (as the current shortage evidences).  More radical solutions 
are needed which may involve local authority actually financing 
constructing and managing this but partnership s at different stages could 
also be an option.

Comments noted.  Option 2 refers to the 
possibility of the Council building housing 
itself.

Page 638



Question 28: Do you have an interest in building your own home? 
Which of the above policy options for self and custom build housing do 
you think would help you to built your own home? Why?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Option 3 yes we have land half an acre in **********  next to my wife's 
parents house.my wife was born in ***********  yet can't afford to buy a 
home there.we put in for planning some years ago.but were refused due to 
the national planning framework there were no objections from local 
people

Noted

2 Option 3 find the need and act upon it in all of west Lancashire Comments noted

9 Option 1  how is it the councils problem? Noted.  The local authority is required by 
law to gauge demand for self and custom 
build, and to provide plots where there is 
evidence of demand.

14 no -

18 no comment -

20 Some interest expressed in building own home.
Option 3: Identify and allocate small sites for SCB dwellings in line with 
demand.  
- To bring Local Policy in line with neighbouring boroughs.

Comments noted

21 No -

23 Option 1. This should be down to the individual not a council policy Noted.  The local authority is required by 
law to gauge demand for self and custom 
build, and to provide plots where there is 
evidence of demand.

24 I do not have an interest in building my own home.  Option 1 Noted

26 Option 3   -  - Self build is wonderful! Noted

28 Option 3 Noted

30 I had an interest in self build when younger but could not obtain a plot of 
land.  I support Option 3 for those with the energy and youth!

Comments noted

31 Option 2 may bring some well needed diversity to otherwise 'cookie cutter' 
developments.

Comments noted

32 Whilst I have no interest in building my own home. I think option 2 is 
probably the best option as it will give some diversity to developments 
which can often be bland and samey.

Comments noted

35 The consideration by the Council of the need for self-build plots is 
supported, however it is necessary to recognise that only a small number of 
residents have registered as wanting such a plot. Therefore, it would not be 
appropriate for the Council to seek to specifically address this within 
emerging policy.
Instead flexibility should be included within the Plan to allow for the 
provision of such sites should demand for self-build plots increase and a 
greater need be recognised during the Plan period.

Noted.  The local authority is required by 
law to gauge demand for self and custom 
build, and to provide plots where there is 
evidence of demand. It is considered 
prudent to have a policy to cover self-build, 
even if numbers on the Register are 
currently low.  As suggested, this could be 
flexible, allowing for plots / sites to be 
provided should demand increase.

39 Response A: Option 3 Noted

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted

Page 639



ID Representor Comments Council Response

46 Option 3. although Option 2 could have some merit in terms of shared 
costs of infrastructure.
Option 3 could provide a meaningful contribution to housing numbers 
whilst enabling a greater number of people to obtain their own home.

Comments noted

47 Either option 2 or 3 sounds good to me. How about sites with more relaxed 
planning rules to that people could put up a yurt or whatever.

Comments noted.  Careful thought would 
need to be given to relaxation of planning 
rules, in order to ensure that housing 
provided does not detract from or have an 
unacceptable impact on the character and 
appearance of the local area.

48 Option 3 gives borough wide flexibility and overview for allocation of 
appropriate sites allowing for certainty of demand and be flexible enough 
to allow for windfall applications.

Comments noted

58 The HBF would not support a policy requirement or the setting aside of 
parts of allocations for SCB. Our reasoning is two-fold, firstly as noted by 
option 1, there are currently low indications of demand from the Council’s 
SCB Register. The justification for setting aside land, or requiring a 
percentage, would therefore be difficult. In addition such an approach 
could have potential implications for the viability and delivery of sites 
which the Council is reliant upon to deliver its housing needs.
The HBF would therefore support option 3, which provides a limited 
number of smaller sites specifically aimed at SCB. This approach could be 
supplemented by a permissive policy approach to future windfall SCB sites. 
The quantum of such allocations would need to be justified by the Council’s 
evidence. It is also recommended that if such sites fail to be brought 
forward policy mechanisms are put in place which enable these sites to be 
delivered by the market.

Comments noted, both with regard to 
Option 2 and deliverability, and with regard 
to Option 3 and flexibility.

61 Option 1 - there should not be a need to allocate specific sites for SCB 
housing, but rather the Council should be open to planning applications for 
this type of property on a case by case basis. 
By the nature of these type of projects they are likely to be for one, maybe 
2 dwellings per site and so should be judged according to location, the 
ideas for the site and whether the design is suitable for the properties in 
the immediate vicinity ( height, style, materials etc)

Comments noted.  It is agreed that 
proposals for self-build housing should 
meet design criteria, as is the case for other 
types of housing.

63 Encourage people to build their own houses, not houses built by big 
companies who extract wealth from the area.

Comments noted; this is one of the reasons 
for the promotion of self-build housing.

64 No comment. -

66 Should the WLLP include a policy in relation to self-build housing it is 
important that the development industry is able to understand the 
implications of any such policy requirement, to assist with the design of 
schemes and the consideration of financial viability.
Gladman recommend that any policy requirement in relation to self-build 
housing has an element of - flexibility built in to allow for negotiation over 
self-build plots on the basis of viability to ensure that site delivery is not 
delayed or prevented from coming forward. Any specific requirement to 
include selfbuild plots should be tested through the Council’s viability 
assessment of the Local Plan policies to ensure that the cumulative impacts 
of all proposed local standards and policy requirements do not put the 
implementation of the plan as a whole at risk.
Further to this, Gladman would urge the Council to ensure that any self-
build policy has added flexibility as there is no guarantee that these units 
will be delivered (such as the lack of interest from local community 
members) and there may be situations when they are difficult to deliver 
which may result in the non-delivery of otherwise sustainable land for 
housing. Therefore, Gladman recommend that any policy specific 
requirement needs to include a mechanism whereby if the self-build plots 
are not taken up within a given time period then these will revert back to 

Comments noted.  If a policy requirement 
(presumably to include a percentage of self-
build plots on general housing sites) were 
included in the Local Plan, it should be clear 
to developers what its implications will be.  
Any such policy would be viability tested as 
part of the Local Plan viability assessment.  
Consideration to flexibility can be given if 
such a policy were to be implemented.

Page 640



ID Representor Comments Council Response

market housing to be provided as part of the wider scheme. This would 
provide flexibility and help ensure that the required housing is delivered.

70 Whilst Central Government are encouraging local authorities to consider 
self and custom built housing when formulating Local Plans (through the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016), any policy put forward on this basis would 
still need to be based on robust and up to date evidence and pass the tests 
of soundness outlined in the NPPF.
The paper outlines that currently there are fewer than 20 people within 
West Lancashire who have registered an interest in a self or custom build 
house. On this basis, we believe currently there is insufficient evidence to 
have a policy within the Local Plan Review to compel developers to provide 
plots for self or custom built homes.
Instead the Commissioners would advocate a policy which can facilitate self 
or custom build plots as and when demand for them arises. This would 
permit such development but would not require specific allocations or 
portions/plots of specific allocations to be given over to self or custom 
build homes.

Comments noted; any Local Plan policy 
needs to pass the tests of soundness and be 
based on evidence. It is agreed that a policy 
approach that can respond to varying 
demand for SCB housing would be prudent.

72 I have a huge local demand for this particularly around Wrightington Bar 
but the clients land is brownfield land in green belt and currently restricted. 
this needs to change to meet the demand and growth.

Comments noted.

73 No comments. -

77 No interest personally. -

78 Non personally. Always encourage environmentally sustainable buildings. Comments noted.  Self and custom build 
homes offer good opportunities for 
sustainable design.

80 There is a need for accommodation for adults with learning disabilites, 
something more special than lifetime homes would provide.  Current 
provision tends to be limited to segretated settings where care and housing 
are provided together.  This does not fit with REACH standards and is well 
below good practice in social care.   I would like small sites to be allocated 
in key locations that are easy for staff to get to (keeps costs down if staff 
dont need to drive and disabled person does not need car at all times also 
affects number of parking places needed)  Parking crucial - LCC service 
manager reports that issues regarding parking are cause of complaint in 
supporting living tennancies.  This is real issue - figures do not show up on 
housing statistics because system of having access to a social worker who 
would make referral is not always available now.

Comments noted.  (First sentences 
generalised for Data Protection purposes.)
This is a specialist housing need; Local Plan 
policies should support applications for 
such housing in suitable locations.

82 Option 2: Set aside parts of larger allocated housing sites for SCB plots
Option 3: Identify and allocate small sites for SCB dwellings in line with 
demand
- These must be for Genuine SCB, not volume housebuilders giving options 
to buyers
- The contribution SCB can make to a vibrant local economy should not be 
underestimated.

Comments noted. At present, the national 
definition of SCB housing is wide, and 
includes properties built by volume 
housebuilders with specific elements 
chosen ('customised') by the purchasers.
It is agreed that provision of SCB housing 
can contribute to the local economy.

84 Persimmon Homes do not consider that there is requisite demand for Self 
Build Plots to justify setting aside portions of allocations for this purpose. 
The Council's own register indicates that levels of demand are low, and as 
such any specific allocations for self build should be warranted by the 
evidenced need. Flexibility is supported to enable self build delivery where 
demand exists rather than precluding market led development.

Comments noted.  Support for flexibility is 
noted.

87 Providing land for self and custom built housing may provide a route for 
special needs housing as well as for builders who wish to create something 
out of the ordinary.  During the lifetime of the present local plan, examples 
of bespoke housing have been few:  it is anticipated that this would raise 
the overall attractiveness of areas and provide opportunities to raise the 
bar on design.  Options 2 and 3 are acceptable, but Option 1 is unlikely to 
be successful as it has not been successful to date.

Comments noted; it is agreed that self and 
custom build housing can provide a route 
for special needs housing.  Comments on 
options noted.

Page 641



ID Representor Comments Council Response

90 I am writing on behalf of the Maharishi Golden Dome in Skelmersdale and 
would like to congratulate the Council for improvements in West 
Lancashire in recent years. The changes that have taken place during the 37 
years that I have lived in Skelmersdale have been very noticeable.
Our organisation and many of our members are very interested in a self-
build development for individual homes, purpose built visitor 
accommodation for many hundreds of people who visit the Dome from 
across the country and mainland Europe every year for meditation holidays 
and an additional educational facility for local residents who learn 
Transcendental Meditation.
We would be delighted if policies informing land use in West Lancashire 
enable our organisation to expand and contribute more to the local 
community.  In addition to benefitting the local economy, there are wider 
societal benefits created by large numbers of people practising 
Transcendental Meditation and its advanced programmes together in a 
group.  This is particularly the case when the group is of a certain size and is 
permanent. There is a large body of scientific research supporting this.  See: 
www.goldendome.org.uk/meditate/maharishi-effect 
The Maharishi Golden Dome offers a variety of educational programmes 
that are hugely beneficial for business, industry, health and the 
environment.  One programme known as Maharishi Vastu is about how to 
use land and orientate buildings to use sunlight in a way that creates good 
health, coherent thinking, peace of mind, creativity and longevity. We are 
interested in the Garden City concept and also using the principles of 
Maharishi Vastu.  This requires land that meets specific criteria. We are in 
the process of looking for suitable land within five minutes’ drive of the 
Dome.

Comments noted.  There is not considered 
to be a need for a bespoke policy / site 
allocation for the MGD in the Local Plan, 
but development associated with it could 
be proposed via planning applications on 
suitable policy-compliant sites within the 
built-up area.

96 AIUH makes no substantive comment on this matter, other than to say that 
if Government guidance is suggesting that such an approach is encouraged 
then it would seem entirely appropriate to follow that approach unless 
there was strong local evidence to the contrary.

Comments noted

97 St. Modwen makes no comment on this matter. -

99 No comment. -

Page 642



Question 29: Do you have any interest in living in a caravan / park 
home or house boat / canal barge? Which of the above policy options 
do you think would best ensure the right amount of pitches or berths 
are made available for caravans and house boats? Why?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Option 3 would be more flexible a lot of people are downsizing  And 
cashing in on there property value. a lot of caravan sites are lived on full 
time

Noted

2 Option 2 caravan sites are more popular now as people downsize Comments noted

9 Option 1 Noted

14 no -

18 no comment -

20 Option 2: Allocate new sites, or land on the edge of existing sites, for 
additional caravan-based accommodation or mooring berths.  
- Possible future release of equity in current houses.

Comments noted

21 No -

23 Option 2. Expanding existing sites is least bad option. Comments noted

24 I have no interest in living in a caravan, park home or house boat/barge.  I 
would opt for Option 1

Comments noted

26 Option 1 Noted

28 Option 1 Noted

30 I have no interest in now living in any of the alternative accommodations 
listed though I started converting a narrow boat for residential use when 
young but abandoned the idea because of the difficulty of finding a 
permanent residential mooring, among other factors.  You must consult 
with the Canals and River Trust to ascertain their current policy on licencing 
and permanent moorings. Permanent residential moorings need the 
facilities found in marinas.  So Option 3 is preferred for boats.  Traveller 
spaces should be provided within existing caravan parks 

Comments noted; it is accepted that any 
policy on residential moorings needs to be 
drawn up in consultation with the Canal and 
River Trust, and that facilities provided at 
marinas (e.g. pump out) are important for 
boat dwellers.
Comments on Traveller sites noted.

31 Allocated sites may suffer local resident opposition. Option 1 is unlikely to 
deliver any sites.  Not sure what my preference would be. (1 or 2, not 3)

Comments noted

32 I have no interest in this style of living, however I do understand that 
people choose theses lifestyles, I therefore think Option one would be 
preferable

Comments noted

39 3.As above vary local green belt policy on a site-specific basis.
Response A : Option 3

Noted

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted

46 Possibly a mixture of all three Options. Certainly a range of alternative 
lifestyles can help with the desire to downsize from mortgage free home 
ownership in order to release capital to fund an alternative active way of 
living which would in turn 'free up' residential property for the wider 
community.

Comments noted, including the point about 
freeing up 'mainstream' properties.

47 I would like to live in a yurt or some basic type of accommodation. People 
are homeless, but it is not permissible to build a cheap house! Also, make it 
possible for people with rural livelihoods to live on the land.

Comments noted.  It should be possible to 
build a cheap house, but in an appropriate 
location (as governed by national and local 
planning policy).  Unfortunately, given 
constraints, land values are an issue.

Page 643



ID Representor Comments Council Response

48 Option 3 allows for flexibility from national guidelines allowing appropriate 
development in line with identified needs whilst maintaining protection of 
the Green Belt.

Comments noted

61 Option 2 would seem the most appropriate option to meet the demand for 
this type of housing

Comments noted

64 No comment. -

72 I have demand for Park Homes in the Chester area for ex pats who have 
sold houses in the UK to move abroad but need to return due to Brexit 
worries over health care etc. I feel sure that demand could be replicated in 
West Lancashire if required by the Council.

Comments noted.

73 No comments. -

77 No interest personally but if sited in suitable locations hopefully would 
encourage more trade etc into the area.

Comments noted

78 No interest personally. If sited in suitable non disruptive location can be 
managed and bring in trade to an area.

Comments noted

82 Option 1: Allow for caravan or houseboat accommodation to come forward 
as the market demands.  Do not vary the Green Belt policy - it is under 
enough threat!

Comments noted.  Potential to vary Green 
Belt policy within a Local Plan is very limited 
in any case.

87 Caravans and boats may provide additional low cost homes for some.  
There is concern that a policy which encourages this may reduce 
opportunities for holiday homes in areas where the visitor economy is 
growing.  There is concern also that all housing should be of a high 
standard whether your home is a caravan or boat, or bricks and mortar.
Burscough is a key shopping destination for those who use the canals, as 
it’s either the first or last stopping point for shopping on the way to and 
from Liverpool, I therefore believe there is a need for a Marina for canal 
boats.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that the 
visitor economy is important and should not 
be undermined.  It is also agreed that all 
housing should be of a high standard.
In terms of a marina at Burscough, an 
interesting point is made.  One important 
factor is whereabouts a marina could be 
located in this area.

96 AIUH makes no comment on this matter. -

97 St. Modwen makes no comment on this matter. -

99 No comment. -

Page 644



Question 30: Which policy option for addressing the issue of relative 
market weakness in Skelmersdale do you think is the most 
appropriate? Why?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Skelmersdale has been over developed the council has got tunnel vision on 
this matter

It is not considered the town has been over-
developed.  Skelmersdale was originally 
planned for a significantly higher number of 
residents.

2 Leave Skelmersdale now it is time to move on to other areas Noted; it is not agreed that Skelmersdale 
should be 'left'.

9 You cant REgenerate something that was never there in the first place! You 
need to start from scratch and create something of enough originality and 
appeal to overcome the reality of that places entire (albeit limited) grim 
history. 

Comments noted

14 option 2...an impetus is required Noted

18 no comment -

20 2) Base the Local Plan Review strategy on the regeneration and expansion 
of Skelmersdale. 
Prime location for expansion and development.

Comments noted

23 1. Improving what already exists is the best approach. Just expanding an 
already impoverished area will only make it worse.

Comments noted

24 As previously stated, I consider Skelmersdale in dire need to help from the 
local council.  Option 2

Comments noted

26 Option 2 Noted

28 Policy requirements should not be relaxed. Market weakness provides 
housing for people on low incomes.

Comments noted; it is important that 
housing be provided for people on low 
incomes, but such housing needs to be of an 
acceptable design and quality.

30 Please see comments made in response to affordable housing.  larger 
houses for second and third time buyers should be provided to continue 
the existing owner/occupation houses on the Eastern boundary of the built 
up area.

Comments noted; as above, it is agreed that 
a mix of housing types, including larger 
houses, in Skelmersdale (and elsewhere) is 
desirable.

31 Option 2. - Don't relax policies, developers need firm boundarys Comments noted

32 Option 2 supporting regeneration and expansion of Skelmersdale is the way 
the Local Plan Review should go.

Comments noted

39 Option 1. Continue to relax or further relax policy requirements for housing 
sites in Skelmersdale exemption from CIL open space contributions.
Response A: Option 1
Option 2  Base the Local Plan review Strategy on the expansion of 
Skelmersdale and set up a council/formed development company.
Responses B & C Option 2 - Responses B&C are based on the rationale that 
the WLBC could be freed from the developer led economic constraints on 
development and that an approach based on perceived strategic and social 
planning could be implemented.This will be more compatible with the 
future Liverpool deep port  and the M58 corridor vision for development.

Comments noted. The possibility of the 
Council forming a development company is 
mentioned in paragraph 2.24 of the Social 
Options Paper.

42 Clearly we would not wish to see any relaxation in policies protecting, Comments noted.  Whilst this option does 
Page 645



ID Representor Comments Council Response

restoring and enhancing the functionality of Skelmersdale's ecological 
networks and the ecosystem services provided to employees, businesses, 
resident and visitors by established, restored and new green infrastructure.
The regeneration and expansion of Skelmersdale could offer opportunities 
for net gain in the functionality of ecological networks and in the 
availability of ecosystem services provided by green infrastructure; or it 
could threaten these. However, "the devil would be in the detail". We look 
forward to a draft masterplan and / or a Supplementary Planning 
Document on the topic.

not envisage relaxation of any nature 
conservation-type policy, it is accepted that 
to relax open space requirements could, in 
certain cases, lead to a less efficient function 
for wider networks of green space.  If policy 
on provision of open space were to be 
relaxed, careful thought would need to be 
given to the possibility of such 'side-effects'.  
As stated by the Representor, development 
could also provide opportunities to improve 
green infrastructure and ecological networks.

46 Definitely Option 2. because a comprehensive approach is needed in order 
to achieve a step change in the perception of Skelmersdale which has 
enormous potential in terms of becoming a desirable and much sought 
after location to move to and to be a township of stragic importance within 
the North West.

Comments, including aspirations for the 
town, are noted.

47 WLBC talks about how money is being 'leaked' from the area in terms of 
retail and night time economy. But who was it that gave planning 
permission for all those dormitory communities? I think option 2 is good.

Comments noted

48 Option ! should be followed but with additional points to ensure that wider 
community benefits are included. Option 2 would rely on a very 
professional Development Company that was run efficiently. The track 
record for a council to have the ability to run such an efficient and 
successful enterprise has yet to be proven.

Comments noted; it is agreed that wider 
community benefits should be sought, were 
option 1 to be pursued.

57 See above comments Noted

61 Option 2 because it would help to strengthen the housing market in 
Skelmersdale,and the regeneration will, over time, automatically increase 
developer interest in building properties in the area.

Comments noted

64 The Local Plan should be aspirational and ambitious and should help to 
realise and achieve the potential of Skelmersdale. This is to ensure that it 
helps to fulfil its aspirations which were set out in its role as a Regional 
Town. We consider that with the proposed level of investment in terms of 
housing and employment that this will help to create a catalyst to 
development which will help to address the existing market weaknesses 
within Skelmersdale.
Our Clients consider that Skelmersdale is a suitable location for 
development, and the land to the west of the settlement is an appropriate 
location for both residential and employment uses. We consider that one 
method to help address the market weaknesses of Skelmersdale is to 
release Green Belt sites around Skelmersdale in a more attractive location.
Our Clients would support the relaxation of CIL and developer 
contributions, when assessed through a Viability Appraisal.

Comments noted

67 We suggest a combination of these options.
Skelmersdale should be promoted a s a housing destination of choice - 
housing growth underpins regeneration and expansion through investment 
and through household expenditure.

Comments noted

72 The existing policy is a disaster economically for the Borough. If you can 
relax policy in Skelmersdale then why not relax it in Wrightington? 

Comments noted.  Skelmersdale has 
markedly different characteristics from 
Wrightington, hence the difference in 
approach.

73 No comments. -

75 In preparing the Preferred Options Paper policy for the Skelmersdale 
housing market, consideration should be given to not just the delivery of 
housing but to how the necessary provisions and infrastructure (e.g. 
affordable housing, open space, community and health facilities, education, 

Comments noted.  It is agreed that 
accompanying infrastructure should be a key 
element of any housing growth, that 
communities should be sustainable and well-

Page 646



ID Representor Comments Council Response

and transport) will be provided in order to create sustainable communities 
in accordance with the requirements of National Planning Policy 
Framework. Any potential positive and negative impacts of new housing 
developments on existing residents should also be taken into account. A 
housing policy for Skelmersdale should therefore seek to ensure that new 
and existing communities are provided with access to essential facilities and 
services and that any planning relaxation should guard against creating 
unsustainable and poorly connected communities.
It is recommended that consideration is also given to alternative ways to 
incentivise the housing market in Skelmersdale, in addition to options to 
relax/further relax policy requirements for housing sites in Skelmersdale. 
For example, streamlined planning procedures can also influence the 
housing market. Measures to encourage and incentivise landowners and 
the commercial development market to engage and partner local 
authorities in collective efforts to assemble and deliver accelerated rates of 
development would be particularly welcomed, and the incentive of 
streamlined 'fast track' planning arrangements (e.g. Local Development 
Order for Skelmersdale) could serve that purpose well.

connected, and that impacts on existing 
residents need to be taken into account.
It is also acknowledged that there are 
incentives other than policy relaxation that 
can boost housing delivery.  The Council has 
already prepared 3 LDOs in Skelmersdale.

77 To upgrade existing properties and develop different levels of new homes. Comments noted; it is agreed that different 
types of new homes are desirable in 
Skelmersdale.

78 To upgrade an develop properties of variable types and prices in most of 
the town maintain town centre and recreational facilities

Comments noted; it is agreed that a range of 
property types in Skelmersdale would be 
desirable, and that it is important to retain 
existing facilities.

79 Social Policy Issue 4: The Skelmersdale housing market considers the special 
measures which could be put in place in order to try and assist the delivery 
of regeneration in Skelmersdale
Story Homes has already set out above its view of the market in 
Skelmersdale and does not therefore repeat them here. Story Homes is 
clear however that the Council should not place unreasonable reliance on 
Skelmersdale to deliver the Borough’s housing need. The options below set 
out how the Council considers it could address the challenges in 
Skelmersdale
The relaxation of obligations such as affordable, CIL and open space 
requirements would improve the viability of development, however even 
significant relaxations cannot always compensate for the state of the 
housing market and where greatest demand lies. Story Homes considers, as 
previously detailed, that relaxation on affordable requirements is 
acceptable here given the amount of affordable properties already 
available. Relaxing other requirements can have negative connotations and 
must be very carefully considered. For example, reducing CIL obligations 
could prevent the delivery of significant infrastructure schemes, such as the 
new train station; the relaxation on open space requirements could serve 
to limit improvements to the existing setting and character of the town to 
the extent that the market will be even less likely to improve. Story Homes 
accepts therefore that affordable requirements should continue to be 
relaxed, but would urge great caution with further relaxations because of 
the potentially negative outcomes that could result.
As set out previously Story Homes considers this approach (similar to 
Scenario 4 of the - Strategic Development Options) is fraught with difficulty 
and other more attractive market areas, which much greater prospects of 
delivery should make a reasonable contribution to meeting the Borough’s 
housing needs. Scenario 2 of the Strategic Development Options is 
considered much more appropriate. Story Homes supports the principle of 
an affordable housing policy, provided it is subject to viability 
considerations. It considers that policies relaxing affordable requirements 
in Skelmersdale are appropriate, but urges caution applying additional 
relaxations.

Comments noted, in particular with regard 
to relaxing affordable housing requirements 
but not others.  Affordable housing 
requirements are already less in 
Skelmersdale than elsewhere; also CIL is not 
chargeable in much of Skelmersdale.  Open 
space comments acknowledged.
The Council is aware there are more 
attractive market areas elsewhere in the 
Borough, but Skelmersdale is the highest 
'ranked' town in the Borough, hence this 
policy objective to boost its housing market.

Page 647



ID Representor Comments Council Response

82 2) Base the Local Plan Review strategy on the regeneration and expansion 
of Skelmersdale
Skelmersdale has the potential to be much improved, there is already the 
infrastructure for more housing, but it needs investment, improved public 
transport etc.

Comments noted; it is agreed Skelmersdale 
needs more investment.

87 Burscough Parish Council supports policy option 2 which is to base the local 
plan review strategy on the regeneration and expansion of Skelmersdale.  
Skelmersdale needs our support to develop to its full potential.

Comments noted

88 I live and work in Skelmersdale and some new and better planning is 
essential if we are to have a thriving town and surrounding area.  Housing 
Developments should attract a variety of different people, from those with 
social housing needs, those wanting to start businesses and maybe work at 
home and the managers and owners of businesses. The town needs to 
attract a wider range of businesses with more highly skilled employees.
Work needs  to be integrated with housing where possible.  At present a 
working couple need two cars , then their adult children some more. Also a 
good transport network is essential.
Again in Skelmersdale housing development should be as near the town 
centre as possible. Social housing in particular needs to be near large shops. 
A town centre needs to be developed in Skelmersdale, not just a retail park. 
A proper town centre will allow change and innovation by encouraging 
small businesses and shops with appropriate and affordable facilities.
Proper attention should be paid to encourage green space and maintain 
the green belts where ever possible.
Vitally Skelmersdale needs a Town Council to put its interests first.

Comments on attracting a range of 
businesses / skills, the need for a successful 
town centre, public transport and green 
space acknowledged.  It is agreed that 
housing should be linked to work, and that a 
range of properties for different types of 
occupant should be provided.

95 4.17 As our representations in Chapter 3 illustrate, while DWH supports the 
regeneration of Skelmersdale it has concerns about the ability of the town 
to successfully deliver a significant amount of housing. The current Local 
Plan planned for Skelmersdale to deliver upon the ‘lions share’ of the 
borough’s housing requirement which continues to largely be undelivered. 
The current development strategy cannot be continued. A balance has to 
be struck between the regeneration of the town and a realistic housing 
requirement which can be delivered.

Comments noted; the reason for this policy 
option is to seek to boost housing delivery in 
Skelmersdale.

96 The second option is effectively a continuation of the existing policy which 
has not proved successful, owing to the weak housing market in 
Skelmersdale and under‐delivery of other allocated sites.
Taking forward housing allocations based upon Spatial Areas may provide 
greater opportunity for the Council to realise its development aspirations 
by firstly taking advantage of market signals in areas such as Up Holland, 
and then later in the Plan period awaiting improvement in the Skelmersdale 
housing market upon delivery of the Skelmersdale town centre scheme.

Comments noted and acknowledged.  It is 
agreed that delivery of a viable town centre 
for Skelmersdale should improve the 
housing market there.  However, it is 
considered that housing development 
should not be 'held back' (or, at least, not 
'boosted') in the town until the town centre 
is delivered; the two go hand in hand.

97 St. Modwen is supportive of the Skelmersdale Spatial Area which may 
provide greater opportunity for the Council to deliver against Plan‐led 
objectives early in the Plan period by firstly taking advantage of specific 
sub‐areas within it which enjoy more positive market signals. It will follow 
that later in the Plan period there should be an opportunity to deliver 
housing in Skelmersdale, awaiting improvement in the local housing market 
upon delivery of the Skelmersdale town centre scheme. 
The current policy position is supportive of development in Skelmersdale, 
so if there is opportunity to relax policy requirements on a spatial level that 
is likely to catalyse the delivery of housing in Skelmersdale more quickly, 
once market signals begin to improve.

Comments noted.  It is considered that 
housing development should not be 'held 
back' (or, at least, not 'boosted') in the town 
until the town centre is delivered; the two 
go hand in hand.
Option 1 is concerned with relaxing policy 
within [much of] Skelmersdale only, not the 
whole Skelmersdale and South Eastern 
Parishes spatial area.

99 The Local Plan should be aspirational and ambitious and should help to 
realise and achieve the potential of Skelmersdale. This is to ensure that it 
helps to fulfil its aspirations which were set out in its role as a Regional 
Town. We consider that with the proposed level of investment in terms of 

Comments noted.  If development were to 
be proposed/ planned west of the town, 
careful consideration needs to be given as to 
how such development can benefit existing Page 648



ID Representor Comments Council Response

housing and employment that this will help to create a catalyst to 
development which will help to address the existing market weaknesses 
within Skelmersdale.
Our Clients consider that Skelmersdale is a suitable location for 
development, and the land to the west of the settlement is an appropriate 
location for both residential and employment uses. We consider that one 
method to help address the market weaknesses of Skelmersdale is to 
release Green Belt sites around Skelmersdale in a more attractive location. 
Our Clients would support the relaxation of CIL and developer 
contributions, when assessed through a Viability Appraisal.

areas of the town, especially those subject 
to deprivation issues.

Page 649



Question 31: Which policy options for the approach towards the social 
requirements of older people do you think is the most appropriate for 
the Local Plan? Why?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Option 1 we feel would be better Noted

2 Option 2 were there are services are there or close about allow this Comments noted

9 Option 1 Noted

14 option 1....policy can be reviewed then Noted

18 We consider that the best approach towards meeting the diverse housing 
needs of older people is one that encourages both the delivery of specialist 
forms of accommodation such as sheltered / retirement housing and Extra 
Care accommodation and a requirement for homes to be built to a 
standard that is suitable for the elderly, or easily altered to be suitable for 
the elderly, such as M4(2) or M4(3) of the Building Regulations. The latter 
requirement would be more deliverable for conventional house builders 
and achievable by the mechanisms currently proposed in Policy LP7 (i.e. a 
10% requirement on all sites).
The delivery of greater volumes of dedicated specialist housing could be 
aided by a more positive legislative framework.
In light of the above we recommend that consideration is given to the 
advice provide in the Housing in Later Life: Planning Ahead for Specialist 
Housing for Older People toolkit. This toolkit was developed by a 
consortium of private and public organisations with an interest in housing 
for the elderly, led by McCarthy and Stone, and encourages a joined up 
approach to planning, housing and  social care policy both in the collection 
of evidence and the development of specialist accommodation for the 
elderly. It proposes the following policy wording:
“The Council will encourage the provision of specialist housing for older 
people across all tenures in sustainable locations.
The Council aims to ensure that older people are able to secure and sustain 
independence in a home appropriate to their circumstances and to actively 
encourage developers to build new homes to the ‘Lifetime Homes’ 
standard so that they can be readily adapted to meet the needs of those 
with disabilities and the elderly as well as assisting independent living at 
home.
The Council will, through the identification of sites, allowing for windfall 
developments, and / or granting of planning consents in sustainable 
locations, provide for the development of retirement accommodation, 
residential care homes, close care, Extra Care and assisted care housing and 
Continuing Care Retirement Communities.”
Thank you for the opportunity for comment.. -

Comments noted.  It is agreed that a 
combined approach of specialist 
developments for the elderly, as well as 
adaptable 'mainstream' homes is a good 
approach towards addressing the need for 
accommodation for the elderly.

20 Option 1: A general ‘sustainable development’ policy which directs new 
development to places where services and facilities are available.
'Older people' wherever possible should be able to remain in and involve 
themselves in local communities.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that, as a 
general principle, older people should be 
able to remain in their local communities.

21 A good bus service. Noted

23 Option 1. Older people should not be "shipped off" to new developments 
away from their homes and families.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that, as a 
general principle, older people should be 
able to remain in their local communities.  
However, some may choose to move to 
purpose-built developments, so such 
schemes should not be disregarded.

Page 650



ID Representor Comments Council Response

24 I am an older person and appreciate the difficulties that come with ageing.  
I would opt for Option 1 as it is important that health, transport and 
consumer facilities are readily available for older people

Comments noted; it is agreed thst there 
should be good, easy access to services and 
facilities for older people.

26 New housing should be designed for all age living there was good design 
guidance came out in the mid noughties which was very helpful

It is agreed that houses should be able to 
accommodate any age of occupant.

28 Any policy needs to be flexible. Comments noted

29 OPTION 2 ALLOWING THE DEVELOPMENT OF A RETIREMENT VILLAGE. Comment noted

30 A combination of Options 1 and 3 may work.  The problem in Skelmersdale 
is that facilities such as bus services are being withdrawn making travel for 
the elderly without cars difficult, even for supermarket shopping. Many 
needs are met by LCC and the NHS.  I would not force the elderly in rural 
areas to move to towns.

Comments noted. It is agreed that, as a 
general principle, older people should be 
able to remain in their local communities, 
although some may choose to move to 
towns, e.g. for ease of access to necessary 
services.

31 Option 1 Noted

32 Council needs to ensure existing aging populations can, if they wish, remain 
in their communities with provision of specifically adapted and accessible 
properties, however I do not feel special developments for the elderly are a 
good idea as they risk ghettoizing an aging population.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that, as a 
general principle, older people should be 
able to remain in their local communities.  
However, some older people are happy to 
move to specialist developments and, as 
such, these developments can be provided.

39 Option 2 .Allocate specific sites in appropriate locations for services 
facilities similar to option 1.
Response A: Option 2

Comments noted

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted

46 Option 3.  because a new approach is needed in order to cater for the 
future needs of a growing section of the community. There is an insufficient 
range of suitable types of development in the main mix of housing, over 
reliant upon specialist developments which tend to be more exclusive.
'Gated' or closed communities should be resisted as they are divisive and 
lead to lack of cohesive community relationships.

Comments noted.  It is recognised the ageing 
population is a growing section of the 
community, and that a variety / range of 
accommodation will be required from them.  
Whilst it is agreed that the elderly should / 
should be able to live amongst the wider 
community, some may choose to live in age-
restricted developments, so there is a place 
for them in addition to other types of 
housing.

48 Option 3 should be adopted as it includes 1 and 2 as it is more flexible. Comments noted

57 Housing and other accommodation for the elderly should be incorporated 
within market housing in sustainable locations.

Comments noted; it is agreed that housing 
for the elderly (in fact, all housing) should be 
located in sustainable places wherever 
possible.  In general it is good to mix housing 
for the elderly with 'mainstream' housing.

61 Option 1- a general sustainable development policy to ensure a mix of the 
right type of housing, rather than as often happens , developers putting 
forward plans to deliver only 3/4 bedroom family accommodation. Housing 
for the elderly should be within the community to prevent isolation and be 
within easy access of public transport, shops , doctors etc.  Within the 
Borough it may encourage development of housing for the elderly if  a 
small number of specific sites are identified specifically for assisted living 
for the over 55s. This will be an important sector as a significant increase in 
the aged population is predicted in the forecasts to 2037

Comments acknowledged; it is agreed that 
there is a need to deliver smaller properties 
suitable for older people to downsize into, 
that older people should be able to live 
within the community, that accommodation 
for older people should be within easy reach 
of services, and that there is a place for 
'assisted living' schemes.

64 No comment. -

69 Option 1 with 2 and 3 as support (though not assuming 'very large new 
developments' are needed)

Comments noted
Page 651



ID Representor Comments Council Response

70 The current evidence base supporting the Local Plan, suggests an ageing 
population and so this paper seeks ideas on how the requirement of older 
people can be met.
Key to this will be accessibility both in terms of housing and for wider 
facilities and services. In terms of the former, current building regulations 
require certain standards for housing to allow them to be accessible for 
elderly people, whilst for the latter point, the overall approach to 
sustainable development which should run through the entire Local Plan 
Review should ensure housing allocations are provided in sustainable 
locations with access to important services and facilities.
As a result of this the Commissioners do not necessarily believe there needs 
to be specific policies in place in relation to housing developments for the 
elderly within the Local Plan Review; although policies which facilitate 
developments such as extra care or assisted living could assist in addressing 
the issue of an ageing population.

Comments noted.  Whilst the mandatory 
building regulation M4(1) ensures some 
accessibility, this is considered inadequate 
for many older people; the optional M4(2) is 
generally accepted as the 'benchmark' 
standard.  Given the ageing population and 
the growing unmet need for accommodation 
for older people, it is considered that some 
policy intervention is required, in addition to 
policies that facilitate extra care / assisted 
living schemes.

72 People want new houses that you can live in independently for longer to 
delay going into expensive care. perhaps you could consider homes built off 
site which can easily be adapted for changes in household size.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that 
adaptable dwellings are an important 
element in providing suitable 
accommodation for an ageing population.

73 No comments. -

75 We welcome the level of detail and consideration that has been given to 
these issues in the Social Policy Options paper. In order to ensure that 
housing options provided through the Local Plan Review provide 
sustainable development by taking account of specific needs. It is therefore 
recommended that further engagement is undertaken with colleagues in 
Lancashire County Council's public health and social care service areas to 
further explore the development of spatial policy to reflect the Health and 
Social Care approach to supporting an ageing population.

Comments noted.  The Council is liaising 
with the LCC Public Health team in terms of 
the Local Plan Review in general (health and 
wellbeing is an important consideration in 
strategic planning); input from the Social 
Care service would be welcome.

77 To integrate suitable accommodation with most new developments. Comments noted; it is agreed that 
integration of older people into the 
community is a good principle to follow.

78 Integrate with suitable accommodation with new developments - not 
isolated (old people villages!)

Comments noted

81 Support Option 1 Noted

82 Option 1: A general ‘sustainable development’ policy which directs new 
development to places where services and facilities are available.  For 
example Brownfield sites and disused Town Centre buildings

Comments noted; accessibility to services 
and facilities is especially important for older 
people.

87 The older people that are known to the Parish Council (and indeed 
including members of the Parish Council) generally have no wish to be 
segregated.  Older people are very large users of local services, such as the 
Sports Centre, as well as being regular users of health services.  Burscough 
Parish Council has identified a need for bungalows, as older people living in 
2 story, possibly larger homes, would like to downsize, to good quality 
properties close to services.  Burscough does not have sufficient suitably 
located smaller single story homes.   The needs of people who are ill, or 
have limited mobility is different from people who are simply “old”.  For 
people with limited mobility, good quality pavements, availability of public 
transport, close proximity to services, etc are important.

Comments acknowledged; it is agreed that 
integration is better than segregation, and 
that easy access to services and facilities is 
important, both for older people and for 
people with mobility issues. It is 
acknowledged there is a strong demand for 
bungalows across the Borough.

95 4.13 DWH acknowledges the growing need for accommodation for older 
people, given the increasing and rapid ageing of the population with certain 
areas, such as Aughton, likely to witness very significant increases in its 
ageing population profiles when compared to other areas of the borough. 
As with affordable housing, there is no one-size-fits-all approach to 
addressing such needs and WLBC should explore a varied approach.
4.14 In particular, DWH objects to the establishment of a fixed target for 
such provision as part of market housing developments. Policy RS1 of the 

Comments noted.  It is agreed that a 'one 
size fits all' solution is unlikely to exist.  
Comments on the current 'percentage 
approach' are noted.  The Council would 
strongly welcome volume housebuilders 
coming up with innovative housing products 
to meet the ageing population's 
accommodation needs; such products have Page 652



ID Representor Comments Council Response

current Local Plan requires all developments providing 15 or more 
dwellings to incorporate 20% provision for the elderly. This approach has, 
however, compromised viability of developments,particularly given that it 
is applied in addition to the 35% affordable housing requirement. The Local 
Plan Review should therefore seek to avoid such a rigid one-size-fits-all 
approach.
4.15 In particular, there are innovative types of housing products which 
cater for the needs of older people which could be implemented in the 
Borough. This could include:
• ‘Downsizer units’ provided by housebuilders as part of market housing 
schemes and made available to older people in the first instance. These 
provide opportunities for parents to downsize after children have left the 
family home, freeing up much-needed homes for younger families; and
• Bespoke retirement accommodation products by a specialist provided, 
incorporating small-scale services and facilities.
4.16 Such products could form part of a sustainable development 
proposition at Parrs Lane (see below).

been sorely lacking to date, and could be 
one reason why the policy RS1 'percentage 
approach' has not worked well.

96 The adopted Plan does not specifically identify any sites for uses targeted at 
the needs of older people. It would be appropriate to identify opportunities 
for development for older people in locations which are attractive and 
benefit from services and facilities. This could mean accessible locations 
close to local centres, or could equally refer to bespoke developments 
which have more of these services and facilities provided as part of the 
scheme.  It may be preferable at this stage to afford strong weight to 
proposals which do contribute towards this objective but not be overly 
prescriptive as to how this is undertaken.
AIUH would confirm that the land at and to the south of St Joseph’s 
Seminary could represent an appropriate location for a retirement village 
adjoining the existing development limit to the south, and taking advantage 
of the open aspects to the north.

Comments re. St Joseph's noted.  It is agreed 
that older people need access to services; 
usually this means development in 
sustainable locations, but it is accepted that 
services can be provided on-site in certain 
cases.

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects -

99 No comment. -

Page 653



Question 32: As you get older, what kind of accommodation do you 
think you might want to live in? Which policy option(s) for providing 
accommodation for older people would you therefore prefer?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

1 Small bungalows are ideal for older people they can downsize  but the 
bungalows should not be sold.as they will be there for the next generation

Comments noted; it is not agreed, however, 
that bungalows should not be sold, for 
example in cases where 'the next generation' 
live elsewhere.

2 It makes sense bungalows are the best option over 55s in green space not 
to be sold but but as social housing

Comments noted

9 Option 7- the elderly shouldn't feel forced to leave a community they have 
been part of their whole life

Noted.  It is agreed that, as a general 
principle, people should be able to stay in 
the community where they have been living 
to date, if they so desire.

14 I would want to live in my own home, the council should not get involved The Council would not 'assign' people to 
accommodation provided for the elderly, 
but the purpose of these policies (options) is 
to ensure that sufficient appropriate 
accommodation is provided in the right 
places so that older people can choose 
where to live according to their needs / 
desires.

18 See response to Qu. 31. (Noted)

20 Option 2: Continue the current approach, i.e. require that a percentage of 
new dwellings be designed specifically to accommodate the elderly.
Option 3: In conjunction with the above, provide a tighter definition of 
what constitutes ‘housing designed specifically to accommodate the elderly’
Option 4: Adopt one or both of the optional Technical Standards* for new 
houses
Option 5: Require adherence to, or at least that regard be had to, the 
HAPPi (Housing our Ageing Population: Panel for Innovation) Design 
Principles**
Every person's needs / preferences / requirements are different especially 
when getting older. Ideally persons should be able to choose to remain 
living in their own homes for as long as they can look after themselves even 
with some additional help going in, choose to move to sheltered 
accommodation or should health needs dictate, move to a care / nursing 
home.  Persons' need for their own independence should not be ignored. 
Some persons may opt to move to a 'retirement village' environment will all 
facilities on site.

Comments noted.  It is agreed that a variety 
of approaches is likely to be the most 
appropriate with regard to accommodation 
for the ageing population, that older people 
have different accommodation needs / 
demands, and that they should have a 
choice as to whether to stay in their 
community, or move to a development 
designed for older people.

21 My own home possibly with more support. Noted

23 Option 1 A case by case approach is best dependent on demand. Comments noted

24 I would that older people would require smaller homes with smaller 
gardens, within easy reach of all transport, health and consumer facilities,  
Also the need for some sort of caring or warden accommodation may be 
appropriate in many cases.  Together with this is the need to remain within 
the community they have grown old with.  I should not want to live in a 
specific area for elderly people.  Therefore, incorporate Options 4 and 5 
into any plans and continue with Option 2

Comments noted; it is agreed that people 
should be able to stay in their community, 
should they so desire, and that properties 
(and gardens) suitable for older people are 
often smaller.

26 It is a mix and match Coments noted
Page 654



ID Representor Comments Council Response

28 Option 7 Noted

29 Retirement village development.OPTION 6 Noted

30 Have regard to option5 for option 2. Comments noted

31 Option 7 (obviously!) Comment noted

32 Option 7 is the preferred option surely this is what developing our 
Communities should be about.

Comments noted; it is agreed that such an 
approach should be central to planning for 
communities.

35 It is considered that a combination of the options put forward for the 
delivery of residential accommodation for older people is the most 
appropriate.  In order to ensure that the complex needs of this 
demographic are effectively met, it is necessary for the Council to ensure 
that flexibility is provided for within the Plan to allow for a variety of 
accommodation types to be delivered and within the most appropriate 
locations.  To impose the provision of specific types of older 
accommodation as part of future development could prevent market and 
affordable housing coming forward which would be to the detriment of the 
wider population of the Borough.

Comments noted; it is agreed that there are 
varying needs and therefore a variety of 
solutions is likely to be appropriate.  Given 
the growing need for accommodation for 
older people, the market should ensure that 
its provision should not prevent other 
housing being delivered.

39 3.	In conjunction with above provide a ‘tighter’ definition of what 
constitutes housing for the elderly.
6.Allocate specific sites for elderly accommodation whether age restricted 
bungalows, sheltered accommodation, care homes or extra care facility or 
retirement village.
Response A : Options 3 & 6
7.Adopt a general policy approach of promoting lifetime neighbourhoods. 
Response B : Option 7

Comments noted

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted

46 Options 5 & 7. Noted

47 Option 4 sounds good. Comments noted

48 Options 2,4,5 and 6 provide the most detailed approach to site allocation 
and technical standards.

Comments noted

57 See above comment (Noted)

58 The HBF is supportive of meeting the needs of older people. It must, 
however, be recognised that these needs are not homogeneous and will 
vary considerably dependent upon individual circumstances. Many older 
residents wish to stay within their current home whilst others will require 
specialist care. The Council will need to assess the likely requirements for 
each type of tenure before an option is identified.
The HBF would support a permissive policy to enable the delivery of such 
provision. This would provide greater support to the market to deliver the 
demand for the relevant types of accommodation. It is noted, as identified 
by option 1, the market is already providing such accommodation, a 
permissive policy will provide greater opportunities to increase delivery.
In conjunction to a permissive policy specific sites for older person’s 
accommodation would also be welcomed (option 6). This would have the 
advantage of ensuring the accommodation is delivered in locations which 
most suit the needs of the residents.
In terms of option 4, the Council correctly identifies that the optional 
accessibility standards can only be introduced if it passes the criteria 
identified within the PPG (ID 56-007). The HBF would not support a blanket 
introduction of the accessibility standards. Such a requirement across all 
sites and locations would not take account of the desirability for older and 
disabled persons to be situated closer to services and facilities. 
Furthermore not all buyers will require this standard and it may effectively 
mean purchasers pay more for something they may not need or desire. This 
would have consequences not only for site viability but also affordability, 

Comments noted.  In response:
It is agreed that needs are not homogeneous 
(e.g. some wish to stay in their property, 
others are willing to move to retirement 
accommodation), and thus a variety of 
approaches / solutions is likely to be most 
appropriate.
It is not agreed that the market is already 
delivering sufficient homes of the right type 
for the elderly; therefore interventiion is 
required.
The Council considers that imposition of 
M4(2) will be appropriate in certain cases, 
although it accepts that it may not be 
appropriate to apply it 'across the board' 
and that implications for viability / the 
ability to meet other requirements need to 
be carefully considered.
Comments on the allocation of specific sites 
are acknowledged.  Comments on 
application of 'HAPPi' principles noted; many 
of these reflect good design, which should 
be an element of any housing provided.

Page 655



ID Representor Comments Council Response

an area where the Council is already struggling to meet existing need.
The HBF would not support rigid policy requirements as this is likely to 
impact negatively upon development viability, as noted in option 3 this will 
lead to missed opportunities for certain sites. We also would not support 
the inclusion of additional standards, such as HAPPI, as a mandatory 
requirement. This is considered contrary to the Governments push to 
minimise the use of local standards through the Housing Standards Review.

61 As I get older I envisage  different types of accommodation as my needs 
change and will be price sensitive. Shared ownership should be considered 
as one of the options. Initially probably a bungalow with outside space. 
Later this may change to assisted living, purpose built, maximum 2 storeys 
with possibility of communal area to reduce isolation. The next stage may 
be residential/ nursing care.
Answering this question has highlighted the range of accommodation that 
will be required for an ageing population, quite often living in rural areas in 
West Lancashire, where transport links are poor.  Another issue is whether 
this range of accommodation can be provided so that the individual can 
remain living in the same location.  A mixture of options will be required , 
such as options 2,3,4,5,6,7

Comments noted; the examples cited clearly 
show the variety of accommodation needs 
that should be catered for; as stated, a mix 
of the options may well be necessary.  The 
issue of older people living in rural areas 
with poor accessibility to services and public 
transport is acknowledged.

64 No comment. -

69 a combination of 3 and 7 perhaps. Definitely should be pro-active Comments noted; it is agreed there is a need 
to be proactive.

70 Please see our response to the previous question. Noted; comments made above.

72 I think that you need to trade housing allocation for an innovative 
approach by developers

Comments noted; it is considered that 
housing allocations (for older people)  may 
be appropriate in certain cases, even if an 
innovative approach by developers (which 
would be very welcome) were to happen.

73 No comments. -

75 We welcome the level of detail and consideration that has been given to 
these issues in the Social Policy Option paper. In order to ensure that 
housing options provided through the Local Plan Review provide 
sustainable development by taking account of specific needs. It is therefore 
recommended that further engagement is undertaken with colleagues in 
Lancashire County Council's public health and social care service areas to 
further explore the development of spatial policy to reflect the Health and 
Social Care approach to supporting an ageing population.

Comments noted.  The Council is liaising 
with the LCC Public Health team in terms of 
the Local Plan Review in general (health and 
wellbeing is an important consideration in 
strategic planning); input from the Social 
Care service would be welcome.

77 Bungalows with access to amenities and warden controlled for safety of 
residents.

Comments noted

78 Easy access bungalows with amenities not too far away with emergency 
alerts near mixed housing

Comments noted

81 Support Option 1 Noted

82 Option 2: Continue the current approach, i.e. require that a percentage of 
new dwellings be designed specifically to accommodate the elderly

Comments noted; this approach has not 
been entirely successful to date.

84 Persimmon Homes are fully appreciative of the requirements of the aging 
local population - however it is important to recognise the variety of needs 
and desires that older residents want and require. We would not support a 
blanket application of accessibility standards across all sites. This is 
considered contrary to the Governments push to minimise the use of local 
standards through the Housing Standards Review. This is particularly 
relevant when considered against the preferred Locat ional Strategy as 
some options (increased growth in rural areas) will potentially result in 
development in locations unsuited to elderly accommodation.

Comments noted; the variety of needs / 
desires is recognised.  It is accepted that 
some locations may be unsuitable for [new] 
elderly accommodation.

Page 656



ID Representor Comments Council Response

87 None of the options presented adequately address the need for suitable 
accommodation for people who are planning for a less active future.  
Option 1 is not acceptable.  Option 6, allocate specific sites, would be 
useful, but not on its own, and would require to be supplemented by other 
policies which encourage higher techncal standards for new homes.  Larger 
plots required by bungalows will undoubtedly affect the developers return, 
and for that reason, a percentage requirement based on footprint/not unit 
numbers must be built into developments.
By continuing to build much of the same is adding to the problem not 
solving the problems, there is a need for more elderly housing that they 
want and need depending on their individual situation. It should not just be 
about a block of flats. I would like to see a comprehensive review of elderly 
people’s needs undertaken as I suspect there will be a variety of options 
given. As nationally only 2% of new builds are only for elderly people, 
therefore elderly are not moving from their potentially larger homes and 
making these available as currently there is not more appropriate elderly 
housing available. By getting this right it would free up cheaper housing for 
young people rather than expensive new housing. I welcome some of the 
suggestions for the elderly however one of the big problems is poor 
transport and this must be considerably improved, also having services 
used by the elderly nearby is equally important.

Comments noted / acknowledged.  It is likely 
a combination of approaches will be 
necessary to address the accommodation 
needs of an ageing population.  A 
requirement based on footprint is an 
interesting / novel concept.
It is agreed that housing provided for the 
elderly should be the type(s) of property 
they desire.  Where possible, 
accommodation for the elderly should be 
located where there is good access to 
services and / or public transport.

96 Option 2 is effectively status quo planning, which is understood to have 
residual latent housing needs for older people in the context of 
demographic change where the proportion of older people will increase. 
This does not represent a sustainable way forward. 
Option 1 is unlikely to deliver any beneficial change to a situation 
understood to be unsatisfactory. To that extent, Option 1 is also 
inappropriate.
Options 3 and 4 provide technical clarifications as to what constitutes an 
appropriately designed and specified development for older people, but is 
unlikely to secure any substantive improvement in the supply of residential 
accommodation for older people.
In contrast, an ambition which could encapsulate the planning benefits 
which can be secured through promoting sites and development principles 
consistent with Options 5‐7 do represent an appropriate and positive way 
forward to secure progress towards meeting the latent and future demand 
for residential accommodation for older people. This will include delivery of 
tailored accommodation within larger mixed housing schemes, and could 
also include opportunities for purely retirement living. Such retirement 
living schemes could include smaller retirement homes within urban 
settings, but potentially also a retirement village in a more open setting.
AIUH would confirm that the land at and to the south of St Joseph’s 
Seminary could represent an appropriate  location for a retirement village 
adjoining the existing development limit to the south, and taking advantage 
of the open aspects to the north.

Comments on options 1-4 noted; comments 
on / support for options 5-7 noted.  It is 
agreed that a variety of approaches is likely 
to be appropriate, including the embedding 
of certain principles when developing new 
market housing schemes.

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects -

99 No comment. -

111 Social Policy Issue 6 considers the delivery of residential accommodation 
for older people. The Paper provides further background on the pressing 
need and sets out seven options for the delivery of residential 
accommodation for older persons. Paragraph 3.12 states the following: “As 
the number of older people increases, the need to address their specific 
accommodation requirements becomes greater. These requirements may 
include easy access to health and social care within specific residential 
development, as is the case in care homes or ‘retirement villages’.“ 
Our Client agrees with this requirement. The site promoted within this 
document offers an opportunity to provide a residential care village. Our 
client, Priory Asset Management, who are promoting this site for 
development has a strong track record of delivering such developments 

The extensive comments on options 1-7 are 
noted, as well as the comments on the site 
at Black Moss Lane.  Whilst a retirement 
village, in an appropriate location, will 
contribute towards meeting some of the 
ageing population accommodation need, 
there is a significant number of old / ageing 
people who have no desire to live in such a 
development (e.g. see other comments on 
Q31 / Q32) and these people's needs also 
require to be met through other means.

Page 657



ID Representor Comments Council Response

within the Merseyside area. The land at Black Moss Lane, Aughton offers a 
suitable location for  older person’s care as it is sustainably located close to 
essential services and can provide the full range of accommodation and 
facilities referred to in the Paper.
With regards to the approach the Council should take to addressing this 
need, Option 1 states the following:
“Have no specific policy, but let the market deliver appropriate 
accommodation in line with local demand. Considering patterns of 
development in West Lancashire over the past decade, such an approach 
may result in care homes, age-specific retirement homes, and possibly extra 
care facilities, but is unlikely to deliver significant numbers of highly 
adaptable or accessibly dwellings.” This option would not comprise a plan-
led Option and is therefore not supported by our Client.  This does not 
represent a positively prepared approach to plan making. This has 
historically been the method adopted within the Borough and has not lead 
to the delivery of required level of facilities. As the ageing population is 
increasing within West Lancashire it is recommended that the Borough take 
a pro-active and positive plan-led approach to the provision of older 
person’s accommodation. 
Option 2 states the following:
“Continue with the ‘percentage approach’ of the current Local Plan, either 
with a 20% requirement, or a higher or lower percentage. For larger 
allocations, this is likely to deliver stand-alone care home type facilities; for 
medium size developments, this may result in a small number of adaptable 
dwellings  ‘pepper-potted’ through schemes” Option 2 places a high 
requirement on developers, and in combination with an additional 
affordable requirement may render development unviable, especially in 
relation to sites which have several abnormal constraints. However, a 
policy to deliver 20% older persons’ accommodation, where possible, may 
be justified. Alternatively, the provision of the elderly requirement may be 
more appropriate in off-site locations or potentially in the form of a 
contribution, similar to that set out in Option 7 of Social Policy Issue 1 – 
affordable housing. 
Option 3 is in conjunction with Option 2 and seeks to provide clarity 
through a tighter definition of what constitutes ‘housing designed 
specifically to accommodate the elderly’. Our Client does not support the 
sole use of Options 2 and 3 as we do not believe this will deliver the 
quantum of accommodation for older persons housing that is required in 
West Lancashire. This may result in a lack of delivery of much needed 
housing within the Borough which could further reduce the number of 
people at working age. 
Option 4 comprises the adoption of technical standards for new houses and 
states the following:“Adopt one or both of the optional Technical Standards 
for new houses. The justification for, and viability implications of, such an 
approach would need to be tested at examination. The presumed extra 
costs of meeting these standards may limit development in West 
Lancashire, or may result in other policy objectives (eg provision of 
affordable housing) being undermined. A variation of this option could be a 
requirement that a percentage of new dwellings meet one or both of the 
technical Standards, i.e. that compliance with M4(2) and/ or M4(3) is one of 
the Council’s interpretations.”
Option 5 is similar to Option 4 and states:“Require adherence to, or at least 
that regard be had to, the HAPPI (Housing our Ageing population: panel for 
Innovation) design Principles. These principles are based on 10 key criteria; 
many reflect general good design (for example good light, ventilation, room 
to move around), but are of particular relevance to older people’s 
housing.” Our Client agrees with West Lancashire when they state that the 
requirement to meet additional housing standards would impact on 
viability of development and the ability to deliver affordable housing. 
Placing significant restrictions on housing developers could reduce the rate 
of development within the Borough. Our client therefore does not support 
the blanket use of Option 4 or Option 5. However, our client does support 
high quality design as an important principle. As such, they also support the Page 658



ID Representor Comments Council Response

use of HAPPI or similar design principles as evidence that can be presented 
to demonstrate elements of good quality design within a development. This 
allows for an evidenced based approach to quality on a site by site basis 
without the need for prescriptive and possibly prohibitive regulation. 
Option 6 considers an approach whereby the Council’s allocates specific 
sites for elderly accommodation:  “Allocate specific sites for elderly 
accommodation, whether that be age restricted bungalows, sheltered 
accommodation, care homes, an extra care facility, or a full blown 
‘retirement village’. Policy could specify the exact type of accommodation, 
or it could be left open.” Our Client supports Option 6 and suggests that 
this represents the most sustainable approach to the delivery of Older 
Persons housing. Identifying opportunities to deliver older persons housing 
through the plan would ensure delivery of this type of housing and in the 
most effective and sustainable location. However, our client does not 
support an overly prescriptive approach to the type of accommodation that 
would be included in the allocation. This should be determined by making 
reference to the evidence base, as well as consideration of market demand. 
It is recommended that option 6 is identified as the preferred option.  
Option 7 states the following: “Adopt the more general policy approach of 
promoting ‘Lifetime Neighbourhoods’ i.e. generating a variety of housing 
provision and range of support relevant to a spectrum of ages and stages in 
a family cycle. Such an approach is difficult to enforce.“ As is identified by 
West Lancashire a policy as suggested within option 7 is difficult to enforce 
and therefore would not guarantee the delivery of elderly care 
accommodation. Our Client therefore does not support the use of option 7 
on its own and would recommend that if this Option were to be used going 
forward other Options would also need to be used.  
Our Clients therefore propose Land at Black Moss Lane as being a suitable 
location for older person’s housing and should be considered as an 
allocation under option 6. The site is close to existing services and transport 
facilities and free from technical constraints (as is demonstrated within this 
representation).The site is in the ownership of a willing land owner and is 
being promoted by Priory Asset Management LLP, which is a privately 
owned British property development company who facilitate the building 
of market leading developments within the Retirement, Extra Care, and 
Respite and Dementia Care sectors. The company has a proven track record 
of delivery within the north west of England and an experienced leadership 
team who’ve been involved in property development for more than 20 
years. The site can therefore be deemed available in accordance with 
Footnote 12 of the Framework.  It is therefore recommended that land at 
Black Moss Lane is identified for release from Green Belt able to deliver 
older people’s accommodation

Page 659



Question 33: Which key policy option with regard to the issue of 
control over HMOs in Ormskirk do you think is the most appropriate? 
Why? Are there any other policy options or minor changes that should 
also be considered?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

9 Option 1 Noted

14 option 3....all student development should concentrate on the campus, its 
what the Uni wants and the residents of Ormskirk.

Comments noted; it is agreed that 
accommodating students on the Campus is 
desirable.  However, there remains a 
demand for off-campus accommodation 
elsewhere in Ormskirk that needs to be 
managed appropriately.

18 no comment -

20 Option 1: Expand the ‘Article 4 area'* and the area to which the HMO 
percentage policy applies, to include neighbouring settlements. 
- HMOs serve a useful purpose in the right location. In some cases their 
granting in quiet residential streets / roads is totally unacceptable as the 
whole characteristics of the area can be altered......usually to its detriment. 
The views of residents / neighbours.......MUST be listened to.

Comments noted; it is agreed that the 
granting of planning permission for HMOs 
must not have an unacceptable impact on 
local residents.

23 Option 1 Noted

24 Ormskirk in particular has a very high level of student accommodation, 
most to its detriment.  I would go for Option 3.

Comments noted

26 No comments -

28 Option 1 Noted

30 Option 3 Noted

31 Option 4 Noted

32 Option 4 but I feel this would need to be closely monitored Comments noted

39 1.Expand the Article 4 area to include Burscough and Skelmersdale allowing 
HMOs outside Ormskirk.
Response A : Option 1
3.Decrease the HMO limit from current levels on all or specific streets to 
lower percentage even down to 0%. It is considered 5% limit is an 
acceptable balance of HMOs.
Response B : Option 3
3.Decrease the HMO limit from current levels on all or specific streets to 
lower percentage even down to 0%. It is considered 5% limit is an 
acceptable balance of HMOs
Response C : Option 3
Comment: The rationale behind restriction of HMOs, is sound, as it will 
discourage speculative buy-to -let purchases of properties. This buy-to-let 
phenomenon reduces the supply of houses for families who wish to settle 
and who will contribute to and invest in the area on a long term basis. It 
also pushes prices up and reduces affordability for families as the supply 
decreases.Also pre-existing residents may find that a transient population 
has less social cohesion, less regard for property maintenance and possibly 
in worst cases scant regard for neighbour comfort vis-a-vis noise,excess 
revelry,drunkenness etc.  Expansion of HMOs may lead to existing residents 
moving out and eventual decline in the area.

Comments noted; comments on the 
rationale behind the restrictions on HMOs, 
and the possible effects of HMOs, are 
acknowledged and agreed; these matters 
are a primary reason for the preparation of 
Local Plan policy RS3 in the first place.

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted

46 Option 1. in order to discourage the movement outwards of applications Comments notedPage 660



ID Representor Comments Council Response

for HMO's to wider areas

48 Option 1 should ensure streets are limited to 5% HMO's  and be able to 
absorb future demand.

Comments noted

61 The right option would depend on whether the number of HMO's in 
Ormskirk is at the right level, too high or too low for demand and the 
impact of delivering to need on existing residents.  The policy decided upon 
should give the flexibility to adjust the number of HMO's over the period of 
the plan. This is particularly important if the longer term plan is adopted.

Comments acknowledged.  It is agreed that 
there is a need for flexibility to adjust the 
number of HMOs over the plan period, 
especially if it is to be a long period. One 
important piece of evidence will be Edge Hill 
University's short / medium / long-term 
forecasts for student numbers. One difficulty 
in monitoring is to measure conversions 
from HMOs back to dwelling houses, as such 
a change does not require planning 
permission.

64 No comment. -

69 Option 1 Noted

72 no comment -

73 No comments. -

75 We welcome the inclusion of policies which are aimed at considering the 
needs of the student/graduate community and for travellers (gypsies, 
travellers and travelling show people). Any new sites to be allocated should 
have regard to transport considerations and access to basic services.

Comments noted

82 Option 3: Decrease the HMO limit from current levels on all or specific 
streets to a lower percentage, potentially even down to 0%
Improvements to Public Transport in and out of Ormskirk so that there is 
less incentive for Students to want to live in HMO's in what is a relatively 
small town.
A student quarter in Skelmersdale with affordable public transport links 
into Edgehill should be considered.

Comments noted; improvements to public 
transport into and out of Ormskirk would be 
welcome; whether or not this would reduce 
students' desire to live in Ormskirk is not 
known. Comments on Skelmersdale 
accommodation noted.

87 I am aware that HMOs are already causing concerns in Burscough and I feel 
this is an ideal opportunity in which to manage the future situation in 
Burscough as it has the potential to make affordable housing harder to 
obtain due to landlord buying up certain properties, therefore option 3 5% 
limit is suggested as a viable one for should Burscough be included in 1 
Article 4 Area.

Comments noted; whilst the Council is 
aware of a small number of HMOs in 
Burscough, the Council has no evidence that 
this has become such a pressing issue 
sufficient to warrant extension of the Article 
4 Direction to the town, but the situation 
can be monitored.

96 AIUH makes no comment on this matter. -

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects -

99 No comment. -

Page 661



Question 34: Which policy option for off-campus, purpose-built 
student accommodation do you think is the most appropriate for 
Ormskirk / West Lancashire? Why?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

12 Option 2 and 3 - Make use of  out of town derelict scrubland to bring in 
funds ie brown belt rather than green 

It is agreed that, as a general principle, 
brownfield land should be developed first, 
or at least considered for development first, 
before greenfield / Green Belt land.  
Whether out of town [off campus] sites are 
best for student accommodation is another 
matter.

14 option 4..all student accommodation to be concentrated on campuss Comments noted

18 no comment -

20 Option 1: Continue with the current policy approach of restricting off-
campus purpose-built student accommodation unless strict criteria are 
met. 
- Additionally.......there must be a strong argument in favour of building 
more 'on campus' accommodation as there appears to be acres of land 
available.

Comments noted.  As a general principle, 
the campus is considered the most suitable 
location for student accommodation, 
subject to design / landscape and other 
considerations.

21 Edge Hill is already too big and student accommodation over shadowing 
family housing. Ormskirk is already unbalanced.

Comments noted.

23 Option 1 Noted

24 Option 1 please. Noted

26 No comments -

28 Option 1 Noted

30 Option 2 . Multistorey , say 5/ 6 floor managed/concierge blocks Comments noted; it is considered that 5/6 
storey blocks would be unlikely to be 
appropriate in most (if not all) of Ormskirk.

31 Option 1 Noted

32 Option 3 seems to give the most flexibility Comments noted

39 Option 2.Relax the current policy to allow purpose build student 
accommodation away from the university campus.
Response A: Option 2
Option 1.Continue the current policy to restrict off campus purpose build 
student accommodation unless strict criteria are met.
ResponseB : Option 1

Comments noted

42 We have no comment at this time. Noted

46 I cannot see any relevant section above which deals with on-campus 
student accommodation? however, the requirements for on-campus 
should be agreed with liaison with EHU to take into account their projected 
future requirements. Off-Campus within Ormskirk Town Centre in low/non 
residential areas should be encouraged as this will have the tendency to 
decrease demands for HMO's in residential areas.

Comments noted.  In terms of on-campus 
accommodation, this would be permitted in 
principle, subject to design, etc. 
considerations.  It is agreed that ongoing 
liaison with Edge Hill University is important 
to understand future requirements.
Comments on off-campus accommodation 
noted.

48 Option 3 would allow control over site, size and appropriateness of any 
development. However, on-campus facilities should be prioritised (but not 

Comments noted; it is agreed that as a 
general principle, the campus is the most Page 662



ID Representor Comments Council Response

extending into the Green belt) . appropriate place for accommodation, 
subject to design, etc. considerations.

61 Option 1 because the options paper states there is no evidence to suggest 
this approach has been inappropriate. Maybe this could be combined with 
option 3 to give greater planning control, whist balancing this with the 
ability of the university to attract students in the future.

Comments noted; whilst the imposition of 
the Article 4 Direction in Ormskirk has 
generally been considered a success, to 
extend it would require demonstration that 
student HMOs are a particular issue 
elsewhere.  The need for balance is agreed.

62 As set out earlier in this statement Edge Hill University is growing and there 
are plans for expansion post 2022. It is therefore important that the 
appropriate housing stock is provided for students to ensure that the 
increase in student numbers does not have an adverse impact on existing 
housing stock, particularly around Ormskirk. Consideration should be 
therefore given to the release of land around Ormskirk/the University for a 
range of uses, including new education related uses.

Comments noted; the evidence base 
relating to student accommodation needs 
will be crucial in drawing up policy relating 
to student accommodation linked to Edge 
Hill University.

64 No comment. -

69 Option 1 Noted

72 no comment -

73 It is acknowledged that, as the University has grown, the demand for 
student accommodation has increased exponentially. The University has 
responded to this  demand by developing purpose-built student 
accommodation. Over the last few years, over 1,000 new student bed-
spaces have been delivered on the Ormskirk campus. The University is now 
able to guarantee on-campus accommodation to all first year students.  
However, there is still significant demand for accommodation in Ormskirk 
for students in second or third year and postgraduate / mature students. 
The University remains committed to delivering on-campus 
accommodation. New forms of accommodation have been developed 
which will be attractive to older students.  Indeed, the first ‘student 
townhouses’ are currently under construction on the site of the old running 
track and will be completed ahead of the September 2018 intake.  The 
University will continue to review the demand for purpose-built student 
accommodation and look to respond to this.
At this time, it is anticipated that the majority of new student 
accommodation will be delivered on campus; however the University may 
also consider delivering off-campus accommodation in Ormskirk Town 
Centre, subject to site availability and demand.  
The delivery of some purpose-built student accommodation in Ormskirk 
would help to ensure the ongoing vitality and viability of the Town Centre, 
its services and facilities.  This is particularly relevant in the context of the 
relative sustainability of the settlement and the Borough’s ageing 
population.

Comments on Edge Hill University's 
accommodation needs and current 
provision, and desire for purpose built 
student accommodation in Ormskirk noted.

75 We welcome the inclusion of policies which are aimed at considering the 
needs of the student/graduate community and for travellers (gypsies, 
travellers and travelling show people). Any new sites to be allocated should 
have regard to transport considerations and access to basic services.

Comments noted

77 To consider local rate paying residents when implementing any policies 
regarding the above.

Comments noted; it is agreed that it is 
necessary and right to have regard to the 
impact of policies on local residents.

78 Should not impede on local rate paying residents with necessary shopping 
needs near

Comments noted

82 Option 3: Allocate specific sites for off-campus student accommodation, 
whilst restricting 'unplanned' developments elsewhere.  - In Skelmersdale

Comments noted

96 AIUH makes no comment on this matter. -Page 663



ID Representor Comments Council Response

97 St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects -

99 No comment. -

Page 664



Question 35: Which policy option(s) for addressing the issue of 
meeting traveller accommodation needs do you think is (are) the most 
appropriate for West Lancashire? Why?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

9 Comments noted.
The local authority is required to provide 
deliverable sites to meet the identified 
accommodation needs of Travellers.

I cant believe you have even suggested that CPOs could be used to force 
landowners to give up land to be used by travellers- thats outrageous! 
completely disgusting.  Why should TAX PAYING people suffer like this?! 
Option 2 is clearly not going to work- nobody would buy a house on an 
estate which incorporated travellers. 
Which I suppose leaves option 3. Suboptimal but still.

12 NotedOption 1

14 Many of the Travellers residing in West 
Lancashire have been here for several years 
and have local connections (e.g. via 
schools).  We are required to meet 
identified accommodation needs for 
Travellers in this area.  It is not possible for 
every Council to encourage Travellers to 'go 
elsehwere'.

we do not want travellers, encourage them to go elsewhere, this might 
sound uncompromising and extreme, but its what is wanted

18 -no comment 

20 Comments noted; the main issue is the 
location of three sites within Flood Zone 3.

Option 1: Allow the travellers based at present in West Lancashire to stay 
on their (currently unauthorised) sites.
Evidently a workable option as apparently  there are no reported issues 
from current arrangements.

23 NotedOption 1

24 Comments noted.  It is often the case that 
when Travellers own a site, they tend to 
look after it and keep it in at least a 
reasonable state.

There does need to be accommodation for Travellers, but it needs to have 
some sort of control over the way they look after the sites and must include 
some sort of contract about leaving it in a good state.  Option 1 seems to 
be the best way of dealing with this controversial problem but authorise 
the sites

26 -No comments

28 Comments noted.Option 3 should permit the formalisation of Option 1. - Authorised sites 
need to be the way forward so that the sites are controlled.

30 Comments noted; Travellers owning land on 
which they stay are not considered to be 
'squatters'.  Such sites are used as a base, 
but travelling still can take place.  Touring 
caravans can be moved in case of flooding, 
but static caravans are more difficult to 
move.

Option 1.  They have ceased to be travellers and become squatters.  
Travellers can move their vehicles when flooding imminent.

31 Comments notedOption 3. I don't know which unauthorised sites are currently being used 
but these may be contentious. Better to determine the best site location 
rather than tag on some provision to new developments where this may 
not be appropriate.

32 Comments notedOption 1 would allow Traveller communities to remain on sites that they 
may feel happy and settled on. 

34 Comments noted.  Finding appropriate sites 
has been very difficult, primarily on account 
of land availability.

We agree with the policy options in terms of the existing sites in flood zone 
3 would be in conflict with the NPPF. We recommend combining the policy 
options to enable the finding of appropriate sites. Page 665



ID Representor Comments Council Response

39 Comments noted, including comment 
regarding Flood Zone 3.

Option 1. Allow travellers based at present in West Lancashire to stay in 
their currently unauthorised sites, including flood zone 3 sites.
Response A:Option 1
Option 2 When allocating new sites for other developments in the Borough 
set aside part of their sites for travellers.
Response B:Option 2

42 NotedWe have no comment at this time.

46 Comments notedConsider Council purchase of land in appropriate location via negotiation 
first before moving onto Option 3. Compulsory Purchase.

48 Comments noted; this is considered an 
innovative approach; it is, however, 
dependent upon Option 2 being selected.

Retain the 3 unofficial sites as unofficial sites and follow Option 2. Retain 
Option 3 as a last resort. The unofficial sites have proved to work thus far 
and whilst not condoning unofficial sites by leaving them unofficial, their 
status is not being condoned. Option 2 would provide additional allocation 
in line with planning guidelines and Option 3 held in reserve for emergency 
use if all else fails.

64 -No comment.

72 NotedOption 3 

73 -No comments.

75 Comments noted.  It is not always possible 
to have Traveller sites that have access to 
basic services, as sites are often in rural 
areas.

We welcome the inclusion of policies which are aimed at considering the 
needs of the student/graduate community and for travellers (gypsies, 
travellers and travelling show people). Any new sites to be allocated should 
have regard to transport considerations and access to basic services.

77 Comments notedOnly in an area where not encroaching on local residents.

78 Comments notedOpen area not affecting local life monitored regularly

82 NotedOption 2: When allocating new sites for other development in the Borough, 
set aside part of those sites for travellers

87 Comment notedBurscough Parish Council supports option 1, allowing travellers to stay 
where they are at present.

96 -AIUH makes no comment on this matter.

97 -St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects

99 -No comment.

Page 666



Question 36: Are there any other social policy issues that should also 
be considered? If so, what are they?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

10 Comments noted.  It is agreed that access to 
quality open space is very important in 
terms of health and wellbeing / quality of 
life.
It is also agreed that better and more varied 
job opportunities would help strengthen the 
housing market.

Avoid the cram them in philosophy and recognise that space is vital and has 
a great effect on the quality of living. 
Better and more varied job opportunities would help strengthen the 
housing market.

14 Comments noted; these things should be 
beneficial if they could be deliverd.

big chains and brands should be encouraged, shops, hostelries and leasure 
groups, they bring good jobs and depth to their locations

18 -no comment 

20 -None at this time.

30 Comments noted; it is agreed that being able 
to offer A-level courses would be a benefit 
to Skelmersdale.

Provision of land for town centre school/s in Skelmersdale so that the need 
for young people to travel out of the area for "A" level studies and to 
replace the loss of Glenburn at a time when it is the hope of WLBC to 
increase the population.

31 NotedNot that I can think of

32 NotedI am not aware of any

39 -No comment

42 NotedWe have no comment at this time.

44 Comments noted and generally agreed - the 
suggestions made / principles outlined tie in 
with the planners' overarching goal of 
'sustainable development' / 'sustainable 
communities'.  Some elements are easier to 
deliver than others, and we are not starting 
from a 'blank canvas' - development is in 
place already.

• Housing developments that encourage a good 'work-life balance' and 
sustainable communities should be supported.
• A variety of housing is needed with small starter homes and larger homes 
(to encourage working from home) with community facilities and small 
offices close by.
• Small offices (designed to look similar to residential homes) mixed with 
houses that blend in with the housing (not a giant office block or industrial 
units) are helpful for supporting small businesses and a thriving local 
economy. This type of development enables people to walk to work.
• It is vital to have community facilities within close walking distance of 
homes.
• A garden village development would benefit West Lancashire.
• Opportunities for self-build developments are essential.
• I support a strict greenbelt policy, except there should be a minimal 
nibbling away to allow villages to become more sustainable, while 
preserving green space between settlements.
• Housing density needs to allow space for planting small trees and joined 
up pavements where people can easily walk from A to B.

46 Comments noted and agreed; delivering an 
increase in working place population and 
higher skilled employment opportunities can 
be encouraged through suitable policy.

Policy should be developed which encourages an increase in Working Age 
Population and also encourages an increase in higher skilled occupations, 
especially within Skelmersdale.

50 Extensive comments noted; these are not all 
directly relevant to the Social Policy options 
paper.
A traffic assessment will be undertaken as 

HIGHWAYS ENGLAND COMMENTS: SOCIAL POLICY OPTIONS PAPER
The Social Policy topic paper presents a number of options for potential 
socially orientated policies for the Borough. This paper does not present 
any further discussion on housing numbers or the spatial distribution of 

Page 667



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Preferred Options are drawn up, to assess 
the implications of proposed development 
sites.  Highways England's input is crucial, 
especially in terms of wider strategic impacts 
of the new West Lancashire Local Plan and 
neighbouring authorities' proposed 
developments.

potential site allocations, but rather addresses topics such as affordable 
housing, student accommodation, and housing for older generations.
While the type of dwelling provided will have an impact on the propensity 
to travel by private car, and Highways England would welcome clarity over 
proposed locations for specific types, the individual topics covered in this 
paper are unlikely to have significant implications for the safety and 
operation of the SRN.

Local Plan Evidence Base Review
The Local Plan Review documents include details on the work being 
undertaken to update the evidence base underpinning the Local Plan. This 
evidence base includes two documents of specific interest to Highways 
England: the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) update, and a Transport 
Thematic Spatial Evidence Paper (TSEP). 

These documents are reviewed below:
Infrastructure Delivery Plan Update 2016/17 (Part 1)
The IDP provides the background evidence for the infrastructure 
requirements to support the Local Plan, including the transport 
requirements. The review of the IDP is deemed necessary in order to 
support the review of the Local Plan and ensure the requirements are still 
relevant and up-to-date. 
Part 1 of the IDP review provides baseline data regarding infrastructure 
provision in the Borough, including updates on the plans and strategies of 
partners and the progress regarding the delivery of infrastructure. We 
anticipate that, following this ‘Issues & Options’ consultation, the next 
stage of the Local Plan review will work towards the identification of 
potential infrastructure to support the growth aspirations of the new Local 
Plan.
Chapter 9 of the IDP review (Part 1) addresses transport provision in the 
Borough, although the review doesn’t explicitly discuss the SRN or any 
current associated issues. It is our understanding that the M58 mainline is 
generally under-capacity, although there are localised issues at a number of 
junctions, including the terminus junctions (although these are outside of 
the Borough boundaries). There is also potential for impact at Junction 27 
of the M6 (which is also outside of the Borough boundary).

Transport Thematic Spatial Evidence Paper (TSEP)
The TSEPs are intended to summarise the baseline evidence for each topic 
in West Lancashire, - and are used to identify issues within the Borough.  
The Transport TSEP sets out a brief context review, summarising relevant 
national and local policy, and then presents a description of the existing 
transport provision in the Borough, including statistical data on topics such 
as car ownership and travel patterns.  The baseline data identifies the 
Borough’s good level of connectivity to neighbouring towns, such as 
Southport, Preston, St Helens, Wigan, and Liverpool, in addition to good 
connections to the wider SRN via the M6 and M58.
The data presented identifies that approximately 60% of those employed 
residents in West Lancashire travel outside the Borough to their place of 
work, with the most popular destinations being: Sefton (25% of employed 
West Lancashire residents), Liverpool (14%), Wigan (11%), Preston (6%) and 
St Helens (5%). While approximately 22,000 individuals travel outside the 
Borough for employment purposes, approximately 20,000 travel into the 
Borough from various neighbouring authorities, with the most likely origins 
being: Sefton (26%), Wigan (24%), St Helens (9%) and the rest of Lancashire 
(12%).
The TSEP identifies that the West Lancashire Highways and Transport 
Masterplan, along with the West Lancashire Infrastructure Delivery 
Schedule and the Liverpool City Region Rail Strategy, introduces a number 
of site specific matters that the Local Plan Review must address in terms of 
delivery or safeguarding; point number 7 is of particular relevance to the 
SRN, stating: - “How West Lancashire relates to the wider transport 
network and the opportunities that creates e.g. the locational advantage of Page 668



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Skelmersdale relative to motorways etc.” 
Key Points: 

considered to be stage 1 of the IDP process, presenting a baseline of 
existing transport (and other infrastructure) provision within the Borough. 
At this stage, there is no identification of future requirements. Given the 
Local Plan process is still at the Issues & Options consultation stage, with 
little certainty presented over the scale or location of development, this is 
to be expected.

trends both within the Borough and across boundaries; it is clear that there 
is significant daily movement between the neighbouring authorities, with 
many of these journeys likely to use the SRN. The TSEP also identifies the 
requirement for the Local Plan to consider its cross-boundary implications 
in regards to infrastructure, which includes the implications for the safety 
and operation of the SRN.

Borough Council in using the baseline data to evaluate the preferred and 
more likely options presented in the Strategic Development Options Paper.

Links with the Liverpool City Region (LCR)
It is accepted that at this early stage in the Plan process, there is a great 
deal of uncertainty over the locations, amount, and type of development, 
and even over the extent of the Plan period.  However, one of the most 
important points from the emerging documents for Highways England is 
the Borough’s aspiration to potentially accommodate an unmet need for 
housing and employment from the Liverpool City Region (LCR). While not 
part of the LCR combined authority, West Lancashire is an associate 
member of the LCR Combined Authority, and considered part of the LCR in 
regards to spatial planning matters.  The Plan documents state that this 
unmet need is expected to be in the form of large-scale logistics, 
emphasising the need to capitalise on the LCR’s growth strategies focussed 
on logistics and freight. The Strategic Polices Options Paper states that: 
“There is a significant opportunity to boost the local economy, especially in 
the M58 corridor, as a result of the Liverpool2 deep water terminal and 
expected surge in demand for logistics facilities and ‘spin-off’ industries. 
Skelmersdale is likely to be the most appropriate location for such 
opportunities given its excellent road access from the Port of Liverpool.” 
Skelmersdale is well-located for access to the M58 and the wider SRN, with 
the M58 passing within the town’s southern boundary. As already 
discussed, the M58 itself is considered to have available capacity, but the 
terminus junctions suffer from localised issues, which are considered of 
particular concern at ‘Switch Island’, the confluence of the M58, M57 and a 
number of ‘A’ roads, including the A5036 Dunnings Bridge Road. This 
junction lies within the neighbouring Borough of Sefton, just to the north-
east of Liverpool, and the A5036 Dunnings Bridge Road is identified in the 
Merseyside LTP3 Freight Strategy as the key access road to the Port of 
Liverpool, carrying approximately 70% of the port’s external road traffic. 
Any increase in traffic along this route is therefore likely to impact on 
Switch Island, and potentially have safety and operational implications for 
both the M58 and M57 terminuses.
The Plan documents do not provide certainty as to whether this unmet 
need will materialise, and it is anticipated that this will become clear 
through the Plan process, and through the progression of neighbouring 
authorities’ Local Plans. Nevertheless, it will be important for Highways 
England to be kept informed of the strategic aspirations for not only the 
LCR but also the closely associated aspirations of neighbouring authorities.  
In this regard, we have reviewed the status neighbouring authorities’ Local 
Plans.
- Halton Local Plan Core Strategy (April 2013) - Halton Borough Council’s 
Core Strategy Local Plan was adopted in April 2013, and contains the spatial 
vision for the Borough through to 2028, as well as a range of strategic 
objectives and policies. Halton Borough Council is currently progressing a Page 669



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Delivery and Allocations Local Plan document that will replace the 
remaining policies and the Proposal Map from the saved Unitary 
Development Plan (2005). A scoping consultation was undertaken in 
February 2014, with the preparation of a draft Local Plan commencing 
following that exercise. There is no expected timeframe published on 
Halton Borough Council’s website.
- Knowsley Local Plan Core Strategy (January 2016) - The Knowsley Core 
Strategy (CS) was adopted in January 2016. The CS includes site allocations 
for areas to be released from the greenbelt, referred to as ‘Sustainable 
Urban Extensions’, while the Local Plan: Site Allocations and Development 
Policies document is anticipated to identify further proposed site 
allocations for housing and employment land. The Knowsley Local Plan: 
Schedule lists this document as ‘TBC’, with no updates on a timeframe for 
consultation on a draft document.
- Liverpool Local Plan - The emerging draft Liverpool Local Plan was 
consulted on from September to November 2016. The draft document is 
not considered a publication version in its current state, and does not 
include employment land allocations at this stage.  The draft Local Plan 
draws heavily on content prepared for the Liverpool Council Core Strategy, 
which progressed to the pre-submission stage in 2012. Planning 
applications in Liverpool are currently assessed against the saved policies of 
the UDP, adopted in November 2002. 
Sefton Local Plan (April 2017) - The Sefton Local Plan has now been 
examined by the Inspector, and is anticipated to be adopted on 20th April 
2017 (at the time of writing). The Local Plan sets out: How development will 
be provided for to meet the needs of Sefton’s communities; the policy 
framework for making decisions on planning applications; the strategic 
policy framework for Neighbourhood Plans; and priorities for investment in 
employment, housing and infrastructure, including site allocations.  The site 
allocations include four strategic employment locations, with two in close 
proximity to the SRN:

land located adjacent to junction 1 of the M58; and

26ha of employment land fronting onto the A5306 Dunnings Bridge Road.
- St Helens Local Plan - St Helens Council is currently preparing a new Local 
Plan, and consulted on a ‘preferred options’ draft from December 2016 to 
January 2017.  This review found that the St Helens Local Plan placed 
considerable emphasis on logistics and freight uses, and lacked transport 
evidence to support the proposed site allocations.
- Wirral Core Strategy - Planning applications in Wirral are currently 
assessed against the saved policies of the UDP, adopted in February 2000, 
although it is anticipated that a number of these saved polices will be 
replaced by the Council’s emerging Core Strategy Local Plan, with a revised 
proposed submission draft expected to be reported in September 2017.  
Wirral Council is expected to produce a Land Allocations and Heritage Local 
Plan post-adoption of the emerging Core Strategy, although there is no 
timetable available for the publication of this document.
- Key Points: 

West Lancashire may potentially look to accommodate the unmet need for 
large-scale logistics from the LCR, which has potentially significant 
implications for the safety and operation of the SRN.

determined, and is anticipated to become clearer over the Plan process.

allocations of the neighbouring authorities, and their ability to 
accommodate for their own identified growth needs.

Liverpool Councils have an emerging Plan, while Wirral, Knowsley, and 
Halton Council only have or are in the process of producing a Core Strategy, 
with no Site Allocation document currently available.

Page 670



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Local Plan and transport evidence takes into account the aspirations of the 
neighbouring authorities and considers the cross-boundary impacts of their 
emerging Local Plans.

52 Comments and suggestions noted.  The ideas 
have merit, but may be beyond the scope of 
this planning document.

What do we need to consider? 
Agree with suggestions – plus a need to build a sense of community – 
identity, involvement. 
The Council and local groups – clubs, sports clubs, scouts, businesses – 
should get to know one another. 
A liaison officer? - to identify links, to see how each could help the other. 
E.g. St John's Ambulance provide cover at events, but others could do other 
things – e.g. scouts, local businesses etc. 
Sports clubs could help with your question about encouraging physical 
activity – and Edgehill in various ways.

53 Comments noted and generally agreed - the 
suggestions made / principles outlined tie in 
with the planners' overarching goal of 
'sustainable development' / 'sustainable 
communities'.  Some elements are easier to 
deliver than others, and we are not starting 
from a 'blank canvas' - development is in 
place already.

Housing density needs to allow space for planting trees and joined up 
pavements where people can easily walk from A to B.
It is vital to have community facilities within close walking distance of 
homes.
Housing developments that encourage a good work-life balance and 
sustainable communities should be supported.
Opportunities for self-build developments are essential.
A garden village development would benefit Skelmersdale and West-
Lancashire.

61 Comments noted; whilst policy looks at the 
ageing population, the needs of those with 
health issues (not necessarily older people) 
also should be considered.  Health and 
wellbeing is an important consideration that 
should underpin the Local Plan.

Through recent personal experience I have become aware of the lack of 
provision for people below the age of 65 with disabilities. This is particularly 
so for good quality residential care. Planning policy should aim to address 
this gap in the market.

63 Comments noted.  Whilst a number of good 
ideas and useful suggestions have been put 
forward, many of these are beyond the 
scope / powers of the Local Plan.
- Education: moving the schools may have 
benefits, but this depends on the policy and 
resources of Lancashire County Coucil 
Education, and would be a major 
undertaking.
- Sports Centre: it is agreed that closure of 
the Sports Centre is disappointing; there are 
plans to build another in a more central 
location.  The need for exercise / active 
lifestyles is crucial to a healthy population.  
Planning can contribute towards this.
- Workshops: this is a good idea, but beyond 
the scope of the Local Plan
- Park provision - once again, this is a good 
idea; land availability is an issue.  The Tawd 
Valley is to be made into a large informal 
park.
- National Curriculum: once again, this is a 
good idea, and the teaching referred to is 
very important, but it is beyond the scope of 
the Local Plan.

EDUCATION:
- Lathom High School and Our Lady Queen of Peace schools need to be 
rebuilt away from the periphery to more central locations.  The new 
schools would be purpose built and provide pupils with the means to walk 
to school and not be in danger going home during dark winter nights.
- Closing Skelmersdale Sports Centre during the year of the Olympics was a 
massive blow to many people in the town.  Play is the most important 
activity for children to engage with.  The benefits are long lasting and 
crucial in the development of well-rounded individuals. The Plan has to 
include the creation of an indoor Sports Centre that can be used by families 
and school pupils.  West Lancashire college indoor sports hall is underused 
and is an ideal venue.  Schools and West Lancashire College should be 
encouraged to use football pitches at Glenburn and the sport’s hall at West 
Lancashire College.
- Workshops in the community to show young people how to learn basic 
plumbing, electrical work, plastering, basic literacy and numeracy.  This 
could be a precursor towards a full time course at West Lancashire college.
- Go to any town in the UK and you’ll find parks.  The Plan also has to 
include a large park with grass for football, play equipment and a café with 
tables for supervisory adults.
- The Plan must also have a policy that is additional to the National 
Curriculum.  It should have policies based on teaching people how to 
protect their environment, how not to get into debt and how to buy and 
eat healthily.  It should also teach the benefits of exercise.  This could be 
achieved with links to Aldi, Asda and other food outlets.

64 Comments noted.
With regard to density, it is envisaged there 
will be a general 'standard' but likely scope 
for variation on a site-by-site basis according 
to the characteristics of each site.
Housing mix can be stipulated in policy, 

Housing Density – 
Consideration should be given to proposed densities of housing 
development. Densities should be applied on a site-by-site basis to reflect 
the character of the site and area, rather than being stipulated through 
policy. This approach is supported by Paragraph 47 of the NPPF which 
states that local authorities should set their own approach to housing Page 671



ID Representor Comments Council Response

drawing on the Council's evidence base.density to reflect local circumstances.
Housing Mix -
The emerging Plan should provide a wider range of affordable and market 
housing to meet local housing need. Whilst this is identified within the 
Objectives, it has not been referred to within the social housing issue 
paper. The overall housing mix should be derived from the SHMA, but each 
site and mix should be considered on its own merits.

66 Extensive comments noted.  A significant 
proportion of these comments is copied 
from NPPF / PPG.  The Council is well aware 
of national policy / guidance on plan-
making; the Council is also aware of the 
Solihull Judgment.
Whilst the HEDNA does not consider 
affordable housing needs, an Affordable and 
Specialist Housing Needs Study has been 
undertaken; its results will be taken into 
consideration as policies are prepared.

National Planning Policy Framework
The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) makes clear that 
the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development and that Local Plans should meet full objectively 
assessed needs (OAN) for housing.
The Framework sets out the Government’s commitment to ‘significantly 
boosting the supply of housing’ and how this should be reflected through 
the preparation of Local Plans, it is imperative that the emerging WLLP is 
formulated on the basis of meeting this requirement. In this regard, §47 of 
the Framework sets out specific guidance that local planning authorities 
should take into account when identifying and meeting their objectively 
assessed housing needs and states:
‘To boost significantly the supply of housing, local planning authorities 
should:
- Use their evidence base to ensure that their Local Plan meets the full, 
objectively-assessed needs for market and affordable housing in the 
housing market area, as far as is consistent with the policies set out in this 
Framework, including identifying key sites which are critical to the delivery 
of the housing strategy over the plan period; 
- Identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites 
sufficient to provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing 
requirements… 
- Identify a supply of specific, developable sites or broad locations for 
growth, for - years 6-10, and where possible for years 11-15.’
The starting point of identifying objectively assessed housing needs is set 
out in §159 of the Framework, which requires local planning authorities to 
prepare a Strategic Housing Market Assessment, working with 
neighbouring authorities where housing market areas cross administrative 
boundaries. It is clear from the Framework that the objective assessment of 
housing needs should take full account of up-to-date and relevant evidence 
about the economic and social characteristics and prospects for the area, 
with local planning authorities ensuring that their assessment of and 
strategies for housing and employment are integrated and take full account 
of relevant market and economic signals (§158).
Once a local planning authority has identified its objectively assessed needs 
for housing these needs should be met in full, unless any adverse impacts 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of doing so 
(§14). Local planning authorities should seek to achieve each of the 
economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable 
development, resulting in net gains across all three.
Adverse impacts on any of these dimensions should be avoided. Where 
adverse impacts are unavoidable, mitigation or compensatory measures 
may be appropriate (§152).
To be considered sound at Examination the emerging WLLP will need to 
meet all four of the soundness tests set out in §182 of the Framework. 
Paragraph 182 states:  “A local planning authority should submit a Plan for 
Examination which they consider is ‘sound’ – namely that it is:
• Positively prepared – the plan should be prepared based on a strategy 
which seeks to meet the objectively assessed development and 
infrastructure requirements, including unmet requirements from 
neighbouring authorities where it is reasonable to do so and consistent 
with achieving sustainable development;
• Justified – the plan should be the most appropriate strategy, when 
considered against the reasonable alternatives, based on proportionate 
evidence; Page 672



ID Representor Comments Council Response

• Effective – the plan should be deliverable over its period and based on 
effective joint working on cross boundary strategic priorities; and 
• Consistent with national policy – the plan should enable the delivery of 
sustainable development in accordance with policies in the Framework.” 

Planning Practice Guidance - As the Council will be aware the Government 
published its final suite of Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) on 6th March 
2014, clarifying how specific elements of the Framework should be 
interpreted when preparing Local Plans. Further updates to the PPG have 
been made in the intervening period. The PPG on Housing and Economic 
Development Needs in particular provides a clear indication of how the 
Government expects local planning authorities to take account the 
requirements of the Framework when identifying their objectively assessed 
housing needs. In summary the Housing and Economic Development Needs 
chapter of the PPG states:
Plan makers should not apply constraints to the overall assessment of 
need, such as limitations imposed by the supply of land for new 
development, historic under performance, infrastructure or environmental 
constraints. 
Household projections published by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government should provide the starting point estimate of overall 
housing need.
Household projection based estimates of housing need may need adjusting 
to reflect factors affecting local demography and household formation 
rates which are not captured by past trends, for example historic 
suppression by under supply and worsening  affordability of housing. The 
assessment will need to reflect the consequences of past under delivery 
and the extent to which household formation rates have been constrained - 
by supply.
Where the supply of working age population that is economically active is 
less than the projected job growth, this could result in unsustainable 
commuting patterns and could reduce the resilience of local businesses. In 
such circumstances, plan makers will need to consider how much the 
location of new housing or infrastructure development could help address 
these problems.
If the historic rate of development shows that actual supply falls below 
planned supply, future supply should be increased to reflect the likelihood 
of under-delivery of a plan.
Plan makers should take account of concealed households.
Housing needs indicated by household projections should be adjusted to 
reflect appropriate market signals, as well as other market indicators of the 
balance between the demand for and supply of dwellings. Appropriate 
comparisons of indicators (land prices, house prices etc.) should be made 
with longer term trends in the HMA, similar demographic and economic 
areas, and nationally. Divergence under any of these circumstances will 
require upward adjustment to planned housing numbers.
The more significant the affordability constraints (as reflected in rising 
prices and rents, and worsening affordability ratio) and the stronger other 
indicators of high demand (e.g. the differential between land prices), the 
larger the improvement in affordability needed, and the larger the 
additional supply response should be.
Market signals are affected by a number of economic factors. Plan makers 
should increase planned supply by an amount that, on reasonable 
assumptions and consistent with principles of sustainable development, 
could be expected to improve affordability.

Objectively Assessed Housing Need - The process of undertaking an OAN is 
clearly set out in the Framework principally in §14, §47, §152 - and §159 
and should be undertaken in a systematic and transparent way to ensure 
that the plan is based on a robust evidence base.
The starting point for this assessment requires local planning authorities to 
have a clear understanding of housing needs in their area. This involves the 
preparation of a Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) working Page 673



ID Representor Comments Council Response

with neighbouring authorities where housing market areas cross 
administrative areas as detailed in §159 of the Framework. The Framework 
goes on to set out the factors that should be included in a SHMA including 
identifying: 
“The scale and mix of housing and the range of tenures that the local 
population is likely to need over the plan period which:
• Meets household and population projections taking account of migration 
and demographic change;
• Addresses the need for all types of housing including affordable housing 
and the needs of different groups in the community (such as, but not 
limited to, families with children, older people, people with disabilities, 
service families and people wishing to build their own homes); and
• Caters for housing demand and the scale of housing supply necessary to 
meet this demand.”
Key points that are worth noting from the above is that the objective 
assessment should identify the full need for housing before the Council 
consider undertaking any process of assessing the ability to deliver this 
figure. In addition, §159 specifically relates to catering for both housing 
need and housing demand within the authority area. It is worth pointing 
out that any assessment of housing need and demand within a SHMA must 
also consider the following factors; falling household formation rates, net 
inward migration, the need to address the under provision of housing from 
the previous local plan period, the results of the Census 2011, housing 
vacancy rates including the need to factor in a 3% housing vacancy rate for 
churn in the housing market, economic factors to ensure that the economic 
forecasts for an area are supported by sufficient housing to deliver 
economic growth, off-setting a falling working age population by providing 
enough housing to ensure retiring workers can be replaced by incoming 
residents, addressing affordability and delivering the full need for 
affordable housing in an area.
The need to identify the full OAN before considering any issues with the 
ability of a Local Planning Authority to accommodate that level of 
development has been confirmed in the High Court. The implications of 
OAN following the High Court Judgment in Solihull Metropolitan Borough 
Council v (1) Gallagher Homes Limited (2) Lioncourt Homes Limited where it 
was considered that arriving at a housing requirement was a two stage 
process and that first the unconstrained OAN must be arrived at. In the 
judgement it was stated:
“The NPPF indeed effected a radical change. It consisted in the two-step 
approach which paragraph 47 enjoined. The previous policy’s methodology 
was essentially the striking of a balance. By contrast paragraph 47 required 
the OAN [objectively assessed need] to be made first, and to be given effect 
in the Local Plan save only to the extent that that would be inconsistent 
with other NPPF policies… The two-step approach is by no means barren or 
technical. It means that housing need is clearly and cleanly ascertained. 
And as the judge said at paragraph 94, “Here, numbers matter; because the 
larger the need, the more pressure will or might be applied to infringe on 
other inconsistent policies”.  Therefore following the exercise to identify 
the full OAN for housing in an area, “Local planning authorities should seek 
opportunities to achieve each of the economic, social and environmental 
dimensions of sustainable development, and net gains across all three. 
Significant adverse impacts on any of these dimensions  should be avoided 
and, wherever possible, alternative options which reduce or eliminate such 
impacts should be pursued. Where adverse impacts are unavoidable, 
measures to mitigate the impact should be considered. Where adequate 
mitigation measures are not possible, compensatory measures may be 
appropriate.” (NPPF §152)
This statement clearly sets out that local planning authorities should seek 
to deliver the full OAN and that this should be tested through the evidence 
base. Only where the evidence shows that this is not achievable should 
they then test other options to see if any significant adverse impacts could 
be reduced or eliminated by pursuing these options. If this is not possible 
then they should test if the significant adverse impacts could be mitigated Page 674



ID Representor Comments Council Response

and where this is not possible, where compensatory measures may be 
appropriate.
The final stage of the process is outlined in §14 and involves a planning 
judgement as to whether, following all of the stages of the process outlined 
above, “Local Plans should meet OAN, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to 
rapid change, unless: 
• any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this framework 
taken as a whole; or
• specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 
restricted.”
It is also worth noting that the final part of this sentence refers to footnote 
9 of the Framework which sets out the types of policies that the 
Government consider to be restrictive. These include: “sites protected 
under the Birds and Habitat Directive (see paragraph 119) and/or 
designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green 
Belt, Local Green Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Heritage 
Coast or within a National Park (or the Broads Authority); designated 
heritage assets; and locations at risk of flooding or coastal erosion”.
Although this list is not exhaustive it is clear that local landscape 
designations, intrinsic value of the countryside, the character of areas, 
green gaps etc. are not specifically mentioned as constraints by the 
Framework.
The PPG contains guidance to support local authorities in objectively 
assessing and evidencing development needs for housing (both market and 
affordable) and economic development. This document supports and 
provides further guidance on the process of undertaking such assessments, 
in addition to what is set out in the Framework. 

West Lancashire Strategic Housing Market Assessment Gladman have 
considered the Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment 
(HEDNA) prepared by GL Hearn in March 2017 to support the WLLP Review. 
Gladman are concerned that the report has not specifically assessed the 
need for affordable housing.
This is an important issue which needs to be considered in drawing 
conclusions on the overall assessment of housing need. The report refers to 
the 2009 SHMA which identifies an affordable housing need of 540dpa. This 
is a significant figure which the Council should seek to meet. However, this 
evidence is now 8 years old and it is likely that affordable housing need in 
the borough has changed during this period. It is therefore important, that 
the Council update this piece of evidence in order to ensure that the WLLP 
seeks to meet full OAN.

68 Comments noted and generally agreed - the 
suggestions made / principles outlined tie in 
with the planners' overarching goal of 
'sustainable development' / 'sustainable 
communities'.  Some elements are easier to 
deliver than others, and we are not starting 
from a 'blank canvas' - development is in 
place already.

• Housing developments that encourage a good 'work-life balance' and 
sustainable communities should be supported. 
• A variety of housing is needed with small starter homes and larger homes 
(to encourage working from home) with community facilities and small 
offices close by.
• Small offices (designed to look similar to residential homes) mixed with 
houses that blend in with the housing (not a giant office block or industrial 
units) are helpful for supporting small businesses and a thriving local 
economy. This type of development enables people to walk to work.
• It is vital to have community facilities within close walking distance of 
homes.
• A garden village development would benefit West Lancashire.
• Opportunities for self-build developments are essential.
• I support a strict greenbelt policy, except there should be a minimal 
nibbling away to allow villages to become more sustainable, while 
preserving green space between settlements.
• Housing density needs to allow space for planting small trees and joined 
up pavements where people can easily walk from A to B.  -   -

72 -no
Page 675



ID Representor Comments Council Response

75 The need for facilitation of healthy lifestyles 
is recognised; where possible, planning 
policies can seek to influence / facilitate 
objectives such as healthy / active lifestyles.  
Health and wellbeing is / should be an 
intrinsic consideration in preparing the Local 
Plan Review.

A number of issues have been stated in this section but no policy options 
have been provided to help address them. We would welcome further 
consideration to be given to planning policy options to help facilitate 
healthy lifestyles (including healthy eating, physical activity) and the 
provision of services and facilities for young people and children. We 
recognise that some of these issues may have been addressed elsewhere in 
the Issues & Options papers but thought should be given to where options 
should target the specific needs with regard to young people and children. 
For example, a policy regarding hot food takeaways could be extended to 
include school exclusion areas.

77 Comment noted; this is a laudable aim, but 
under national policy must be balanced 
against other considerations.

Try to keep West Lancs as green and environmentally friendly as possible.

78 Comment noted; this is a laudable aim, but 
under national policy must be balanced 
against other considerations.

Keep West Lancs green open friendly and environmentally a leader

87 Comments noted.  Comments relating to 
affordable housing / housing for young 
people, accommodation for older people, 
HMOs in Burscough, and the possibility of a 
canal marina at Burscough are addressed 
above.
In terms of developer influence in the 
planning system, comments are noted; it is 
understood why this feeling prevails 
amongst many residents.  The need for an 
appropriate balance is recognised.

Overall the paper puts many good points and alternative views, however it 
demonstrates why the developers and landlords arguments dominate in 
their favour on decisions in the Planning process.
In my experience Developers have too much power and take advantage of 
the Planning process with extremely little notice taken of the local residents 
views. In areas of disagreement then more notice needs to be given to 
residents and by creating the right policies this can be achieved. In 
Burscough we have seen developers wanting to build what they want to 
build due to cost and profit and not what the residents need, this must 
change. The developers appear to dominate the planning process and 
therefore there is a need to ensure this is more balanced and with the right 
policies and subsequently working with the right developers the locality will 
obtain a more balanced outcome. In doing things in a different way the 
Council should investigate buying land for developments and having its 
own building operations or working in partnership with others, this could 
prevent the market place being skewed.
In many instances these developments are adding to the problems within 
the locality and currently are unlikely to improve the locality and again with 
the right policies this can be done. We need to move more towards the 
right policies and not have weak potential promises that don’t get 
delivered; any promises made must be backed up with a delivery timescale.
By continuing to build much of the same is adding to the problem not 
solving the problems, there is a need for more elderly housing that they 
want and need depending on their individual situation. It should not just be 
about a block of flats. I would like to see a comprehensive review of elderly 
people’s needs undertaken as I suspect there will be a variety of options 
given. As nationally only 2% of new builds are only for elderly people, 
therefore elderly are not moving from their potentially larger homes and 
making these available as currently there is not more appropriate elderly 
housing available. By getting this right it would free up cheaper housing for 
young people rather than expensive new housing. I welcome some of the 
suggestions for the elderly however one of the big problems is poor 
transport and this must be considerably improved, also having services 
used by the elderly nearby is equally important.
There must also be suitable housing for young couples and single people 
and appropriate housing for people with disabilities and learning difficulties 
who can live in the community, while it is  mention it needs to cover a wide 
range of potential residents needs and situations, however it is essential 
that this is documented and included in any proposals.
In the last few years the housing market has changed quite considerably as 
young people are earning less, temporary/short term employment, having 
difficulty in gaining mortgage and with graduates having large amounts of 
debt the last thing many young people are thinking about is buying an 
expensive house. Young people also see themselves in temporary situations 
in a number of different aspects of their lives yet may wish to live Page 676



ID Representor Comments Council Response

independently and therefore the market place needs to take account of 
this change. The number of houses for affordable housing or social housing 
must be of a higher volume than what currently is achieved to meet this 
changing need.
Burscough is a key shopping destination for those who use the canals, as 
it’s either the first or last stopping point for shopping on the way to and 
from Liverpool, I therefore believe there is a need for a Marina for canal 
boats. 
In having the right policies it is also possible to regenerate the area through 
increasing the footfall. We should also ensure the show people who have 
long been established in the area have proper quality accommodation in 
the right location.
I am aware that HMOs are already causing concerns in Burscough and I feel 
this is an ideal opportunity in which to manage the future situation in 
Burscough as it has the potential to make affordable housing harder to 
obtain due to landlord buying up certain properties, therefore option 3 5% 
limit is suggested as a viable one for should Burscough be included in 1 
Article 4 Area.

90 Comments noted and generally agreed - the 
suggestions made / principles outlined tie in 
with the planners' overarching goal of 
'sustainable development' / 'sustainable 
communities'.  Some elements are easier to 
deliver than others, and we are not starting 
from a 'blank canvas' - development is in 
place already.

•      Housing developments that encourage a good 'work-life balance' and 
sustainable communities should be supported. 
•      A garden village development would benefit West Lancashire.
•      A variety of housing is needed with small starter homes and larger 
homes (to encourage working from home) with community facilities and 
small offices close by.   
•      Small offices (designed to look similar to residential homes) mixed with 
houses that blend in with the housing (not a giant office block or industrial 
units) are helpful for supporting small businesses and a thriving local 
economy.  This type of development enables people to walk to work. 
•      It is vital to have community facilities (such as playing fields) within 
close walking distance of homes.
•      Opportunities for self-build developments are essential.
•      I support a strict greenbelt policy, except there should be a minimal 
nibbling away to allow villages to become more sustainable, while 
preserving green space between settlements.
•      Housing density needs to allow space for planting small trees and 
joined up pavements where people can easily walk from A to B.

96 -AIUH make no specific comment in these respects.

97 -St. Modwen make no specific comment in these respects

99 Comments noted.
With regard to density, it is envisaged there 
will be a general 'standard' but likely scope 
for variation on a site-by-site basis according 
to the characteristics of each site.
Housing mix can be stipulated in policy, 
drawing on the Council's evidence base.

Housing Density – Consideration should be given to proposed densities of 
housing development. Densities should be applied on a site-by-site basis to 
reflect the character of the site and area, rather than being stipulated 
through policy. This approach is supported by Paragraph 47 of the NPPF 
which states that local authorities should set their own approach to 
housing density to reflect local circumstances.
Housing Mix- The emerging Plan should provide a wider range of affordable 
and market housing to meet local housing need. Whilst this is identified 
within the Objectives, it has not been referred to within the social housing 
issue paper. The overall housing mix should be derived from the SHMA, but 
each site and mix should be considered on its own merits.

111 Comments on ageing population noted.This section of our report considered the Social Policy Options Paper which 
considers the planning issues that might affect the different groups of 
people that live, work and spend time in West Lancashire. 
Paragraph 2.1 and 2.2 of the Social Options Paper details the rate of 
increase in aged population within the Borough, as follows: “The 
population in West Lancashire is expected to increase from 111,900 in 2014 
to 116,200 by 2037 representing an increase of 3.8% or additional 4,300 
residents on 2014 levels. This will include a significant increase in the aged 
population but both a proportionate and numerical decrease in the 
working age population. Economic dependency upon the working age Page 677



ID Representor Comments Council Response

population will therefore increase… 
…West Lancashire currently has economic activity rates below both the 
regional and national averages.”
West Lancashire identifies within paragraph 1.2 of the Paper that the 
ageing population is a key issue for the Borough. Our Client agrees and 
supports the Borough in finding the sustainable locations to deliver housing 
for older persons.

Page 678



Question 37: Do you have any general comments to make on the 
Issues and Options consultation?

ID Representor Comments Council Response

2 Yes we think you should adopt the Shropshire councils approach  - allow 
local people to build on greenbelt were possible they have allowed  - 350 to 
build up to now the council specific requirements are the property's can 
only be sold at 60 percent of the value to avoid people cashing in - this 
means only local people do this..as west Lancashire is 98 percent  - green 
belt we feel greenbelt has to be built on or move the boundaries to  - 
release land -  - 

3 I am unable to attend the meeting in Tarleton, but along with a lot of the 
residents in Tarleton we are extremely concerned why the over 
development of this once village is being allowed. The schools are at 
bursting point, with one doctors full and one closing, you cannot register 
with the local dentist. The roads are getting grid-locked and dangerous . 
The houses prices are out of reach of most people who live in the village 
and the loss of community is starting to affect the village (small town).

4 I was brought up in Aughton and have lived in Skelmersdale, Ormskirk and 
now in Burscough, so have seen changes in these areas. I cannot believe 
how congested Ormskirk and Burscough have become. Burscough is 
particulaly bad as the A59 is so narrow through the village. It is quite 
alarming to walk through as pavements in parts are narrow.  - I appreciate 
that councils are having to make decisions to build new houses but I cant 
understand why Skelmersdale is not being looked at. It has so much space 
and 'brown land' to build on. The roads are better in Skem, you never get 
congestion. I thought we needed houses for first time buyers? Then why 
are ALL the new houses that have been and are being built, all around the 
£300,00- £400,000 price?  - Skem has so much to offer, especially if the 
train station goes ahead. It was built as a new town, so has the 
infrastructure. You could really improve the town. - I fear Ormskirk is going 
down hill. I think there are too many students living in the town. I think I 
can comment as I've lived here all my life, I am 48 and have seen huge 
changes. - Burscough will be the same if planning to keep building goes 
ahead. Ormskirk and Burscough  cannot cope with any more traffic or 
houses. Please consider this. Dont ruin whats left..please! Make Skem a 
better place to live for the people there. This is not a case of 'not in my 
back yard' I really think Skem deserves some attention now ...it has so 
much to offer. - 

5 As requested I wish to confirm the following issues. - 1-We are most 
concerned with matters relating to the Crossens Pumping station. - The 
flooding issue is No1 and we prefer to see an increase to rates if thats   
what is required. Flooding would destroy local market gardening 
businesses. - The River Ribble is no longer dredged and the areas defences 
are under threat. - The pumps must not be turned off. -  - 2- We would like 
our road to be adopted by the council. - 

6 Thank you for the opportunity to participate in the preparation of the new 
local plan. -  - I believe planning is an essential ingredient to modern life . I 
am not convinced that the process should take four years to prepare . 
Modern life is evolving ever more quickly and it is vital that we use our 
technology to enable planning to be ongoing so that we do not become 
constrained by a plan which is out of date.  -  - World events show the need 
for more effective communication between all forms of government. 
Constituents are showing a growing restlessness with politicians who lack 
initiative and are unable to deal with any problem without asking for Page 679



ID Representor Comments Council Response

increased revenue . -  - What constituents would prefer is greater 
opportunity to participate. Use local knowledge if necessary on an everyday 
basis . -  - Why cannot best practice be exercised ? Why cannot a more 
holistic approach be utilised to the issues of the day ? -  - As wages diminish 
and central government pass increasing responsibilities  to local 
government you need to provide a much more robust and financially 
effective  approach . -  - Why didn't you send the leaflet Have Your Say with 
your Council Tax invoice?  -  - Thank you for reading this heart felt email . - 

7 With more and more houses being built in the village and more and more 
families moving into them, I find it really worrying as to where all the extra 
school places will be found, how local medical practices will cope with all 
the extra people wishing to register and how our roads – many of which are 
in a very poor state and none of which were designed to carry even the 
current heavy traffic loads – can be expected to hold up under all the extra 
vehicles  !!

8 I believe Housing and Services are pivotal. - Ensure  no more green sites are 
given over for development whether housing or business.Improve the area 
by using brownfield sites currently eyesores. -   - Give greater consideration 
to how future developments especially large sites impact on the 
community they join e,g School, medical,transport.provision. -   - In 
considering the ageing population provide good local facilities including 
libraries open spaces Community centres adult education. -   - Work in 
partnership with other providers to improve public transport local shops 
postoffice G.P and Dentist facilities  and local policing. -   - The emphasis 
should be placed on support for each community within West Lancs. not 
just on the major towns ,Ormskirk Burscough and Skelmersdale. -   - The 
older citizens should be able to enjoy a fulfilled affordable and easier life in 
the place they live. -   - In the current climate the villages are losing all their 
amenities which creates a real risk of considerable negative equity for 
existing residents but more importantly the demise of the villages. -   - In 
respect of supporting travellers to be blunt why is any required? The 
citizens of West Lancs pay their Council Tax at an increasing rate and 
reduced service level each year.Why should any consideration be given to a 
group who make no contribution.I have no objection to the Travellers 
should they either settle down in society or not expect others to fund their 
chosen lifestyle. - 

9 Do not build on greenbelt! 

11 Hi the local plan is a good idea but needs to step up as other councils in 
England  - Are way ahead of west Lancashire council and planning 
department. Playing  - Catch up isn't.showing leadership.the message is 
clear more housing needs  - To be built. - Good luck - 

14 That edge hill needs to become a council partner, work with them -  - That 
transport is very important, particularly cycling, we are a flat landscape. -  - 
That Shale Gas if it can be should be encouraged. -  - That students should 
live on campus

15 I am writing to enquire over the apparent neglection of the town of 
Skelmersdale, West Lancashire's biggest settlement, and how this is 
becoming a more and more apparent issue. -  - Recently, Edge Hill 
University has revealed they are spending more money on their grounds 
alone whereas Skelmersdale is receiving a smaller sum of money to 
maintain the whole town. Although I am aware that Edge Hill University is a 
private business, I find it somehow wrong that almost no money is going to 
even just maintain the town. -  - Ormskirk is a bustling town, with many 
variations of shops, clean roads, better policing and however more and 
more money seems to be spent on the town, even completing needless 
renovations. Skelmersdale has very low policing considering there is 
considerably more crime, and the town isn't being maintained very well at 

Page 680



ID Representor Comments Council Response

all, never mind having more money spent on it to further renovate and 
develop the town.  -  - There have been reports of children getting jumped, 
and attacked in the very insecure and terribly lit subways, and yet the 
council seems to do nothing to improve this, nor even have the urge to 
want to fix this.  -  - I remember vaguely an incident in which a vehicle hit a 
road sign in Skelmersdale and the council took months to acknowledge the 
matter and replace the damaged sign, whereas I am sure in Ormskirk, it 
would be replaced In no more than a couple of days or a week. -  - The road 
services are terrible, and the town's only method of public transport, the 
bus, has equally terrible service, seeming to be cut off from everywhere. 
Everyone seems to always get excited about the train station, which has 
been discussed for over four decades now, and it has never happened. -  - 
The healthcare is terrible, and the town's ever growing population is served 
by a small amount of schools and the fairly recent closure of Glenburn 
college has had a massive impact on this. -  - Finally, I wish to ask you a 
more personal question, have you ever been to an area of Skelmersdale 
such as Tanhouse and seen the poverty, the state of the housing, the rising 
level of crime? And have you seen these rich areas of West Lancashire, 
Mawdsley, for example, and realised the money keeps on going to them? 
Have you realised because of your appalling service to places like 
Skelmersdale it is making poor people poorer and rich people richer? I find 
it disgusting, do you?

19 A Long term outlook is essential. - An environmentally sustainable 
approach is essential

20 This questionnaire has been completed  as a 'joint response' on behalf of 
Aughton Residents Group (2012) of which I am Chairman.  The Consultation 
events  were useful but this online questionnaire has obviously been 
designed for people who have internet access and computer skills. Many of 
the persons who should be involved in the consultation would be unable to 
do so because of its format and complexity. - We look forward to seeing 
that the contributions made are taken into account and acted upon and 
our Group will continue to maintain its interest and involvement..

22 As an environmental scientist I was impressed to learn about the Council's 
initiation of a broad Local Plan.  The issues I find compelling centre on 
population (strongly linked to global warming and pollution) and energy 
production.  I believe trhat these issues need to be introduced now into 
school and further education curricula along with dietary advice in order to 
educate the next generation about the problems they are facing and the 
means of tackling them.  As a start, every attempt to cut population growth 
should be encouraged through education.  To offset the predicted shortage 
of younger workers and the increasing use of robots to perform non-
innovative tasks, older people volunteering to work longer should be 
offered re-training programmes. -   - The ultimate sustainable source of 
energy is solar and, although the efficiency of solar cells in increasing, more 
investment in this field is needed.  For immediate application, extensive use 
sould be made of arrays of solar panels raised on stilts and placed so that 
the land beneath them could still be used for grazing and crop production.  
The productivity of such land might well be improved through (for 
example) temperature increases.  New housing should be roofed with 
devices to generate power.  Solar power could presently compliment wind-
generated power and (through, for example, the use of geostationary 
satellites collecting infra-red and transmitting microwave energy to ground 
stations) solar might eventually supersede wind generation. - 

24 I was pleased to be able to take part in the consultation.  It is very technical 
and hard to understand a lot of the issues the Council has to deal with but 
at least we get the opportunity to have our say.

25 This representation is asking for a minor alteration to the Green Belt Page 681



ID Representor Comments Council Response

boundary at Appley Bridge to correct what is considered to be an error in 
the original drawing up of the boundary. - Please see attached SPD letter 
dated 24th April 2017 and associated Appendix 1 to 3.  This 
correspondence is being submitted further to discussions with WLBC 
Planning Policy Department.

26 This is one the easiest and best consultations I have done - thanks

27 I don't know the answers to the questions in this booklet in this booklet, 
but what concerns me most is the environment for wildlife. Are there going 
to green areas left open? Will there be trees planted? - We cant keep 
building on land and taking natures habitat and it not too have an effect on 
us all. - Also we have a responsibility to ensure the land and nature is still 
there for future generations.

28 The Local Plan is too focused on house building and retail. - Growth in 
housing needs to be balanced against environmental impacts and 
infrastructure. - The focus on retail needs to be reviewed in light of the 
Borough's position in the North West of England and the proximity to City 
Centres and retail parks out of the Borough. Also changing shopping habits 
and the growth of on-line shopping should surely be included. -  - 

30 Many of the options offered are not mutually exclusive.  To make 
Skelmersdale a commuter town by even temporary better rail links will 
strengthen the housing market.  Equally the document should preface all 
references to Skelmersdale by "some parts of" when re writing the spatial 
portrait to reflect adoption, if adopted, of the proposed spatial planning 
areas of West Lancashire.

31 Answering these questions has been a long and difficult process with many 
documents to read in a short period of time. For this reason I doubt there 
will have been many completions of this survey. - Surely there must be 
another local authority in the UK that has achieved this important process 
with good levels of participation. - Please seek out best practice on this 
process and adopt that.

32 For a lay person this has been an extremely challenging task. For personal 
reasons I have become interested in planning and development policy over 
the part few years and therefore have a little understanding of how 
planning departments work, but without that knowledge and a 
determination to have some input I would have given up at the first 
question.

33 We attended the meeting at parbold re local plan we found the meeting 
very interesting and some people had some good ideas we want to live in 
wrightington as this is where we are from we have land there next to our 
grand parents but we have been refused planning it doesn't make sense 
would appreciate any help you can give us

34 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 - The following comments refer to 
the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 - February 2017. Paragraph 2.4 
Ormskirk is identified as a minor flood risk area in association with capacity 
issues and blockage of culverts. - 
high risk area. - Paragraph 3.12 - Zone 3b – Functional Floodplain - Land 
where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood. - 
in 20 or greater annual probability of river or sea flooding in the Definition 
column. - Paragraph 5.18 Ormskirk is identified as a minor flood risk area in 
association with capacity issues and blockage of the culverts, particularly 
the A59 culvert. - 
Paragraph 6.3 However, these EA Flood Maps do not consider the presence 
of flood defences (see following Section 8) nor do they take into account 
the future impacts of climate change - 
(section 8) to 'nor do they visually show the future impacts of Climate 
Change'. - 
account, but is not shown on the maps. - Paragraph 6.6 - It is also of note Page 682



ID Representor Comments Council Response

that there is a risk of fluvial flooding at Mill Bank, Appley Bridge from the 
River Douglas and Calico Brook which could be deep, fast flowing and fast 
onset. Calico Brook is diverted into East Quarry at times of high flow to 
reduce flood risk. - 
is not at flood risk from the River Douglas. - 
changed the diversion into East Quarry, suggest speaking to David Owens, 
West Lancashire. - 
Paragraph 6.17 A critical Drainage Area (CDA) is defined as “an area that 
has critical drainage problems and which has been notified to the Local 
Planning Authority as having such problems by the Environment Agency.” - 

The LPA may designate their own CDAs. - Paragraph 6.9 - We would 
recommend that the SFRA defines Flood Zone 3b functional floodplain. To 
do this you could use the 1 in 20 modelling data from ourselves which can 
be obtained from data.gov.uk or use a proxy based on NPPF. An example of 
this could be undeveloped land in FZ3. - Paragraph 8.1 The Environment 
Agency (EA) is currently developing a Flood Warning Area for Ormskirk 
which will notify residents of potential flooding events. - 
Warning Area has been developed - Paragraph 8.2 – 8.11 - 
information is outdated and is not relevant anymore. Would recommend it 
is removed. Updated information can be provided if needed, but property 
numbers should not be expected. - Paragraph 8.13 These defences consist 
of a pumping station and lengths of levees and protect the settlement of 
Great Altar - 
error of Altcar - Paragraph 8.14 …these defences are constructed to protect 
against a 1 in 50 year flooding event. - 
removing the 1 in 50 year quote. - Paragraph 10.7 Ormskirk has a risk from 
non-fluvial flooding incidents; this can be down to the historic nature of the 
town with older drainage systems… - 
the interaction of the older drainage systems and Sandy Brook. - Paragraph 
10.11 Parbold is located in the east of the Borough. Directly adjacent to this 
settlement lies the River Douglas and Dock Brook which are noted to have 
some associated risks from fluvial flooding, most recently flooding occurred 
in December 2015. In this area raised embankments adjacent to the river 
offer protection from a 1 in 40 flooding event. - 
there are no defences here. - Paragraph 10.13 In addition, Calico Brook has 
been identified as a particular flood risk (given potential depth, speed of 
flow and speed of onset) with diversions into East Quarry at times of high 
flow. - 
Quarry. Refer to the scheme WLBC built. -  - 'Thematic Spatial Evidence 
Papers' - We offer comments on the following Thematic Paper: -  - 8.0 
Water Quality and Resources - We feel that this paper could go into more 
detail as the Borough have at risk waterbodies. We recommend that there 
is a stronger focus in this section on summarising the current status of the 
specific waterbodies within West Lancashire’s Local Planning boundaries. 
This should include a discussion of why only 93% of Alt Crossens 
waterbodies and 96% of the River Douglas waterbodies are currently in less 
than good condition. -  - The baseline summary section should also contain 
a link to water quality and water resources status information in the 
Northwest River Basin Management Plan document –relevant waterbody 
pages in Annex B. -  - Section 8.5 Local Plan Issues - From a biodiversity 
point of view, drainage for agriculture and 3rd party watercourse 
maintenance are topics that could do with a closer look if we are to 
adequately protect waterbodies as ecologically functional habitats. 
Watercourse buffer zones need to be strengthened. -  - Drainage has led to 
peat shrinkage which, without interventions will continue to cause 
management problems in the future. -  - There are some tough challenges 
to improving the ecological functionality in West Lancashire. We would 
recommend that this needs to start with a recognition of where we are in 
terms of physical environment and general land levels issues. -  - If you have 
any queries on our response or would like to discuss any of the topics 
raised in terms of collaborating as part of your Local Plan development we 
would be happy to assist. Page 683



ID Representor Comments Council Response

35 We reserve the right to make further representations in the future and 
consider that the publication of the LCR SHELMA for consultation (currently 
due Spring 2017) will be important for the progression of the Local Plan 
Review. Therefore, further consultation on the Local Plan Review should 
also be undertaken at this time by West Lancashire Borough Council. - We 
would like to take this opportunity to thank West Lancashire Borough 
Council for the opportunity to provide representations on the Local Plan 
Review: Issues and Options. We hope the above is of assistance, however, if 
WLBC require any further information please do not hesitate to contact us.

37 Thank you for giving Scarisbrick Parish Council the opportunity of feeding 
back what the Council believe to be the main issues affecting our Parish. - 
The following 4 areas were seen by the Parish Councillors as needing 
consideration in any forthcoming borough plan. - 1 FLOODING - Flooding 
has been a hot topic for the last few years in West Lancashire as rainfall 
totals have appeared to increase with what is deemed to be climate 
change. - Added to this, the proposed shut down of the 5 pumping stations 
in the Alt Crossens catchment area has highlighted the risk of flooding in 
Scarisbrick and the surrounding villages. Whilst the Environment Agency 
claim that residential properties are not at risk of flooding once the pumps 
are shut down, this is very much doubted by the residents of Scarisbrick. 
Large parts of the Village sit at, or below sea level.  Many acres of the rich 
farmland of the Parish have been created by draining marshland over 200 
years ago. - Whilst appreciating the needs of the Borough Council to build 
more housing across West Lancashire, Scarisbrick Parish Council is very 
concerned that such developments will invariably create additional water 
which has to be pumped out to sea to the west. As most of the larger 
developments being planned in West Lancs are to the east of Scarisbrick, 
this ultimately means additional water being channelled through the Village 
which will undoubtedly put residents and farmland at an increased risk of 
flooding.  - As the Parish Council has previously mentioned, a formal flood 
risk policy should be written into any new plan with specific attention given 
to ‘off- site’ flooding. - Whilst Scarisbrick Parish Council understands the 
principal of sustainable development, it should not come at a price which 
may jeopardise the safety of Scarisbrick residents and their businesses. - 2 
ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE - The roads through the Village were largely built 
many decades ago to serve a rural community. As such, there are many 
roads which are only marginally wider than single track. - The main A570 
cuts through the Village linking Ormskirk to Southport and this road is in a 
reasonable state of repair and has seen reductions to speed limits and a 
speed camera to aid the overall safety of this stretch. - However, sustained 
development in the neighbouring council of Sefton has contributed to 
congestion on the A570 with increased use of Moss roads. Councils have a 
duty to ‘co operate’ yet we have not seen any evidence of this issue being 
addressed. - The numerous B roads in the Parish have fewer limitations on 
speed and are seeing increases in traffic volumes generally, both due to 
rises in population and also they are being used as  ‘back’ routes to 
Southport to avoid the A570 which is notoriously grid locked  in the busier 
summer holiday times. - Many of these B roads are in a very poor state of 
repair and require a radical overhaul to fix the many pot holes evident and 
also require re surfacing to make them fit for purpose.  They also need 
widening as wagons and farm machinery have increased significantly in size 
since these roads were created. - A further concern is for the safety of the 
increasing number of cyclists using village roads.  Such cyclists are at 
greater risk than ever before of injury due to room constraints as large 
commercial vehicles pass them. The cyclists also have to avoid the above 
mentioned pot holes which can cause them to swerve without undue 
warning to passing vehicles. - For similar reasons, many pedestrians feel 
compromised walking through the Village as cars speed by in close 
proximity. - 3 HOUSING - At the last census of 2011 there were 3,865 living 
in the Ward of Scarisbrick, spread out over a land area of approximately 
3,207 hectares which equates to a density of 1.1 people per hectare. - Such Page 684



ID Representor Comments Council Response

a low density is due to the large area of land used for farming. Clearly 
Scarisbrick is a village with a proud history of a buoyant agricultural 
industry, benefitting from many hectares of prime agricultural land. The 
sector still accounts for the generation of wealth in the area and is a 
significant employer to the residents. - Property across the Parish is well 
spread with the Parish having no discernible centre, rather having what are 
known as neighbourhoods which total nine. Latest market figures for house 
prices in Scarisbrick show that the average is £214,619 – with the cheapest 
housing reported being terraced properties which average £180,500. - Such 
a market is not seen to be affordable to the first time buyers of Scarisbrick 
who have little option but to either pay high rents or move to nearby towns 
such as Southport, where housing is significantly cheaper. As such, the 
Village loses ‘born and bred’ locals to the detriment of the Parish as a 
whole. - For the same reason, older residents who may wish to retire have 
little opportunity of downsizing and purchasing retirement property to stay 
within the Village. - The overall result is that housing stock within the Parish 
is outside the reach of the local population and local services are eroded as 
shops, post offices, and police stations are converted to dwellings. This 
leads to lack of community cohesion and an unsustainable reliance on 
motor vehicle and public transport. - As such, the Council would see that 
any long term plan for increasing housing in the Parish is done on the basis 
that affordable schemes are prioritised, rather than being paid ‘lip service’ 
to meet a pre determined quota. These aims can be met by a full revision of 
the housing allocation policy. -  - 4 VILLAGE SERVICES  - Given that 
Scarisbrick has an ageing population – over 20% of the residents are now 
retired or above the retirement age. - There is growing concern of the 
access to Health Care in the Village. There are no longer any primary health 
care providers in Scarisbrick, leaving residents with no choice or alternative 
but to travel to Southport, Ormskirk or Burscough.  - For older people who 
rely solely on Public transport, this is a far from satisfactory situation and 
one which causes great anxiety. - 

38 Thank you for consulting Knowsley Council on the Issues and Options for 
the West Lancashire Local Plan Review. We recognise that there are a 
number of Issues and Options Papers have been published as part of the 
consultation. Our focus has been the review of the Strategic Development 
Options Paper, which we consider has most relevance to sub-regional and 
cross boundary issues of interest to Knowsley Council. - We appreciate the 
need for West Lancashire to plan to meet its objectively assessed needs for 
new residential and employment development, in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). We are generally supportive of 
the principle of West Lancashire growing in accordance with its identified 
needs and ambitions. - As you will be aware, Knowsley Council adopted its 
Local Plan Core Strategy in January 2016. This Plan secures Knowsley’s 
ability to meet its own needs and demands for new housing and 
employment development up to 2028, without the need for assistance 
from neighbouring authorities. Therefore, given our current policy position, 
we do not require West Lancashire to meet any of Knowsley’s development 
needs. -  - Notwithstanding this, we are looking forward to working with 
our Liverpool City Region partners, including West Lancashire, on finalising 
the Strategic Housing and Employment Land Market Assessment (SHELMA), 
and any subsequent work on disaggregating development needs identified 
in this assessment. We would strongly support the commentary at 
paragraph 3.2.11 of the Strategic Development Options Paper, which 
describes the intention to work with neighbouring authorities to finding the 
best solution to meeting any unmet needs and demands for the Liverpool 
City Region. We consider that that the SHELMA, and any subsequent work 
on disaggregation of unmet needs and demands, will need to be completed 
prior to us being able to express a preference for any of the Strategic 
Development Options proposed by West Lancashire. - With respect to the 
options for Local Plan periods proposed at section 3.3.1 of the Strategic 
Development Options Paper, we note that the second option being 
considered is a plan period which runs to 2050. This is considered to be an Page 685



ID Representor Comments Council Response

extremely lengthy period, well beyond usual Local Plan timescales. Indeed, 
as this is beyond the period - covered by the SHELMA (which covers the 
period to 2037), West Lancashire Council - may find it difficult to forecast in 
spatial planning terms need for housing and employment - development up 
to 2050. - We appreciate that the NPPF requires local planning authorities 
to release sufficient land - to meet longer-term development needs, when 
altering Green Belt boundaries, and that a - longer plan period would 
provide more long term certainty. However, our recent - experience with 
the preparation of the Knowsley Local Plan, which included a plan period - 
up to 2028, was that only one housing site was required to be safeguarded 
beyond the - plan period, supplying three years’ worth of additional 
housing land. This approach was - found by an Inspector to be an 
“appropriate” and “reasonable” response to the NPPF’s - objectives. Given 
this, we consider that the option of a plan period up to 2050 has a high - 
risk of being considered unacceptable. This is due to the lack of certainty 
regarding - needs and demands for new housing and employment 
development so far into the future, - and the subsequent difficulty in 
meeting the NPPF’s “exceptional circumstances” test to - release land from 
the Green Belt - We look forward to continued involvement in the 
preparation of the West Lancashire - Local Plan Review and its evidence 
base. We confirm that our central areas of interest - remain strategic 
housing and employment issues, including planning for Gypsies and - 
Travellers. This is in view of our priority to ensure any impacts on 
Knowsley’s - communities, or on our shared housing and employment 
market areas, are addressed.

40 These representations are submitted on behalf of our client, Stretton 
(Ormskirk) Ltd. We note that as part of the SHELAA consultation, the 
Council is undertaking a further call for sites which will in turn inform 
future Allocations. - Our clients site at Cross Hall Brow, Ormskirk, is well 
known to the Council (SHELAA Ref. OA.050). Our client has instructed 
numerous technical investigations that will be supplied to the Council over 
the coming months to demonstrate site suitability and Deliverability. In 
terms of nature of development proposed, our client wishes to bring 
forward a mixed residential scheme that would provide high quality 
market, affordable, elderly and specialist elderly accommodation – a site 
Masterplan will be provided to the Council shortly. - Our client is satisfied 
from technical investigations undertaken to date the site is deliverable and 
the form of development outlined above is viable. In addition, there is a 
clear need for the mix of housing proposed which is not currently being 
achieved from those sites Allocated under the current Local Plan. - General 
Comment - At paragraph 1.1.5 of the Strategic Development Options Paper 
comment is made that the Local Plan is not out of date. It is however clear 
that some policies contained within the Local Plan are not meeting the set 
objective (for example the provision of affordable and elderly 
accommodation), as a result such policies within the Local Plan are failing 
and by virtue must be regarded as out of date and in need of urgent 
review. Whilst our client appreciates the current consultation is reviewing 
such policies, it should be made clearer in this pre-text what policies are 
currently failing to deliver the stated objective and therefore are in need of 
urgent review / amendment or replacement.

41 I am sure that many people will focus on other topics so my comments 
relate mainly to climate change and the environment . -  - We know that 
climate change is an important problem but the recent floods in the area 
suggest there is much worse to come . As there is also a clear need to 
provide more and affordable housing in the area I believe it is important 
that there should be greater emphasis on the quality and energy efficiency 
of such housing . As an example the new development in Charnwood Close 
in Burscough is perhaps an indicator of how we should proceed .  Before re-
development this was a derelict site and perhaps a net absorber of carbon 
dioxide but after its re-development I estimate  that these houses will emit 
in total somewhere in the region of  20 tonnes of carbon dioxide per year . 

Page 686



ID Representor Comments Council Response

As it is estimated that 1 tonne of carbon dioxide will cause about 3 square 
metres of sea ice to melt each year  a considerable amount of ice will 
disappear over the coming decades just due to this small development . -  - 
Likewise the development in Burscough in and around Ainscough's old mill 
also suggest that more needs to be done . It seems that the EPC rating of 
the new flats may be actually worse than that of another older renovation 
and of course the derelict area surrounding the mill was probably also a net 
absorber of carbon dioxide as well . The situation of green field sites is even 
worse as it is clear that there will be net absorption before building and 
substantial emissions afterwards unless great pressure is placed on builders 
to act more responsibly .  If on the other hand builders of affordable 
housing  and other houses can be encouraged to build such housing with 
integrated solar panels this means lower fuel costs for the eventual owner 
and possibly even lower taxes for council tax payers . Of course if many of 
these new houses are low to zero emissions then we will need less wind 
turbines which some will appreciate on aesthetic grounds and it is 
therefore clearly  is a win win situation  . -  - Whilst litter is a continuing 
problem and difficult to deal with I wonder if it might be possible to extend 
the number of plastic containers that can be recycled particularly as the 
number of products in plastic seems to be increasing as an ever faster rate . 
Alternatively I would hope that large shops and supermarkets could be 
badgered into using recyclable materials rather than going for the cheapest 
and in some cases removing some or all the packaging altogether . Do we 
really cardboard sleeves on top of plastic tubs ? - 

42 We have no general comment at this time.

43 Lancashire County Council (LCC) School Planning Team (SPT) would like to 
thank WLBC for the opportunity to be included in the consultation and 
respond accordingly. Having the opportunity to respond to the consultation 
allows LCC to provide the current situation within mainstream schools and 
the impact housing developments will have on future capacity and school 
place provision. - Currently LCC School Planning Team are consulting on the 
draft School Place Provision 2017/2017 to 2019/2020. The consultation 
document has been sent to all partnering planning authorities. The 
document will highlight the increasing financial challenges faced within 
local authorities and the education provision across Lancashire. You can 
review the consultation using the link below: 
http://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/performance-inspections-
reviews/children-education-and-families/school-organisation-reviews/draft-
school-place-provision-strategy-201718-to-201920.aspx - Overall 
Summary - Section 14 of the Education Act 1996 dictates that Lancashire 
County Council's statutory obligation is to ensure that every child living in 
Lancashire is able to access a mainstream school place in Lancashire. Some 
children have Special Educational Needs for which they access school 
provision outside of Lancashire. Special Educational Needs provision is 
managed by LCC's SEND Team and is not covered by this response. - The 
Strategy for the provision of school places and school's capital investment 
2015/16 to 2017/18 provides the context and policy for school place 
provision and schools capital strategy in Lancashire. Over the coming years 
Lancashire County Council and its local authority partners will need to 
address a range of issues around school organisation in order to maintain a 
coherent system that is fit for purpose, stable, and delivering the best 
possible outcomes for children and young people. - Pressure for additional 
school places can be created by an increase in the birth rate, new housing 
developments, greater inward migration and parental choice of one school 
over another. If local schools are unable to meet the demand of a new 
development there is the potential to have an adverse impact on the 
infrastructure of its local community, with children having to travel greater 
distances to access a school place. - In a recent letter from the DfE to all 
local authority Chief Executives, the Minister of State for Housing and the 
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Schools jointly stated that 

Page 687



ID Representor Comments Council Response

'where major new housing developments create an additional need for 
school places, then the local authority should expect a substantial 
contribution from the developer towards the cost of meeting this 
requirement.' - The SPT produces an Education Contribution Methodology 
which outlines the - Lancashire County Council methodology for assessing 
the likely impact of new housing developments on school places, where 
necessary mitigating the impact, by securing education contributions from 
developers. - In order to assess the impact of a development the School 
Planning Team consider demand for places against the capacity of primary 
schools within 2 miles and secondary schools within 3 miles. These 
distances are in line with Lancashire County Councils Home to School 
Transport Policy. Planning obligations will be sought for education places 
where Lancashire primary schools within 2 miles and/or Lancashire 
secondary schools within 3 miles of the development are: - • Already over-
subscribed, - • Projected to become over-subscribed within 5 years, or - • A 
development results in demand for a school site to be provided. -  - 
Lancashire County Council School Planning Team would like to thank WLBC 
Planning Department again for the inclusion in their latest consultation and 
for their continued support in the provision of education place planning in 
West Lancashire

44 We have a very good quality of life in Lancashire, but we do need to 
continue to make progress  --  for all residents.  These are carefully thought 
out targets which I would be willing to discuss with you at any time.  
Resident since 1982.

46 The regeneration of Skelmersdale should play a central role within the 
Local Plan and due to the size of the task the LP should be extended to 
2050. - The challenges of the environmental improvements needed and 
Housing /employment issues needed to be addressed are counter-balanced 
with the huge potential of Skelmersdale which now has an enviable 
position within the North West Region with all the basic features that could 
put it at a huge advantage. In short, the original development of 
Skelmersdale needs finishing but within the  modern day context of utilising 
the 'Garden Town' design  - The 'branding' image of Skelmersdale can be 
transformed through developing a long term plan which addresses the 
shortcomings and builds on a positive 'Growing from the Green' image by 
attracting new industries, housing and 'Garden Villages'. A boost in 
confidence in Skelmersdale will result in an even larger boost in the 
confidence of theBorough of West Lancashire. 

48 The economic issues are fairly complex and not so easy to address. Finding 
the relevant  background policy options and being able to refer to them as 
part of this consultation response requires diligence and some computer 
skills that would daunt a fair section of the community. - Whilst we 
appreciate the efforts made to make the issues understandable, more work 
is needed to instruct consultees on how to access the relevant policy 
options and flick between these and the consultation questionaire. 

49 Thanks for the opportunity to have a say in our town's future plan. - I have 
lived in Skelmersdale since 1970 and can honestly say I have not looked 
back. My husband and I have always been employed, my children have had 
a fantastic education and we had an opportunity to have a better future. - 
However I feel increasingly saddened that that bright future was stripped 
away from us and we are just a forgotten town instead of a progressive 
new one. - We need to get back to basics and invest in our people, let's be 
proud once again. - I totally agree with what you have in mind. First 
educate, second invest in employment opportunities for those educated 
children and provide them with good housing and amenities to help retain 
and build our town. - We also need to think what our communities need..... 
not rocket science but someone with a vision to help make it possible. - We 
sadly lack in venues for the young be it sporting, creative or social. We lack 
support for the elderly and disabled. We lack good quality shopping(so our 
money is spent outside the town). We don't have a hospital.We don't have Page 688



ID Representor Comments Council Response

a cemetery................ - Bearing that in mind if you had a business would you 
invest??????????? - I look forward to positive thinking bringing positive 
action.  - 

50 Thank you for inviting Highways England to comment upon the Issues & 
Options stage consultation of the Local Plan review for the Borough of 
West Lancashire. - Highways England has been appointed by the Secretary 
of State for Transport as a strategic highway company under the provisions 
of the Infrastructure Act 2015. Highways England is responsible for 
operating, maintaining and improving the SRN in England, in accordance 
with the Licence issued by the Secretary of State for Transport (April 2015) 
and Government policies and - objectives. - Highways England’s approach 
to engaging with the planning system is governed by the advice and 
guidance set out in The Strategic Road Network Planning for the Future - A 
guide to working with Highways England on planning matters (2015). - The 
document is written in the context of statutory responsibilities as set out in 
Highways England’s Licence, and in the light of Government policy and 
regulation, including the: - 

Order (England) 2015 (DMPO); and DfT Circular 02/2013 The Strategic Road 
Network and the delivery of sustainable development (‘the Circular’). - 
Overview Highways England has undertaken a review of the West 
Lancashire Issues & Options Consultation Local Plan. The consultation 
documents consist of a number of topic papers rather than one draft 
document, and also include a number of supporting documents to provide 
the - underpinning evidence for the development aspirations and policies 
for the Borough, which are - also to be reviewed where relevant. The 
documents to be reviewed therefore include: - 
Options Paper; - 
Options Paper; - 
Plan 2016/17; and - 
on identifying whether the aspirations, policies and allocations within the 
documents presented to us by West Lancashire Borough Council create a 
potential for there to be impact upon the safety, operation and capacity of 
the Strategic Road Network (SRN). - There are few SRN routes in and 
around West Lancashire; the M58 runs across the southern boundary of 
the Borough in a roughly east-west alignment, through the southern extent 
of Skelmersdale, while the M6 lies just to the east of the Borough 
boundary, providing north – south connectivity. - It is understood that the 
M58 is currently considered to generally operate within capacity, although 
there are localised issues at the terminus junctions, in particular at Switch 
Island (the confluence of the M58, M57 and a number of ‘A’ roads). There 
are also operational and safety concerns at junction 26 (the eastern 
terminus of the M58) and junction 27 of the M6. Whilst only junction 27 of 
the M6 lies within the Borough boundary, there is potential for the 
development aspirations of the Borough to have an impact upon the wider 
SRN outside of the Borough. - At this early stage in the development of the 
Local Plan, it is Highways England’s role to provide initial comments, raise 
potential issues and make recommendations where appropriate. - 
Highways England’s key guidance document, The Strategic Road Network: 
Planning for the Future (2015) states that: - “The preparation of local plans 
provides an opportunity to support a pattern of development that 
minimises the need for travel, minimises journey lengths, encourages 
sustainable travel, and promotes accessibility for all. This can contribute to 
the achievement of environmental objectives and reduce the cost to the 
economy arising from the environmental, business and social impacts - 
associated with traffic generation and congestion.” - Paragraph 65 sets out 
the role of Highways England take in facilitating this: - “For all these reasons 
we are keen to contribute to the plan-making process. We can help you 
identify the most suitable locations for development that make best use of 
the capacity on the SRN, so encourage you to engage with us from the 
earliest stages of thinking.” - At this early stage in the Local Plan process, 
the evidence supporting the emerging Plan is very much in its inception Page 689



ID Representor Comments Council Response

phases. The documents do not set out any allocations or their potential 
uses at this stage, and instead offer various strategic scenarios for 
consideration. In accordance, the - comments made at this stage will be of 
a correspondingly high level. - The review will also pay cognisance to 
Paragraph 67, which states that: - “In supporting and considering draft local 
plans, we will seek to influence the scale and patterns of development so 
that it is planned in a manner which makes best use of capacity on the SRN 
and will not compromise the fulfilment of the primary function of the SRN. 
Ideally, development locations should be chosen that would minimise the 
need for travel and facilitate the use of - sustainable transport.” - 
Therefore, while it is recognised that the location of towns such as 
Skelmersdale present opportunities to capitalise on the connectivity of the 
SRN, it is also essential to ensure that every step is taken to minimise 
unnecessary travel and to promote the use of the SRN in a sustainable 
manner. -  - As we expect at this early stage in the Local Plan process, the 
Issues & Options draft covers topics such as the scale of development, 
location for development, and the duration of the plan period within the 
Borough, but does not yet provide certainty over West Lancashire Borough 
Council’s preferred approach to these. Furthermore, whilst there is an 
identified potential - requirement to accommodate the unmet needs of the 
LCR, it should be noted that many of the Boroughs within the LCR are still in 
the process of producing Local Plans or Core Strategies. - The Strategic 
Development Options Topic Paper presents three ‘variables’ concerning the 
amount and distribution of growth in the borough, and the length of the 
plan period, which will run from 2012 to either 2037 or 2050. - These 
Strategic Development Option ‘variables’ present the potential for 
significant development around Skelmersdale, an area targeted for 
regeneration and with the strongest links in the Borough to the SRN. In this 
context, we believe the needs of both the Borough and the unmet needs of 
the LCR for employment land, particularly large-scale logistics, are likely be 
focussed around Skelmersdale. - However, the implications for the SRN are 
not necessarily focussed solely on Skelmersdale. - Especially under variables 
for higher levels of development and a longer plan period, there is potential 
for development throughout the Borough, and possibly for an entirely new 
settlement. It is noted that at this stage, there is no clarification on where 
such a settlement would be located. - While Highways England does not 
seek to discount particular locations for development simply because it 
increases demand for the SRN, it is essential to encourage patterns of 
development that promote sustainable travel and minimise the necessity to 
travel on the SRN. - It has already been identified through discussions 
between Highways England and West Lancashire Borough Council that the 
preparation of the highways evidence to support the Local Plan is in its 
early stages, with the documents presented as part of the consultation 
discussing the - existing provision and current issues, in addition to 
presenting data on travel patterns and demographics, rather than 
identifying any future requirements. - Highways England will work as a 
proactive partner with West Lancashire Borough Council in formulating its 
evidence base for site allocations and policy requirements. Although certain 
strategic development options are immediately likely to be more 
sustainable, it is impossible to categorically discount or firmly support any 
options without a robust evidence base. - It is essential that this evidence 
base takes into account the significant cross-boundary movements 
between the Borough and its neighbours, and the potential for increased 
freight and HGV movements along the M58 corridor. While the M58 could 
be considered to be under-capacity, the potential development in both 
West Lancashire and the LCR - presents the potential for significant impacts 
outside the Borough boundaries at the M58 terminus junctions, particularly 
at Switch Island. Furthermore, dependant on the strategic development 
variables chosen, significant development to the north of the Borough 
could increase demand at junction 27 of the M6 (particularly if this were 
not progressed in a sustainable manner) and result in increased commuting 
toward Preston and Chorley. - 

Page 690



ID Representor Comments Council Response

51 I understand the 3 main themes of the local plan are Residential, the 
Economy and the Environment. - I have read the leaflet and considered the 
over-riding issues that will impact on the plan.  -  - It would seem to me that 
the greatest area of need is to use the plan to boost employment, and 
make residential development more attractive in Skelmersdale. This is 
important in order to improve the town's image and even out the 
inequalities that exist within the Burgh.  - This is a difficult task, a situation 
that has not improved over decades. - It would seem to me that the 
overarching  problem is centred around the inequality in educational 
aspirations and opportunity.  Skelmersdale exports its most able  students 
post 11 to Ormskirk, Burscough, Upholland, Rainford, Shgevington, Orrell 
and other localities, at great monthly costs to the parents. The 
consequence of this, is that those left behind are not a cross section of any 
community, they tend to be the most vulnerable, from less affluent homes. 
This results in the secondary schools having great difficulty in meeting 
Ofsted's  "good" criteria, resulting in a downward spiral of aspiration and 
reputation. This has dire consequences for the workforce and residential 
land values. - To be clear, "good" schools raise land and property values, 
create a skilled workforce and a buoyant economy, and a joined up 
community. - It is urgent that all those involved in the plan get their heads 
together to find ways to encourage the town's parents to invest  their 
children's education in the town, for the future economic wellbeing of the 
wider community.  - If the town is to grow, then the old Glenburn site must 
be retained at the heart of the community for future educational needs. 
The site should be removed from its Town Centre classification and 
protected. It makes no sense for the most deprived to have to travel to the 
other side of town. Nor does it make sense that the Burgh's roads are 
choked by parents ferrying children miles to school. -  - We are lucky that 
West Lancashire is the green lung between large urban areas of 
Merseyside, Greater Manchester and Central Lancashire. Inspite of obvious 
pressures long may it stay that way. Though I accept that villages in the 
green belt will need to grow to be sustainable, the green belt must be 
maintained. Settlements need to maintain their identity and not merge. 
Ormskirk is all but one field away from Burscough, and Dalton has only a 
"protected field" from Skelmersdale.  -  Most of the Burgh is grade 1 and 2 
agricultural land, with the uncertainties of Brexit, it is important that it is 
maintained for farming purposes. I support the idea of renewable energy, 
but it must not conflict with the rural environment or the green belt. 
Renewables should form in the main, part of the built environment. Solar 
panels are for the roofs of factories and warehouses, build into the new 
housing stock, or lining our industrial area. Biomass could heat housing 
complexes, and wind turbines need to be in scale with the industrial 
environment they provide energy to serve. -  - Thank you for giving us the 
opportunity to give views at this stage in the plan. I look forward to expand 
these ideas at any time within this round or the next of the consultation 
process.

54 Cushman & Wakefield has been instructed by Newtyle Property Company 
to submit representations in - relation to the current consultation on the 
West Lancs Local Plan Review: Issues and Options Papers. - Background - 
Our client owns land and property at Derby House, Mossey Lea Road, 
Wrightington. The site is currently - occupied by a single storey building 
containing successful local retail facilities. Our client also owns - 
approximately 6 hectares of agricultural greenfield land located adjacent to 
Derby House as shown at - Appendix 1. - Representations - These 
representations provide comment on the following issues identified within 
the Strategic Development - Options Paper: - 1. Issue 1 – Amount of 
development land - 2. Issue 3 – Distribution of new development - 3. Issue 
4 – Location of new development -  - In summary, our representations 
provide comment on the issues and options presented in the current West 
Lancs Local Plan Review: Issues and Options Papers, particularly the 
importance of Derby House to the local economy, and the availability of the 
adjacent 6 hectares of land for future development. - Alongside this Page 691



ID Representor Comments Council Response

representations, we have also submitted Derby House and land at Derby 
House, Wrightington to the SHELAA consultation for further consideration 
of its suitability for development. - We respectfully request that we are 
kept informed as to the progress of the West Lancs Local Plan Review, 
including being notified of future opportunities to comment.

56 These representations have been prepared by Lichfields on behalf of Taylor 
Wimpey UK Limited [Taylor Wimpey]. They form Taylor Wimpey’s response 
to the West Lancashire Local Plan Review Issues and Options Consultation 
and are submitted to West Lancashire Borough Council [WLBC] for 
consideration in the formulation of a new Local Plan for the Borough. - 
These representations are submitted in the context of Taylor Wimpey’s 
interest in several parcels of land at Appley Bridge. In respect of the land at 
Appley Bridge, comments are also being made to the Strategic Housing and 
Employment Land Availability Assessment [SHELAA] consultation alongside 
these representations. - Taylor Wimpey welcomes the early review of the 
Local Plan and the pro-active approach being taken by the Council to 
ensure that the Local Plan is up-to-date and embraces the concept of 
sustainable development. - These representations mainly focus on the 
Strategic Development Options Paper [SDO Paper] but comments are also 
provided on specific relevant issues raised in the following: - 1 Spatial 
Portrait Paper; - 2 Environmental Policy Options Paper; - 3 Social Policy 
Options Paper; and, - 4 Duty to Co-operate Statement. - In this context, 
Taylor Wimpey reserves the right to comment in greater detail on specific 
issues raised in any of the Papers at subsequent stages in the formulation 
of the New Local Plan. -  - The Framework [§178-181] covers ‘planning 
strategically across local boundaries’ and sets out a requirement for local 
planning authorities [LPAs] to demonstrate evidence of having effectively 
co-operated to plan for cross-boundary issues when their Local Plans are 
submitted for examination. In order to ensure that the new Local Plan can 
be found sound at examination, the Council must work with neighbouring 
authorities, and provide evidence of doing so as part of the plan-making 
process. - The process for preparing the Local Plan accords with the 
requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, and is 
therefore generally supported by Taylor Wimpey. -  - Taylor Wimpey also 
welcomes the Council’s approach to the Duty to Co-operate set out in the 
Duty to Co-operate [DtC] Paper and §1.1.11 of the SDO Paper and in 
particular welcomes that WLBC has signed the Liverpool City Region [LCR] 
Statement of Co-operation. - Taylor Wimpey agrees with §2.10 of the DtC 
Paper which states that: - “From a strategic planning perspective, the 
Council co-operates most closely with the authorities in the Liverpool City 
Region, given that West Lancashire is most closely aligned economically and 
in terms of housing markets with the City Region.” - It is noted that Table A 
of the DtC Paper identifies the following: - 1 Green Belt release may be 
required in West Lancs to meet housing need and ensure flexibility in 
delivery; and, - 2 WLBC will maintain on-going dialogue with the other 
authorities in the LCR and formal consultation with neighbouring 
authorities through the Local Plan Review will identify whether any LCR or 
neighbouring authorities have any unmet housing need which West Lancs 
may be asked to accommodate through a redistribution of housing need. - 
Taylor Wimpey supports the Council’s acknowledgment that West 
Lancashire may need to accommodate some of the unmet housing need 
from the Liverpool City Region and that Green Belt release may be 
necessary in order to do so. -  - These representations form Taylor 
Wimpey’s response to the West Lancashire Local Plan Review Issues and 
Options Consultation. - Taylor Wimpey welcomes the early review of the 
Local Plan and the pro-active approach being taken by the Council to 
ensure that the Local Plan is up-to-date. - The Local Plan should set a 
housing target higher than the OAN to provide enough flexibility and choice 
to help ensure that enough housing is delivered over the plan period. The 
OAN for housing should be based on robust evidence and should align with 
the OAN for employment land for the Borough. Furthermore, the Council 
must consider meeting any unmet need from neighbouring authorities in Page 692



ID Representor Comments Council Response

the LCR as part of the overall housing requirement and Taylor Wimpey 
welcomes the Council’s approach to the Duty to Co-operate in this regard. - 
The plan period should last for a minimum of 15 years and it is welcomed 
that the Council is considering an extended period to 2050. In any case, the 
Council should retain the approach taken in the currently adopted Local 
Plan with regards to safeguarded reserve sites to provide greater 
flexibility. - Whilst the focus of new development in the new Local Plan may 
be the key service centres, the Council must ensure that the sustainable 
growth of other settlements in the Borough is adequately supported by 
distributing an appropriate level of development to the more rural areas. - 
The Local Plan should not impose, through policy, any additional 
burdensome requirements on developments in terms of energy 
performance or accessibility. - We trust that these representations will be 
fully considered in the formulation of the new West Lancashire Local Plan 
and would be grateful if you could keep us informed as to the details of the 
next stage of consultation.

57 No

58 1. Thank you for consulting the Home Builders Federation (HBF) on the 
issues and options papers for the West Lancashire Local Plan Review. - 2. 
The HBF is the principal representative body of the housebuilding industry 
in England and Wales and our representations reflect the views of our 
membership of multinational PLCs, through regional developers to small, 
local builders. Our members account for over 80% of all new housing built 
in England and Wales in any one year including a large proportion of the 
new affordable housing stock. - 3. We would like to submit the following 
brief comments to selected questions from the issues papers. A more 
detailed response will be provided during later stages of plan making. The 
following comments are organised under the relevant questions and 
headings of the various issues papers. -  - The HBF is pleased to note that 
the Council has produced a Duty to Co-operate Statement at this early 
stage of the plan review. The statement clearly indicates that the Council is 
working with neighbouring authorities upon a number of significant cross-
boundary issues, including the preparation of joint evidence. Successful 
compliance with the requirements of the duty will be dependent upon how 
the plan responds to the issues identified. - 5. The main concerns of the 
HBF relate to housing need and delivery. In this regard we are pleased to 
note that the Council remains committed to the Liverpool City Region (LCR) 
Strategic Housing and Employment Land Market Assessment (SHELMA). 
The HBF understands that a draft of this report will shortly be consulted 
upon. The SHELMA will have significant implications for West Lancashire 
and LCR authorities and will need to be given full consideration at the next 
stage of consultation upon the plan. In terms of the duty to co-operate, as 
recognised by paragraph 3.2 of the Duty to Co-operate Statement, West 
Lancashire will need to determine not only whether it can meet its own 
needs but whether it will be required to assist in meeting the needs of 
other LCR authorities. The Council will also be required to consider other 
neighbouring authorities who are not part of the LCR. -  - I would be happy 
to discuss any of the above comments in greater detail. The HBF would also 
like to be kept informed of future progress upon the Local Plan Review and 
associated documents and provide contributions to their production, as 
appropriate.

59 There has been considerable confusion about the use of “Review” in the 
title of this proposal. What is proposed is not only a Local Plan lasting at 
least ten years beyond the term of the current, adopted, version but 
possibly one lasting thirteen years beyond that. However, this contrasts 
starkly with the reason stated for carrying out this exercise now (changes in 
Government policies). What is there to stop a new Government introducing 
further major planning policy changes after the imminent General Election, 
or after the General Election following that?  The current Local Plan was 
considered to be ‘sound’ by a Government Inspector and was adopted only 
four years ago. It contains the statement (at 3.3) “As preparation and Page 693



ID Representor Comments Council Response

implementation of the Local Plan progresses, the indicators and targets 
may be revised in accordance with the Plan-Monitor-Manage Guidance”, so 
there is no overriding imperative to rush into preparing a completely new 
plan now, flawed though the existing Plan is, in our opinion. -  - During 
preparation of the 2012-2027 Local Plan and through to the Local Plan 
Inquiry in 2012, we pointed out the folly of concentrating development 
targets so strongly on Skelmersdale and events since then have proved us 
right. There is still no town centre development, nine years after the SPD 
was adopted; the concept of that development has changed out of all 
recognition and not for the better. Deprivation in certain areas continues 
and the run-down housing estates are still present. In addition, a vital 
opportunity to re-configure and improve the out of date industrial sites 
while there were many empty properties (see Local Plan adopted in 2006) 
has been missed. - We pointed out in 2012 that the housing numbers 
would not deliver the right types and numbers of homes in the right places 
and, especially, that plans for delivery of affordable housing were “pie in 
the sky”. The outcome, as we predicted, is that developers have been 
concentrating on building  expensive three- and four-bedroomed homes at 
market prices, when 70% of the need was stated to be for truly affordable 
homes; the target proposed was for new housing to contain 35% affordable 
units, with no means of enforcing even that figure. The inevitable result will 
be an over-supply of expensive, unaffordable, market housing which will do 
nothing to meet local needs. Perversely, this current Local Plan directs the 
majority of housing development to the area of lowest need for affordable 
housing (Skelmersdale), which also happens to be the least sought-after for 
market-priced housing. It is not difficult to see why this approach has not 
been working.  -  - It defies logic to state that there should be a massive 
over-supply of market priced houses, just to deliver the right number of 
affordable homes. With the approach being adopted by developers of 
(reluctantly) providing a 10% ”affordable” content of their estates, when 
the need is for 70% (as stated at the 2012 Inquiry), that would mean 
building seven times as many market priced houses as are needed, just to 
supply enough affordable homes. Most strikingly, such an approach will 
lead to severe waste of development land and possibly the eventual 
collapse of the market for speculatively-built housing in the Borough. More 
likely is that development will be constrained by developers to match 
market-priced demand and the local need will remain unmet. This would 
entail large numbers of people moving into West Lancashire from other 
areas and commuting daily out of the area to their existing places of work. 
That is not planning for success!    -  - The current Plan provides a review 
process for housing development sites. It includes “plan B” sites which have 
come under pressure from developers to be brought forward and which 
the Borough Council has had great difficulty in defending. This is a direct 
result of over-forecasting the local need for market-priced housing and 
treating the whole housing market as a single entity. - The objective of 
avoiding well-qualified young  people having to move out of West 
Lancashire will not be achieved unless homes which are affordable are 
made available and in the locations where they want to live. Affordability 
relies on pay rates, which in turn rely on the types of employment which 
are available. Unfortunately, agricultural occupations are too few and too 
poorly-paid, whereas retail and logistics jobs are just too poorly paid. It is 
the large cities that have better-paid jobs but why should young people 
commit themselves to long and expensive daily commutes along congested 
roads or on unreliable and increasingly scarce public transport, in order to 
take on those jobs? Outward movement of such people seems 
inevitable. -  - For those young people who do stay within the Borough 
there has to be more imaginative thinking about where, and in what types 
of housing, they might live. At the other end of the age scale, older people 
will not move to live in areas which they consider to be problem areas and 
yet they need to have accessible services. At both ends of the scale, good 
public transport is a key enabler that is becoming increasingly rare. -  - As 
regards warehousing and freight, the M58 motorway is a link for freight 
traffic from Liverpool to the M6 but only for north-bound traffic. (South- Page 694



ID Representor Comments Council Response

and east- bound traffic will take the M57 to the A580 or the M62, or to the 
M56 near Runcorn). The M58 link is already under pressure of congestion 
at the M6 junction at certain times of the day, so it makes no sense to plan 
for major growth in freight traffic moving along this route. -  - In addition, 
freight traffic carried by road has been used by the Council to justify 
building massive warehouses around Skelmersdale. However, such 
warehouses have not been a huge success, with units being divided in 
order to find tenants and the pattern now is that massive warehouses will 
not produce large numbers of jobs, other than for HGV drivers, who are in 
short supply. Such jobs, in any case, will not form the basis of the higher-
paid employment which would underpin the regeneration of Skelmersdale; 
nor will physical expansion of the town into the surrounding Green Belt. 
The starting point for long awaited regeneration should be to improve the 
town as it exists now. -  - Looking beyond Skelmersdale, as the Plan should, 
there is the need to deal with inadequate sewage treatment infrastructure 
and the flows of surface water, not just out of flood-prone areas but into 
them as well. The uncertainty of continued pumped drainage from a large 
part of West Lancashire needs to be dealt with urgently if development in 
those areas is not to create further problems of flooding. However, it will 
not be beneficial to re-locate development requirements from those areas 
to higher-lying areas because the water will simply flow into those flood 
prone areas. Such re-location of development would also place undue 
development- and social- pressures on the higher-lying areas, so there is 
very good reason for reducing the overall target numbers to allow for a 
moratorium (or at least a severe restriction) on development in flood-prone 
areas, thereby acknowledging the undesirability, in planning terms, of 
building within them. - Thus, the responsibility to co-operate with other 
authorities has to be tempered by the natural restriction on sustainable 
development within West Lancashire. We note the following caveat, which 
has great importance, in our opinion: “the Local Plan should fully meet an 
area’s objectively-assessed need for development unless there are over-
riding adverse impacts of doing so which would outweigh the benefits of 
doing so”. -  - One major component of a successful Local Plan is the day to 
day decision-making in relation to planning applications. This has been 
woefully inadequate in respect of affordable housing starts and purpose-
built homes for the elderly. -  - There is a distinct possibility that time spent 
on producing a new Local Plan now will prove to be abortive. We should let 
the political and economic situation in the country settle down before 
making major new plans for the future but, in the meantime, huge effort 
must be directed towards the improvement of infrastructure within West 
Lancashire, starting with transport and flooding issues, to enable proper 
choices to become available at the right time.

60 6.1	The site which we are promoting as part of this representation is Parrs 
Lane, Aughton. The site is allocated in the adopted Local Plan as a Plan B 
site (Policy GN2(a)(i)). Therefore it has not been assessed in the SHELAA as 
the suitability of the site and the principle of development has been 
accepted.  - 6.2	The Council will be well aware of this site as it was the 
subject of a conjoined Inquiry in May 2016 and two separate appeal 
decisions in August 2016 and December 2016. The August 2016 decision for 
Wainhomes was allowed. However that appeal has been challenged by the 
Council due to a mathematical error in the Inspector’s housing land supply 
calculation. That challenge will be heard in July this year, however the 
fundamental point for this LPR consultation is that the site was deemed to 
be a suitable and deliverable location for development.  Indeed all site 
specific matters were agreed through the Statement of Common Ground 
with the Council with the only issue being the timing of release.  - 6.3	The 
December 2016 appeal decision for Redrow Homes was dismissed solely on 
the lack of a policy compliant Section 106 agreement being submitted. This 
decision has been successfully challenged and the appeal will now be 
redeteremined. However importantly for the LPR there are no site specific 
issues and the site is suitable and deliverable.  - 6.4	The reasons for the site Page 695



ID Representor Comments Council Response

to be allocated for  immediate release are: - •	To meet the short term open 
market housing need as we maintain the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 
year housing land supply; - •	To meet the significant affordable housing 
need. The appeal decisions and the Council’s own figures demonstrate the 
significant need for affordable housing in Ormskirk with Aughton and this is 
the only site that can meet this need.  - •	Development of a the scale of 
development accords with the settlement hierarchy; - •	the delivery of 
open market housing to assist in boosting the supply of housing in West 
Lancashire; - •	A high quality design led scheme with a density of 
development that accords with the SHMA and the housing needs of the 
area; - •	Development in an accessible location which can accommodate 
the development scheme socially, economically and environmentally;  - 
•	there are no other technical or environmental reasons to withhold 
planning permission; - •	The provision of open space to meet the needs of 
existing and proposed residents; and, - •	a range of social and economic 
benefits including the provision of New Homes Bonus, CIL, Council Tax 
revenue now, construction jobs and increase spending for local services 
and facilities. - 6.5	We enclose the masterplan for the sites in the control of 
Wainhomes and Redrow Homes which was the plan used to determine the 
planning appeals. All the technical documents which were submitted in 
support of the planning application and appeal can be found under the 
following application references: - •	Redrow Homes - 2015/0329/OUT; 
and, - •	Wainhomes - 2015/0335/HYB. - 6.6	Therefore in light of the 
housing need and Option 3 being the minimum housing requirement that 
can be justified, the site should be allocated for immediate release.

61 The consultation documents are comprehensive, but answering the 
questions takes some time and may be "off putting" for the public, who are 
not experts in planning regulations. - I was only made aware of the process 
because I am on the Council's email list. Consideration should be given to 
how future processes can be advertised to a wider audience to ensure the 
views of more members of the public  are expressed. - Adequate and 
proper infrastructure are key to where future development should be 
situated if it is to be sustainable. The best agricultural land should remain 
available for future generations to provide food for an increasing 
population in the country, not just Lancashire. The environment and bio 
diversity should be protected, again for future generations and the right 
mix of housing in the most suitable locations will improve the lives of 
everyone in West Lancashire. Open spaces and leisure activities, especially 
geared towards a more healthy lifestyle should be provided alongside new 
development.

62 We write on behalf of our client The Knowsley Estate, in respect of the 
West Lancashire Borough Council - Local Plan Review: Issues & Options 
Consultation. The Knowsley Estate are a major landowner in the - Borough 
and their estates extend across West Lancashire, Knowsley and St 
Helens. -  - The Consultation includes four Topic Papers: - • Strategic 
Development Options Paper; - • Economic Policy Options Paper; - • 
Environmental Policy Options Paper; and, - • Social Policy Options 
Paper. -  - There is also a Spatial Portrait Paper, providing context and 
background. Our comments to these papers are set out [below]. Comments 
are largely restricted to the Strategic Development Options Paper, although 
where - appropriate comments are also provided in respect of the other 
Papers. -  - Firstly, we would like to fully support the Councils decision to 
undertake a Local Plan review. The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) encourages a plan-led system, which keeps policies up-to-date and 
relevant with local and national context via the preparation of Local Plans. 
The Council acknowledge that failing to have an up-to-date Local Plan can 
constrain growth, both economically and in respect of delivering the right 
type of development in the right places. -  - In conclusion it is considered 
that West Lancashire through the Local Plan Review has an opportunity to 
plan for and deliver ambitious growth in line with national planning policy. 

Page 696



ID Representor Comments Council Response

The borough is located in an accessible location within the heart of the 
North West and should draw on links and opportunities, particularly those 
arising from the Liverpool and Greater Manchester City Regions. Indeed, 
there are excellent opportunities, particularly in relation to logistics 
development. -  - However, West Lancashire is highly constrained by the 
Green Belt and if housing and employment targets are to be delivered it is 
inevitable that Green Belt release will be required. The Council openly 
acknowledge that the borough is highly constrained by Green Belt and that 
existing settlements do not provide sufficient capacity for infill 
development to meet projected needs. It is therefore considered that the 
Council should undertake a comprehensive Green Belt review as part of the 
Local Plan Review. -  - 

64 Duty to Cooperate - In accordance with Section 33A of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act, the emerging Local Plan must include a Duty to 
Co-operate Statement of Compliance. The Council has provided a detailed 
overview of how they intend to demonstrate that the Duty to Co-operate 
has been met, which our Clients support, particularly in light of the 
emerging Liverpool City Region SHELMA and the Council’s commitment to 
review prior to the next stage of the Local Plan process.  -  - It is noted that 
no reference to the recently published White Paper which is seeking to 
consult on changes to the NPPF.  Authorities will be expected to prepare a 
Statement of Common Ground which will set out how they intend to work 
together to meet housing requirements that cross authority boundaries. 
This should be addressed within the emerging Local Plan.  -  - Role of 
Neighbourhood Plans - Consideration should be given to the role of 
emerging plans and strategies, including any emerging Neighbourhood 
Plans, which will form part of the Development Plan once adopted. If 
Neighbourhood Plans are adopted prior to the Local Plan being adopted, it 
will need to be reviewed to reflect the Local Plan because Neighbourhood 
Plans must be in conformity with strategic policies in the Local Plan. A 
review mechanism should be included within any emerging Neighbourhood 
Plan should this come forward in advance of the emerging Local Plan.

65 Aughton Parish Council wishes to iterate comments made during the first 
consultation to Parish Councils, in our letter dated 26 October 2016, ie - 
'Given the amount of time spent and the vast cost involved in the 
production of the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027, adopted just 3 
years ago in October 2013, the Parish Council would confirm its support of 
the rational of the current Development Plan Document and would not 
support any further release of Green Belt land in this area in the future.'    
The Parish Council believes the current Local Plan is addressing the needs 
of Aughton and it does not see a Plan beyond that date is realistic as there 
will be many changes ' leading up' in the future.

66 Duty to Cooperate - The Duty to Cooperate (DtC) is a legal requirement 
established through Section 33(A) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, as amended by Section 110 of the Localism Act. The DtC 
requires local planning authorities to engage constructively, actively and on 
an ongoing basis with neighbouring authorities on cross-boundary strategic 
issues through the process of plan preparation. As demonstrated through 
the outcome of the 2012 Coventry Core Strategy Examination, the 2013 
Mid Sussex Core Strategy Examination and the recent St Albans Local Plan 
Examination, if a Council fails to satisfactorily discharge its DtC a Planning 
Inspector must recommend non-adoption of the Plan. This cannot be 
rectified through modifications. - Gladman recognise that the DtC is a 
process on ongoing engagement and collaboration1, as set out in the PPG it 
is clear that the Duty is intended to produce effective policies on cross 
boundary strategic matters. In this regard, the Council must be able to 
demonstrate that it has engaged and worked with - its neighbouring 
authorities, alongside their existing joint work arrangements, to 
satisfactorily address cross boundary strategic issues, and the requirement 
to meet any unmet housing needs. This is not simply an issue of Page 697



ID Representor Comments Council Response

consultation but a question of effective cooperation to ensure that the 
Housing Market Area’s housing needs are met in full. -  - The Council’s 
ability to fulfil the DtC is fundamentally vital to securing the soundness of 
the Plan. In order to meet the DtC the Council should effectively engage 
with neighbouring authorities to meet any unmet housing needs in the 
HMA and vice versa. The Council should ensure that it is able to 
demonstrate what steps have been taken at each stage of plan preparation 
to ensure that the Plan has been subject to ongoing and effective 
cooperation with any interested parties to which a strategic cross boundary 
issue, such as unmet housing need, may effect. This will require extensive 
and ongoing - meaningful cooperation by both officers and members to 
ensure the Duty is met in full. -  - Sustainability Appraisal - In accordance 
with Section 19 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, policies 
set out in Local Plans must be subject to a Sustainability Appraisal (SA), and 
also incorporate the requirements of the Environmental Assessment of 
Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (the SEA regulations). -  - The 
SA/SEA is a systematic process that should be undertaken at each stage of 
the Plans preparation, assessing the effects of the emerging WLLP 
proposals on sustainable  development when judged against all reasonable 
alternatives. The Council should ensure that the future results of the SA 
clearly justify its policy choices. In meeting the development needs of the 
area, it should be clear from the results of this assessment why some policy 
options have progressed, and others have been rejected. This must be 
undertaken through a comparative and equal assessment of each 
reasonable alternative, in the same level of detail for both chosen and 
rejected alternatives. The Council’s decision making and scoring should be 
robust, justified and transparent.

68 I look forward to seeing the first draft of the Local Plan. -  - 

69 See principles at the beginning - have not had time to add detail during 
latter half of document

70 DUTY TO COOPERATE STATEMENT -  - This paper details the work being 
undertaken by the Council in respect of cooperation with neighbouring 
authorities and the wider Liverpool City Region. This is a requirement under 
the Localism Act 2011 and the NPPF. -  - Given West Lancashire’s position in 
relation to the neighbouring conurbations of Merseyside and Greater 
Manchester as well the Central Lancashire area, the Duty to Cooperate will 
be essential to ensure cross boundary issues are fully addressed. -  - 
Currently the Duty to Cooperate Statement highlights the commitments 
and measures in place to ensure communication between the Council and 
neighbouring authorities. Table A of the document in particular lists the 
strategic issues for West Lancashire that will require cooperation with 
neighbouring authorities. -  - Amongst these items is housing delivery 
where Table A acknowledges that establishing housing requirements in 
West Lancashire is an ongoing task and that there is communication with 
authorities within the Liverpool City Region in relation to potential future 
unmet housing need from other authorities being accommodated in the 
Borough. -  - The Liverpool City Region is seeking to create over 100,000 
jobs by 2040. In order to maintain a sufficient balance of jobs and new 
homes, this is likely to result in a notable number of new homes required; 
raising the possibility of some authorities having to accommodate its 
housing needs within neighbouring authorities. -  - We look forward to 
seeing how the Duty to Cooperate Statement progresses and to 
commenting on it again in due course. -  -  - SUMMARY AND 
CONCLUSIONS - These representations have been prepared on behalf of 
the Church Commissioners for England (“the Commissioners”) and relate to 
West Lancashire Council’s (“the Council’s”) Local Plan Review Issues and 
Options papers. At the same time the Council are also seeking comments 
on the scope of the Local Plan Review and on the draft Strategic Housing 
and Employment Land Availability Assessment (“SHELAA”). We have 
therefore also provided comments on these documents. -  - Overall the 
Commissioners support the need for a Local Plan Review and given the Page 698



ID Representor Comments Council Response

issues highlighted within the papers which the Council has produced, there 
is a clear need to plan positively in the Borough and to maximise growth 
opportunities which will be coming forward in future years. West 
Lancashire will also play a key role in any future success of the Liverpool 
City Region and on this basis, it is likely that the authority may need to 
accommodate unmet - housing need from adjacent authorities. This 
translates to setting an aspirational housing target which will also assist in 
balancing new jobs and homes and alleviate the Borough’s affordability 
issues. -  - This will mean that it will be necessary to consider Green Belt 
land for release and whilst the Council undertook a Green Belt Study in 
2011 (with a 2012 addendum), this does not appear comprehensive in 
nature and the parcels of Commissioners’ land that were assessed were not 
done so in a correct and robust manner. We therefore believe a revised 
Green Belt Study is - required to feed into the Local Plan Review. -  - The 
Local Plan will also cover development management policies and criteria 
relating to areas such as affordable housing. The Commissioners’ view on 
this is that such policies need to be as flexible as possible so that they 
endure the plan period and do not frustrate housing building and 
growth. -  - Whilst the overall proposed scope of the Local Plan appears to 
be largely sufficient, we do believe a greater emphasis on the Duty to 
Cooperate is needed and the Council should do more to explore potential 
options to create sustainable additions to settlements in Sefton in line with 
the longer plan period identified in this Issues and Options draft (which 
would go beyond the current plan period in the adopted Sefton Local Plan). 
Future drafts of the Local - Plan Review should also seek to explicitly link 
policies to the evidence base and seek to explain how they are to address 
the issues which the Borough faces. -  - The draft SHELAA does contain all of 
the Commissioners’ land that has been put forward through the Call for 
Site process (both from Barton Willmore and Savills), however the vast 
majority of these have not been thoroughly considered as they have been 
‘parked’ because they lie in the Green Belt. As a review of the Green Belt is 
required, these sites will need to be reconsidered at a later date. We have 
questioned some of the assumptions made in relation - to the 
Commissioners’ sites promoted by Barton Willmore and these are 
highlighted in Section 9 above. Overall, we believe the Commissioners’ sites 
are suitable and available and are capable of coming forward for future 
residential development. -  - We trust that these representations will be of 
assistance to the Council and we reserve the right to make further 
comments on the Local Plan Review and its evidence base as they move 
forward through the plan preparation process.

72 I have been to both the agents and residents consultation meetings and 
congratulate your staff on the professional and courteous manner they 
have dealt with both industry experts and general public. Well done, kind 
regards, Phil

73 These representations are made on behalf of Edge Hill University (“the 
University”) to West Lancashire Borough Council (WLBC) in respect of the 
West Lancashire Local Plan Review – Issues and Options consultation and 
supporting documents. - Edge Hill University is located in Ormskirk and 
currently has over 13,000 students. The University is one of the most 
significant employers in the Borough and contributes towards the local and 
regional economy. - The University supports the Council’s approach to 
undertaking an early review of the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 
(WLLP). Whilst it is accepted that the WLLP is just over three years old, 
there have been significant changes in national planning policy and the 
development context since its adoption. In particular, the Conservative 
Government has made clear its expectation that Local Planning Authorities 
(LPAs) have an up-to-date Local Plan in place and keep them under review 
to ensure that identified development needs are met. -  - As WLBC has 
acknowledged, failing to have an up-to-date Local Plan in place can 
constrain growth; both economically and in terms of providing the right 

Page 699



ID Representor Comments Council Response

kind of development in the right place in a timely fashion. -  - Edge Hill 
University is a campus-based university located in Ormskirk, adjacent to St 
Helens Road. Originally opened in 1885 as Edge Hill College, the institution 
moved to the Ormskirk campus in the 1930s and was granted Taught 
Degree Awarding Powers and became Edge Hill University in May 2006. -  - 
The University has three Faculties: - (a) Faulty of Arts and Sciences 
comprising Departments of Biology, Business - (Edge Hill Business School), 
Computer Science, English, History and Creative - Writing, Geography, Law 
and Criminology, Media, Performing Arts, Psychology, - Social Sciences and 
Sport and Physical Activity. - (b) Faculty of Education delivers initial teacher 
training programmes for the age - phases of education, together with 
Continuing Professional Development for the school workforce. - (c) Faculty 
of Health & Social Care delivers pre-registration training for nurses, - 
midwives, operating department practitioners and paramedics; qualifying 
social - work degrees; and professional development in the fields of health 
and social - care. -  - The University headcount as of 2015/16 comprises 
13,564 students (comprising 10,913 studying full-time undergraduate and 
postgraduate courses and 2,651 studying parttime). -  - The University is 
major asset to West Lancashire. It makes a significant contribution to - the 
local economy; estimated, in 2011 to be in the region of £75 million Gross 
Value - Added (GVA) per annum2 although it is worth noting that the 
University has grown a - further 20% since 2011 and its overall GVA 
contribution is now likely to be over £90 - million. It is also one of the most 
significant employers in West Lancashire, employing 1,519 members of 
staff in 2015/16; the vast majority being full-time. It also provides a wide 
range of high class facilities, such as the Arts Centre and Sports Centre, 
which are well used by the community. -  - The University has made 
significant investment over recent years in programme - development in 
the fields of arts, media and sciences to further diversify overall - academic 
choice and improve the academic facilities on offer (for example the new 
Creative Edge and more recently the Tech Hub). The University has 
benefitted from this investment and is witnessing, for example, a 19.3% 
application growth (2016/17) in the arts and sciences. -  - Furthermore, the 
University has been experiencing a material improvement in the calibre of 
student choosing to study at Ormskirk. Over the last three years, the 
average tariff point score for 1st degree entrants at the University has 
increased from 308 points in 2012/13 to 325 points in 2014/15 while the 
number of 1st degree students studying at the University with 350 or more 
tariff points has risen from 846 to 1,117 over the same timeframe. -  - The 
latest Times Higher Education (THE) UK Student Experience Survey 
indicated that Edge Hill University offers the best student experience in the 
North West. At the national level, Edge Hill University is ranked as joint 
second place nationally for its good environment on campus and holds 
joint third place nationally for having high quality facilities. -  - Edge Hill 
University was awarded 2014/15 University of the Year in the 10th annual 
Times Higher Education (THE) Awards. The award is the most prestigious 
accolade in the Higher Education sector and the University was chosen as 
the winner from a list of six shortlisted institutions, which also included 
Glasgow and Swansea Universities. -  - The University of the Year award 
highlighted the continuing success of the University and opened the doors 
to increased partnerships and collaborations locally and nationally. 
Working with Tate Liverpool, the Everyman Theatre and Liverpool Sound 
City, as well as continuing to develop opportunities in the music industry 
through The Label recordings, has increased the employability of Edge Hill 
students further. -  - There has also been a surge of interest around Edge 
Hill, with record numbers of visitors at open days and increased interest 
from external organisations. -  - Edge Hill University boasts a vibrant 
campus community located in 160 acres of land in  Ormskirk. Lakes, green 
spaces and even a beach can be found alongside awardwinning building 
developments which reflect almost 130 years of history and innovation. -  - 
The University’s commitment to sustainability has been recognised with a 
string of green - awards and as part of this vision all new buildings on 
campus incorporate low carbon - technologies and energy efficient lighting, Page 700



ID Representor Comments Council Response

heating and glazing. For the second year running, the University has been 
given Green Flag status – the national benchmark for parks and green 
spaces in the UK – for maintaining an attractive, safe and welcoming 
campus. -  - Edge Hill University has also been judged as the safest campus 
in the North West for the third year running by the Complete University 
Guide. -  - Over the past 15 years, over £200 million has been invested in 
developing and - extending the campus. Redevelopment has principally 
been guided by the University’s Estates Strategy and Development 
Framework which has set out a pipeline of capital projects and 
redevelopment opportunities. The new buildings and spaces help to fulfil 
the University’s vision of a visually inspiring, sustainable environment and 
provide a high class student experience. -  - There are a diminishing number 
of redevelopment opportunities available within the existing campus. These 
are principally located within the Central Campus and include the ‘back 
halls’, the Students’ Union, the Learning Innovation Centre (LINC), Library 
and Student Information Centre (SIC) buildings. -  - These areas have been 
identified by the University as immediate – medium term opportunities 
following the completion of the new Library and Resource Centre and 
student townhouses. -  - It is currently anticipated that the identified 
redevelopment opportunities within the existing campus provide around 
four to five years’ worth of capital development projects. -  - The University 
is now a well-known and well-established institution and there is an 
emerging desire to expand from the University’s ‘vocational-led learning’ 
approach towards a more ‘mainstream’ research-led university. All three 
faculties are intending to extend and diversify their programme offer, 
which will include expansion in the number of postgraduate and Masters 
programmes on offer, as well as a notable growth in research. -  - It will be 
important for the University to capitalise on the anticipated growth within 
its faculties. The Faculty of Arts & Sciences, for example, has ambitious 
plans for growth by developing new programmes relating to food 
technology, design and engineering. - This will undoubtedly require the 
provision of further academic and teaching space. -  - Increasing the 
‘internationalism’ of the University will also be an important area of focus 
over the longer term. This is likely to go ‘hand in hand’ with the 
development of new programmes within the Faculty of Arts & Sciences, 
and will result in requirements for specific facilities, including additional 
languages support and short-term accommodation options for students. -  - 
Encouraging innovation and the development of further links with 
businesses and the local community is also high on the University’s agenda. 
This is likely to bring unique requirements for facilities, including further 
hatchery / incubator space and the potential for a science / innovation / 
business park and conferencing space. -  - It is evident that there is some 
scope for growth to be accommodated within the existing campus. 
However, that scope is finite and it will be important to balance the 
University’s desire for growth without compromising the environmental 
quality of the existing campus, including its green spaces between 
buildings, high quality landscaping and ‘open feel’ which is one of the main 
reasons that the University is so popular to both staff and students. -  - This 
indicates that there is likely to be a requirement for the University to 
consider further land acquisition in the medium to long term if its growth 
aspirations are to be met without compromising the quality of the existing 
campus.

76 I write on behalf of my clients, T&T Williams and Morris Homes Northern 
Ltd, in respect of the land off Pingwood Lane, Simonswood (the Site) in 
response to the Council’s current Local Plan Review Issues and Options 
Consultation. The purpose of this letter is to promote the Site, whilst also 
setting out a response to the options outlined in the Strategic Development 
Options Paper (February 2017) and the associated topic papers and 
evidence base. -  - In order for the Council to meet the development needs 
of its residents and continue sustaining its economic growth, higher growth 
scenarios will need to be embraced going into the Local Plan Review. 
Consideration of existing employment sites could provide a vital land Page 701



ID Representor Comments Council Response

supply, certainly in respect of the Site which has capacity to be 
reconfigured to provide both much needed housing and boost local 
employment. Further technical details of the Site and its development 
capacity will be explored for the next stage of the Local Plan Review 
consultation. - I trust that these comments will be taken into account as the 
Council continues to review the West Lancashire Local Plan. Should you 
require any clarification on any points made in this letter in the meantime 
please do not hesitate to contact me on the details below, in the meantime 
please confirm receipt of this representation.

78 I wish to comment on access to information for each planning information 
have not found it easy to access Skelmersdale office not sure had to print 
off eventually. Skelmersdale library just the report forms no information we 
have used the information learned at workshop meetings and the leaflet 
through the door. Please could a display be used in the relevant facilities. 
We have not all got internet. Thanking you. 

79 HOW Planning LLP (“HOW”) has been instructed by Story Homes to prepare 
and submit representations to the West Lancashire Local Plan Review 
Issues and Options Consultation, prepared by West Lancashire Council 
(“the Council”). These representations primarily address the questions 
posed within the Strategic Development Options Paper but also consider 
the Social Policy Options Paper. - The Strategic Development Options Paper 
identifies a series of issues and options for the amount and broad location 
of new housing and employment development. The preferred option will 
then be the basis of the Local Plan Review, guiding development for the 
next Plan period. - The Social Policy Options Paper considers the social 
aspects of sustainability. - The following representations set out Story 
Homes’ observations on the Papers, with particular reference to the 
“soundness” of the Issues and Options as detailed in paragraph 182 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (“the Framework”). - The Council will 
be aware that our client is the promoter of land at Yew Tree Farm (“the 
Site”) as part of the Yew Tree Farm allocation in Burscough. A Site 
Submission document is attached at Appendix 1. - Our client is keen to 
work with the Council going forward to assist with the preparation of the 
Local Plan and would welcome discussions about the proposals for the 
Site. -  - Story Homes is a privately owned housebuilder. Founded by Fred 
Story in 1987, it has a long and successful reputation of building quality and 
high specification homes across the North West. The family owned business 
has grown in size and status over the years but remains grounded, built on 
its original ethos of ‘doing the right thing’ and creating a brand 
synonymous - with quality. In 2016 Story Homes built around 800 new 
homes across the North of England. - For nearly 30 years Story Homes has 
been the name most often associated with aspirational houses for sale 
throughout Cumbria, the North East and Lancashire, and it is rapidly 
expanded across the whole of the North of England. A passion for quality 
and excellence has seen Story - Homes become a multi award winning UK 
property developer; with modern and attractive homes instantly inspiring 
buyers. Story Homes have also recently been awarded a top ‘5 Star’ rating 
in the house building industry’s annual customer satisfaction survey for the 
fourth year running since being included in the survey. - Story Homes’ 
success is underpinned by a determination to understand the needs of 
communities where they build and a goal to deliver design quality and high 
quality building specifications that enhance locations. -  - The National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) provides the overarching policy context 
for the preparation of the emerging Local Plan. It is a material 
consideration for the plan-making process. In this regard, insofar as its 
policies are relevant to this representation, we highlight that the NPPF 
requires local planning authorities (LPA) to: - 
supply of housing…” (paragraph 47); - 
meets the full objectively assessed needs for market and affordable 
housing…” (paragraph 47); - 
housing that is required in particular locations, reflecting local demand…” 

Page 702



ID Representor Comments Council Response

(paragraph 50); - 
flexibility to adapt to rapid change…” (paragraph 14); - 
to support local development, shaping and directing development in their 
area…” (paragraph 16). Indeed, the need for a Local Plan to be “positively 
prepared” - is one of the four tests of soundness; - 
planning system does everything it can to support sustainable economic 
growth…” (paragraph 19); - 
realistic…” (paragraph 154); - 
needs but also responds “…positively to wider opportunities for growth…” 
(paragraph 17); and - 
(paragraph 109). -  - In addition to the above, the NPPF highlights the 
importance of protecting Green Belt land from inappropriate development. 
However, it confirms that Green Belt boundaries can be altered in 
“…exceptional circumstances…” (paragraph 83) via the plan-making 
process. Such circumstances include an inability to meet development 
needs, as is currently the case in West - Lancashire. When doing so, LPAs 
should, inter alia: - 
urban area and the Green Belt which are capable of meeting longer-term 
development needs; - Satisfy themselves that Green Belt boundaries will 
not need to be altered at the end of the plan period; and - 
Green Belt boundaries clearly using physical features that are readily 
recognisable and likely to be permanent. -  - We refer to other policies of 
the NPPF, as well as the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), elsewhere in this 
Report. -  - The Government has also recently released the White Paper 
‘Fixing our broken housing market’ which is also considered in this Report 
with particular reference to Safeguarded Land and the release of Green Belt 
land.

80 I have only commented on housing need - specialised housing is a small but 
important consideration

82 Home owners should be discouraged from paving over their gardens for 
parking. Grass lawns make excellent sponges for heavy rain and the 
increase in paved over gardens is adding to flash flooding. Charging for the 
removal of green waste is penalising the people who are acting in the  
interest of the environment and encouraging people to pave over their 
green spaces.

84 Persimmon Homes is pleased to see that a Duty to Cooperate Statement 
has been produced from the outset. It is assumed that this will be updated 
throughout the process if necessary. This is in particular relation to the 
evidence base work of the Liverpool City Region which is currently on - 
going. This is of particular relevance in relation to the Strategic Housing and 
employment Land Market Assessment {SHELMA) which is not currently out 
for consultation. This document in particular could have significant impacts 
for the West Lancashire Local Plan review and the preferred option at the 
next stage. - Care should be taken not to neglect the duty to cooperate 
with those neighbouring authorities who do not form part of the Liverpool 
City Region.

87 Burscough Parish Council is particularly concerned about the way in which 
information gathered, giving equal weight to a developers comments as to 
a residents’ comment, when each may have very different skills, budgets 
and motivations:  Those seeking to gain personally/organisationally from 
the local plan should be assessed separately to those with a longer term 
interest in our community.   -  - Burscough Parish Council is also concerned 
about the interpretation of the NPPF and principles such as “Sustainable 
Development”

89 WLBC are currently reviewing the Local Plan (2012-2027). A review of the 
Plan will assist the Council in meeting the needs of any future opportunities 
which may arise from existing and planned developments such as the 
‘Liverpool 2’ scheme. -  - An assessment of the housing and economic 
growth needs across the Liverpool area, known as Strategic Housing and Page 703



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Employment Land Market Assessment (SHELMA) has been undertaken as 
well as a Strategic Housing Employment Land Availability Assessment 
(SHELAA). These will form key evidence base documents for the review of 
the Local Plan. -  - The WLBC Local Plan is currently under review. - WLBC 
are currently reviewing the Local plan to assist the Council in meeting the 
needs of any future opportunities which may arise such as the ‘Liverpool 2’ 
scheme. To assess the housing and economic growth needs across the 
Liverpool area a SHELMAA has been undertaken as well as a SHELAA. - We 
are instructed by S Rostron Limited in respect of its land interests land at 
Land at Red Cat Lane, Burscough. - Land at Red Cat Lane, Burscough 
represents a deliverable development site in a sustainable location. This 
site would assist the Council in delivering much needed employment land 
immediately. - We have assessed the Options Papers having regard to 
soundness tests set out in Section 182 of Framework and conclude that the 
subject site should be released for development.

91 Duty to Cooperate - As you know St. Helens Council has recently consulted 
on a Local Plan Preferred Options (2016) which proposes to allocate 306.09 
ha of land for employment use up to 2038, with an additional 52.82 ha of 
land safeguarded for employment use beyond 2033. This is reflective of the 
Council's strong economic growth ambitions, with the transport and 
logistics sector considered to be a key competitive strength for St Helens 
compared to its neighbours and the most important opportunity for jobs 
growth in the Borough over the next 20 years. - As the West Lancashire 
Local Plan Review evolves and as the new St. Helens Local Plan progresses, 
the Council looks forward to continuing to engage with West Lancashire 
Council in relation to how we can help each other meet unmet objectively 
assessed development needs, if considered necessary, - and where 
reasonable to do so and consistent with achieving sustainable 
development. - As the West Lancashire Local Plan Review progresses and a 
preferred spatial distribution strategy and development sites are identified, 
the Council would like to continue to work with West Lancashire Council to 
ensure any adverse cross-boundary impacts (if there are any) on residents 
of St. Helens, - particularly in relation to highways and education 
infrastructure are minimised. -  - The Council looks forward to continuing to 
engage with West Lancashire Council as the West Lancashire Local Plan 
Review evolves.

93 I attach two documents for consideration. - The paper on rural 
communities perhaps relates best to the Strategic Development Options. 
The paper on Alt-Crossens cuts across a number of policy areas. - 

94 On behalf of our client, Crompton Property Developments Limited [CPDL], 
Lichfields is pleased to submit representations to the West Lancashire Local 
Plan Review Consultation – Issues and Options. These representations are 
made in the context of CPDL’s interest in the Yew Tree Farm site in 
Burscough.  -  - Policy SP1 of the existing West Lancashire Local Plan (2012 – 
2027) identifies a borough wide need for a minimum of 4,860 new 
dwellings and 75 ha of land for employment uses over the plan period. 
These targets have been divided into spatial areas within the Borough. The 
overall target for Burscough is to deliver 850 dwellings and 13 ha of 
employment development over the plan period. Achieving these targets is 
essential to enable the Council to meet its vision of offering residents of 
West Lancashire better access to services, facilities and the housing market 
and diversifying the employment base.  -  - In order to meet these targets, 
Policy SP1 of the Local Plan identifies “Yew Tree Farm, Liverpool Road 
South, Burscough” to provide residential and employment development 
and new community infrastructure. Policy SP3 provides further guidance on 
the Yew Tree Farm Strategic Development Site which states that it should 
deliver at least 500 new dwellings and 10 ha of new employment land. Post 
2027, safeguarded land should provide up to 500 more dwellings and up to 
10ha of employment land. The site now benefits from outline permission 
for 580 houses and 4.6 hectares of employment development (ref. 
2015/0171/OUT).  -  - The Council has commenced a review of the existing Page 704



ID Representor Comments Council Response

West Lancashire Local Plan (2012 – 2027). The Issues and Options Local 
Plan Review – Strategic Development Options Papers (February 2017) sets 
out a series of options for the amount and broad location of new housing 
development in the borough. The Issues and Options considers two time 
periods for the new Local Plan, both of which have a base date of 2012 (to 
match the base date of the SHELMA and the current Local Plan). The 
Council highlights that a portion of the housing and employment land 
requirements identified in the new Local Plan will have already been met by 
development that has already been delivered, is being delivered, has 
planning permission or that is allocated under the existing Local Plan. It is 
therefore imperative that the strategic allocations identified in the existing 
Local Plan come forward for development. Our client fully supports the 
current allocation of the Yew Tree Farm site and the future development of 
the wider safeguarded site. CPDL also welcome the Council’s ongoing 
support to this allocation.  -  - With regards to the division of the uses 
within the Yew Tree Farm site, it is considered that the area which abuts 
the rear gardens of the dwellings on Lordsgate Lane and Liverpool Road 
South would be more suited to residential development than employment 
generating uses. It is considered that residential development would be 
more compatible with the adjoining uses by reason of amenity, principally 
noise and traffic generation. The emerging Local Plan should have regard to 
this.  - 

95 1.1 This report is prepared by Turley on behalf of our client David Wilson 
Homes North West (hereafter referred to as “DWH” or “our client”). It 
provides representations to West Lancashire Borough Council (WLBC) in 
respect of the Local Plan Review: Issues & Options Consultation, which is 
currently the subject of public consultation. - 1.2 The Issues and Options 
stage comprises a series of papers which cover a wide range of policy 
themes and key planning topics. The topic papers are as follows: - • A 
Spatial Portrait paper which identifies the key issues which face the 
Borough and which need to be addressed in any LP review - • A paper on 
Strategic Development which sets out potential options for the amount and 
broad location of new housing and employment development - • Three 
topic papers which explore the policy options in dealing with the key issues 
identified in the Spatial Portrait paper: - ‒ Economic Policy Options - ‒ 
Social Policy Options - ‒ Environmental Policy Options - • A topic paper 
covering the legal Duty to Co-operate. - 1.3 Alongside the suite of topic 
papers, WLBC has published a range of emerging evidence base documents, 
including spatial and thematic papers regarding particular settlements and 
also more detailed evidence documents including a new Housing and 
Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) to inform housing 
matters. This collection of evidence has been referred to in these 
representations where appropriate. -  - Context - 1.4 DWH is part of Barratt 
Developments PLC, the UK’s largest house builder, and has a track record of 
working with local communities to deliver high quality developments which 
benefit the local communities in which they are provided. In 2016 DWH 
delivered 551 new homes in the North West, meeting local and general 
housing needs and providing new jobs and investment throughout the 
region. - 1.5 The emerging Local Plan Review for West Lancashire identifies 
a pressing need for increasing housing delivery, in the context of a 
longstanding and growing undersupply of new homes. This need is 
particularly acute in areas of high demand such as Ormskirk with Aughton, 
which has been poorly provided for in terms of new housing supply in 
recent years despite its size, sustainability and status as one of the 
Borough’s Key Service Centres. In this context, WLBC will be aware that 
DWH has an interest in land at Parrs Lane at the eastern edge of Aughton, 
hereafter referred to as “Parrs Lane” or “the Site”. The Site is identified and 
described in this report and within the accompanying Vision Document. - 
1.6 The potential opportunity at Parrs Lane is at an early stage and the 
development which it could provide is not ‘fixed’. It could accommodate a 
range of uses cognisant of the needs and aspirations of the area and the 
benefits which new development might be able to provide. It could make Page 705



ID Representor Comments Council Response

an important contribution to meeting the needs of Ormskirk with Aughton. 
It could also offer benefits to the area, such as through affordable and/or 
elderly homes, educational facilities, local shops and services, opportunities 
for leisure and recreation, and/or new highways infrastructure. DWH is 
keen to work collaboratively with WLBC, the local community and other 
stakeholders to explore, expand and refine the potential development 
opportunity over the coming weeks and months. - Summary of 
Representations - 1.7 DWH’s representations to the Issues & Options 
consultation is comprised of the following three documents: - • Written 
representation to the Issues & Options topic papers (this report) - • West 
Lancashire Housing Need – Evidence Based Critique - • Vision Document: 
Land at Parrs Lane, Aughton - 1.8 The representations are summarised as 
follows: - (a) DWH supports the continued identification of Ormskirk with 
Aughton as a settlement in future LP planning. - (b) The absence of the LCR 
SHELMA work makes it difficult to assess in detail the conclusions of the 
HEDNA report and the justification underpinning certain Development 
Options which propose a higher level of housing. - We reserve the right to 
comment further upon the full publication of the SHELMA as we believe 
this work will have a significant impact upon future development planning 
in West Lancashire. - (c) Notwithstanding (b) we have undertaken a critique 
of the HEDNA and consider - (d) It is our view that any housing requirement 
will need to be aligned with WLBC’s economic ambition and its intention to 
play a greater economic role within the LCR. As such, it is likely that a 
housing requirement in excess of 300 per annum will likely be required to 
meet this economic ambition if WLBC wishes to capitalise on the growth 
emanating from the growth in logistics and Liverpool 2. - (e) There is a 
pressing need for increasing housing delivery, in the context of a 
longstanding and growing undersupply of new homes in the borough. This 
need is particularly acute in areas of high demand such as Ormskirk with 
Aughton, which has been poorly provided for in terms of new housing 
supply in recent years despite its size, sustainability and status as one of the 
Borough’s Key Service Centre. In contrast the development strategy of the 
current Local Plan has sought to deliver more homes in areas of lesser 
market demand such as Skelmersdale and Burscough. Our evidence 
suggests that housing delivery in these areas is failing and reflective of 
weak demand in those settlements. - (f) The current development strategy 
cannot be continued and it is our strong contention that Ormskirk with 
Aughton should accommodate a greater proportion of development that 
has been previously received through the current Local Plan. The Council’s 
own evidence clearly points towards the opportunity for and demand for 
new homes in Ormskirk with Aughton. The settlement is under-provided 
with the current housing requirement in the Local Plan failing far short of 
its role, scale and function within the settlement hierarchy. DWH consider 
that Ormskirk with Aughton should accommodate at least 25% of the 
development needs established in the Local Plan Review; this is considered 
to be more commensurate to the size, scale and function of the settlement 
and its population and the market signals that are articulated in our 
evidence. - (g) It is our view that the Council should consider a hybrid 
approach in Local Plan duration. While the Council’s intention to consider a 
longer term timeframe it is fraught with difficulty in providing the necessary 
evidence, robustness and certainty to plan effectively. A hybrid approach 
would enable any Local Plan to plan for development needs for the next 20 
year while identifying potential sources of supply through safeguarding 
(and thereby ensuing Green Belt boundaries are robust and endure until at 
least 2050). The Local Plan will also need to build in sufficient flexibility to 
guide against housing non-delivery. The Local Plan should therefore include 
the appropriate mechanisms for regular review and provide sufficient 
flexibility – potentially through the provision of reserve sites to come 
forward when necessary through the plan period. -  - Structure of the 
Representations - 1.9 This document provides a response to each of the 
Topic Papers set out within the Issues and Options consultation. It is 
structured as follows: - • Chapter 2 sets our comments in respect of the 
Spatial Portrait TP - • Chapter 3 sets out our comments in respect of Spatial Page 706



ID Representor Comments Council Response

Development TP - • Chapter 4 sets out comments in respect of the key 
issues TP in terms of Economy, Environmental and Sustainability. - • 
Chapter 5 sets summarises our emerging thoughts in respect of land at 
Parrs Lane, Aughton with reference to a Vision Document which has been 
prepared to visually articulate these initial ideas and accompanies these 
representations. -  -  -  - 5. The Opportunity at Parrs Lane -  - 5.1 Chapter XX 
of this Report sets out DWH’s strong view that there are demonstrable 
exceptional circumstances to justify the release of land from the Green Belt 
in Ormskirk with Aughton, mindful of: - • The significance and profile of the 
settlement in the hierarchy and its role in securing a sustainable pattern of 
development which can underpin the economic growth of the Borough; 
and - • The need to address issues of housing availability and affordability 
in the settlement, and provide a viable long-term future for its services and 
facilities. - 5.2 WLBC will be aware that DWH is the promoter of land at 
Parrs Lane, Aughton for Green Belt release and allocation for a residential-
led development. The Site, which is approximately 25.3ha in size, is 
identified in Figure XX below. - 5.3 A Vision Document is has been prepared 
which provides an appraisal of the Site and what can be achieved by its 
development. It is submitted and should be read alongside this Report, and 
the paragraphs below provide an overview. The opportunity is at an early 
stage and DWH is keen to work with both WLBC and other local 
stakeholders, including Aughton Parish Council in particular, to shape the 
proposal and ensure that it can maximise the benefits for the area. - 26 - 
The Site - 5.4 As set out in the Vision Document, the Site is: - • A sustainable 
location for growth. It is well located within walking distance of a range of 
shops, services and facilities, including schools and health services. The site 
is also demonstrably accessible, given its location within walking distance of 
two rail stations at Town Green and Aughton Park. It is therefore a 
demonstrably sustainable location for a residential-led development and is 
ideally placed to encourage trips by walking, cycling, bus and rail. This is 
particularly important given current traffic constraints in Ormskirk. No 
other development sites are better located in relation to sustainable 
transport routes. - • It will not result in significant harm to the Green Belt. 
The Site does not perform a strategic Green Belt function or make a 
significant contribution to the five Green Belt purposes. Its release will 
therefore result in relatively limited harm and will not undermine the 
general extent of the West Lancashire Green Belt. - 5.5 In respect of the 
latter point, WLBC’s Green Belt Study (2011) identifies that the eastern 
boundary of the site is somewhat undefined. However, this issue is 
experienced by all prospective Green Belt releases around the settlement. 
DWH has put in place proposals for tree planting along this boundary, 
which will ensure that it is clearly identifiable and can form a permanent 
and defensible Green Belt boundary. It will also help to visually screen the 
development, minimising its impact upon the openness of the wider Green 
Belt. - 5.6 The Site is currently comprised of greenfield land. There are no 
known contamination issues with the land, albeit the necessary 
assessments in this respect can be undertaking in due course. The Site is 
entirely located within Flood Zone 1 as defined on the Environment 
Agency’s Flood Risk Map18, such that the risk of tidal or fluvial flooding is 
defined as ‘low’. It is not located within or in the setting of a Conservation 
Area. - 5.7 It is therefore clear that Parrs Lane is demonstrably suitable for 
development. This is confirmed by WLBC’s draft SHELAA (reference 
OA.124), which notes that the Site is not subject to any physical constraints 
or contamination uses, and is not located adjacent to any “un-neighbourly 
uses”. DWH also confirms that the Site is: - • Available for residential 
development. DWH have an active legal interest over all the land. There are 
no legal or ownership constraints such as ransom strips or tenancies which 
would present an obstacle to the early delivery of new homes; and - • 
Achievable for development. It is located in one of the most popular and 
desirable places to live in West Lancashire and the area has an urgent need 
for new housing. The Site is therefore viable and DWH are committed to 
deliver new market and affordable housing at the earliest opportunity. - 5.8 
It is therefore considered that the Site presents deliverable residential Page 707



ID Representor Comments Council Response

development opportunities and can contribute towards the Borough’s 
housing land supply within the next five years, subject to the release of 
land from the Green Belt. - The development opportunity - 5.9 The 
accompanying Vision Document sets out that a robust development and 
landscape framework can be achieved in order that the Site can be 
structured to form a well-connected, accessible and attractive development 
which responds to its existing landscape assets, whilst creating a softer and 
defensible settlement edge. - 5.10 DWH is keen to work with the local 
community and other stakeholders in respect of the scale and type of 
development which could be proposed, cognisant of the needs and 
aspirations of the village and the benefits which new development might 
be able to deliver. Initial thoughts are that it could provide: - • Family 
homes – new high quality and attractive family homes, with a mix of 
different sizes, types and tenures, would respond to the needs of Ormskirk 
with Aughton and bring new working age families to the town. This would 
help to underpin economic prosperity and support the vitality and viability 
of local services and facilities. - • Affordable homes – affordable homes of 
different types and tenures would help to address the severe affordability 
issues in the local area. Such homes could be made available to existing 
residents in the existing community in the first instance. - • Elderly 
accommodation – mindful of the ageing of the population in the 
settlement, new homes for older residents are increasingly in high demand. 
Such homes could include ‘downsizer’ dwellings, freeing up much needed 
family homes elsewhere in the settlement, or bespoke retirement 
accommodation by a specialist provider. - • A new local centre – new 
shops, services and facilities could meet an increasing demand in this part 
of Aughton, supporting the sustainability of the local area and encouraging 
local residents to make journeys on foot rather than by private car. - • 
Expanded school facilities – mindful that the adjacent Town Green Primary 
School is at capacity, additional teaching space over the road within the site 
could enhance the quality of the school’s facilities. Safe links and access 
arrangements could be put in place, with the existing Prescot Road 
downgraded as a result of its diversion through the site. - • A Country Park 
or other open space – new high quality landscape greenspace, such as a 
Country Park, could provide much-needed opportunities for local residents 
to enjoy the outdoors and for children to learn about the natural 
environment. - • New highways infrastructure – Prescot Road could be 
diverted through the site to improve traffic flow, enhance amenity for 
existing residents, and enable safe access routes for pedestrians. - 5.11 
DWH looks forward to working with Aughton Parish Council and WLBC to 
explore, expand and refine the potential development opportunity over the 
coming weeks and months. The following development framework options 
illustrate how a different scale and mix of uses could be provided within the 
development and landscape framework.

96 This is a written response with reference to the formal consultation to the 
Issues and Options stage of the Local - Plan Review, ending 28th April 
2017. - These representations are made by ATP as Agent on behalf of our 
client Anglo International Up Holland Limited - (“AIUH”) who have a 
substantive land interest in Up Holland comprised of the former St Joseph’s 
Seminary and - surrounding land. AIUH have held the land since 2000 and 
have the benefit of an extant consent for 297 dwellings - involving new 
build and partial retention of the existing Seminary which is now vacant. - 
This land forms part of the larger UP.012 parcel, and all of the UP.029 land 
as identified in the Council’s SHELAA - papers. - AIUH has been seeking to 
engage with the Council (directly and by agreement through others such as 
SCPI) to - work collaboratively to deliver a scheme that provides the 
opportunity to bring heritage assets back into active - use and contribute to 
other planning objectives. There has been an extended planning history for 
the subject land - since the site was acquired by AIUH in 2000 which the 
Council will be well aware of. - AIUH forms part of the Derwent Group of 
companies, and the Council may be aware that since the passing of its - Page 708



ID Representor Comments Council Response

founder (Albert Gubay) in January 2016 the Derwent Group is now 100% 
owned by a charitable foundation and - that all of its business is carried out 
solely for the benefit of charitable causes. This is set out to clarify that the - 
owners of the subject site have set out a very clear intent to support this 
philanthropic legacy and embrace - collaborative and transparent work 
practices which reflect that approach. - The Seminary and many of the 
buildings in its curtilage lie beyond the currently identified Development 
Limit, - and these buildings are statutorily listed in their own right. - We 
answer the 36 questions set in the online survey, with particular reference 
paid to the position of AIUH and - their interests in Up Holland. -  -  -  - 
Conclusions - The St Joseph’s site is immediately adjacent to the northern 
settlement boundary and includes substantial built - form and extant 
consents to deliver 297 new residential units (205 new build and 92 
through refurbishment). That - consent (or a future consent) provides an 
opportunity to bring vacant heritage assets back into active use, and - 
valuable contributions to housing supply, fulfilling unmet affordable 
housing requirements and deliver specialist - accommodation for older 
people. - We conclude that an amended scheme focusing more on land to 
the south of St Joseph’s Seminary and to the - northern boundary of Up 
Holland represents that positive way forward as it would also minimize 
impacts upon - the openness of the Green Belt and reduce potential effects 
upon the setting of the heritage assets. -  - We trust that these 
representations are clear and helpful. We would be delighted to provide 
further information - in these respects as may be appropriate and helpful.

97 This is a written response with reference to the formal consultation to the 
Issues and Options stage of the Local Plan Review, ending 28th April. These 
representations are made by ATP as Agent on behalf of St. Modwen - 
Developments Limited (“St. Modwen”) who have substantive land interest 
in Skelmersdale Town Centre. - We answer the 36 questions set in the 
online survey, with particular reference paid to the position of St. Modwen 
and their interests in Skelmersdale. -  - The St. Modwen site lies at the heart 
of Skelmersdale town centre and is crucial to both the regeneration of the - 
town centre but also the town as a whole. With all necessary land 
assembled, stakeholder agreements and planning approvals it represents 
the right scheme in the right location. The Council should identify the site 
within a PSA for Skelmersdale. If there is an ambition to deliver a retail 
warehouse park in West Lancashire, the first consideration should be to 
locate that within Skelmersdale town centre supporting the existing centre 
rather than seek an out-of-centre site which has the potential to 
undermine existing or planned investment.

98 GL Hearn has been instructed by McDermott Homes to submit 
representations to the West Lancashire Local Plan Review Issues and 
Options/ Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment Consultation in 
respect of its landholding at Town Green, Aughton, as shown edged red on 
the enclosed Site Location Plan. - These representations seek to respond to 
relevant questions posed in the Strategic Development Options Paper, 
dated February 2017, and should be read in conjunction with the ‘call for 
sites’ submission issued to the Council by McDermott Homes in September 
2016, including the enclosed the Vision Statement. Since the original 
proposals were submitted to the Council an additional area of land has now 
been secured for promotion through the Local Plan process as detailed 
below. - The Site - The Site in its entirety extends to approximately 44 
hectares in area and is situated in a predominately residential area on the 
southern edge of Aughton, a Key Service Centre as defined in the West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2001-2027. It is well contained with clearly defined 
physical boundaries to the north, east and west. The site comprises flat 
agricultural land bisected by a footpath (ref. 8-4 FP14) and mature trees to 
the west and is accessible from Middlewood Road to the north; 
Middlewood Drive to the north east; Bleasdale Close and Sefton Gardens to 
the east, and Prescot Road to the south. - The Site is currently designated 

Page 709



ID Representor Comments Council Response

as Green Belt however, does not contain any statutory or non-statutory 
nature conservation or heritage designations and is classified as flood zone 
1 (low probability) on the Environment Agency (EA) flood map. It is 
understood that the site is not classified as best and most versatile 
agricultural land. - Overall, subject to removal of policy constraints there 
are no technical considerations which would preclude residential 
development on site. -  - Site Allocations - McDermott Homes respectfully 
requests that the Council takes into consideration the proposed site, in it is 
entirety, for Green Belt release and allocation for housing in the emerging 
Local Plan Review. The site is sustainably located on the edge of Aughton 
and is available for development; is suitable for development and is 
developable with some development capable of coming forward within 5 
years following allocation. -  - Conclusion - McDermott Homes are keen to 
work collaboratively with West Lancashire Borough Council to deliver a 
‘sound’ Local Plan Review which meets identified development needs in the 
Borough. We would welcome the opportunity to engage with the Council 
to discuss development options and opportunities at the site in greater 
detail.

99 Other Comments – Duty to Cooperate  - In accordance with Section 33A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, the emerging Local Plan must 
include a Duty to Co-operate Statement of Compliance. The Council has 
provided a detailed overview of how they intend to demonstrate that the 
Duty to Co-operate has been met, which our Clients support, particularly in 
light of the emerging Liverpool City Region SHELMA and the Council’s 
commitment to review prior to the next stage of the Local Plan process. It is 
noted that no reference to the recently published White Paper which is 
seeking to consult on changes to the NPPF. Authorities will be expected to 
prepare a Statement of Common Ground which will set out how they 
intend to work together to meet housing requirements that cross authority 
boundaries. This should be addressed within the emerging Local Plan. Role 
of Neighbourhood Plans Consideration should be given to the role of 
emerging plans and strategies, including any emerging Neighbourhood 
Plans, which will form part of the Development Plan once adopted. If 
Neighbourhood Plans are adopted prior to the Local Plan being adopted, it 
will need to be reviewed to reflect the Local Plan because Neighbourhood 
Plans must be in conformity with strategic policies in the Local Plan. A 
review mechanism should be included within any emerging Neighbourhood 
Plan should this come forward in advance of the emerging Local Plan. -  - 
Site Allocations -  - Himor Group and Wainhomes (NW) Ltd Wainhomes and 
Himor Group are part of the wider Wain Group, which have over 1.1 million 
sq ft of commercial property assets, over £244 million housing and 
commercial developments in process, and 2,000 acres of freehold strategic 
land, and 1,000 acres of third party land in promotion for residential 
development. Wainhomes is an active housebuilder within West 
Lancashire, and has a number of interests within West Lancashire.  -  - West 
Skelmersdale  - Jointly, our Clients have land interests at land to the west of 
Skelmersdale. This is discussed further in the accompanying submission to 
the Call for Sites.

104 Natural England would welcome an early opportunity to meet and discuss 
how the plan can work to find solutions to these issues at this formative 
stage, and consider how we can help develop and enhance some of the 
objectives in the Plan, such as ecological networks, green infrastructure and 
net gain, as required by NPPF. It would also be beneficial to discuss the 
evidence that will be needed on which to base an effective HRA assessment 
as the Plan progresses. -  - By identifying and resolving issues early on in the 
process, we would expect to free up resources to support the development 
of policy solutions and ensure that your Plan is able to maximise the 
natural capital of West Lancashire to deliver social, economic and 
environmental benefits.

106 We have no detailed observations on the Issues and Options consultation 
paper other than to confirm the desire to realise the delivery of Page 710



ID Representor Comments Council Response

development of the Agency’s land assets in the borough.

111 WLBC are currently reviewing the Local Plan (2012-2027). A review of the 
Plan will assist the Council in meeting the needs of any future opportunities 
which may arise from existing and planned developments such as the 
‘Liverpool 2’ scheme. - An assessment of the housing and economic growth 
needs across the Liverpool area, known as Strategic Housing and 
Employment Land Market Assessment (SHELMA) has been undertaken as 
well as a Strategic Housing Employment Land Availability Assessment 
(SHELAA). These will form key evidence base documents for the review of 
the Local Plan. - This section of our report considers the Strategic 
Development Options Paper, which identifies a series of strategic 
development options for the amount and broad location of new housing 
and employment development. -  - Paragraph 1.1.7 of the Strategic Options 
Paper identifies WLBC’s priorities: - “…it is important that whichever 
options are ultimately selected the Borough - is enabled to grow 
economically, has good social infrastructure and its - environment is 
protected and enhanced wherever possible...” - Our Client supports the 
principle of growth in West Lancashire, this accords with the Framework’s 
requirement to positively and proactively encourage sustainable economic 
growth as well as significantly boost the supply of housing. - This 
Representation addresses several of the key questions set out in the 
Paper. -  - The WLBC Local Plan is currently under review. WLBC are 
currently reviewing the Local plan to assist the Council in meeting the 
needs of any - future opportunities which may arise such as the ‘Liverpool 
2’ scheme. To assess the housing - and economic growth needs across the 
Liverpool area a SHELMAA has been undertaken as well as a SHELAA. We 
are instructed by Priory Asset Management in respect of its land interests 
land at Land at - Black Moss lane, Aughton Black Moss Lane, Aughton 
represents a deliverable development site in a sustainable location. - This 
site would assist the Council in delivering much needed housing 
immediately. We have assessed the Options Papers having regard to 
soundness tests set out in Section 182 - of Framework and conclude that 
the subject site should be released for development.

Page 711





Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

West Lancashire
LOCAL PLAN REVIEW

PREFERRED OPTIONS
August 2018

www.westlancs.gov.uk/LPR
Page 713



ii West Lancashire Borough Council Page 714



1Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CONTENTS

Foreword 3

How to comment on the Preferred Options 4

Chapter 1: Introduction 5
Local Plan Review: Preferred Options Consultation 5
Preparation of a new Local Plan 6
The National and Sub-Regional Planning context 7
Key Issues Facing West Lancashire 9

Chapter 2: Vision for West Lancashire 13
Draft Vision 13
Objectives 14

Chapter 3: Strategic Policies 17
Policy SP1: Delivering Sustainable Development 17
Policy SP2: Strategic Development Requirements 20
Policy SP3: Settlement Boundaries 25
Policy SP4: Development in the Green Belt 28
Policy SP5: Skelmersdale Town Centre 32
Policy SP6: Yew Tree Farm, Burscough 34
Policy SP7: The Creation of Garden Villages and Employment Areas to the west 
and south-west of Skelmersdale

38

Policy SP8: Land to the south-east of Ormskirk and Aughton 42

Chapter 4: Economic Policies 47
Policy EC1: Delivering New Employment Developments 47
Policy EC2: Managing Development on Existing Employment land 50
Policy EC3: The Rural and Visitor Economy 53
Policy EC4: Vibrant Centres 57
Policy EC5: Ormskirk Town Centre 65
Policy EC6: Edge Hill University 71
Policy EC7: Demonstrating Viability 74

Chapter 5: Housing Policies 79
Policy H1: General Housing Policy 79
Policy H2: Housing Site Allocations 87
Policy H3: Affordable Housing 94
Policy H4: Housing for Older People 99
Policy H5: Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and Student Accommodation 105
Policy H6: Gypsy and Traveller Sites 112

 

Page 715



2 West Lancashire Borough Council

CONTENTS

Policy H7: Accomodation for Temporary Agricultural / Horticultural Workers 125
Policy H8: Viability Appraisals on Residential Developments 128

Chapter 6: Infrastructure and Services Policies 133
Policy IF1: Strategic Transport Infrastructure 133
Policy IF2: Community Facilities 142
Policy IF3: Communications Development 145
Policy IF4: Low Carbon and Renewable Energy Development 148

Chapter 7: Green Infrastructure Policies 155
Policy GI1: Provision of Green Infrastructure 155
Policy GI2: Open Space and Outdoor Sports / Recreation Facilities 158
Policy GI3: Nature Conservation and Ecological Networks 161
Policy GI4: Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows 167
Policy GI5: Landscape Character and Land Resources 171
Policy GI6: Coastal Zone 173

Chapter 8: Sustainable Development and Design Policies 177
Policy SD1: Designing Sustainable Layouts 177
Policy SD2: Sustainable Design 179
Policy SD3: Preservation of Heritage Assets 182
Policy SD4: Managing Flood Risk 185
Policy SD5: Managing Contamination and Pollution 189

Chapter 9: Next Steps 193

Glossary 195

Appendix A: Area Maps 205

Appendix B: Parking Standards 217

Page 716



3Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

FOREWORD

Foreword

The Council is ambitious for West Lancashire - our 
economy, the environment and for the health and wellbeing 
of residents. These Local Plan Preferred Options propose 
a new Local Plan that refl ects those ambitions, seeking to 
ensure that West Lancashire improves as an attractive place 
that people will want to live, work and visit, and does so in a 
sustainable, planned manner over the next 30 years in a way 
that provides a degree of certainty for all.

 West Lancashire has a wonderful mix of vibrant towns and 
picturesque villages, and boasts some of the most beautiful 
and productive countryside in the UK. It is also placed 
strategically within the emerging City Regions, particularly 
Liverpool City region with Liverpool Superport being one 
of the largest International Ports in close proximity (less 
than 10 miles) which is now home to the North’s only Deep 

Sea terminal Liverpool 2. This new Northern Gateway has already proven to be a catalyst for 
multiple aligned investments across the region. It is therefore vital that we manage, guide and 
encourage development within the Borough to improve the economic and social prospects 
within our towns with a view to the wider picture, but do so while protecting and improving our 
environment for future generations and maintaining the communities we already have.  This 
document proposes the way that the Council considers this is best achieved.
 
The Local Plan Preferred Options have been developed by considering all the information 
provided by the Council’s evidence base thus far and the results of previous public consultation 
on the Scope, Issues and Options for a new Local Plan, and takes into account the latest 
guidance issued by the Government on preparing local planning policy, most notably the 
recently revised National Planning Policy Framework.

 Ultimately, the Local Plan is extremely important for the future of the Borough and will directly or 
indirectly affect all residents and communities within the Borough and so I strongly encourage 
you to engage with the public consultation on this document.  Let the Council know your views 
on the Local Plan, so that we can prepare the best possible Local Plan for West Lancashire.

  
Councillor John Hodson

Portfolio Holder for Planning and Development

West Lancashire Borough Council

August 2018

Page 717



4 West Lancashire Borough Council

FOREWORD

How to Comment on the Preferred Options

If you would like to comment on any part of the preferred options, then you can do so 
through the Local Plan Review Preferred Options consultation. 

The consultation is open for six weeks from 11 October until 23 November 2018. 

How to submit your comments:

We strongly encourage people to make representations online as this is the easiest and 
quickest method of submitting your views. This can be done at:

www.westlancs.gov.uk/lpr

As well as the comments form, and an electronic copy of the preferred document paper, the 
website also has full details of our evidence base documents should you wish to learn more. 

However, you can still email or write in with your comments using the details below. Paper 
copies of the preferred option paper can be found at all libraries in West Lancashire, at the 
Council Offi ces at 52 Derby St, Ormskirk and the Customer Service Point, Unit 142, fi rst 
fl oor of the Concourse, Skelmersdale.

Web: www.westlancs.gov.uk/lpr

Email: localplan@westlancs.gov.uk

Post: Strategic Planning
West Lancashire Borough Council
52 Derby Street
Ormskirk
Lancashire
L39 2DF

Any questions or queries?

If you have any queries about the Local Plan Review, you can contact the Local Plan Team 
by phoning 01695 585194 or by attending one of our events. Details of our events can be 
found online at www.westlancs.gov.uk/lpr 

Page 718



5Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  1: INTRODUCTION

Chapter 1: Introduction

 Local Plan Review: Preferred Options Consultation

1.1 West Lancashire Borough Council is committed to ensuring sustainable development 
is delivered in West Lancashire and so has undertaken to review the current West 
Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027, which was adopted in October 2013. 

1.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) talks about the three dimensions 
to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental. These dimensions 
give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles:

• an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that suffi cient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure;

• an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built 
and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use 
natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt 
to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

• a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; 
and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that 
refl ect the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being.

1.3 While the current Local Plan does support the principle of sustainable development 
that is championed by the NPPF, it is now fi ve years old and the context surrounding 
planning and development is constantly changing and national planning policy is 
evolving with it. This means that local planning policy, such as Local Plans, can quickly 
become out of date if they are not reviewed and updated accordingly, which, aside 
from not delivering the sustainable development we aspire to, can have two main 
negative consequences.

1.4 First, an out-of-date Local Plan can constrain growth, both economically and in terms of 
providing the right kind of development in the right place in a timely fashion. Secondly, 
if local planning policy is out of date it can be ineffective in managing and guiding 
where appropriate development should take place and can lead to a situation where 

Page 719



6 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

the Council has less control or choice in its decisions.

1.5 Therefore, while the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 is not out of date at this 
point in time, it is considered prudent to prepare a new Local Plan, and this Preferred 
Options document is a key step in doing that.

 Preparation of a new Local Plan

1.6 The Local Plan Review (and therefore the preparation of a new Local Plan) began in 
earnest in September 2016, when Council’s Cabinet approved a new Local Development 
Scheme (a project plan and timetable for the preparation of a new Local Plan) and 
authorised an initial “scoping” consultation with key stakeholder organisations. This 
scoping consultation took place in October 2016 and several organisations provided 
feedback on what topics the new Local Plan should cover and how long a period it 
should cover.

1.7 In February and March 2017, the Council consulted publicly on the Scope of a Local 
Plan Review and a series of Issues & Options papers which set out the planning-
related issues facing West Lancashire and proposed options for how those matters 
could be dealt with through a new Local Plan.  This Preferred Options Paper takes 
on-board the helpful comments received during that consultation, as well as the wide 
range of evidence studies that have been prepared and commissioned by the Council, 
and proposes what is essentially a draft new Local Plan for West Lancashire which 
would supersede the adopted Local Plan if it were ultimately adopted.  This Preferred 
Options paper also refers to the alternative policy options and site allocations that have 
been considered before settling on this set of preferred policies and site allocations.

1.8 With regard to the evidence base behind 
this proposed Local Plan, the full range 
of evidence base documents that have 
been, or are being, prepared is provided in 
Appendix A to this Paper.

1.9 To this end, you are invited to submit any 
robust evidence you consider appropriate 
as part of your consultation feedback on 
this Paper. The more detail provided in 
this evidence, the more useful it is to the 
Council, and the more likely it is to infl uence 
the Council’s decision-making.

Page 720



7Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.10 In particular, if you are promoting a particular site for allocation for development in 
the Local Plan, you are encouraged to provide evidence of how suitable the site is for 
development and how deliverable it is, taking into account all policy considerations that 
affect the viability of development. This would include:

• all information pertaining to the constraints that might limit development of the site 
(either physically or infrastructure related or from a planning policy perspective) and 
how they could be appropriately overcome with minimal impact on the surrounding 
environment and neighbours;

• information on the sustainability merits of the site; and

• information on the availability and deliverability of the site for development, ideally 
including a viability assessment to show how the development is deliverable in 
fi nancial terms while taking account of all the current policy requirements (e.g. 
affordable housing, CIL, provision of Public Open Space, highways improvements).

1.11 Similarly, if you are objecting to the proposed allocation of a site in these Preferred 
Options, you should provide evidence and sound planning reasoning to support your 
view.

1.12 Also, please comment on the alternative policy options or site allocations that the 
Council have considered, either to support the Council’s view not to include that option 
or to disagree with the Council’s decision not to include it.  Please also suggest your 
own alternative policy options and site allocations if the Council do not appear to have 
considered it.

1.13 More generally, the “How to Comment” section at the end of this Paper, along with 
information on the Council’s website (www.westlancs.gov.uk/lpr), explains how you 
can provide feedback to the Council on the preferred options.  

 The National and Sub-Regional Planning Context

1.14 The NPPF, and its accompanying Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), provides the key 
context for all planning matters in the Local Plan, with one of the tests of soundness 
that the Local Plan will be examined on being consistency with the NPPF. The golden 
thread running through the NPPF is that of “sustainable development” and, in particular, 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development. This holistic emphasis on the 
economic, social and environmental  impact of development has to come through a 

Page 721



8 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION 

Local Plan and the Local Plan should fully meet an area’s objectively-assessed need 
for development unless there are over-riding adverse impacts of doing so which would 
outweigh the benefi ts of doing so. 

1.15 This then sets the tone for any new Local Plan, in that it must be positively-prepared, 
seeking to promote any development that is sustainable and, wherever possible, 
meeting more than the basic development needs for an area; being creative in how 
those needs are met to make better places for people to live, work and spend their 
leisure time; and being viable and deliverable.

1.16 The NPPF still encourages a plan-led system, which keeps policies up-to-date and 
relevant to the local and national context, and encourages the preparation of Local 
Plans. It sets out the tests of soundness against which a Local Plan will be examined, 
namely:

• “Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet 
the area’s objectively assessed needs; and is informed by agreements with other 
authorities so that unmet need from neighbouring areas is accommodated where 
it is practical to do so and is consistent with achieving sustainable development;

• Justifi ed – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable alternatives, 
and based on proportionate evidence;

• Effective – deliveratble over the plan period, and based on effective joint working 
on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather than deferred, 
as evidenced by the statement of common ground: and 

• Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable development 
in accordance with the policies in the NPPF. 

1.17 Within the NPPF and the PPG, a wide range of planning matters are discussed and, 
where appropriate, the national policy on these matters is drawn out in this Paper as 
we discuss certain issues, but all must ultimately contribute to the aim of sustainable 
development that fully meets development needs (including necessary infrastructure).

1.18 Sub-regionally, there are no formal documents providing policy or guidance that cover 
West Lancashire, although the emerging Spatial Frameworks for the Liverpool City 
Region and for Greater Manchester will inevitably have an indirect effect, and should 
any such Framework be prepared for Lancashire in the future, a new Local Plan for 
West Lancashire will be able to directly inform it. As such, the key sub-regional matter 

Page 722



9Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  1: INTRODUCTION

for the Local Plan will be the Duty to Co-operate, required through the NPPF and 
other national legislation, which requires neighbouring authorities and certain key 
stakeholders to co-operate as they prepare Local Plans to ensure that cross-boundary 
issues are suitably addressed and collective development needs are met in full. To this 
end, a Duty to Co-operate Statement is provided at Appendix B to evidence how the 
Duty to Co-operate has been, and is being, fulfi lled at this Issue & Options stage of 
Local Plan preparation.

 Key Issues facing West Lancashire

1.19 Our emerging evidence, including the Thematic and Spatial Evidence Papers published 
alongside the Issues and Options in 2017, identifi es the issues that the Borough is 
facing and assesses the physical nature of the Borough, be that in terms of the natural 
environment, built environment or infrastructure provision. It identifi es a series of 
issues for each part of the Borough that the Local Plan should seek to address but 
also pinpoints several key issues which affect the whole, or most of, the Borough:

• Whilst the number of people in the Borough is increasing relatively slowly, the 
population is ageing, with older age cohorts projected to grow very signifi cantly both 
number-wise and percentage-wise over coming years. Conversely, the working age 
population is projected to decrease. This change in the make-up of the population 
is likely to place increased demand on the provision (availability, accessibility and 
variety) of housing, services, health care, and appropriate training / jobs for the 
older population, whilst the number of persons able to contribute towards providing 
such services decreases proportionally. 
It is also likely to have implications for 
job growth requirements, commuting 
levels, and general housing provision.

• West Lancashire as a whole is very 
much ‘middle of the road’ nationally in 
terms of deprivation. However, there are 
some notable disparities and inequalities 
in health, life expectancy, educational 
attainment, and consequent job 
opportunities within the Borough. These 
disparities are most marked between 
Skelmersdale and more affl uent areas 
such as Aughton, Parbold and Tarleton. 

Page 723



10 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

• The affordability of housing is 
an issue for West Lancashire 
(and elsewhere), the median 
house price being almost seven 
times the median earnings. The 
average age of household heads 
is projected to rise over time, both 
as a result of affordability issues, 
and the ageing of the population. 
The affordability issue is tied 
up with the contrasting housing 
market strengths that are seen in 
different parts of the Borough and offering viable alternatives to traditional housing 
built by large developers for the market, such as self- and custom-build, caravans 
and houseboats.

• In order to meet the Council’s legal obligations, the needs of the Travelling 
community must be met in an appropriate way and as close as possible to where 
demand arises, taking into account physical and environmental constraints.

• The issue of student accommodation in Ormskirk needs to be adequately addressed 
to ensure that suffi cient provision is made to accommodate student demand but 
in a way which minimises harm to, or confl ict with, other parts of the residential 
community of Ormskirk.

• Economically, West Lancashire continues to gradually grow, with steady growth in 
jobs in particular, and this growth is anticipated to continue and possibly at a higher 
rate. However, the local workforce will decline in number as the population ages 
(and as working age people struggle to afford a house in West Lancashire). As 
such, the continued economic growth of West Lancashire needs to be fuelled not 
just by providing land in the right location for new employment premises to attract 
businesses (both large and small, established and new), but by providing the right 
supporting context to attract those businesses which includes providing a skilled 
local workforce, appropriate housing provision to accommodate employees and an 
attractive environment and offer to retain and draw working age people to the area, 
especially graduates.

• There is a signifi cant opportunity to boost the local economy, especially in the M58 
corridor, as a result of the Liverpool2 deep water terminal and expected surge in 
demand for logistics facilities and ‘spin-off’ industries. Skelmersdale is likely to be 

Page 724



11Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

the most appropriate location for such opportunities given its excellent road access 
from the Port of Liverpool.

• There is pressure in some parts of the Borough for housing on existing employment 
sites, leading to loss of employment land, because some existing employment 
sites and premises are no longer fi t for purpose. Consideration will need to be 
given to how to distinguish between a site that is no longer appropriate and one 
that simply needs to be redeveloped for more modern premises.

• There is signifi cant leakage of expenditure from the Borough, especially in relation 
to comparison (non-food) retail and commercial leisure / entertainment and the 
night-time economy. The Borough’s town centres in particular need to be managed 
and developed appropriately to help them reinvent themselves to meet 21st Century 
preferences for retailing, leisure and entertainment.

• The amount of best and most versatile agricultural land in the Borough is a regionally 
important resource and is vital to the high performing agricultural industry in West 
Lancashire. 

• Parts of West Lancashire are internationally important designated nature reserves, 
accommodating signifi cant proportions of the world population of certain species. 
These are both an asset to the Borough, requiring continued protection, and also 
a potential constraint to development in some areas.

• The impacts of climate change, particularly in relation to fl ooding and drainage, must 
be managed appropriately including considering how and where new development 
is built in West Lancashire to ensure that new development does not make existing 
issues worse.

• Opportunities for renewable energy provision need to be explored and measures 
considered to improve energy effi ciency of new developments, to help reduce the 
impact of climate change.

• There are varying levels of accessibility to services / facilities / jobs / public transport 
around the Borough. General accessibility to key services has decreased over 
recent years as services have been rationalised and consolidated. Consistent with 
many other areas, car use is high and cycling and public transport use is lower 
than it could be. As such the issue of rural isolation in particular is a concern.

• Public transport and highways traffi c management needs improving in key areas, 

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Page 725



12 West Lancashire Borough Council

such as a rail link into Skelmersdale, easing traffi c congestion in Ormskirk and 
generally facilitating better access via a range of transport modes across the 
Borough.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Page 726



13Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  2: A VISION FOR WEST LANCASHIRE

Chapter 2: A Vision for West Lancashire
2.1 Draft Vision

This Vision refl ects what the Council would like to achieve based on the evidence currently 
available.

West Lancashire will be an attractive place where people want to live, work and visit. 
The Borough will retain its local character and will also make the most of its highly 
accessible location within the North West and its links with the three City Regions 
of Liverpool, Greater Manchester and Central Lancashire and to this end will be an 
outward looking proactive partner within this setting.

West Lancashire will grow economically; creating jobs, attracting new businesses and 
making sure that existing employers have every opportunity to expand and succeed 
in the Borough, set within the three City Regions context.

West Lancashire will play its part in providing a fantastic range of housing, at the 
right quality, as a fundamental factor in delivering economic growth and leaving a 
lasting, vital legacy for the next generations. This will include provision of affordable 
housing to ensure positive impacts on the health, wellbeing, social mobility and 
general quality of life for West Lancashire residents.

The Borough’s three main settlements of Skelmersdale with Up Holland, Ormskirk 
with Aughton and Burscough will be the focus for new development, with each town 
building on its individual strengths but all three working  together to reduce inequality 
across the Borough by providing a well-rounded employment base, opportunities for 
business and the right residential mix. The regeneration of Skelmersdale in particular 
will be vital to this and all three town centres will be more robust and vibrant, offering 
what people need in a 21st Century town centre.

West Lancashire’s fantastic potential will have 
been developed through investment in young 
people through education and training and in 
particular working with Edge Hill University 
and West Lancashire College to ensure that 
a greater number of post graduate jobs are 
created in order to retain skills and talents 
within the Borough. 

Page 727



14 West Lancashire Borough Council

In rural areas, Village and Hamlet settlements will retain their rural character whilst 
seeking to provide local focal points for services and employment, where appropriate, 
and the provision of good quality affordable homes. The agricultural and horticultural 
industry will continue to be a focus in rural areas.

The identity and unique landscape of West Lancashire will be valued, enhanced and 
sustained in accordance with best practice, enabling people to access and enjoy all 
that it offers. This will incorporate the Borough’s historic buildings and character, its 
valuable and important wildlife, habitats and biodiversity, its vital agricultural role 
and its network of green spaces and waterways. 

Infrastructure in West Lancashire will be improved and focused on the places that 
need it, be that improved sustainable transport options within and between the larger 
settlements and to key locations outside of the Borough (such as the proposed 
Skelmersdale Rail Link), improved utilities and communications, improved education 

offer or improved health, community and leisure infrastructure – all of which will 
provide a better, and healthier, quality of life for those who live, work and visit in West 
Lancashire.

2.2 Objectives

The following Objectives set out how the above Vision will be delivered. They are vital in 
guiding how the planning policies are written (what they aim to achieve) and in monitoring 
whether the policies are working, after the Local Plan is adopted. The Objectives are 
necessarily focused on matters that Planning can directly infl uence but, where possible, 
they refer to the wider benefi ts good Planning will have on other factors.

CHAPTER  2: A VISION FOR WEST LANCASHIRE

Page 728



15Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

Objective 1: Sustainable Communities
To ensure sustainability is a guiding principle within our communities providing a balanced 
mix of housing tenures and types, employment opportunities and access to services and the 
natural environment by adapting the principles set out within the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Agenda 2030.

Objective 2: A Healthy Population
To encourage the improvement of the health and wellbeing of the population of West 
Lancashire by encouraging a healthier lifestyle through the way that new development is 
planned and designed, increasing and improving the network of green spaces and Linear 
Parks, waterways, Sport and Recreation spaces across the Borough and improving access 
to health and community facilities. To tackle health inequalities, especially within young 
people, focusing on areas of social deprivation.

Objective 3: A High Quality Built Environment
To ensure that new development is designed to a high quality, recognising the imperatives of 
climate change, reduced natural resources and pollution and the requirement to drastically 
reduce carbon emissions and ensuring that the Borough’s historic features and their settings 
are conserved and enhanced.

Objective 4: Addressing Climate Change
To work proactively towards making a meaningful contribution to meeting the targets as 
agreed at the COP 21 Climate Change Summit 2015 by prioritizing Renewable Energy 
and low carbon development through greater emphasis on Solar, Onshore and Offshore 
Wind, Ground and Air source heat technologies, localised district energy schemes and 
all renewable technologies identifi ed through Research and Development as progressive 
alternatives to all fossil fuel based sources with air quality as a priority.

Objective 5: Reduced Inequality
To Plan for new development and improved infrastructure in ways which reduce inequality 
by addressing areas of identifi ed and hidden deprivation across the Borough, seeking to 
address inequality to the most disadvantaged members of our communities and encourage 
strong community cohesion and diversity.

Objective 6: The Right Mix of Housing
To provide a wide range of housing types and tenures in appropriate locations to meet the 
needs of West Lancashire’s growing population, including affordable housing, accommodation 
for older people, student accommodation, houses of multiple occupation and residential 

CHAPTER  2: A VISION FOR WEST LANCASHIRE

Page 729



16 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  2: A VISION FOR WEST LANCASHIRE

caravans and house boats.

Objective 7: A Vitalized Economy
To provide opportunities for appropriate new developments that will see the Borough play 
an increased role within the three City Regions by encouraging businesses to establish 
themselves in West Lancashire.

Objective 8: Vibrant Town and Village Centres
To enable the Borough’s Town and Village Centres to establish themselves and evolve to 
meet the aspirations of the Ambitious West Lancashire Vision and so build on the vitality and 
vibrancy so valued at the heart of each community.

Objective 9: Accessible Services
To enable, encourage and plan for greater connectivity to a wide range of services to all 
parts of the Borough with an emphasis in providing ways of moving across the Borough as 
an alternative to car travel, making appropriate provision, or re-provision, of new facilities 
in the most accessible locations and locating development in accessible and sustainable 
locations.

Objective 10: A Natural Environment
To improve and make the most of our “green” Borough by protecting and enhancing the 
natural environment, including biodiversity and a network of green spaces, waterways and 
connecting Linear Parks, facilitating the visitor economy, supporting the agricultural and 
horticultural industries and generally enabling rural communities to thrive.

Page 730



17Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

Chapter 3: Strategic Policies

Policy SP1: Delivering Sustainable Development

When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive approach that 
refl ects the support for sustainable development contained in the NPPF. It will always 
work proactively with applicants jointly to fi nd solutions which mean that proposals can 
be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, 
social and environmental conditions in the area.

Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where relevant, 
with polices in neighbourhood plans and supplementary planning documents) will be 
approved, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date 
at the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether:

• Any adverse impacts of granting permission would signifi cantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefi ts, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole; or

• Specifi c policies referred to in footnote 7 of the NPPF indicate that development should 
be restricted.

New development will be promoted in accordance with the following Settlement Hierarchy, 
with those settlements higher up the hierarchy, in general, taking more development than 
those lower down and new development being of a type and use that is appropriate to the 
scale and character of settlements at each level of the hierarchy.

Hierarchy Settlements
Regional Town Skelmersdale and Up Holland

Key Service Centres Ormskirk and Aughton; Burscough

Key Sustainable Villages Tarleton and Hesketh Bank, Parbold; Banks

Rural Sustainable 
Villages

Southport/Birkdale/Ainsdale boundary; Halsall; Haskayne; 
Scarisbrick; Rufford; Newburgh; Appley Bridge; Tontine; 

Page 731



18 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

Hierarchy Settlements
Small Rural Villages Crawford; Hilldale; Mere Brow; Shirdley 

Hill; Stanley Gate; Westhead; Wrightington 
(Hunger Hill, Mossy Lea, Wrightington Bar)

The Regional Town and the two Key Service Centres of the Borough will take the vast
majority of new development. Spatially and economically, Skelmersdale, and the area
surrounding it, is the main location for new development throughout the Local Plan period
due to the planned delivery in the town centre, the need for regeneration in the town, the 
new employment land provision and the proposed new Garden Villages around it. Ormskirk, 
Aughton and Burscough are also key locations for new development with a focus of new 
development to the south-east of Ormskirk and Aughton and the existing allocated Yew Tree 
Farm site in Burscough.

Development in rural areas will be restricted to sites within the defi ned settlement boundaries 
of each village, including specifi c allocations proposed in this Local Plan, unless development 
proposals meet one of the specifi c exceptions for development outside settlement boundaries 
set in this Local Plan or national policy.

 Justifi cation

3.1 Policy SP1 seeks to accord with the presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 in the NPPF by setting at the heart of this Local Plan the desire to create sustainable  
 development and to be proactive in promoting appropriate new development.

3.2 The settlement hierarchy is based upon the evidence collated in the Sustainable Settlement 
Study (2017) which focuses on the level of 
service provision within each settlement.  
Where appropriate, for planning purposes, 
the hierarchy considers settlements as one 
contiguous built-up area even though it is 
recognised that there can be distinct towns 
and villages within those built-up areas with 
their own identity (e.g. Skelmersdale with 
Up Holland, Ormskirk with Aughton and 
Tarleton with Hesketh Bank).

Page 732



19Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

3.3 Consistent with the need to deliver sustainable development, it is appropriate that 
those settlements at the top of the hierarchy, with the most services, should, in general, 
accommodate the most development.  As such, Skelmersdale and Up Holland, Ormskirk 
and Aughton, and Burscough will take the vast majority of new development.  In rural 
areas development is encouraged within settlement boundaries but restricted outside of 
them, unless a specifi c exception is met.  In general, this policy continues the existing 
policy with regard settlement hierarchy and new development in the adopted Local Plan, 
with just minor changes to where settlements are placed in the hierarchy to refl ect the 
updated evidence in the Sustainable Settlement Study (2017).

 Alternatives Considered

3.4 Given the importance placed upon promoting sustainable development in the NPPF, 
there is no realistic alternative to the fi rst part of the proposed policy SP1 which would 
be reasonable to consider and consistent with the NPPF.  However, in relation to the 
settlement hierarchy, the alternatives considered were:

3.5 To not have a settlement hierarchy / have the same policy for all settlements

 This policy approach would allow the same scale of development to take place in 
Skelmersdale as it would in a small village such as Shirdley Hill, and so would not be a 
viable and appropriate approach in West Lancashire.

3.6 Variations on the settlement hierarchy proposed

 Variations on both the structure of hierarchy and on where each settlement fi ts into that 
structure would be a viable alternative, and the Council would like to receive any evidence 
which would query the conclusions reached in the proposed settlement hierarchy, but 
the proposed hierarchy is based upon the evidence currently available to the Council 
and which is summarised in the Sustainable Settlement Study (2017).  In doing so, the 
Council also concluded that the structure of the hierarchy should continue that which is 
already in the current Local Plan.

3.7 Variations on the policy proposed for each level of the hierarchy

 A policy approach could be adopted which varies the general policy and scale and type of 
development within each level of the hierarchy.  However, the council currently considers 
it most appropriate to continue broadly the same policy currently adopted for each level 
of the hierarchy.

Page 733



20 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

 Justifi cation

3.8  A full, detailed explanation of how the Council has arrived at the above Strategic 
Development Requirements is provided in the Technical Paper 1: Strategic Development 
Options and Site Allocations.

3.9 It is proposed that the new Local Plan for West Lancashire should cover the period 2012 
to 2050.  The base date of 2012 refl ects the base date of the existing West Lancashire 
Local Plan and maintaining this base date points toward the fact that this new Local 
Plan is a continuation of the current Local Plan, with those allocations and development 
proposals proposed in the current Local Plan continuing on into the new Local Plan.  
The proposal to prepare a longer-term Local Plan to 2050 enables the Council to plan 
sustainably and holistically for the longer-term, providing a greater likelihood of delivering 

Policy SP2: Strategic Development Requirements

Over the period 2012 to 2050 there will be a need for 15,992 new dwellings (net) as 
a minimum and a need for 190 ha of land to be newly developed for employment uses.  
These Borough-wide requirements will be divided between the different spatial areas of the 
Borough as indicative targets as follows:

Housing Employment 
Land

Skelmersdale and South-Eastern Parishes 8,572 dwellings 150 ha
Ormskirk and Aughton 3,003 dwellings 10 ha
Burscough and Central Parishes 1,495 dwellings 25 ha
Northern Parishes 1,435 dwellings 5 ha
Western Parishes 923 dwellings -
Eastern Parishes 564 dwellings -

For the purposes of measuring the annual delivery of the above Borough-wide housing 
requirement, the Local Plan period will be divided into three phases:

Total for that Phase Annual Requirement
2012-2019 1,899 dwellings* 271 dwellings per annum*
2019-2027 3,168 dwellings 396 dwellings per annum
2027-2050 10,925 dwellings 475 dwellings per annum

*Refl ects Actual Delivery 2012-2018 plus anticipated delivery 2018/19

Page 734



21Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

much-need new infrastructure through the critical mass of development that this longer-
term approach creates and providing competition in the land market (to help manage 
land values and viability).  It also removes the need for safeguarded land and means that 
there should be no need to review the Green Belt boundary in West Lancashire again for 
the next 20-25 years.

3.10 The Employment Land Requirement 
refl ects a need for 99 ha of employment 
land for B1, B2 and small-scale B8 uses 
over the period 2012-2050 (2.6 ha per 
year) based on the Completions Trend 
scenario in the LCR SHELMA study and 
the proposal that West Lancashire should 
deliver 91 ha of large-scale B8 uses over 
the period 2012-2050 (2.4 ha per year) as 
a contribution towards meeting the growing 
demand for large-scale B8 uses in the 
wider City Region.

3.11 Given that the large-scale B8 uses need very good connections to the motorway 
network and the Port of Liverpool (such as those found in the M58 Corridor), and given 
that the majority of existing employment uses in West Lancashire (84%) are located 
in Skelmersdale and Simonswood, policy SP2 proposes that the majority of new 
employment development should be located in Skelmersdale and the South-Eastern 
Parishes.  A secondary focus at Burscough is proposed which also refl ects the existing 
distribution of employment uses.  The proposal to accommodate 10 ha of employment 
land in Ormskirk and Aughton and 5 ha in the Northern Parishes refl ects the desire to 
see more employment opportunities created in the Borough’s second largest town and 
to enable some new employment opportunities in more sustainable rural areas.

3.12 The 15,992 dwelling housing requirement refl ects a combination of the absolute minimum 
housing need that West Lancashire should meet as calculated by the proposed Local 
Housing Need calculation referred to in the NPPF (212 dwellings a year or 8,056 dwellings 
over 2012-2050) plus 1,680 dwellings to continue to meet the 324 dwellings a year to 
2027 committed to in the current Local Plan, plus an unmet need for 6,256 dwellings 
which it is anticipated will arise in the Liverpool City Region after 2027.

3.13 The proposal that West Lancashire should meet this unmet housing need from the 
Liverpool City Region not only refl ects the fact that some authorities in the City Region 
will face severe constraints on their remaining undeveloped land after 2027 (which 

Page 735



22 West Lancashire Borough Council

would mean that they 
are unable to meet their 
own housing needs in 
the future), but also the 
fact that the economic 
growth created in West 
Lancashire through 
the Skelmersdale Rail 
Link proposals and 
the accommodation of 
a part of the growing 
demand for large-scale 
B8 uses will lead to 
a shift in housing demand from some other locations within the City Region to West 
Lancashire.

3.14 The proposed distribution of these new dwellings across West Lancashire refl ects a 
combination of existing housing distribution in the borough and the fact that Skelmersdale 
will take the majority of housing growth being attracted from the Liverpool City Region 
because it will be the focus of economic growth linked to the Skelmersdale Rail proposals 
and the large-scale B8 uses.

3.15 The proposed Annual Requirements for residential development take account of the 
delivery to-date in the fi rst half of the current Local Plan and how all the major allocations 
have now commenced development, and so project an upturn in delivery that will be 
seen from 2019 onwards, but then a further upturn from 2027 when the proposed new 
allocations in the new Local Plan start to deliver signifi cant numbers of completions.  
This allows a seven-year “grace period” from the adoption of the Local Plan to bring 
these major new developments through the planning process and initial construction 
works to start delivering housing completions.

3.16 It should also be noted that, through this proposed phasing of annual delivery for housing 
development, more than the current Local Plan requirement of 4,860 new dwellings will 
still be completed by 2027 (the current Local Plan end date).  Indeed, more than 200 
additional dwellings will have been completed based on the proposed annual delivery 
rates.

 

 Alternatives Considered

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

Page 736



23Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

3.17 A series of Strategic Development Options were considered at the Issues & Options 
stage of the Local Plan Review (Spring 2017), and the selected preferred option refl ected 
in policy SP2 lies somewhere between options C and D in terms of the amount of 
development land required, option II in terms of Local Plan period and is most similar to 
Scenarios 2 and 4 in relation to the distribution of new development across the borough.  
As such, the alternatives are the other options considered in the Issues & Options: 
Strategic Development Options paper. Most notably, the alternatives include:

3.18 A Plan period running to 2037 only

 Under this approach, Safeguarded Land would be required for development needs 
beyond the Plan period and so a similar amount of land would still need to be released 
for allocation / safeguarding as the preferred option, but the fl exibility of the Plan would 
be reduced.

3.19 Planning for less development in general, e.g. by not meeting any of the wider housing 
and employment land needs from the Liverpool City Region

 While it is questionable whether the Council would actually have a choice to seek a 
reduced level of development given the revised NPPF’s policy on meeting the unmet 
needs of adjacent authorities, if there is a choice, this alternative would limit the 
opportunities for economic growth and regeneration in the borough and would likely 
exacerbate the existing issues over the affordability of housing, employment opportunities 
and commuting in the borough.

3.20 Distributing new development more evenly, according to the existing pattern of  
households and employment land across the borough

 This alternative has no regard to the capacity of each part of the borough to accommodate 
a level of growth commensurate with its existing share of households and employment 
land, or how sustainable perpetuating the existing patterns would be.  As such, it would 
involve less housing in the Skelmersdale & South-Eastern Parishes, but more in most 
other parts of the borough, which are generally more constrained (environmentally and / 
or in terms of infrastructure) and less sustainable  in terms of development opportunities. 

Page 737



24 West Lancashire Borough Council

Spatial Areas in West Lancashire

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

Page 738



25Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

Policy SP3: Settlement Boundaries 

The boundaries of West Lancashire’s settlements, and land outside those boundaries 
designated as Protected Land and Green Belt, are shown on the Policies Map.

I. Development within settlement boundaries

Within settlement boundaries, development on brownfi eld land will be encouraged, subject 
to other relevant Local Plan policies being satisfi ed.  

Development proposals on greenfi eld sites within settlement boundaries will be assessed 
against all relevant Local Plan policies applying to the site, including, but not limited to, 
policies on infrastructure, open and recreational space and nature conservation, as well as 
any land designations or allocations.

II. Development outside settlement boundaries on Protected Land

Development on Protected Land will only be permitted where it retains or enhances the 
rural character of the area, for example small scale, low intensity tourism and leisure uses, 
and forestry and horticulture related uses.  As an exception, residential development may 
be permitted in some circumstances in accordance with policy H1.

III.  Development outside settlement boundaries within the Green Belt

Development proposals within the Green Belt will be assessed against national policy on 
Green Belt, together with Policy SP4 of this Local Plan and any locally adopted SPD or 
Neighbourhood Plan covering development in the Green Belt.  As an exception, residential 
development may be permitted in some circumstances in accordance with policy H1.

 Justifi cation

3.21 It is considered that the approach of the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 towards 
defi ning settlement boundaries (which itself is a continuation of previous Local Plans’ 
policy) remains sound, and that there is no reason for changing this approach. In most 
places, the Green Belt boundary (as proposed to be amended by this new Local Plan) 
matches the settlement boundary, with existing built-up areas being tightly defi ned by the 
Green Belt boundary.  

Page 739



26 West Lancashire Borough Council

3.22 However, especially in the Northern 
Parishes, there are areas of land that 
are not within the settlement boundary 
that are also not within the designated 
Green Belt, which the adopted Local 
Plan designated as “Protected 
Land”.  This Protected Land forms a 
buffer between the built-up area and 
the Green Belt and is considered 
generally unsuitable for development, 
with the majority of it being open and 
undeveloped and in a horticultural / agricultural or other countryside use. Having said 
that, exceptions to this protection are proposed to be set out in Policy SP3 and H1 of a 
new Local Plan.

3.23 Changes to settlement and / or Green Belt boundaries (compared with the adopted 
Local Plan) have been made where new development allocations have been proposed 
that requires the release of land from the Green Belt, but many minor adjustments to the 
Green Belt boundary have also been made across the borough to ensure that the Green 
Belt boundary on the Policies Maps aligns with the physical features on the ground.

3.24 Policy SP3 supports the development of brownfi eld land within settlements, subject to 
other relevant Local Plan policies being satisfi ed.  Greenfi eld land within settlements 
that is not allocated for any specifi c use will be subject to all the applicable policies 
within this Local Plan document. In addition to relevant Local Plan policies, the following 
considerations may also be taken into account when assessing proposals for development 
on greenfi eld sites within settlements:

• The sustainability of the site, including how well it relates to the settlement, and 
how easy it is to access the settlement centre and other local services on foot or by 
sustainable modes of transport;

• The extent to which any parts of the site are already developed (for example, 
greenhouses or agricultural buildings), and the nature of the development (size, 
permanence, condition);

• The extent of, and the likely impact upon, the site’s visual, amenity, leisure or   
recreational value (regardless of whether it is designated as open or recreational 
space);

• The extent of, and the likely impact upon, the site’s biodiversity value (regardless of  
any environmental designation);

• The extent of, and the likely impact upon, tree cover on the site (regardless of 

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

Page 740



27Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

whether  or not the trees are protected by TPOs);
• Whether the proposals impact upon the site’s visual, recreational, amenity, or natural 

environmental value, and the scope for effective mitigation measures;
• Whether the site includes any Best or Most Versatile agricultural land, and if so, 

whether the proposed development can be confi gured in such a way as to minimise 
the loss or sterilisation of the agricultural land;

• The impact of the site’s development upon the character and appearance of the 
settlement and the setting of heritage assets, and the contribution of the site to local 
character;

• The cumulative impact of successive development proposals in the same settlement, 
or in the same part of a settlement; and

• The scope for provision of community facilities, general improvements to the locality, 
or other community benefi ts.

3.25 In relation to inappropriate development in the Green Belt that is allowed by exception 
through the NPPF, policy SP4 (and the proposed housing policies of the Local Plan) will 
clarify how some of these exceptions are to be interpreted in relation to development 
proposals within West Lancashire.

 Alternatives Considered

3.26 Policy SP3 is essentially a continuation of Policy GN1 of the adopted Local Plan that, 
with policy SP4, also expands and clarifi es the interpretation of national policy on 
development in the Green Belt.  The following alternatives have been considered:

 To provide greater fl exibility on development within settlement boundaries, even on 
greenfi eld sites

 To remove any specifi c policy on that which is currently designated Protected Land or to 
make the policy more stringent so that it aligns with Green Belt

 To simply rely on national policy for development in the Green Belt

Page 741



28 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

Policy SP4: Development in the Green Belt

Development proposals within the Green Belt will be assessed against national policy 
on Green Belt, together with any locally adopted SPD or Neighbourhood Plan covering 
development in the Green Belt.

In particular, with reference to the categories of development set out in paragraphs 145 and 
146 of the NPPF, the following development will be considered permissible in the Green Belt 
in West Lancashire, subject to compliance with other relevant policies:

I. The extension or alteration of a building, provided that the resulting volume of the extension, 
together with any previous extensions, alterations and non-original outbuildings, would 
not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building. 
‘Disproportionate additions’ are usually taken to be more than 40% above the volume of 
the original building.  There may be occasions where an increase of more than 40% is 
acceptable; conversely, there may be occasions where less than 40% is unacceptable.

II. The replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use, and the 
volume of the replacement building is not materially larger than the one it replaces. 
‘Materially larger’ is usually taken to be more than 20% above the volume of the original 
building.  There may be occasions where an increase of more than 20% is acceptable; 
conversely, there may be occasions where less than 20% is unacceptable.

III. Limited infi lling in villages – all villages in West Lancashire are inset from the Green Belt, 
and as such, this category of exception development in the Green Belt is not relevant in 
West Lancashire, except potentially where the infi ll development is between the edge 
of an inset settlement (as demarcated on the Policies Map) and a property / properties 
outside, but close to the edge of, the settlement, and where on the ground the urban 
form of the settlement clearly extends beyond its Policies Map boundary.

IV. Limited affordable housing for local community needs – this is covered by the rural 
exception sites policy (see policy H1).

V. The redevelopment of brownfi eld sites.  Where there is no net impact upon the openness 
of the Green Belt, market housing will be permissible.  Where there is any net impact 
upon openness, the harm to the openness must be less than substantial, and the ‘net 
impact’ must be made up by affordable housing units.

Page 742



29Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

 Justifi cation

3.27 Green Belt benefi ts from the strongest protection in policy terms.  Paragraphs 133-147 
of the NPPF set out national Green Belt policy, including what types of development are 
‘appropriate’ or ‘inappropriate’ in the Green Belt.

3.28 This Local Plan does not seek to change or elaborate on national policy, except in cases 
where national policy leaves room for interpretation.  The six types of development 
listed in policy SP4 provide local clarifi cation on paragraphs 145 and 146 of national 
policy.  These two paragraphs together list a total of 13 types of development that are 
defi ned as being ‘not inappropriate’.  This Local Plan makes no comment on the other 7 
types of development listed; these would be permissible in West Lancashire, subject to 
compliance with other relevant policies.

3.29 The full justifi cation for the ‘local interpretation’ of the NPPF under policy SP4 is set out 
in the Development in the Green Belt Supplementary Planning Document. In brief, with 
reference to the six types of development listed above:

3.30 Extensions / replacement buildings ((i) and (ii)) 
 An increase of more than 40% above the volume of the original building for extensions is 

considered ‘disproportionate’ (NPPF 145(c)), and an increase of more than 20% over the 
volume of the original building for replacement dwellings is considered ‘materially larger’ 
(145(d)).  There may be occasions where an increase of more than these percentages 
may be acceptable; conversely, there may be occasions where less is unacceptable.  
The existing building should be lawful and permanent in nature, and proposals should 
be in keeping with the character of the area, and appropriate in terms of design and 
materials.

3.31 Redevelopment of brownfi eld sites ((v)) 
 The NPPF (145(g)) allows for the redevelopment of brownfi eld sites for housing, 

provided there is no greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development.  The NPPF also allows for affordable housing to meet an identifi ed local 

VI. The re-use of buildings provided they are of permanent and substantial construction, 
and are capable of conversion without major change, demolition or extension.

In the case of residential development permitted under (iii), (v) and (vi) above that involves 
the creation of 10 or more dwellings, a percentage of the units will required to be affordable, 
connsistent with policy H3.

Page 743



30 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

need where there less than substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt.  In the 
case of the redevelopment of a brownfi eld site, it is considered acceptable to allow for 
market housing to replace existing buildings (no net impact on openness) and for the 
remainder of the development to comprise affordable dwellings only, provided the net 
resultant harm to openness is not ‘substantial’.  Whether or not the harm is substantial is 
a judgment to be made on a case-by-case basis, and will limit the number of affordable 
houses permissible.

3.32 Re-use of buildings ((vi))
 In the case of the re-use of existing [permanent and substantial] buildings, these should 

be capable of conversion without major change, demolition or extension.  Other relevant 
policies will apply, for example on design.

3.33 If any schemes permitted under (iii), (v) or (vi) above result in the development of 10 or 
more dwellings, or 1,000m2 of fl oorspace, a percentage will be required to be affordable, 
in line with policy H3.  This does not necessarily imply that all proposals for 10 or more 
units will be judged appropriate in the Green Belt, in particular in the case of limited 
infi lling in villages.

3.34 A number of permitted development rights exist relating to residential development in the 
Green Belt.  These are the subject of national policy and are not elaborated upon in this 
Local Plan.

3.35 As a general principle, the NPPF seeks to 
promote sustainable development in rural areas, 
and advises (paragraph 78) that housing should 
be located where it will enhance or maintain 
the viability of rural communities.  NPPF 
paragraph 79 requires that planning policies 
avoid the development of isolated homes in the 
countryside, unless one of fi ve exceptions apply.  
The meaning of the word ‘isolated’ has been the 
subject different interpretations, and the focus of 
debate at planning appeals and in the courts.  

3.36 In judging whether a proposal for residential 
development in the Green Belt (permissible under NPPF paragraphs 145 and 146) is 
acceptable under NPPF paragraphs 78 and 79, the following considerations will apply:

• Does the proposed dwelling (or ‘dwellings’; similarly below) meet any of the exceptions 

Page 744



31Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

of NPPF paragraph 81?

• Is the proposed dwelling within a rural ‘settlement’ (group of dwellings and other 
buildings that clearly has the appearance of a distinct ‘hamlet’ or ‘village’; such 
‘settlements’ need not be inset from the Green Belt on the Local Plan Policies Map), 
or is it outside any such ‘settlement’?

• How easy is it to access services and facilities from the proposed development 
without the use of a private car or similar vehicle?

3.37 Additional and more detailed guidance on other forms of development (e.g. stables) is 
provided in the Development in the Green Belt SPD.

 Alternatives Considered

3.38 Policy SP4 is essentially a clarifi cation at West Lancashire level of national policy.  
Therefore, there is little scope for major variations in the policy.  The following alternatives 
have been considered:

3.39 A different approach to rural exception sites

 This is covered under the alternatives to policy H1.

3.40 Different percentage limits for ‘disproportionate’ and ‘materially larger’

 The 40% / 20% limits have been devised in the light of years of experience by Development 
Management offi cers with respect to specifi c cases (both granted and refused permission 
/ at appeals) in West Lancashire.  Lower limits are considered unduly restrictive; higher 
limits would lead to over-large dwellings in the Green Belt, causing more harm to its 
openness.

Page 745



32 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

Policy SP5: Skelmersdale Town Centre

Proposals for the enhancement, regeneration and redevelopment of Skelmersdale Town 
Centre within the SP5 Strategic Development Site designation on the Policies Map will be 
supported. A revitalised Skelmersdale Town Centre is vital to the wider regeneration of the 
town. 

I. The following principles should be considered for development proposals within 
Skelmersdale Town Centre:

a. Make Skelmersdale an attractive leisure, recreational and retail centre;

b. In compliance with the Tawd Valley Park Masterplan, ensure that the parks and open 
spaces in and around the Town Centre are integral to the regeneration and are more 
accessible to Skelmersdale’s communities and visitors;

c. Reconnect the Town Centre with surrounding communities through the building of 
new footpaths and cycleways;

d. Facilitate the delivery of a rail station as an integrated part of the Town Centre;

e. Increase the number of residents in the Town Centre and diversify the style and 
range of residential accommodation available;

f. Explore all opportunities to attract employment-generating uses to the town centre;

g. Maximise opportunities for low carbon design; and

h. Ensure all development is of the highest quality of design in terms of buildings and 
public realm, having full regard to the relationships between buildings and spaces.

II. The following are the key development opportunities within the Town Centre proposals:

a. To enhance the Town Centre offer and to ensure the long-term vitality and viability of 
the Town Centre, including the Concourse Centre, new development is required to 
link the Concourse and Asda / West Lancashire College and should include a range 
and mix of uses including retailing (food and non-food) and leisure, and must include 
high quality public realm.  Any scheme should not signifi cantly harm the viability and 
vitality of the Concourse Centre and must provide suffi cient linkage to the Concourse.

Page 746



33Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

b. To ensure maximum practical integration, an improved western entrance into the 
Concourse Centre to link with the new Town Centre development and a relocated 
or renovated bus station, and re-use of the top fl oor of the Concourse Centre. 
Enhancements to the existing Concourse Centre to improve the retail offer and 
attractiveness of the Concourse Centre will also be encouraged.

c. To make better use of the southern part of the Town Centre, by making the most of 
the presence of a new rail station on the former Westbank/Glenburn site to develop 
complementary uses in accordance with the Skelmersdale Town Centre (South) 
Development Framework.

d. To create new housing, including at Findon and Delf Clough and on land to the south 
and west of the Tawd Valley, with a minimum of 750 units to be delivered over the 
Local Plan period. All housing areas should be of a high quality of design.

e. Delf House and Whelmar House should continue to be used for offi ce uses, but, 
should a viable redevelopment opportunity arise, replacement offi ces or non-food 
bulky goods retail would be appropriate.

Development which would prejudice the delivery of any aspect of the Town Centre 
regeneration scheme, either in terms of its location or the viability of other elements of the 
scheme, will not be permitted.

The
Concourse

Asda

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

Rail Station

Retail and Leisure

Mixed Use Development
Opportunity

Skelmersdale
Town Centre

Residential

College

Improved Connections

0 0.1 0.20.05 Miles

Page 747



34 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

 Justifi cation 

3.41 Policy SP5 continues and updates the equivalent policy for Skelmersdale Town Centre 
in the current, adopted Local Plan.  A revitalised town centre is vital to secure wider 
economic development opportunities in the town and to serve the proposed signifi cant 
development growth of Skelmersdale and its hinterland proposed in this new Local Plan.  
In 2002 the Council started the process to secure this town centre development and has 
seen overwhelming public support for the plans that have been prepared to date. The 
new Local Plan must now take forward those plans in the light of the current economic 
conditions and forecasts, to ensure that a realistic and viable set of development schemes 
can be developed as early as possible in the new Local Plan period.

 Alternatives Considered

3.42 Improving the town centre of Skelmersdale is a Key Priority for the Council and for this 
Local Plan.  As such, there are no alternatives to be considered other than proposals 
which deliver the improvement and economic boost that is required.  While there 
may be choices to be made as to precisely what new development happens where 
in the Town Centre, policy SP5 is considered fl exible enough to accommodate those 
variations.

Policy SP6: Yew Tree Farm, Burscough

In accordance with the Yew Tree Farm Masterplan SPD, which development on the site 
will be required to conform to, an area to the west of Burscough has been designated as a 
Strategic Development Site to deliver:

Residential development for at least 1,000 new dwellings and a 100-bed care home;

• At least 25 ha of new employment land as an extension to the existing employment 
areas, including land at Tollgate Crescent and land to the west of Tollgate Road;

• A new town park for Burscough, with a Management Trust to co-ordinate and fund the 
maintenance of the park, alongside other Green Infrastructure improvements;

• A linear park / cycle route across the site to link in with a wider Ormskirk to Burscough 
linear park / cycle route;

Page 748



35Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

• A new Primary School and other local community facilities to meet the increased 
demand created by the proposed development if that demand cannot be appropriately 
accommodated elsewhere in the town;

• Appropriate highway access for the site on Liverpool Road South (one access only, in 
accordance with the Masterplan SPD) and Tollgate Road, together with a suitable

internal road network providing a connection across the site between the two roads;

• Traffi c mitigation measures to improve traffi c fl ow on Liverpool Road South and protect 
other local roads;

• A robust and implementable Travel Plan for the entire site to address the provision of, 
and accessibility to, frequent public transport services and to improve pedestrian and 
cycling links with Burscough town centre, rail stations and Ormskirk; and

• Measures to address the surface water drainage on the Yew Tree Farm site to the 
satisfaction of the Environment Agency, United Utilities and the Lead Local Flood 
Authority.

Development of the Yew Tree Farm site must not result in surface water being discharged 
into the public sewerage system and will, wherever possible, redirect surface water that 
currently fl ows into the public sewerage system (to at least the equivalent quantity of foul 
water being discharged from the site into the public sewerage system) to be attenuated 
within the SuDS on the Yew Tree Farm site.  Surface water being attenuated by those SuDS 
should discharge to the local watercourse at greenfi eld run-off rates.

Development of the Yew Tree Farm site should be of a high quality of design and be of a high 
standard in relation to energy effi ciency.  The scale and massing of development should be 
appropriate, given the site’s edge of built-up area location, in accordance with the Council’s 
Design Guide SPD.  Any development of the site should have consideration to its impact 
on nearby heritage assets and implement appropriate mitigation measures to minimise any 
negative impact on these assets.

Development should seek to conserve and enhance biodiversity and landscape value 
wherever possible, including delivering appropriate mitigation identifi ed by a specifi c Habitat 
Regulations Assessment / Appropriate Assessment for the site, and consider how the design 
of development within the site can actively enhance biodiversity through habitat creation. 

Page 749



36 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

Development should also improve access to recreation opportunities and green spaces 
so as to integrate the development with the local and wider Green Infrastructure network, 
particularly through the inclusion of the Ormskirk to Burscough Linear Park within the site 
and the new, maintained town park for Burscough.

In relation to the employment land designated to the west of Tollgate Road (which does not 
form part of the Yew Tree Farm Masterplan SPD), a Travelling Showpeople site would also 
be permissible within this employment allocation, as per policy H6.

Page 750



37Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

 Justifi cation

3.43 Policy SP6 continues and updates the equivalent policy for the Yew Tree Farm site 
in the current, adopted Local Plan.  The key change compared to the existing policy 
is to remove the requirement to safeguard part of the site for further residential and 
employment development in the future and so allocate the whole site for development 
in the new Local Plan period.  This is simply because the new Local Plan will cover the 
period beyond 2027 and so the land which was safeguarded from development in the 
adopted Local Plan will be required for development needs in Burscough post-2027.  

3.44 The development of the whole site, which includes parts that already benefi t from a 
planning permission, will be required to adhere to the Yew Tree Farm Masterplan SPD 
(adopted in February 2015) and was prepared expressly to ensure a co-ordinated and 
integrated development of the whole site over time.  However, Policy SP6 also covers 
an additional area of land to the west of Tollgate Road which is proposed for allocation 
as employment land through this Local Plan.  While this is not covered by the Yew 
Tree Farm Masterplan SPD, it is considered an extended part of this strategic location 
for new development and will be expected to deliver new employment development 
in accordance with Policy SP6.  A Travelling showpeople site will also be considered 
appropriate on that additional land, as per Policy H6.

 Alternatives Considered

3.45 The new Local Plan is planning for development beyond the existing Plan period to 2027, 
and so additional land for development in Burscough is needed to meet requirements for 
that extended Plan period.  As such, if the full Yew Tree Farm site were not released for 
development in the new Local Plan, the only alternative would be to release entirely new 
sites from the Green Belt elsewhere in Burscough to meet those additional development 

  needs.

3.46 While other sites around Burscough have been put forward to the Council, all are in 
the Green Belt and so, when there is land for approximately 500 dwellings and 10 ha 
of employment land already removed from the Green Belt by the adopted Local Plan at 
Yew Tree Farm, and that land is enclosed by existing development, there is no realistic 
alternative to allocating this safeguarded land for development.

 

Page 751



Policy number and title (Bold, Arial 14)

Text (Regular, Arial 12).

Justifi cation
Unt rehent vel eos eos remodi nos andus de di si cum fugitate veliciatint veris ius sequost mod 
enihillaccus sin comniet am sim eatus.
Osa pra verci ommolup tatquia ped maio doluptaqui ut vit qui tem explibusam comnimet exerum 
seque vellut qui ullaborest veriasi milluptas andaectur, cullic tet ut velendebitis molut ut ad ulpa 
eost, consed moluptu sdanisc iistibus eossin por aut elit iunt rem. Agnimi, non nis con non non 
eum aut inum rernate sunt qui aut aut liberio necupta tenimagnis num quam rempos eatquost 
invene veraerumquam et fuga. Ita volora eumquis nis et, aborror porecte nimusanis nimus ressi 
ditatur? Quiamet fuga. Itam, que rest diaecus ciaerspis excero optas mosam idebit, quiam est, 
nos molest omnim ipicaes tiorers perit, nos eosa sunt aliquas perum fuga. Parum si ut quaspedi 
aliquid quae velese delliquia idis is consequi deliquod quiditatiis essimaio. Feria quae. Nam qui 
denit autem inis rehent rectota dolla venis quiantem sam fugia voloreptat.
Ria qui corum dolupta voluptat aut offi c to qui aut optur? Quiae con con cone volendi gnamusc 
imaximint fuga. Itatur, aut fugia pellenimus, aut eseque nonsent quissunt faccusdamus eariti 
vero velendi tempore mperfer natempe ne comnis duci consequid molent et quidem is endit 
volumquo verum voloriati omnis eos im idit, que exerit re, si dit eseque voluptatem fugia idu-
ciae. Ucia volut venisinctat ma doluptiumqui que voluptat.
Tur aut arcipictur, sam nobitatatem se enitatium veriametus, od es ratent optum imusciis ut ut 
a volenti que sanihit lia volum et dit quas earum dolorat aliquae caest, tene vendebis voluptur?
Erem cus molorer sperferrume velite nonsed quod ut faciatur si inihilitas dent.
Epres di cullectur, secepero conse et quost quamusda quam id ma doluptam quidebi sitates-
sima dollaut aut et magnienda doluptatum que expedit hicilique saectat.
Namus ea volo del es pa ilictus reiunt, quiaspid quid qui dolupis ex essi dempos esed estem 
dolore occaborum faccuptatem fugit accatet eatum alia sequi cullaborit faceribea volore non-
secestis minveliquo es sum faccupt aspelictae siti doles ut modis mo corerna tionecto estias 
maximus explaut vellor andam quis etur, natur, totas resto evelibus maxime libus, que el in core 
diamus ut quam re, eum accae estium landisci omnimpe ribus.
Otae nonsero cor aut recupid endebitium et harcita quatem imi, int od ut dolupta temquas au-
dae omniae voluptatecus am voloriati cumquis il everectur sequiam audia conseditiusa vollique 
dolupta in corepudam debis et ulpa volum quam voluptam si re lab ipsum volesequae quodia-

38 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

Policy SP7: The Creation of Garden Villages and Employment Areas to 
the west and south-west of Skelmersdale

Land to the west and south-west of Skelmersdale is to be allocated for the development 
of three Garden Villages totalling in the region of 6,000 dwellings and employment areas 
totalling over 100 ha of employment land, together with all necessary infrastructure and local 
services.

In delivering this new area of development, the following will be required as part of the 
proposals:

• The creation of three Garden Villages:

 ᵒ to the north of the A577 Dicket’s Lane / Blaguegate Lane (circa 1,500 dwellings);
 ᵒ to the east of the B5240 Lyelake Lane (circa 2,500 dwellings); and
 ᵒ to the north-east of the A570 Rainford Bypass (circa 2,000 dwellings).

• Three 100-bed care homes / extra care facilities, each potentially as part of Elderly Care 
Villages incorporated within each Garden Village.

• A Logistics Park (approx. 70 ha in size) for large-scale B8 uses adjacent to Junction 3 
of the M58 motorway.

• An extension of the existing employment area at White Moss Business Park for B1, 
C1 and D1 uses (approx. 15 ha to the south and east) and for general B1, B2 and B8 
employment uses (approx. 20 ha to the west).

• The retention of a green buffer between the existing settlement of Skelmersdale and the 
new Garden Villages / J3 Logistics Park, which should be kept open and protected from 
the construction of new buildings except those related to agriculture and forestry and to 
facilities for outdoor sport and recreation.

• The provision of new highway links connecting the new Garden Villages and employment 
areas to the existing strategic highway network and improvements to existing local 
highways as required as a result of the proposed development.

• Measures to address surface water drainage to the satisfaction of the Environment 
Agency, United Utilities and the Lead Local Flood Authority so that all surface water is

Page 752



39

tur, cullis modit voluptur alit qui dipsa voloreici blabo. Facero offi cid qui dit eicaectatem et verias 
ullaborum utestrum etur, omnit ma animo explandi odiosse cescit eaque nobit quo estrum fugit, 
te alit mos dolessimet, ipic tem incil invelesciet rereptatem qui iliquame dolendandae reium qui 
sit, untur?
Usam, untusam lab ipsum ipid qui nihicit erios et eum con porunt fuga. Pudi consecae nost fugi-
tate vendi im il magnimus aribus, offi cimus, nobita voluptas quiatqu aspidel eiur, sit voluptiatem. 
Liquo idionsequi volupicim cus ea dolorporio quunt as dolenient res ipsa cullabo. Itas as exero 
vere, alibus recum undita volorep taquas excestrum vellis quam fuga. Int.
Andae eum sendis eos quid quoditatur? Odis sime prem voluptae. Nam, od magnam qui ut il 
inis porem. Et vidipsunt quis et pos estiatistium volor aut perum hario. Ovitatur sitas volorestio 
eosti omnimai oriantiae laccus exped ut res qui accus nonseque et, nam accusan ditio. Ita sum 
audi doluptium quia sum am, tempos ma quatia nate natur, quiatia dias nemporitae sitassitior 
sus as doluptatia ipsum reptibea dolorunt quo qui suntorerciis et, id unt faciat.

Alternatives considered
Eceped ma prepuditat odigendenda dolessimet qui te aut esequae sit, sus molupic ipsunte 
endenis qui dolorpo rehendae non prent inciducit, sit lam eveliqu iaectat urestem vollecea 
cum, sundani hicipsunt qui nitiant aut porporio. Omnisin cipsunt empori conse vent aut quiae 
dolupta tempor aut eum sit est omni consequae num dest res adipsunt, od etur?
Ecere es maximag nimporum aut ut odit alibus ent volupta natatur eperitionsed ulpa pre plaut 
rem. Ratibus sim essimusam, corepudandam re ipsapienis ut quis rest, sequibu sdanis et eos 
ex enis de sitis verchil moluptatia dolupta tendita esequas periae et, idio enitas assitat ero 
magnatis volenditae pre molentium fugiae volor sit, voluptume eationsedis rae aut offi cium 
rehent volestrum, ant.
Facepelic te et erat harum, to etur aut et dolore, sanis sed ea prature pelest ius re nimillorrum 
andem volorepro tendipsamus, ommodia ventur sectas el is sed utem velis nonse cuptae et 
offi cietusam esti omnit evelend ipsandel imolessit re vento ditiur acimpor estrum voluptatem 
volum nit faccum intes enihitate offi cienda quiducimus doluptatur sum facius quatem iliquid 
quiandis aut ra pero etur, velitam aborrumquunt faceat.
Bus a sequia volo imilliqui odit, verspit anditate ducidebis sae. Et faccusdae. Ut omniendae 
nonsequam doluptur? Andi odicim exerferum faciis alit et pariatiatus, soluptam iur, es ditis 
maio cone voluptasima cullanto ipidipsam, num vendia cus re, corenist aut ipsae nonsequi 
digendit di cusam qui tem abo. Alit doluptam quatae odis volest, cum etur aceria qui sinci vo-
lorro cores derum voluptatur sint et voloratem sam nis eum hilluptatia solendae pore eos rem 
utes aut explitas il ipsam, tor sit as molut es moluptatior alitatatia con rest hilisci minumquat 
qui volorecum eosapis dunt vendi id modite ododipitae suntur? 

Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

      
 attenuated within the development to discharge to the local watercourse at greenfi eld  
 run-off rate.

• The provision of new, or enhancement of existing, local centres accessible to each 
Garden Village to provide local services to the new settlements.

• Two new Primary Schools to meet the increased demand for school places created 
by the proposed Garden Village developments if that demand cannot be appropriately 
accommodated elsewhere in existing schools in Skelmersdale and the South-Eastern 
Parishes;

• Delivery of the Firswood Road - Plough Lane section of the Skelmersdale to Ormskirk 
Linear Park and provision of maintained Green Infrastructure and cycle links, areas 
of public open space, play areas and playing pitches in line with the requirements of 
the Provision of Public Open Space in New Residential Developments SPD and other 
policies in this Local Plan.

• Protect, and where possible enhance, the Biological Heritage Sites at Dicket’s Brook 
Wood, Stanley’s Firs, Ferny Knoll Bog and Nipe Lane.

A Strategic Masterplan SPD for the area covered by the new Garden Villages and Employment 
Areas to the west and south-west of Skelmersdale will be prepared and all development 
within the area covered by the SPD will be required to adhere to it.

Development of the new Garden Villages and Employment Areas should be of a high quality 
of design and be of a high standard in relation to energy effi ciency / low carbon development.  
Any development of the site should have consideration to its impact on nearby heritage 
assets and implement appropriate mitigation measures to minimise any negative impact on 
these assets.

Development should seek to conserve and enhance green infrastructure, biodiversity 
and landscape value wherever possible, seeking to bring the countryside into the Garden 
Villages through their layout and design.  All developments should consider how the design 
of development within the site can actively enhance biodiversity through habitat creation. 

Development should also improve access to recreation opportunities and green spaces 
so as to integrate the development with the local and wider Green Infrastructure network, 
particularly through the inclusion of the Skelmersdale to Ormskirk Linear Park within the

Page 753



40 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

 
most northerly Garden Village and by ensuring that Green Infrastructure and cycle links 
connect the three Garden Villages and the three employment areas with one another and 
with Skelmersdale.

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

Garden Village

Logistics Park

0 0.3 0.60.15 Miles

Other Residential
Allocations

Extension of White
Moss Business Park

Page 754



41Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

 Justifi cation

3.47 In order to deliver the level of development in Skelmersdale and the South-Eastern 
Parishes proposed in Policy SP2, additional land beyond that which is already allocated 
or available for development within the existing settlement boundaries of Skelmersdale 
and Up Holland is required.  There is a need for land to accommodate at least 6,000 
new dwellings and over 100 ha of employment land.  In addition, in order to meet the 
need for C2 units in West Lancashire identifi ed in the LCR SHELMA (see Policy H4), it is 
considered appropriate that provision of two C2 care homes / extra care facilities as part 
of the Garden Villages would be appropriate, potentially as part of wider Elderly Care 
developments incorporating a mix of C2 and C3 units.

3.48 Technical Paper 1: Strategic Development Options and Site Allocations provides more 
detail on the assessment of site options for small and large sites in Skelmersdale and 
the South-Eastern Parishes.  While a few site allocations with a capacity of less than 
150 dwellings have been proposed on the edge of Skelmersdale following this sites 
assessment, the only realistic way to deliver the scale of development required in this 
spatial area is through the creation of new villages and employment areas to the west 
and south-west of Skelmersdale.

3.49 Focusing the vast majority of new 
development in this way also enables 
the delivery of new, shared infrastructure 
such as highways improvements, 
sustainable transport connections, Green 
Infrastructure, schools, local services 
and drainage infrastructure as part of the 
new development and integrated into the 
development in a sustainable way.

3.50 While the development of the new housing and employment land will be ongoing until 
2050, the planning and delivery of this development will be required to be co-ordinated and 
adhere to a strategic masterplan for the area to ensure all parts of the new development 
fi t together seamlessly and all contribute towards the delivery of the new infrastructure 
required.

 Alternatives Considered

3.51 Given the scale of the development requirements in the Skelmersdale and South-Eastern 
Parishes spatial area, there are no realistic alternatives to the whole of the development 

Page 755



42 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

proposed in Policy SP7, but two sites were assessed which could be considered as 
an option for allocation instead of parts of the proposed developments.  However, 
fragmenting the developments in this way would not bring the same benefi ts through 
shared infrastructure delivery and sustainability and there were few, if any, alternatives 
for the employment requirements.  

3.52 Furthermore, those alternative sites are all constrained by at least one additional factor 
(as well as the same factors of Green Belt and Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land) 
which those areas proposed for development in Policy SP6 are not.  The two alternative 
sites (both for residential) are:

• Land to the south of St Joseph’s College, Up Holland (indicative capacity of 900 dwellings)
• Land to the north of Vale Lane, Skelmersdale (indicative capacity of 1,200 dwellings) 

Policy SP8: Land to the south-east of Ormskirk and Aughton

Land to the south-east of Ormskirk and Aughton is to be allocated for the development of 
at least 2,000 dwellings, a Knowledge Park, purpose-built student accommodation and a 
Sports Village, together with all necessary infrastructure and local services.

In delivering this new area of development, the following will be required as part of the 
proposals:

• Residential development of land:

 ᵒ To the east of Alty’s Lane, Ormskirk (circa 400 dwellings);
 ᵒ To the west of Alty’s Lane, Ormskirk (circa 700 dwellings);
 ᵒ To the north-west of Parr’s Lane, Aughton (circa 400 dwellings); and
 ᵒ To the south of Parr’s Lane, Aughton (circa 500 dwellings).

• An 80-bed care home / extra care facility as part of an Elderly Care Village.

• A 15 ha Knowledge Campus to the south of St Helens Road accommodating B1 uses 
and, if required post-2030, additional academic space (and limited associated car 
parking) for Edge Hill University.

• 1,000 bed spaces of purpose-built campus-style student accommodation.

Page 756



43Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

• A Sports Village accommodating multiple sports in a hub made up of several sports 
clubs on land adjacent to the Cricket Club between St Helens Road and Alty’s Lane.

• The provision of new and improved highway links connecting the B5197 Prescot Road 
to the A570 St Helens Road (at the junction with the University’s Eastern entrance) to 
enable better access for the proposed residential developments to the strategic highway           
network.

• Measures to address surface water drainage to the satisfaction of the Environment 
Agency, United Utilities and the Lead Local Flood Authority so that all surface water is 
attenuated within the development to discharge to the local watercourse at greenfi eld 
run-off rate.

• The provision of new, or enhancement of existing, local centres accessible to the 
residential developments to provide local services to new and existing residents.

• The provision of a new Primary School to meet the increased demand for school 
places created by the proposed developments if that demand cannot be appropriately 
accommodated elsewhere in existing schools in Ormskirk and Aughton;

• Provision of maintained Green Infrastructure and cycle links, areas of public open space, 
play areas and playing pitches in line with the requirements of the Provision of Public 
Open Space in New Residential Developments SPD and other policies in this Local Plan 
and to provide sustainable connections into Ormskirk town centre by means other than 
the car.

A Strategic Masterplan SPD for the area covered by policy SP8 to the south-east of Ormskirk 
and Aughton will be prepared and all development within the area covered by the SPD will 
be required to adhere to it.

Development should be of a high quality of design and be of a high standard in relation to 
energy effi ciency.  Development should seek to conserve and enhance green infrastructure, 
biodiversity and landscape value wherever possible, seeking to bring the countryside into 
the developments through their layout and design.  All developments should consider how 
the design of development within the site can actively enhance biodiversity through habitat 
creation. 

Development should also improve access to recreation opportunities and green spaces 

Page 757



44 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

so as to integrate the development with the local and wider Green Infrastructure network, 
particularly by ensuring that Green Infrastructure and cycle links connect the residential 
areas with Ormskirk town centre.

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

Residential

Knowledge Park

Student Accommodation

Ormskirk Town Centre

Edge Hill Campus

0 0.2 0.40.1 Miles

Page 758



45Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

 Justifi cation

3.53 In order to deliver the level of development in Ormskirk and Aughton proposed in Policy 
SP2, additional land beyond that which is already allocated or available for development 
within the existing settlement boundaries of Ormskirk and Aughton is required.  There 
is a need for land to accommodate at least 2,200 new dwellings, 10 ha of employment 
land and purpose-built student accommodation to alleviate the demand for Houses of 
Multiple Occupation (HMOs). 

3.54 Technical Paper 1: Strategic Development Options and Site Allocations provides more 
detail on the assessment of site options for small and large sites in Ormskirk and 
Aughton.  While a few site allocations with a capacity of less than 200 dwellings have 
been proposed on the edge of Ormskirk and Aughton following this sites assessment, 
the only realistic way to deliver the scale of development required in this spatial area is 
through a signifi cant urban extension of the town.

3.55 While there are several options for allocating sites of 400 or more dwellings each around 
Ormskirk and Aughton, focusing the vast majority of new development to the south-east 
of Ormskirk and Aughton in the way proposed by policy SP8 also enables the delivery 
of new, shared infrastructure such as highways improvements, sustainable transport 
connections, Green Infrastructure, schools, local services and drainage infrastructure as 
part of the new development and integrate them into the development in a sustainable 
way.

3.56 In particular, development in this area would have less impact on traffi c congestion in the 
town centre than options to the north and west of Ormskirk given the easier access to 
the M58 from the south-east side of Ormskirk.  In addition, given this area is reasonably 
well enclosed by the existing built-up area to the north, west and south, a release of land 
in this location generally rounds of the settlement area of Ormskirk without signifi cantly 
expanding the town into the open countryside or closing a strategic gap between 
settlements.

3.57 Within this strategic location, there is also the opportunity to create an Elderly Care 
Village, including a C2 care home to help meet some of the C2 need and general 
residential provision for an ageing population identifi ed by Policy H4. 

3.58 In relation to the creation of a new Knowledge Park as part of the strategic site, there is 
no realistic alternative to this site in Ormskirk and Aughton for such a development, and 
this location offers the benefi ts of close connections to the University for the mutual 

Page 759



46 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC POLICIES

 benefi t of the businesses who locate at the Knowledge Park and the University.

3.59 While the development of the new housing and employment land will be ongoing until 
2050, the planning and delivery of this development will be required to be co-ordinated and 
adhere to a strategic masterplan for the area to ensure all parts of the new development 
fi t together seamlessly and all contribute towards the delivery of the new infrastructure 
required.

3.60 While the provision of high quality purpose-built student accommodation on the strategic 
site is essential to help alleviate the demand for HMOs in Ormskirk and offer an increased 
level of on- or near-campus student accommodation, the site also provides the opportunity 
to develop additional land for Edge Hill University as part of the Knowledge Park should 
it be required in the longer-term (post-2030) to address changes in the Higher Education 
industry and manage the University Campus better to mitigate any negative impacts on 
the town arising from these changes.

3.61 The strategic site also provides opportunities to improve Green Infrastructure, sports 
and recreation provision and drainage infrastructure for the benefi t of the whole town, 
and the Masterplan for the site will need to address the location and layout of any Sports 
Village, Public Open Space and Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) to maximise 
these opportunities.

 Alternatives Considered

3.62 Given the scale of the development requirements in the Ormskirk and Aughton spatial 
area, there are no realistic alternatives to the whole of the development proposed in 
Policy SP8, but two sites were assessed which could be considered as an option for 
allocation instead of parts of the strategic site.  However, fragmenting the developments 
in this way would not bring the same benefi ts through shared infrastructure delivery and 
sustainability and there were no realistic alternatives for the employment requirements.  

3.63 Furthermore, those alternative sites are all constrained by at least one additional factor 
(as well as the same factors of Green Belt and Best and Most Versatile Agricultural 
Land) which those areas proposed for development in Policy SP8 are not.  The main 
alternative site of a signifi cant size (for residential) in Ormskirk and Aughton is Land to 
the north of the Scott Estate, Ormskirk (indicative capacity of 400-500 dwellings).

Page 760



47Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

Policy EC1: Delivering New Employment Developments

As established in policy SP2, the delivery of at least 190 ha of new employment development 
(B1, B2 and B8 uses) will be promoted in West Lancashire between 2012 and 2050.  This 
requirement will be met as follows:

1. Approximately 70 ha of Large-scale B8 uses as part of a Logistics Park at Junction 3 of 
the M58 (see Policy SP7)

2. Approximately 15 ha of Large-scale B8 uses at XL Business Park

3. Approximately 15 ha of B1, C1 or D1 uses at and to the south and east of White Moss 
Business Park at Junction 4 of the M58 (see Policy SP7)

4. Approximately 20 ha of B1, B2 or B8 uses to the west of White Moss Business Park at 
Junction 4 of the M58 (see Policy SP7)

5. Approximately 20 ha of B1, B2 or B8 uses on the south-west and south-east edges of 
Pimbo Industrial Area

6. Approximately 20 ha of B1, B2 or B8 uses at Simonswood Industrial Area

7. Approximately 10 ha of B1 or D1 uses as part of a Knowledge Park at St Helens Road, 
Ormskirk (see Policy SP8)

8. Approximately 25 ha of B1, B2 or B8 uses at Tollgate Road, Burscough (see Policy 
SP6)*

9. Approximately 5 ha of B1, B2 or B8 uses at Southport New Road, Tarleton

Employment development in West Lancashire should continue to provide for the advanced 
manufacturing and distribution/logistics sectors but should also encourage higher quality 
business premises and offi ces for business and professional services, the health sector, 
the media industry and other sectors related to research and degree courses provided at 
Edge Hill University. The “green” construction and “green” technology sectors will also be 
encouraged to locate in West Lancashire and developers should work with such businesses

Chapter 4: Economic Policies

Page 761



48 West Lancashire Borough Council

to ensure appropriate premises are provided.

The Council will take account of the following factors when assessing all development 
proposals for employment uses:

a. The accommodation should be fl exible and suitable to potentially meet changing future 
employment needs, and in particular to provide for the requirements of local businesses 
and small fi rms;

b. The scale, bulk and appearance of the proposal should be compatible with the character 
of its surroundings or that proposed by a specifi c allocation;

c. The development must not signifi cantly harm the amenities of nearby occupiers nor 
cause unacceptable adverse environmental impact on the surrounding area;

d. The development should provide suffi cient car parking and sustainable transport options 
commensurate with the scale of development and, where required by relevant guidance, 
a Travel Plan; 

e. Proposals which will generate HGV movements to and from an employment development 
will be required to provide adequate lorry-parking (with appropriate facilities for drivers) 
within the development in order to accommodate the lorries of those drivers having to 
take statutory breaks following a delivery and to reduce the likelihood of “fl y-parking” on 
roads around the employment development; and

f. The Council will seek to ensure that employment opportunities are provided for local 
people and, where necessary, developers will be encouraged to implement relevant 
training programmes.

* A Travelling Showpeople site would also be permitted within this employment allocation off 
Tollgate Road in Burscough, as per policy H6.

 Justifi cation

4.1 The basis for the 190 ha requirement for employment land in West Lancashire to 2050, 
and its distribution across the Borough, is addressed in the Technical Paper 1: Strategic 
Development Options and Site Allocations.  The specifi c sites allocated to meet this new 
requirement are essentially the only and most logical options for such new allocations, 

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

Page 762



49Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

and incorporate all existing, undeveloped allocations from the current Local Plan.  
Furthermore, suffi cient land has been proposed for allocation to exceed the 190 ha 
requirement slightly and so provide competition, choice and fl exibility in the market.

4.2 Some of the proposed allocations seek to focus on specifi c types of employment 
developments, for example the 
Logistics Park at Junction 3 of the 
M58 and the Business or Technology 
Parks at White Moss in Skelmersdale 
(Junction 4 of the M58) and St 
Helens Road in Ormskirk, but others 
allow for any type of employment use 
(B1, B2 or B8), and this is necessary 
to ensure that the specifi c needs of 
some business sectors can be met 
in West Lancashire by ensuring that 
some land is reserved for B1 uses 
and some is reserved for large-scale 
B8 uses in order to meet the particular demands of the markets for the offi ce and large-
scale logistics sectors.

4.3 The factors that new employment developments should address proposed in policy EC1 
are similar to those in the existing Local Plan and seek to ensure that new employment 
developments are designed and developed in a way to minimise impact on the 
environment around them and to provide fl exible workspaces that can be adapted as 
demands change over time.

 Alternatives Considered

4.4 The alternatives in relation to the quantum of new employment development required in 
Policy EC1 are addressed through Policy SP2, which sets that overall requirement and 
broad distribution of that requirement across West Lancashire.  In relation to the specifi c 
sites identifi ed in Policy EC1, there were few alternatives put forward by landowners 
/ developers, but all alternatives are considered in the Technical Paper 1: Strategic 
Development Options and Site Allocations.

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

Page 763



50 West Lancashire Borough Council

Policy EC2: Managing Development on Existing Employment Land

Strategic Employment Sites

On the following existing employment sites, as detailed on the Policies Map, the Council will 
require a mix of industrial, business, storage and distribution uses (B1, B2 and B8), will allow 
A1 retail warehouses on a like-for-like basis of existing A1 premises and will allow small-
scale ancillary uses to those uses:

I.    Pimbo Industrial Area
II.    Stanley Industrial Area / XL Business Park
III.    Gillibrands Industrial Area
IV.    Simonswood Industrial Area
V.    Burscough Employment Areas
VI.    Ormskirk Employment Area / Hattersley Court

On the following existing employment sites, as detailed on the Policies Map, the Council will 
only permit B1 use classes and, where specifi ed, other employment-generating uses in use 
classes C1 and D1 as well as small-scale ancillary uses to those uses:

VII. White Moss Business Park (B1, C1 and D1)
VIII. Pilkington Technology Centre (B1 only)

Other Signifi cant Employment Sites

On the following sites, as detailed on the Policies Map, the Council will permit industrial, 
business, storage and distribution uses (B1, B2 and B8) and will allow small-scale ancillary 
uses to those uses:

IX.    Westgate, Skelmersdale
X.    Chequer Lane, Up Holland
XI.    Southport Road / Green Lane, Ormskirk
XII.  Abbey Lane, Burscough
XIII.  Platts Lane, Burscough
XIV.  Orrell Lane, Burscough
XV.  Red Cat Lane, Burscough
XVI.  North Quarry, Appley Bridge
XVII. Appley Lane North, Appley Bridge

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

Page 764



51Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

 Justifi cation

4.5 Protecting existing employment areas in West Lancashire is key to maintaining economic 
growth unless those areas are no longer fi t for employment land purposes.  As such, Policy 
EC2 seeks to ensure the designated existing employment areas are kept in employment 
uses in order to maintain a supply of sites and buildings for general employment uses 
across the Borough.  This is particularly relevant for the strategic employment sites 
which together provide the vast majority of employment land in West Lancashire.

4.6 Within existing strategic employment sites there is a supply of generally smaller sites or 
vacant units potentially available.  However, in terms of how this relates to the current 
employment land portfolio and whether these should be counted as available supply 
for new employment development that contributes to meeting the employment land 
requirement set in Policy EC1, various factors make any such quantitative analysis an 
inexact science.  

4.7 Many of these sites are what could be termed private reserves (i.e. industrial land held 
with existing buildings for expansion). These are normally excluded from the analysis 
as they are not generally available for development.  Other sites are simply those that 
are temporarily vacant or under-used and so form part of the overall churn of existing 
employment land.  However, this latter category do provide a potentially useful source of 
land for smaller-scale employment developments.

4.8 A review of the existing employment 
areas have identifi ed that the following 
areas of land (totalling up to 10 ha) 
are possibly available for expansion 
of existing businesses or smaller 
employment developments within 
existing employment areas, but have 
not been counted as part of the supply 
toward meeting the employment land 

On these signifi cant employment sites and other, smaller sites in employment uses that are 
not allocated on the Policies Map, the Council will consider redevelopment for other uses 
only where a viability case can successfully be put forward in line with Policy EC7 and only 
where the employment premises are vacant and there is no foreseeable interest in the site 
for employment uses.

Page 765



52 West Lancashire Borough Council

requirement identifi ed in policy EC1:

• Up to 6 ha within Pimbo Industrial Area
• Up to 2 ha within Gillibrands Industrial Area
• Up to 2 ha south of Hattersley Way in Ormskirk Employment Area

4.9 However, in some cases, existing employment land that is not part of a strategic 
employment site may have lain vacant or under-used for some time and the existing 
premises are either not suitable for modern businesses and / or they cannot viably be 
redeveloped for a modern business.  In those few cases, alternative uses to employment 
will be considered on these sites, subject to the requirements of policy EC7 being satisfi ed 
to evidence that the site is no longer fi t for employment purposes.

 Alternatives Considered

4.10 The alternatives to the proposed policy EC2 relate to the hierarchy of existing employment 
areas proposed, which employment areas sit within each level of the hierarchy and the 
level of protection given to those employment areas for employment use.  As such there 
are two basic alternatives:

4.11 Have a more relaxed / fl exible structure, allowing conversion to / redevelopment for other 
uses in more circumstances.

 This alternative approach is not considered suitable for West Lancashire, especially in 
relation to the Strategic Employment Sites, as these employment sites perform a crucial 
function in the economy of the Borough and allowing other uses into them would undermine 
that function and start to create a confl ict between uses that do not sit well together (such 
as residential and industrial uses).  However, it is considered appropriate that, in the right 
circumstances, other employment sites might be converted to / redeveloped for other 
uses where they no longer meet the needs of modern employment sites.

4.12 Have a stricter structure and approach, entirely protecting all existing employment sites 
for B1, B2 and B8 uses only.

 Likewise, while too much fl exibility undermines the existing employment areas, too much 
restriction could lead to sites that become unfi t for employment uses over the Plan period 
lying vacant and derelict when they could be put to better use.  Therefore, a balanced 
approach as proposed in policy EC2 best refl ects the new NPPF and planning policy 
guidance on allowing the re-use of redundant employment sites where appropriate.

 

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

Page 766



53Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

Policy EC3: The Rural and Visitor Economy

Existing Uses

I. Existing employment, agricultural, tourist and visitor uses will be protected in rural areas. 
Where an applicant can robustly demonstrate that a site currently or last in such use is no 
longer suitable and viable for these uses (in accordance with Policy EC7: Demonstrating 
Viability) the Council will consider alternative uses in accordance with other policies in 
the Local Plan.

New and Expanded Uses

II. Land is allocated for the purposes of employment at Southport New Road, Tarleton and 
any businesses that are related to the rural or visitor economy will be considered at this 
site.

III. The development of new and expansion of existing rural employment, agricultural, tourist 
and visitor premises of an appropriate scale will be supported in rural areas subject to 
compliance with Policies SP3 and SP4.

In addition, the enhancement of existing location specifi c rural tourist and visitor infrastructure 
will be permitted where consistent with other Local Plan policies and where it would entail:

a. the improvement and addition of walking and cycling routes including the canal 
network, public rights of way and green infrastructure; or

b. additional tourist and visitor facilities at the following locations: Martin Mere, Mere 
Sands Wood, Farmer Ted’s Adventure Farm (Downholland), Leisure Lakes (Mere 
Brow) and Windmill Animal Farm (Mere Side); or

c. additional pitches and / or supporting services at holiday caravan, camping and chalet 
sites provided that they would be contained within existing site boundaries and would 
result in an overall environmental improvement to a site. 

Other proposals for rural tourist and visitor uses will be considered on a case by case basis.

IV. Proposals for new or signifi cant extensions to agricultural produce packing and distribution 
facilities will be permitted in rural areas provided that an appropriate business case is

Page 767



54 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

made, including demonstrating that:

a. there is not a more suitable alternative site located within a nearby employment area;
b. the proposed use remains linked, operationally, to the agricultural use of the land;
c. the majority of the produce processed on the site is grown upon holdings located in 

the local area;
d. the loss of agricultural land is kept to a minimum and, where there is a choice, that the 

lowest grade of agricultural land is used; and traffi c generated can be satisfactorily 
accommodated on the local road network and will not be detrimental to residential 
amenity.

Diversifi cation - Farm Shops

V. New or extensions to existing farm shops will be permitted where:

a. the range of goods to be sold is restricted to those in connection with the farming of 
the associated land such as food, drink and plants;

b. the proposal would not undermine the vitality and viability of designated centres 
identifi ed by Policy EC4; and

c. the scale, bulk and appearance of the proposal is compatible with the character of its 
surroundings, including Green Belt policy where appropriate, and in any event should 
not exceed 280 sq.m net sales fl oorspace. 

VI. In relation criteria 2-5 above a proposal will need to demonstrate that:

a. it is supported by adequate infrastructure or the development will provide new 
infrastructure to do so; and

b. it would not have a severe residual cumulative impact on the highway network or 
road safety.

Additionally, the irreversible development of open agricultural land will not be permitted 
where it would result in the loss of the best and most versatile agricultural land, except 
where absolutely necessary to deliver development allocated in the Local Plan, strategic 
infrastructure or development associated with the agricultural use of land (including 
agricultural produce, packing and distribution).

Page 768



55Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

 Justifi cation

4.13 Over 90% of West Lancashire is categorised as rural and the area contains the greatest 
proportion of the best and most versatile agricultural land (grades 1, 2 and 3a) in the 
North West as well as an extensive Green Belt designation.  It is a ‘working landscape’ 
supporting an important agricultural sector which employs 2,500 people directly with many 
more employed indirectly through various supply chains including local food, horticulture 
(with a major cluster in the Northern Parishes), food processing, produce packaging, 
haulage, machinery and agri-chemicals. The agricultural sector contributes £230m to the 
local economy and contains 39,400 ha of farming areas and 435 agricultural holdings13. 
Increased national agricultural self-suffi ciency is likely to become more important post 
Brexit.

4.14 In addition to agriculture, 
the Borough’s rural areas 
support a growing tourist and 
visitor economy which, in total 
including urban areas, attracted 
2.7m visitors in 2013 and 
generated an estimated £135m 
in revenue and supported 
approximately 1,900 jobs14. 
Attractions include those based 
upon nature such as Martin 
Mere Nature Reserve and 
Mere Sands Wood, farming, 
camping / caravanning and the historic built environment such as Rufford Old Hall. There 
is potential to build upon these attractions and develop greater links with Southport and 
other areas to further promote West Lancashire as an attractive place to visit. 

4.15 Rural West Lancashire is therefore an economically important but potentially sensitive 
environment and the latter also includes the rural roads that serve the area which can 
have limited physical capacity.

4.16 Employment opportunities whether urban or rural, are a fi nite resource and once lost 
for non-employment use, particularly residential, are unlikely to ever come back into 
an employment generating use. Therefore the continued employment use of existing 
employment sites in rural areas will be protected unless it can be demonstrated that a 

13 West Lancashire Economic Development Strategy 2015-25
14 West Lancashire Economic Development Strategy 2015-25

Page 769



56 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

site is unsuitable for an ongoing viable employment use and that the only realistic way 
to secure the sustainable future of the site is through an alternative use. In the case of 
the Borough’s rural areas, it is appropriate for the defi nition of employment use to extend 
beyond B1, B2 and B8 land uses to also include agriculture and farming, tourist and 
visitor uses as the development and preservation of a sustainable rural economy is a 
high priority.

4.17 The NPPF indicates that local plans should promote the development and diversifi cation 
of agricultural and other land-based businesses. Sustainable agricultural diversifi cation 
is an important mechanism of maintaining the rural economy, with the re-use of buildings 
being encouraged for sustainable economic uses. Farm shops are one such means 
of diversifi cation and will be supported where clearly linked to an existing agricultural 
operation provided they would be compatible with surrounding and be of an appropriate 
scale. An appropriate scale is considered to be less than 280 sq.m net sales fl oorspace 
which is equivalent to the size of a small convenience store (this is explained fully in the 
justifi cation to Policy EC4). Other forms of farm diversifi cation will be considered on a 
case by case basis.

 Alternatives Considered

4.18 Given the importance of the rural economy in West Lancashire and the requirements of 
the NPPF, a policy is required. Alternatives include:

4.19 Identifi cation of additional rural employment sites 

 Such an approach would broadly follow that of the adopted Local Plan which allocates 
sites on the Policies Map for both rural employment singularly and for a mix of residential 
and employment uses. Whilst a reasonable alternative, in this instance it is not considered 
necessary to allocate more than the site identifi ed by the preferred policy above in order 
to meet economic needs. Other new sites and extension of existing businesses may be 
developed during the Plan period in rural areas, however these are more likely to be 
smaller in scale and either below a size threshold to show on the Policies Map (0.4ha) 
and / or unavailable to the open market.

4.20 Identifi cation of additional or fewer tourist and visitor sites where enhancement will be 
permitted

 This would be a reasonable alternative. However, the identifi cation of fewer or no sites 
for such enhancement would not give rural businesses the same degree of assurance in 
relation to the acceptability of improving and potentially increasing their on-site activities 

Page 770



57Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

in the future.

4.21 Additional and separate policies dealing with the rural economy
 Again this would be a reasonable alternative. It would allow for more detailed policies in 

relation to aspects considered in the preferred policy above such as farm diversifi cation, 
the conversion and reuse of existing rural buildings or detailed matters against which to 
consider equestrian uses.   

Policy EC4: Vibrant Centres

Centre Hierarchy

I. The hierarchy of centres within West Lancashire is designated as follows:

Hierarchy Centre
Town Centres Skelmersdale; Ormskirk and Burscough
District / Large Village Centres Tarleton
Local / Village Centres Hesketh Bank; Parbold; Up Holland; County Road (Orm-

skirk); Digmoor; Sandy Lane (both Skelmersdale)
Neighbourhood Centres Banks; Moss Delph Lane; Town Green Lane (both 

Aughton); Wigan Road (Ormskirk); Ashurst (Skelmers-
dale)

Proposals for retail, leisure and other main town centre uses will be directed towards 
these centres, the boundaries of which are shown on the Policies Map, with a focus upon 
Skelmersdale in accordance with the Borough’s Spatial Strategy identifi ed by Policy 
SP1 (Delivering Sustainable Development).  Planning permission will only be granted for 
development which is appropriate in scale and form to the role and function of each centre.

II. Where suitable sustainable connections cannot be made to access existing nearby 
centres, new local and / or neighbourhood centres will be developed to serve the 
following planned new residential developments, with their locations to be identifi ed in 
masterplans:

• Garden villages on land to the west and south-west of Skelmersdale;
• Land to the south-east of Ormskirk and Aughton; and
• Yew Tree Farm, Burscough.

Page 771



58 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

Sequential Approach

I. Proposals for retail, leisure and other main town centre uses which are not within an
existing centre, do not form part of a site allocated for such uses in the Local Plan or are
not identifi ed in a masterplan in the cases of the new residential locations above must satisfy 
a sequential approach to site selection.  In such circumstances, the Council will expect 
applicants to undertake a sequential assessment in accordance with the requirements in 
the justifi cation to this policy.

The sequential approach requires applications for these uses to be located in accordance 
with the following sequence, subject to the availability of suitable sites:

a. Within town, district, local and neighbourhood centres (in accordance with the centre 
hierarchy); followed by 

b. Edge of town centre locations, with priority given to those sites that are accessible 
and well connected to a town centre; then

c. Accessible out of centre locations that are demonstrably well connected to a defi ned 
centre; then

d. Within the existing Hattersley Way (Ormskirk) and Ringtail (Burscough) retail parks, 
as shown on the Policies Map; and fi nally

e. Other sustainably located out of centre locations.

Impact

IV. Impact assessments will be required to accompany planning applications for retail and 
leisure use proposals outside of town centres in accordance with national policy.  Retail 
proposals outside of town centres will be required to submit impact assessments under the 
following additional circumstances:

a. comparison retail proposals, including extensions, change of use or variation of 
condition, that involve an increase in fl oorspace of over 500 sq.m gross; and

b. supermarkets / superstores proposals, including extensions, change of use or 
variation of condition, that involve an increase in fl oorspace of over 1,000 sq.m gross.

Where more than one impact assessment threshold applies, the lower threshold will take 
precedence. 

Page 772



59Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

V. Where impact assessment is required, proposals will only be granted planning permission 
where it is demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable impact on the vitality and 
viability of existing centres, in accordance with those considerations identifi ed by the 
NPPF.

Need for new Town Centre Uses and Site Allocations

VI. Identifi ed future Borough wide needs for town centre uses will primarily be met within 
the Skelmersdale Town Centre (Policy SP5) and by Development Opportunity Sites 
identifi ed by Policy EC5 (Ormskirk Town Centre). The Skelmersdale Town Centre will 
contribute towards meeting Borough wide needs for comparison goods and food and 
drink fl oorspace to 2037 and for convenience goods fl oorspace to 2050. The Ormskirk 
Development Opportunity Sites will contribute towards meeting Borough wide needs for 
comparison goods and food and drink fl oorspace to 2037.

Windfall sites that may also contribute towards meeting identifi ed needs will be considered 
on a case by case basis in relation to national planning advice. 

Uses within Designated Centres

VII. Policies EC5 (Ormskirk Town Centre) and SP5 (Skelmersdale Town Centre) identify 
development strategies, and where relevant, appropriate uses for those town centres. 
Future ‘made’ neighbourhood plans may also identify strategies and appropriate uses 
for centres in their neighbourhood areas. 

VIII. Within the Borough’s district / large village, local / small village and neighbourhood 
centres uses will be permitted that contribute towards meeting local shopping and 
service needs. Change of use will be permitted where:

a. the development would not cause undue detriment to the centre’s range of facilities, 
thereby undermining the centre’s vitality and viability; and

b. a break (i.e. a single unit) in the active frontage (i.e. shopfront in active use during 
the day) at ground level would not occur that would threaten the centre’s vitality and 
viability.

IX. Notwithstanding the criteria above, the loss of community facilities will be resisted in 
accordance with Policy IF2 (Community Facilities).

Page 773



60 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

 Justifi cation

 Centre Hierarchy

4.22 The centre hierarchy sets a framework for the management, planned growth and 
protection of West Lancashire’s centres in the Local Plan. These centres are the 
traditional destinations to buy goods and obtain services and comprise the town centres 
of Ormskirk, Skelmersdale and Burscough as well as a number of smaller centres within 
villages and the suburban areas of Skelmersdale and Ormskirk. They face competition 
from larger shopping and leisure attractions situated beyond the Borough’s boundary 
including at Southport, Wigan, Liverpool and Preston and as a result the Borough’s 
residents spend signifi cant proportions of their total non-food shopping expenditure 
outside West Lancashire and, to a lesser extent leisure and food shopping expenditure. 
Wider economic change, including the growth in online transactions, means that the retail, 
service and leisure sectors that underpin centres are experiencing further competition 
and dynamic change which may affect their future roles. As such the hierarchy will be 
kept under review as advocated by national advice. 

Local Convenience Stores

X. Notwithstanding the requirements of the sequential approach above, single stand-alone 
local convenience stores of less than 280 sq.m net sales fl oorspace will be permitted at 
accessible locations within settlement boundaries of towns or villages identifi ed by Policy 
SP1 but which are not in proximity to a centre within the above hierarchy, provided that 
it is demonstrated by an applicant that the proposal would:

a. meet a local need;
b. not adversely affect the vitality and viability of designated centres or prejudice future 

investment in those centres; and
c. not adversely affect residential amenity or highway safety.

The retention of existing local convenience stores outside centres will be supported.

XI. In all instances where a loss of retail, service and community facilities is proposed in 
existing centres (including vacant premises last in such use) or where there would be a 
loss of local convenience stores outside designated centres an applicant will be required 
to provide evidence that the property has been marketed for those uses in accordance 
with Policy EC7.

Page 774



61Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

4.23 Skelmersdale and to a lesser extent Ormskirk will be the primary focus of retail, service 
and leisure activities within West Lancashire. Policy SP5 indicates how Skelmersdale 
town centre will be regenerated. Ormskirk will increase its role as a visitor destination 
as explained by Policy EC5 (Ormskirk Town Centre) whilst Burscough will be the focus 
for convenience and niche retail and services. Other centres will be the focus for local 
retail and services and complementary community facilities. As indicated by policies 
SP1 and SP2, there will be signifi cant future residential growth at locations in the 
Borough and additional planned local facilities will be required in connection with those 
developments. Whilst parades of shops of purely neighbourhood signifi cance would not 
meet the defi nition of centres according to national advice it is considered that such 
facilities in West Lancashire provide an important service role and function as centres 
for their communities which needs to be recognised and protected.

 Sequential Approach

4.24 Sequential site searches considering potentially alternative suitable and available 
development sites are an important development management tool when considering 
proposals for main town centre uses. To achieve a satisfactory sequential test, the 
Council will expect the following approach from applicants: 

I. Area of search: The extent of the area of search will depend on the scale and nature of the 
proposed development and its catchment and may extend beyond the Borough boundary 
in certain instances. The area of search for any development proposal should be agreed 
with Council offi cers prior to the commencement of any sequential testing work.

II. Comprehensiveness of search: Evidence should be provided of a rigorous investigation of 
relevant sources of information as part of site assessments.

III. Availability / viability / deliverability of sites: Evidence should be provided to demonstrate 
that landowners / site occupiers and / or their agents have been contacted to discuss the 
possibility of developing the land, and, on any site rejected on viability grounds, fi nancial 
information submitted to show on what basis that it would be unviable to proceed with the 
proposed development. 

IV. Suitability: Evidence should take account of the suitability of sites to accommodate the 
proposed development including policy considerations or physical constraints, taking into 
account the need to be fl exible in requirements. 

 

Page 775



62 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

Impact

4.25 When assessing proposed retail and leisure development outside town centres and which 
are not in accordance with the Local Plan an applicant will need to submit an impact 
assessment in certain circumstances. The West Lancashire Retail and Leisure Study 
advises that this will be required for planning applications (including extensions, change 
of use or variation of condition) for comparison retail of 500 sqm gross or more, or for 
supermarkets or superstores of 1,000 sqm gross or more. This is lower than the ‘default’ 
national fi gure of 2,500 sqm due the relatively small size of the Borough’s town centres, 
both in terms of their total retail fl oorspace and the average size of individual units. 
Therefore, proposals for increases in retail fl oorspace greater than the above thresholds 
are large relative to existing provision and could potentially result in signifi cant adverse 
impacts on the Borough’s town centres. In the case of leisure developments the national 
threshold of 2,500 sqm applies.

4.26 Impact will need to be assessed in relation to public and private investment in centres 
and upon vitality and viability in accordance with national advice. In terms of the latter, 
this should include both qualitative and quantitative impact. The Council will require 
assessment of quantitative impact to also include an evaluation of the quantitative 
need for a proposal as a component of impact as it is considered that the availability 
of expenditure in a catchment area to support a proposal provides a useful benchmark 
against which to evaluate the quantitative impacts predicted upon centres.

4.27 The West Lancashire Retail and Leisure Study (2018) identifi es a Borough wide need for 
approximately 1,800 sqm of additional convenience retail sales fl oorspace over the Plan 
period to 2050. It identifi es a Borough 
wide need for 7,200 sqm of additional 
comparison retail sales fl oorspace by 
2037 rising to 20,750 sqm by 2050, 
both excluding existing commitments. In 
terms of leisure uses, the Study identifi es 
a need for an additional 7,300 sqm gross 
of food and beverage uses in the period to 
2037 rising to 11,050 sqm gross by 2050 
and for between 8 and 11 cinema screens, both fi gures including existing commitments. 
Due to the uncertainties in forecasting fl oorspace requirements for town centre uses 
over a long period of time the Local Plan makes provision for development sites to 
meet identifi ed needs to 2037 but, with the exception of convenience fl oorspace, not to 
the longer period of 2050. The Retail and Leisure Study will be reviewed periodically in 
recognition of these challenges in predicting future fl oorspace requirements over a long 

Page 776



63Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

time period in order to maintain up to date evidence.

 Community Facilities

4.28 Community and cultural facilities add to the diversity of uses in town centres, and can 
make an important contribution to centres’ ‘vitality and viability’. The value of land in town 
centres means that community and cultural facilities may come under pressure from 
uses which attract higher land values and, without protection against this, it can be very 
diffi cult to fi nd alternative sites. Demand for different types of community facilities will 
change over time, but it is important to retain such premises and encourage their reuse 
when they become available in order to meet the future needs of residents and visitors. 

4.29 It is recognised that a small convenience store can provide a community asset so 
will be encouraged at an appropriate scale in villages which do not possess an 
established retail and service centre in the Borough hierarchy. Convenience stores (i.e. 
below supermarket size) are considered to represent an appropriate scale, which the 
Competition Commission’s Supply of Groceries in the UK Market Investigation Report 
(2008) defi nes of as being of less than 280 sqm net fl oorspace. 

 Alternatives Considered

 Given the importance placed upon ensuring the vitality of town centres in the NPPF, a 
policy which contains a centre hierarchy, an indication of which uses will be permitted 
in centres and reference to the sequential and impact tests is required. Alternatives 
therefore consider how the components of the preferred policy above may otherwise be 
addressed. They are:

4.30 A different centre hierarchy

 The hierarchy could be varied, for example to simply refer to two tiers of centre with those 
being town centres and local centres. Such an approach would require consideration of 
whether the neighbourhood centres should be reassigned as local centres or should not 
be designated as centres. It would also be possible to leave the principle of new centre 
identifi cation in areas of signifi cant future planned residential growth to a later date, for 
example when masterplans for those areas gave clarity on this matter.

4.31 Sequential and impact tests 

 An alternative would include simply defaulting reference to the sequential and impact 
tests to the NPPF, in which case there would be no reference to existing retail parks in 

Page 777



64 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

the preferred policy search sequence in the instance of the former. In the case of impact 
there would be no explanation that quantitative need is considered to be a component of 
assessing impact.

4.32 A further alternative would be to retain a stand-alone sequential test policy as is the case 
in the West Lancashire Local Plan DPD 2012-27.

4.33 Town centres and appropriate uses

 An alternative would be for each of the three town centres to have their own separate 
policies in the Local Plan which detail suitable uses within them rather than Ormskirk 
alone. However, in the case of Burscough this would entail duplication as the emerging 
Burscough Parish Neighbourhood Plan already deals with this matter. Given current 
fl uidity in the regeneration proposals for Skelmersdale town centre it is considered that 
it is not currently possible to produce a policy for the centre which provides more detail 
than the strategic framework of Policy SP5.

4.34 A further alternative would therefore be to include consideration of appropriate uses for 
Ormskirk town centre in the preferred policy approach above. 

4.35 Local centres and stand-alone convenience stores outside centres   

 An alternative approach would be a separate policy dealing with lower order centres 
(district, local and neighbourhood as currently contained in the preferred policy) providing 
more stringent criteria in relation to the loss of A1 class uses. 

4.36 A further alternative would be to concentrate upon supporting the provision of services 
at designated centres only by not seeking to protect existing or supporting the provision 
of new local convenience facilities outside of these centres.

Page 778



65Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

Policy EC5: Ormskirk Town Centre

Ormskirk Town Centre and Primary Shopping Area is defi ned on the policies map.  Within 
the Primary Shopping Area (PSA) the Council will focus on allowing developments that 
contribute towards the viability, vibrancy and character of the town centre.  

The Council will seek to protect the retail function of the town centre by retaining A1 uses and 
encouraging appropriate, alternative town centre uses that support the town centre’s vitality 
and viability.  The Council will encourage a range of complementary services, commercial 
activities, leisure and cultural facilities to support the retail function of the PSA.  In this 
context, the Council will have regard to the following in decision-making within Ormskirk 
Town Centre:

I. The Council will not permit the change of use from Use Class A1 (retail) within the PSA if 
the loss of that unit from Use Class A1 would result in less than 50% of pedestrian-level 
units in the PSA being in Use Class A1.      

II. Subject to meeting criterion (I), within the PSA proposals for a change of use from Use 
Class A1 to other main town centre uses will be permitted providing they also meet the 
following criteria:

a. The Council will allow a maximum of 20% of ground fl oor units to be Class A5 (Hot 
food/takeaway) within the whole PSA;

b. All proposals must maintain a pedestrian level shop front with windows and display;
c. Any proposed non A1 retail unit should operate for a minimum of 4 hours of the 

traditional operating hours (i.e. 9am-5pm) for at least 4 days a week;
d. Proposals for non-A1 uses should be other ‘Main town entre uses’ as defi ned in 

the NPPF and including fi nancial and professional services, which are likely to 
complement the vitality and viability of the primary shopping area; and

e. The applicant needs to provide suitable evidence to ensure that the unit has been 
marketed as a retail unit in accordance with the requirements of Policy EC7.

III. Within the PSA and above ground fl oor level, in order to support the vitality and vibrancy of 
the town centre, proposals for an appropriate range of town centre uses will be encouraged, 
including cultural facilities, restaurants and cafes, drinking establishments/nightclubs, 
fi nancial and professional services, purpose built residential accommodation, student 
accommodation, uses relating to non-residential institutions, offi ce accommodation, 
hotels, leisure and recreational uses, providing there is no unacceptable impact upon 
amenity of existing town centre uses and the proposals will not affect the operational 

Page 779



66 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

 
capacity of existing or future retailers on the ground fl oor (for example proposals that  
 involve the loss of required storage space).

IV. Outside of the PSA but within the town centre boundary, as defi ned on the policies map, 
a diverse range of uses will be encouraged to support sustainable economic growth and 
the vitality and viability of the town centre as a whole.  Such uses will include those listed 
in Part 3 of this policy.  However, the Council will resist the change of use of any existing 
ground fl oor units which currently serve as Class A1 retail or Class A2 Professional and 
Financial Services 

V. The following Development Opportunity Sites are marked on the Policies Map:
 

 5.1 The Indoor Market
 5.2 The Bus Station
 5.3 Land located behind Styles car park
 5.4 The former West Lancashire College Site
 5.5 Land behind and including the former Ormskirk Magistrate’s Court

On these Development Opportunity Sites (as defi ned on the policies map) appropriate 
development that supports the sustainable growth and regeneration of the town centres will 
be supported providing that:

a. The development provides sustainable economic growth and will have a positive 
impact in terms of supporting the wider town centre (this may include proposals that 
provide retail, cultural or leisure facilities, or support tourism);

b. Proposals maintain or create an active ground fl oor frontage;
c. The development connects and integrates with the wider town centre, particularly the 

PSA;
d. Proposals within or adjacent to the PSA must contain appropriate uses to support the 

vitality and viability of the town centre;
e. The development does not cause an unacceptable impact in terms of highway safety;
f. Proposals support sustainable means of transport wherever possible; and
g. Proposals are of a high quality of design and, where appropriate, make a positive 

contribution to the historic character and distinctiveness of the town centre, particularly 
within the Ormskirk Town Centre Conservation Area.

Within Development Opportunity Sites, residential accommodation, including student 
accommodation, may be permitted above ground fl oor units providing there is an 
appropriate, active street frontage.

Page 780



67Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

Justifi cation
 
4.37 Ormskirk is an attractive, traditional market town with a successful street market taking 

place every Thursday and Saturday.  The town also benefi ts from its proximity to Edge 
Hill University. 

4.38 The town centre is mainly pedestrianised and has received signifi cant investment in 
recent years with new public realm works taking place in Moor Street.  The town centre 
has an above average amount of independent units (currently 60%, April 2018) with a 
good mix of butchers, grocers, craft shops, as well as a number of cafes, restaurants and 
bars.   The West Lancashire Retail & Leisure Study 2018 has identifi ed that Ormskirk 
remains a vital and viable town centre with reasonable representation from national 
retailers and a number of good quality independents.  The town centre is performing well 
with a good convenience retail offer. 

VI. The Council will support the redevelopment of existing units and sites within the PSA 
that provide a range of unit sizes that could help attract multinational and other larger 
A1 retailers, providing that the redevelopment incorporates an active street frontage on 
the ground fl oor.   

Page 781



68 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

4.39 Although Ormskirk is currently performing well there has been a slight increase in 
vacancy rates since 2011, although they are still below the regional and national average. 
In addition, there has been a move away from A1 retail with a number of units which 
have recently converted to restaurants, food and drink A3, drinking establishments A4, 
drinking establishments with expanded food and drink AA and hot food takeaways A5 
uses.  However, as identifi ed in the retail and leisure study there is a need to encourage 
key comparison sub retailers which are currently lacking in the town.  

4.40 The town centre is well served by all forms of transport including public transport, 
pedestrian and cycle links and is accessible for cars with a number of car parks 
surrounding the town centre.  

4.41 The Ormskirk Town Centre Strategy 2015-2020 
was established to help ensure that the town centre 
continues to thrive addressing key issues helping to 
make the town as attractive as possible to businesses, 
residents and visitors.  Following the adoption of the 
Ormskirk Town Centre Strategy 2015-2020, a Town 
Centre Management Group was established made up of stakeholders to help deliver the 
actions contained within the strategy.  As part of these actions independent research was 
undertaken by Place Making specialists which recommended that Ormskirk be positioned 
to continue to serve as a retail destination but should also grow as a  visitor destination 
linking in with the wider attractions found in the area.  We believe that Ormskirk is well 
served to provide a good retail and visitor experience whilst also providing visitors with 
choice and a diverse offer. 

 Uses within the Primary Shopping Area

4.42 Whilst the Council aims to maintain a core retail presence within the PSA it is acknowledged 
that other appropriate town centre uses such as leisure uses, restaurants and cafes are 
appropriate within the primary shopping area and can assist with the creation of the town 
centre experience.  Whilst the percentage of A1 retail units has fallen over recent years 
these units have been taken up with non-retail uses which have allowed the town centre 
to remain vibrant.   The aim of this policy is to allow Ormskirk to perform its key retail 
function whilst allowing for appropriate town centre uses to complement and support this 
retail function.  The Council believes that this approach is both deliverable and in line 
with changing demand. 

4.43 In terms of assessing applications for change of use away from Class A1 retail, the 
criteria listed in Part 2 of Policy EC5 has been drawn up taking account of the NPPF and 

Page 782



69Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

the Council’s experiences in relation to the town centre.  
The Council wants to encourage a range of complementary 
and diverse town centre uses that support the vibrancy of 
the PSA.  

4.44 In order to ensure the town centre maintains its attractiveness 
and vibrancy encouraging people to visit it is important that 
all non-retail units maintain shop fronts and displays and 
are open during traditional opening hours.  By maintaining 
shop fronts the town centre looks inviting and vibrant and 
the units can also easily be converted back to A1 retail use 
at a later date.  By requiring an overlap with traditional shop 
opening hours (9am-5pm) it is hoped that footfall will be 
increased during these hours helping to support the vitality 
and vibrancy, as well as supporting other business in the 
town centre.  

4.45 In line with the NPPF and the Council’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the Council 
believes that the planning system can play an important role in facilitating healthy 
communities. The Council working with partners is undertaking a range of programmes 
aimed at reducing obesity and encouraging more active lifestyles in the borough. While 
the causes of obesity are complex there is evidence to support that fast food is one 
of a number of contributing factors to obesity. The Council will therefore consider the 
health impacts of the development of new hot food takeaway’s in Ormskirk and the wider 
borough.  The Council also wishes to prevent an over concentration of uses such as 
takeaways which predominantly operate of an evening that could harm the attractiveness 
of the town centre as a retail destination.  

4.46 To support the viability of the primary shopping area the Council wishes to support the 
use of premises above ground fl oor level in the primary shopping area providing it does 
not affect the operations of existing or future retailers.  Appropriate town centre uses can 
help add vibrancy and increase footfall during the day as well as outside traditional retail 
opening hours.

 Growth of commercial sectors/cultural facilities 

4.47 The Council’s retail and leisure strategy identifi es that the Council should encourage the 
emerging food and drink sector and ensure that this complements the retail functions of 
the town centre.  Any opportunities to provide complementary cultural and arts facilities 
should be supported.

Page 783



70 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

4.48 Current trends show that commercial leisure, such as cafes, bars, restaurants and cinemas 
are growing and will continue to grow their share of town centre fl oor space. This partly 
comprises replacement activity generated as a consequence of the reduced demand 
for traditional retail space, and is partly driven by the increase in leisure expenditure 
as discretionary household expenditure rises.  With the growth of the quality food and 
drinks sector in Ormskirk, as well as the attractive town centre environment the Council 
believe that Ormskirk is well positioned to capitalise on this change.  The Council wants 
to encourage more cultural facilities helping to make Ormskirk a destination in its own 
right.  This should help support the town centre by increasing footfall.

 Development Opportunity Sites 

4.49 The retail and leisure strategy also says that new development should seek to provide 
a range of unit sizes for commercial operators, to redevelop smaller sites that currently 
detract from the street scene and wider town centre environment. This could include the 
creation of larger retail units that might be attractive to national retail operators.  This 
could be achieved through new development or redevelopment of existing units.

4.50 Given the nature of Ormskirk town centre, potential development opportunities are 
limited; however there are a number of sites identifi ed on the policies map which do 
have the potential to help provide additional retail and leisure facilities:

 5.1 the current indoor market which has the potential to provide retail, leisure and  
  residential accommodation, 
 5.2 the existing bus station site and car park which has potential to be developed for  
  a range of users including a new bus station to make better use of the site.      
 5.3 Land located behind Styles car park which has the potential to deliver a mixed  
  use development including modern new retail units
 5.4 The former West Lancashire college site which is currently vacant and has  
  potential for a mix of appropriate town centre uses and residential use which  
  could help support the town centre.
 5.5 Land behind and including Ormskirk magistrate’s court which has potential for a  
  mixed use scheme including possible provision of a hotel. 

Alternatives Considered

4.51 Having a minimum percentage of A1 retail units 

 Options were considered to have a minimum requirement of A1 retail units.  However 
this option was not taken forward as it was considered to be an infl exible approach 

Page 784



71Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

 

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

which could increase the amount of vacant units within the town centre.  Whilst the 
Council does want to protect the retail function of the primary shopping area there is an 
acknowledgement that retail trends are changing.  This policy is intended to be suffi ciently 
fl exible to allow Ormskirk to adapt to meet these changes. 

4.52 Reducing the size of the PSA

 Having a compact primary shopping area and requiring high percentage of A1 retail units 
within this area whilst allowing alternative uses appropriate to the town centre other than 
A1 retail to dominate.

 Although this option was considered as it had merits in allowing for a smaller, more 
concentrated retail core given the mix of both A1 retail and none A1 retail units across 
the town centre there did not appear to be a natural location.  The town centre currently 
has an even mix of both retail and non-retail units which does help ensure that no one 
particular use dominates the town centre helping to ensure the town centre remains 
vibrant.

4.53 Removing the percentage of retail units 

 Options were considered to remove the requirement to maintain a minimum percentage 
of A1 retail units entirely; however, this was not taken forward because the Council 
wanted to maintain a cumulative number of retail units so that Ormskirk can sustain its 
retail function.  Although the policy does encouraging alternative town centre uses to 
help make visiting Ormskirk an experience with a range of facilities and services, the 
Council believes that Ormskirk needs to maintain its core retail function and other uses 
should help sustain this opposed to replacing it.

Policy EC6: Edge Hill University

Through the Local Plan the Council will seek to maximise the role and benefi t of Edge 
Hill University as a key asset to the Borough, in terms of the employment opportunities 
and community benefi ts it provides, investment in the local area and the up-skilling of the 
population, whilst seeking to minimise any adverse impacts on Ormskirk and the wider 
environment.

When considering development proposals on the existing campus (delineated on the policies 
map), the following key principles will be adhered to:

Page 785



72 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

 
 Justifi cation

4.54 Edge Hill University is considered a major asset to the Borough of West Lancashire and 
the town of Ormskirk. The University has grown considerably over recent years and 
continues to be a signifi cant employer in the area and contributor to the local economy. 
The presence of a large number of students, particularly in Ormskirk, has led to better 
provision of services and leisure facilities creating direct benefi ts for the wider community 
as well as students. As such, the University’s continued role in providing a valuable 

When considering development proposals on the existing campus (delineated on the policies 
map), the following key principles will be adhered to:

I. Support for the continued development and improvement (including high quality design 
and landscaping) of Edge Hill University and its facilities on the existing campus;

II. That the University should continue to develop travel plans and parking strategies to 
encourage sustainable travel, improve access to the campus and alleviate any existing 
or new traffi c and parking impacts arising from the University, including making suitable 
provision to replace the existing temporary car parking;

III. That the University will continue to improve its residential accommodation offer within 
the existing campus;

IV. The use of sustainable drainage systems for surface water;

V. Where possible, new development should create links between the University, local 
businesses and the community sector, in terms of both information sharing and learning 
programmes, to ensure that the University continues to contribute to the local economy 
and social inclusion in the Borough; and

VI. Where possible, new development should ensure that the benefi ts of the University 
and its future growth and development are also directed to those communities where 
educational attainment is lower through specifi c programmes, and where possible and 
appropriate, led by private sector employers.

Any growth of the University beyond the existing campus should be accommodated to the 
south of St Helens Road (see policy SP8) or within Ormskirk town centre, with purpose-built 
student accommodation forming a key part of any growth.

Page 786



73Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

educational service as well as an economic benefi t to the local area is essential for the 
future prosperity of West Lancashire. For this reason, careful consideration is required in 
relation to the future plans of the University.

4.55 However, along with the positive aspects of the University being located in the Borough, 
there are also some issues which have arisen from the continued expansion of this once 
relatively small educational establishment. The main issues for consideration within the 
Local Plan relate to traffi c, parking and housing. Traffi c continues to be problematic at 
key times of the academic year with impacts notable across Ormskirk and along the 
A570 through Bickerstaffe and managing the demand for car parking on-campus can 
be challenging, especially in the Autumn term. Housing is also a key concern within 

Ormskirk with increasing student demand for rented accommodation leading to less 
lower cost housing for local people. The location of student accommodation has a direct 
link to resulting transport needs and a holistic approach needs to be adopted when 
addressing these issues.

4.56 Therefore, while further growth of the University is generally supported, there are issues 
which need to be addressed and a balance should be found between expansion and 
the impact on the surrounding environment and local residents. Policy EC6 seeks to 
address this in relation to managing the development and redevelopment of the existing 
University campus.

 Alternatives Considered

4.57 To not have any policy for the campus

 While not having a policy would be unlikely to cause harm to the University (as the campus 
is wholly in the University’s ownership and the University would be highly unlikely to seek 
permission for development not related to the use of the land as a University campus), 
any development on the campus should be managed to ensure it does not cause harm 

Page 787



74 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

off-campus, and so a policy of some description to guide development on-campus is 
considered to be required.

4.58 To have a more detailed or prescriptive policy or masterplan for the University campus
 
 The Council could seek a policy which controls more tightly what is developed where 

on-campus, but this could have the result of unnecessarily fettering the University, 
especially given the fl exibility needed for the University to respond to ever-changing 
demands within the higher education sector.  As such, it is considered preferable to give 
the University the fl exibility to decide how best to manage development of their campus, 
provided that it does not cause harm off-campus.

4.59 Should growth of the campus be necessary in the future, to consider a different location 
for the expansion of the campus

 The proposed policy EC6 refers to any growth of the campus being accommodated 
across the road from the existing campus, to the south of St Helens Road, as part of 
the strategic development location covered by policy SP8.  The creation of a satellite 
campus elsewhere in Ormskirk or West Lancashire have been considered, but such an 
approach would not necessarily be the most sustainable (in terms of creating additional 
movements between campuses) and would not be the most effi cient or attractive model 
for the University.  Furthermore, a central reason for considering campus growth to 
the south of St Helens Road is to provide more purpose-built campus-style student 
accommodation to help alleviate pressure for student housing in Ormskirk.  Locating 
this at a satellite campus would not provide the same alleviation on student housing 
pressures in Ormskirk.

Policy EC7: Demonstrating Viability

The Council will seek to retain existing commercial /industrial (B1,B2 or B8) and retail (A1) 
land/premises, together with agricultural/horticultural workers’ dwellings and tourism/visitor 
uses, unless the requirements of part 1 and 2 of this policy have been met.

I. In order to demonstrate that the existing use is no longer viable it must be demonstrated 
that that either Part 1a or 1b has been met, in addition to meeting the requirements of 
Part c.

 

Page 788



75Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

a. The continued use of the site/premises for its existing use is no longer viable in 
terms of  its operation of the existing use, building age and format and that it is not 
commercially viable to redevelop the land or refurbish the premises for its existing 
use.  

b. The land/premises is no longer suitable for the existing use when taking into account 
access/highways issues (including public transport), site location and infrastructure, 
physical constraints, environmental considerations and amenity issues.  The 
compatibility of the existing use with adjacent uses may also be a consideration.

c. Marketing of the land/property indicates that there is no demand for the land/property 
in its existing use and evidence is provided in accordance with the Marketing section 
of this policy.  

II. Where the existing use is no longer considered viable in the existing location as      
demonstrated in Part 1 the Council will preferentially seek the following alternative uses 
to have been considered and evidence provided to demonstrate that they are not viable 
prior to consideration of a market housing led scheme:

a. That options to relocate the existing business within an alternative location in West  
Lancashire have been fully explored and evidence to demonstrate this provided. 

b. A mixed-use scheme for the same, existing use along with a compatible use.  

c. For existing retail uses, an alternative use that helps create or maintain the vitality of 
a town, village or local centre; and

d. For existing agricultural/horticultural workers’ dwellings, an alternative use for 
affordable housing, tourism uses such as hotels/hostels or a community use 
which shall include either a community centre, meeting hall, library or a health and 
community care facility. 

e. For existing commercial/industrial (B1,B2 or B8) other permanent employment 
generating uses 

Marketing 

III. Where an application relies upon a marketing exercise to demonstrate that there is no 
demand for the land/premises in its current use, the applicant will be expected to submit 
evidence to demonstrate that the marketing was adequate and that no reasonable offers 
were refused.

Page 789



76 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

 
 Justifi cation

4.60 The Local Plan seeks to protect particular uses of land for example employment use on 
employment sites, retail use in town centres, agricultural workers dwellings or tourism 
uses in order to help achieve sustainable development.  However, this preferred options 
policy allows for changes of use in some circumstances providing it has been robustly 
demonstrated that the former use is no longer viable.  It is important for the Local Plan 
to be viable and to be able to adapt to changes.  The purpose of this preferred options 
policy is to set out a range of parameters that will enable the Council to make fair and 
robust assessment of whether there is a justifi able case for whatever change of use is 
proposed.  

4.61 The Council considers it is important to have a robust policy in place to ensure that 
important commercial/employment sites, retail units and agricultural/horticultural workers 
dwellings and tourism/visitor uses are protected.  Whilst we acknowledge that there may 

 
This will include evidence demonstrating that:

a. The marketing has been undertaken by an appropriate agent or surveyor at a price 
which refl ects the current market or has been refused.

b. The land/premises has been marketed for an appropriate period of time, which will 
usually be 12 months, or 6 months for retail premises.

c. The land/premises has been regularly advertised and targeted at the appropriate 
audience.  Consideration will be given to the nature and frequency of advertisements in 
the local press, regional press, property press or specialist trade papers etc.; whether 
the land/premises has been continuously included on the agents website and agents 
own papers/ lists of premises; has the land premises been advertised online using sites 
such as Rightmove, the location of advertisement boards; whether there have been any 
mail shots or contact with local property agents, specialist commercial agents and local 
businesses; and with regards to commercial/industrial property, whether it has been 
recorded on the Council’s sites and premises search facility.   

d. Evidence sites have been marketed in a fl exible and realistic manner taking account the 
size of land premises.  For example has consideration been given to subdividing larger       
sites/premises and that for above ground fl oor retail units consideration has been given 
to alternative town centre uses as specifi ed in Policy EC5 (for Ormskirk)

e. Where a departure from policy is proposed, the council may seek to independently 
verify the submitted evidence, and the applicant will be required to bear the costs of 
independent verifi cation.  

Page 790



77Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

be occasions these uses may no longer be viable in their current location it is important 
to have a robust policy in place to ensure that alternative uses are only considered when 
it can be clearly demonstrated that their existing use is no longer viable.  

4.62 The Council intends to protect larger employment generating uses and where sites are 
still viable and suitable employment in rural areas.   The borough has a number of smaller 
employment generating sites in rural areas which provide important sustainable locations 
to provide services and local employment.  However, the Council does acknowledge 
that where these uses are no longer viable or indeed where these sites are vacant it is 
preferable to allow for other uses (preferably employment generating) to be considered.  

4.63 The Council also wants to protect viable A1 retail units from conversion to other uses 
that might harm the vitality of town/village/local centres, whilst at the same time allowing 
for the conversion of units that are clearly no longer viable and would otherwise remain 
vacant in the long term.

4.64 Given the rural nature of the borough, agriculture/horticulture is an important part of the 
rural economy and given the limited availability of affordable homes within the rural parts 
of the borough and a lack of public transport in these areas it is particularly important 
that these dwellings remain available for agricultural/horticultural workers.  Similarly the 
Council considers tourism to be important to the West Lancashire economy, particularly 
in rural areas and it is important that tourism uses are protected to protect jobs and 
support the local economy. 

4.65 When it can be demonstrated that existing uses are no longer viable in their existing 
locations and that the same employment use cannot be relocated to another part of West 
Lancashire regard should be given to whether, fi rstly, a mixed use scheme involving the 
existing use is viable and then, secondly whether or not for retail premises or agricultural/ 
horticultural workers dwellings an alternative use to meet a similar need or purpose to 
the existing use is viable.  If it can be demonstrated that these alternative uses are no 
longer viable, market housing may be considered as an alternative use.  The affordable 
housing requirements of Policy H3 will apply to market housing developments that 
ultimately emerge from this process, regardless of the previous use of the land/building.

 Alternatives Considered

4.66 To remove the requirement for agricultural/horticultural workers dwellings to comply with 
this policy

 Whilst removing the requirement for agricultural/horticultural workers to comply with this 

Page 791



78 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  4: ECONOMIC POLICIES

policy could allow for the delivery of additional homes it is considered important to keep 
agricultural/horticultural workers dwellings within this policy to protect the rural economy 
within West Lancashire.  Given the high cost and limited availability of properties in 
rural areas within West Lancashire it is considered important to protect these homes for 
essential workers.  Without these affordable properties for workers some rural businesses 
may struggle to survive.

4.67 Removing this policy entirely

 This policy is an updated version of Policy GN4 from the West Lancashire Local Plan 
2012-2027.  This policy has worked well in protecting commercial/industrial premises, 
retail premises and agricultural workers dwellings, unless there is clear evidence that 
these sites are no longer viable in their current use.  As this policy is working well and 
provides clear guidance to demonstrate when a site is no longer viable for its existing 
use the policy has been updated and continued. 

4.68 Allowing the redevelopment of existing smaller employment sites 

 Although there is growing pressure for housing development in rural locations and there 
is a trend of local employers to want to relocate to more modern, better connected 
locations it is considered important that employment sites which are currently operating 
to be supported, unless it can clearly be demonstrated that these sites are no longer 
fi t for purpose and are unviable.  The Council wants to support a range of employment 
sites from larger sites to smaller localised sites that provide an employment function and 
can help support smaller growing businesses.       

Page 792



79Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

Chapter 5: Housing Policies

Policy H1: General Housing Policy

I. Within settlement boundaries
Residential development will be permitted within West Lancashire Borough’s settlement 
boundaries provided it complies with other relevant planning policies.

II. Outside settlement boundaries
On Protected Land, the following residential development will be permitted:

• Conversion of existing buildings, provided they are of permanent and substantial 
construction;

• Redevelopment of existing buildings on previously developed land, provided there is 
no substantial net reduction in openness;

• Entry level affordable housing development on Rural Exception Sites, subject to the 
criteria below being satisfi ed.

Within the Green Belt, residential development will be permitted where it is compliant with 
Local Plan policy SP4 and with national policy, e.g. as set out in the NPPF or any future 
replacement policy.

Small scale development to meet identifi ed local affordable housing needs will also be 
permitted on Rural Exception Sites on the edge of Key Sustainable Villages and Rural 
Sustainable Villages, with the exception of Tarleton, Hesketh Bank and Banks, subject to the 
criteria below being satisfi ed:

III. Rural Exception Sites
Entry level affordable housing developments will be permitted on Rural Exception Sites, 
subject to the following criteria being satisfi ed:

a. The site is located immediately adjacent to the settlement boundary;
b. The housing comprises affordable dwellings, in particular homes for discounted sale, 

for shared ownership, or for affordable rent.  Where 100% affordable housing is not 
viable, up to 40% of the units may be market housing to help ensure the viability of 
the overall scheme;

Page 793



80 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 Justifi cation

5.1 Provision of suffi cient, appropriate, and good quality residential development is key to 
the delivery of this Local Plan, as well as contributing to the health and wellbeing of the 
general population.  As such, housing is supported in appropriate locations throughout 

c. The housing is to meet identifi ed local affordable housing needs;
d. Homes are to be affordable in perpetuity;
e. The site is proportionate in size to the adjacent settlement, and in any case does not 

exceed 10 units, unless there are compelling reasons to exceed this fi gure;
f. The proposed development complies with other relevant policies;

IV. Density
A density of at least 30 dwellings per hectare will be expected on housing sites, unless there 
is good reason to go below this fi gure.  Where sites are well served by public transport and 
have good access to services and facilities, a higher density will be expected, subject to 
design and other considerations.

V. Development of Garden Land
When considering proposals for residential development on garden land, careful attention 
will need to be paid to relevant matters including the avoidance of undue harm to the 
character of the local area and / or to nearby residents, as well as to policies relating inter 
alia to design, vehicle access and nature conservation.

VI. Mix of Housing by Size and Tenure
All residential developments should aim to provide a mix of housing sizes as follows:

Mix of Housing by Size and Tenure
1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4 bedrooms

Market 5% 30% 45% 20%
Low-cost home ownership 15% 35% 40% 10%
Affordable housing (rented) 35% 35% 25% 5%

VII. Self and Custom Build Housing

Self- and custom-build housing will be supported, subject to compliance with other relevant 
planning policies.

Page 794



81Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

the Borough, in compliance with other Local Plan policies, and with national policy.  
Such policies include, but are not limited to, policies on design, open space, developer 
contributions, and the natural environment.

5.2 In line with policy SP1, the residential development of brownfi eld land is supported in 
principle, in preference to the development of greenfi eld land, provided it complies with 
other relevant policies.  The Borough Council has published its Brownfi eld Register, a 
schedule of brownfi eld sites that are considered suitable for residential development; 
this will be updated annually and is available on the Council’s website.

5.3 Whilst the general approach towards the countryside is to protect it and retain its open, 
rural nature, the need for affordable housing in West Lancashire is considered suffi ciently 
great to justify allowing a limited amount of affordable housing on rural exception sites, 
to meet local affordable housing needs.

5.4 Housing provided in West Lancashire should comprise a mix of sizes, types and tenures 
in order to contribute towards meeting the needs of different groups in the community 
(for example those who require affordable housing, families with children, older people, 
students, people with disabilities, service families, Travellers, people who rent their 
homes, and people wishing to commission or build their own homes).  Other housing 
policies in this Local Plan cover a number of the aforementioned groups.

 Land outside settlement boundaries

 Protected Land

5.5 The justifi cation for the Protected Land designation is set out under Local Plan policy 
SP3.  There is a shared aim with Green Belt policy to retain the open rural nature of the 
land, although the level of protection given to Protected Land is not as great as for the 
Green Belt. 

 
5.6 Market housing is permissible on Protected Land in the following cases only:

• Conversion of existing buildings, provided they are of permanent and substantial 
construction;

• Redevelopment of existing buildings on previously developed land, provided there is 
no substantial net reduction in openness. 

5.7 If the affordable housing threshold is reached or exceeded in either of the above 
scenarios, a percentage of the units should be affordable, in line with policy H3.  For 

Page 795



82 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

clarity, horticultural glasshouses do not count as previously developed land, neither do 
they count as buildings of permanent and substantial construction.

5.8 Affordable housing will be permitted on Rural Exception Sites on Protected Land, subject 
to the Rural Exception Site criteria (below) being met.

 Green Belt

5.9 Green Belt policy is set out in the NPPF.  West Lancashire-specifi c Green Belt policy is 
set out in policy SP4 of this Local Plan.

5.10 Green Belt benefi ts from the strongest protection in policy terms.  Certain types of 
development that result in additional housing units are set out in the NPPF as being ‘not 
inappropriate’; these categories, and the ‘local take’ (a summary of policy SP4) on them, 
are listed below: 

• Limited infi lling in villages;
• Limited affordable housing for local community needs (on Rural Exception Sites)
• Redevelopment of brownfi eld sites
• The re-use of buildings of permanent and substantial construction.

5.11 In addition, a number of permitted development rights exist relating to housing in the 
Green Belt.  These are the subject of national policy, are liable to change, and are not 
elaborated upon in this Local Plan.

 Rural Exception Sites 

5.12 A number of the Borough’s settlements have an unmet need for affordable housing, 
few available development sites, and tightly drawn Green Belt boundaries.  During 
consultation on issues and options, people generally expressed a willingness to accept 
small rural housing developments to meet local needs only, in order to allow people 
from the village to continue living there as their housing needs change.  Rather than 
making a series of small Green Belt boundary alterations across the Borough to help 
meet these needs, a Rural Exception Sites (RES) policy is considered preferable, in line 
with national policy13, allowing individual villages to grow organically to meet their local 
affordable housing needs, on the site(s) of their choice, subject to a number of criteria 
being satisfi ed. 

13 Na  onal policy (NPPF paragraph 72) allows for ‘entry level excep  on sites’ (i.e. sites providing homes for fi rst  me 
buyers) on land outside exis  ng se  lements.

Page 796



83Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

5.13 The RES policy applies to:

• Protected Land, and

• Green Belt land around Key Sustainable Villages and Rural Sustainable Villages, with the 
exception of Tarleton, Hesketh Bank, and Banks - these are excluded on account of their 
being surrounded by Protected Land.  In addition Tarleton has land allocated for residential 
development, Hesketh Bank has infrastructure constraints, and Banks lies mostly within 
Flood Zone 3 and has had signifi cant numbers of affordable units delivered since 2005.  
In addition, Key Service Centres and Regional Towns are excluded on account of their 
size, and the fact that they have land allocated for residential development.  Small Rural 
Villages are excluded on account of their having few services.

5.14 With regard to the criteria set out in the policy for RESs:

I. Rural Exception Sites (RESs) should lie immediately adjacent to the settlement 
boundary, in order to minimise the impact on the wider countryside and to maintain 
as far as possible the ‘form’ of the settlement.  Planning applications for development 
on RESs should be accompanied by a statement demonstrating that careful 
consideration has been given to the development of suitable sites within, or closer 
to the centre of, the settlement area, including contact having been made wherever 
possible with landowners or site agents, prior to proposing the development of land 
outside the settlement.

II. Housing units on RESs 
should be affordable.  
However, if a scheme 
would be clearly 
undeliverable without 
market units, the Council 
may in exceptional 
circumstances allow a 
small proportion of the 
units on the site to be 
market units.  40% is 
considered the absolute limit; otherwise the scheme becomes predominantly market 
housing.  The defi nition of affordable housing encompasses homes for discounted 
market sale (at least a 30% discount will be required) or rent, starter homes, and 
homes for affordable rent, all of which are considered good in terms of viability and 
are unlikely to require signifi cant cross-subsidisation from market units.

Page 797



84 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

III. Affordable housing on RESs must meet a local need for which there is clear 
evidence and which is agreed by the Borough Council.  Undeveloped sites with 
extant permission for affordable housing will be taken into account when assessing 
outstanding needs for affordable housing outside settlement boundaries.  For the 
purposes of this policy, ‘local’ is defi ned as being within the same settlement, ward, 
or parish.

Over-provision of affordable housing is not supported in the case of RESs as these 
sites are in tension with the purposes of Protected / Green Belt land, and any non-
local affordable housing need to be met on ‘superfl uous’ RESs could most likely be 
met on non-Green Belt sites elsewhere in the Borough.  In order to minimise loss 
of openness of rural land around individual settlements, there is a need to limit the 
number of RESs.  The extent of the local AH need is considered to be the most 
appropriate limit.  

IV. Exception site housing must be offered to households in the locality (the same 
settlement, ward or parish).  Given the above criteria, there should be suffi cient local 
need to account for the units delivered on RESs, but in any cases of insuffi cient local 
need, the units should subsequently be offered to people on the housing waiting list 
elsewhere.  When dwellings on RES are subsequently sold on, they must remain 
affordable in perpetuity, or else any subsidy or discount must be recycled or passed 
on.

V. Exception sites should not exceed 10 units in size, unless there are compelling 
reasons associated with the site in question that mean it would be appropriate to 
allow more units.  Similarly, incremental developments which would result in the 
development of more than 10 units at one location will not be allowed, unless there 
are compelling reasons to do so.

 Density

5.15 In order to ensure the effi cient use of land, it is important that developments make 
optimal use of the potential of each site. The NPPF advises that plans should include 
the use of minimum density standards, considering a range of densities that refl ect the 
accessibility and potential of different areas, and that in town centres and other locations 
well served by public transport, the average density of residential development should 
be signifi cantly higher, except where this would be inappropriate.  Densities lower than 
30 dwellings per hectare may be appropriate where these refl ect the surrounding area, 
or in parts of ‘garden villages’.

Page 798



85Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 Garden land development 

5.16 ‘Garden grabbing’ is not considered to be a pressing issue in West Lancashire, but it is 
acknowledged that for neighbours of proposed garden developments, the issue can be 
particularly acute.  National policy does not allow for residential development of gardens 
where it would cause harm to the local area.  Policy H1 only allows for garden land 
development subject to stringent caveat relating to design, character, access, amenity 
and other matters.

 Housing Mix

5.17 There is a range of factors that infl uences demand for different sizes of homes.  These 
include population change, earnings and incomes / ability to save, the economy, and 
housing affordability.  The Affordable and Specialist Housing Needs Study sets out a 
suggested mix of housing by size and tenure, based on analysis of long-term (20 year) 
demographic change.

5.18 Residential schemes should aim to adhere to the specifi ed mix of house sizes; if any 
signifi cant deviation is proposed, the applicant should provide robust justifi cation for the 
alternative mix, having regard to the nature of the development site and character of the 
area, up-to-date evidence of local needs, and the existing mix and turnover of properties 
in the local area.

 Self and Custom Build Housing

5.19 Self and Custom Build housing is supported in principle.  Feedback from consultation 
indicated that to require that parts of allocated housing sites be set aside for self-builders 
would not be advisable.  The Council is currently obliged to provide a number of serviced 
self-build plots, equivalent to the number of people on the statutory Self and Custom 
Build Register; this work is being undertaken by the Council’s Estates Team.  Numbers 
on the Register are not high enough to justify the allocation of any sites specifi cally for 
Self or Custom Build Housing.

 Other considerations 

5.20 A number of sites are allocated specifi cally for housing development; these are listed 
in policy H2.  There are other ‘accommodation allocations’ in other housing policies, for 
example sites for Travellers.

5.21 With relation to residential caravans and houseboats, the Affordable and Specialist 

Page 799



86 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

Housing Needs Study concludes that, whilst there exists a demand in West Lancashire 
for this type of accommodation, there is no need to allocate land specifi cally for this 
purpose, but that planning applications for such uses should be considered on their own 
merits.

5.22 Neighbourhood Plans may be prepared in areas of the Borough subsequent to the 
adoption of this Local Plan; such plans may allocate sites for housing.  National legislation 
and policy sets out the relationship between local plans and neighbourhood plans.

 Alternatives Considered

5.23 Different amounts of development allowed in the different tiers of the settlement hierarchy, 
e.g. limit to 4 market units / affordable-led developments (as at present) in lowest tier.

 Whilst this would avoid the potential of over-large developments in small hamlets, there 
are few, if any, large development sites in the smallest settlements, so there is considered 
to be no need for this policy.  Also, this approach would make policy H1 more complex.

5.24 Different approach towards development in the countryside, for example no exception 
sites, allow for limited affordable housing on Protected Land and / or very limited 
affordable housing in the Green Belt, subject to sequential tests (as per current policy).

 This continuation of current policy would potentially provide more control over where 
development takes place in the countryside, whilst also allowing for housing anywhere in 
the countryside, not just adjacent to settlements, so that affordable housing needs can be 
met wherever they arise.  However, allowing for housing anywhere in the countryside, not 
just adjacent to settlements could result in more unsustainable patterns of development.  
Under current policy, sequential tests have proved cumbersome and of limited value.  It 
appears that affordable housing permissions are often granted in rural areas primarily to 
increase land value, rather than to meet a local need.  National policy encourages Rural 
Exception Sites (RESs) in non-Green Belt countryside.

5.25 Allocate RESs rather than rely on ‘windfall applications’

 The proposed criteria-based policy could result in less control over where sites come 
forward and raises the question of how we ‘stop’ too many sites coming forward in one 
area. If allocated, small RESs can contribute towards the NPPF stipulation that 10% of 
the local plan’s housing requirement be allocated on small sites.  Also, it may be easier 
to predict future completions on RESs if they have been allocated.  However, under a 
criteria-based policy, local communities are able to choose the most appropriate sites 

Page 800



87Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

for themselves; the work of choosing / assessing / justifying / allocating does not fall to 
the Council; there is more fl exibility, especially for a longer plan period; and the criteria-
based approach appears to be the only approach used elsewhere.  In terms of a ‘surfeit’ 
of sites, this does not appear to be an issue elsewhere, given the extent of local needs. 

Policy H2: Housing Site Allocations

I. Strategic Development Sites

The following sites are allocated under Strategic Policies SP5-SP8 for residential 
development, or for mixed use development including residential:

Ref Spatial Area Site name / address Site allocated for No. of 
dwellings

SP5 Skelmersdale / 
SE Parishes

Skelmersdale Town 
Centre

Mixed use including 
residential

750

SP6 Burscough / 
Central Parishes

Yew Tree Farm, Bur-
scough

Mixed use including 
residential

1,000

SP7 Skelmersdale / 
SE Parishes

Land to the north of 
A577 Dicket’s Lane / 
Blaguegate Lane

Mixed use including 
residential

1,500

SP7 Skelmersdale / 
SE Parishes

Land east of B5240 
Lyelake Lane

Mixed use including 
residential

2,500

SP7 Skelmersdale / 
SE Parishes

Land north east of A570 
Rainford Bypass

Mixed use including 
residential

2,000

SP8 Ormskirk / 
Aughton

Land south east of 
Ormskirk (Alty’s Lane, 
Parrs Lane, Prescot 
Road)

Mixed use including 
residential

2,000

II. Major Residential Development Sites

The following sites are allocated for residential development:

Ref Spatial Area Site name / address No. of 
dwellings

HS1 Skelmersdale / SE 
Parishes

Whalleys, Skelmersdale 630

HS2 Skelmersdale / SE 
Parishes

Whalleys North, Skelmersdale 50

Page 801



88 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

Ref Spatial Area Site name / address No. of 
dwellings

HS3 Skelmersdale / SE 
Parishes

Land south of Vale Lane, 
Skelmersdale

150

HS4 Skelmersdale / SE 
Parishes

Firswood Road, Lathom South 400

HS5 Skelmersdale / SE 
Parishes

Mill Lane, Up Holland 100

HO1 Ormskirk / Aughton Land at Ruff Lane, Ormskirk 18
HO2 Ormskirk / Aughton Land at Crosshall Brow, Ormskirk 170
HO4 Ormskirk / Aughton Land west of Southport Road, 

Ormskirk
120

HB1 Burscough / Central 
Parishes

Land at Red Cat Lane, Burscough 50

HN1 Northern Parishes Alty’s Brickworks, Hesketh Bank* 210*
HN2 Northern Parishes Land north of A565 / west of Church 

Road, Tarleton*
360*

HN3 Northern Parishes Former Greaves Hall Hospital, 
Banks*

133*

HN4 Northern Parishes Land west of Guinea Hall Lane, 
Banks

200

HW1 Western Parishes New Cut Lane, Birkdale (Halsall) 150
HW2 Western Parishes Fine Jane’s Farm, Moss Road, 

Birkdale (Halsall)
60

HW3 Western Parishes Land at Moss Road / Bentham’s Way, 
Birkdale (Halsall)

300

HW4 Western Parishes Land between 101-159 Southport 
Road, Scarisbrick

60

HW5 Western Parishes Land at Carr Moss Lane, Halsall 50
HW6 Western Parishes Blundells Farm, Haskayne 50
HE1 Eastern Parishes Lawrenson’s Farm, Newburgh 80
HE2 Eastern Parishes Land north west of The Common, 

Parbold
100

HE3 Eastern Parishes Land east of Appley Lane North, Ap-
pley Bridge

250

HE4 Eastern Parishes Land west of Sprodley Drive, Appley 
Bridge

30

* Sites HN1, HN2 and HN3 also include an allocation for employment uses.

Page 802



89Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

III. Small Housing Sites
The following small sites (up to half a hectare in area) are allocated for residential development: 

Ref Spatial Area Site name / address No. of 
dwellings

HSB1 Burscough / Central 
Parishes

Barton’s Farm (former Martland’s 
Yard), Burscough

8

HSB2 Burscough / Central 
Parishes

Land to the rear of the Bull and Dog 
Inn, Burscough

6

HS03 Ormskirk / Aughton Land at Scarth Hill Lane, Ormskirk 17
HSO4 Ormskirk / Aughton Land at ‘Roslyn’, Black Moss Lane, 

Ormskirk
10

HS05 Ormskirk / Aughton Land at Church Lane, Holt Green 4
HS06 Ormskirk / Aughton Land at 111 Aughton Street, Ormskirk 3
HSS7 Skelmersdale / SE 

Parishes
Land at Carlton Avenue / Ormskirk 
Road, Up Holland

10

HSS8 Skelmersdale / SE 
Parishes

Land adjacent to The Highwayman, 
Blythewood, Digmoor

4

HSS9 Skelmersdale / SE 
Parishes

Land at Marlborough, Ashurst 10

HSS
10

Skelmersdale / SE 
Parishes

Land adjacent to Community Centre, 
Hartland, Birch Green

10

HSS
11

Skelmersdale / SE 
Parishes

Land off Northfi eld (Adjacent to St 
James’ School)

16

HSS
12

Skelmersdale / SE 
Parishes

Land at Elswick, Tanhouse 10

HSN
13

Northern Parishes Land north of Church Road, Tarleton 16

HSE 
14

Eastern Parishes Land south of 41 Cobbs Brow Lane, 
Newburgh

20

HSE
15

Eastern Parishes Land north west of Glenside, Appley 
Bridge

20

IV. The following is required for all allocated sites that comprise or include housing:

a. Compliance with other relevant Local Plan policy requirements including, but not 
limited to, policies H3 (affordable housing), H4 (housing for older people), SD1 
(sustainable layout), SD2 (sustainable design), and GI1 and GI2 (Green Infrastructure 
and open space).

Page 803



90 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 
 Justifi cation

5.26 The sites allocated for residential development, or for mixed use development including 
residential, have been selected following a comprehensive site assessment process, 
drawing almost exclusively on sites in the West Lancashire Strategic Housing and 
Employment Land Availability Assessment and sites submitted as potential development 
land during the Local Plan Review Issues and Options consultation (spring 2017).  
Further explanation of the site selection process for the large and strategic housing sites 
is given in the Strategic Development Options and Site Allocations Technical Paper.

 In terms of criteria (i) to (iv):

i. The policies of this Local Plan have been subject to a robust Viability Assessment 
undertaken on the Council’s behalf by experts in this fi eld.  The draft Local Plan 
Viability Assessment has been published alongside the Preferred Options for 
comment and its fi ndings will be refl ected in any changes needed to the various 
policy requirements associated with allocated residential sites as the Council draws 
up the Publication version of the new Local Plan to ensure that all can be delivered 

It will be expected that development of the site in adherence to the above and other 
relevant policies will be viable, as per the promotion of the sites through the Local 
Plan preparation process.  If this is not the case because of a substantial change in 
circumstances for the site, the Applicant / Developer will be required to submit a clear, 
transparent viability assessment in accordance with Local Plan policy H8.

b. A layout that adheres to the design principles set out in policy SD1 (sustainable 
layout), and that follows general ‘good practice’ as set out in national guidance and 
other relevant publications. 

c. A housing mix that refl ects the local housing mix, and / or particular local housing 
needs, for example for older people, families, fi rst time buyers, and those in need of 
affordable housing.

d. Timely commencement on site and delivery of homes once planning permission is 
granted.  Where necessary and appropriate, a planning condition may be imposed 
providing that development must begin within a timescale shorter than the relevant 
default period.

Page 804



91Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

without rendering the overall development 
of allocated sites unviable.  It is the 
expectation that this will remain the case 
when sites come to be developed, and that 
further viability assessments should not be 
necessary at that time, unless there is clear 
evidence that circumstances have changed 
materially since the adoption of this Local 
Plan.  Reductions in these contributions 
will not be supported unless there are 
exceptional circumstances and robust 
and transparent information on viability is 
provided in accordance with policy H8.

ii. Houses are essentially permanent additions 
to the local environment. A good quality 
layout that provides or allows for:  safe and 
convenient routes for walking and cycling to the closest facilities, ‘legibility’ (including 
for people with conditions such as dementia), greenery and natural features, wildlife, 
and incorporation of energy-saving design features (e.g. south-facing windows, solar 
panels), can deliver signifi cant health and well-being and natural environmental 
benefi ts, thereby making an important contribution to social and environmental 
sustainability, and, as a consequence, economic sustainability.  Conversely, to fail to 
achieve the above through an unsympathetic and unimaginative layout, results not 
only in a missed opportunity, but also harm to sustainability.

In addition to the requirements of national and Local Plan policy (e.g. policies SD1 
and SD2), there are a number of good practice guides and publications that advocate 
sustainable design and layouts, and the integration of health and wellbeing with 
development.  Some links are provided below.

iii. Adherence to policies H3 and H4 requires that a number of the homes provided be 
of different tenures and / or sizes, to refl ect local needs for affordable housing, and 
for housing for the elderly.  These policies refl ect the fi ndings of the 2018 Affordable 
and Specialist Housing Needs Study.  Also, the NPPF (paragraph 61) requires 
that policies identify the size, type and tenure of homes for different groups in the 
community, including older people, families with children, fi rst time buyers, people 
who rent their homes, and those in need of affordable housing.  For clarity, other 
types of housing are dealt with through other policies of this Local Plan (for example 
for caravan or boat dwellers, self-builders, students, and Travellers.

Page 805



92 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

iv. Allocated housing sites have been selected taking into account their deliverability, 
which will have been demonstrated and agreed at the Local Plan Examination.  
Bearing in mind the Housing Delivery Test, the local authority will expect that once an 
allocated site is granted permission for residential development, it will be developed 
timeously.  In certain circumstances (for example, where there is a signifi cant 
percentage of sites with unimplemented permissions, and where completions are 
falling short of requirements), the Council may impose planning conditions requiring 
development to commence on site within a timescale shorter than the relevant default 
period. 

5.27 Of the 38 sites allocated in this policy for housing, 15 sites (indicative capacity 164 units 
in total) are small (i.e.no more than one hectare). This falls short of the NPPF requirement 
(paragraph68(a)) that 10% of the Local Plan housing requirement be made up of sites 
of no more than one hectare, but there are strong reasons as to why this target cannot 
be achieved, namely the long plan period, signifi cant housing requirement, and lack of 
deliverable and / or developable small housing sites in West Lancashire.

5.28 In line with policy SP3, the residential development of brownfi eld land is supported in 
principle, in preference to the development of greenfi eld land, provided it complies with 
other relevant policies.  The Borough Council has published its Brownfi eld Register, a 
schedule of brownfi eld sites that are considered suitable for residential development; 
this will be updated annually and is available on the Council’s website.

 Phasing

5.29 There are no specifi c phasing restrictions for the above allocated sites, but regard must 
be had to the Council’s most up-to-date Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

5.30 In locations where there are material shortcomings in infrastructure provision, i.e. if 
the additional housing associated with a particular site is built, the place will no longer 
be able to function in an acceptable manner, and where there is no prospect of these 
shortcomings being addressed by the time that over half of the new housing is completed, 
then construction of the new dwellings may have to be delayed until such time as the 
necessary infrastructure is delivered, or there is a clear, agreed prospect that it will be 
delivered within a short time.  In such situations, planning permissions may be granted 
subject to ‘Grampian conditions’ delaying housing delivery.  Regard will also be had 
towards the Housing Delivery Test and the implication of Grampian conditions on delivery 
rates.

Page 806



93Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

5.31 In relation to the Strategic Development Sites, and the larger allocations, the matter 
of infrastructure delivery and its relation to housing delivery will be addressed through 
Masterplans and / or Development Briefs.

 Alternatives Considered

5.32 Allocation of different sites to those proposed above

 All sites have been assessed through the SHELAA process, and through more 
comprehensive Local Plan Review Site Assessments.  Technical Paper 1: Strategic 
Development Options and Site Allocations sets out the reasons for the proposed 
allocation of the sites in policy H2.  The following “alternative” site allocations have been 
included on the Plans at Appendix 1. refl ecting those sites which performed reasonably 
well in the Site Assessments and could genuinely be considered as possible alternatives 
to those sites (or parts of) which are currently “Preferred” allocations:

• Land to the south of St Joseph’s College, Up Holland
• Tower Hill Playing Fields, Up Holland
• Southern part of Chequer Lane Playing Fields, Up Holland
• Holland Moor Open Space, Up Holland
• Hillside Playing Fields, Elmers Green, Skelmersdale
• Land at Beacon Lane / Elmers Green Lane, Ashurst, Skelmersdale
• Land to the north of Spa Lane / Vale Lane, Skelmersdale / Lathom South
• Land at Mawdsley’s Farm, Westhead
• Land to the south-west of Ledson Grove, Aughton
• Land to the west of Nursery Farm, Holt Green
• Land north of Holborn Hill, Ormskirk
• Land to the north of the Scott Estate, Ormskirk
• Land to the south of Plox Brow and east of Coe Lane, Tarleton
• Land to the west of Hoole Lane, Banks
• Land to east and west of Fine Jane’s Farm, Moss Road, Birkdale boundary
• Land west of Hall Road and east of Bescar Brow Lane, Scarisbrick
• Land at 528 Southport Road, Scarisbrick
• Land east of St Cuthbert’s Primary School and north of 89 New Street, Halsall
• Land at Hollin Farm, Haskayne
• Land west of Sandy Lane, Newburgh
• Land north of Finch Lane, Appley Bridge
• Land at Dawber Delf, south of Skull House Lane, Appley Bridge

Page 807



94 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

5.33 A more relaxed or more stringent approach towards meeting other policy requirements 
(e.g. affordable housing, design, sustainable layouts)

 A more relaxed may enable delivery of a greater number of housing units, but it will secure 
fewer benefi ts, and is more likely to lead to unsustainable patterns of development, 
and less good quality neighbourhoods across the Borough.  Such an approach also 
undermines the other policies that are not adhered to.  Conversely, a more stringent 
approach may lead to fewer dwellings being delivered, a possible lack of 5 year housing 
land supply, and the possibility of grants of permission on appeal on less suitable sites.

5.34 Greater phasing and / or locational control

 This approach may be linked to ensuring infrastructure provision.  However, it could lead 
to a decrease in overall housing delivery, with its associated risk (as per the previous 
alternative).

Policy H3: Affordable Housing

The provision of affordable housing is supported within the settlement boundaries of West 
Lancashire, either as 100% affordable housing developments, or as a proportion of the units 
in market housing-led schemes.  

Outside settlement boundaries, the following types of affordable housing are supported:
• Affordable housing to meet local needs on Rural Exception Sites (in accordance with 

Local Plan policy H1);
• Affordable housing as a proportion of market housing-led developments (over the 

affordable housing threshold) that are compliant with other Local Plan and / or national 
policies, for example the redevelopment of rural brownfi eld sites.

Requirements for Affordable Housing

Affordable housing will be required as a percentage of new market housing-led residential 
developments in West Lancashire as follows:

Size of development
Location 1-9 units 10 units or 

more
‘Zone B’ of Skelmersdale / Up Holland 0% 10%
‘Zone A’ i.e. remainder of West Lancashire 0% 30%

Page 808



95Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

The location of Zone B (and, by implication, Zone A) is shown on the plan above. 

* Note – dependent on the fi ndings of the Local Plan Viability Assessment, these fi gures 
could be varied.

Similarly, the Zone A / Zone B boundary could be amended if evidence indicates it should 
be changed.

Other Considerations

The Council will take viability into account when assessing individual housing schemes.  If 
a level of affordable housing lower than the levels set out above is proposed for a specifi c 
scheme, the Council will require robust and transparent information on viability to be provided 
by the applicant, in accordance with Local Plan policy H8.

In the case of redevelopment of previously developed sites, where vacant buildings are being 
reused or redeveloped, the affordable housing contribution will be reduced proportionately.
The Council will normally expect affordable housing to be provided on-site.  If off-site 
affordable housing is proposed, the applicant must provide robust justifi cation as to why 
affordable housing cannot be provided on-site, and must identify and secure a suitable site 
in the locality for the off-site provision.

Page 809



96 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 Justifi cation

5.35 Housing affordability has been recognised as a key issue across West Lancashire, not 
just for this Local Plan, but also in previous local plans.  As is the case nationally, house 
prices have tended to rise faster than earnings, and affordable housing delivery rates 
have fallen below annual levels of need.  There is thus general support for affordable 
housing across the Borough, except in undeveloped rural areas remote from settlements.

5.36 The 2018 Affordable and Specialist Housing Needs Study sets out the annual affordable 
housing need in West Lancashire, as well as the types, tenures and sizes of affordable 
housing needed.  As and when this evidence is updated, a decision will be made as to 
whether this policy needs amending or updating.

5.37 In accordance with national policy, 10% of the homes provided in market housing-led 
schemes of 10 units or more must be for affordable home ownership, unless this would 

As per the advice in the Affordable and Specialist Housing Needs Study (ASHNS):

• The bulk of the affordable home ownership should be shared ownership – this is 
the most affordable of the home ownership options. In Skelmersdale, other forms of 
affordable
home ownership could be considered where this will improve the housing mix;

• The Council could also consider other forms of affordable home ownership (such as 
Starter Homes) where this improves viability, and could potentially also seek for some 
proportion of market housing to be discounted;

• Subject to viability, in addition to the affordable home ownership, the Council should be 
looking to secure additional rented housing. A broadly equal split between social and 
affordable rented could be considered.

The ASHNS advises that affordable units comprise the following mix of sizes:

Mix of Housing by Size and Tenure
1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4+ bed-

rooms
Low-cost home ownership 15% 35% 40% 10%
Afforadble housing (rented) 35% 35% 25% 5%

Should new evidence emerge that would indicate that any of the above be changed, this 
will be addressed through a review of the Local Plan, or through a Supplementary Planning 
Document.

Page 810



97Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

exceed the level of affordable housing in the area, or signifi cantly prejudice the ability to 
meet the identifi ed affordable housing needs of specifi c groups.  In West Lancashire, the 
most suitable form of affordable home ownership is shared ownership.

5.38 The percentage requirements of policy H3 refl ect the need for affordable housing, and 
the viability of development in the area (as set out in the Local Plan Viability Assessment).  
There are clear differences in the viability of development between much of Skelmersdale 
/ Up Holland and the rest of the Borough; these are refl ected in the differing percentage 
requirements for these areas.

5.39 The requirement to provide affordable housing will apply to incremental developments 
on sites which would result in the development of 10 units or more on a larger site.  An 
example would be where a large site was divided into smaller sites and proposals were 
submitted for up to 9 units on each site on a piecemeal basis.

5.40 For proposals involving the redevelopment of previously developed sites, where vacant 
buildings are being reused or redeveloped, the affordable housing contribution will be 
reduced by a proportionate amount equivalent to the gross fl oorspace of the existing 
buildings, divided by the residential fl oorspace of the new scheme14.  This ‘vacant building 
credit’ does not apply where buildings have been abandoned.

5.41 As required by case law, the Council will take viability into account when assessing 
individual housing schemes.  If a level of affordable housing lower than the levels set out 
in this policy is proposed for a specifi c scheme, Local Plan policy H8 requires that robust 
and transparent information on viability be submitted to the Council by the applicant.  The 
Council may, if necessary, have this information independently checked at the expense 
of the applicant.

5.42 Affordable housing is defi ned in the glossary of the NPPF.  The defi nition is broad, 
encompassing a range of different types and tenures of ‘affordable housing’, ranging from 
such products as starter homes and Build to Rent schemes (which are likely to have less 
of a fi nancial cost on the provider, but which may be less affordable to those in housing 
need), through to social rented units (which have a bigger fi nancial cost, but which are 
far more likely to be genuinely affordable to those in need).  As such, it should usually be 
possible to fi nd an appropriate balance of tenures / types of affordable housing that can 
meet the policy H3 percentage requirements, and also maintain a viable scheme for the 
developer.  It is recommended that early engagement be undertaken with the Council 
to negotiate the right affordable housing mix for an individual scheme.  There may need 

14 For example, if 4,000m2 fl oorspace is to be demolished / reused, and the new development has 
10,000m2 residential fl oorspace, the affordable housing requirement will be reduced by 4,000 / 10,000, or 40%.

Page 811



98 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

to be a trade-off between securing a larger number of ‘affordable’ units, or a smaller 
number of ‘genuinely affordable’ units.

5.43 National guidance advocates the creation of sustainable mixed communities.  As a 
general principle, affordable housing should be ‘pepper-potted’ through a site rather than 
in ‘enclaves’.  

5.44 Exceptionally, and where robustly justifi ed, off-site provision of affordable housing will 
be considered as an alternative to on-site provision, where a site(s) has been identifi ed 
and secured for the delivery of the required affordable housing to the satisfaction of 
the Council. Delivery of such a site(s) would be programmed alongside, and linked to, 
the delivery of the main site through a Section 106 agreement.  The number of units of 
affordable housing required would be calculated taking into account the total number 
of units on the combined sites15 . In such circumstances, off-site provision should be 
provided in the locality, i.e. within the same (or, exceptionally, an adjacent) parish as 
the development site, or within the same settlement in non-parished areas.  In cases of 
off-site provision, it must be demonstrated that the agreed approach contributes to the 
objective of creating mixed and balanced communities.

5.45 The Affordable and Specialist Housing Needs Study (ASHNS) provides advice on the 
type, tenure and mix of affordable housing that should be provided in West Lancashire.  
Should new evidence emerge that would indicate that any of the advice be changed, 
this will be addressed through a review of the Local Plan, or through a Supplementary 
Planning Document, depending on the nature of the change(s).

 Alternatives Considered

5.46 A variation in the percentage requirements (higher / lower)

 National policy requires at least 10% of units in schemes of 10 units or more (i.e. major 
schemes) to be affordable; as such there is no scope to lessen the lower requirements.  
The 30% requirement for major schemes has been achieved for a number of schemes 
under the current WLLP and is considered reasonable.  This will be subject to testing 
under the Local Plan Viability Assessment, and could well change if the LPVA indicates 
it is too high, or too low.

15 For example, a development of 50 units requires 15 affordable units (30%).  If, instead, all 50 units on 
site were market units, then 21 affordable units would be required offsite (making 71 in total; 30% of 71 is 21.)

Page 812



99Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

5.47 No variation in distribution across West Lancashire, i.e. Skelmersdale rates are similar 
to elsewhere

 Viability evidence to date indicates that there are material differences in the deliverability 
of affordable housing between Skelmersdale / Up Holland and the rest of the Borough, 
as well as a greater supply of less expensive residential units in Skelmersdale.  To 
impose the same requirements in Skelmersdale as elsewhere could further discourage 
development in that area, undermining the primary focus of planning strategy in this 
emerging plan (and previous plans).

5.48 Different approach towards size / tenure / type

 Policy on house sizes, tenures and types has been drawn up in the light of up-to-date 
and robust evidence as set out in the Affordable and Specialist Housing Needs Study.  
To vary this approach would be to go against evidence, and would most likely be to the 
detriment of housing provision in the Borough.  It should be noted, however, that the 
policy allows for some variation in the light of local circumstances and backed up by 
robust locally-specifi c evidence.

Policy H4: Housing for Older People

The provision of suitable residential accommodation for older people (‘older people’s 
housing’ or OPH) across West Lancashire is supported.  Development proposals for OPH 
will be encouraged within settlements, in locations easily accessible by public transport and 
/ or within a reasonable walking distance of shops, medical services, public open space and 
other relevant community facilities.

OPH provided over the Plan period should comprise a range of types, including individual 
market housing units, retirement accommodation, sheltered accommodation, extra care 
housing schemes, and care homes.  The main focus should be independent living models, 
which enable residents to live independently, as opposed to schemes involving on-site care 
(although these will be required too).  Innovative products will be encouraged.

All new 1, 2 and 3-bedroom market and affordable dwellings will be required to meet Building 
Regulation M4(2): Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings, unless exceptional circumstances 
can be demonstrated as to why it would be inappropriate to meet this Standard.

Page 813



100 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

I. Care Homes / Extra Care Accommodation

Care Homes (Use Class C2) will be supported in locations within settlements accessible by 
public transport, and subject to compliance with other relevant policies.

Extra Care developments (which can be a mixture of C2 and C3 units) will be permitted on 
suitable sites within settlements provided the following criteria are met:

a. The site has satisfactory highways access
b. A proportion of the C3 units are affordable, in line with policy H3

To meet objectively assessed needs for C2 accommodation for the elderly, it will be necessary 
to provide at least 1,482 registered care bedspaces in West Lancashire over the Local Plan
period (39 per year).  This need will partially be met through those C2 developments already 
completed / granted permission since 2012 and through the allocation of the following sites:

c. A 100-bed care home / extra care facility at Yew Tree Farm, Burscough (policy SP6)
d. Three 100-bed care homes / extra care facilities within the proposed garden villages 

south west of Skelmersdale (policy SP7)
e. A 80-bed care home / extra care facility as part of an Elderly Care Village south east 

of Ormskirk (policy SP8)
f. A 50-bed care home / extra care facility as part of the proposed development on land 

at Cross Hall Brow, Ormskirk (policy H2, site HO3).
g. A 50-bed care home / extra care facility as part of the proposed development on land 

north of the A565 in Tarleton (policy H2, site HN2)

The remainder of the need will be met through ‘windfall’ care home developments.

II. Design

Schemes involving OPH should be designed in such a way as to achieve as many of the 
following objectives as possible:

a. The occupants are able to live independently;
b. The OPH is integrated with the wider community (as opposed to ‘elderly-only 

enclaves’), unless there are clear reasons to keep it separate;
c. Layouts of estates and neighbourhoods are ‘elderly-friendly’ with regard to ‘legibility’, 

ease of movement, and safety.

Page 814



101Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 Justifi cation

5.49 The ageing population of West Lancashire presents a number of challenges relating 
to health and the economy, and the need to cater for older people’s accommodation 
requirements. Ensuring that suitable housing options are available for older people will 
help people live longer, independent, active and healthy lifestyles, consistent with the 
aims of the Council’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  Providing accommodation is not 
just about design, but is also about ensuring that older people remain an active part of 
society within sustainable communities, and that they are able to live as independently 
as they wish to.

5.50 The term ‘older people’ has no universal defi nition.  It could be considered in terms of age 
(over 55 / 65 / 75, etc.) or in terms of general health, mobility, and independence.  People 
vary widely, and a wide range of housing types will be required for their accommodation.  
The market can, to an extent, provide OPH, but given the ageing population, some 
planning intervention is considered necessary to facilitate provision of a suffi cient range 
and number of units suitable for the elderly.

5.51 As people age ‘signifi cantly’, 
they are less likely to be 
using the private car.  It is 
important that people be 
able to access facilities 
to meet their day-to-
day physical needs (e.g. 
food, health care), as 
well as their social needs 
(company, integration within 
communities).  Proposals 
for OPH not located close 
to existing or proposed services will be resisted, unless exceptional circumstances can 
be demonstrated to justify why access is not required by residents, for example a care 
home, or an extra care development with all necessary facilities on site.

d. There is good, convenient access to facilities and services, or at least to guaranteed 
satisfactory public transport services.

Page 815



102 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

5.52 The typical perception of elderly persons’ accommodation is bungalows or sheltered 
housing. However, this need not be the case, and such types of development are not 
always appropriate, e.g. from a density point of view.  Whilst policy H4 sets out ‘standard’ 
types of housing units or schemes to accommodate older people, innovative housing 
designed for the elderly is encouraged, whether that be higher density bungalows, or 
more radical approaches to design.  The Council will encourage proposals that foster the 
development of effective links and partnerships between housing, planning and social 
care authorities.

 Market housing for older people

5.53 The Affordable and Specialist Housing Needs Study (ASHNS) concludes that there is 
a clear need to increase the supply of accessible and adaptable dwellings (as well as 
wheelchair user dwellings) and recommends that the Council consider a policy requiring 
all new-build homes to meet Building Regulation part M4(2).  The Study notes, however, 
that there will be cases where this may not be possible, and so any policy should be 
applied fl exibly.  

5.54 Therefore, 1, 2 and 3-bedroom properties will be required to meet Building Regulation 
M4(2) ‘Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings’ unless exceptional circumstances can be 
demonstrated as to why it would be inappropriate to meet this Standard.  The requirement 
does not apply to larger properties (4+ bedrooms); this is to discourage ‘house-sitting’ 
of under-occupied larger properties by elderly people.  However, adherence to M4(2) on 
larger properties, or to M4(3) on any suitable properties, will not be resisted.  In seeking 
M4(2) compliant homes, the Council recognises that such homes could be considered 
as ‘homes for life’ and would be suitable for any occupant, regardless of whether or not 
they are elderly or have an age-related disability at the time of initial occupation.

5.55 It is not expected that the provision 
of OPH should have signifi cant 
negative impact upon viability, 
given there should be high demand 
for accommodation suitable for 
older people, and the price of such 
accommodation should compare 
favourably with ‘typical’ market 
housing.  If the decision is made 
to meet M4(2) from the outset on 
a new-build dwelling, the cost is 
not considered to be prohibitive.  

Page 816



103Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

Estimates of this cost range from around £500 to around £1500.  For conversions of 
buildings (i.e. where the fabric of the building is already in place), the cost may be 
signifi cantly higher.  As such, policy H4 has fl exibility in that the requirement to meet 
M4(2) in 1-3 bedroom houses applies, except where it is clearly inappropriate to apply 
the standard.

5.56 Provision of OPH has been considered through the Local Plan Viability Assessment, 
taking into account the extra cost associated with meeting Building Regulation M4(2).  
Therefore the Council expect this requirement to be met, unless exceptional circumstances 
can be demonstrated.

 Care Home Provision

5.57 The Liverpool City Region SHELMA sets out the need and justifi cation for Care Home 
spaces across the City Region.  Taking account of existing and projected residential 
institution population, the SHELMA concludes (Table 53, p143) that there is a requirement 
of 39 registered care bedspaces per annum in West Lancashire.  Over the proposed 38 
year Local Plan period, this equates to 1,482 bedspaces.  Since 2012, 279 C2 bedspaces 
have been completed / are under construction and there is an outline permission for a 
100-bed C2 care home at Yew Tree Farm.  As such, land for at least a further 1,103 C2 
bedspaces is needed.

5.58 These bedspaces can be provided partly by the market through ‘windfall’ schemes, 
but it is not considered that such ‘windfall’ development alone will meet the overall 
need (although the above fi gures for completions / permissions since 2012 show that 
windfall delivery can be quite signifi cant and will have delivered an average of virtually 
40 bedspaces per year by 1 April 2019, not even including the care home with outline 
permission at Yew Tree Farm).  Policy H4 (in conjunction with other housing policies) thus 
allocates specifi c sites for care homes / extra care facilities, and requires care homes to 
be provided as part of the residential mix on the larger Local Plan site allocations, with 
approximately 580 bedspaces potentially allocated (including the care home with outline 
permission at Yew Tree Farm).  Full details of that provision will be addressed, where 
appropriate, through Masterplans and / or Development Briefs for the individual sites.

 Affordable Housing

5.59 A percentage of C3 OPH units provided may be required to be affordable, in conjunction 
with Policy H3.  In addition, as the majority of dwellings provided in traditional housing 
developments are to be M4(2) compliant, a high percentage of affordable units provided 
in large market-led schemes should also be suitable for elderly people. 

Page 817



104 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 Design

5.60 Major housing developments should 
be designed to take account of older 
persons’ housing needs, including 
accessibility and a ‘dementia-friendly’ 
layout. Highways, parking and 
servicing arrangements should be 
satisfactorily addressed, to enable 
access by ambulances, taxis etc. 
The form, scale and design of older 
persons’ housing units should be 
appropriate for their occupants. 

5.61 Older people should have a living environment that promotes personal safety, social 
engagement and activity, maximises wellbeing, and reduces the social isolation and the 
adverse impacts of some long term conditions.  Pick up and drop off facilities should be 
located close to principal entrances wherever possible.  

5.62 Developments featuring older persons housing, or adaptable housing, should be 
encouraged to adhere to the HAPPI16 principles: generous internal space standards, 
design to allow in natural light; duals aspect to maximise natural ventilation and light 
making it ‘care’ ready and adaptable for new technologies; shared spaces to encourage 
interaction and remove institutional feel; multi-purposes space and facilities; design that 
engages positively with the street and local community; energy effi cient and well insulated; 
adequate storage space; and shared external areas giving priority to pedestrians. 

 Alternatives Considered

5.63 No requirement for OPH, let the market deliver. 

 This policy approach has not worked well in that few OPH units have been delivered so 
far under the Local Plan 2012-2027. This approach contains the greatest risks to the 
delivery of OPH and is unlikely to deliver signifi cant numbers of OPH until the housing 
market changes.  Greater policy intervention to secure the delivery of PH is more realistic

5.64 Continue with the WLLP percentage approach. 

 This policy approach is the most likely to deliver stand-alone care home type facilities 

16 Housing our Ageing Population: Panel for Innovation (HAPPi) Design Principles

Page 818



105Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

on large sites, and / or adaptable dwellings on medium sites, but there have been 
diffi culties in enforcing such requirements historically, largely due to viability arguments. 
It may be most appropriate to combine this approach with that of market delivery, and to 
more stringently enforce the percentage requirement. Nonetheless, this is considered a 
sustainable option.

5.65 Provide a tighter defi nition of OPH. 

 This approach would give developers more certainty, but would remove fl exibility in 
delivery and could lead to missed opportunities and lack of innovation. 

 

Policy H5: Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and Student  
Accommodation

I. Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) (Use Class C4 and Sui Generis)13

While not all HMOs are occupied by students within the designated Article 4 area in Ormskirk 
and Aughton, the vast majority are student households.

When assessing proposals for conversion of a dwelling house or other building into a 
HMO within the Article 4 area in Ormskirk and Aughton, the Council will have regard to the 
proportion of existing residential properties in use as, or with permission to become, an 
HMO, either in the street as a whole, or within the nearest 60 residential properties. 

Where proposals for conversion to an HMO would result in the percentages specifi ed in 
the table below being exceeded, these proposals will not be permitted unless there are 
compelling reasons specifi c to an individual application why it would be appropriate to allow 
the limit to be exceeded, or further exceeded.  When assessing proposals for conversion to 
HMOs, the Council will also have regard to any purpose built student accommodation on the 
same street or section of the street, and to any potential clustering of student accommodation, 
and the effects of this on nearby properties.

13 * A house in multiple occupation (HMO) is defi ned as a house or fl at occupied by three 
or more people who rent a property, are not related and share a kitchen, bathroom or toilet. 
Where between three and six unrelated people, who satisfy the criteria of an HMO, live in 
a property and share one or more basic amenities, the property falls within Class C4 of the 
Use Classes Order.  However, for the purposes of Policy H5, the defi nition of HMO may also 
include any house or fl at occupied by seven or more unrelated people who rent the property 
and share one or more basic amenities (use class Sui Generis). Where the conversion of a 
dwelling house to rented accommodation for seven or more people requires planning permis-
sion, then Policy H5 will apply, just as it applies to HMOs with between three and six people.

Page 819



106 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

The below shows the streets in categories A and B.

Category Max % Description of Street Streets
Category A 15% Typically A- and B- classifi ed 

roads and other important routes 
in Ormskirk which tend to have 
the highest levels of traffi c and 
are within easy walking distance 
from the University.

Aughton Street (section 
outside Primary Shopping 
Area (PSA)), Moor Street 
(section outside PSA), Park 
Road, Derby Street West, 
Knowsley Road, Stanley 
Street, St Helens Road, 
Wigan Road.

Category B 10% Typically unclassifi ed roads that 
have high levels of through traf-
fi c, and / or roads with a signifi -
cant amount of non-residential 
uses present, within reasonable 
distance of the University, but 
usually further away than Cat-
egory A roads.

Burscough Road, Bur-
scough Street (section out-
side PSA), Southport Road 
(section east of County 
Road only), County Road, 
Derby Street, Green Lane, 
Hants Lane, Moorgate 
(section outside PSA), New 
Court Way, Railway Road 
(section outside PSA), Ruff 
Lane.

Category C 0% All other streets in the Ormskirk 
area covered by the Article 4 
Direction on HMOs.

The fi gure opposite shows the streets in categories A and B.

Page 820



107Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

Within the primary shopping area of Ormskirk, as defi ned on the Policies Map, a greater 
proportion than 15% of residential properties above ground fl oor level will be permitted to 
function as HMOs, subject to there being no unacceptable impact on the residential amenity 
of the primary shopping area, on the viability of any retail or business units on the lower 
fl oor(s) of the property in question, and on the supply of accommodation for other town 
centre uses (for example, fi rst fl oor offi ces, or storage for ground fl oor retail units).

The Council will not permit the conversion to HMOs of any new housing built in the Ormskirk 
/ Aughton spatial area following the adoption of this Local Plan, regardless of its location and 
notwithstanding the limits in the above table.

This policy is applicable in conjunction with an Article 4 Direction relating to HMOs and 
covering Ormskirk and Aughton. If in future years, there is evidence that HMOs are becoming 
an issue in settlements outside of Ormskirk and Aughton, Article 4 Directions will

Page 821



108 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 
 Justifi cation
 
5.67 Edge Hill University delivers economic and social benefi ts to the Borough as a whole. 

The Council supports in principle the development of the University and the provision of 
suffi cient and good quality bed spaces for Edge Hill students, whether on or off-campus. 
However, development of the University should not have an unacceptable impact, and 
increased student numbers should only be facilitated in future if the students can be 
satisfactorily accommodated without causing any unacceptable harm to the local or 

be implemented to cover such areas, the principles of Policy H5 will apply to such areas.

II. Purpose Built Student Accommodation (Use Class C2)

Proposals for the construction of purpose built student accommodation will be supported 
within the University Campus and to the south of St Helens Road, Ormskirk, in accordance 
with Policy SP8.  Purpose built student accommodation will also be considered an acceptable 
use above ground fl oor on the Development Opportunity Sites identifi ed in Ormskirk Town 
Centre, subject to compliance with policy EC5:

a. Ormskirk Indoor Market, Moorgate;
b. Ormskirk Bus Station;
c. Land behind the Stiles car park;
d. The former West Lancashire College site;
e. Land at, and to the rear of, Ormskirk Magistrates Court.

Purpose built student accommodation will be permitted on other suitable sites within 
Ormskirk, subject to the following criteria being satisfi ed:

1. There is an accepted need for such accommodation;
2. Demand for the conversion of existing dwelling houses to HMOs will be demonstrably 

reduced; and
3. The proposed development and use will not have any unacceptable negative effects 

upon the amenity of surrounding uses, in particular residential uses.

When assessing the potential impact of purpose built student accommodation on the amenity 
of the surrounding areas, the Council will also have regard to the presence of any HMOs in 
the vicinity.

Page 822



109Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

wider area, whether in terms of the impact of students living locally or students living 
further afi eld who commute to and from the University.

 Houses in Multiple Occupation

5.68 Within Ormskirk, residents’ groups have contacted the Council over recent years to 
express their concerns over issues relating to uncontrolled proliferation of HMOs within 
certain areas of Ormskirk. Under the previous Local Plan, the most appropriate approach 
towards HMOs was considered to be to limit the proportion of HMOs within specifi c 
streets to a certain percentage, whilst recognising that in some cases the ideal maximum 
percentage has already been exceeded during the period (pre-2011) where it was not 
possible to control the conversion of dwelling houses to HMOs. This policy has generally 
worked well, and the approach is being continued in this new Local Plan, subject to 
some minor ‘technical alterations’, and the reducing of the lowest limit from 5% to 0%.

5.69 The change to a 0% limit results from a lessening in demand for HMO accommodation 
from 2017 onwards, evidenced by the increasing number of unlet rooms in HMOs.  
Whilst it has been considered that a 5% HMO limit in any given street would not 
unacceptably harm amenity for the street as a whole, even a single HMO can have a 
disproportionate impact on its immediate neighbours.  As such, balancing supply of / 
demand for accommodation against its localised impact, a 0% limit for streets currently 
without HMOs is now considered appropriate.

5.70 Policy H5 does not set out specifi cally what constitutes ‘compelling reasons’ for allowing 
additional HMOs.  Examples may be where a terraced property is sandwiched between 
two or more HMOs, or where there is such a high proportion of HMOs on a particular 
street (say, over 90%), that it would be unreasonable to expect non-students to live there 
anymore.  However, every case is treated on its merits, and ‘compelling reasons’ in one 
case may not be ‘compelling’ in another.

5.71 The following detailed considerations apply:

 When calculating percentages of HMOs:

• Only properties lying with the area covered by the Article 4 Direction are to be 
counted, even if the street extends outside the Article 4 area.

• Residential properties used specifi cally for the accommodation of older people or in 
a Class C2 use are excluded from calculations.

• When considering the nearest 60 properties, count properties on the continuation of 
the street in question, even if its name changes (e.g. Cottage Lane / Asmall Lane)

Page 823



110 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

• If a house is subdivided into apartments which are rented out to pairs of students, 
consider the subdivided property as an HMO in percentage calculations.

• The HMO limit must not be exceeded for the street overall, nor for the nearest 60 
properties on the street.

 Clustering and consideration of effect / impact of a proposed HMO:

• Where appropriate, one may take account of HMOs on other streets (e.g. backing 
on to a property) when considering the effect of a new HMO.  Whilst the majority of 
the impact of an HMO will stem from the front or side of the property – people and 
vehicles arriving and leaving, storage of refuse bins, and noise, HMOs can impact 
properties behind (e.g. via noise in the rear garden, or through open rear windows).

 Other Considerations

5.72 Within the primary shopping area of Ormskirk Town Centre, the environment is 
predominantly commercial rather than residential. In this area, it should be possible to 
accommodate a higher proportion of HMOs than 15% (taken as a proportion of residential 
units) without there being unacceptable effects on the amenity of town centre residents. 
It is important, however, to ensure that conversion of accommodation to HMOs does not 
result in any signifi cant loss of space for other appropriate town centre uses, for example 
fi rst fl oor offi ces, or storage for ground fl oor shop units, that would undermine town 
centre viability and vitality.

5.73 New housing is being proposed in and around Ormskirk and Aughton in this Local Plan 
and this will involve the release of currently safeguarded or Green Belt land.  Some of 
these new sites are close to Edge Hill University.  It is considered appropriate to specify 
that none of this new housing should subsequently be converted to HMOs, otherwise 
further Green Belt release may be required to meet needs.

5.74 This policy is applicable in conjunction with an Article 4 Direction relating to HMOs and 
covering Ormskirk, Aughton and Westhead. If in future years, there is evidence that 
HMOs are becoming an issue outside the current Article 4 area, and if the Article 4 area 
is revised (or if new Article 4 Directions are implemented), the principles of this policy will 
apply to such areas.

 Purpose Built Student Accommodation

5.75 The provision of purpose-built student accommodation (PBSA) to meet identifi ed 

Page 824



111Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

needs is supported in general terms, but 
it is important that such accommodation 
should be sited only in suitable areas.  As 
set out in policy EC6, the best locations 
for additional PBSA are considered to be 
the existing University campus, newly-
allocated land to the south of St Helens 
Road (see policy SP8), and suitable sites 
within Ormskirk town centre.  Given the 
extent of the future accommodation needs 
of the University, and the amount of land allocated for student accommodation, it is 
considered that these allocations should largely or fully meet needs for the foreseeable 
future, so policy H5 restricts development of PBSA elsewhere, unless strict criteria are 
met.

 Alternatives Considered

 With regard to HMOs:

5.76 No restraint – Allow conversion of properties to HMOs regardless of location or the 
proportion of properties already in use as HMOs in the surrounding area.

 The unrestrained conversion of the (often) cheapest available market housing to HMOs 
has knock-on effects in terms of affordable housing provision. An uncontrolled number 
of student properties in an area can in certain cases lead to blight, loss of property value 
for existing residents, and problems with parking and occasional antisocial behaviour. 
The Council is aware from discussions with certain residents groups of acute problems 
in areas where there is already a signifi cant proportion of HMOs.

5.77 Setting aside of areas for up to 100% student accommodation – this approach would 
restrain the conversion of properties to HMOs in most areas, whilst allowing complete 
streets or neighbourhoods to become HMOs, thus creating “student zones” within 
Ormskirk.

 Whilst this approach has been shown to work in certain University cities, it is not 
considered appropriate for Ormskirk, which is a smaller town, and does not appear to 
have residential areas that could be set aside as student areas without detriment to, or 
signifi cant effect upon, the whole town. There is a danger that a “student area” approach 
can also lead to “ghettos” which are largely empty during summer holiday time.

Page 825



112 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 With regard to the provision of purpose built student accommodation:

5.78 Relax policy to allow purpose-built student accommodation away from the University 
Campus. 

 The effects of PBSA in residential areas could be unacceptably adverse; the need for 
such accommodation is limited, especially in the light of proposed new allocations, so 
there is no justifi cation for this approach.

5.79 Tighten the current policy to severely, or entirely, restrict off-campus, purpose-built 
student accommodation.

 Whilst local residential amenity should be preserved (or enhanced), it is also necessary 
not to restrict the reasonable functioning of the University, a major contributor to the local 
economy.

Policy H6: Gypsy and Traveller Sites

I. Traveller Site Allocations

The following sites are to be inset from the Green Belt and allocated to meet current / short 
term local Gypsy and Traveller accommodation needs only:

A. Pool Hey Caravan Park, Pool Hey Lane, Scarisbrick 5 pitches
B. Land at Sugar Stubbs Lane, Banks  2 pitches (touring caravans only)
C. Land at Aveling Drive (West), Banks  4 pitches (touring caravans only)
D. Land at Aveling Drive (East), Banks  1 pitch (touring caravans only)
E. Land at Blackacre Lane, Ormskirk  6 pitches

 
The following site is allocated for employment uses, but Travelling Showpeople 
accommodation for local needs will be considered acceptable on part(s) of the site, subject 
to compliance with other relevant policies:

F. Land west of Tollgate Road, Burscough

Expansion or intensifi cation in the use of sites (A) to (E) beyond the stated number of pitches 
or plots will not be permitted unless very special circumstances are demonstrated.  The use 
of the sites shall be restricted to permanent (i.e. non-transit) Gypsy and Traveller 

Page 826



113Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

accommodation.  If such a use of the site were to cease in the future, the land shall only be 
used for purposes deemed appropriate for a Green Belt location.

For longer term needs, Gypsy and Traveller accommodation should be sought within the 
following broad locations for growth:

• Banks area (Northern Parishes)
• Scarisbrick (Western Parishes)

Travelling Showpeople accommodation should be sought within the following broad locations:

• Burscough
• M58 Corridor (Skelmersdale and South Eastern Parishes)

II. Criteria for Assessment of Proposals for Traveller Accommodation

In the case of planning applications for Gypsy and Traveller or Travelling Showpeople 
accommodation on non-allocated sites, the following criteria will be used to assess such 
proposals: 

(i) Broad Locations

Proposals for permanent or transit sites or pitches should be located in areas where need 
exists, as demonstrated by robust evidence.

(ii) Site-Specifi c Criteria

Permanent Sites

(a) Flood risk:

Proposed permanent sites for Travellers must not be located within Flood Zone 3, unless:

I. The sites are restricted to touring caravans only; and
II. There is a local authority-approved site evacuation plan; and
III. It has been robustly demonstrated there are no other deliverable sites outside of 

Flood Zone 3 that could meet the same accommodation need.

Page 827



114 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

Permanent sites for Travellers should not be located in Flood Zone 2, unless it has been 
robustly demonstrated that there are no other deliverable sites outside of Flood Zone 2 that 
could meet the same accommodation need.

(b) Other considerations:

In order to ensure that sites are fi t for purpose and will provide adequate residential amenity, 
both to members of the travelling community and to members of the settled community, 
proposed permanent sites for Travellers should meet the following criteria:

I. The site does not lie within the Green Belt, unless very special circumstances are 
demonstrated;

II. The site, on account of its scale and / or location, would not dominate the nearest 
settled
community in such a way that the prospect of peaceful and integrated co-existence 
between the site and the local settled community would be undermined;

III. The site is suffi ciently far from any refuse site, industrial process, high voltage 
electricity infrastructure, other hazardous place, or any other process, land use or 
environmental issue (e.g. fl yover, motorway), for there to be no unacceptable impact 
on the health, safety or general well-being of the residents of the site;

IV. The site is not subject to any physical constraints or other environmental issues that
cannot be mitigated to an acceptable level, and that would impact on the health, safety      
or general well-being of the residents of the site, or on non-residents;
V. The site is accessible by a public highway that can accommodate typical Traveller-

related vehicles without compromising highway safety;
VI. The site is not within, adjacent to, or close to (such that it would adversely affect) any 

area of land subject to a nature conservation designation;
VII. The site is not within, adjacent to, or close to (such that it would adversely affect) 

any area of land subject to an historic environment or historic landscape designation;
VIII. The site has mains water, drainage and electricity, or else these services could 

readily be provided and satisfactory drainage achieved;and services;
IX. The use of this site as a Traveller site would not place undue pressure on local 

infrastructure and services;
X. The site is within 1.5 kilometres (or 20 minutes’ walk) of a bus route or other public 

transport facility, and / or it is possible to access from the site by means other than 
private motor vehicle the following facilities / services:

•  an appropriate health facility;
•  education facilities, in particular a primary school;

Page 828



115Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 
 Justifi cation

5.82 The full detailed justifi cation for this policy is set out in the Traveller Sites Technical 
Paper, which forms part of the evidence base for this Local Plan.

 The local planning authority is required by national policy:

• To identify needs for Traveller accommodation;
• To identify and update annually a supply of specifi c deliverable sites suffi cient to 

provide 5 years’ worth of sites against their locally set targets, and
• To identify a supply of specifi c, developable sites, or broad locations for growth, for 

years 6 to 10 of the Local Plan and, where possible, for years 11-15 of the Plan.

 Traveller Accommodation Needs

5.83 The latest evidence on Traveller accommodation needs is set out in the West Lancashire 
Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA), December 2017.  The main 
drivers of need are newly forming families, and families residing on unauthorised sites.  
The needs for 2017-2037, over and above any sites with extant planning consent, are as 
set out in Table H6.1:

•  employment opportunities;
•  shops;
•  other necessary services;

XI. It is possible to achieve visual and acoustic privacy on the site without any unacceptable 
visual impact on the site’s surroundings; 

XII. The site can accommodate between 3 and 15 pitches.

Transit Sites
In the case of transit sites, these should meet the above criteria and, in addition, should be 
readily accessible to the M58, or to the strategic highway network.

Page 829



116 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

Table H6.1 West Lancashrie Traveller Accommodation Needs 2017-2037

Period Gypsy and Traveller Pitches Travelling Showpeople Plots
2017-2022 15 (10) 4
2022-2027 2 (2) 0
2027-2032 2 (2) 1
2032-2037 2 (2) 0
Total 2017-2037 21 (16) 5

Source: West Lancashire GTAA, December 2017

 (Figures in brackets are needs excluding households who do not travel for work.)

5.84 In relation to transit provision, the GTAA recommends that negotiated stopping places be 
explored for small scale transit encampments.

5.85 The above needs could change in future.  If there is evidence that the above needs have 
changed to any material extent, this will be dealt with through a review of the Local Plan.

 It is clear from the table above, and from the size of the proposed site allocations, that 
not enough deliverable sites (/pitches) have been allocated in this Local Plan to provide 5 
years’ worth of deliverable sites against locally set targets.  Sites (A) to (D) above provide 
a total of 18 pitches, or 12 pitches over and above the 6 current authorised pitches 
in West Lancashire.  The reasons for the shortfall in deliverable sites are primarily on 
account of land availability, and are set out in full in the Traveller Sites Technical Paper.

 Site allocations for Gypsies and Travellers

5.86 PPTS (Policy E, paragraph 17) allows, in exceptional circumstances, for limited alterations 
to be made to Green Belt boundaries (for example to accommodate a site inset within 
the Green Belt) to meet a specifi c, identifi ed need for a Traveller site.  Such alterations 
should be made through the plan-making process and should be specifi cally allocated in 
the development plan as a Traveller site only.

5.87 It is considered, in the case of the six sites below, that exceptional circumstances do 
indeed exist that justify the release of the land from the Green Belt for the following 
reasons:

• There is an unmet local need for Traveller accommodation;
• There are no deliverable sites for Traveller accommodation in non-Green Belt areas, 

and no other deliverable sites in the Green Belt for Traveller accommodation;

Page 830



117Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

• Four of the sites are owned by, and have been occupied by, Travellers for between 
8 and 25 years;

• The Council has no record of issues arising as a result of the sites’ occupation by 
Travellers 17

5.88 The detailed justifi cation for the selection of the sites below as the preferred options for 
meeting  West Lancashire’s Traveller accommodation needs is set out in the Traveller 
Sites Technical Paper.  Brief comments on each of the sites are provided overleaf.

A. Pool Hey Caravan Park, Pool Hey Lane, Scarisbrick

5.89 This is a longstanding (25 years) site that received partial consent for a park home on 
appeal in 2006, and consent for 5 Traveller pitches in 2017, tied to a particular family.  
Given the accommodation needs set out in Table H6.1 above are over and above sites 
with consent, Site A does not contribute towards meeting the needs in Table H6.1.  The 
site is allocated for 5 pitches.

17 For example, Network Rail do not object to the allocation of Site A, provided there is no expansion and / 
or intensifi cation of the site; the police have not expressed any concern about the occupants of sites A-D.

Page 831



118 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

B. Land at Sugar Stubbs Lane, Banks

5.90 This is a longstanding site that received consent for one static caravan in 1993, but has 
since accommodated more caravans on site.  The land was redesignated as Flood Zone 
3 in 2015/16.  The 1993 permission remains extant.  The remainder of the site is allocated 
for 2 pitches, for touring caravans only, and must be subject to a site evacuation plan, 
approved by the local authority and any other relevant body.

C.  Land at Aveling Drive (West), Banks

5.91 This site lies within Flood Zone 3, and is allocated for 4 pitches, for touring caravans only.  
The site requires an approved site evacuation plan.

Page 832



119Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

D. Land at Aveling Drive (East), Banks

5.92 This site lies within Flood Zone 3, and is allocated for 1 pitch, for touring caravans only.    
The site requires an approved site evacuation plan.

E.  Land at Blackacre Lane, Ormskirk

5.93 This site is owned by Travellers is currently used for grazing horses.  The site could 
accommodate 6 pitches.

Page 833



120 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 Sites in Flood Zone 3

5.94 Sites B – D lie in Flood Zone 3, upon which national policy does not permit ‘highly 
vulnerable development’ such as static residential caravans.  ‘More vulnerable 
development’ such as holiday or short-let caravans is permissible, subject to a specifi c 
warning and evacuation plan.  Whilst occupation by Travellers is not strictly ‘holiday’ or 
‘short let’ use, it is arguable that occupation by Travellers who regularly move from the 
site is not dissimilar to a holiday-type use, and that Traveller caravans may be physically 
present on sites for fewer days per year than caravans in nearby ‘holiday sites’ (south of 
Banks) also situated in Flood Zone 3.  Moreover, as the Traveller Sites Technical Paper 
demonstrates, there are no other deliverable sites in the area to meet the accommodation 
needs of the Banks Traveller families, so the proposed site allocations are considered 
the best option.

 Travelling Showpeople accommodation

5.95 The 9 hectare site shown below is allocated for employment uses under policy EC2. 
However, Travelling Showpeople accommodation for local needs will be considered 
acceptable on part(s) of the site, subject to compliance with other relevant policies.  
Storage and maintenance of fairground equipment is not entirely dissimilar to certain 
business / industrial uses, and whilst such sites are not normally ideal for residential uses, 
Travelling Showpeople have indicated they would prefer to reside in such a location, 
close to their equipment.  (The alternative, to store and maintain equipment in primarily 
residential areas, or in open countryside, is not considered preferable.)  Furthermore, a 
business park location means that road access to the site will be suitable for the large 
vehicles associated with Travelling Showpeople.

F. Land west of Ringtail Road, Burscough

 

Page 834



121Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

Justifi cation for the criteria

 Broad Locations

5.96 Policy H6 is intended to direct Traveller development to areas where there is a need 
for such accommodation, as demonstrated by robust evidence.  As a fi rst recourse, the 
Council will rely on the fi ndings of the most up-to-date Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) covering West Lancashire.  Any planning application that departs 
from the fi ndings of the most up-to-date GTAA will require to be backed up by robust 
evidence justifying this departure, either an unequivocal demonstration of need in a 
different area, or a clear demonstration that no sites are realistically available within the 
GTAA-identifi ed areas of Traveller need.

5.97 In the light of the fi ndings of the 2017 West Lancashire GTAA:

• Permanent sites should be located in, or as close as reasonably possible to, the 
settlements of Skelmersdale, Scarisbrick or Banks;

• Land for Travelling Showpeople should be located within the Burscough area, or on 
the M58 corridor (Skelmersdale and South Eastern Parishes).

 Criteria

5.98 The criteria in Policy H6 above are based on national policy, as set out in the NPPF, and 
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS; August 2015)18 documents.  Regard has been 
had to the advice contained in the document Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Good 
Practice Guide (DCLG, May 2008), but, as this document has been revoked, less weight 
is attributed to criteria based solely on the Good Practice Guide.  

5.99 Policy H6 is intended to facilitate the traditional and nomadic life of Travellers whist 
respecting the interests of the settled community.  The policy aims to ensure that if a site 
is granted permission for Traveller development, its development maintains a suitable 
quality of life, both for residents of the site in question, and, equally, for those living or 
working in the vicinity of the site. Sites should have reasonable access to facilities and 
services, and should not cause an adverse impact on neighbouring residents or land 
uses.

5.100 The criteria set out in Policy H6 are similar to the criteria that have been used in the 
assessment of potential Traveller sites, as set out in the Traveller Sites Technical 
Paper.  The Technical Paper provides more specifi c detail as to the source of each site 

18  PPTS requires inter alia that a criteria based policy should be set out within Local Plans.

Page 835



122 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

assessment criterion.

5.101 With regard to the requirement in Policy H6 that sites lie outside Flood Zone 3, caravans 
intended for permanent residential use are defi ned as ‘highly vulnerable’ development 
in Table 2: Flood Risk Vulnerability Classifi cation (paragraph 66 of the Flood Risk and 
Coastal Change section) of PPG.  Table 3: Flood Risk Vulnerability and Flood Zone 
‘Compatibility’ (paragraph 67) states that ‘highly vulnerable’ development should not 
be permitted on sites within Flood Zone 3.  With regard to criterion (vi), if a site lies 
within Flood Zone 2, the site must be demonstrated to meet the Exception Test.  The 
allocation of caravans intended for non-permanent residential use, which are defi ned as 
‘more vulnerable’ in the PPG (Table 2, Para 66), in Flood Zone 2 are subject a specifi c 
warning and evacuation plan.  (Whilst sites B-D above are in Flood Zone 3, there are 
exceptional circumstances justifying this proposed allocation, as set out in the Traveller 
Sites Technical Paper.)

5.102 In relation to criterion (i), Traveller site development is by defi nition inappropriate in the 
Green Belt, and PPTS 2015 (paragraph 16) requires that very special circumstances be 
demonstrated in order for Traveller sites in the Green Belt to be judged acceptable.  It also 
advises that, subject to the best interests of the child, personal circumstances and unmet 
need for Traveller accommodation are unlikely to establish very special circumstances.

5.103 Criteria (ii), (vi), (vii), (ix) and (xi) seek to ensure that Traveller sites integrate as far as is 
reasonably possible with the local settled community, and with the surrounding natural 
and built environment.  National policy, as set out in the NPPF, is also applicable.  For 
example, with regard to heritage assets, NPPF paragraphs 195 and 196 are relevant, 
the primary consideration being whether or not there would be ‘substantial harm’ as a 
result of the proposed development.  With regard to nature conservation designations, 
the level of protection afforded to different sites is infl uenced by the sites’ particular 
designations.

5.104 Criteria (ii), (iii), (iv) and (ix) are intended to protect the occupants of sites from 
unacceptable adverse living conditions, and to protect those living near to sites from 
possible adverse impacts of Traveller site development.  These criteria do not necessarily 
rule out development if a site is subject to the particular issues specifi ed in the criteria.  For 
example, if existing residential development or existing authorised Traveller development 
is located equally close to the uses listed in criterion (iii), this will be taken into account 
when assessing proposals for new Traveller sites in the locality. It is necessary also to 
take into account the scope for mitigation measures, and whether the adverse impact 
from any uses set out in the criteria can be minimised to an acceptable level.

Page 836



123Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

5.105 Ensuring adequate highways access to Traveller sites is important (criterion (v)).  Whilst 
on a day-to-day basis, the sites are likely to be used by cars, vans and small lorries, there 
are also likely to be regular movements of touring caravans, and occasional movements 
of larger static caravans.  Travelling Showpeople sites are likely to be regularly accessed 
by articulated lorries and / or heavy goods vehicles carrying fairground rides.  The 
2008 Good Practice Guide advised that access onto Traveller sites should be readily 
achievable by regular or potential visitors to the site, including the emergency services.  
Similarly, easy movement through, or manoeuvres within, the site should be possible 
for typical Traveller vehicles, and the safety of [pedestrian] site occupants, including 
children, is an important consideration.  Whilst the Guide has been cancelled, its advice 
with regard to highways access is considered to remain relevant.  Access to Traveller 
sites should be achievable in such a way that highway safety and the free fl ow of traffi c 
are not compromised.  In the event of any planning application, the highway authority 
would be consulted as a matter of course.

5.106 In terms of criterion (x), whilst it is recognised that Travellers, by defi nition, are most 
likely to have ready access to motor vehicles, it is preferable, in terms of sustainable 
development, that Travellers also have the opportunity to access local services by 
sustainable modes of transport, such as walking, cycling, and public transport.  It is 
generally recognised, however, that most established (and legal) Traveller sites tend 
to be situated a short distance outside the nearest settlement, allowing for appropriate 
separation between the settled and travelling community.  As such, the accessibility 
distances set out in policy H6 (1.5km) are greater than those usually applied for ‘bricks 
and mortar’ residential development.  When considering accessibility by walking (i.e. 20 
minutes walking distance), the route taken on foot can differ from the highway-based 
route, for example using more direct public footpaths.

5.107 With regard to the screening of sites (criterion (xi)), careful attention should be paid 
to the nature of screening and how it relates to the character of the surrounding area.  
Close board and other fencing, or evergreen landscape planting may be appropriate in 
some areas, but not in others.  Sites on elevated or sloping ground are likely to be more 
diffi cult to screen appropriately.  For sites adjacent to developed areas, an acceptable 
balance needs to be struck taking into account the privacy of occupants and neighbours, 
the visual impact of screening (if it needs to be greater in height than on a more isolated 
site), and the general urban design principle of natural surveillance.

5.108 The Good Practice Guide stated that sites should consist of a maximum of 15 pitches 
unless there is clear evidence that a larger site is preferred by the Gypsy and Traveller 
Community.  At the lower end of the scale, having a minimum site threshold of 3 pitches

Page 837



124 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 (criterion (xii)) should result in fewer sites around the Borough, lessening the overall 
impact of providing for Traveller accommodation needs.  Having a maximum site size of 
15 pitches should reduce the possibility of individual sites dominating the nearest settled 
community.

5.109 Traveller sites in one local authority area can potentially impact neighbouring local 
authority areas (for example through use of services).  Any possible cross-boundary effects 
should be taken into account when assessing proposals for Traveller accommodation, 
in particular on sites close to the West Lancashire boundary. not been possible to fi nd 
suitable alternative sites, and in the overall balance, the sites proposed for allocation 
above are considered the most suitable.

Alternatives Considered

5.110 Different sites (e.g. avoiding Flood Zone 3)

 As set out in the Technical Paper, and in the policy justifi cation above, it has simply 

5.111 Do not allocate specifi c sites, but rely solely on a criteria-based policy

 This approach was judged unsound at the 2013 West Lancashire Local Plan Examination.  
The local authority is required to allocate specifi c deliverable sites.  Criteria can be used 
to assess speculative, or ‘windfall’ planning applications, but these must be in addition to 
site allocations.

5.112 Different criteria

 The justifi cation for the proposed criteria of policy H6 is set out in detail above.  The 
chosen criteria are considered the best in the circumstances, and there is not considered 
to be any reason to change them.

Page 838



125Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 

 

 Justifi cation

5.113 For many years, seasonal agricultural workers, including workers from overseas, have 
been employed on farms in West Lancashire. Whilst the infl ux of migrant agricultural 
/ horticultural workers has declined in recent years, there remains a requirement for a 
policy to address accommodation for these workers, should a need emerge over the 
course of the Plan period.

5.114 Whereas in the past, the caravans housing these workers may have been placed within 
and / or between the farm buildings, new sites can often be highly visible and some 
are near to residential properties. Permanent buildings or caravans kept on site for a 

Policy H7: Accommodation for Temporary Agricultural / Horticultural 
Workers

The reuse of existing buildings within village settlements and the Green Belt for accommodation 
for temporary agricultural and / or horticultural workers will be permitted provided that it 
complies with other policy in this Local Plan and national Green Belt policy. The provision 
of non-permanent accommodation, appropriate to both the identifi ed need and the location, 
will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:

I. there is a requirement to provide accommodation to satisfy a clearly identifi ed need for 
temporary agricultural / horticultural workers;

II. ithere are no existing buildings in the locality which are suitable, or capable of being 
made suitable, for accommodating temporary workers;

III. ithe site chosen is the most suitable in the locality, taking into account other policies In 
this Local Plan;

IV. any impact on visual amenity, residential amenity, highway safety, landscape, wildlife 
and countryside character is minimised to an acceptable level; and

V. proposals include measures to protect the character of the local area, including retention 
of existing trees and hedges, implementation of landscape planting, improvement of any 
damaged or derelict land involved and improvement of boundary treatments.

In all cases of non-permanent accommodation, the permission will be subject to a time-
limiting condition of fi ve years from the date of the accommodation being sited on the site 
or the dateIof the planning permission, whichever is the earlier, unless the evidence of need 
demonstrates that a shorter time-limited condition is warranted.

Page 839



126 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

number of months can reduce the open character 
of the Green Belt and / or Protected Land, and 
can have an adverse impact on the landscape 
and the amenity of local residents.  Policy H7 
is thus required, both to assist in supporting a 
healthy rural economy, and to protect the natural 
environment and rural character of the Borough 
from inappropriate agricultural / horticultural 
workers’ accommodation developments.

5.115 National policy requires that local plan policies 
address the needs of groups with specifi c housing 
requirements.  The policy context for, and the 
needs of, temporary agricultural / horticultural 
workers has barely changed over the past 20 
years.  Consequently, policy H7 is essentially the 
same as Policy RS5 in the West Lancashire Local 
Plan 2012-2027 (and its predecessor, policy DE8 
of the West Lancashire Replacement Local Plan) and the same justifi cation remains.  

5.116 In past years agricultural and horticultural employers have found it increasingly diffi cult 
to recruit suffi cient numbers of temporary workers, especially at periods of peak activity, 
owing to a lack of suitable and affordable accommodation in the rural areas. The farmers 
have advised that this constrains their ability to meet domestic demand and some export 
markets, so opening up the UK to imports.

5.117 The majority of seasonal and casual workers have come from one or more of the 
following:

• Workers recruited direct by the farmers;
• Workers supplied by gang-masters;
• Students seeking part-time or vacation work;
• The Seasonal Agricultural Workers Scheme (now terminated); and the working 

holiday arrangements.

5.118 Although some temporary accommodation will not require planning permission, in most 
cases permission will be required. Operators should always check with the Council’s 
planning department, but planning permission is usually required in the following cases:

Page 840



127Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

• If the workers will be housed for longer than a normal planting, growing, or picking 
season;

• If caravans and other related buildings (e.g. canteens and toilets) are to be kept on 
site permanently;

• If a change of use to an existing building is involved; or
• If hardstandings and permanent services (e.g. water supply or septic tank) need to 

be constructed.

5.119 The Council has produced Supplementary Planning Guidance on Accommodation for 
Temporary Agricultural Workers.  Whilst this SPG refers to an older policy, its fundamental 
principles remain relevant to the implementation of this policy, and may be a useful guide 
in relation to preparing or evaluating specifi c proposals for temporary accommodation.

 Alternatives Considered

5.120 Have no policy on temporary workers

 As stated above, it is considered important to have a policy to guide proposals for 
accommodation, should the need arise over the plan period, in order to facilitate the rural 
economy but at the same time to protect the natural environment and rural character of 
the Borough from inappropriate developments.

5.121 Have a more relaxed policy

 It is considered the policy is suffi ciently fl exible as it stands.  To relax it further would 
be to change the balance between supporting the rural economy and protecting the 
environment and character of the rural areas.

Page 841



128 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

Policy H8: Viability Appraisals on Residential Developments

On sites allocated under Policy H2, development proposals will be expected to meet all 
policy requirements and developer contributions set out in the Local Plan and associated 
SPDs, and viability appraisals will, as a general rule, not be accepted at application stage.  By 
exception, if viability circumstances in relation to a given allocation have changed substantially 
since the adoption of the Local Plan a viability appraisal will be considered as part of the 
application process if that signifi cant change in circumstances can be evidenced.  However, 
land value will not be accepted as a justifi cation for deviation from policy requirements.

For other, windfall residential developments, a viability appraisal will be considered as part 
of the application process where it can be evidenced that meeting the policy requirements 
in this Local Plan and other development contributions would make development unviable.  
Such evidence must include a land value which takes account of the policy requirements 
of this Local Plan, any abnormal constraints to development on the site and recent land 
transactions of comparable sites in West Lancashire.

In the above circumstances only a viability assessment may be submitted to accompany 
a planning application so that the Council can have regard to evidence submitted by the 
applicant and consider whether any fl exibility in planning policy requirements / obligations is 
justifi ed.  This evidence should include the option agreement or conditional contract  between 
the applicant and the landowner. 

This evidence must also refer back to the Local Plan Viability Assessment prepared by the 
Council  that informed the Local Plan Review and clearly demonstrate what has changed 
since this assessment was undertaken to now make a policy compliant development unviable 
on that site.

In most circumstances the Council will seek advice from specialist consultants to review the 
viability assessment and the full cost of that will be borne by the applicant.

All viability assessments must be prepared in line with PPG for Viability or any subsequent 
related guidance, including the standardised inputs to viability assessments required in 
that guidance and the residual land valuation methodology. In this approach local plan 
requirements are included alongside other development costs, which are deducted from the 
gross development value to determine the residual value that is available to pay for land.  
The assessment should include the following information:

Page 842



129Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

I. Benchmark land value.  The preferred methodology is ‘existing use value plus a premium.  
The value should refl ect all planning compliant planning obligations and any site 
specifi c costs including any abnormal costs and site specifi c fees.(Where recent market 
transactions are used to inform the assessment of benchmark land value, there should 
be evidence that these transactions were based on a policy compliant development in 
line with this Local Plan)

II. Estimated development / build costs supported by either up to date Building Construction 
Information Service (BCIS) costs, tender costs or full QS schedule to include a specifi ed 
contingency, any preliminary costs, and contract related fees.

III. Abnormal costs including those associated with treatment for contaminated sites, or 
listed buildings, or costs associated with brownfi eld, phased or complex sites.   These 
abnormal costs must be taken into account when defi ning benchmark land value.

IV. Purchase process (e.g. private treaty, open market bid, auction, etc.) and purchase 
costs including legal and agents fees.

V. Professional fees presented under respective headings.

VI. Community Infrastructure Levy/S106 costs.

VII. Estimated residential sales or rental values with supporting evidence including schedule 
of unit fl oor areas, room types, number of bedrooms / bedspaces and principal features 
(i.e. balcony, views, facilities, car parking etc.) and / or estimated commercial yields with 
supporting evidence including gross / net internal fl oors area and any principal features.

VIII. Estimated profi t/developers target returns.

IX. Value/cost of any affordable/specialist housing provision and where relevant calculations 
of any commuted sum.

X. Executive summary – a clear statement that summarises the key fi ndings of the 
assessment.

Gross development value may be total sales and/or capitalised net rental income from 
developments.  Details of any grants or other external sources of funding should be factored 
in.

Page 843



130 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

 

 Justifi cation

5.122 The NPPF says that viability assessments at the decision making stage should not be 
necessary.   Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states “Where up-to-date policies have set out 
the contributions expected from development, planning applications that comply with 
them should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether 
particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the application 
stage.’’ 

5.123 In line with PPG a comprehensive Local Plan Viability Assessment (LPVA) is being 
undertaken to assess whether proposed site allocations and policies within the Local 
Plan Review are viable.  This assessment will be sensitive to geographical differences 
in land and property values.  It is anticipated that the results of this assessment will 
demonstrate that the cumulative impact of the Local Plan policies does not make the 
Local Plan unviable.

The gross development value should be calculated based on market evidence from either 
the actual site (if available) or using comparable’s from existing developments in similar 
locations or discussions with future occupiers, including rents and lease arrangements.  
An adjustment can be made to ensure an appropriate comparison to take into account 
variations in use, form, scale, location rents and yields, having regard to outliers but this 
must be clearly explained.   Transactions or market data should be up to date (from at least 
within the last six months as far as possible), within an appropriate distance from the site, 
and relate to new build properties (or conversions where relevant).

Valuations using up to date standard viability models such as: the Homes England (HE) 
Development Appraisal tool and the development software ARGUS Developer, will be 
acceptable provided that all required information is set out and is supported by an appropriate 
cash fl ow analysis. A live version of the appraisal should be provided. This information should 
be provided to the Local Authority in its entirety.

Applicants should be aware that the Viability Assessment will be made publically available 
in the same manner as all other documents that form part of the planning application 
submission.

All viability evidence must be robustly justifi ed and appraisal assumptions should be 
benchmarked against publicly available data sources.

Page 844



131Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

5.124 As such Viability Assessments in 
relation to allocated sites at application 
stage will only be considered where 
circumstances have fundamentally and 
substantially changed since the LPVA 
was undertaken or, alternatively, if the 
site in question is a “windfall” site and 
therefore was not included within the 
original LPVA and does not match one of 
the generic development assessments 
used in the study.

5.125 In those instances where the Council agrees that a site-specifi c viability appraisal should 
be submitted with an application, in order to assess whether a case for not meeting the 
policy requirements is justifi ed and reasonable and in line with the national planning 
requirements, the Council will require applicants to submit a full, un-redacted viability 
assessment at the time of submission of the planning application.  This will be made 
public.  

5.126 PPG, insofar as it relates to viability, advises that any viability assessment should follow 
the government’s recommended approach to defi ning key inputs and assessing key 
factors as set out in PPG and be proportionate, simple, transparent and publicly available.  
It also advises that where a viability assessment accompanies a planning application the 
price paid for land is not relevant justifi cation for failing to accord with relevant policies in 
the plan. 

5.127 The government advocates the Existing Use Value Plus (EUV+) approach to determining 
benchmark land value.  This means that land value equates to the existing use value 
plus a premium for the landowners to incentivise the release of the land for development.  
To determine the premium, PPG encourages comparable analysis of similar recently 
transacted sites that have been granted planning permission in accordance with the 
relevant policies.    The emphasis here should be on the ‘similar’ sites, i.e. sites where 
all aspects of the development, including policy requirements, are similar.

5.128 PPG also states that ‘’The cost of complying with policy requirements should be accounted 
for in the benchmark land value’’.  

5.129 The PPG is clear that ‘’in all cases, benchmark land value should:

Page 845



132 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 5: HOUSING POLICIES

• Fully refl ect the total cost of all relevant policy requirements including planning 
obligations and, where applicable, any CIL charge;

• Fully refl ect the total cost; site-specifi c infrastructure costs; and professional site 
fees;

• Allow for a premium to landowners (including equity resulting from those building 
their own homes; and 

• Be informed by comparable market evidence of current uses, costs and values 
wherever possible.  Where recent market transactions are used to inform assessment 
of benchmark land value there should be evidence that these transactions were 
based on policy complaint development.  This is so that previous prices based on 
non-policy compliant developments are not used to infl ate values over time.’’  

 Alternatives Considered

5.130 Making all applications accord with policy requirements and relying entirely on the Local 
Plan Viability Assessment to assess the viability of applications.

 Although the Local Plan Viability Assessment is a robust assessment of the Local Plan it 
is important that the Council remains suffi ciently fl exible to prevent development coming 
forward when circumstances change from when the LPVA was undertaken.  

5.131 Having a less prescriptive policy and instead relying upon advice within the NPPF and 
PPG for Viability.

 National guidance in relation to the requirements for viability assessments is quite 
prescriptive, however, this guidance would not clearly demonstrate when a viability 
assessment is required or refer to the specifi c policy areas where we will accept a viability 
assessment to be submitted alongside a planning application.   

Page 846



133Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

Chapter 6: Infrastructure and Services 
Policies

Policy IF1: Strategic Transport Infrastructure

I. Location, Design and Management of New Development

Development will be permitted where it has been demonstrated that:

a. it would provide safe and adequate pedestrian, cycle and vehicular access to, from 
and within the development and would not materially add to highway safety concerns 
or reduce effi ciency of the network; 

b. it would not sever or remove existing transport infrastructure, particularly that relating 
to walking, cycling and public transport unless an alternative link of at least equal 
function and quality would be provided;  

c. where it would have an adverse impact on the existing highway network, appropriate 
mitigation would be provided including contributing towards on or off site infrastructure; 
and 

d. relevant criteria of Policy SD1 (Designing Sustainable Layouts) are met.

Transport Assessments and Travel Plans will be required for all development proposals that 
will generate a signifi cant level of movements.

II. Transport Infrastructure

The Council will support the delivery of, and not allow development which could prejudice 
the delivery of, the following schemes:

a. a new rail station serving Skelmersdale, including new track and electrifi cation of 
existing track as appropriate;

b. a new relocated or renovated bus station for Skelmersdale town centre;
c. electrifi cation of the railway line between Ormskirk and Burscough;
d. an appropriate rail link made between the Ormskirk-Preston line and Southport-

Wigan line;
e. implementation of measures in Ormskirk to improve the highway network, particularly 

in and around the town centre;

Page 847



134 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

f. the redevelopment of Ormskirk bus station, including providing improved linkages 
with Ormskirk railway station;

g. any sustainable travel improvements associated with access to the Edge Hill 
University campus on St Helens Road, Ormskirk;

h. any potential park and ride schemes associated with public transport connections;
i. any proposals for improved cycle and footpath routes in the Council’s Green 

Infrastructure and Cycling Strategy, including the West Lancashire Wheel and the 
provision of 4 linear parks between Ormskirk and Skelmersdale, Ormskirk and 
Burscough, Tarleton and Hesketh Bank and along the former railway line at Banks;

j. on and off site highway infrastructure required in connection with planned new 
garden village developments to the west and south-west of Skelmersdale and new 
development to the south-east of Ormskirk and Aughton; 

k. the proposed Simonswood bypass;
l. the proposed Green Lane Link Road in Tarleton; and

Major transport schemes listed above, including new rail infrastructure, will have regard to 
biodiversity and must provide appropriate mitigation measures as recommended in Policy 
GI3.

Decisions relating to developments adjacent to, or affecting, rail lines (including those 
resulting in a material increase or change of character of the traffi c using a rail crossing) will 
have regard to the views of Network Rail.

III. Parking Standards

Proposals for residential development will be required to meet the following standards for 
car parking provision and communal cycling and disabled parking provision for visitors:

Type of 
Development

Number of Parking 
Spaces (per 
dwelling)

Cycle Parking 
Provision

Disabled Parking 
Provision

Dwellings with 1 
bedroom

1 1 communal space 
per 5 dwellings

1 space per 10 
dwellings

Page 848



135Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

Dwellings with 2-3 
bedrooms

2 1 communal space 
per 5 dwellings

1 space per 10 
dwellings

Dwellings with 4+ 
bedrooms

3 1 communal space 
per 5 dwellings

1 space per 10 
dwellings

*in developments with communal parking only

For apartment developments a minimum of 1 cycle parking space per 2 dwellings should be 
provided in a secure, covered location for use by residents.

Parking standards for non-residential developments are set out within Appendix B. 
Proposals for provision above or below the recommended parking standards should be 
supported by evidence detailing the local circumstances that justify a deviation from the 
policy. These local circumstances will include:

a. the location of the development – urban / rural, within walking or easy cycling distance 
of a range of services and facilities;

b. the proposed use;
c. levels of local parking provision, and any local parking congestion issues;
d. the distance to public transport facilities, and the quality (frequency / reliability 

/ connection to main routes or interchanges) of the public transport provision in 
question;

e. the quality of provision for cyclists: cycle parking, dedicated cycling facilities, access 
points to site, quality of design and provision;

f. the quality of provision for pedestrians; and
g. evidence of local parking congestion.

Consideration will be given to allowing proposed developments to share car parking spaces 
where these joint developments have communal car parks and where it can be demonstrated 
that the different uses have peaks of usage that do not coincide.

4) Electric Vehicle Recharging Points and Reducing Transport Emissions

Electric Vehicle Recharging (EVR) points will be required for all types of new developments 
that require parking provision. Where a Transport Assessment, a Transport Statement or a 
Travel Plan is required (as advised in the NPPF), a Low Emission Strategy statement should 
be integrated within this work, explaining actions for carbon reductions and reductions in 
toxic air pollutant emissions. 

Page 849



136 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

 Justifi cation

6.1 Policy IF1 supports the preferred development strategy identifi ed by Policies SP1 and 
SP2 by seeking to ensure that new developments are well located in relation to existing 
transport infrastructure whilst delivering new infrastructure where and when required, 
ensuring safety, improving sustainable forms of transport to reduce carbon emissions 
and providing mitigation as appropriate. Principle transport objectives include to:

 manage the environmental impact of transport through suitable mitigation and design, 
including the use of Manual for Streets principles;

 reduce transport emissions by encouraging greater usage of sustainable modes of 
transport;

 reduce congestion in the Borough’s key service centres, particularly Burscough and 
Ormskirk;

 improve community health and well-being by providing for alternative means of transport 
such as walking and cycling and associated infrastructure. 

 prepare and actively promote travel plans for all new developments in accordance with 

The minimum provision of parking bays and charging points for electric vehicles in new 
developments will be as follows:

All dwelling houses with at least one
off-street parking space or garage
space integral to the curtilage of the
property:

One charging point per house.

All residential properties served by
communal parking areas for the use
of those properties only:

At least one or 10% (whichever is greater) 
of parking spaces must be marked out for 
use by electric vehicles only, together with 
an adequate charging infrastructure and 
cabling for each marked bay

All other development: At least one or 10% (whichever is greater) 
of parking spaces must be marked out for 
use by electric vehicles only, together with 
an adequate charging infrastructure and 
cabling for each marked bay

Page 850



137Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

DfT guidance;
 improve public transport and support and implement innovative rural transport initiatives 

where appropriate; and
 support the shift towards new technologies and fuels by promoting low carbon travel 

choices and encouraging the development of ultra-low carbon / electric vehicles and 
associated infrastructure.

6.2 The Council will work with neighbouring authorities and transport providers to achieve 
these objectives.

 Transport Infrastructure

6.3 There are a wide range of transport schemes 
to be delivered during the Plan period which 
have been derived from evidence that includes 
the West Lancashire Highways and Transport 
Master Plan, the Lancashire Local Transport 
Plan 2011-21, West Lancashire Route 
Management Strategy, West Lancashire Green 
Infrastructure and Cycling Strategy and the 
Ormskirk Town Centre Movement Strategy.

6.4 Skelmersdale and surrounds is identifi ed as 
the main location for new development and is 
a regeneration priority area. The town is the 
second largest in the North West after Leigh to 
have no direct access to a railway station. The 
Council is continuing to work with Lancashire 
County Council and Merseytravel to investigate 
the delivery of a new rail station and rail link 
to Skelmersdale off the Kirkby-Wigan line, with 
the current preferred station location adjoining 
the town centre at the location of the former 
Glenburn and West Bank High Schools. This would give direct access to Liverpool, 
Wigan and Manchester, allow interchange with buses and provide access to jobs, 
education and training as well as higher order retail and cultural facilities 

6.5 Although Burscough has two rail stations, one on each of the Southport to Wigan and 
Ormskirk to Preston lines, connectivity between these two routes is poor. There is an 
aspiration to reinstate the Burscough Curves and to electrify the line from Ormskirk to 

Page 851



138 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

allow connectivity between lines and improve accessibility of Burscough to Liverpool and 
Ormskirk to Southport and Wigan, hence the safeguarding of land on the Policies Map. 
Burscough currently experiences congestion along the A59 through the town centre 
which is planned to be addressed by traffi c calming. 

6.6 The road network in Ormskirk suffers from major problems of congestion along the A59 
and A570, particularly around the town centre with adverse impacts upon air quality 
and safety. Moor Street is identifi ed as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) which 
indicates that it is currently identifi ed as being at risk of exceeding an air quality objective. 
The Council has been working with Lancashire County Council to identify improvements 
to circulation which could reduce congestion and improve journey time reliability. The 
town’s bus station will be redeveloped and the link with Ormskirk rail station improved to 
encourage greater usage and help reduced congestion.

6.7 North-south highway links in the Borough are generally better developed than east-
west ones which rely upon the A5209 towards junction 27 of the M6 and the A565/ A59 
towards Preston. East-west network resilience therefore requires further investigation. 

6.8 The West Lancashire Green 
Infrastructure and Cycling 
Strategy seeks to facilitate 
delivery of a comprehensive 
cycle network across the 
Borough including new 
and improved links. This 
will involve the Borough 
and County Councils and 
accessing a number of funding 
sources including developer 
contributions. A key element 
of the Strategy involves the 
delivery of a ‘West Lancashire Wheel’ which would be a connected on and off road route 
between Ormskirk, Burscough, Parbold and Skelmersdale. This includes the delivery 
of linear parks along the disused railway line linking Ormskirk and Skelmersdale and 
between Ormskirk and Burscough. Two further linear parks are planned along the banks 
of the River Douglas between Hesketh Bank and Tarleton and along the former railway 
line in Banks

6.9 Government policy requires transport assessments to be prepared in relation to proposals 
that could have a signifi cant transport impact. For major developments the assessment 

Page 852



139Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

must look at the accessibility of the site by all modes of transport and include the likely 
modal split of journeys. It should also give details of the proposed alternative means of 
transport, for example measures to improve accessibility by public transport, walking 
and cycling and to reduce the need for parking. For smaller schemes the plan should 
simply outline the transport impacts of the development. 

 Car Parking Standards

6.10 The provision of parking facilities can have major impacts upon an area with benefi ts 
including helping to promote the vitality and viability of town centres, attracting businesses 
to an area, and reducing congestion. On-street parking can add to congestion by hindering 
traffi c movement, and can present a potential danger for pedestrians, cyclists and other 
road users; therefore the provision of off-street parking is usually desirable. A balance is 
required between providing adequate levels of parking, and helping encourage a modal 
shift towards more sustainable forms of transport.

6.11 Locally-specifi c parking standards were set by the West Lancashire Local Plan DPD 
2012-27 in order to deal with the Borough’s specifi c parking-related issues. They are 
based upon those proposed by the Partial Review of the Regional Spatial Strategy, with 
some additions and modifi cations, and were largely agreed across authorities (including 
those in Lancashire). The standards include provision of parking for disabled drivers, as 
well as cyclists. Levels of accessibility can vary signifi cantly between the Borough’s Key 
Service Centres to rural villages and other areas and the parking standards refl ect this 
by containing two accessibility categories (A and B):

 Accessibility Area A – Non-metropolitan Key Service Centres (Skelmersdale with Up 
Holland, Ormskirk with Aughton and Burscough).

 Accessibility Area B – All other areas, including key sustainable villages, rural sustainable 
villages and small rural villages.

 Electric Vehicle Recharging Points and Reducing Transport Emissions

6.12 West Lancashire is committed to reducing carbon emissions and, in particular, to 
reducing emissions caused through transport. As well as seeking to encourage walking 
and cycling the Council remains committed to introducing electric vehicle recharging 
points to facilitate low carbon travel.

6.13 The introduction of Electric Vehicle Recharging (EVR) points is an important way of 
reducing road transport emissions, which are the third biggest source of carbon 

Page 853



140 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

emissions nationally. Although there are different types of low emissions vehicles on the 
road electric vehicles have several advantages which include:

• They produce no vehicle exhaust or carbon emissions at the point of use as they run 
off batteries and electric motors.

• They use energy in a far more effi cient way than standard engines.
• They have the potential to be zero-emission vehicles if powered by renewable 

electricity, and create almost no noise.

6.14 EVR points are being rolled out across the North West region and the Country as a 
whole and in most cases a domestic 13a socket fi xed to an internal/external wall should 
cost less than £100 (based on 2011 prices).

6.15 A Low Emissions Strategy statement can provide a package of measures to help mitigate 
the transport impacts of development by encouraging the accelerated uptake of cleaner 
fuels and technologies in and around a development. They can complement other design 
and mitigation options, such as travel planning.

6.16 In order to support the development of the LES statement, information on the types 
of mitigation measures and low emission technologies technical guidelines are 
available for applicants online at www.lowemissionsstrategies.org and toolkits at www.
lowemissionhub.org/. These will help assess the amount of transport emissions resulting 
from the proposed development and the costs, effects and benefi ts from adopting low 
emission fuels, technologies and infrastructure.

6.17 This policy is in line with the NPPF which states that developments should be located 
and designed where practical to incorporate facilities for charging plug-in and other ultra-
low emissions vehicles.

Page 854



141Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

 Alternatives Considered

6.18 A transport policy is required as there are a number of infrastructure projects that will 
be needed to enable future development, including land that needs to be identifi ed and 
safeguarded. Alternatives are:

6.19 A policy without location, design and management of new development principles

 Such an approach would follow that of the adopted Local Plan. However, given the scale 
of development proposed by strategic policies in the new Local Plan it is considered that 
establishing development principles in relation to transportation is desirable in order to 
set a development management framework for dealing with future planning applications. 

 A reasonable alternative would be to provide a separate and expanded policy dealing 
with development principles in relation to transport along with a further policy which 
identifi es future required transport infrastructure.

6.20 A separate policy prioritising walking, cycling and public transport

 Whilst the current preferred policy includes a criteria to optimise the use of sustainable 
modes of transport in the locality including walking, cycling and public transport it would 
be possible to include a stand-alone policy given the need to promote modes of transport 
other than private vehicles. This could include prioritising use of, protecting and enhancing 
walking and cycling routes, public rights of way, bridleways and public transport including 
reference to a Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan. However, the preferred 
policy approach is pragmatic, recognising that the rural nature of the Borough means 
that private transport is sometimes the only reasonable means of travel.

6.21 A policy with no requirement for electric vehicle recharging points

 Such an approach would be unambitious given the presence of a requirement for 
EVR points in the adopted Local Plan and the policy shift from the NPPF of taking into 
account an overall need to reduce the use of high-emission vehicles to the draft NPPF’s 
requirement to take account of the need to ensure adequate provision of spaces for 
charging plug in and ultra-low emission vehicles if setting local parking standards.   

Page 855



142 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

Policy IF2: Community Facilities

Provision of new facilities

Development proposals for new community facilities will be encouraged to create fl exible 
and adaptable buildings which can accommodate multi-purpose uses and integrated service 
provision (such as community hubs).  Facilities should be convenient and well-located in 
areas which have good access by pedestrian, cycle or public transport links, or which are 
able to provide signifi cant improvements to sustainable transportation links through the 
proposal. 

Priority will be given to the location of community facilities within, or adjoining, existing 
service centres.  Proposals for any out-of-centre locations should be able to demonstrate 
overriding community, amenity and environmental benefi ts arising from locating that facility 
there in comparison with existing service centres in the surrounding area. 

Proposals for strategic development should ensure all necessary community facilities, 
required to respond to any increase in need arising directly from that development, can 
be appropriately delivered. This should be delivered on-site or should make the necessary 
fi nancial contributions through planning obligations (CIL/S106). The funding of such 
community facilities through S106/CIL may include, but not be limited to, health, education, 
leisure facilities and libraries. 

Existing facilities

The loss of community facilities will be resisted unless it can be suffi ciently demonstrated, 
through appropriate evidence, that they no longer provide a value for the community, are not 
fi nancially viable or can be relocated locally elsewhere in a suitable and accessible location.  
Such evidence may include market data or local community consultation. 

Where it is demonstrated an existing community use is not viable, preference will be 
given to change of use or redevelopment to alternative community uses before other uses 
are considered. Support will be given to the diversifi cation and consolidation of existing 
community facilities (for example a public house accommodating a post offi ce). 

Evidence should demonstrate all reasonable efforts have been made to preserve the facility 
and explain why it would not be viable, feasible or practical to retain the facility and show 
that the property/site has been robustly and transparently marketed with no interest.

Page 856



143Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

 Justifi cation

6.22 Community facilities are essential to support strong, vibrant and healthy local communities, 
with accessible services that refl ect local people’s needs.  

6.23 Community infrastructure includes health (GPs, health centres, clinics), education 
(schools, training), social (religious, childcare, youth clubs, advice centres, community 
centres, public houses), cultural (libraries, museums), retail and leisure. Such facilities 
serve a variety of important economic and social purposes, including promoting health 
and wellbeing and community cohesion; reducing social disparities and inequalities; 
reducing social isolation; providing education, training and skills; reducing the need for 
travel and supporting the local economy.  Therefore it is important to plan positively to 
protect the sustainability of community resources.

6.24 New development can place pressure and demand on existing facilities and services 
and therefore should be encouraged to contribute to the provision of new or improved 
community infrastructure in order to actively promote sustainable communities. Equally, 
it is necessary to protect against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, 
especially where this would reduce a community’s ability to meet its day to day needs 
by removing those functions that they rely upon.  Both these aspects need to be 
balanced against the ever-changing needs and demands of modern society, together 
with evolving technologies, which change how we interact and access services.  It is 
therefore important to have adaptable policies that can respond fl exibly to challenges 
and opportunities relating to the provision of community facilities. 

6.25 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) identifi es the existing infrastructure in West 
Lancashire, what gaps exist and what will be required to support development. Along 
with other evidence sources, a number of disparities and inequalities are shown to exist 
across the Borough – including health, schools and access to leisure facilities.  The 
Local Plan plays an important role in working to ‘narrow the gap’ of these inequalities by 
trying to ensure the right services are provided in the right locations to address specifi c 
needs. 

6.26 Cumulative or large-scale development can create additional demand for facilities and 
increase pressure on existing facilities. Community facilities are typically non-profi t making 
and are vulnerable to cost-cutting, particularly those funded by the public-sector, which 
means they are susceptible to loss. In addition, the development of new technologies will 
encourage more services to become digital (for example, an increase in online service 
provision) and modernisation offers new methods of service delivery.  Policy therefore 
needs to be adaptable and fl exible to changing needs and challenges.  To minimise costs 

Page 857



144 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

and maximise the effi ciency of land/buildings, policy should encourage the development 
of shared spaces, with buildings providing more than one community use. The provision 
and protection of community facilities should enable the various needs of different age 
groups and socially and culturally diverse communities to be met.  Digital connectivity 
should be adopted. 

6.27 As the Settlement Study 
illustrates, the majority of 
community services are 
concentrated in the main towns 
and key sustainable areas of 
the Borough, with more limited 
provision in the rural areas.   
Rural areas are particularly 
vulnerable because, by their 
very nature, they tend to 
be more isolated with poor 
transport connections. Rural 
areas also tend to have smaller 
numbers of residents with which to support community services.  The protection of viable 
community services from development, particularly in rural areas, is therefore important 
for those local communities that rely upon them and that may fi nd accessing services 
elsewhere diffi cult.  

 
6.28 Subsequently, the policy aims to promote the provision of community facilities, where 

they are easily accessible by public transport and located within the community they 
are intended to serve. The loss of community facilities will be resisted unless the loss is 
unavoidable and equivalent facilities can be found elsewhere in the local area, or it can 
be demonstrated that the facilities are no longer required.  Evidence, which may include 
the results of public consultation in those areas with the potential to be impacted by 
the loss of facilities, should be provided to demonstrate that community facilities are no 
longer required or supported. 

6.29 Planning for the provision of community facilities is an ongoing process and the Council 
will continue to work with infrastructure providers and developers.  Developers should 
identify and respond to community needs and pro-actively engage with the Local Planning 
Authority and infrastructure providers through the development management process. 

6.30 Proposals for signifi cant development should ensure that all necessary community 
facilities, required to respond to any increase in need arising directly from that development, 

Page 858



145Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

can be appropriately delivered. This should be delivered on-site or make necessary 
fi nancial contributions through planning obligations (site-specifi c needs).  Community 
facility needs arising from general development may be deliverable using funds raised 
through the Community Infrastructure Levy. 

 Alternatives Considered
 
6.31 A policy that provides general guidance but detail in relation to specifi c development 

sites or infrastructure types. 

 This would be a prescriptive approach which would tighten control on community 
facilities for certain sites and infrastructure types whilst retaining fl exibility for the rest 
of the Borough. It could, in theory, do more to tackle disparities across the Borough. 
However, for those reasons set out above, community facilities must serve local need, 
and the nature and demand for those needs varies, as does fi nancial viability. It would 
therefore be more appropriate to let the market and community need dictate when and 
where community facilities should be delivered, with a fl exible policy to then guide that 
delivery. 

6.32 A detailed policy by each settlement area, or infrastructure type, including what should 
be provided and protected. 

 As with the policy option considered, this would be a prescriptive approach to tighten 
control on delivery but would be infl exible to changing needs and costs. 

Policy IF3: Communications Development

The Council will support the provision and improvement of telecommunication and broadband 
infrastructure providing that the proposals accord with paragraph 112 and 113 of the NPPF 
and the following criteria are achieved:

• Providers should explore any possibility of sharing existing facilities within the locality 
to minimise disruption, reduce installation costs and increase the viability of service 
provision. Where appropriate, providers should demonstrate there is no possibility of 
sharing existing facilities within the locality when making planning applications. New 
and upgraded telecommunications capability should be encouraged to be located on 
existing existing masts, buildings and structures.

Page 859



146 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

 
 Justifi cation

6.33 Telecommunications and broadband (internet) are now essential parts of modern life. 
Those areas which have poor telecommunication connections will fi nd themselves at 
an economic and social disadvantage compared to those areas with good connections. 
In particular, rural communities often suffer the most from poor access and/or slow 
broadband speeds. Communications technology is rapidly evolving and the Council must 
ensure there is suffi cient fl exibility to accommodate and future-proof communications 
development for the benefi t of businesses, residents and visitors. To reduce disparity, 
and encourage growth and improvement to telecommunications infrastructure, the 
Council will support, in principle, proposals which seek to facilitate such growth and 
improvement providing that such proposals are appropriately sited and designed to 
minimise the impact on the locality, including landscape, character and setting.

6.34 Digital technology is essential not only for economic growth but also for social inclusion. 
It is well recognised that businesses and service providers are increasingly moving 
to provide online services as digital by default and, as a result, those without internet 
access or strong broadband and mobile connections are at risk of being disenfranchised, 
particularly in areas like health care. By supporting the provision of high speed internet 
connections, it allows residents and businesses to access important services online. 

6.35 Furthermore, access to broadband and mobile communication can help to improve 
accessibility to services by reducing the need to travel to access those services, for 
example online banking. There are also indications that the internet can be benefi cial, 
particularly for the elderly, in alleviating loneliness and social isolation, although the 
cost of provision can also be prohibitive/ and those who suffer social disadvantages 
can then be least likely to benefi t from the technology that can help them tackle their 
disadvantage19 . Ensuring that broadband access is equitable across the Borough is at 
least one step towards reducing such disparities.

6.36 The NPPF states that local planning authorities should support the expansion of electronic 
communication networks, and the Building (Amendment) Regulations 2016 require, from 
1 January 2017, all new buildings to have the necessary physical infrastructure inside 

19 Age UK Digital Inclusion Evidence Review 2013

• Proposals for new infrastructure should identify how any adverse impacts on the 
environment and communities have been minimised and make provision for appropriate 
mitigation where adverse impacts cannot be avoided.

Page 860



147Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

the house to enable superfast broadband. There is no obligation on local authorities to 
include broadband in the planning process. However, we recognise the importance of 
digital communication infrastructure and will encourage fast broadband provision. 

6.37 The NPPF encourages full fi bre broadband and next generation mobile technology to 
support economic growth and social wellbeing. The Council will require all new major 
developments to provide fast fi bre broadband.  With regard to electronic communications, 
evidence must be submitted with planning applications and prior notifi cations to justify the 
proposed development, including relevant consultation, exposure levels and locational 
considerations. 

6.38 The Councils Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) recognises that there are, at the time of 
writing, low broadband speeds and a poor reliability of supply in rural areas, particular in 
Banks, Mere Brow, Downholland and Westhead.  Speeds in Ashurst and Pimbo are not 
as fast as elsewhere in the Borough. Next Generation, Ultra Fast Broadband, is available 
in some parts of West Lancashire, including areas on the periphery (Wigan, Southport), 
but is not available in the three main towns where most of the Borough’s homes and 
businesses are located.  Nine exchanges in West Lancashire are ADSL enabled but 
only two are SDSL enabled (enabling faster upload and download speeds). SDSL is 
gradually being rolled out across Lancashire and the North West and the Council will 
continue to support the delivery of such improvements.

6.39 Planning policy needs to be adaptable and fl exible to respond to ever-evolving 
communication technologies, and the provision of new homes and buildings will be 
required, through EU legislation, to ensure they are high speed ready. However, the 
EU Directives (2014)  allow exemptions for historic buildings, holiday homes or where 
disproportionate costs will be incurred, meaning that smaller and rural developments 
may be excluded. Recognising the importance of internet connection and speeds, the 
Council will encourage all developments to provide suitable internet access.  In Europe, 
high speed ready connections are taken to refer to mean 30Mbps for all by 2020 in 
accordance with the Digital Agenda target. 

6.40 The Council will seek to work positively with stakeholder groups to improve 
telecommunication networks throughout the Borough. 

 Alternatives Considered

6.41 Much of the guidance for communications development is provided through the NPPF 
and the preferred policy serves only to add greater detail at a local level in order to provide 
control whilst enabling fl exibility.  The Council considered an alternative approach, 

Page 861



148 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

 which would be not to have any policy at all, as per the current Local Plan 2012-2027, 
but this would allow the Council less control over siting and delivery for development 
management purposes. 

Policy IF4: Low Carbon and Renewable Energy Development

The Council will support the development of low carbon and renewable energy schemes 
where they are appropriately located and designed. All proposals for low carbon and 
renewable energy developments will be required to evidence that the scheme: 

i. Considers the effects on landscape, biodiversity, including protected species, heritage 
assets, visual amenity, highway safety, land resources;

ii. Mitigates any impacts of the development so there are no unacceptable signifi cant 
effects on the amenities of neighbouring uses (excessive noise, odour, traffi c);

iii. Demonstrates that any signifi cant adverse effects are outweighed by wider social, 
economic and environmental benefi ts, which may include those associated with the 
increased production of renewable energy; and

iv. Where appropriate, has consulted with the local community at a pre-application stage in 
developing proposals for renewable energy. 

Low carbon and renewable energy developments should, where practicable, minimise the 
effect on the amenity of the area. Very special circumstances will need to be demonstrated 
in order to justify renewable and low carbon energy proposals where they constitute 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 

All new major applications will be required to provide an Energy Statement with the planning 
application to show how the inclusion of low carbon and renewable technologies has been 
considered in the design in order to seek to minimise energy use and carbon emissions. 
The Energy Statement can be included within the Design and Access Statement or as a 
separate report.

Support will be given to low carbon and renewable developments on brownfi eld land or 
existing buildings, for example the installation of solar photovoltaic (PV) panels on commercial 
properties Preference will also be given to Solar PV farms on brownfi eld land or lower grade 
agricultural land, rather than on the best and most versatile agricultural land, subject to 
meeting criteria (i)-(iv) above.

Page 862



149Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

All developments, wherever possible, should connect, or be able to connect in future, into 
a district heating or decentralised energy network, unless it can be demonstrated that the 
connection is not feasible or viable. 

An ‘Opportunities Map’ will be prepared to show those locations that are likely to have the 
greatest potential for such low carbon and renewable energy schemes and is designed

to provide guidance. The opportunities map will exclude wind, which should be covered 
separately through a land designation.

Community led initiatives for the development of renewable energy will be supported. Such 
proposals should, as with commercial schemes, identify and address any adverse impacts 
in line with the criteria (i)-(iv). 

By 2050, the Council will expect that all developments coming forward for development 
at that time should be carbon neutral, although developments will be encouraged to work 
towards achieving carbon neutrality in signifi cant advance of this date. 

Wind Energy Infrastructure

Wind energy developments will be given positive consideration providing:

i. The proposed development is in an area identifi ed as suitable for wind energy development 
and designated as a ‘Wind Energy Opportunity Site’ on the Policies Map

ii. Planning impacts identifi ed by affected local communities have been appropriately 
addressed and have their backing.

Developers are required to provide evidence to support their proposals considering: 
• singular or cumulative impacts on landscape character and value; 
• impact on local residents (including noise and shadow fl icker); 
• ecological impact, including migration routes of protected bird species; 
• impacts on land resources, including agricultural land and areas of deep peat; 
• impacts on the historic environment and assets;
• community benefi ts of the proposal; impacts on telecommunication, audio and visual 

signals; 
• impacts on aviation navigation systems and communications; or
• any other factor that may be affected by wind energy developments

Page 863



150 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

 
 Justifi cation

6.42 In the UK, the planning system has a key 
role to play in reducing emissions though the 
delivery of low and zero carbon development, 
and the support and promotion of renewable 
energy developments.  The results of which 
will help the UK move towards energy security, 
whilst strengthening the economy, and assist in 
mitigating the causes of climate change through 
the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions.   

6.43 Subsequently, it is important that West Lancashire 
takes a clear, bold and robust approach to 
encouraging the delivery of renewable energy 
in the Borough, to assist in reducing carbon 
emissions and addressing, not just a local need, 
but a national and global obligation.

6.44 However, whilst the Borough has the potential to 
take on a key role within Lancashire for renewable 
energy production, this must be balanced with 
the need to protect its valuable assets – including landscape, heritage, agricultural land 
and important bird species, migration routes and habitats. 

6.45 It is the intention of this policy to guide the strategic development of all commercial 
renewable energy schemes under 50MW (as anything above 50MW is dealt with by 
the Secretary of State). The ‘Sustainable Design’ policy guides the inclusion of low 
carbon design and renewable energies in new developments, including residential and 

The evidence will be required to demonstrate that any impacts can be satisfactorily addressed 
but need only be proportional to the scale and nature of development. 

Evidence should include Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), Environmental Statement 
(ES), Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA), a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
(LVIA), Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) in accordance with the relevant guidance 
for each. 

Page 864



151Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

commercial developments. Both policies should be read in conjunction with the other. 

6.46 Renewable energy is a key infrastructure item, essential to the economic, social and 
environmental dimensions of sustainable development and is expected to form a large 
and increasingly important part of the national economy, reducing dependence on 
carbon-based fuels and imported energy, thereby strengthening the UKs energy security. 
Contributing to the UK output can therefore be expected to strengthen the Borough’s 
position economically as well as environmentally, but renewable energy developments 
need to be balanced with a range of potential adverse impacts. 

6.47 Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) must identify and address such adverse impacts, 
including those affecting landscape character, heritage assets, biodiversity (particularly 
protected species, migration routes and habitats), drainage and hydrology, peat and 
mineral resource, agricultural land and public rights of way (PROW), to ensure that 
renewable energy developments do not unduly harm local areas. 

6.48 Whilst the NPPF recognises that many renewable energy projects will constitute 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt, it allows for such developments where 
very special circumstances can be demonstrated. These very special circumstances 
may include the wider environmental benefi ts associated with increased production of 
energy from renewable sources. Therefore, whilst Green Belt is a consideration, it does 
not entirely rule out renewable energy developments.  However, each such case will 
need to be determined on its individual merits. 

6.49 The NPPG states that policies should promote low carbon and renewable energy 
technologies, informed by evidence that considers the opportunities for different 
technologies, the opportunities for district heat networks and a consideration of the 
impacts that such developments may have on the landscape. 

6.50 It is the Council’s intention to commission new studies to update information relating 
to low carbon and renewable energy capacity and to help identify specifi c ‘opportunity 
areas’.  It is intended that these will be available for, and refl ected in, the Local Plan 
Review Publication document. 

6.51 In the interim, previous studies, including the Liverpool City Region Renewable Energy 
Capacity Study (2010) and the Lancashire Sustainable Energy Study (2011) have 
examined the potential for renewable energy generation West Lancashire and the wider 
sub-region.  Each study identifi ed a signifi cant capacity for wind energy generation within 
the Borough, and identifi ed specifi c areas with the potential for commercial scale wind 
energy were identifi ed within West Lancashire: - Adjacent to the River Alt, Great Altcar 

Page 865



152 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

and Adjacent to the A5209 between Burscough and Newburgh.  The studies stated that 
there would need to be additional analysis as the study did not account for impacts 
on landscape, biodiversity, fl ood risk or heritage assets. The studies concluded that 
commercial on-shore wind is critical to the overall growth in renewable energy and it is 
unlikely that Lancashire could make signifi cant progress towards meeting the target for 
2030 without increasing deployment of this resource. West Lancashire therefore has a 
key role to play in working to reduce carbon emissions for Lancashire. 

6.52 The Studies also found that West Lancashire has the potential to generate energy 
through small scale (domestic) schemes, energy crops (biomass), straw and poultry 
litter, in refl ection of its strong agricultural base. This policy accommodates for such 
alternative energy sources on a case by case assessment.  

6.53 The Studies further identifi ed that Ormskirk Town Centre has the potential to be an energy 
priority zone for district heating, primarily due to the major energy users (swimming 
pool, hospital, public buildings) that would be required to ensure such a network would 
be feasible.  Consequently, this policy requires all major development to explore the 
potential to provide district heat and decentralised energy networks, particularly in 
relation to strategic sites. 

6.54 The low carbon and renewable 
energy policy needs to be future-
proof, adaptable to emerging and 
progressive technologies. The 
policy does not prescribe the types 
of energy sources that will be 
supported and therefore the policy 
enables appropriate fl exibility. 

6.55 As the Council procure new 
evidence, any areas identifi ed as being suitable for renewable energy development will 
be shown in an ‘Opportunities Map’.  The map should not be viewed as defi nitive or 
restrictive, and the suitability, viability and feasibility of any energy development in any 
area is subject to further assessment on a case by case basis as to their potential for both 
development and signifi cant adverse effects. Inevitably, technologies and regulation will 
change and there is no doubt potential to generate energy outside of those opportunity 
areas. The map does not preclude any areas from renewable energy developments but 
simply acts as a starting point for investigations. 

6.56 Subject to evidence, any areas identifi ed and designated for commercial wind energy 

Page 866



153Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

developments will be shown on the Local Plan policies map. The designations will be 
subject to public consultation to try and address, where appropriate, the concerns of 
local communities. This should enable the identifi cation of the most suitable areas and 
the provision of guidance for the most appropriate development.  

6.57 The Council relies upon the landscape character information set out within the Natural 
Areas and Areas of Landscape History Importance SPG in order to assess the possible 
landscape impacts of any proposals.  

6.58 Where renewable energy schemes become non-operational for over a year, the facility 
must be removed and the site restored within two years of the end of that operation. 
Temporary energy generation facilities must provide full details of the arrangements for 
the dismantling of existing infrastructure and the reinstatement/restoration of the site 
along with indicative timescales.  This requirement will be secured through planning 
condition. 

 Alternatives Considered

6.59 A fl exible policy for all aspects of low carbon and renewable energy

 A fl exible policy would be adaptable to ever changing renewable energy needs and 
demands and would allow a broad approach to encourage renewable energy whilst 
considering each scheme on its own merits and any potential for impacts. It would not 
try and identify specifi c areas for each type of technology, allowing developers fl exibility 
over location.  However, this approach would potentially fail to do enough to pro-actively 
encourage and support the delivery of strategic renewable energy schemes and, in turn, 
the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. It would lead to reactive planning and the 
assessment of individual planning applications on an ad hoc basis, rather than trying 
to deliver strategic energy infrastructure and identifying those areas most suitable for 
different energy technologies.

6.60 A policy for the specifi c allocation of sites for low carbon and renewable energy

 A policy could be used to allocate a range of sites for renewable developments. This 
would provide a strategic direction to the siting of renewable energy schemes and ensure 
sites with the greatest potential are identifi ed. However, it could lead to the sterilisation of 
potential sites and securing the necessary evidence, and the agreement of the landowner, 
could be resource intensive.  It would also remove the fl exibility to respond to changing 
energy or land requirements. For example, as technologies and regulation change there 
could be further areas of opportunity created that would be diffi cult to deliver if they did 

Page 867



154 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  6: INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES POLICIES

not form part of any existing site allocations.  

6.61 An energy opportunities map

 This would provide a spatial summary of the key opportunity areas for various forms 
of renewable energy to inform and guide development towards the most suitable and 
appropriate areas, for example guiding it away from sensitive landscapes.  This approach 
would set a positive policy context encouraging the development of renewables and 
helping to identify which areas may be more suitable for certain types of renewable 
energy. However, it would not be possible to identify locations for all types of renewable 
energy technologies and may identify potential areas which are unpopular. It does 
not provide a defi nitive statement on the suitability of a certain location for a particular 
development, meaning each application must provide the necessary evidence and be 
assessed on its own merits. 

6.62 Local Development Orders

 Local Development Orders (LDOs) grant planning permission to specifi c types of 
development within a defi ned area. LDOs can streamline and simplify the planning 
process for specifi c development, creating certainty and saving time and money for all 
those involved, and can be fl exible tools which can be revised and updated as required.  
However, LDOs can be costly to produce, particularly where extensive evidence relating 
to EIA and LVIAs are required, and an LDO would need revising and updating periodically 
to refl ect changes.  With the speed at which the climate change agenda is progressing, 
LDOs are not currently considered to be the best mechanism for the delivery of low 
carbon and renewable energy. 

6.63 It is considered that the current policy takes a balanced approach by seeking to allocate 
sites for strategic wind energy infrastructure whilst supporting the delivery of all other 
renewable energy schemes on a fl exible, individual basis with guidance on suitable 
locations provided via an opportunities map.  

Page 868



155Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

Chapter 7: Green Infrastructure Policies

Policy GI1: Provision of Green Infrastructure 

In order to support the Council’s Green Infrastructure and Cycling Strategy (formally adopted 
in 2017) all development, where appropriate, should:

i) Protect and enhance the existing network of green links, open spaces and sports 
facilities, securing additional facilities to serve the new development where defi ciencies 
are identifi ed in the Green Infrastructure and Cycling Strategy;

ii) Support the link between Green Infrastructure and well-being by ensuring new open 
spaces are easily accessible by residents, particularly those within new development 
proposals; 

iii) Wherever possible, promote, deliver and enhance new recreational opportunities, 
including the linear parks between Ormskirk and Skelmersdale, between Ormskirk and 
Burscough, along the River Douglas at Tarleton and Hesketh Bank, and all other Green 
Infrastructure connections proposed in the Green Infrastructure and Cycling Strategy;  

iv) Where appropriate, the opportunity should be taken to extend Green Infrastructure 
by linking green spaces or by fi lling in gaps in Green Infrastructure corridors including 
(where relevant) extending these into settlements, or providing Green Infrastructure into 
new developments themselves;

v) Promote the creation of new, and the enhancement of existing Ecological Networks;

vi) Support the Ribble Coast and Wetlands Regional Park and associated infrastructure.

 Justifi cation

7.1 This policy sets out the requirements for the provision of both new and enhanced Green 
Infrastructure within West Lancashire. 

7.2 The term Green Infrastructure is used to summarise the variety of functions of open 
spaces including parks, sports facilities, play areas, natural and semi natural open spaces, 
footpaths or green corridors and allotments and their functions.  Inland waterbodies. 

Page 869



156 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

 waterways and the canal network are 
often referred to as Blue Infrastructure; 
these actively contribute to the 
provision of Green Infrastructure within 
the Borough.  Green Infrastructure 
acts as an interconnected network of 
features and the natural systems that 
these support.

7.3 Green Infrastructure contributes to the 
health and wellbeing of the population 
and enhances the natural environment, 
improving the places where people live 
and work. Green Infrastructure assets 
can also encourage visitors into the 
Borough, therefore improving the 
visitor economy.

7.4 West Lancashire benefi ts from 
good overall provision of Green 
Infrastructure. However, all types of 
Green Infrastructure are not distributed 
evenly across the Borough and areas 
of defi ciencies exist. As such, The 
Council will protect existing green spaces where required and appropriate, and enhance 
their quality and accessibility. Opportunities to create new Green Infrastructure and 
improve the quality of existing Green Infrastructure will be utilised where supported by 
evidence, and where such improvement will have wider planning benefi ts. Figure 1 shows 
the areas of Green Infrastructure across West Lancashire. As can be seen, the majority 
of formally identifi ed Green Infrastructure is grouped around the larger settlements of 
Ormskirk and Skelmersdale. 

7.5 The areas around West Lancashire’s settlements are important for wildlife, local 
distinctiveness and character, whilst also providing areas for communities to access 
green space for sport, recreation and exercise close to where they live, including 
providing easy access to the countryside. Parks, open spaces and smaller nature assets 
all contribute to the diverse Green Infrastructure within West Lancashire. The policy 
approach above aims to ensure that new development does not have a detrimental 
impact on the provision of Green Infrastructure in the Borough, and to manage existing 
provision in the most effective way. 

Page 870



157Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

  Green infrastructure in West Lancashire
  Source:  West Lancashire Green Infrastructure and Cycling Strategy, 2017.

7.6 The West Lancashire Green Infrastructure and Cycling Strategy, adopted in 2017, 
highlights that Green Infrastructure requires planning and needs to be managed in a 
strategic way at different spatial scales. This therefore requires proposed development 
to consider its impact on the Borough’s Green Infrastructure at all levels. The GI and 
Cycling Strategy also identifi es a clear link between Green Infrastructure and economic, 
social and environmental well-being of individual residents and wider society. Therefore, 
the Council recognises the importance of accessible spaces which encourage both 
residents and visitors to make the most of the Boroughs open spaces and parks, and to 
utilise the spaces to improve health. Access to Green Infrastructure will be supported and 
encouraged within new developments in order for the Borough’s Green Infrastructure to be 
maintained and where possible enhanced.  The Council also recognises the importance 

Page 871



158 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

of linking areas of Green Infrastructure to encourage the diversity of species within the 
Borough and also to ensure that the rural character of the majority of West Lancashire is 
not diminished by new development. The creation of new, and strengthening of existing, 
ecological networks will also have a positive impact on the biodiversity of the Borough. 

 Alternatives Considered

7.7 Separate Town Centre GI policies (e.g. Stockport)

 Town centres do not require a specifi c policy as West Lancashire is not a large conurbation. 
Additional detail may be provided through an SPD, but at the current time there is no 
requirement for this document. 

7.8 More detailed small scale GI specifi c policy to include reference to Green Roofs, Tree 
Planting, Green streets etc.

 This would be better included within an SPD. 

7.9 Site specifi c GI policies, which refer to site specifi c regeneration

 This would be better included within an SPD.

7.10 Reduce the range of measures and controls / do not refer to Ecological Networks within  
 policy 

 Reducing the range of measures and controls would be likely to undermine efforts to 
protect and enhance the Borough’s biodiversity and green infrastructure networks.

Policy GI2: Open Space and Outdoor Sports / Recreation Facilities

I. New development that results in the loss of any existing open space or sports and 
recreation facilities (including school playing fi elds) will only be permitted if:
a. The open space has been agreed by the Council as being unsuitable for retention 

because it is under-used, poor quality or poorly located; 
b. The proposed development would be ancillary to the use of the site as open space 

and the benefi ts to recreation would outweigh any loss of the open area;
c. Successful mitigation takes place to create an alternative, improved provision in the 

same locality; or

Page 872



159Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

 Justifi cation

7.11 West Lancashire benefi ts from overall good levels of open space provision. However, in 
some areas it is not distributed evenly across the Borough; as a result some areas are 
in defi cit of certain types of open space. The Council will protect existing green spaces 
and, where required and appropriate, will seek to enhance their quality and accessibility.  
Where supported by evidence and in the delivery of wider planning benefi ts, opportunities 
to improve existing green space quality may be delivered through redevelopment of 

d. The site is classed as incidental open space and it is agreed by the Council that the 
impact on the character of the area would not be harmed if lost to development.

I. New major developments will be required to:
a. Meet the standards set out in the ‘Provision of Public Open Space in new Residential 

Developments’ Supplementary Planning Document, having regard to local provision 
and viability; 

b. Secure long term management and investment plans for new and existing open 
spaces and facilities within their site;

c. Support the development of new allotments and protect the existing provision of 
allotments from development; and

d. Ensure open space and sports facilities are provided in line with an appraisal of local 
context and community need, with particular regard to the impact the development of 
the site will have on biodiversity.  

III. Development which would prejudice the protection and improvement of facilities at the 
following countryside recreation sites will not be permitted:

a. Hunters Hill, Wrightington
b. Parbold Hill, Parbold
c. Platts and Mill Dam Lane, Burscough
d. Beacon Country Park, Skelmersdale
e. Fairy Glen, Appley Bridge
f. Dean Wood, Up Holland
g. Abbey Lanes, Up Holland
h. Ruff Wood, Ormskirk
i. Platts Lane, Burscough
j. Chequer Lane, Up Holland   
k. Station Approach, Ormskirk

Page 873



160 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

green spaces.
 
7.12 In considering the future growth of West Lancashire, there is a need to ensure that 

there is adequate provision of quality and accessible green space, including publicly 
accessible natural green space, and space for formal recreation and allotments. The 
green space needs of the Borough have been identifi ed in the West Lancashire Open 
Space, Sport and Recreation Assessment. 

7.13 The application of open space standards will be through the Council’s Open Space SPD. 
In developing the open space standards for the Borough, the Council adhere to Natural 
England’s Accessible Natural Green Space Standard (ANGSt). The Council aspires to 
maximise recreation near to where people live, which can help to minimise adverse 
impact and avoid the more sustainable use of sensitive nature conservation sites for 
recreational purposes.

 
7.14 Some developments may not be capable of accommodating the required green space 

within the site boundary. The majority of these sites fall within town centre locations or 
on small scale sites. In these instances, and taking into account the characteristics of the 
site, it may be acceptable to deliver the green space off-site, within the same locality, or 
potentially a combination of off-site and on site. 

7.15 Where supported by evidence and in the delivery of wider planning benefi ts, opportunities 
to improve existing green space quality may be delivered through redevelopment of 
green space, improved quality of green spaces in the same locality and support of the 
local community. 

 Alternatives Considered

7.16 Less protection for open and recreational space; less obligation to provide it

 This would most likely lead to the loss of valued areas of open space, potentially 
signifi cant amounts, to the detriment of local areas and the general health and wellbeing 
of the population as a whole.  It would also mean that opportunities to procure more, or 
improved, open and recreational space are missed. 

7.17 Much greater, or absolute, protection of open and recreational space; more to be provided 
through planning obligations.

 Whilst in theory, this approach seems laudable and would result in no losses to open 
/ recreational space, it may be appropriate sometimes to develop parts of some open 

Page 874



161Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

spaces, especially if this leads to enhancement of the rest.  More onerous planning 
obligations could make some schemes unviable, meaning that needed development is 
not delivered. 

Policy GI3: Nature Conservation and Ecological Networks

I. The hierarchy of nature conservation sites

The Council is committed to ensuring the protection and enhancement of West Lancashire’s 
biodiversity and geological assets and interests. The Council will have regard to the following 
hierarchy of nature conservation sites when making planning decisions. According to their 
designation:

a. International 
1. Ramsar Sites
2. Special Areas of Conservation (SAC)
3. Special Protection Areas (SPA) 
4. Candidate SACs or SPAs.

The strongest possible protection will be given to sites of international importance. The 
preservation of the Ribble Coast and Wetlands Regional Park will also be encouraged by 
the Council, this area encompasses part of the Ribble and Alt Estuaries SPA / Ramsar Site.

b. National 
1. National Nature Reserves (NNR) 
2. Sites of Special Scientifi c Interest (SSSI) 

Developments that would directly or indirectly affect any sites of national importance will 
only be permitted where exceptional circumstances are demonstrated. The public benefi t of 
the development must also clearly outweigh the impacts on the site and the wider ecological 
network. Where development is proposed within a SSSI, consideration will be given to the 
likely impact of the development on the features of the site that make it of special scientifi c 
interest. 

c. Local
1. Regionally Important Geological Sites
2. County Biological Heritage Sites
3. Local Nature Reserves

Page 875



Policy number and title (Bold, Arial 14)

Text (Regular, Arial 12).

Justifi cation
Unt rehent vel eos eos remodi nos andus de di si cum fugitate veliciatint veris ius sequost mod 
enihillaccus sin comniet am sim eatus.
Osa pra verci ommolup tatquia ped maio doluptaqui ut vit qui tem explibusam comnimet exerum 
seque vellut qui ullaborest veriasi milluptas andaectur, cullic tet ut velendebitis molut ut ad ulpa 
eost, consed moluptu sdanisc iistibus eossin por aut elit iunt rem. Agnimi, non nis con non non 
eum aut inum rernate sunt qui aut aut liberio necupta tenimagnis num quam rempos eatquost 
invene veraerumquam et fuga. Ita volora eumquis nis et, aborror porecte nimusanis nimus ressi 
ditatur? Quiamet fuga. Itam, que rest diaecus ciaerspis excero optas mosam idebit, quiam est, 
nos molest omnim ipicaes tiorers perit, nos eosa sunt aliquas perum fuga. Parum si ut quaspedi 
aliquid quae velese delliquia idis is consequi deliquod quiditatiis essimaio. Feria quae. Nam qui 
denit autem inis rehent rectota dolla venis quiantem sam fugia voloreptat.
Ria qui corum dolupta voluptat aut offi c to qui aut optur? Quiae con con cone volendi gnamusc 
imaximint fuga. Itatur, aut fugia pellenimus, aut eseque nonsent quissunt faccusdamus eariti 
vero velendi tempore mperfer natempe ne comnis duci consequid molent et quidem is endit 
volumquo verum voloriati omnis eos im idit, que exerit re, si dit eseque voluptatem fugia idu-
ciae. Ucia volut venisinctat ma doluptiumqui que voluptat.
Tur aut arcipictur, sam nobitatatem se enitatium veriametus, od es ratent optum imusciis ut ut 
a volenti que sanihit lia volum et dit quas earum dolorat aliquae caest, tene vendebis voluptur?
Erem cus molorer sperferrume velite nonsed quod ut faciatur si inihilitas dent.
Epres di cullectur, secepero conse et quost quamusda quam id ma doluptam quidebi sitates-
sima dollaut aut et magnienda doluptatum que expedit hicilique saectat.
Namus ea volo del es pa ilictus reiunt, quiaspid quid qui dolupis ex essi dempos esed estem 
dolore occaborum faccuptatem fugit accatet eatum alia sequi cullaborit faceribea volore non-
secestis minveliquo es sum faccupt aspelictae siti doles ut modis mo corerna tionecto estias 
maximus explaut vellor andam quis etur, natur, totas resto evelibus maxime libus, que el in core 
diamus ut quam re, eum accae estium landisci omnimpe ribus.
Otae nonsero cor aut recupid endebitium et harcita quatem imi, int od ut dolupta temquas au-
dae omniae voluptatecus am voloriati cumquis il everectur sequiam audia conseditiusa vollique 
dolupta in corepudam debis et ulpa volum quam voluptam si re lab ipsum volesequae quodia-

162 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

Development that would directly or indirectly affect any sites of local importance will be 
permitted only where it is necessary to meet an overriding local public need or where it is in 
relation to the purposes of the nature conservation site. 

II. Development within or affecting nature conservation sites and ecological networks

Whilst certain aspects of nature conservation are covered by National and European law, it 
is essential that development complies with national planning policy. Therefore, proposals 
for development within or affecting the above nature conservation sites must adhere to the 
following principles:

a. Proposals which seek to enhance or conserve biodiversity will be supported in 
principle, subject to the consideration of other Local Plan policies; 

b. Consideration should be given to the impact of development proposals on the Major 
Wildlife Corridors defi ned on the Policies Map and on any additional Ecological 
Networks identifi ed within any Supplementary Planning Document in the future and, 
where possible, opportunities to support the network by incorporating biodiversity in 
and around the development should be encouraged; 

c. Where development is considered necessary, adequate mitigation measures and 
compensatory habitat creation will be required through planning conditions, and / or 
obligations, with the aim of providing an overall improvement in the site’s biodiversity 
value.  Where compensatory habitat is provided it should be of at least equal area 
and diversity, if not larger and more diverse, than what is being replaced; and

d. The development of recreation will be targeted in areas which are not sensitive to 
visitor pressures – the protection of biodiversity will be given higher priority than 
the development of recreation in sensitive areas of internationally important nature 
conservation sites (as identifi ed in paragraph (a) (i) above), and on all nature 
conservation sites and ecological networks in situations where there is confl ict 
between the two objectives. 

III.  Damage to nature conservation sites and ecological networks

The following defi nition of what constitutes damage to nature conservation sites and other 
ecological assets will be used in assessing developments likely to impact upon them: 

a. Loss of the undeveloped open character of a part, parts or the entire nature 
conservation site or ecological network; 

Page 876



163Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

b. Reducing the width of part of an ecological network or causing direct or indirect 
severance of any part of the ecological network or of any part of a nature conservation 
site; 

c. To restrict the lateral movement of wildlife within or through an ecological network or 
nature conservation site;

d. To cause the degradation of the ecological functions of any part of the ecological 
network or nature conservation site; 

e. Directly or indirectly damaging or severing links between nature conservation sites, 
green spaces, wildlife corridors and the open countryside; and 

f. To impede links to the wider ecological network and nature conservation sites that 
are recognised by neighbouring planning authorities. 

IV. Priority Species and Habitats

a. The biodiversity and geological resources of the Plan Area and its surroundings will 
be conserved and where possible enhanced by ensuring that development proposals 
will not result in signifi cant harm to biodiversity interests.

b. Where there is reason to suspect that there may be priority species, or their 
habitat, on or close to a proposed development site, planning applications should 
be accompanied by a survey assessing the presence of such species and, where 
appropriate, making provision for their needs. 

c. Where development is considered necessary, adequate mitigation measures and 
compensatory habitat creation will be required through planning conditions and / or 
obligations, with the aim of providing an overall improvement in the site’s biodiversity 
value. Where compensatory habitat is provided it should be of at least equal area and 
diversity, if not larger and more diverse than what is being replaced.  

d. For those sites where there is the potential for the site to support important habitat for 
birds associated with Martin Mere SPA (and any others which may support suitable 
habitat), the applicant should submit an Ornithology Report containing suffi cient 
information to demonstrate that consideration has been given to the potential for 
effects on SPA birds, and if necessary, that suitable mitigation measures will be 
implemented to address this to the satisfaction of the Council and to ensure no 
adverse effect on site integrity.

Page 877



164 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

 Justifi cation

7.18 West Lancashire is home to a number of valuable habitats, for example the Ribble 
Estuary and Martin Mere, and some of these take the form of wildlife corridors, such as 
the Leeds Liverpool Canal and the River Douglas. There are also a number of important 
international sites, such as the Ribble and Alt Estuaries SPA / Ramsar and the Sefton 
Coast SAC which the Borough shares with neighbouring authorities, in which the Council 
will have to adopt a collaborative approach to management. The Borough lies within 
the National Character Area: profi le 32 (Lancashire and Amounderness Plain)13  which 
due to extensive agricultural use throughout history has seen the majority of habitats 
considerably reduced in size and quality. Policy GI3 therefore seeks to halt further loss, 
and encourage the creation of new sites of ecological diversity. 

7.19 The NPPF identifi es biodiversity as being a vital part of the natural environment. Planning 
policy should, where possible, minimise the impact of development on biodiversity and 
provide net gains in biodiversity where possible. This will contribute to the government’s 
commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity. The Natural Environment White 
Paper published in June 2011 considers that a healthy, properly functioning natural 
environment is the foundation of sustained economic growth, prospering communities 
and personal well-being.

7.20 The NPPF places great emphasis 
on the importance of conserving 
and enhancing the natural 
environment. This process 
includes minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and providing net gains 
in biodiversity where possible. This 
will contribute to the government’s 
commitment to halt the overall 
decline in biodiversity, whilst also including establishing of coherent ecological networks 
that are more resilient to current and future pressure. 

7.21 Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 places a duty 
on all public authorities in England and Wales to have regard, in the exercise of their 
functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity. Whilst the most important wildlife 
habitats are protected by law or by national planning policy, there are a number of 
locally-designated environmental sites in West Lancashire that have been inherited from 
the previous Local Plan. Although not benefi tting from national level protection, these 

13 National Character Area Profi le, 32: Lancashire and Amounderness Plain. Natural England 2014.

Page 878



165Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

sites still have signifi cant environmental or geological value, and can make a signifi cant 
contribution to the biodiversity of the Borough. 

 
7.22 Where in previous Local Plan Policy Local Nature Conservation Sites (LNCS) have been 

protected specifi cally, these sites are no longer afforded individual protection. LNCS 
often form part of Ecological Networks as pathways or stepping stones. Therefore as they 
are covered within the Ecological Network protection, they no longer require additional 
provision for their protection.  

7.23 Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states that planning policies should protect and enhance 
biodiversity and geodiversity. Policies should also aim to protect and enhance valued 
landscapes, geological conservation interests and soils whilst recognising the wider 
benefi ts of ecosystem services. Creating coherent Ecological Networks will result in more 
networks and links which will be more resilient to both current and future pressures.  

7.24 Components of the Ecological Networks across the Borough should be identifi ed and 
mapped and biodiversity should be planned for at a landscape-scale across local 
authority boundaries. In line with the Liverpool City Region Ecological Networks14 which 
used nature conservation sites in West Lancashire to inform cross boundary links and 
opportunities for ecological intervention, this policy aims to identify opportunities to 
enable better protection and management of the natural assets within West Lancashire 
and at the same time, identify opportunities to create new natural assets to improve the 
biodiversity of the Borough. The natural environment is one of the West Lancashire’s 
greatest assets and is highly valued by both visitors and residents. Protecting and 
enhancing the environment that makes West Lancashire special is a key objective of the 
Local Plan. 

7.25 West Lancashire provides vital habitat for a number of protected species including 
many varieties of birds, water voles and red squirrels whose habitats are carefully 
managed and protected. The Council plays an important strategic role in supporting 
biodiversity in West Lancashire and will ensure the protection, and safeguarding of all 
sites of international, national and local level importance. The Council will also support 
the development of the Ribble Coast (which is also designated as a National Nature 
Reserve) and the Wetlands Regional Park to support the understanding that by 2020 
the area will become an internationally recognised area. Strategic green links between 
rural areas, river corridors and green spaces will be supported in order to provide an 
ecological network of good quality which  will provide habitats to support the Borough’s 
biodiversity, and to prevent the fragmentation of the natural environment. 

14  Liverpool City Region Ecological Network. MEAS.org.uk

Page 879



166 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

7.26 Lancashire County Council have produced 
documents based on the Ecological Networks 
within the Borough, and have currently identifi ed 
the Lancashire Grassland Ecological Network and 
the Woodland and Scrub Ecological Network. Work 
is to be undertaken by Lancashire County Council 
on the Wetland and Heath data with a view to 
further refi ne its analysis. These works have taken 
into consideration how different environments and 
habitats are linked and how species utilise the networks on a functional basis. Land 
types and allocations which may have an implication on the strengthening or improving 
the network are also taken into account. The fi ndings of the work should provide the 
necessary information and outputs to enable the Council to meet the requirements of the 
NPPF in this respect. Should the fi ndings of the documents be considered appropriate, 
they will be incorporated into a future Supplementary Planning Document to help inform 
planning decisions. 

7.27 The priority species section of the policy is designed to contribute to the aims of the NPPF 
by minimising the potential impacts of development on biodiversity and geodiversity and 
to provide net gains in biodiversity where possible. The Plan Area has a rich biodiversity, 
primarily due to its rural nature. With the large expanse of green belt which surrounds 
the Borough’s towns and villages it is essential that no undue harm comes to the species 
rich habitats within West Lancashire. 

7.28 Opportunities for biodiversity to extend into the urban areas will be sought. In particular 
via parks and gardens where there is space for vegetation and wildlife to thrive, and via 
river corridors and trails that link habitats together. The continued development of the 
Ecological Networks will provide opportunities for links between the urban areas and the 
surrounding countryside to be developed. The impact of climate change on biodiversity 
will also be addressed by improving connectivity between habitats.

7.29 This policy seeks to ensure that the biodiversity of the Borough will be protected, and 
where possible, enhanced in line with guidance within the NPPF which states that 

 Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and 
local environment by … minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, 
including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current 
and future pressures.’ 

7.30 The Natural Environment White Paper sets out the strategic direction for biodiversity 
policy. The mission for the next decade, is ‘to halt overall biodiversity loss, support 

Page 880



167Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

healthy well-functioning ecosystems and establish coherent ecological networks, with 
more and better places for nature for the benefi t of wildlife and people.’

7.31 As well as the need to protect, conserve and enhance designated sites it is also important 
to protect, conserve and enhance nationally and locally important species that use a 
variety of sites/habitats as part of a nature conservation network. 

 Alternatives Considered

7.32 Biodiversity Accounting & Habitat Evaluation Procedure

 A number of more sophisticated approaches to calculating habitat impact are possible 
which would use a government-approved metric and index. These methods would enable 
the Council to assess any habitats which may be lost, retained or enhanced as a result 
of new development. 

7.33 Whilst it is understood that Biodiversity Accounting and the Habitat Evaluation Procedure 
are superior approaches to biodiversity protection, the Local Authority advises that this 
approach involves signifi cant cost, and requires specifi c expertise which the Council 
does not have. Therefore the current policy approach is considered to be adequate to 
conserve the Borough’s nature biodiversity. 

Policy GI4: Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows

I. Planning permission will not be permitted where the proposal adversely affects trees, 
woodlands and hedgerows which are: 

a. Protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO); 
b. Ancient Woodlands including individual ancient and veteran trees and those defi ned 

in Natural England’s inventory of ancient woodlands; 
c. In a Conservation Area; or 
d. Within a recognised Nature Conservation Site. 

II. There will be a presumption in favour of the retention and enhancement of existing 
tree, woodland and hedgerow cover on all other development sites, unless it can be 
demonstrated that any loss is unavoidable in order to develop the site;

Page 881



168 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

a. Where there is an unavoidable loss of trees on site, replacement trees will be required 
to be planted on site – where appropriate at a rate of two new trees for each tree lost 
– or, where a group of trees is to be lost, an equivalent area of replacement trees are 
to be planted; 

b. Tree survey information should be submitted with all planning applications where 
trees are present on and adjacent to the site. The tree survey information should 
include protection, mitigation and management measures and be in line with national 
guidance BS.5837:2012 and any subsequent document; 

c. Appropriate management measures will be required to be implemented to protect 
newly planted and existing trees, woodlands and/or hedgerows.  

d. Provided there are no implications on existing habitats, additional tree cover is 
encouraged. 

III. Landscaping

a. Developers will be required to submit, where appropriate, tree planting and soft 
landscaping, including the replacement of any trees lost on site. 

b. Developers will be required to demonstrate that public and private spaces are well 
designed, safe, attractive, complement the built form and provide for the retention of 
signifi cant landscape features such as trees and hedgerows. 

c. Development plans will be required to demonstrate the sustainable management of 
trees, woodland and hedgerows including the provision of new planting within the 
new development proposals to provide local distinctiveness within the landscape, 
enable climate adaptation resilience and support biodiversity.

d. For large scale developments a structured landscape scheme must be produced 
which demonstrates the planting and sustainable growth of large trees within new 
development. This is required to demonstrate the retention or improvement of tree 
canopy cover, which will benefi t the character of the Borough as a whole.

Page 882



169Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

 Justifi cation

7.34 Trees, woodlands and forests have a very special place in English culture and have 
provided us with many of the essentials of life through history. Their health is essential 
for our wellbeing and prosperity. They shape our landscapes and street scenes. Our 
choices today will shape our future landscapes, prosperity and wellbeing15. 

7.35 The NPPF states that planning permission should be refused for development resulting 
in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such as ancient woodland and 
ancient or veteran trees), unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable 
compensation strategy exists16.

 
7.36 Development will be required to provide new trees, woodlands and/or hedgerows to 

provide a wide range of benefi ts, including aiding health and wellbeing, helping mitigate 
the effects of climate change, landscaping, noise proofi ng, benefi ts for wildlife, and 
amenity value. Developers will be required to provide trees, woodlands and/or hedgerows 
of an appropriate type and maturity for the site, to be decided in liaison with the Council.

7.37 Where existing trees are 
considered to be of signifi cant 
amenity benefi t to the local 
area, a Tree Preservation 
Order may be considered in 
order to restrict the potential 
damage/pruning of the 
specimen. The TPO would 
be assigned in line with the 
Town and Country Planning 
(Tree preservation) (England) 
Regulations 2012. 

7.38 The Borough’s trees and hedgerows are protected through separate government legislation 
as set out in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Tree Regulations 1999, 
and Hedgerow Regulations 1997. The Council understands the signifi cant contribution 
made to the landscape by trees, either as woodland or as individual specimens, and by 
hedgerows. Therefore there will be a presumption in favour of retaining and enhancing 
all existing tree, woodland and hedgerow cover. Where there is an unavoidable loss of 
trees, woodlands and/ or hedgerows the Council will encourage a replacement, ideally 

15 The Natural Environment White Paper ‘The Natural Choice: Securing the Value of Nature’( 2011)
16 Paragraph 174 NPPF.

Page 883



170 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

 to be located on site or in the vicinity of the site or local area. Where this is not possible 
it will be sought for off-site provision to be located where the Council sees fi t. 

7.39 Ancient Woodlands (woodlands which have been continuously wooded since 1600AD) 
are particularly important for their fl ora, fauna and their undisturbed soil and drainage 
patterns.  The Council acknowledges the high biodiversity value of ancient woodland and 
the fact that it is an irreplaceable habitat; as such it is essential that ancient woodland be 
protected from the adverse effects of development. 

7.40 Trees in Conservation Areas make a special contribution to, and enhance the 
environmental quality of, these areas. Such trees are protected under the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Six weeks prior written notice must 
be given to the local planning authority of any intended works to the trees. This will 
enable the Council to make a Tree Preservation Order if it considers the proposed works 
unacceptable and detrimental to the character of the Conservation Area. The Council 
wishes to encourage the planting of native tree species, where trees are characteristic 
of the landscape and are benefi cial to wildlife. 

7.41 The development of sites within the Borough will need to take into consideration potential 
impact on trees and hedgerows in the area.  Trees are considered to be an important 
feature in creating a high quality local environment.  Detailed landscape plans will be 
required for large scale developments, and soft landscaping plans may be required for 
smaller development where considered appropriate. This will ensure that the verdant 
nature of the Borough is retained during the development process. 7.42 May not be 
viable due to ongoing work with ecological networks across the Borough. The NIAs 
would require additional resources, and may cover the same topics and issues. 

 Alternatives Considered

7.42 Assign Nature Improvement Areas 

 May not be viable due to ongoing work with ecological networks across the Borough.  
 The NIAs would require additional resources, and may cover the same topics and issues.

Page 884



171Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

Policy GI5: Landscape Character and Land Resources

Where new development is proposed it will be required to take advantage of the surrounding 
landscape setting and historic landscapes by having regard to the different landscape 
character types across the borough. Where development is likely to affect landscapes or their 
key features, approval will only be granted where the development is considered to make a 
positive contribution, or where the public benefi t outweighs the harm to the landscape. 

The level of protection afforded to the specifi c landscape setting will depend on the quality, 
importance and uniqueness of the land, as defi ned in the Natural Areas and Areas of 
Landscape History Importance SPG and any subsequent documents. The active use of the 
Borough’s landscapes through leisure and tourism will be promoted where this is compatible 
with objectives relating to their protection. Proactive management of the Borough’s landscape, 
for the benefi t of carbon retention, biodiversity and fl ood prevention, will also be supported.

In addition, development will be permitted where it meets the following criteria:

i. The proposed development is to maintain or enhance the distinctive character, and 
visual quality of the Landscape Character Area, as shown on the Policies Map, in which 
it is located; 

ii. The development is to respect the historic character of the local landscape and 
townscape, as defi ned by the Areas of Landscape History Importance shown on the 
Policies Map; and

iii. The development is to complement or enhance any existing attractive attributes of its 
surroundings through sensitive design which includes appropriate siting, orientation, 
scale, materials, landscaping, boundary treatment, detailing and use of art features 
where appropriate. 

Land Resources

a. Development on the best and most versatile agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 & 3a) will not 
be permitted except where absolutely necessary to deliver development allocated within 
the local plan or strategic infrastructure, or development associated with the agricultural 
use of the land;

b. Development will have regard to the conservation of the Borough’s deep peat resources;

Page 885



172 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

 

 Justifi cation
 
7.43 The land resources of West Lancashire 

include some of the best agricultural 
land in the country. There are vast 
areas of deep peat, wetlands and 
mosslands, and also a number of 
opportunities for recreational access 
for residents. These natural assets, 
combined with the historic buildings 
and settings, mean that West 
Lancashire has some of the most 
important landscape character areas in the region. Development must be directed so it 
respects and enhances the special historical and environmental signifi cance of areas of 
landscape importance.

7.44 The European Landscape Convention (ELC) promotes landscape protection, 
management and planning, and European co-operation on landscape issues. Signed 
by the UK government in February 2006, the ELC became binding from March 2007. 
It applies to all landscapes, towns, villages and open countryside; the coast and inland 
areas; and ordinary or even degraded landscapes, as well as those that are afforded 
protection. 

7.45 West Lancashire has a number of historic and important landscapes which are recognised 
for their special cultural, horticultural, and historic and landscape qualities. Scarisbrick 
Hall Park is a site included on the national register of gardens and parks of special 
historic interest and adds to the character of the Borough. With an increased pressure 
from developers it is important to protect these areas to ensure that their character is not 

c. In coal mining development referral areas, take account of issues such as land instability 
and where appropriate, a coal mining risk assessment report will be required;

d. Ensure the protection of water quality and ground water resources and, where possible, 
seek improvement; and

e. In mineral safeguarding areas, developers are to refer to the Lancashire Minerals & 
Waste Local Plan to ensure suffi cient consideration of the potential impact of the area 
on new and existing development. 

Page 886



173Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

inherently affected. 

7.46 West Lancashire’s land resources include deep peat deposits and some of the country’s 
best and most versatile agricultural land. The extraction or degradation of peat should 
be actively discouraged as it plays a signifi cant role in providing a unique habitat and is 
also an important carbon store. 

7.47 The landscape of the plan area has a wide variety of physical differences and constraints 
which has been developed over years of agriculture, and economic and population 
growth. This has therefore produced a landscape of particularly high quality, which is 
more than 90% Green Belt. This policy has been designed to both protect and enhance 
the existing landscape character and deep peat deposits without stifl ing development 
to an unacceptable level. The control exercised by the policy will ensure that the quality 
of life for local residents is maintained, and economic investment and tourists are still 
attracted to the area. 

 Alternatives Considered

7.48  Limiting development in the Countryside 

 West Lancashire has a signifi cant level of Green Belt where development is restricted in 
line with National Policy. However to further restrict development to justify the retention 
and protection of the Borough’s Landscape Character in order to only allow development 
considered integral to the rural economy, would be signifi cantly more infl exible approach 
than currently presented, and this may therefore restrict the Councils ability to help meet 
housing and local need. 

Policy GI6: Coastal Zone

Development within the Borough’s Coastal Zones, as defi ned on the Policies Map, will be 
limited to that which is essential in meeting the needs of coastal navigation, amenity and 
informal recreation, tourism and leisure, fl ood protection, fi sheries, nature conservation and 
/or agriculture. Development will not be allowed which would allow the loss of secondary sea 
embankments, which would impair the capacity of the coastal zone to form a natural fl ood 
defence. 

Development in Marine Areas as defi ned by the Marine Management Organisation (MMO) 
must be in line with the Marine Policy Statement and, when produced, Marine Plans. In the

Page 887



174 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

 Justifi cation

7.49 Whilst, strictly speaking, West Lancashire is not located on the west coast of England, 
an area approximately 16km in width at the north of the Borough is considered to be 
within a Coastal Zone, due to it being positioned on the south side of the River Ribble 
Estuary.  West Lancashire is therefore considered to have a coastline.  The Coastal 
Zone, as defi ned on the Policies Map, covers an area of land which is predominantly a 
National Nature Reserve and agricultural land. The probability of fl ood risk renders the 
vast majority of this land unsuitable for most types of development. 

7.50 The natural processes affecting the Ribble Estuary mean that parts of the Coastal Zone 
are subject to change. Climate change and rising sea levels are likely to increase rates 
of coastal change in future, hence the importance of natural sea defences. This policy 
focuses on protecting and enhancing coastal processes, landforms and habitats, and 
managing tidal fl ood risk and development in relation to coastal change.

7.51 Much of the Ribble Estuary within the West Lancashire Local Plan area is designated 
as a Coastal Zone.  Other parts of the Ribble Estuary benefi t from protection by virtue 
of being located within a Special Protection Area or within a designated Site of Special 
Scientifi c Interest.  The area identifi ed as the Coastal Zone on the Policies Map, however, 
does not all benefi t from this protection. 

7.52 Owing to the fl at, open nature of this land, it is considered that development can be 
particularly visually intrusive as well as being harmful to the environmental sensitivity of 
the locality. As such, this policy seeks to restrict development other than that meeting the 
specifi c criteria within the policy. Where appropriate, planning conditions may be used 
on planning permissions to limit the lifetime of development within a coastal location 

absence of a Marine Plan, the Marine Policy Statement should be consulted.

Development which may have an adverse effect on internationally important nature sites will 
only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:

i. There are no alternatives;

ii. There are imperative reasons of overriding public interest; and

iii. Compensatory provision is being made.

Page 888



175Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

to a temporary period, or to limit its use or occupancy, and to set out the approach for 
managing the development at the end of its planned life.

 
 Alternatives Considered

7.53  Specify the types of development acceptable in a prescriptive manner (Fylde) 

 As West Lancashire does not have an area of coastline as such, the severe restriction of 
development would not be necessary as beaches and dunes would not be affected. The 
Ribble Estuary is subject to physical constraints due to the nature of the land, therefore 
a development is already restricted to a certain extent. 

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

Page 889



176 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  7: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE POLICIES

Page 890



177Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

Chapter 8: Sustainable Development and 
Design Policies

Policy SD1: Designing Sustainable Layouts

Development proposals will be assessed against the criteria below, and will be required to  
adhere to the policies and principles of the Design Guide SPD (or any successor document) 
when planning for new development.
 
Proposals for new development should: 

I. Integrate with the surrounding area by providing safe, convenient and attractive   
 pedestrian and cycle access through the new development and to nearby facilities  
 and services;
II. Incorporate suitable and safe access and road layout design, prioritising the   
 convenience  of pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users over car users,   
 wherever possible; 
III. Ensure that parking provision standards within Appendix B are met when planning for  
 new development, unless it is clearly inappropriate to meet these standards;
IV. Where development is over a certain size, provide Transport Assessments and   
 Travel Plans in line with the latest Department for Transport guidance. 
V. Create an environment that is accessible to all sectors of the community including  
 children, elderly people, and people with disabilities; 
VI. Provide, where appropriate, suitable infrastructure for public transport, including bus  
 stops and shelters;
VII. Maximise opportunities for retention and / or enhancement of biodiversity and / or  
 habitats on site through preservation of existing features of biodiversity value, and /  
 or creation of areas within the site where species can fl ourish, or can move between  
 other areas of biodiversity value (ecological networks);
VIII. Create safe and secure environments that reduce the opportunities for crime and  
 prepare a crime impact assessment where required in accordance with the Council’s  
 validation checklist; 
IX. Consider the guidance as laid out within Building for Life 12 and any subsequent   
 document, in order to ensure development is sustainable and appropriate to the   
 location; and 
X. Use sustainable drainage systems and permeable/porous hard surfacing materials to  
 help reduce or maintain rates of surface water runoff to existing drainage systems.

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

Page 891



178 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

Where the design of the development accords with the above criteria, and the guidelines 
within the Design Guide SPD (and any subsequent updated document) and Building for 
Life 12, design should not be used by the decision-maker as a valid reason to object to the 
development. Where innovative design is proposed to promote sustainable development, 
great weight will be attributed to the benefi ts of the design when determining planning 
applications. 

 Justifi cation

8.1 PPG sets out that the pursuit of sustainable development involves seeking positive 
improvements in the quality of the built and natural environment. Development should 
encourage change and innovation, whilst safeguarding and enhancing existing 
development. Therefore Local Plan policy should seek to ensure that all development in 
the Borough is of a high quality which contributes positively to its distinctive character. 
This can help to attract people, businesses and investment. 

8.2 Design quality is signifi cant in both urban and rural areas, with good development requiring 
an understanding of the context in which it takes place. This requires consideration of 
the prevailing layout, urban grain, legibility, landscape, biodiversity, density and mix of 
uses, important views and historic routes. 

8.3 Sustainable layout is intrinsic to the success of a new development integrating well 
with the character of an area.  The Council has published a Design Guide SPD which 
highlights ways in which to design appropriate and sustainable layouts for the Borough, 
and identifi es and details the character of the Borough’s areas.

8.4 NPPF (paragraph 129) states that Local Planning Authorities should ensure that they 
have appropriate tools and processes in place for assessing and improving the design 
of development. Design advice and design review arrangements should be readily 
available for developers to utilise at the earliest stages within the planning process.

8.5 Other tools, including assessment frameworks such as Building for Life 12, are also to 
be used by developers when considering design options.  When assessing planning 
applications, local planning authorities should have regard to the outcome of these 
processes, including any recommendations by Design Review Panels.

8.6 As well as infl uencing how a place looks, layout can also have an impact on issues 
such as crime, nature conservation, fl ooding and reducing the proportion of greenhouse 
gases in the atmosphere. In the case of the latter, providing connections to walking and 

Page 892



179Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

cycling links between new and existing developments can encourage people to travel 
locally and further afi eld without relying on the private car.

8.7 The orientation of housing can help to maximise the use of sunlight and daylight and 
allow air movement for ventilation. 

 Alternatives Considered 

8.8 Do not have a specifi c design policy 

 This approach is similar to the existing Local Plan, where the design guidance forms part 
of a larger more general Sustainable Development policy. This approach contains less 
detailed guidance. 

8.9 Have a more prescriptive design policy 

 This approach would potentially stifl e good design, and would eventually result in new 
developments appearing to have a pastiche character to the existing development of the 
borough. A more restricted design approach may also result in development not being 
considered appropriately sustainable later in the Local Plan period.

Policy SD2: Sustainable Design

I. Design and Character; 

In order to ensure improvements to the quality of the built and natural environment and to 
make a positive contribution to its surroundings, new development should:

a. Be of high quality design and adhere to the West Lancashire Design Guide SPD;
b. Respect the historic character of the area, local landscape and / or townscape, and 

respond to the local surrounding through its design; 
c. Retain or create reasonable levels of privacy, amenity and suffi cient garden / outdoor 

space for occupiers of the proposed and neighbouring properties; 
d. Have regard to visual amenity and promote local distinctiveness within its surroundings 

through sensitive design, including; appropriate siting, orientation, mass, height, 
density, materials, landscaping and landscape context, boundary treatment, scale 
and architectural design; 

e. Adhere to low carbon sustainable building principles;

Page 893



180 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

 Justifi cation

8.10 West Lancashire is an attractive place to live, work and visit and development should 
refl ect and draw on the local distinctiveness of the area. Consideration should always be 
given to the local landscape, its history, the built form and character of the settlement, 
the typical building type, its architecture and the materials used in its construction. 

f. Relate to existing buildings, in terms of height and mass, design and materials, and 
the relationship with surrounding development; and

g. Aim to create safe and secure environments that reduce the opportunities for crime 
and a crime impact statement should be prepared where required in accordance 
with  the Council’s validation checklist. 

II. Sustainable Design; 

Unless it is clearly inappropriate to do so, new development should make provision for:

a. Space for secure cycle storage and residential amenity space;
b. Space for waste and recycling storage;
c. Low carbon and renewable energy technologies, and water saving features, although 

regard should be had to the character of the development and the surrounding area 
when considering the scale and location of renewable energy technologies;

d. Charging facilities for electrical vehicles or other ‘green transport’ technologies that 
may emerge; and

e. Wildlife-friendly design features (such as bat roosts and bird boxes), and in the case 
of major schemes, wildlife permeable boundaries between gardens and open space, 
trees and hedgerows, green corridors, and street lighting which is sympathetic to 
wildlife.

III. Advertisements & Shop Fronts;

a. When determining applications for new and replacement advertisements, the impact 
on the area’s amenity and public safety must be taken into account.

b. When determining applications for new shop fronts, the character of the existing 
street scene and buildings must be carefully considered. New development should 
seek to assimilate with existing development.

c. Developers should refer to the West Lancashire Design Guide for Shop Fronts, 
Advertisements & Shop Security. 

Page 894



181Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

8.11 Policies which are to be used to guide the design 
of new development should not attempt to impose 
architectural styles or particular tastes upon 
the development. Whilst it is important for new 
development to reinforce local distinctiveness, the 
above policy should not seek to stifl e innovation, 
originality or initiative through unsubstantiated 
requirements to confi rm to certain development 
forms or styles. Where appropriate, supplementary 
documents and plans have been made available in 
order to provide maximum clarity about regarding 
design expectations for the Borough. 

8.12 Design features can also address wider 
sustainability issues such as crime, carbon 
reduction, reducing fl ood risk, and other 
environmental concerns such as air quality and lighting, creation of wildlife-friendly 
habitats, and making buildings accessible to all user groups. Therefore a policy is 
required to guide development proposals to ensure that they are sustainable.

8.13 The Council has produced a Design Guide SPD (2008) and a Design Guide for Shop 
Fronts and Advertisements SPD (2005); these are to be used alongside Building for Life 
12 and any successor Standards, in order to ensure that the design of new development 
is acceptable in terms of respecting the character of the Borough. Prior to submission 
of a large scale planning application, developers should seek to utilise a Design Review 
Panel made available by the Council in order for the design of the development to be 
agreed in principle prior to the submission of the application. 

8.14 When considering applications for advertisements, whilst these are controlled by 
separate legislation, care must be taken to ensure that they do not harm the amenity 
or public safety of the vicinity.  Where new shop fronts are proposed, developers and 
applicants should refer to the West Lancashire Design Guide for Shop Fronts SPD. 

 Alternatives Considered

8.15 Do not have a specifi c design policy in the Local Plan (other than a general ‘hook’), but 
instead rely on national and SPD policy on sustainable design.

 This approach would rely on less detailed / less prescriptive national policy, and detailed, 
but less ‘weighty’ SPD policy, and would represent a weaker approach than the preferred 

Page 895



182 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

Local Plan policy above.’

8.16 Have a more prescriptive design policy 

 This approach would potentially stifl e good design, and could result in new developments 
appearing to have a pastiche character to the existing development of the Borough. 
A less fl exible design approach may also result in development not being considered 
appropriately sustainable later in the Local Plan period.

Policy SD3: Preservation of Heritage Assets

The Local Plan will seek to conserve the Borough’s unique and valuable historic environment 
through the identifi cation and appropriate preservation of its heritage assets. 

Development should preserve or enhance both designated and non-designated heritage 
assets, including, where appropriate, their setting. The degree of protection afforded to 
heritage assets will relate to their historic signifi cance. There will be a presumption in favour 
of the conservation of all designated heritage assets. When considering the impact of 
proposals on the historic environment, the Council will have regard to:

I. The need to sustain and enhance the signifi cance of any heritage asset including its  
 setting;
II. The preservation or enhancement of original or historic form, its fabric, features of  
 note, function or the character of the asset and the value of its setting;
III. The relationship with adjoining development and its wider setting, and neighbouring  
 uses, particularly where these are heritage assets of signifi cance in their own right;
IV. The desirability of securing a viable or sustainable use for a heritage asset which is  
 consistent with its conservation;
V. An understanding of and respect for the signifi cance of heritage assets as parts of  
 measures to mitigate and adapt to climate change. In each case the public benefi t  
 of mitigating the effects of climate change should be weighed against any harm to the  
 signifi cance of the heritage asset;
VI. Any public benefi ts of the proposed development. 
VII. The contribution that the sensitive use of heritage assets can make to the wider   
 sustainable regeneration of an area; and,
VIII. Any Conservation Area Character Appraisals and management plans or other   
 relevant conservation or heritage reports. 

There will be a presumption in favour of the conservation of non-designated heritage assets

Page 896



183Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

 Justifi cation

8.17 West Lancashire has a rich and varied history which is documented through the Borough’s 
wide range of heritage assets. Individually and collectively these assets contribute to 
the enjoyment of life in the Borough and play a key role in shaping local character and 
identity. 

8.18 Heritage assets are defi ned as a building, monument, site, place, structure, area or 
landscape identifi ed as having a degree of signifi cance meriting consideration in planning 
decisions, because of its heritage interest. Heritage assets include designated heritage 
assets and non-designated heritage assets identifi ed in the Historic Environment Record, 
including local assets. 

8.19 West Lancashire’s historic environment includes:

• 28 Conservation Areas
• 510 Statutory Listed Buildings (6 Grade 1, 21 Grade 2* and 483 Grade 2)
• 169 Locally Listed Buildings
• 11 Scheduled Monuments 
• 1 (Grade 2) Statutory Registered Park and Garden of Special Historic Interest;

8.20 The Council is committed to securing the conservation and enhancement of all historic 
assets including those of archaeological interest. Archaeological remains are the principal 
surviving evidence of the Borough’s past. 

8.21 Designated heritage assets are preserved through national legislation. The Planning 

including those of archaeological interest, which have a recognised local importance or 
historic character which it is desirable to retain. Development proposals should respond 
proportionately to these assets minimising any loss or damage to their identifi ed signifi cance. 
Such heritage assets will generally be identifi ed through the List of Locally Important 
Buildings adopted by the Council. 

Heritage Statements and / or Archaeological Evaluations will be required for development 
relating to, or having an impact upon, the setting of heritage assets and / or known or 
possible archaeological sites. The level of information provided will be proportionate to the 
asset’s signifi cance and must be suffi cient to enable a proper understanding of the potential 
impact of the proposal on the asset’s signifi cance. 

Page 897



184 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 provides 
specifi c guidance for the preservation of designated heritage 
assets and areas of special architectural or historic interest. 
The Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 
provides specifi c protection for scheduled monuments.

8.22 Heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource which must 
be conserved, managed and enhanced. This principle is 
also an important component of the NPPF’s drive to achieve 
sustainable development. (para. 7-11). 

8.23 We have a shared duty to ensure that heritage assets are 
preserved and wherever possible enhanced in order for them to be sustained for the 
enjoyment of current and future generations.  The historic environment is a valuable part 
of our cultural heritage, it provides local distinctiveness, and contributes to a sense of 
place for our communities.  The Local Plan aims to facilitate appropriate new development 
and, through this process, make the most of opportunities to preserve and enhance the 
historic environment. 

8.24 There are many levels in which development proposals can respond to heritage, for 
example, through the reinstatement of important architectural features in domestic 
alterations, to more complex projects involving the sympathetic adaptive re-use of 
heritage buildings for wider public benefi t and to support the visitor economy. The 
Council takes a positive view of development and change where this is consistent with 
an asset’s conservation and other sustainability objectives. This approach is also in line 
with Historic England’s ‘Constructive Conservation’ principles13.

8.25 To secure the future of such assets, the Council will encourage the retention of their 
existing uses, considering favourably appropriate new uses that do not harm their 
signifi cance.

8.26 For all heritage assets, high quality design should be achieved.  The design should aim 
to avoid poorly executed pastiche solutions and should foster innovation and creativity 
that is sensitive and enhances the signifi cance of heritage assets in terms of architectural 
design, detailing, scale, massing and use of materials.

8.27 The Council will seek to positively manage the historic built environment through 
engagement with landowners / asset owners and other organisations and by working 
with communities to ensure that heritage assets are preserved, have appropriate viable 

13 ‘Constructive Conservation: Sustainable Growth for Historic Places’. English Heritage, March 2013.

Page 898



185Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

uses, are maintained to a high standard and are secured and have a sustainable future 
for the benefi t of future generations.  Proposals that conserve and enhance assets on 
the Heritage at Risk register will be encouraged.  Advice and assistance should be made 
available from public sources and the Council in order to ensure owners of heritage 
assets are able to sustain the asset whilst it is in their stewardship. 

 Alternatives Considered

8.28 Do not have a specifi c heritage policy

 This approach would rely solely on the NPPF and heritage-related legislation. It would 
be less specifi cally tailored to the unique characteristics of West Lancashire, and may 
result in less benefi ts than the preferred policy.

Policy SD4: Managing Flood Risk

New development must not result in unacceptable fl ood risk or drainage problems or 
exacerbate existing fl ood risk or drainage issues. To achieve this, development must:

 
I. Be located outside of Flood Zones 2 or 3, with the exception of water compatible   
 uses and infrastructure, unless supported by a Flood Risk Assessment which   
 demonstrates that the proposals satisfy both the sequential and exception tests;

II. Take account of local and national evidence and guidance on fl ood risk and drainage,  
 including the West Lancashire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA);

III. Demonstrate that sustainable drainage systems (SuDs) have been considered to  
 manage surface water generated on-site and where possible remove surface water  
 from existing sewers;

IV. If SuDS are not feasible, provide robust justifi cation why the development can only  
 connect surface water to the sewer network.  Any surface water connection must be  
 at an agreed attenuated rate; and 

V. Demonstrate that development on previously developed land will be able to achieve  
 a reduction in surface water run-off of at least 30%, rising to a minimum of 50% in  
 Critical Drainage Areas, unless this is demonstrated to be unfeasible or unviable,  and  
 that on greenfi eld sites surface water runoff will remain at no more than the existing  
 greenfi eld runoff rate.

Page 899



186 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

Proposals within areas of infrastructure capacity and / or water supply constraint should 
demonstrate that there is adequate wastewater infrastructure and water supply capacity to 
serve the development, or that adequate provision will be made available.

a. Sequential Test

The aim of the Sequential Test is to direct new development to areas with the lowest probability 
of fl ood risk.  These areas should have an existing identifi ed need for new development. A 
Sequential Test shall be used by applicants when their development proposals are located 
in Flood Zone 2 and 3, to demonstrate that there are no alternative sites in locations of lower 
fl ood risk that could reasonably be expected to accommodate the proposed development 
within the expected project timeframe. 

In order to achieve a satisfactory sequential test, applicants are required to incorporate the 
following: 

1. Area of Search – Conduct a search of the area, relative to the scale and nature of  
 the proposed development. The area of search normally includes the settlement,   
 ward or parish in which the development proposal lies, but could extend to   
 neighbouring settlements, wards, parishes or districts where appropriate;
2. Comprehensiveness of search – Provide evidence of a rigorous investigation of   
 relevant sources of information to fi nd sequentially preferable sites;
3. Availability / viability / deliverability – Provide evidence that landowners / occupiers  
 of the sequentially preferable sites or their agents have been contacted to discuss  
 the possibility of selling or developing the land for the proposed development, and,  
 on any site rejected on viability grounds, provide fi nancial information to show on   
 what basis that it would be unviable to proceed with the proposed development on  
 that site;
4. Suitability – Take account of the suitability of sequentially preferable sites to   
 accommodate the proposed development.

It is advised that an applicant verify their proposed approach to a Sequential Test with the 
Council before commencing work on the Test. 

If, following a Sequential Test, the development is not consistent with wider sustainability 
objectives which would allow the development to be located in zones with a lower probability 
of fl ooding, the Exception Test is to be applied in line with the guidance as set out within the 
NPPF. 

Page 900



187Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

 
 Justifi cation

8.29 The Council is proactive in delivering sustainable communities, including protecting new 
homes, employment and public spaces from unacceptable levels of fl ood risk.  Policy 
SD4 aims to support the principles of the EU Water Framework Directive14 and seeks to 
protect, enhance and manage the water environment.

8.30 NPPF (paragraph 149) states that local plans should take account of climate change 
over the longer term, including factors such as fl ood risk, coastal change, water supply 
and changes to biodiversity and landscape. Inappropriate development in areas of fl ood 
risk should be avoided by directing development away from areas at higher risk, but 
where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing fl ooding elsewhere.

8.31 The Environment Agency identifi es areas that are technically at risk of fl ooding and 
these are shown as Zones 2 & 3 on their fl ood risk maps. Flood zones are defi ned as:

• Zone 1- little or no risk with an annual probability of fl ooding from rivers and the sea 
of less than 0.1 %.

• Zone 2 - low to medium risk with an annual 
probability of 0.1-1.0% from rivers and 0.1- 0.5 
% from the sea.

• Zone 3 - high risk with an annual probability of 
fl ooding of 1.0 % or greater from rivers, and 0.5 
% or greater from the sea.

• Zone 3b – the functional fl ood plain - land where 
water has to fl ow or be stored in times of fl ood.

8.32 These areas may change during the Plan period 
and the Council recommends that the Environment 
Agency be contacted directly to ascertain whether 
a particular parcel of land or a building falls within an area at risk of fl ooding.

8.33 Critical Drainage Areas are areas which are located within Flood Zone 1 and suffer from 
critical drainage problems. These areas are established and mapped in consultation with 
the Environment Agency and the Local Lead Flood Authority. West Lancashire does not 

14 Council Directive 2000/60/EC establishing a framework for Community action in the fi eld of water policy.

Page 901



188 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

currently have any designated Critical Drainage Areas.  If any are designated, these will 
be identifi ed within the Council’s most up to date Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and 
will be kept under review.

8.34 New developments will be required to integrate measures for sustainable water 
management to reduce fl ood risk, to avoid adverse impact on water quality and quantity, 
including groundwater resources, and to provide opportunities to enhance biodiversity, 
health and recreation.

 Sequential Test

8.35 A satisfactory sequential test should demonstrate beyond reasonable doubt that it is 
appropriate to allow a development proposal in an area where policy usually presumes 
against such development. Development should be located away from areas within 
Flood Zone 2 or 3 and Critical Drainage Areas within Flood Zone 1, as these areas are 
at risk from fl ooding. If it is not possible to locate development away from these areas, 
applicants will be required to undertake a Sequential Test.  Sequential Tests are not 
required on sites that have already been subject to this approach and which are allocated 
within the Local Plan, nor are they required for change of use, other than uses where 
Sequential Tests are required by national planning policy. However, if any site-specifi c 
fl ood risk assessments are required on exempt sites, these should be undertaken, and 
should consider the implications of climate change on fl ood risk probability. 

8.36 Applicants are required to search alternative sites in preferable locations that could 
reasonably be expected to accommodate the proposed development within the expected 
project timeframe. The area of search for alternative sites may differ depending on the 
size of the proposed development.  It is recommended that developers / owners contact 
the Local Planning Authority to discuss the extent of the area of search for the proposed 
development.

8.37 Evidence is required to be submitted by the applicant demonstrating the  
comprehensiveness  of the search as part of the planning application process. This can 
include (but is not limited to); the Strategic Housing and Employment Land Availability 
Assessment, Housing Land Supply Reports, the Council’s Commercial Property Register, 
aerial photographs, and mapping.

8.38 The Sequential Test should include justifi cation / explanation as to why the development 
could only be accommodated on a single site. Additional information may also be 
included, for example on fl exibility, availability, viability, deliverability, written evidence 
that landowners / occupiers / agents have been contacted, and fi nancial information 

Page 902



189Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

showing that alternative sites are unviable for the proposed development.  The Test 
should also consider the implications of climate change on the probability of fl ood risk. 

8.39 The suitability of sequentially preferable sites to accommodate the proposal should 
be taken into account. Suitability considerations could include policy designations or 
physical constraints.  Development proposals should not prevent the development of 
larger areas of land or render parts of it unusable, for example by restricting access.

8.40 Where the Sequential Test is not suffi cient in identifying whether development is 
appropriate the Exception Test is to be applied in line with the NPPF guidance. 

 Alternatives Considered

8.41 Do not have a specifi c policy on fl ood risk, but rely on national policy

 National policy on fl ood risk is less detailed than the preferred Local Plan policy, and is 
arguably a little weaker.  This approach is thus likely to be less benefi cial the Borough in 
terms of protecting the local area from developments that could exacerbate fl ooding and 
/ or fl ood risk issues. 

8.42 Have a stricter policy, not allowing any development in Flood Zones 2 or 3, or in Critical 
Drainage Areas.

 This approach would go beyond (and thus be contrary to) national policy by imposing 
a blanket ban on development in certain areas.  This could lead to local development 
needs in areas such as Banks, and the accommodation needs of the majority of West 
Lancashire’s Travellers, not being met.

Policy SD5: Managing Contamination and Pollution

Development proposals must demonstrate that they have considered the potential impact of 
the proposed development on the amenity, health, and well-being of residents, on property, 
and on the natural environment. 

I. Air Quality

Development should seek to ensure it does not contribute further to existing Air Quality 
issues within the Borough. Where an Air Quality Management Area is in place, development 

Page 903



190 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

 Justifi cation

8.43 The NPPF lays great importance on protecting and enhancing the natural and built 
environment and puts forward the minimisation of 
pollution as a suitable mitigation measure. Local 
Plan policies are required to prevent new and 
existing development from contributing to, being 
put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, light or 
noise pollution, or by land instability. 

8.44 The Council considers the protection of its 
residents’ quality of life to be a central theme of the 
Local Plan.  The NPPF highlights that in preparing 
plans to meet development needs, the aim of the 
Local Planning Authority should be to minimise 
pollution.  Plans should prevent both new and 
existing development from contributing to, or being 
put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 

should, where possible, seek to remediate and mitigate against additional air pollution in the 
area. 

II. Contaminated Land

New development is required to remediate and / or  mitigate against despoiled, degraded, 
derelict, contaminated and unstable land within or affecting proposed development sites

III. Noise and Light Pollution 

When considering planning proposals for change of use and new development, the impact 
on the amenity of surrounding residents and businesses by virtue of light and noise pollution 
must not be such that it leads to unacceptable harm, and any impacts must be adequately 
mitigated. 

Where a residential development is proposed in proximity to a commercial or community 
use, the responsibility lies with the residential developer to design their development such 
that the occupiers of the development will not be affected by the adjoining uses.  

Page 904



191Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution. Development is 
required to remediate and mitigate despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated, and 
unstable land where appropriate.  Also, development is required, wherever possible, to 
help to improve local environmental conditions such as air quality.

8.45 Local Plan Policies should aim to prevent unacceptable risks from pollution and land 
instability. Policies and decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate to 
its location.  The effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, the natural 
environment, or general amenity, and the potential sensitivity of the area or proposed 
development to adverse effects from pollution, should be taken into account.  Where a 
site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe 
development rests with the developer and/or the landowner.

8.46 Planning policies should also consider the suitability of the site for development with 
regard to ground conditions and potential pollution arising from previous uses. After 
remediation of the site, as a minimum land should not be capable of being determined 
as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

 Alternatives Considered

8.47 Do not have a specifi c policy on managing contamination and pollution

 National policy on contamination and pollution is less detailed than the preferred Local 
Plan policy.  This approach may be less benefi cial the Borough in terms of protecting 
the local area from developments that could exacerbate issues relating to contamination 
and pollution.  Furthermore, national policy requires that local plan policies address 
these matters.

Page 905



192 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER  8: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN POLICIES

Page 906



193Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

CHAPTER 9: NEXT STEPS

Chapter 9: Next steps

9.1 It is important that the Council gain feedback to this document, both positive and negative, 
from the West Lancashire public and from stakeholders in order to help us prepare the 
best possible Local Plan for West Lancashire.

9.2 Chapter 2 of this document explains how you can submit your comments to us. 

9.3 Following the close of the consultation on 23 November, the Council will consider all the 
feedback received from the public consultation and use it in preparing what is effectively 
a draft Local Plan, known as the Publication document. That process must take into 
account the views of everyone who comments – including the public, landowners and 
their agents, and stakeholders and the Local Plan will be refi ned and amended as 
appropriate.  The Publication Local Plan is the Council’s preferred fi nal document – 
essentially a Final Draft version of the Local Plan. 

9.4 The Publication document will be made available for formal representations, through a 
public consultation exercise, at a later date. The Publication document, together with all 
representations received through the consultation, are then submitted to the Secretary 
of State for Communities and Local Government for an Examination in Public (EiP). 
This will be conducted by a Planning Inspector who independently verifi es whether the 
Local Plan has been prepared correctly, according to legal procedures, and whether the 
document can be considered ‘sound’. If the Inspector approves the Plan, then Council 
can adopt it as the Development Plan Document for West Lancashire. 

9.5 The ultimate decision for adopting the Local Plan will lie with full Council. 

Page 907



194 West Lancashire Borough Council

CHAPTER 9: NEXT STEPS

Page 908



195Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

GLOSSARY

Glossary
Affordable Housing: Low-cost and subsidised housing, irrespective of tenure, ownership 
or fi nancial arrangements, available to people who cannot afford to occupy houses generally 
available on the open market.

Article 4 Direction: Provide the opportunity to control minor development by removing 
certain ‘permitted development’ rights. Planning permission then needs to be sought for that 
development. 

Anaerobic Digestion: A biological process that produces a gas principally composed of 
methane and carbon dioxide otherwise known as biogas. These gases are produced from 
organic wastes such as livestock manure, food processing waste, etc.

Annual Monitoring Report (AMR): An annual publication that assesses the Council’s 
progress in preparing LDF documents and the success of its planning policies in achieving 
their aims.

Biodiversity: The whole variety of life, including genetic, species and ecosystem variations.

Biomass: Also known as biofuels or bioenergy, is obtained from organic matter either directly 
from plants or indirectly from industrial, commercial, domestic or agricultural products. The 
use of biomass is classed as a ‘carbon neutral’ process because the carbon dioxide released 
during the generation of energy from biomass is balanced by that absorbed by plants during 
their growth.

Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM):
BREEAM is a nationally and internationally recognised environmental assessment method 
and rating system for non-domestic buildings. It was fi rst launched in 1990 and sets the 
standard for best practise in sustainable building design, construction and operation and is a 
recognised measure of a building’s environmental performance.

Brownfi eld Land: See ‘Previously Developed land’.

Carbon footprint: The carbon footprint is a measure of the impact our individual activities 
have on the environment, and in particular climate change. It relates to the amount of 
greenhouse gasses produced in our day-to-day lives through burning fossil fuels for electricity, 
heating and transportation etc.

Page 909



196 West Lancashire Borough Council

GLOSSARY

Climate Change: This is a change in the average weather experienced over a long period, 
including temperature, wind and rainfall patterns. There is strong scientifi c consensus that 
human activity is changing the world’s climate and that man-made emissions are its main 
cause. In the UK, we are likely to see more extreme weather events, including hotter and drier 
summers, fl ooding and rising sea-levels increasing the risk of coastal erosion.

The Climate Change Act 2008: This Bill became law in 2008 and aims to create a new 
approach to manage and respond to climate change.

Community Hub: A Community Hub can mean something different depending on the 
community. In West Lancashire, the broad defi nition is a multi-use building which may be 
community-run and is proactive in enabling a range of services to improve the quality of life 
for the whole community.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL): CIL was introduced by the Planning Act 2008 and 
came into force on 6 April 2010 through the CIL Regulations 2010. It is a planning charge 
that local authorities in England and Wales can choose to charge on new developments in 
their area. The money can be used to support development by funding infrastructure that the 
council, local community and neighbourhoods need/want - for example new or safer road 
schemes, park improvements or a new health centre. CIL applies to most new buildings and 
charges are based on the size, use and location of the new development.

Community Involvement: When preparing the LDF, the local authority needs to involve 
the local community, businesses, landowners, and anyone else with an interest in the area. 
Ideally these “key stakeholders” should be involved from the start, and right through the LDF 
preparation process.

Decentralised Energy Network / District Heat Network: Primarily the generation of energy 
close to the user and where appropriate, the recovery of the surplus heat (combined heat 
and power – CHP), for purposes such as building space heating and domestic hot water 
production. CHP is often used in District Heat Networks, with the heat generated as a by-
product of electricity generation being pumped into homes, either as hot water or as steam, 
through networks of reinforced pipes. 

Department for Transport: The Department for Transport are the government department 
responsible for transport across the United Kingdom.

Derelict Land and Buildings: Land so damaged by previous industrial or other development 
that is incapable of benefi cial use without treatment. This includes abandoned and 
unoccupied buildings (including former single residential dwellings) in an advanced state of 

Page 910



197Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

GLOSSARY

disrepair, and land damaged by development, but which has been, or is being, restored.

Development Plan Document (DPD): This is a local planning policy document that is given 
statutory weight by the Local Planning Regulations. All DPDs must be subject to rigorous 
procedures of community involvement and independent examination by the Secretary of 
State. Once adopted, development management decisions must be made in accordance with 
them unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Electric Vehicle Recharging Points EVRs: Electric Vehicle Recharging Points are a network 
of charging points that provide power for electric vehicles.

ELPS: Employment Land and Premises Study. This examines the availability of land in the 
Borough for employment use and forms part of the Local Plan Evidence Base. 

Environment Agency (EA): Government agency set up with the aim of protecting or
enhancing the environment, in order to play its part in achieving the objective of sustainable 
development.

Evidence Base: Qualitative and quantitative information gathered by the planning authority, 
or other organisations, to support preparation of Local Plan documents.

Green Belt: Areas of land where development is tightly controlled for the purposes of: 
restricting sprawl of large built-up areas; preventing neighbouring towns from merging; 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; and preserving character and aiding urban 
regeneration by encouraging recycling of derelict and other urban land. 

Greenfi eld Land: Land which has not been previously developed, or which has now returned 
to its natural state.

Green Infrastructure: Network of natural environmental components and green and blue 
spaces, including (but not limited to): hedges, outdoor sports facilities, coastal habitat, 
grassland and heathland, cemeteries, churchyards and burial grounds, agricultural land, 
allotments, community gardens and urban farms, moorland, village greens, open spaces, 
degraded land, private gardens, wildlife habitats, parks, fi elds, open countryside, woodlands, 
street trees, ponds, lakes, waterways.

Gypsy: Members of one of the main groups of Gypsies and Travellers in Britain. In this 
document it is used to describe English (Romany) Gypsies, Scottish Travellers, Welsh 
Travellers and Eastern European Roma. English Gypsies were recognised as an ethnic group 
in 1988.

Page 911



198 West Lancashire Borough Council

GLOSSARY

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA): Assessments carried out to 
quantify the accommodation and housing related support needs of Gypsies and travellers 
(including Travelling Showpeople) in terms of residential and transit sites, and bricks and 
mortar accommodation.

Gypsies and Travellers: As defi ned for the purposes of the Housing Act 2004, in this 
document it includes all Gypsies, Irish Travellers, New Travellers, Travelling Showpeople, 
Eastern European Roma and other Travellers who adopt a nomadic or semi-nomadic life. 

Habitats: Are ecological or environmental areas that are inhabited by a particular species of 
animal, plant or other type of organism. It is the natural environment in which an organism 
lives, or the physical environment that surrounds a species population.

Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA): Aims to identify any aspects of the Local Plan 
that would have the potential to cause a likely signifi cant effect on Natura 2000 or European 
sites (Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), Special Protection Areas (SPAs) and Ramsar 
sites), and to identify appropriate avoidance and mitigation strategies where such effects are 
identifi ed. This is a legal requirement set within Article 6 of the EC Habitats Directive 1992, 
and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010. 

Health and Wellbeing: A defi nition of the general condition of a person in terms of mind, 
body and spirit

House of Multiple Occupation (HMO): Is a property rented out by at least 3 people who 
are not from 1 ‘household’ (e.g. a family) but share facilities like the bathroom and kitchen. 
It’s sometimes called a house share. Typically, privately rented student accommodation falls 
under a HMO. 

Housing Needs Assessment: A survey that estimates the number of households within 
an area that are in need of affordable housing and/or housing that meets their specifi c 
requirements.

Infrastructure: Roads, water supply, sewage disposal, schools and other community facilities 
needed to support housing, industrial and commercial uses.

Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP): The IDP is a supporting document to the Local Plan. Its 
purpose is to provide background evidence regarding the physical and social infrastructure 
likely to be needed to support identifi ed development in the Borough over the plan period. 
It sets out a baseline assessment of existing infrastructure provision and provides an 

Page 912



199Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

GLOSSARY

indication of the existing capacity and shortfalls of all types of infrastructure. The document 
will be updated and monitored regularly and will assist in future delivery of infrastructure 
requirements. The IDP relies on the input of infrastructure partners and stakeholders and is 
therefore only as accurate as the plans of our partners.

Infrastructure Delivery Schedule (IDS):  A list of projects identifi ed as being required to 
support new development in the Borough. It is a ‘live document’ and is updated regularly as 
existing projects are delivered or new projects emerge. 

Infrastructure Providers: Any organisation responsible for delivering infrastructure – 
including highways and utilities. 

Key Service Centre: Towns or villages which act as service centres for surrounding areas, 
providing a range of services including: retail, leisure, community, civic, health and education 
facilities and fi nancial and professional services. They should have good public transport links 
to surrounding areas, or the potential for their development and enhancement

Linear Parks: Are linear parcels of land used as pubic parks providing recreational uses 
including walking and cycling.

Local Development Scheme (LDS): A project plan detailing the timetable for the production 
of DPDs and SPDs.

Local Planning Authority (LPA): Normally the Borough Council, Metropolitan district or 
Unitary Authority, but occasionally the County Council with the responsibility of planning for 
that area.

Local Service Centre: Towns or villages which provide a more limited range of services to 
the local community.

Local Strategic Partnership (LSP): A group of public, private, voluntary and community 
organisations and individuals that are responsible for preparing the Sustainable Community 
Strategy. Such partners include: the Borough Council, the County Council, the Police, the Fire 
Service and the NHS.

Local Transport Plan (LTP): Local Transport Plans are strategic documents which set out 
the local transport priorities in the long term. The current Local Transport Plan for Lancashire, 
Local Transport Plan 3 (LTP3) runs from 2011 to 2021. This LTP consists of a 10 year 
overarching strategy, supported by 3 year rolling implementation plans. Lancashire County 
Council is the transport authority representing West Lancashire and has prepared a joint 

Page 913



200 West Lancashire Borough Council

GLOSSARY

document with Blackpool Council and Blackburn-with-Darwen Borough Council.

Low Carbon Development: Low-carbon developments consist of buildings which are 
specifi cally engineered with the reduction of carbon dioxide emissions in mind. So by 
defi nition, a low carbon building is a building which emits signifi cantly less carbon dioxide than 
regular buildings.

Main town centre uses: Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet 
centres), leisure, entertainment facilities, the more intensive sport and recreation uses 
(including cinemas, restaurants, bars and pubs ,night clubs, casinos, health and fi tness 
centres, indoor bowling centres and bingo halls); offi ces; and arts, culture and tourism 
development (including theatres, museums, galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference 
facilities). 

MHCLG (formerly DCLG): The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
sets national policy for planning, as well as local government, housing, urban regeneration 
and fi re and rescue. They have responsibility for all race and equality and community 
cohesion related issues in England and for building regulations, fi re safety and some housing 
issues in England and Wales.

Multiple Deprivation: The Government collects information to pinpoint pockets of 
deprivation, or to highlight variations within a wider geographical area. Information is collected 
on a range of topics to illustrate how deprived an area is, including: income; employment; 
health and disability; education, skills and training; barriers to housing and services; crime; 
and living environment.

National Nature Reserve: These are areas that are protected for their importance for their 
importance to wildlife and natural features. These sites are managed by Natural England. 
These sites often contain rare species or nationally important species of plant, insects, 
butterfl ies, birds, mammals etc.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): National government planning policy

Permitted development: Some minor types of development can be done through ‘permitted 
development’ meaning that planning permission does not need to be applied for. However, the 
LPA may have removed the permitted development rights through a planning condition, or an 
Article 4, so you should always check fi rst. 

Photovoltaics (PV): The direct conversion of solar radiation into electricity by the interaction 
of light with the electrons in a semiconductor device or cell.

Page 914



201Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

GLOSSARY

Pitches: An area on a Travellers’ site developed for a family unit to live. On socially rented 
sites, the area let to a licensee or a tenant for stationing caravans and other vehicles.

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (PCPA) 2004: Built upon the principles of: 
sustainable development, addressing climate change, spatial planning, high quality design, 
good accessibility and community involvement.

Planning Policy Statements/Guidance (PPS/PPG): Documents produced by CLG that set 
out national policies relating to different areas of planning.

Plots: Areas on yard for Travelling Showpeople to live. As well as dwelling units, Travelling 
Showpeople often keep their commercial equipment on a plot.

Previously Developed Land (PDL) and Buildings: Is that which is or was occupied by a 
permanent structure (excluding agricultural or forestry buildings) and associated fi xed surface 
infrastructure.

Unauthorised site: Land occupied by Gypsies and Travellers without the appropriate 
planning or other permissions. The term includes both unauthorised development and 
encampment

Ramsar sites: These are wetlands of international importance, designated under the Ramsar 
Convention.

Registered Provider :A provider of social housing, registered with Tenant Services Authority 
under powers in the 2008 Housing and Regeneration Act. This term replaced ‘Registered 
Social Landlord’ (RSL) and encompasses housing associations, trusts, cooperatives and 
companies.

Renewable Energy: Energy which comes from natural resources such as sunlight, wind, rain, 
tides, and geothermal heat, which are renewable (naturally replenished).

Safeguarded Land: Land on the edge of certain settlements in West Lancashire formerly 
allocated to meet longer-term development needs if necessary. 

Section 106 Agreement: Section 106 (S106) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
allows a local planning authority to enter into a legally-binding agreement or planning 
obligation with a landowner in association with the granting of planning permission. The 
obligation is termed a Section 106 Agreement and is a way of delivering or addressing 

Page 915



202 West Lancashire Borough Council

GLOSSARY

matters that are necessary to make a development acceptable in planning terms. They are 
increasingly used to support the provision of services and infrastructure, such as highways, 
recreational facilities, education, health and affordable housing.

Sequential Testing: Is designed to ensure that new development is steered to the most 
appropriate areas – for example land at a lower risk of fl ooding

Settled Community: Term used to describe non-Gypsies and Travellers who live in traditional 
housing

Shadow fl icker: This occurs when the sun passes behind the hub of a wind turbine and casts 
a shadow over neighbouring properties. When the blades rotate, shadows pass over the 
same point causing an effect called ‘shadow fl icker’.

SMART Objectives: The Government requires that objectives must be SMART (Specifi c, 
Measurable, Achievable, Realistic and Time-bound).

Spatial Planning: Under the former planning system, we were almost exclusively concerned 
with land use. Spatial planning is a wider concept that does not just take into account land 
use, but also considers other matters that could indirectly affect land use, or be affected by it, 
e.g. health and education, deprivation, crime and social inequality, climate change, fl ooding 
and the natural environment, transport and infrastructure, the rural economy and agriculture, 
cultural heritage and urban design. Put another way, spatial planning looks at places and how 
they function. 

Special Areas of Conservation: Areas given special protection under the European Union’s 
Habitat Directive, which is transposed into UK law by the Habitats and Conservation of 
Species Regulations 2010

Special Protection Areas (SPA): These are sites which are strictly protected in accordance 
with Article 4 of the EC Birds Directive. These sites are classifi ed for rare and vulnerable 
birds, and for regularly occurring mitigation species.

Specialist Needs Housing: Providing suitable accommodation for specifi c sections of the 
community, including: seasonal agricultural workers; the elderly or retired; and students.

SSSI (Sites of Special Scientifi c Interest): Sites with statutory protection of national and 
international importance.

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA): An assessment required by EU legislation 

Page 916



203Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

GLOSSARY

that is incorporated into the Sustainability Appraisal (SA).

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA): Carried out in consultation with the Environment 
Agency (EA) to examine the risk of fl ooding in the Borough from sea and rivers. It includes 
information on fl ood risk areas, fl ood infrastructure, history of fl ooding in the Borough and 
expected future development pressures and their potential impact.

Strategic Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA):. This 
examines the availability of land in the Borough for residential and employment use and forms 
part of the Local Plan Evidence Base.

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI): A document that sets out how the Council 
will involve the community and other stakeholders in the preparation, alteration and review of 
planning policy documents and on planning applications.

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD): These cover a range of issues, both topic and 
site specifi c, and provide further detail on policies in the Local Plan or other Development 
Plan Documents.

Sustainability Appraisal (SA): Development Plan Documents are subject to a “Sustainability 
Appraisal”, examining how the policies and proposals in the DPD would be likely to impact 
upon the economy, the environment, transport, and the community. This will ensure that 
decisions are made that accord with sustainable development.

Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS): Document prepared by the West Lancashire 
Local Strategic Partnership, the principles of which outline the needs and priorities of the 
community, and which also shapes the activities of the organisations within the partnership to 
fulfi l those needs and priorities. The Local Plan must accord with the SCS.

Sustainable Development: Development that meets the needs of the present generation 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.

Transit site / pitch: A site pitch intended for short term use, with a maximum period of stay

Transport Assessments: A Transport Assessment is a comprehensive and systematic 
process which sets out transport issues relating to a proposed development. They identify 
what measures will be taken to deal with the anticipated transport impacts of the scheme and 
to improve accessibility and safety for all modes of travel, particularly for alternatives to the 
car such as walking, cycling and public transport.

Page 917



204 West Lancashire Borough Council

Travel Plan: These are a package of measures produced by employers to encourage staff 
to use alternative means of transport than single occupancy car-use. Such plans include, 
for example, car sharing schemes, improving cycling facilities, dedicated bus services or 
restricting car parking allocations.

Travelling Showpeople: People who organise circuses and fairgrounds and who live on 
yards when not travelling between locations. Most travelling showpeople are members of the 
Showmen’s Guild of Great Britain

Unauthorised site: Land occupied by Gypsies and Travellers without the appropriate 
planning or other permissions. The term includes both unauthorised development and 
encampment. 

West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027: The current Local Plan.  

GLOSSARY

Page 918



205Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

APPENDIX A

Appendix A: Area Maps

Linear Park

Regional Town

Key Service Centre

Key Sustainable Village

Rural Sustainable Village

Small Rural Village

Strategic Development Site

Proposed Housing Allocation

Employment Sites

Protected Land

Proposed Employment Allocation

Alternative Housing Options

Town Centre

Ormskirk Primary Shopping Area

Ormskirk Town Centre
Development Opportunity

Village and Local Centres

Historic Parks and Gardens

Conservation Areas

Scheduled Monuments

Major Wildlife Corridors

Coastal Zone

Landscape History

Landscape Character

Green Belt

Nature Conservation Sites

Green Infrastructure/
Open recreation Space

Borough Boundary

University

Proposed Purpose-Built
Student Accommodation

Retail Park

Page 919



206 West Lancashire Borough Council

Skelmersdale and Up Holland

SP
7

SP
7

H
S3

SP
7

H
S2

H
S5

EC
1.

1 EC
1.

1

EC
1.

4

EC
1.

5

EC
1.

3

H
S1

H
S1

H
S1

H
S1

H
S1

SP
5

H
S4EC

1.
2

EC
1.

2

EC
1.

5H
SS

7
H

SS
8

H
SS

9

H
SS

10

H
SS

11

H
SS

12

©
 C

ro
w

n 
C

op
yr

ig
ht

. A
ll 

R
ig

ht
s 

R
es

er
ve

d.
Li

ce
nc

e 
N

o.
 1

00
02

43
09

. W
es

t L
an

ca
sh

ire
 B

or
ou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il.
 2

01
8.

´

0
0.

85
1.

7
0.

42
5

M
ile

s

APPENDIX A 

Page 920



207Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

APPENDIX A 

Ormskirk and Aughton

HO3

HO2

SP8
SP8

SP8

SP8

HO1

EC1.7

HSO3

HSO4

HSO5

HSO6

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

0 0.55 1.10.275 Miles

Page 921



208 West Lancashire Borough Council

APPENDIX A 

Burscough and Rufford

SP6
EC1.8

EC1.8

HB1

HSB2

HSB1

EC
1.

8

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

0 0.35 0.70.175 Miles

Page 922



209Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

APPENDIX A

Tarleton and Hesketh Bank

HN2

EC1.9

HN1

HSN13

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

0 0.25 0.50.125 Miles

Page 923



210 West Lancashire Borough Council

APPENDIX A 

Banks and Mere Brow

HN
4

HN
3

©
 C

ro
w

n 
C

op
yr

ig
ht

. A
ll 

R
ig

ht
s 

R
es

er
ve

d.
Li

ce
nc

e 
N

o.
 1

00
02

43
09

. W
es

t L
an

ca
sh

ire
 B

or
ou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il.
 2

01
8.

´

0
0.

4
0.

8
0.

2
M

ile
s

Page 924



211Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

APPENDIX A

Scarisbrick 

HW
3

H
W

4

HW
2

H
W

1

©
 C

ro
w

n 
C

op
yr

ig
ht

. A
ll 

R
ig

ht
s 

R
es

er
ve

d.
Li

ce
nc

e 
N

o.
 1

00
02

43
09

. W
es

t L
an

ca
sh

ire
 B

or
ou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il.
 2

01
8.

´

0
0.

6
1.

2
0.

3
M

ile
s

Page 925



212 West Lancashire Borough Council

APPENDIX A

Halsall and Haskayne

HW5

HW6

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

0 0.15 0.30.075 Miles

Page 926



213Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

APPENDIX A

Parbold and Newburgh 

H
E2

H
E1

H
SE

14

©
 C

ro
w

n 
C

op
yr

ig
ht

. A
ll 

R
ig

ht
s 

R
es

er
ve

d.
Li

ce
nc

e 
N

o.
 1

00
02

43
09

. W
es

t L
an

ca
sh

ire
 B

or
ou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il.
 2

01
8.

´

0
0.

2
0.

4
0.

1
M

ile
s

Page 927



214 West Lancashire Borough Council

APPENDIX A

Appley Bridge and Wrightington

HE4

HE3

HSE15

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved.
Licence No. 100024309. West Lancashire Borough Council. 2018.

´

0 0.25 0.50.125 Miles

Page 928



215Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

APPENDIX A

Simonswood

EC
1.

6

©
 C

ro
w

n 
C

op
yr

ig
ht

. A
ll 

R
ig

ht
s 

R
es

er
ve

d.
Li

ce
nc

e 
N

o.
 1

00
02

43
09

. W
es

t L
an

ca
sh

ire
 B

or
ou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il.
 2

01
8.

´

0
0.

25
0.

5
0.

12
5

M
ile

s

Page 929



216 West Lancashire Borough Council

APPENDIX A

Page 930



217Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

APPENDIX B

Appendix B: Parking Standards

Page 931



218 West Lancashire Borough Council

APPENDIX B

Page 932



219Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

APPENDIX B

Page 933



220 West Lancashire Borough Council

APPENDIX B

Page 934



221Local Plan Review: Preferred Options

APPENDIX B

Page 935



222 West Lancashire Borough Council

APPENDIX B

Page 936



223Local Plan Review: Preferred OptionsPage 937



CHAPTER HEADER NUMBER AND NAME

224 West Lancashire Borough Council

John Harrison Dip.Env.P., M.R.T.P.I.
Director of Planning and Regeneration Services

West Lancashire Borough Council
52 Derby Street

Ormskirk
Lancashire

L39 2DF

01695 585171
www.westlancs.gov.uk/lpr

localplan@westlancs.gov.uk

Page 938



APPENDIX C 
 

 

Equality Impact Assessment Form  

Directorate:  Development & Regeneration Service: Planning 

Completed by: P Richards Date: 8 August 2018 

Subject Title: Local Plan Review – Proposed Local Plan Preferred Options Consultation 

1. DESCRIPTION 

Is a policy or strategy being produced or revised: Yes - a new Local Plan for West Lancs 
 

Is a service being designed, redesigned or cutback: No 

Is a commissioning plan or contract specification 
being developed: 

No 

Is a budget being set or funding allocated: No 
 

Is a programme or project being planned: No 
 

Are recommendations being presented to senior 
managers and/or Councillors: 

Yes 

Does the activity contribute to meeting our duties 
under the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector 
Equality Duty (Eliminating unlawful 
discrimination/harassment, advancing equality 
of opportunity, fostering good relations): 

Yes 
 

Details of the matter under consideration:  Proposals for public consultation on the Local 
Plan Preferred Options 
 

If you answered Yes to any of the above go straight to Section 3  
If you answered No to all the above please complete Section 2  

2. RELEVANCE 

Does the work being carried out impact on service 
users, staff or Councillors (stakeholders): 

 *delete as appropriate 
Yes/No* 

If Yes, provide details of how this impacts on service 
users, staff or Councillors (stakeholders): 
If you answered Yes go to Section 3 

 
 
 

If you answered No to both Sections 1and 2 provide 
details of why there is no impact on these three 
groups: 
You do not need to complete the rest of this form. 

 

3. EVIDENCE COLLECTION 

Who does the work being carried out impact on, i.e. 
who is/are the stakeholder(s)? 

A new Local Plan will ultimately, directly or 
indirectly, affect all stakeholders in West 
Lancashire, be they residents, businesses or 
other organisations. 
 

If the work being carried out relates to a universal 
service, who needs or uses it most? (Is there any 
particular group affected more than others)?  
 

n/a.  

Page 939



Which of the protected characteristics are most 
relevant to the work being carried out? 

 

 
*delete as appropriate 

Age No 
Gender No 
Disability No 
Race and Culture No 
Sexual Orientation No 
Religion or Belief No 
Gender Reassignment No 

Marriage and Civil Partnership No 
Pregnancy and Maternity No 

4. DATA ANALYSIS 

In relation to the work being carried out, and the 
service/function in question, who is actually or 
currently using the service and why? 

The Local Plan provides policy that is used to 
determine planning applications and provides 
strategy that guides the delivery of new 
infrastructure and new development across 
West Lancs.  All are able to participate in the 
public consultation being proposed. 
 

What will the impact of the work being carried out be 
on usage/the stakeholders? 

The proposed consultation will have no impact 
on stakeholders other than inviting them to 
engage in the preparation of a new Local Plan.  
However, were the Local Plan Preferred 
Options that have been proposed to ultimately 
be carried forward to be adopted as the 
Borough's new Local Plan, the proposals will 
affect the lives of all people who live and work 
in the Borough in one way or another. 
 

What are people’s views about the services?  Are 
some customers more satisfied than others, and if 
so what are the reasons?  Can these be affected by 
the proposals? 

People’s views on the Local Plan in general will 
depend upon how directly they are affected by 
allocation of new development or specific 
policies where they wish to deliver new 
development.  These views may well be 
affected by proposals in the Local Plan 
Preferred Options. 
 

What sources of data including consultation results 
have you used to analyse the impact of the work 
being carried out on users/stakeholders with 
protected characteristics? 

Guidance provided through the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.  Census data and a 
range of other data have been included in the 
evidence base that informs the preparation of 
the Local Plan. 
 

If any further data/consultation is needed and is to 
be gathered, please specify:  

Cabinet decision is whether to consult or not on 
the Local Plan Preferred Options. 
 

5. IMPACT OF DECISIONS 

In what way will the changes impact on people with 
particular protected characteristics (either positively 
or negatively or in terms of disproportionate 
impact)? 

The decision on whether to consult at this point 
or not will not have an impact on people with 
protected characteristics, although all will be 
able to engage with the consultation.  The Local 
Plan Preferred Options, were they to ultimately 
be taken forward as the adopted Local Plan for 
West Lancashire, will generally affect people 

Page 940



with protected characteristics no differently than 
those without those characteristics.  However, 
some policies in the Local Plan Preferred 
Options (most notably related to Travellers and 
to provision for the Elderly) will have a positive 
impact on those protected groups as those 
policies specifically seek to ensure opportunities 
for development that cater to those groups' 
needs are provided. 
 

6. CONSIDERING THE IMPACT 

If there is a negative impact what action can be 
taken to mitigate it? (If it is not possible or desirable 
to take actions to reduce the impact, explain why 
this is the case (e.g. legislative or financial drivers 
etc.). 

There is no negative impact at this stage. 
 
 
 
 

What actions do you plan to take to address any 
other issues above?  

No actions. 
 
 
If no actions are planned state no actions 

7. MONITORING AND REVIEWING 

When will this assessment be reviewed and who will 
review it? 

At each key stage of Local Plan preparation. 

 

Page 941




	Agenda
	4 Declarations of Interest
	6 Minutes
	7 Planning Applications
	Cttee Report Plans 06-09-18
	Cover Sheet
	01-2018_0401_OUT
	02-2018_0275_FUL
	03-2018_0619_FUL
	04-2018_0251_FUL
	05-2018_0300_LBC
	06-2018_0702_FUL


	7a 2018/0401/OUT - 67 Gaw Hill Lane, Aughton
	7b 2018/0275/FUL - 50 St. Helens Road, Ormskirk
	7c 2018/0618/FUL - Elm Tree Community Primary School, Elmers Wood Road, Skelmersdale
	7d 2018/0251/FUL - Wrightington Hospital, Hall Lane, Wrightington
	7e 2018/0300/FUL - Wrightington Hospital, Hall Lane, Wrightington
	7f 2018/0702/FUL - 21 Manse Avenue, Wrightington
	8 Local Plan Review - Proposed Local Plan Preferred Options Consultation
	Local Plan Preferred Options - Appendix A(i) LPRIO_Cons-Feedback-Report_2-June-2017 (Final)
	Local Plan Preferred Options - Appendix A(ii) LPRIO Comments and Responses
	Rpt_Q04
	Rpt_Q05
	Rpt_Q06
	Rpt_Q07
	Rpt_Q08
	Rpt_Q09
	Rpt_Q10
	Rpt_Q11
	Rpt_Q12
	Rpt_Q13
	Rpt_Q14
	Rpt_Q15
	Rpt_Q16
	Rpt_Q17
	Rpt_Q18
	Rpt_Q19
	Rpt_Q20
	Rpt_Q21
	Rpt_Q22
	Rpt_Q23
	Rpt_Q24
	Rpt_Q25
	Rpt_Q26
	Rpt_Q27
	Rpt_Q28
	Rpt_Q29
	Rpt_Q30
	Rpt_Q31
	Rpt_Q32
	Rpt_Q33
	Rpt_Q34
	Rpt_Q35
	Rpt_Q36
	Rpt_Q37

	Local Plan Preferred Options - Appendix B Proposed LPPO document
	Local Plan Preferred Options - Appendix C EIA


